
CITY COUNCIL 
Alma Hernandez, Mayor 
Princess Washington, Mayor Pro Tem 
Jenalee Dawson, Member 
Marlon L Osum, Member 
Amit Pal, Member

CITY COUNCIL MEETING

 

A G E N D A
REGULAR MEETING OF THE SUISUN CITY COUNCIL,

SUISUN CITY COUNCIL ACTING AS SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE
REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY,

AND HOUSING AUTHORITY
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 7, 2023

6:30 PM
 

Suisun City Council Chambers - 701 Civic Center Boulevard - Suisun City, California
 
 
.

CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS ARE HELD IN-PERSON
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION IS ALSO AVAILABLE VIA ZOOM

ZOOM MEETING INFORMATION: 
WEBSITE: https://zoom.us/join

MEETING ID: 862 7008 2731  
CALL IN PHONE NUMBER: (707) 438-1720

 
REMOTE PUBLIC COMMENT IS AVAILABLE FOR THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING BY EMAILING

CLERK@SUISUN.COM (PRIOR TO 5 PM), VIA WEBSITE, OR ZOOM CALL IN PHONE NUMBER (707) 438-1720
 

(If attending the meeting via phone press *9 to raise your hand and *6 to unmute/mute for public comment.)
 

(Next Ord. No. – 808)
 (Next City Council Res. No. 2023 – 142)

Next Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency Res. No. SA2023 - 06)
 (Next Housing Authority Res. No. HA2023 – 04)

 
ROLL CALL
Council /Board Members
Pledge of Allegiance
Invocation
 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST NOTIFICATION
(Any items on this agenda that might be a conflict of interest to any Councilmembers / Boardmembers should be
identified at this time.)
 
 

1



 1 Acting City Manager Update - (Roth: aroth@suisun.com). 

 2 Proclamations Presented at Meeting - (Hernandez: ahernandez@suisun.com): 
a. Proclamation Proclaiming November 2023 as "Native American Heritage Month."

 

 3 Proclamations Not Presented - (Hernandez: ahernandez@suisun.com): 
a. Alooma Court No. 198 Day Illustrious Commandress Regina A. Thompson.
b. Alooma Court Temple No. 212 Illustrious Potentate Timothy W. Finney.
c. Proclamation Proclaiming November 3, 2023 - November 5, 2023, as "Virgil's Bait

Shop Striper Days."  
 

 4 Presentation on Utilities Billing System - (Deol: ldeol@suisun.com).

 5 Council/Board Member Updates. 

 City Council
 

 6 Council Adoption of Ordinance No. 807: An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of
Suisun City Levying Special Tax Within the City of Suisun City Community Facilities
District No. 2 (Municipal Services), Including Certain Annexation Territory (Tractor Supply
Co.) (Introduced and Reading Waived October 17, 2023) - (Vue: nvue@suisun.com). 
 

 7 Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-___: Authorizing the Acting City Manager to
Execute a Transportation Funds for Clean Air Funding Agreement with the Solano
Transportation Authority for the Driftwood Drive Path Gap Closure Project - (Vue:
nvue@suisun.com). 
 

 8 Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-___:  Authorizing the Acting City Manager to
Execute a Funding Agreement with the Solano Transportation Authority to Receive
Earmarked Funds from the State of California Department of Caltrans for Electric Vehicle
(EV) Charging Station Infrastructure Improvements Project - (Vue: nvue@suisun.com). 
 

 9 Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-___: Authorizing the Application for Grant Funds
for the Proposition 68 Community and Economic Enhancement Grant Program from the

 
REPORTS (Informational items only.)
 

 
PRESENTATION/APPOINTMENTS
(Presentations, Awards, Proclamations, Appointments).
 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT
(Request by citizens to discuss any matter under our jurisdiction other than an item posted on this agenda per California
Government Code §54954.3. Comments are limited to no more than 3 minutes unless allowable by the Mayor/Chair.
Speaker cards are available on the table near the entry of the meeting room and should be given to the City Clerk. By
law, no prolonged discussion or action may be taken on any item raised during the public comment period, although
informational answers to questions may be given and matters may be referred for placement on a future agenda.)
 
COUNCIL COMMENTS
 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR
Consent calendar items requiring little or no discussion may be acted upon with one motion.
 

2



Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta Conservancy and Authorizing the Acting City Manager, or
Appointed Designee, to Execute Application Related Documents - (Lofthus:
klofthus@suisun.com).
 

 Joint City Council / Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency/ Housing Authority
 

 10 Council/Agency/Authority Approval of the Minutes of the Regular and/or Special Meetings
of the Suisun City Council, Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency, and Housing
Authority held on October 3, 2023, and October 17, 2023 – (Skinner: clerk@suisun.com).

 City Council
 

 11 Council Introduction and Waive First Reading of Ordinance No. ___: An Ordinance of the
City Council of the City of Suisun City Adding Chapter 12.34 (Sidewalk Maintenance), to
Title 12 (Streets, Sidewalks, and Public Places) of the Suisun City Municipal Code – (Vue:
nvue@suisun.com) - (Continued to November 21, 2023). 

 City Council
 

 12 Waterfront District Specific Plan Amendments: Workshop to Discuss Comprehensive
Amendments - (Bermudez: jbermudez@suisun.com). 
 

 13 Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-___: Approving the Tractor Supply Public Art
Installation to Meet the Requirements of the 1.5 Percent Art Fee - (Lofthus:
klofthus@suisun.com).
 

 14 Discussion and Direction on Youth Advisory or Youth Commission - (Lofthus:
klofthus@suisun.com).
 

 15 Discussion of Legal and Practical Constraints on Addressing Homelessness, and Possible
Direction for Further Analysis - (City Attorney). 
 

 16 Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-____:  Authorizing the Interim City Manager
Employment Agreement between the City of Suisun City and Acting City Manager Aaron
Roth - (City Attorney).
 

 17 Suisun City Municipal Code Update – (City Attorney):
 

a. Council Introduction and Waive First Reading of Ordinance No. ___: An Ordinance of
the City Council of the City of Suisun City, California, Repealing Chapter 1.16
(Administrative Compliance Orders) and Amending Chapter 1.20 (Administrative
Citations) to Title 1 (General Provisions); and Amending Sections 1.08.030, 5.04.460,
5.16.240, 6.07.040(B), 8.040.050(U), 8.10.150(E), 9.16.010(F), 9.21.040, 9.28.080(B),
12.12.090, 121.24.050, 12.32.120, 15.04.090, and 21.08.020(A) of the Suisun City
Municipal Code; and

b. Discussion and possible action on a Resolution of the City Council of the City of

 
PUBLIC HEARING
 

 
GENERAL BUSINESS
 

3



Suisun City, California, Establishing the Administrative Penalty Schedule for
Violations of the Suisun City Municipal Code.

 18 Mayoral Update - (Hernandez: ahernandez@suisun.com). 
 

 19 Non-Discussion Items 

 
REPORTS: (Informational items only)
 

 
ADJOURNMENT
Public Access To Agenda Documents
A complete packet of information containing staff reports and exhibits related to each item for the open session of
this meeting, and provided to the City Council, are available for public review at least 72 hours prior to a Council
/Agency/Authority Meeting at Suisun City Hall 701 Civic Center Blvd., Suisun City. Agenda related writings or
documents provided to a majority of the Council/Board/Commissioners less than 72 hours prior to a
Council/Agency/Authority meeting related to an agenda item for the open session of this meeting will be made
available for public inspection during normal business hours. An agenda packet is also located at the entrance to
the Council Chambers during the meeting for public review. The city may charge photocopying charges for
requested copies of such documents. To the extent feasible, the agenda packet is available for online public
viewing on the City’s website: https://www.suisun.com/Government/City-Council/Agendas
 
The City Council/Agency/Authority hopes to conclude its public business by 10:00 p.m. No new items will be
taken up after 10:00 p.m., unless so moved by a majority of the City Council,  and any items remaining will be
agendized for the next meeting. The agendas have been prepared with the hope that all items scheduled will be
discussed within the time allowed.
 
Accommodations 
If you require an accommodation to participate in this meeting, please contact the City Clerk at (707) 421-7302 or
clerk@suisun.com. The City’s reasonable accommodation policy is available for review on the City’s website at
www.suisun.com/government/city-council/, you may request an electronic copy or have a copy mailed to you.
Please note that for accommodations that are not readily available, you must make your request as soon as you can
prior to the time of the meeting.
 
Decorum
All participants are expected to conduct themselves with mutual respect. Conduct that disrupts meetings will be
addressed in accordance with Section 54957.95 of the Government Code.
 
Ordinances
Ordinances are city laws contained in the Suisun City Municipal Code. Enacting a new city law or changing an
existing one is a two-step process. Government Code 36934 provides, except when, after reading the title, further
reading is waived by regular motion adopted by majority vote all ordinances shall be read in full either at the time
of introduction or passage; provided, however, that a reading of the title or ordinance shall not be required if the
title is included on the published agenda and a copy of the full ordinance is made available to the public online and
in print at the meeting prior to the introduction or passage.
 
Certification Of Posting
Agendas for regular and special meetings are posted in accordance with the Brown Act at Suisun City Hall, 701
Civic Center Boulevard, Suisun City, CA. Agendas may be posted at other Suisun City locations including:

Suisun City Fire Station, 621 Pintail Drive, Suisun City, CA;
Joe Nelson Center, 611 Village Drive, Suisun City, CA;
Harbor Master Office, 800 Kellogg Street, Suisun City, CA.

I, Donna Pock, Deputy City Clerk for the City of Suisun City, declare under penalty of perjury that the above
agenda was posted and available for review, in compliance with the Brown Act. 

4



5



6



7



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

8



Utilities Billing 
System

City Council Meeting

November 7, 2023

Agenda

Overview of new Utilities Billing 
System

Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Water Shut-Off information

1

2

9



Utilities Billing System 
Overview

• Tyler Technologies, Inc. – March 7, 2022

• It provides billing and customer information management for
municipalities for water, sewer, electricity, and gas operations.

• Bill water and sewer while keeping multiple billing cycles
active at the same time

• Receive and track payments
• Maintain historical information regarding services, accounts,

and customers
• 24/7 customer access for paying bills and fees online
• Analyze trends and variations in customer records
• Easily respond to customer questions or issues

Communication/Outreach

• Public Notice – Start of Project
• City Website

• City Social Media

• E-mail: Council, Boards, Commissions, Committees,
employees, etc.

• Insert in monthly water bills (instructions to set-up
online account)

• Public Notice – Go-Live

3

4

10



Former 
Water Bill

New  Water 
Bill

5

6

11



Online Payments

New Fee Structure

Phone Payment 
(No fee)

Credit/Debit Card 
($1.25/transaction)

E-Check (No fee)

Old Fee Structure

Credit/Debit Card 
(3.75% /transaction) E-Check (No fee)

Pending Issues
 Issues importing reads from Meter

Badger to Tyler.
 Ongoing issues with Meter Badger not

reading meters, not a Tyler problem.
 Random issues with payments made

during transition not posting accurately
to Tyler.

 Ongoing issues of unreconciled online
payments, requires assistance from
Tyler which includes research.

 Continuous learning to run reports
from Tyler and navigating the system.

7

8

12



Shut Offs 

No Shut Offs were done in July and August due to 
major transition to new utilities billing system!

Final Notice 
Bills for 

October:
497

Questions/Comments

9

10

13



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

14



AGENDA ITEM NO. 6
                  AGENDA TRANSMITTAL

 
MEETING DATE: November 7, 2023
 
CITY AGENDA ITEM: Council Adoption of Ordinance No. 807: An Ordinance of the City Council
of the City of Suisun City Levying Special Tax Within the City of Suisun City Community Facilities
District No. 2 (Municipal Services), Including Certain Annexation Territory (Tractor Supply Co.)
(Introduced and Reading Waived October 17, 2023). 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: There would be an impact to the General Fund from this item. Once annexed into
CFD#2 (Annexation #17), Tractor Supply Co. will begin to contribute funds towards Safety Services
such as police and fire. The annexation of Tractor Supply Co. into Community Facilities District No. 2
meets the fiscal criteria as established by Resolution No. 2005-69 Cost Recovery Policy for New
Development, dated October 4, 2005. Community Facilities District #2 is intended to offset Municipal
Service costs, including administrative costs, thereby reducing the negative fiscal impact of new
development on the City’s General Fund.
 
STRATEGIC PLAN: Provide Good Governance and Ensure Public Safety.
 
BACKGROUND: As part of the conditions of approval for Tractor Supply Co., the developer is
required to mitigate the impact on City Services due to the new development. In accordance with the
development conditions imposed on development project, the landowner is annexing to Community
Facility District No. 2 to offset municipal service costs for police, fire, paramedics.
 
As the first step in the annexation process, the Resolution of Intention was brought before Council and
approved at the September 5, 2023, Council Meeting.
 
The second steps in the legislative process for annexation of Tractor Supply Co. into Community
Facility District No. 2 included conducting the Public Hearing and the waiving the first reading of the
Ordinance at the October 17, 2023, Council Meeting.
 
STAFF REPORT: The final step in legislative process for the annexation of Tractor Supply Co.
involves the item coming back to Council as a Consent item to complete the adoption of the associated
Ordinance. This is the step before you tonight.
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the City Council Adopt Ordinance No. 807:
An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Suisun City Levying Special Tax Within the City of
Suisun City Community Facilities District No. 2 (Municipal Services), Including Certain Annexation
Territory (Tractor Supply Co.) (Introduced and Reading Waived October 17, 2023).
 
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED:

1. Ordinance No. 807: An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Suisun City Levying Special
Tax Within the City of Suisun City Community Facilities District No. 2 (Municipal Services),
Including Certain Annexation Territory (Tractor Supply Co.).

 

15



PREPARED BY: Amanda Dum, Management Analyst II
REVIEWED BY: Nouae Vue, Public Works Director
APPROVED BY: Aaron Roth, Acting City Manager
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Ordinance No. 807 Levying Special Tax Within the City of Suisun City CFD No. 2.pdf
1 Blank Page - THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.pdf

16

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2265664/1.__Ordinance_No._807_Levying_Special_Tax_Within_the_City_of_Suisun_City_CFD_No._2.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2267368/1_Blank_Page_-_THIS_PAGE_INTENTIONALLY_LEFT_BLANK.pdf


         

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 807 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN 
CITY LEVYING SPECIAL TAX WITHIN THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICT NO. 2 (MUNICIPAL 
SERVICES), INCLUDING CERTAIN ANNEXATION TERRITORY 

(TRACTOR SUPPLY CO.) 

 
Annexation No. 17 (Tractor Supply Co.) 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Suisun City (the “City”) has conducted proceedings pursuant 

to the Mello-Roos Community Facilities Act, Chapter 2.5 of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5, 
commencing with Section 53311, of the California Government Code (the “Act”) to establish 
“City of Suisun City Community Facilities District No. 2 (Municipal Services)” (the “CFD”) 
for the purpose of financing certain municipal services (the “Services) as provided in the Act; 
and 

WHEREAS, the rate and method of apportionment of special tax for the CFD (the 
“Original Rate and Method”) is set forth in Exhibit A to City Council Resolution 2005-89, 
which was adopted on November 15, 2005 (the “Resolution of Formation”); and  

WHEREAS, the City has conducted proceedings to annex territory into the CFD and, 
in connection therewith, approved supplements to the Original Rate and Method (as 
supplemented, the “Rate and Method”); and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF SUISUN CITY as follows: 
SECTION ONE: By the passage of this Ordinance, pursuant to the Act, the Council hereby 
authorizes and levies the Special Tax within the CFD, including all territory annexed into the 
CFD prior to the date hereof, at the rate and in accordance with method set forth in the Rate and 
Method, which rate and method are by this reference incorporated herein. The Special Tax has 
previously been levied in the original territory of the CFD beginning in fiscal year 2006-07 
pursuant to Ordinance No. 684, passed and adopted by the City Council on December 6, 2005, 
and the Special Tax is hereby levied commencing in fiscal year 2023-24 in the territory annexed 
to the CFD subsequent to formation of the CFD, and in each fiscal year thereafter to pay for the 
Services for the CFD and all costs of administering the CFD. 
The City Council hereby ratifies the levy of special taxes within the CFD pursuant to the Act, 
at the rate and in accordance with the Rate and Method, in fiscal years 2006-07 through 2023-
24. 
SECTION TWO: The City Manager or designee, or an employee or consultant of the City, is 
hereby authorized and directed each fiscal year to determine the specific Special Tax to be 
levied for the next ensuing fiscal year for each parcel of real property within the CFD, including 
all territory annexed to the CFD prior to the date hereof, in the manner and as provided in the 
Rate and Method. 

17



 

Ordinance No. 807 
Adopted November 7, 2023 
Page 2 of 3 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SECTION THREE: Exemptions from the levy of the Special Tax shall be as provided in the 
Resolution of Formation, the Rate and Method and the applicable provisions of the Act. In no 
event shall the Special Tax be levied on any parcel within the CFD in excess of the maximum 
Special Tax specified in the Rate and Method. 
SECTION FOUR: All of the collections of the Special Tax shall be used as provided in the 
Act and in the Resolution of Formation, including, but not limited to, the payment of costs of 
the Services, the payment of the costs of the City in administering the CFD, and the costs of 
collecting and administering the Special Tax. 
SECTION FIVE: The Special Tax shall be collected in the same manner as ordinary ad 
valorem taxes are collected and shall have the same lien priority, and be subject to the same 
penalties and the same procedure and sale in cases of delinquency as provided for ad valorem 
taxes; provided, however, that the Council may provide for other appropriate methods of 
collection by resolution(s) of the Council. The City Manager of the City (or the City Manager’s 
designee) is hereby authorized and directed to provide all necessary information to the 
auditor/tax collector of the County of Solano in order to effect proper billing and collection of 
the Special Tax, so that the Special Tax shall be included on the secured property tax roll of the 
County of Solano for fiscal year 2023-24 and for each fiscal year thereafter, as set forth above, 
until no longer required to pay for the Services or until otherwise terminated by the City. 
SECTION SIX: If for any reason any portion of this Ordinance is found to be invalid, or if the 
Special Tax is found inapplicable to any particular parcel within the CFD, including all territory 
annexed to the CFD prior to the date hereof, by a court of competent jurisdiction, the balance 
of this Ordinance and the application of the Special Tax to the remaining parcels within the 
CFD, including all territory annexed to the CFD prior to the date hereof, shall not be affected. 
SECTION SEVEN: The Mayor shall sign this Ordinance and the City Clerk shall cause the 
same to be published immediately after its passage at least once in a newspaper of general 
circulation circulated in the City. 
SECTION EIGHT: This Council affirms the provisions of Ordinance No. 684 except to the 
extent any terms of such Ordinance are inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance, in 
which case the terms of this Ordinance shall govern.  
SECTION NINE: This Ordinance shall become effective (30) days following its passage and 
adoption and shall be published once within fifteen (15) days upon passage and adoption in a 
newspaper of general circulation in the City of Suisun City, County of Solano. 

* * * * * * 

18



 

Ordinance No. 807 
Adopted November 7, 2023 
Page 3 of 3 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council 
of the City of Suisun City, California, on this 7th day of November 2023. 

 
 
  
Alma Hernandez, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 
  
Anita Skinner 
City Clerk 

 

 
APPROVED AS TO FORM 
AND LEGAL CONTENT: 

 

_______________________________ 
Aleshire & Wynder, LLP 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 I, Anita Skinner, City Clerk of the City of Suisun City and ex-officio Clerk of the City 

Council of said City, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing ordinance was introduced 
at a regular meeting of the said City Council held on October 17, 2023, and passed and adopted 
at a regular meeting of said City Council held on November 7, 2023, by the following vote: 
 
AYES: Councilmembers:    
NOES: Councilmembers:    
ABSENT: Councilmembers:    
ABSTAIN: Councilmembers:    
 

ATTEST: 

 

     
Anita Skinner 
City Clerk 

 

19



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

20



AGENDA ITEM NO. 7
                  AGENDA TRANSMITTAL

 
MEETING DATE: November 7, 2023
 
CITY AGENDA ITEM: Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-___: Authorizing the Acting City
Manager to Execute a Transportation Funds for Clean Air Funding Agreement with the Solano
Transportation Authority for the Driftwood Drive Path Gap Closure Project.
 
FISCAL IMPACT: There would be no impact to the General Fund for this item. The city is eligible to
receive $100,000 as part of Solano County’s funding allocation from the Bay Area Air Quality
Management District's (BAAQMD) Transportation Funds for Clean Air (TFCA) Program Manager
Funds. Additionally, the city has previously received an allocation of $307,000 from the Metropolitan
Transportation Commission (MTC)’s Transportation Development Act Article 3 (TDA-3)
Pedestrian/Bicycle project funding which makes for a total project budget of $407,000. Funds for the
TFCA and TDA-3 are distributed by the Solano Transportation Authority (STA). 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN: Provide Good Governance. Enhance the Environment.
 
BACKGROUND: The BAAQMD’s TFCA is collected from a $4 fee on all vehicle registrations within
the Air District’s boundaries. 60% of these funds are applied to the TFCA Regional Program, which is
administered by BAAQMD. The remaining 40% is distributed to each Bay Area County Congestion
Management Agency (CMA) and is called County Program Manager Funds.
 
BAAQMD, in coordination with the CMA’s, establishes TFCA policies for both programs annually.
Eligible TFCA projects are those that reduce air pollution from motor vehicles, such as clean air
vehicles and infrastructure, carpools/vanpools, shuttle bus services, bicycle projects, and alternative
mode promotional/educational projects. The TFCA County Program Manager Funds available for
Solano County projects in FY 2023-24 are estimated to be $358,331.
 
Southwestern portions of Solano County are eligible to apply for these funds.  This area includes the
cities of Benicia, Fairfield, Suisun City, and Vallejo, as well as the surrounding unincorporated areas.
 The Yolo-Solano Air Quality Management District provides similar funding (i.e. Clean Air Funds
through a different process) for the remaining cities of Dixon, Rio Vista, Vacaville, and the surrounding
unincorporated areas.
 
All eligible projects must meet cost effectiveness requirements related to the amount of emission
reductions and must submit monitoring reports twice a year.  Past projects funded through the TFCA
program include Class I and II bike facilities, Solano Mobility, and Safe Routes to School projects.
STA staff aims to identify projects that align well with the goals of both BAAQMD and STA.
 
Suisun City was selected to receive these grant funds to cover the costs associated with filling in the gap
between the existing Class I Driftwood Drive Path and the Grizzly Island Trail with the remaining
section of Class I path. This would continue and complete the Driftwood Drive 10-foot path along the
south side of Driftwood Drive from a point approximately 175 feet west of Marina Boulevard to the
Driftwood Drive/Marina Boulevard intersection.
 

21



STAFF REPORT: On May 10, 2023, the STA Board approved the Driftwood Drive Path Gap Closure
Project for FY 2023-24 TFCA allocation in the amount of $100,000. Moreover, the STA and
BAAQMD have executed a program funding agreement. In order to move the City’s Driftwood Drive
Path Gap Closure Project forward, the attached TFCA funding agreement between the STA and the City
will need to be executed.  
 
By entering into this funding agreement, the city agrees to the following:    
 

1. To fill in the gap in the 10-foot-wide concrete pedestrian/bicycle path along the south side of
Driftwood Drive from Marina Boulevard to approximately 200 feet west by extending the curb
out to the paved street, installing crosswalk and roadway striping, signage, curb ramp upgrades,
and storm drain improvements that include catch basins, underground pipe, and repaving for
surface drainage purposes.

2. To be bound and abide by any and all applicable provisions of the Funding Agreement between
STA and the BAAQMD for Fiscal Year 2023-2024, which is attached as Exhibit B and
incorporated by reference in the Agreement.

3. To cooperate with STA and do all such things, provide all such documentation, and take all such
actions as shall be reasonably required by STA, to facilitate Suisun City’s and STA’s compliance
with the Funding Agreement to complete all project work.

4. To submit invoices to STA at least on a quarterly basis. 
 
By entering into this agreement, the STA agrees to the following:
 

1. Upon submission of an invoice by Suisun City, and upon approval of the STA’s representative,
pay Suisun City monthly in arrears for fees and expenses incurred the prior month, up to the
maximum amount provided for in this Agreement ($100,000).

2. This Agreement will remain in effect from the date of signing through December 31, 2025.
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2023-
___:  Authorizing the Acting City Manager to Execute a Transportation Funds for Clean Air Funding
Agreement with the Solano Transportation Authority for the Driftwood Drive Path Gap Closure Project.
 
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED:

1. Resolution No. 2023-__: Authorizing the Acting City Manager to Execute a Transportation Funds
for Clean Air Funding Agreement with the Solano Transportation Authority for the Driftwood
Drive Path Gap Closure Project.

2. Project Location Map.
3. Funding Agreement between the Solano Transportation Authority and the City of Suisun City for

the Driftwood Drive Path Gap Closure Project.
 

PREPARED BY: Amanda Dum, Management Analyst II
REVIEWED BY: Nouae Vue, Public Works Director
APPROVED BY: Aaron Roth, Acting City Manager

 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Resolution Authorizing Acting City Manager to Execute a Transportation Funds for Clean Air Funding
Agreement.pdf

22

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2255184/1.__Resolution_Authorizing_Acting_City_Manager_to_Execute_a_Transportation_Funds_for_Clean_Air_Funding_Agreement.pdf


2. Project Location Map.pdf
3. Funding Agreement between STA and City of Suisun City.pdf

23

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2255186/2.__Project_Location_Map.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2265683/3.__Funding_Agreement_between_STA_and_City_of_Suisun_City.pdf


 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-__ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY 
AUTHORIZING THE ACTING CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE A 

TRANSPORTATION FUNDS FOR CLEAN AIR FUNDING AGREEMENT WITH THE 
SOLANO TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY FOR THE DRIFTWOOD DRIVE PATH 

GAP CLOSURE PROJECT 
 

 WHEREAS, the Bay Area Air Quality Management District (“BAAQMD”) 
Transportation Funds for Clean Air (“TFCA”) are administered by each Bay Area Congestion 
Management Agency (“CMA”); and 
 WHEREAS, the Solano Transportation Authority (STA), as the CMA for Solano County, 
administers the TFCA for the County; and 
 WHEREAS, Suisun City was selected to receive a total of $100,000 as part of Solano 
County’s funding allocation from the Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD) 
funds for clean air projects which is distributed by the Solano Transportation Authority (STA); 
and 
 WHEREAS, the City of Suisun City’s Driftwood Drive Path Gap Closure Project will fill 
in the gap in the 10-foot-wide concrete pedestrian/bicycle path along the south side of 
Driftwood Drive from Marina Boulevard to approximately 175 feet west by extending the curb 
out to the paved street, installing crosswalk and roadway striping, signage, curb ramp upgrades, 
and storm drain improvements that include catch basins, underground pipe, and repaving for 
surface drainage purposes; and 
 WHEREAS, STA and BAAQMD have executed the program funding agreement; and 
 WHEREAS, in order to move the City’s path gap closure project forward, the attached 
project funding agreement between the STA and the City will need to be executed; and 
 WHEREAS, STA desires to fund the activities in accordance with the terms of the 
Funding Agreement. 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of Suisun 
City authorizes the City Manager to take all actions necessary to execute the Funding Agreement 
between the Solano Transportation Authority and the City of Suisun City for the Driftwood Drive 
Path Gap Closure. 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Suisun 
City duly held on Tuesday, the 7th day of November 2023, by the following vote: 

AYES: Councilmembers:    
NOES: Councilmembers:    
ABSENT: Councilmembers:    
ABSTAIN: Councilmembers:    

WITNESS my hand and the seal of said City this 7th day of November 2023. 
  
   
 Anita Skinner 
 City Clerk 

 

24



D
 

IS
 

$ �
 

C,
 

' 
qj

 

L
o
c
a
ti

o
n

 M
a
p

 

D
ri

ft
w

o
o
d
 D

ri
v
e 

P
a
th

 G
a
p
 C

lo
su

re
 P

ro
je

c
t 

U
n

d
e

v
e

lo
p

e
d
 

3
2

-A
c
re

 P
a
rc

e
l

C
e
n
tr

a
l 

C
o
u
n
ty

 B
ik

e
w

a
y

C
 

C.
 

e n
t r

a t
 C

o u
n t

y 
B i

k e
w

a y
� 

, 
G

r i
zz

l y
 I s

l a
n d

 T
r
a i

l
�

 �
 

�
,a;

 �
 �

 �
 

�
 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

 L
O

C
A
T

IO
N

 
D

ri
ft

w
o
o
d
 D

ri
v
e
 P

a
th

 G
a
p
 C

lo
su

re
 

25



231107att3_TFCA FY23-24_Driftwood Dr Project Funding Agreement_Attachment No. 3 

Page 1 of 7 

FUNDING AGREEMENT  

BETWEEN  

SOLANO TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 

AND 

CITY OF SUISUN CITY 

This Funding Agreement (“Agreement”) is made on ____________________________ between 

the Solano Transportation Authority, a joint powers authority organized under Government Code 

section 6500 et seq. consisting of the County of Solano and the Cities of Benicia, Dixon, Fairfield, 

Rio Vista, Suisun City, Vacaville and Vallejo (“STA”), and the City of Suisun City, a municipal 

corporation (“Suisun City”) each individually referred to as a “Party” and collectively as the 

“Parties”.  

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, STA was created in 1990 through a Joint Powers Agreement between the County of 

Solano and the Cities of Benicia, Dixon, Fairfield, Rio Vista, Suisun City, Vacaville, and Vallejo 

to serve as the Congestion Management Agency (CMA) for County of Solano; and 

WHEREAS, STA, as the CMA and the and County Transportation Authority (CTA) for Solano 

County, partners with various federal, state, regional, and local transportation and planning 

agencies, such as the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) and Caltrans District 4, and 

local government, to set countywide transportation priorities and to coordinate the delivery of 

transportation projects in furtherance of the identified transportation priorities; and  

WHEREAS, the Bay Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD) Transportation Funds 

for Clean Air (TFCA) are administered by each Bay Area CMA; and 

WHEREAS, the Solano Transportation Authority, as the CMA for Solano County, administers the 

TFCA for the County; and 

WHEREAS, STA received Board approval on May 10, 2023 for the fiscal year (FY) 2023-24 

Funding Plan for TFCA Funds; and  

WHEREAS, STA has issued a Call for Projects and has determined that the City of Suisun City 

meets the requirements for TFCA for its Safe Routes to Schools (SR2S) Class I path project, which 

is a 10-foot wide concrete sidewalk for pedestrian and bicyclist use (the “Project”); and  

WHEREAS, STA desires to fund the activities in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

26



 

231107att3_TFCA FY23-24_Driftwood Dr Project Funding Agreement_Attachment No. 3 

 Page 2 of 7 

AGREEMENT 

 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises set forth in this Agreement, the 

Parties agree as follows:  

 

A. Project and Funding Identification:  

 

1. Suisun City shall perform those services outlined in Exhibit A.  

 

2. The maximum funding amount allocated for these activities is $100,000.  

 

B. Suisun City Agrees:  

 

1. To deliver the Project as identified in Exhibit A.   

 

2. To be bound and abide by any and all applicable provisions of the Funding Agreement between 

STA and the BAAQMD for Fiscal Year 2023-24, which is attached as Exhibit B and incorporated 

by reference as if fully set forth in this Agreement. 

 

3. To cooperate with STA and do all such things, provide all such documentation, and take all such 

actions as shall be reasonably required by STA, to facilitate Suisun City’s and STA’s compliance 

with the Funding Agreement to complete all project work.  

 

4. To submit invoices to STA at least on a quarterly basis. 

 

C. STA Agrees:  

 

Upon submission of an invoice by Suisun City, and upon approval of the STA’s representative, 

pay Suisun City monthly in arrears for fees and expenses incurred the prior month, up to the 

maximum amount provided for in this Agreement.  

 

D. Mutual Responsibilities: 

 

1. Term: This Agreement shall remain in effect through December 31, 2025, unless it is 

terminated or amended earlier as provided in this Agreement.  

 

2. Termination: STA’s obligation under this Agreement is subject to the availability of authorized 

funds. STA may terminate the Agreement, or any part of the work, without prejudice for lack of 

appropriation of funds. If expected or actual funding is withdrawn, reduced, or limited in any way 

prior to the expiration date set forth in this Agreement, or any subsequent Amendment, the STA 

may, upon written Notice to Suisun City, terminate this Agreement in whole or in part. STA shall 

provide written notice of termination, pursuant to this clause, to Suisun City at least sixty (60) days 

prior to the effective date of termination.  

27



 

231107att3_TFCA FY23-24_Driftwood Dr Project Funding Agreement_Attachment No. 3 

 Page 3 of 7 

3. Indemnity:  

a. Suisun City shall indemnify, defend with counsel approved by STA, and hold harmless, 

STA and its member jurisdictions, and their respective officials, officers, directors, 

employees, agents, and volunteers, from and against any and all claims, suits, actions, 

causes of action, loss, damages, expense and costs (including, without limitation, costs and 

fees of litigation) of every nature arising out of or in connection with performance of work 

hereunder, including, but not limited to, performance of work on the Project, or Suisun 

City failure to comply with any of its obligations or performance of services contained in 

this Agreement, except such losses or damages which are caused by the sole negligence or 

willful misconduct of STA. 

 

b. STA shall indemnify, defend with counsel approved by Suisun City, and hold harmless, 

Suisun City and its member jurisdictions, and their respective officials, officers, directors, 

employees, agents, and volunteers, from and against any and all claims, suits, actions, 

causes of action, loss, damages, expense and costs (including, without limitation, costs and 

fees of litigation) of every nature arising out of or in connection with performance of work 

hereunder, including, but not limited to, performance of work on the Project, or STA’s 

failure to comply with any of its obligations or performance of services contained in this 

Agreement, except such losses or damages which are caused by the sole negligence or 

willful misconduct of Suisun City. 

 

4. Insurance: 

a. Suisun City will maintain status as legally self-insured public entities for general, auto 

and professional liability insurance coverage with limits of no less than $1,000,000 per 

occurrence and no less than five million dollars ($5,000,000) aggregate. Suisun City agrees 

to include STA, its officials, employees and agents as an additional insureds and endorse 

its general liability policies STA, using standard ISO endorsement No. CG2010 or its 

equivalent to demonstrate such coverage. 

 

b. Each Party will maintain Workers’ Compensation as required by law for all its 

employees. Neither Party’s insurance shall be called upon to satisfy any claim for workers’ 

compensation filed by an employee of the other Party. Each Party will provide the other 

with a Waiver of Subrogation endorsement for Workers Compensation. Each Party also 

agrees to require all consultants, contractors and subcontractors engaged to work on this 

Project to carry the same Workers Compensation insurance limits and endorsements. 

 

5. Notice: All notices and other communications required or permitted to be given under this Sub-

Agreement shall be in writing and shall be personally served or mailed, postage prepaid and 

addressed to the respective Parties as follows: 

 

  

28



 

231107att3_TFCA FY23-24_Driftwood Dr Project Funding Agreement_Attachment No. 3 

 Page 4 of 7 

TO STA: 

Daryl K. Halls, Executive Director 

Solano Transportation Authority 

423 Main Street 

Suisun City, CA 94585 

Attn: Dulce Jimenez, Planning Assistant 

 

TO CITY SUISUN CITY:  

Aaron Roth, Acting/Interim City Manager 

City of Suisun City 

701 Civic Center Blvd 

Suisun City, CA 94585 

Attn:  Nick Lozano, Project Manager 

 

Notice shall be deemed effective on the date personally delivered or, if mailed, three (3) days 

following the date of deposit with the United States Postal Service. 

 

6. Assignability: Neither Party to this Agreement shall assign or transfer any interest in this 

Agreement nor the performance of any duties or obligations hereunder, without the prior written 

consent of the other Party, and any attempt by either Party to so assign or transfer this Agreement 

or any rights, duties or obligations arising hereunder shall be void and of no effect. 

 

7. Governing Law: The Parties agree that the law governing this Agreement shall be that of the 

State of California. 

 

8. Venue: In the event that suit shall be brought by either Party, the Parties agree that venue shall 

be exclusively vested in the state courts of the County of Solano, or where otherwise appropriate, 

exclusively in the United States District Court, Eastern District of California, Sacramento, 

California. 

 

9. Interpretation: Each Party has reviewed this Agreement and any question of doubtful 

interpretation shall not be resolved by any rule or interpretation providing for interpretation against 

the drafting party. This Agreement shall be construed as if both Parties drafted it. The captions and 

headings contained herein are for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning or 

interpretation of this Agreement. 

 

10. Force Majeure: Neither the STA nor Suisun City shall be liable or deemed to be in default for 

any delay or failure in performance under this Agreement or for any interruption of services, 

directly or indirectly, from acts of god, civil or military authority, acts of public enemy, war, 

strikes, labor disputes, shortages of suitable parts, materials, labor or transportation, or any similar 

cause beyond the reasonable control of the STA or Suisun City. 

 

29



231107att3_TFCA FY23-24_Driftwood Dr Project Funding Agreement_Attachment No. 3 

Page 5 of 7 

11. Controlling Provisions: In the event of a conflict between the provisions of this Agreement

and those of the BAAQMD Agreement, the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be

controlling as to the Parties to this Agreement.

12. Access to Records and Retention: All Parties, acting through their duly authorized

representative, as well as any federal or state grantor agency providing all or part of the funding

associated with this Agreement, the State Controller, the Comptroller General of the United States,

and the duly authorized representatives of any of the Parties, shall have access to any books,

documents, papers and records of any Party which are directly pertinent to the subject matter of

this Agreement for the purpose of making audit, examination, excerpts and transcriptions. Except

where longer retention is required by any federal or state law, the Parties shall maintain all required

records for three years after final payment for any work associated with this Agreement, or after

all pending matters are closed, whichever is later.

14. Prior Agreements and Amendments: This Agreement, including attachments and exhibits,

represent the entire agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject matter described in this

Agreement, and no representation, warranties, inducements, or oral agreements have been made

by any of the Parties except as expressly set forth in this Agreement. This Agreement may only be

modified by a written amendment duly executed by the Parties.

The Parties have executed this Agreement on the day and year first written above. 

SOLANO TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY CITY OF SUISUN CITY 

By: ________________________________ 

Daryl K. Halls, Executive Director  

By: ________________________________ 

Aaron Roth, Acting City Manager 

Approved as to Form: Approved as to Form: 

By: ________________________________ 

Megan J. Callaway, STA Legal Counsel 

By: ________________________________ 

Elena Q. Gerli, City Attorney 

30



231107att3_TFCA FY23-24_Driftwood Dr Project Funding Agreement_Attachment No. 3 

Page 6 of 7 

Exhibit A 

31



231107att3_TFCA FY23-24_Driftwood Dr Project Funding Agreement_Attachment No. 3 

Page 7 of 7 

Exhibit B 

32



FUNDING AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN 

THE BAY AREA AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT DISTRICT 
AND 

SOLANO TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
24-SOL

This Funding Agreement (Agreement) is entered into between the Solano Transportation 
Authority (County Program Manager), and the Bay Area Air Quality Management District (Air 
District). The County Program Manager and the Air District will each be referred to as a Party, 
and as the Parties collectively.  This Agreement includes Attachment A, which specifies the 
funding allocated under this Agreement, and Attachment B, which pertains to insurance 
requirements. 

SECTION I 
RECITALS: 
1) The Air District is authorized under California Health and Safety (Health & Safety) Code

Sections 44223 and 44225 to levy a fee on motor vehicles registered within its jurisdiction
(Motor Vehicle Fees), a portion of which the Air District receives and dedicates to its
Transportation Fund for Clean Air (TFCA) program.

2) TFCA program monies may be allocated for projects to reduce air pollution from motor
vehicles and to implement transportation control measures included in the plan adopted
pursuant to Health and Safety Code Sections 40233, 40717, and 40919.

3) In accordance with Health and Safety Code Section 44241(d), the Air District allocates not
less than forty (40) percent of the TFCA monies received to implement the TFCA County
Program Manager program (Program).

4) The Air District has been notified, in a communication dated August 17, 1992, that the
County Program Manager is the duly authorized recipient of the proportionate share of
Program monies for Solano County, and has been so designated by resolution(s) adopted by
the Solano County Board of Supervisors and by the city councils of a majority of the cities
representing a majority of the population in the incorporated area of the county.  The terms
and conditions for the expenditure of the County’s Program monies by the County Program
Manager are set forth in the resolution(s).

5) On December 7, 2022, the Air District’s Board of Directors (Board of Directors) approved
the TFCA County Program Manager Fund Policies for Fiscal Year Ending 2024 (Policies).
The Policies set forth requirements, including eligibility and cost-effectiveness requirements,
for projects funded by TFCA funds in fiscal year ending (FYE) 2024.  The Policies are
incorporated as Appendix D and made a part of the “County Program Manager Fund
Expenditure Plan Guidance for Fiscal Year Ending 2024” (Guidance) and are incorporated
herein and made a part hereof by this reference as if fully set forth herein.

6) On or about March 3, 2023, the County Program Manager submitted an Expenditure Plan
Application to the Air District for its Solano County TFCA Program, which specified interest

33



 

FYE 2024 TFCA County Program Manager Agreement 24-SOL Page 2 of 10 

income earned by the County Program Manager and TFCA funds from previously funded 
TFCA projects available for reprogramming to other eligible TFCA projects. 

7) On May 17, 2023, the Board of Directors approved an estimated new allocation of FYE 2024 
TFCA Program monies of $340,800 for Solano County (New FYE 2024 TFCA Allocation), 
which is based upon the County’s proportionate share of the California Department of Motor 
Vehicle (DMV) vehicle registration fees paid.  On this same date, the Board of Directors 
approved an estimated total funding level for FYE 2024 of $358,331 for Solano County 
(TFCA Funds), which is to be administered by the County Program Manager and will be 
covered by this Agreement.  The TFCA Funds include: the New FYE 2024 TFCA 
Allocation, any reprogramming of TFCA monies remaining from projects from prior fiscal 
years, and any interest earned in the prior year.  

8) The Air District and the County Program Manager, pursuant to Health and Safety Code 
Section 44241, hereby enter into this Agreement to: (a) implement the Program within 
Solano County; (b) select and fund projects that improve air quality in the San Francisco Bay 
Area Air Basin and comply with the Policies; and (c) oversee such funded projects to assure 
that they meet, and are implemented in accordance with, the Policies and the terms of this 
Agreement.  This Agreement covers the funding allocation set forth in Paragraph 7 above. 

 
SECTION II 

 
COUNTY PROGRAM MANAGER AGREES: 
1) To implement the FYE 2024 Program within Solano County in accordance with this 

Agreement and the Policies. 

2) To select and fund projects that improve air quality in the San Francisco Bay Area Air Basin 
and that comply with the Policies and the terms of this Agreement (Program Projects).  
Recipients of TFCA Funds may include the County Program Manager, which undertakes its 
own County projects, and other entities (Sub-awardees).  The County Program Manager will 
designate the Program Projects as FYE 2024 Program Projects for administrative purposes. 

3) Except in the case where the County Program Manager is the Sub-awardee, the County 
Program Manager must enter into a binding agreement with each Sub-awardee that sets forth 
the maximum amount of TFCA Funds awarded for each Program Project, and requires each 
Sub-awardee to comply with both the terms of this Agreement and the Policies and to 
implement the Program Projects as approved by the County Program Manager.  The County 
Program Manager must maintain copies of the County Program Manager’s written 
agreements with Sub-awardees, including any amendments to carry out the Program Projects. 

4) To encumber and expend all TFCA Funds within two (2) years of receipt of the first payment 
of the TFCA funds (Expenditure Deadline) unless one of the following applies: 

a) Multi-Year Funded Project: County Program Manager requests multi-year funding in 
compliance with the Guidance; and Air District approves the request for multi-year funding.  

b) Extensions of Expenditure Deadline: 

34



 

FYE 2024 TFCA County Program Manager Agreement 24-SOL Page 3 of 10 

i. Action by County Program Manager: If consistent with the Policies and Guidance, the 
County Program Manager may extend the Expenditure Deadline for up to an additional 
two (2) years, but no later than December 31, 2027, by one of the following methods: 

1. A particular Program Project application for funds states that the project 
will take a longer period of time to implement and an extension is approved 
in writing by the County Program Manager; or  

2. The County Program Manager finds, based on the Sub-awardee’s 
application that despite significant progress on the particular Program Project, 
the Sub-awardee requires additional time to implement the Program Project 
and the County Program Manager approves the extension of time in writing. 

ii. Action by Air District: If consistent with the Policies and Guidance, the Air District 
may grant a further extension for a particular Program Project under the following 
circumstance: 

1. The County Program Manager finds, based on the Sub-awardee’s 
application that despite significant progress on the particular Program 
Project, the Sub-awardee requires additional time to implement the Program 
Project (beyond the two years that the County Program Manager has already 
granted); the County Program Manager submits an extension request to the 
Air District no later than sixty (60) days prior to the end of the Expenditure 
Deadline; and the Air District approves the request in writing.  

5) To return to the Air District any TFCA Funds and associated interest unexpended as per 
Section II, Paragraph 4. 

6) To maintain, at all times during the term of this Agreement, a separate account or sub-ledger 
for all TFCA Funds and to withdraw funds from this separate account only for the 
reimbursement of costs to implement Program Projects.  Failure to comply with this 
paragraph will constitute grounds for termination pursuant to Section IV, Paragraph 2 below. 

7) To maintain, or cause to be maintained, adequate records to document and demonstrate to Air 
District staff and auditors the receipt, interest accrual, and expenditures of Air District funds 
to implement the Program. 

8) To track and report to the Air District all interest accrued from TFCA Funds. 

a) The County Program Manager may not use interest from TFCA Funds for administrative 
purposes.   

b) The County Program Manager’s distribution of any interest funds will be at the discretion 
of the County Program Manager, after consultation with the Air District and must be in 
accordance with the Policies and applicable State law. 

9) To track and report to the Air District any TFCA Funds and associated interest 
unencumbered at the time of completion or termination of a Program Project.  The 
distribution of any such funds and associated interest will be at the discretion of the County 
Program Manager, after consultation with the Air District. 

35



 

FYE 2024 TFCA County Program Manager Agreement 24-SOL Page 4 of 10 

10) To limit administrative costs to conduct the Program to no more than six and one quarter 
percent (6.25%) of the New FYE 2024 TFCA Allocation received by the County Program 
Manager. 

11) To allow, and to require the Sub-awardees to allow, the Air District’s staff, its authorized 
representatives, and its independent auditors, during the term of this Agreement and for five 
(5) years from the end of each project’s Years of Effectiveness, to conduct performance and 
financial audits of the County’s Program and Program Projects and to inspect the Program 
Projects.  During audits, the County Program Manager will make available to the Air District 
in a timely manner all records relating to the County Program Manager’s implementation of 
the Program and of Sub-awardees’ expenses and performance of their Program Projects.  
During inspections, the County Program Manager will provide, at the request of the Air 
District, access to inspect a Sub-awardee’s Program Projects and related records. 

12) To keep, and to require Sub-awardees to keep, all financial and Program Project 
implementation records necessary to demonstrate compliance with this Agreement and the 
Program.  Such records include the reports required by Section II, Paragraphs 8 and 15 and 
those records required to demonstrate compliance with the terms of this Agreement, 
including those records specifically listed in Section II, Paragraphs 3, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 13, 
15, 16, and 20.  Such records shall include documentation that demonstrates significant 
progress made for those Program Projects seeking extensions to the completion date.  The 
County Program Manager must keep such documents in a central location, and require its 
Sub-awardee to keep such records at a central Sub-awardee location, for a period of five (5) 
years from the end of each project’s Years of Effectiveness.  

13) To maintain, and to require that each Sub-awardee maintain, employee time sheets 
documenting those hourly labor costs incurred in the implementation of this Agreement, 
including both administrative and Program Project implementation costs, or to establish an 
alternative method to document staff costs charged to the funded project. 

14) To distribute TFCA Funds allocated to a Sub-awardee only as reimbursement for 
documented Program Project costs that are eligible and approvable under the Policies.  

15) To prepare and submit reports to the Air District as follows: 

a) Semi-annual Funding Status Report:  Beginning May 31, 2024, the County Program 
Manager must submit a report by May 31 and October 31 of each year until all Program 
Projects are completed that specifies a) the Program Projects that have been cancelled, 
completed, and completed at a cost less than the allocation during the previous six-month 
period and if completed at a lesser cost, the amount of associated unexpended funds; and 
b) the Program Projects for which the County Program Manager has extended any 
deadlines and, for those projects, the revised completion date and documentation of the 
County Program Manager’s certification that, pursuant to Health and Safety Code Section 
44242(d), the Sub-awardee had made significant progress. 

b) Final Reports: Beginning May 31, 2024, the County Program Manager must submit by 
each May 31 and October 31, until all Program Projects are completed, a Final Report for 
each completed Program Project, which itemizes (a) the expenditure of the TFCA Funds, 
and (b) the results of the monitoring of the performance of each Program Project on Air 
District-approved report forms. 

36



 

FYE 2024 TFCA County Program Manager Agreement 24-SOL Page 5 of 10 

c) Interim Project Reports: Beginning October 31, 2024, the County Program Manager must 
submit by each October 31 an Interim Project Report for each Program Project that has 
not been completed and which itemizes (a) the expenditure of the TFCA Funds, and (b) 
the status of each Program Project’s implementation on Air District-approved report 
forms. 

d) If the due date for a report specified above falls on a weekend or on a State holiday, then 
that report is due on the following business day.  

16) To acknowledge, and to require all Sub-awardees to acknowledge, the Air District as a 
Program Project’s funding source during the implementation of a Program Project and, if 
applicable,  use the Air District’s approved logo as specified below: 

a) The logo must be used on signs posted at the site of any Program Project construction. 

b) The logo must be displayed on any vehicles or equipment operated or obtained as part of 
a Program Project. 

c) The logo must be used on any public information material relating to a Program Project, 
such as websites and printed materials, including transit schedules, brochures, handbooks, 
maps and other promotional materials. 

d) The County Program Manager must retain documentation, such as photographs of 
vehicles and copies of press releases, demonstrating that Air District logos are used and 
displayed as required. 

17) To assure that all TFCA Funds received under this Agreement are expended only in 
accordance with all applicable provisions of law for projects that are implemented directly by 
the County Program Manager, and to require Sub-awardees to expend the funds only in 
accordance with all applicable provisions of law. 

18) To return, and to require that Sub-awardees promptly return, to the County Program Manager 
all TFCA Funds that are not expended in accordance with applicable provisions of law.  

19) To return funds to the Air District, and require that Sub-awardees return their funds to the 
County Program Manager if a project is not maintained and/or operated throughout and until 
the conclusion of each Project’s Years of Effectiveness.  The Project’s Years of Effectiveness 
is the default value stated in Appendix H of the Guidance for the applicable project type, 
unless a different value was approved and shown to yield a Project meeting the cost-
effectiveness requirement in the Policies by the County Program Manager.  The amount of 
funds returned to the County Program Manager will be calculated on a prorated basis.  Any 
such funds returned to the County Program Manager must be reallocated to eligible TFCA 
Program Projects. 

20) To obtain and maintain, and to require that each Sub-awardee obtain and maintain, 
throughout the Term of this Agreement, the insurance coverage specified in “Insurance 
Requirements,” Attachment B, and to comply with all insurance requirements set forth 
therein, including the provision of documentation of said insurance coverage.  Failure to 
obtain and maintain the insurance coverage and to comply with all insurance requirements is 
a breach of this Agreement. 

37



 

FYE 2024 TFCA County Program Manager Agreement 24-SOL Page 6 of 10 

21) To the extent not otherwise prohibited by law, and to the extent required by the California 
Public Records Act (California Government Code section 6250 et seq.), to make available to 
the public and to require that Sub-awardees make available to the public any software, 
written documents, or other products developed with TFCA Funds. 

22) To ensure that work products provided by the County Program Manager under this 
Agreement comply with Web Content Accessibility Guidelines 2.0, levels A and AA, and 
otherwise meet the accessibility requirements set forth in California Government Code 
Sections 7405 and 11135, Section 202 of the federal Americans with Disabilities Act (42 
U.S.C. § 12132), and Section 508 of the federal Rehabilitation Act (29 U.S.C. § 794d) and 
the regulations promulgated thereunder (36 C.F.R. Parts 1193 and 1194). For any work 
products provided in PDF format, the County Program Manager shall also provide an 
electronic version in the original electric format (for example, Microsoft Word or Adobe 
InDesign). 

 

SECTION III 
 

AIR DISTRICT AGREES: 
1) To pay the FYE 2024 TFCA monies, the amount of which is estimated on Attachment A, 

Summary Information, Line 3 and calculated as set forth in Section III, Paragraphs 1a and 1b 
below, for Program Projects and administration that are consistent with the Policies and this 
Agreement, in two payments.  Payments will be made after this Agreement has been signed 
by both the County Program Manager and the Air District.  Notwithstanding the above, the 
Air District is only obligated to pay that portion of the FYE 2024 TFCA monies that 
constitutes that portion of the fees subvened by the DMV for calendar year 2023 to the Air 
District for its allocation to the County Program Manager from the Program funds.  To the 
extent the estimated FYE 2024 TFCA monies exceed the Motor Vehicle Fees that are 
received by the Air District and are available to the County Program Manager, the County 
Program Manager understands and agrees that the Air District will not pay the difference 
between the Motor Vehicle Fees available and the estimated FYE 2024 TFCA monies.    

a) To endeavor to forward the first payment within thirty (30) business days of the Air 
District receiving from the DMV all the revenues that comprise the payment.  The first 
payment will represent the County’s proportionate share of the Program revenues 
generated from registration fees paid for motor vehicles that registered in Solano County 
between January 1, 2023, and June 30, 2023, less Air District’s administrative and audit 
costs.   

b) To endeavor to forward the second payment within thirty (30) business days of the Air 
District receiving from the DMV all the revenues that comprise the payment.  The second 
payment will represent the County’s proportionate share of the Program revenues 
generated from registration fees paid for motor vehicles that registered in Solano County 
between July 1, 2023, and December 31, 2023, less Air District’s administrative and 
audit costs.   

2) To provide timely notice prior to conducting an audit. 

38



 

FYE 2024 TFCA County Program Manager Agreement 24-SOL Page 7 of 10 

3) To provide the County Program Manager, and any other requesting party, a copy of the fiscal 
and performance audits conducted pursuant to Section 44242 of the Health and Safety Code. 

4) To provide the County Program Manager with all Air District-approved County Program 
Manager reporting forms required for the County Program Manager to submit pursuant to 
this Agreement, including the reports required pursuant to Section II, Paragraph 15 above. 

5) To provide a copy of the Air District logo to the County Program Manager solely for use to 
fulfill the obligation under Section II.16 of this Agreement. 

 
SECTION IV 

 
IT IS MUTUALLY AGREED: 
1) Term:  The term of this Agreement is from July 1, 2023 to December 31, 2027, unless it is 

terminated or amended as provided for in Paragraphs 2 and 8 of this Section or elsewhere 
in this Agreement, or unless this Agreement has been fully satisfied. The County Program 
Manager’s records retention obligations under this Agreement continue beyond the 
Agreement’s termination date. 

The Sub-awardee has two years to implement the project, unless the Expenditure Deadline 
is extended pursuant to Section II, Paragraph 4 for a particular Program Project. If the 
Expenditure Deadline is extended for a particular Program Project, the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement will continue to apply with respect to that particular Program 
Project until it is completed. 

2) Termination:  Either Party may terminate this Agreement at any time by giving written 
notice of termination to the other Party specifying the effective date thereof.  Notice of 
termination under this paragraph must be given at least ninety (90) days before the 
effective date of such termination, unless the parties mutually agree to an earlier 
termination date.  This Agreement will also terminate at the end of the fiscal year during 
which the Solano Transportation Authority loses its designation as County Program 
Manager for Solano County. 

3) Indemnity:  The County Program Manager agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Air 
District, its employees, agents, representatives, and successors-in-interest against any and 
all liability, loss, expense, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, or claims for injury or 
damages arising out of the performance by the County Program Manager of its duties under 
this Agreement and must require Sub-awardees to indemnify and hold harmless the Air 
District, its employees, agents, representatives, and successors-in-interest against any and 
all liability, loss, expense, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, or claims for injury or 
damages arising out of their performance of the project or operation or use of the 
equipment that is subject to this Agreement. 

4) Notices: All notices that are required under this Agreement shall be provided in the manner 
set forth herein, unless specified otherwise. Notice to a party shall be delivered to the 
attention of the person at the address listed below, or to such other person or persons as 
may hereafter be designated by that party in writing.  Notice shall be in writing sent by e-
mail. 

39



 

FYE 2024 TFCA County Program Manager Agreement 24-SOL Page 8 of 10 

  
Notice shall be deemed to have been received on the date of such transmission, provided 
such date was a business day and delivered prior to 4:00 p.m. PST/PDT. Otherwise, receipt 
of notices shall be deemed to have occurred on the following business day.  

DISTRICT: Bay Area Air Quality Management District 
Attn: Director of Strategic Incentives 
RE: County Program Manager Project # 24-SOL 
375 Beale Street, Suite 600 
San Francisco, CA 94105 
Grants@baaqmd.gov 

COUNTY PROGRAM MANAGER: Solano Transportation Authority  
Attn: Daryl Halls, Executive Director 
RE: County Program Manager Project # 24-SOL 
423 Main Street 
Suisun City, CA 94585 
dkhalls@sta.ca.gov 

 
5) Program Liaison:   Within thirty (30) days from the Effective Date of this Agreement, the 

County Program Manager shall notify the Air District of the County Program Manager’s 
Program Liaison and of the Liaison’s address, telephone number, and email address.  The 
Program Liaison shall be the liaison to the Air District pertaining to implementation of this 
Agreement and shall be the contact for information about the Program and Program 
Projects. The County Program Manager shall notify the Air District of the change of 
Program Liaison or of the Liaison’s contact information in writing no later than thirty (30) 
days from the date of any change. 

6) Additional Provisions and Additional Acts and Documents: Each Party agrees to do all 
such things and take all such actions, and to make, execute and deliver such other 
documents that are reasonably required to carry out the provisions, intent and purpose of 
this Agreement.  All attachments to this Agreement are expressly incorporated herein by 
this reference and made a part hereof as though fully set forth. 

7) Integration:  This Agreement, including all attachments hereto, represents the final, 
complete, and exclusive statement of the agreement between the Air District and the 
County Program Manager related to the Parties’ rights and obligations and subject matter 
described in this Agreement, and supersedes all prior and other contemporaneous 
understandings and agreements of the parties pertaining to the terms and conditions herein.  
No Party has been induced to enter into this Agreement by, nor is any Party relying upon, 
any representation or warranty outside those expressly set forth herein. 

8) Amendment:  This Agreement may not be modified except in writing, signed by both 
Parties hereto, and any attempt at oral modification of this Agreement shall be void and of 
no effect.     

9) Independent Contractor:  Neither the County Program Manager nor its officers, employees, 
agents, or representative shall be considered employees or agents of the Air District. 

10) Assignment:  Neither Party shall assign, sell, license, or otherwise transfer any rights or 
obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party. 

40



 

FYE 2024 TFCA County Program Manager Agreement 24-SOL Page 9 of 10 

11) Waiver:  No waiver of a breach, of failure of any condition, or of any right or remedy 
contained in or granted by the provisions of this Agreement shall be effective unless it is in 
writing and signed by the Party waiving the breach, failure, right, or remedy.  No waiver of 
any breach, failure, right, or remedy shall be deemed a waiver of any other breach, whether 
or not similar, nor shall any waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless the writing so 
specifies.  Further, the failure of a Party to enforce performance by the other Party of any 
term, covenant, or condition of this Agreement, and the failure of a Party to exercise any 
rights or remedies hereunder, shall not be deemed a waiver or relinquishment by that Party 
to enforce future performance of any such terms, covenants, or conditions, or to exercise 
any future rights or remedies. 

12) Severability:  If a court of competent jurisdiction holds any provision of this Agreement to 
be illegal, unenforceable or invalid in whole or in part for any reason, the validity and 
enforceability of the remaining provisions, or portions of them, will not be affected. 

13) Force Majeure:  Neither the Air District nor the County Program Manager shall be liable 
for or deemed to be in default for any delay or failure in performance under this Agreement 
or interruption of services resulting, directly or indirectly, from acts of God, enemy or 
hostile governmental action, civil commotion, strikes, lockouts, labor disputes, fire or other 
casualty, judicial orders, governmental controls, regulations or restrictions, inability to 
obtain labor or materials or reasonable substitutes for labor or materials necessary for 
performance of this Agreement, or other causes, except financial that are beyond the 
reasonable control of the Air District or the County Program Manager. 

14) Governing Law:  Any dispute that arises under or relates to this Agreement shall be 
governed by California law, excluding any laws that direct the application of another 
jurisdiction’s laws.  Venue for resolution of any dispute that arises under or relates to this 
Agreement, including mediation, shall be San Francisco, California. 

15) Effective Date: The effective date of this Agreement is the date the Air District Executive 
Officer/Air Pollution Control Officer executes the Agreement (Effective Date).  

16) Survival of Terms:  Any terms of this Agreement that by their nature extend beyond the 
term (or termination) of this Agreement shall remain in effect until fulfilled, and shall apply 
to both parties’ respective successors and assigns.  Such terms include, but may not be 
limited to, Section II. Paragraph 7, 11, and 12 and Section IV. Paragraph 3 (Indemnity).  

 

 

  

41



 

FYE 2024 TFCA County Program Manager Agreement 24-SOL Page 10 of 10 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County Program Manager and the Air District have entered into 
this Agreement as of the date listed below. 
 
FOR AIR DISTRICT: 
 
 
 
by: ________________________________ 

Philip M. Fine 
Executive Officer/APCO 
Bay Area Air Quality Management District 

FOR COUNTY PROGRAM MANAGER: 
 
 
 
by: __________________________________  

Daryl Halls 
Executive Director 
Solano Transportation Authority 

 
 
 
Date:  ______________________________  

 
 
 
Date:  __________________________________ 

 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
 
by: _________________________________ 

Alexander Crockett 
District Counsel 
Bay Area Air Quality Management District 

 
 
Approved as to form (optional): 
 
 
 
by: __________________________________ 
       

Legal Counsel 
 

  
  

42



Attachment A  24-SOL  FYE 2024 

 
 

BAAQMD TFCA County Program Manager Fund  Attachment A, Page 1 of 2 
 
 

 Summary Information
County ProgramManager Agency Name: Solano Transportation Authority   
Address: 423 Main Street, Suisun City, CA 94585   

 
   Project Admin (max 6.25%) [1]

Total (Project +
Admin)  

1 Estimated FYE 2024 DMV revenues (based on projected CY2022 revenues) Line 1 $ 319,500 $ 21,300 $ 340,800  
2 Reconciliation and Reprogrammed Funds Line 2 $ 15,934 $ 1,597 $ 17,531  

 Reconciliation: Difference between prior year estimate and actual revenue $ 10,411 $ 694 $ 11,105  
  a. Actual FYE 2022 DMV revenues (based on CY2021) 2a $ 328,974 $ 21,932 $ 350,905  
  b. Estimated FYE 2022 DMV revenues 2b $ 318,563 $ 21,238 $ 339,800  

 
Reprogrammed: Total available for programming/reprogramming to other
projects $ 5,523 $ 903 $ 6,426  

c. Amount available from previously funded projects 2c $ 630
d. Admin expended in FYE 2022 2d $ 21,028

  e. Interest income earned on TFCA funds in CY 2022 2e $ 4,893    
3 Move funds available from Admin to Projects (Optional) Line 3 $ $   
4 Estimated Total Available TFCA Funds (Sum of Lines 1, 2 and 3) Line 4 $ 335,434 $ 22,897 $ 358,331  

         

   
Percentage of Estimated Revenue allocated to Administrative Costs (maximum
of 6.25%)

   Previous % from FYE 2022 Expenditure Plan: 6.25%
   Current % for FYE 2024: 6.25%

         

[1] The “Estimated TFCA funds budgeted for administration” amount is listed for informational purposes only. Per California Health and Safety Code Section 44233, County Program
Managers must limit their administrative costs to no more than 6.25% of the actual total revenue received from the Air District. 

 

43



Attachment A  24-SOL  FYE 2024 

 
 

BAAQMD TFCA County Program Manager Fund  Attachment A, Page 2 of 2 
 
 

This page intentionally left blank.

44



Attachment B 24-SOL  FYE 2024 

BAAQMD TFCA County Program Manager Fund Attachment B, Page 1 of 2 

 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
 
 
Verification of Coverage 
The County Program Manager shall obtain and maintain certificates and/or other evidence of the 
insurance coverage required below. The Air District reserves the right to require the County 
Program Manager to provide complete, certified copies of any insurance offered in compliance 
with these specifications. Certificates, policies and other evidence provided shall specify that the 
Air District shall receive 30 days advanced notice of cancellation from the insurers.  
 
Minimum Scope of Insurance 
Throughout the Term as defined in Section IV of the Agreement, the County Program Manager 
shall obtain and maintain in full force and effect the Liability Insurance as set forth below, and 
shall require any third party and each Sub awardee to obtain and maintain in full force and effect the 
insurance as set forth below.   
 

1. Liability Insurance with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence. Such 
insurance shall be of the type usual and customary to the business of the County Program 
Manager and Sub-awardee, and to the operation of the vehicles, vessels, engines or 
equipment operated by the Sub-awardee. 

 
2. Property Insurance in an amount of not less than the insurable value of Sub-awardee’s 

vehicles, vessels, engines or equipment funded under the Agreement, and covering all 
risks of loss, damage or destruction of such vehicles, vessels, engines or equipment. 

 
Acceptability of Insurers 
Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A: VII. 
The Air District may, at its sole discretion, waive or alter this requirement or accept self-
insurance in lieu of any required policy of insurance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

45



Attachment B 24-SOL  FYE 2024 

BAAQMD TFCA County Program Manager Fund Attachment B, Page 2 of 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 

46



AGENDA ITEM NO. 8
                  AGENDA TRANSMITTAL

 
MEETING DATE: November 7, 2023
 
CITY AGENDA ITEM: Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-___: Authorizing the Acting City
Manager to Execute a Funding Agreement with the Solano Transportation Authority to Receive
Earmarked Funds from the State of California Department of Caltrans for Electric Vehicle (EV)
Charging Station Infrastructure Improvements Project.
 
FISCAL IMPACT: There would be no General Fund impact. The city has been awarded $250,000 in
“earmarked” funds from the State of California through the Department of Caltrans. There is no
required local match for these funds. This action would not award any project-related contracts at this
time.  
 
STRATEGIC PLAN: Enhance the Environment.  
 
BACKGROUND: On May 10, 2023, the Solano Transportation Authority (STA) Board allocated
$250,000 out of a total of $1 million in funding for Caltrans earmark project priorities to the City of
Suisun City. These funds are to be focused on supporting electric vehicle (EV) charging stations and
vehicle replacements. 
 
Potential project locations include the following locations: City Hall, Park N Ride Parking Lot, the
Suisun Library, the Nelson Community Center, the Corporation Yard, the North Basin Parking Lot (east
side of Main Street), and in the new parking lot for STA.
 
The awarded funds ($250,000) will not be enough to complete projects in all locations listed above.
Staff has applied for the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC)’s 2023 Transit Station Public
Charging Program Grant in the amount of $2,084,480 in order to support completing the overall
Project.  Infrastructure work of this nature can be quite costly, with each location having to be
evaluated for the availability of electricity and for room on the existing electrical panel to accommodate
the new electrical draw.  
 
STAFF REPORT: In order for the city to accept the earmarked funds designated for EV infrastructure
improvements the city must enter into a funding agreement with STA.
 
By entering into this funding agreement, the city agrees to the following:
 

1. To implement electric vehicle infrastructure at the Joseph Nelson Community Center, Suisun
Amtrak Park & Ride on Lotz Way, Suisun City City Hall, Suisun City Library, Suisun City
Mobility Hub, Suisun City Public Works Corporation Yard, and Waterfront Parking Lot.

2. To be bound and abide by any and all applicable provisions of the Funds Transfer Agreement
(FTA) between STA and Caltrans.

3. To cooperate with STA, provide all such documentation, and take all such actions as shall be
reasonably required by STA, to facilitate City’s and STA’s compliance with the Agreement to
complete all the work for the Project.

4. To submit invoices to STA at least on a quarterly basis.

47



5. Within thirty (30) days of expending all of the funds or upon completion or termination of
Project, whichever comes first, City shall submit to STA a Project Closeout Report. The Project
Closeout Report at a minimum shall include a description of completed Project component(s) and
a description of Project outcomes along with photographs of the Project. 

 
By entering into this agreement, the STA agrees to the following:
 

1. Upon submission of an invoice by Suisun City, and upon approval of the STA’s representative,
pay Suisun City monthly in arrears for fees and expenses incurred the prior month, up to the
maximum amount provided for in this Agreement ($250,000).

2. Term: Once signed this Agreement shall remain in effect through June 30, 2026.
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2023-
___: Authorizing the Acting City Manager to Execute a Funding Agreement with the Solano
Transportation Authority to Receive Earmarked Funds from the State of California Department of
Caltrans for Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging Station Infrastructure Improvements Project.  
 
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED:

1. Resolution No. 2023-___:  Authorizing the Acting City Manager to Execute a Funding
Agreement with the Solano Transportation Authority to Receive Earmarked Funds from the State
of California Department of Caltrans for Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging Station Infrastructure
Improvements Project. 

2. Funding Agreement Between the Solano Transportation Authority and the City of Suisun City for
Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Network.

 

PREPARED BY: Amanda Dum, Management Analyst II
REVIEWED BY: Nouae Vue, Public Works Director
APPROVED BY: Aaron Roth, Acting City Manager
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Resolution Authorizing Acting City Manager to Execute a Funding Agreement with STA for EV
Infrastructure Project.pdf
2. Funding Agreement between STA and the City of Suisun City for EV Infrastructure.pdf
1 Blank Page - THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.pdf

48

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2255632/1.__Resolution_Authorizing_Acting_City_Manager_to_Execute_a_Funding_Agreement_with_STA_for_EV_Infrastructure_Project.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2255633/2.__Funding_Agreement_between_STA_and_the_City_of_Suisun_City_for_EV_Infrastructure.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2267369/1_Blank_Page_-_THIS_PAGE_INTENTIONALLY_LEFT_BLANK.pdf


 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-___ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY 
AUTHORIZING THE ACTING CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE A FUNDING 
AGREEMENT WITH THE SOLANO TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY TO 

RECEIVE EARMARKED FUNDS FROM THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
DEPARTMENT OF CALTRANS FOR ELECTRIC VEHICLE (EV) CHARGING 

STATION INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT 
 

WHEREAS, State of California Department of Caltrans funds that are earmarked for 

transportation related projects are administered by each Bay Area Congestion Management Agency 

(“CMA”); and 

WHEREAS, the Solano Transportation Authority, as the CMA for Solano County, 

administers earmarked funds from Caltrans; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Suisun City’s Electric Vehicle (“EV”) Infrastructure 

Improvements Project will install two (2) EV charging stations in seven (7) locations and these 

locations should include: City Hall, Corporation Yard, Suisun City Library, North Basin Parking 

Lot, Park N Ride Parking Lot, and the Nelson Community Center; and 

WHEREAS, a funding agreement with STA to receive $250,000 in earmarked funds is 

necessary.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Suisun 

City authorizes the Acting City Manager to take all actions necessary to execute the Funding 

Agreement Between the Solano Transportation Authority and the City of Suisun City to receive 

funds for the Electrical Vehicle (EV) Charging Station Infrastructure Improvements Project. 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of said City Council of the City of Suisun 

City duly held on Tuesday, the 7th day of November 2023, by the following vote: 

AYES: Councilmembers:    
NOES: Councilmembers:    
ABSENT: Councilmembers:    
ABSTAIN: Councilmembers:    

 WITNESS my hand and the seal of said City this 7th day of November 2023. 
 
 
   
 Anita Skinner 
 City Clerk 

49



 

1 

STA-SS  Funding Agreement for EV Infrastructure Network 10-2023 

FUNDING AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN   

THE SOLANO TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 

AND 

CITY OF SUISUN CITY 

FOR 

ELECTRIC VEHICLE INFRASTRUCTURE NETWORK  

 

This Funding Agreement (“Agreement”) is made on _____________________, 2023, between 

the Solano Transportation Authority, a joint powers authority organized under Government 

Code section 6500 et seq. consisting of the County of Solano and the Cities of Benicia, Dixon, 

Fairfield, Rio Vista, Suisun City, Vacaville, and Vallejo (“STA”) and the City of Suisun City, a 

municipal corporation (“City”), each individually referred to as a “Party” and collectively as the 

“Parties”.  

 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, the STA was created in 1990 through a Joint Powers Agreement between the 

County of Solano and the cities of Benicia, Dixon, Fairfield, Rio Vista, Suisun City, Vacaville, 

and Vallejo to serve as the Congestion Management Agency (CMA) for Solano County; and 

 

WHEREAS, STA, as the CMA and  the County Transportation Authority (CTA) for the County 

of Solano, partners with various federal, state, regional, and local transportation and planning 

agencies, such as the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) and Caltrans District 4, 

and local government, to set countywide transportation priorities and to coordinate the delivery 

of transportation projects in furtherance of the identified transportation priorities; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Solano Electric Vehicle (EV) Transition Program is a Countywide initiative 

that was created to provide a comprehensive approach to reducing barriers to the deployment of 

electrical vehicles in Solano County; and  

 

WHEREAS, the STA has supported and continues to plan to leverage its discretionary funds in 

efforts to support the expansion of EV projects; and 

 

WHEREAS, the STA has secured State Earmark funding with the California Department of 

Transportation (Caltrans) to improve access to a reliable, affordable, and equitable EV 

Infrastructure Network by increasing the deployment of EV charges; and 

 

WHEREAS, the funds provided under this Agreement will be applied to any phase required to 

deliver and implement EV chargers; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City seeks to implement EV infrastructure for its EV Earmark priority projects 

located at the Joseph Nelson Community Center, Suisun Amtrak Park & Ride on Lotz Way, 

Suisun City City Hall, Suisun City Library, Suisun City Mobility Hub, Suisun City Public 

Works Corporation Yard, and Waterfront Parking Lot (the “Project”); and 

50



 

2 

STA-SS  Funding Agreement for EV Infrastructure Network 10-2023 

WHEREAS, the STA received Board approval on May 10, 2023 to enter into a funding 

agreement with the City to implement EV infrastructure; and 

 

WHEREAS, the STA and City desire to enter into this Agreement to define the respective roles 

and responsibilities of the Parties for the Project. 

 

AGREEMENT 

 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises set forth in this Agreement, STA 

and City agree as follows: 

 

A. Project and Funding Identification:  

 

1. The Project will be implementing EV infrastructures at strategic locations that are 

publicly accessible and expand access to employment centers and other key destinations that are 

frequently visited by Solano residents, such as government centers, downtowns, mobility hubs, 

park and ride lots, community centers. Additional project locations that can be considered 

include, but are not limited to, parks, recreational areas, and access to other community resources 

or services. 

  

2. The maximum funding amount allocated for all phases of implementing the EV 

infrastructure is $250,000.   

 

3. Funds must be expended by June 30, 2026. 

 

B. STA agrees to: 

Upon submission of an invoice by City, and upon approval of the STA’s representative, pay 

City monthly in arrears for fees and expenses incurred the prior month, up to the maximum 

amount provided for in this Agreement.  

 

C. City agrees:  

 

1. To implement electric vehicle infrastructure at the Joseph Nelson Community Center, 

Suisun Amtrak Park & Ride on Lotz Way, Suisun City City Hall, Suisun City Library, Suisun 

City Mobility Hub, Suisun City Public Works Corporation Yard, and Waterfront Parking Lot.  

 

2. To be bound and abide by any and all applicable provisions of the Funds Transfer 

Agreement (FTA) between STA and Caltrans, which is attached as Exhibit A and incorporated 

by reference as if fully set forth in this Agreement. 

 

3. To cooperate with STA, provide all such documentation, and take all such actions as shall 

be reasonably required by STA, to facilitate City’s and STA’s compliance with the Agreement to 

complete all the work for the Project.  

51



 

3 

STA-SS  Funding Agreement for EV Infrastructure Network 10-2023 

4. To submit invoices to STA at least on a quarterly basis.   

 

5. Within thirty (30) days of expending all of the funds or upon completion or termination 

of Project, whichever comes first, City shall submit to STA a Project Closeout Report. The 

Project Closeout Report at a minimum shall include a description of completed Project 

component(s) and a description of Project outcomes along with photographs of the Project. 

 

D. Term and Termination:   

 

This Agreement is effective as of the date written above, and shall remain in effect, unless it 

is terminated or amended earlier as provided in this Agreement. This Agreement may be 

terminated by either Party due to Project funding shortfalls or other unforeseen event(s), upon 

providing seven (7) days’ notice to the non-terminating party.  In the event of loss of funding, the 

Parties agree to work collaboratively to redirect the Project funds to other projects eligible for 

such funding, to the extent not restricted by the provisions of the FTA.  

 

E. Mutual Indemnification: 

 

1. STA to indemnify City 

 

STA agrees to indemnify, defend, protect, hold harmless, and release City, their elected 

bodies and officials, agents, officers and employees (collectively referred to in this paragraph as 

“City”), from and against any and all claims, losses, proceedings, damages, causes of action, 

liability, costs, or expense (including attorneys’ fees and witness costs) arising from or in 

connection with, or caused solely by any negligent act or omission or willful misconduct of STA. 

This indemnification obligation shall not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount 

or type of damages or compensation payable to or for the indemnifying Party under workers’ 

compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts. 

 

At its sole discretion, City may participate at its own expense in the defense of any claim, 

action or proceeding, but such participation shall not relieve STA of any obligation imposed by 

this section. City shall notify STA within thirty (30) days of any claim, action or proceeding and 

cooperate fully in the defense. Notwithstanding the foregoing, City’s failure to notify STA 

within said thirty (30)-day time limit shall not relieve STA of any obligation imposed by this 

section unless STA has been actually prejudiced by such delay. 

 

2.  City to indemnify STA 

 

City agrees to indemnify, defend, protect, hold harmless, and release STA, their elected 

bodies and officials, agents, officers and employees (collectively referred to in this paragraph as 

“STA”) from and against any and all claims, losses, proceedings, damages, causes of action, 

liability, costs, or expense (including attorneys’ fees and witness costs) arising from or in 

connection with, or caused solely by any negligent act or omission or willful misconduct of City. 

This indemnification obligation shall not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount 

52



 

4 

STA-SS  Funding Agreement for EV Infrastructure Network 10-2023 

or type of damages or compensation payable to or for the indemnifying Party under workers’ 

compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts. 

 

At its sole discretion, STA may participate at its own expense in the defense of any such 

claim, action or proceeding, but such participation shall not relieve City of any obligation 

imposed by this section. STA shall notify City within thirty (30) days of any claim, action or 

proceeding and cooperate fully in the defense. Notwithstanding the foregoing, STA’s failure to 

notify City within said thirty (30)-day time limit shall not relieve City of any obligation imposed 

by this section unless City has been actually prejudiced by such delay. 

 

3. Each Party to defend itself for concurrent claims  

 

STA agrees to defend itself and City agrees to defend itself, from any claim, action or 

proceeding arising out of the negligent act or omission or willful misconduct of STA and City in 

the performance of this Agreement where there is a concurrent claim against both Parties. In 

such cases, STA and City agree to retain their own legal counsel, bear their own defense costs, 

and waive their right to seek reimbursement of such costs, except as provided in subparagraph 5 

below. 

 

4. Joint Defense 

 

Notwithstanding subparagraph 3 above, in cases where STA and City agree in writing to a 

joint defense, STA and City may appoint joint defense counsel to defend the claim, action or 

proceeding arising out of or including allegations of the negligent act or omission or willful 

misconduct of City and STA in the performance of this Agreement. Joint defense counsel shall 

be selected by mutual agreement of the Parties. The Parties agree to share the costs of such joint 

defense and any agreed settlement in equal amounts, except as provided in subparagraph 5 

below. The Parties further agree that no individual Party may bind another to a settlement 

agreement without the written consent of all Parties. 

 

5. Reimbursement and/or Reallocation 

 

Where a trial verdict or arbitration award allocates or determines the comparative fault of the 

Parties, a Party may seek reimbursement and/or reallocation of defense costs, settlement 

payments, judgments and awards, consistent with such comparative fault of that Party. 

 

F. Insurance  

1. Each Party agrees to maintain its status as a legally self-insured public entity for general, 

auto and professional liability insurance coverage with limits of no less than five million dollars 

($5,000,000) per occurrence and no less than ten million dollars ($10,000,000) aggregate.  Each 

Party’s insurance or self-insurance will be considered primary for all claims arising out of acts of 

that Party.  Each Party agrees to cover the other Parties, their officials, employees and agents, as 

an additional insured or additional covered party using standard ISO endorsement No. CG2010 

or its equivalent for general liability coverage.  Each Party also agrees to require all of its 

53



 

5 

STA-SS  Funding Agreement for EV Infrastructure Network 10-2023 

consultant, contractors, and subcontractors engaged to work on this Project to name the other 

Party as an additional insured as well.  

2.  Each Party will maintain Workers’ Compensation as required by law for all its 

employees with limits not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence.  No Party’s insurance shall be 

called upon to satisfy any claim for workers’ compensation filed by an employee of the other 

Parties.  Each Party will provide the other Party with a Waiver of Subrogation endorsement for 

Workers Compensation.  Each Party also agrees to require all of its consultants, contractors, and 

subcontractors engaged to work on this Project to carry the same Workers Compensation 

insurance limits and endorsements.   

3. Each Party will require all of its consultants, contractors, and subcontractors engaged to 

work on the Project to carry workers compensation insurance in accordance with statutory limits 

and general liability insurance with limits of no less than two million dollars ($2,000,000) per 

occurrence and no less than four million ($4,000,000) aggregate.  

 

G. Dispute Resolution 

The Parties agree that any disputes between the Parties should be resolved initially without 

the intervention of a third party. Accordingly, should a dispute arise between the STA and City 

regarding the performance of this Agreement, the Parties agree that the STA Executive Director 

and City’s City Manager shall initially meet and confer. Should these two officers fail to reach 

consensus, the dispute shall be referred to a STA Board Subcommittee along with the Solano 

County Supervisor that is a member of the STA Board. Should the STA Subcommittee fail to 

resolve the dispute, litigation may be commenced in the Solano County Superior Court.   

 

H. Notice 

All notices required or authorized by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be 

delivered in person or by deposit in the United States mail, by certified mail, postage prepaid, 

return receipt requested. Any mailed notice, demand, request, consent, approval or 

communication that a Party desires to give to the other Party shall be addressed to the other Party 

at the addresses set forth below. A Party may change its address by notifying the other Parties of 

the change of address. Any notice sent by mail in the manner prescribed by this Paragraph shall 

be deemed to have been received on the date noted on the return receipt or five days following 

the date of deposit, whichever is earlier. 

 

SOLANO TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY: 

Daryl K. Halls, Executive Director 

423 Main Street 

Suisun City, CA  94585 

Attn: Jasper Alve, Project Manager 

CITY OF SUISUN CITY: 

City Manager 

701 Civic Center Boulevard 

Suisun City, CA  94585 

Attn:  Nouae Vue, Director of Public Works 

 

 

54



 

6 

STA-SS  Funding Agreement for EV Infrastructure Network 10-2023 

I. No Waiver 

The waiver by either Party of any breach or violation of any requirement of this Agreement 

shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any such breach in the future, or of the breach of any other 

requirement of this Agreement. 

 

J. Assignability 

No Party to this Agreement shall assign or transfer any interest in this Agreement nor the 

performance of any duties or obligations hereunder, without the prior written consent of the other 

Party, and any attempt by any Party to so assign or transfer this Agreement or any rights, duties 

or obligations arising hereunder shall be void and of no effect.  

 

K. Governing Law and Venue 

The construction and interpretation of this Agreement and the rights and duties of the Parties 

shall be governed by the laws of the State of California.  

 

L. Force Majeure 

No Party shall be liable or deemed to be in default for any delay or failure in performance 

under this Agreement or for any interruption of services, directly or indirectly, from acts of 

nature, civil or military authority, acts of public enemy, war, strikes, labor disputes, shortages of 

suitable parts, materials, labor or transportation, or any similar cause beyond the reasonable 

control of the Parties.  

 

M. Prior Agreements and Amendments 

This Agreement represents the entire agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject 

matter described in this Agreement, and no representation, warranties, inducements or oral 

agreements have been made by any of the Parties except as expressly set forth in this Agreement. 

This Agreement may only be modified by a written amendment duly executed by the Parties.  

 

N.  Severability 

If any provision or portion of this Agreement is found by any court of competent jurisdiction 

to be unenforceable or invalid for any reason, such provision shall be severable and shall not in 

any way impair the enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement. 

 

O. Compliance with all Laws 

The Parties shall observe and comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, 

ordinances, and codes including those of the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA). 

 

P. Non-Discrimination Clause 

1. During the performance of this Agreement, the Parties and their subcontractors shall not 

deny any benefits or privileges to any person on the basis of race, religion, color, ethnic group 

55



 

7 

STA-SS  Funding Agreement for EV Infrastructure Network 10-2023 

identification, national origin, ancestry, physical handicap, mental disability, medical condition, 

marital status, age, sex or sexual orientation, nor shall they discriminate unlawfully against any 

employee or applicant for employment because of race, religion, color, ethnic group 

identification, national origin, ancestry, physical handicap, mental disability, medical condition, 

marital status, age, sex or sexual orientation. Each Party shall ensure that the evaluation and 

treatment of employees and applicants for employment are free of such discrimination. 

 

2. The Parties shall comply with the provisions of the Fair Employment and Housing Act 

(Government Code section 12900, et seq.), the regulations promulgated pursuant to it (Title 2, 

California Code of Regulations, section 10000, et seq.), the provisions of Article 9.5, Chapter 1, 

Part 1, Division 3, Title 2 of the Government Code (sections 11135-11139.5) and any state or 

local regulations adopted to implement any of the foregoing, as such statutes and regulations 

may be amended from time to time. 

 

Q. Access to Records and Retention 

All Parties, acting through their duly authorized representative, as well as any federal or state 

grantor agency providing all or part of the funding associated with this Agreement, the State 

Controller, the Comptroller General of the United States, and the duly authorized representatives 

of any of the Parties, shall have access to any books, documents, papers and records of any Party 

which are directly pertinent to the subject matter of this Agreement for the purpose of making 

audit, examination, excerpts and transcriptions. Except where longer retention is required by any 

federal or state law, the Parties shall maintain all required records for three years after final 

payment for any work associated with this Agreement, or after all pending matters are closed, 

whichever is later. 

 

R.  Interpretation 

Each Party has reviewed this Agreement and any question of doubtful interpretation shall not 

be resolved by any rule or interpretation providing for interpretation against the drafting Party.  

This Agreement shall be construed as if all of the Parties drafted it.  The captions and headings 

contained herein are for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of 

this Agreement. 

 

S. Counterpart and Electronic Signature 

As permitted under the U.S. Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce 

(ESIGN) Act of 2000, and the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act (UETA), the Parties hereby 

agree to conduct this transaction by electronic means. This Agreement may be executed through 

an electronic signature and may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be 

deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. The 

Parties agree that the electronic signatures appearing on this Agreement are intended by each 

Party using it to have the same force and effect as the use of a manual signature for the purposes 

of validity, enforceability, and admissibility. 

 

 

 

56



8 

STA-SS  Funding Agreement for EV Infrastructure Network 10-2023 

T. Signatory’s Warranty

Each Party warrants to each other Party that he or she is fully authorized and competent to

enter into this Agreement in the capacity indicated by his or her signature and agrees to be bound 

by this Agreement. 

The Parties have executed this Agreement on the day and year first written above. 

SOLANO TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY CITY OF SUISUN CITY 

By: ________________________________

Daryl K. Halls, Executive Director 

By: ________________________________ 
Aaron Roth, Acting City Manager 

Approved as to Form: Approved as to Form: 

By: ________________________________

Megan J. Callaway, STA Legal Counsel 

By: ________________________________

Elena Q. Gerli, City Attorney  

57



 

9 

STA-SS  Funding Agreement for EV Infrastructure Network 10-2023 

EXHIBIT A 

 

Funds Transfer Agreement between the California Department of Transportation  

and the Solano Transportation Authority  

58



Project ID: PLBP-6249(055) 
Advantage ID: 0423000312 

Funds Transfer Agreement Between the California Department of Transportation 
and the Solano Transportation Authority 

1.1 The California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) and the Solano 
Transportation Authority (STA) hereby enter into this Funds Transfer 
Agreement (Agreement) on the terms and conditions set forth below. 

1.2 This Agreement is not valid until signed by both parties.   This Agreement 
shall expire on STA’s completion of its obligations under this Agreement, but 
may be extended by amending this Agreement.   

BACKGROUND 

2.1 Section 19.56, subdivision (g) (1) (AP) of the Budget Act of 2022 (the Act) 
appropriated $1,000,000 (the Funds) from the State General Fund to Caltrans, to 
be allocated to STA for the Electric Vehicle Infrastructure in the Cities of Vacaville, 
Fairfield, Suisun City and Rio Vista. 

2.2  Caltrans determined the best method for allocation to ensure the funds are 
used for the purposes specified in Section 19.56 of the Act is a funds transfer 
agreement. 

2.3 State clean air policies seek to cut 60% of air pollution by decarbonizing 
across sectors, with transportation as the biggest potential to decarbonize since 
it currently makes up about 40% of Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions, which is a 
detrimental contributor to climate change. With the increase in variability and 
severity of climate change impacts, the transportation network becomes 
vulnerable therefore it is imperative to rapidly decarbonize the transportation 
sector to decrease the GHG emissions.  

Executive Order N-7-20 puts an end to the sales of internal combustion engines 
by 2035, which rapidly scales down emissions of single-passenger vehicles. In the 
context of Solano County, the growth of the Electric Vehicle (EV) market is critical 
in contributing to the statewide strategy of reducing GHG emissions. With the end 
of internal combustion engines, there is an anticipated shift in the use and 
reliance on zero-emission cars in how our residents chose to travel to access 
employment centers, government centers and hospitals, and other key 
destinations such as downtown waterfronts, parks, community resources, and 
other recreational activities.  

It is our goal to expand and improve Solano residents’ access to a reliable, 
affordable, and equitable EV Infrastructure Network by increasing the 
deployment of the EV chargers by four (4) implementing agencies: Fairfield, 

59



Funds Transfer Agreement Between the California Department of Transportation 
and the Solano Transportation Authority 

 

2 
 

Suisun City, Vacaville, and the unincorporated County. The increased 
deployment of EV Chargers will give our residents confidence as they plan and 
switch to zero-emission vehicles, which will have long-lasting benefits to our 
communities through the decrease of air pollution that improves the well-being 
and health of Solano residents. 
 
SCOPE OF WORK 
3.1 The Funds provided under this Agreement will be used to improve access 
to a reliable, affordable, and equitable EV Infrastructure Network by increasing 
the deployment of EV chargers at the four (4) eligible implementing agencies:  
City of Fairfield, City of Suisun City, City of Vacaville, and the unincorporated 
County facilities within those cities. The Project will be implementing EV 
infrastructures at strategic locations that are publicly accessible and expand 
access to employment centers and other key destinations that are frequently 
visited by Solano residents such as government centers, downtowns, mobility 
hubs, park and ride lots, community centers. Additional project locations that can 
be considered include but are not limited to parks, recreational areas, and 
access to other community resources or services. Funds provided under this 
Agreement will be applied to any phase required to deliver and implement EV 
chargers by the respective implementing agency. 
 
3.2 STA shall only use Funds for the Project specified in the Act. STA’s self- 
attestation verifying the intended use of funds shall be provided to the 
Department prior to the release of any funds. 
 
FUNDING, COSTS, COST LIMITATION, & PAYMENT 
4.1 The Funds will be encumbered within 2 days of the effective date of this 
Agreement. Pursuant to Section 19.56 of the Act, funds must be encumbered by 
June 30, 2024, and expended by June 30, 2026.   
 
4.2  Payments shall be made as authorized by Sections 19.56(a) of the Act, 
including, but not limited to the provisions noted below:  

a. Notwithstanding any other law, a designated state entity administering an 
allocation pursuant to this section may provide the allocation as an 
advance lump sum payment, and the allocation may be used to pay 
for costs incurred prior to the effective date of the act adding this 
paragraph. 

b. Funding provided in this section shall not be used for a purpose subject to 
Section 8 of the Article XVI of California Constitution.  

 
4.3 Within 30 days of expending all of the Funds or upon completion or 
termination of Project, whichever comes first, STA shall submit to Caltrans a Project 
Closeout Report. The Project Closeout Report at a minimum shall include a 

60



Funds Transfer Agreement Between the California Department of Transportation 
and the Solano Transportation Authority 

 

3 
 

description of completed Project component(s) and a description of Project 
outcomes. Photographs of the Project are encouraged to be included. 
 
4.4 Any Project costs paid using the Funds that are determined by subsequent 
audit to be unallowable under 48 CFR, Part 31 or 2 CFR, Part 200, are subject to 
repayment by STA to Caltrans. 
 
4.5  STA shall return any unspent Funds to Caltrans at the conclusion, 
completion, or termination of the Project. 
 
4.6 Upon written demand by STATE, any overpayment to STA of amounts 
invoiced to CALTRANS shall be returned to STATE. 
 
4.7  Should STA fail to refund any moneys due CALTRANS as provided herein or 
should STA breach this AGREEMENT by failing to complete Project without 
adequate justification and approval by STATE, then, within thirty (30) days of 
demand, or within such other period as may be agreed to in writing between the 
PARTIES, STATE, acting through the State Controller, the State Treasurer, the CTC 
or any other public entity or agency, may intercept, withhold and demand the 
transfer of an amount equal to the amounts paid by or owed to CALTRANS for 
each Project, from future apportionments or any other funds due to STA from the 
Highway Users Tax Fund or any other sources of funds, and/or may also withhold 
approval of future STATE-FUNDED projects proposed by ADMINISTERING AGENCY.  
 
INQUIRIES & NOTICES  
5.1 All inquiries during the term of this Agreement will be directed to the 
representatives listed below: 
 

For Caltrans: 
Name: Moon Rana 
Address: 111 Grand Avenue  
Oakland, CA 94612 
Phone Number: (510)421-8017 
Email: moon.rana@dot.ca 
 

For STA: 
Name: Daryl K. Halls, Executive Director 
Address: 423 Main Street 
Suisun City, CA 94585 
Phone Number: (707)399-3204 
Attn:  Jasper Alve, Project Manager 
Email: jalve@sta.ca.gov 
 

 
5.2 Each party may change their representative listed above upon 10 
calendar days’ written or emailed notice to the other party and without the need 
for amending this Agreement. 
 
OTHER TERMS & CONDITIONS 

61

mailto:moon.rana@dot.ca
mailto:jalve@sta.ca.gov


Funds Transfer Agreement Between the California Department of Transportation 
and the Solano Transportation Authority 

 

4 
 

6.1 Drug-Free Workplace Requirements: STA will comply with the requirements 
of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1990 and will provide a drug-free workplace 
by taking the following actions: 
 

a. Publish a statement notifying employees that unlawful manufacture, 
distribution, dispensation, possession or use of a controlled substance is 
prohibited and specifying actions to be taken against employees for 
violations. 
 
b. Establish a Drug-Free Awareness Program to inform employees about: 

1) the dangers of drug abuse in the workplace; 
2) the person's or organization's policy of maintaining a drug-free 
workplace; 
3) any available counseling, rehabilitation and employee assistance 
programs; and, 
4) penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse 
violations. 

c. Every employee who works on the proposed Agreement will: 
1) receive a copy of the company's drug-free workplace policy 
statement; and, 
2) agree to abide by the terms of the company's statement as a 
condition of employment on the Agreement. 
 

Failure to comply with these requirements may result in suspension of payments 
under the Agreement or termination of the Agreement or both and STA may be 
ineligible for award of any future State agreements if Caltrans or the State 
Department of General Services determines that any of the following has 
occurred: STA has made false certification, or violated the certification by failing 
to carry out the requirements as noted above. (Gov. Code §8350 et seq.) 
 
6.2 Conflict of Interest: STA needs to be aware of the following provisions 
regarding current or former state employees. If STA has any questions on the status 
of any person rendering services or involved with the Agreement, Caltrans must 
be contacted immediately for clarification. 
 

Current State Employees (Pub. Contract Code §10410): 
1). No officer or employee shall engage in any employment, activity 
or enterprise from which the officer or employee receives 
compensation or has a financial interest and which is sponsored or 
funded by any state agency, unless the employment, activity or 
enterprise is required as a condition of regular state employment. 
 

62



Funds Transfer Agreement Between the California Department of Transportation 
and the Solano Transportation Authority 

 

5 
 

2). No officer or employee shall contract on his or her own behalf as 
an independent contractor with any state agency to provide goods 
or services. 
 

Former State Employees (Pub. Contract Code §10411): 
1). For the two-year period from the date he or she left state 
employment, no former state officer or employee may enter into a 
contract in which he or she engaged in any of the negotiations, 
transactions, planning, arrangements or any part of the decision-
making process relevant to the contract while employed in any 
capacity by any state agency. 
 
2). For the twelve-month period from the date he or she left state 
employment, no former state officer or employee may enter into a 
contract with any state agency if he or she was employed by that 
state agency in a policy-making position in the same general subject 
area as the proposed contract within the 12-month period prior to his 
or her leaving state service. 
 

If STA violates any provisions of above paragraphs, such action by STA shall render 
this Agreement void. (Pub. Contract Code §10420.) If the Agreement is rendered 
void, STA shall return all Funds. 
 
6.3 Labor Code/Workers' Compensation: STA needs to be aware of the 
provisions which require every employer to be insured against liability for Worker's 
Compensation or to undertake self-insurance in accordance with the provisions, 
and STA affirms to comply with such provisions before commencing the 
performance of the work described in this Agreement. (Labor Code § 3700.) 
 
6.4. Americans With Disabilities Act: STA assures the State that it complies with 
the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) of 1990, which prohibits discrimination 
on the basis of disability, as well as all applicable regulations and guidelines issued 
pursuant to the ADA. (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.) 
 
6.5. STA Name Change: An amendment is required to change STA’s name as 
listed on this Agreement. Upon receipt of legal documentation of the name 
change the State will process the amendment. Payment of invoices presented 
with a new name cannot be paid prior to approval of said amendment. 
 
6.6. Resolution: A county, city, district, or other local public body must provide 
the State with a copy of a resolution, order, motion, or ordinance of the local 
governing body which by law has authority to enter into an agreement, 
authorizing execution of the agreement. 

63



Funds Transfer Agreement Between the California Department of Transportation 
and the Solano Transportation Authority 

 

6 
 

 
6.7.  Air or Water Pollution Violation: Under State law, STA shall not be: (1) in 
violation of any order or resolution not subject to review promulgated by the State 
Air Resources Board or an air pollution control district; (2) subject to cease and 
desist order not subject to review issued pursuant to Section 13301 of the Water 
Code for violation of waste discharge requirements or discharge prohibitions; or 
(3) finally determined to be in violation of provisions of federal law relating to air 
or water pollution. 
 
6.8. Audit: STA agrees that Caltrans, the California Department of General 
Services, the California State Auditor’s Office, or other State agency with a 
legitimate business purpose, or their designated representative(s) shall have the 
right to review and to copy any records and supporting documentation 
pertaining to the performance of this Agreement. STA agrees to maintain such 
records for possible audit for a minimum of three (3) years after final payment, 
unless a longer period of record retention is stipulated. 
 
6.9. Amendments:  No amendment or variation of the terms of this Agreement 
shall be valid unless made in writing and signed by the parties. Any amendment 
signed by STA must be approved by its Board of Directors as evidenced by a 
resolution, order, motion, or ordinance of the STA and a copy provided to 
Caltrans. No oral understanding or agreement not incorporated in the 
Agreement is binding on any of the parties. 
 
6.10. Caltrans and STA shall continue with their responsibilities under this 
Agreement during any dispute. 
 
6.11  This Agreement may be executed in separate counterparts. 
 
6.12  An electronically signed copy of this Agreement shall have the same force 
and effect as if it were signed manually. 
 
6.13 Should STA be declared to be in breach of this AGREEMENT or otherwise in 
default thereof by STATE, and if STA is constituted as a joint powers authority, 
special district, or any other public entity not directly receiving funds through the 
State Controller, CALTRANS is authorized to obtain reimbursement from whatever 
sources of funding are available, including the withholding or transfer of funds, 
pursuant to Article IV – 21, from those constituent entities comprising a joint powers 
authority or by bringing of an action against STA or its constituent member entities, 
to recover all funds provided by CALTRANS hereunder. 
 
  

64



Funds Transfer Agreement Between the California Department of Transportation 
and the Solano Transportation Authority 

7 

State: 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA   
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION   
Printed Name: Jeanie Ward-Waller  
Signature:   
Title:  Deputy Director for Planning & Modal Programs 
Date:   

Local Agency: 

Solano Transportation Authority 
Printed Name:  Daryl K. Halls  
Signature:   
Title:  Executive Director 
Date:   

Accounting Certification 

Jie Chen 07/05/2023 $1,000,000.00

07/14/23

July 11, 2023

65



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

66



AGENDA ITEM NO. 9
                  AGENDA TRANSMITTAL

 
MEETING DATE: November 7, 2023
 
CITY AGENDA ITEM: Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-___: Authorizing the Application
for Grant Funds for the Proposition 68 Community and Economic Enhancement Grant Program from
the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta Conservancy and Authorizing the Acting City Manager, or
Appointed Designee, to Execute Application Related Documents 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: There is no fiscal impact to the city since the grant does not require any
contribution or match. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN: Provide Good Governance. 
 
BACKGROUND: In June 2023, the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta Conservancy released details for
the FY23-24 Proposition 68 Community and Economic Enhancement Grant program. The non-
competitive grant program focuses on increasing public access to the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta
through recreation and tourism opportunities, historic and cultural preservation, and environmental
education in order to promote a robust Delta economy. The grant opportunity is non-competitive and is
only to public agencies and non-profits with projects within or benefitting the Delta and Suisun Marsh.
There is no match required for the grant, and each application requires an initial consultation with Delta
Conservancy representatives to discuss the potential project, if goals of the project align with Delta
Conservancy’s mission and intent of the funding, and whether or not to invite the applicant to submit a
full application.  

The current public fishing dock is beyond repair, and in an inaccessible area of the City’s Marina.
 Because of this, it does not see use, and those looking for recreational fishing opportunities often do so
in the basin on the sidewalk. Because of this, it creates safety hazards for those trying to utilize the
sidewalk (with potential fishing hooks around the walkways) and is not aesthetically pleasing nor
inviting to the City’s downtown area.  

At the initial consultation, the Recreation, Parks, and Marina (RPM) Department proposed to the Delta
Conservancy the building of a new fishing dock behind and north of Suisun City Hall, adjacent to the
existing City parking lot. The new fishing dock will serve as a recreational and educational hub,
promoting tourism and environmental education in the region. It will also create a sustainable and
inclusive space for fishing, kayaking, and learning about the local ecosystem.   

After consultation with Delta Conservancy officials, it was recommended that the city submit a full
application towards a ‘planning’ grant with an ask limit of $600,000. Planning grants are specifically
for pre-construction work, including project scoping, planning and design, and environmental
compliance.  
 
STAFF REPORT: The RPM Department’s planning grant proposal will complete all pre-construction
requirements for the fishing dock project, including the securing of necessary permits, environmental
studies, community outreach, design, and the preparation of 65% plans, specifications, and estimates
(PS&E). 

67



The intent of this planning grant is to make this a “shovel-ready” project with the anticipation of future
funding being made available through the Delta Conservancy for the implementation and construction
of the fishing dock project. The full application will be submitted by the RPM Department in early
November and is expected to go to the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta Conservancy Board meeting in
January 2024 for potential award of funding. As part of the application process, the RPM Department
must receive authorization to apply for the grant funding through Suisun City Council.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that City Council Adopt Resolution No. 2023-
___: Authorizing the Application for Grant Funds for the Proposition 68 Community and Economic
Enhancement Grant Program from the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta Conservancy and Authorizing the
Acting City Manager, or Appointed Designee, to Execute Application Related Documents. 
 
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED:

1. Resolution No. 2023-___: Authorizing the Application for Grant Funds for the Proposition 68
Community and Economic Enhancement Grant Program from the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta
Conservancy and Authorizing the Acting City Manager, or Appointed Designee, to Execute
Application Related Documents 

 

PREPARED BY: Marvin Mora, Recreation Supervisor
REVIEWED BY: Kris Lofthus, Deputy City Manager
APPROVED BY: Aaron Roth, Acting City Manager
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Resolution Authorizing the Application for Grant Funds for the Prop 68 Community and Economic
Enhancement Grant Program.pdf
1 Blank Page - THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.pdf

68

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2265728/1.__Resolution_Authorizing_the_Application_for_Grant_Funds_for_the_Prop_68_Community_and_Economic_Enhancement_Grant_Program.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2267371/1_Blank_Page_-_THIS_PAGE_INTENTIONALLY_LEFT_BLANK.pdf


 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-___ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY 
AUTHORIZING THE APPLICATION FOR GRANT FUNDS FOR THE 

PROPOSITION 68 COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC ENHANCEMENT GRANT 
PROGRAM FROM THE SACRAMENTO-SAN JOAQUIN DELTA CONSERVANCY 

AND AUTHORIZING THE ACTING CITY MANAGER, OR APPOINTED DESIGNEE, 
TO EXECUTE APPLICATION RELATED DOCUMENTS 

 
 WHEREAS, the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta Conservancy has been delegated 
responsibility by the Legislature of the State of California for the administration of the 
Proposition 68 Community and Economic Enhancement Grant program, setting up necessary 
procedures governing the application; and  
 WHEREAS, said procedures established by the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta 
Conservancy require applicants to certify by resolution the approval of the application before 
submission of said application to the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta Conservancy; and  
 WHEREAS, the Recreation, Parks, and Marina Department has identified the project 
need of a new public fishing dock located north of City Hall and presented that project 
Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta Conservancy representatives; and    
 WHEREAS, the City of Suisun City has been invited by the Sacramento-San Joaquin 
Delta Conservancy to submit a full planning project proposal. 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of Suisun 
City authorizes the Application for Grant Funds for the Proposition 68 Community and 
Economic Enhancement Grant Program from the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta Conservancy 
and Authorizing the Acting City Manager, or Appointed Designee, to Execute Application 
Related Documents. 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED at a Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of 
Suisun City duly held on Tuesday, the 7th day of November 2023, by the following vote: 
AYES: Councilmembers:    
NOES: Councilmembers:    
ABSENT: Councilmembers:    
ABSTAIN: Councilmembers:    

 WITNESS my hand and the seal of said City this 7th day of November 2023.  
 
 
   
 Anita Skinner 
 City Clerk 

69



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

70



AGENDA ITEM NO. 10
                  AGENDA TRANSMITTAL

 
MEETING DATE: November 7, 2023
 
CITY AGENDA ITEM: Council/Agency/Authority Approval of the Minutes of the Regular and/or
Special Meetings of the Suisun City Council, Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency, and
Housing Authority held on October 3, 2023, and October 17, 2023.
 
FISCAL IMPACT: None
 
STRATEGIC PLAN: Provide Good Governance.
 
BACKGROUND: Pursuant to Government Code 40801, the City Clerk shall keep an accurate record
of the proceedings of the City Council meetings.  City Council minutes are prepared in a manner
consistent with the intent of the Government Code. Minutes provide a record of when and where the
meeting took place, type of meeting, and report any action taken, including the vote of each member of
the City Council. 
 
STAFF REPORT: The minutes of the City Council, Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency,
and Housing Authority held on October 3, 2023, and October 17, 2023, are submitted for review and
approval.
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Council/Agency/Authority Approval of the Minutes of the Regular
and/or Special Meetings of the Suisun City Council, Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency,
and Housing Authority held on October 3, 2023, and October 17, 2023.
 
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED:

1. Minutes - October 3, 2023, Special Closed Session Meeting
2. Minutes - October 3, 2023, Regular Council-Successor Agency-Housing Authority Meeting
3. Minutes - October 17, 2023, Special Closed Session Meeting
4. Minutes - October 17, 2023, Regular Council-Successor Agency-Housing Authority Meeting

 

PREPARED BY: Anita Skinner, City Clerk
REVIEWED BY: Anita Skinner, City Clerk
APPROVED BY: Aaron Roth, Acting City Manager
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Minutes - October 3, 2023 Special Closed Session Meeting.pdf
2. Minutes - October 3, 2023 Regular Council-Successor Agency-Housing Authority Meeting.pdf
3. Minutes - October 17, 2023 Special Closed Session Meeting.pdf
4. Minutes - October 17, 2023 Regular Council-Successor Agency-Housing Authority Meeting.pdf

71

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2254059/1.___Minutes_-_October_3__2023_Special_Closed_Session_Meeting_5_pm.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2254060/2.___Minutes_-_October_3___2023_Regular_Council-Successor_Agency-Housing_Authority_Meeting.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2254061/3.___Minutes_-_October_17__2023_Special_Closed_Session_Meeting_5_pm.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2254062/4.___Minutes_-_October_17___2023_Regular_Council-Successor_Agency-Housing_Authority_Meeting.pdf


CITY COUNCIL CITY COUNCIL MEETING   
Alma Hernandez, Mayor  
Princess Washington, Mayor Pro Tem  
Jenalee Dawson, Member  
Marlon L Osum, Member  
Amit Pal, Member 
 
 

MINUTES 
 

SPECIAL MEETING OF THE SUISUN CITY COUNCIL 

TUESDAY, OCTOBER 3, 2023 

5:00 PM 

 
Suisun City Council Chambers - 701 Civic Center Boulevard - Suisun City, California  

 
  

CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS ARE HELD IN-PERSON  
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION IS ALSO AVAILABLE VIA ZOOM 

 
ZOOM MEETING INFORMATION:  

WEBSITE: https://zoom.us/join 

MEETING ID: 836 1787 1860 

CALL IN PHONE NUMBER: (707) 438-1720 

 
REMOTE PUBLIC COMMENT IS AVAILABLE FOR THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING BY EMAILING  

CLERK@SUISUN.COM (PRIOR TO 4 PM), VIA WEBSITE, OR ZOOM CALL IN PHONE NUMBER (707) 438-1720 (If 

attending the meeting via phone press *9 to raise your hand and *6 to unmute/mute for public comment.) 

 
ROLL CALL  
Mayor Hernandez called the meeting to order at 5:06pm with the following Council Members present: 

PRESENT:  Dawson, Hernandez, Osum, Washington 

ABSENT:  Pal 
 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST NOTIFICATION  None  
(Any items on this agenda that might be a conflict of interest to any Councilmembers should be identified at this time.) 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT  
(Request by citizens to discuss any matter under our jurisdiction other than an item posted on this agenda per California 

Government Code §54954.3. Comments are limited to no more than 3 minutes unless allowable by the Mayor/Chair. Speaker 

cards are available on the table near the entry of the meeting room and should be given to the City Clerk. By law, no 

prolonged discussion or action may be taken on any item raised during the public comment period, although informational 

answers to questions may be given and matters may be referred for placement on a future agenda.) 

 
Comments were made by George Guynn, Steve Olry, James Berg, Michelle Chavez 
 
CLOSED SESSION  
Pursuant to California Government Code Section 54950 the Suisun City Council will hold a Closed 

Session for the Purpose of: 

1 CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL -- ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 

Discussion of potential significant exposure to litigation pursuant to Government Code Section 

54956.9(a), (d)(2), (e)(2) (based on certain non-contractual employment-related claims by 

Greg Folsom). 

 

 72



 

2 CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL -- ANTICIPATED LITIGATION  
Discussion of potential significant exposure to litigation pursuant to Government Code 

Section 54956.9(a), (d)(2), (e)(1) - (1 potential case). 
 

3 CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS 

Pursuant to California Government Code Section 54956.8 

Real Property Identified by Assessor's Parcel Number 0037-220-130 

Negotiating Party: Acting City Manager 

Parties Negotiating With: Cavallero Property 

Under Negotiations:  Terms and payment 
 
Council entered into Closed Session at 5:19pm. 
 
CONVENE OPEN SESSION  

Announcement of Actions Taken, if any, in Closed Session. 
 

ADJOURNMENT  

There being no further business the meeting was adjourned at 6:22pm. 

 

 

_________________________ 

Anita Skinner, City Clerk 

73



CITY COUNCIL CITY COUNCIL MEETING   
Alma Hernandez, Mayor  
Princess Washington, Mayor Pro Tem  
Jenalee Dawson, Member  
Marlon L Osum, Member  
Amit Pal, Member 
 
 
 

MINUTES 
 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE SUISUN CITY COUNCIL, 
 

SUISUN CITY COUNCIL ACTING AS SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE 
 

REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY, 
 

AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 
 

TUESDAY, OCTOBER 3, 2023 
 

6:30 PM 

 

Suisun City Council Chambers - 701 Civic Center Boulevard - Suisun City, California  
 
  

CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS ARE HELD IN-PERSON  
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION IS ALSO AVAILABLE VIA ZOOM 

 
ZOOM MEETING INFORMATION:  

WEBSITE: https://zoom.us/join 

MEETING ID: 863 9416 8264 

CALL IN PHONE NUMBER: (707) 438-1720 
 

REMOTE PUBLIC COMMENT IS AVAILABLE FOR THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING BY EMAILING 

CLERK@SUISUN.COM (PRIOR TO 5 PM), VIA WEBSITE, OR ZOOM CALL IN PHONE NUMBER (707) 438-1720 

(If attending the meeting via phone press *9 to raise your hand and *6 to unmute/mute for public comment.) 

 
(Next Ord. No. – 806)  

(Next City Council Res. No. 2023 – 134)  
(Next Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency Res. No. SA2023 - 06)  

(Next Housing Authority Res. No. HA2023 – 04) 

 
City Attorney reported out from Closed Session on Item #1. 
 

ROLL CALL 

Mayor Hernandez called the meeting to order at 6:46pm with the following Council Members present: 

PRESENT:  Dawson, Hernandez, Osum, Washington 

ABSENT:  Pal  
 

Pledge of Allegiance was led by Council Member Osum. 

Invocation was given by City Clerk Anita Skinner. 
 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST NOTIFICATION  None  
(Any items on this agenda that might be a conflict of interest to any Councilmembers / Boardmembers should be identified 

at this time.) 

  

74



 

REPORTS (Informational items only.) 

 

1 Acting City Manager Update - (Roth: aroth@suisun.com). 

 

Acting City Manager reported on upcoming city events. 

 

PRESENTATION/APPOINTMENTS 

 

(Presentations, Awards, Proclamations, Appointments). 

 

2 Presentation of Proclamations - (Hernandez: ahernandez@suisun.com): 

a. Proclamation Recognizing Volunteer Fire Captain Tom Kamin 

Read by Mayor Hernandez and presented by Council Member Dawson to Captain Kamin. 

b. Proclamation Proclaiming October 8-14, 2023, as "National Fire Prevention Week" Read 

by Mayor Hernandez and presented by Council Member Osum to Fire Marshall Jose 

Colin. 

c. Proclamation Proclaiming October 2023, as "Breast Cancer Awareness Month"Read by 

Mayor Hernandez and presented by Council Member Osum to Former City Treasurer 

Jeannie McMurry and current City Clerk Anita Skinner who were in attendance.  Former 

Mayor and current Assemblymember Lori Wilson was also a recipient. 

 

3 Presentation of Annual Reports - (Lofthus: klofthus@suisun.com): 

a. Recreation, Parks and Marina Department; 

Deputy City Manager Kris Lofthus presented the report. He spoke briefly on the 

responsibilities of each staff member, grants received, project management and revenue. 

b. Recreation, Parks, Marina and Arts Commission. 

RPMA Chairperson Eddrick Osborne present the overview report.  Spoke on 

initiatives/projects; Arts projects and future projects. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

(Request by citizens to discuss any matter under our jurisdiction other than an item posted on this agenda per California 

Government Code §54954.3. Comments are limited to no more than 3 minutes unless allowable by the Mayor/Chair. Speaker 

cards are available on the table near the entry of the meeting room and should be given to the City Clerk. By law, no 

prolonged discussion or action may be taken on any item raised during the public comment period, although informational 

answers to questions may be given and matters may be referred for placement on a future agenda.) 

 

Public Comments were given by the following: 

Donna LeBlanc, George Guynn, Steve Olry, James Berg Michelle Chavez  

 

COUNCIL COMMENTS 

 

4 Council/Board Member Updates. 

 

Council Members reported on events and meetings they attended. 
  

75

mailto:ahernandez@suisun.com
mailto:klofthus@suisun.com


 

CONSENT CALENDAR 

Consent calendar items requiring little or no discussion may be acted upon with one motion. 

 

City Council 

5 Council Adoption of Ordinance No. 804: An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of 

Suisun City Repealing and Replacing Chapter 8.08 (Solid Wastes) of Title 8 (Health & Safety) 

of the Suisun City Municipal Code - (City Attorney). 

6 Council Adoption of Ordinance No. 805: Amending Title 18 (Zoning) of the Suisun City 

Municipal Code of the City of Suisun City Modifying the Fences and Walls Regulations 

Chapter 18.34 – Fences and Walls and Finding of Exemption from the California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) - (Bermudez: jbermudez@suisun.com). 

7 Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-134: Authorizing the Acting City Manager to 

Execute a Multi-Channel Sales Agreement with Ritchie Bros. for the Sale of Fire Department 

Surplus Apparatus - (Lopez: bllopez@suisun.com). 

8 Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-135: Authorizing the Acting City Manager to 

Execute a Grant Agreement with the State of California Department of Parks and Recreation 

Division of Boating and Waterways for the Surrendered and Abandoned Vessel Exchange 

(SAVE) Program - (Lofthus: klofthus@suisun.com). 

9 Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-136: Adopting the 1st Amendment to the Annual 

Appropriation Resolution No. 2023-88 to Appropriate Funds for the Sidewalk Gap Closure 

Project Through the Transportation Fund for Clean Air Grant - (Vue: nvue@suisun.com). 

10 Approving Appointments of City Staff members to the Pooled Liability Assurance Network 

(PLAN) Joint Powers Authority (JPA) Board of Directors and to the Local Agency Workers’ 

Compensation Excess Joint Powers Authority’s Governing Board - (Penland: 

cpenland@suisun.com). 

a. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-137: Appointing One Director and One 

Alternate Director to the Pooled Liability Assurance Network (PLAN) Joint Powers 

Authority (JPA) Board of Directors; and 

b. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-138: Appointing One Representative and One 

Alternate Representative to the Local Agency Workers’ Compensation Excess Joint 

Powers Authority’s Governing Board. 
 

Joint City Council / Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency 

 

11 Accept the Investment Report for the Quarter Ending June 30, 2023 - (Luna: 

eluna@suisun.com). 
 

Joint City Council / Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency/ Housing Authority 

 

12 Council/Agency/Authority Approval of the Minutes of the Regular and/or Special Meetings of 

the Suisun City Council, Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency, and Housing 

Authority held on September 19, 2023 – (Skinner: clerk@suisun.com). 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

The following commented on Consent Calendar Items 5, 6, 7, 9: 

Donna LeBlanc, James Berg, George Guynn 

  

76

mailto:jbermudez@suisun.com
mailto:bllopez@suisun.com
mailto:klofthus@suisun.com
mailto:nvue@suisun.com
mailto:cpenland@suisun.com
mailto:eluna@suisun.com
mailto:clerk@suisun.com


 

Motion by Council Member Dawson to approve Consent Calendar and seconded by 

Vice Mayor Washington.  Motion passed by the following vote: 

AYES:  Dawson, Hernandez, Osum, Washington 

NOES:  None 

ABSENT:  Pal 
 

PUBLIC HEARING - NONE 

 

GENERAL BUSINESS 

 

City Council 

13 Council Consideration and Introduction of Ordinance No.- 806: An Ordinance of the City 

Council of the City of Suisun City Repealing and Replacing Chapter 8.12 (Public Nuisances) 

to Title 8 (Health and Safety) of the Suisun City Municipal Code - (City Attorney). 

City Attorney Elena Gerli presented the report.  

PUBLIC COMMENT:  The following commented on the ordinance: 

Donna LeBlanc, George Guynn, Steve Olry, Michelle Chavez  

Motion by Council Member Dawson to introduce the ordinance and seconded by Vice 

Mayor Washington.  Motion passed by the following vote: 

AYES:  Dawson, Hernandez, Osum, Washington 

NOES:  None 

ABSENT:  Pal 

Verbal consensus to start item #14 that will take the meeting past 10pm 

 

14 Council Discussion and Direction for the Acting City Manager to Initiate the Request for 

Proposal (RFP) Process for Recruitment Services Related to a Permanent City Manager and 

Report Back with a Proposed Timeline and Evaluation Criteria - (Roth: aroth@suisun.com). 

Acting City Manager Roth presented report.   

PUBLIC COMMENT:  The following commented on the RFP process: 

George Guynn, James Berg 

Motion by Council Member Dawson for the Acting City Manager to initiate the Request 

for Proposal (RFP) process and seconded by Vice Mayor Washington.  Motion passed b 

the following vote: 

AYES:  Dawson, Hernandez, Osum, Washington 

NOES:  None 

ABSENT:  Pal 

 

REPORTS: (Informational items only) 

 

15 Mayoral Update - (Hernandez: ahernandez@suisun.com). 

 

16 Non-Discussion Items. 
  

77

mailto:aroth@suisun.com
mailto:ahernandez@suisun.com


 

ADJOURNMENT 

Mayor Hernandez adjourned the meeting at 9:55 p.m. in honor of former Lieutenant Forrest Frank Smith 

and former Fire Chief James Pennington. 

 

 

______________________________ 

Anita Skinner, City Clerk 

78



CITY COUNCIL CITY COUNCIL MEETING   
Alma Hernandez, Mayor  
Princess Washington, Mayor Pro Tem  
Jenalee Dawson, Member  
Marlon L Osum, Member  
Amit Pal, Member 
 
 
 

MINUTES 
 

SPECIAL MEETING OF THE SUISUN CITY COUNCIL 

TUESDAY, OCTOBER 17, 2023 

5:00 PM 

 
Suisun City Council Chambers - 701 Civic Center Boulevard - Suisun City, California  

 
  

CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS ARE HELD IN-PERSON  
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION IS ALSO AVAILABLE VIA ZOOM 

 
ZOOM MEETING INFORMATION:  

WEBSITE: https://zoom.us/join 

MEETING ID:  821 6263 7928 

CALL IN PHONE NUMBER: (707) 438-1720 

 
REMOTE PUBLIC COMMENT IS AVAILABLE FOR THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING BY EMAILING 

CLERK@SUISUN.COM (PRIOR TO 4 PM), VIA WEBSITE, OR ZOOM CALL IN PHONE NUMBER (707) 438-1720 

 
(If attending the meeting via phone press *9 to raise your hand and *6 to unmute/mute for public comment.) 

 

ROLL CALL 

Mayor Hernandez called the meeting to order at 5:05pm with the following Council Members present: 

PRESENT:  Dawson, Hernandez, Osum, Pal, Washington 

ABSENT:  None  
 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST NOTIFICATION  None  
(Any items on this agenda that might be a conflict of interest to any Councilmembers should be identified at this time.) 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT  
(In accordance with Section 54956(a), public comments are limited to items on this closed session agenda, and to no more 

than 3 minutes unless allowable by the Mayor/Chair. Speaker cards are available on the table near the entry of the meeting 

room and should be given to the City Clerk. By law, no prolonged discussion or action may be taken on any item raised 

during the comment period.) 

 

Comments by Steve Olry and on-line, Michelle Chavez. 
 
CLOSED SESSION  
Pursuant to California Government Code Section 54950 the Suisun City Council will hold a Closed 

Session for the Purpose of: 

  

79



 

1 PERSONNEL MATTERS 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE EMPLOYMENT/CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR: 

Pursuant to California Government Code Section 54957(b)(1), to consider the appointment, 

employment, evaluation of performance, discipline, or dismissal of a public employee: 

 

(Interim City Manager); and Government Code Section 54957.6, conference with labor 

negotiator. City negotiator: City Attorney. Employee: Acting City Manager Roth. 
  

2 CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.6 

Agency negotiator: Acting City Manager 

Employee organizations: SCPOA (Suisun City Police Officers Association) 

 

CONVENE OPEN SESSION  

Announcement of Actions Taken, if any, in Closed Session. 
 

ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business the meeting was adjourned at 6:25pm. 

 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Anita Skinner, City Clerk 

 

80



CITY COUNCIL CITY COUNCIL MEETING   
Alma Hernandez, Mayor  
Princess Washington, Mayor Pro Tem  
Jenalee Dawson, Member  
Marlon L Osum, Member  
Amit Pal, Member 
 
 
 

MINUTES 
 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE SUISUN CITY COUNCIL, 
 

SUISUN CITY COUNCIL ACTING AS SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE 
 

REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY, 
 

AND HOUSING AUTHORITY 
 

TUESDAY, OCTOBER 17, 2023 
 

6:30 PM 
 
 

Suisun City Council Chambers - 701 Civic Center Boulevard - Suisun City, California  
 
  

CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS ARE HELD IN-PERSON  
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION IS ALSO AVAILABLE VIA ZOOM 

 
ZOOM MEETING INFORMATION:  

WEBSITE: https://zoom.us/join 

MEETING ID: 850 2680 8567 

CALL IN PHONE NUMBER: (707) 438-1720 
 

REMOTE PUBLIC COMMENT IS AVAILABLE FOR THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING BY EMAILING  
CLERK@SUISUN.COM (PRIOR TO 6 PM), VIA WEBSITE, OR ZOOM CALL IN PHONE NUMBER (707) 438-1720 (If 

attending the meeting via phone press *9 to raise your hand and *6 to unmute/mute for public comment.) 
 

(Next Ord. No. – 807)  
(Next City Council Res. No. 2023 – 139)  

Next Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency Res. No. SA2023 - 06)  
(Next Housing Authority Res. No. HA2023 – 04) 

 

ROLL CALL 

Mayor Hernandez called the meeting to order at 6:43pm with the following Council Members present: 

PRESENT:  Dawson, Hernandez, Osum, Pal, Washington 

ABSENT:  None  
 

Pledge of Allegiance was led by Vice Mayor Washington. 

Invocation was given by City Clerk Skinner. 
 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST NOTIFICATION  
(Any items on this agenda that might be a conflict of interest to any Councilmembers / Boardmembers should be identified 

at this time.) 

 

Council Member Pal has a conflict with Item #8. 
 
  

81



REPORTS (Informational items only.) 
 

1 Acting City Manager Update - (Roth: aroth@suisun.com). 

Reported on upcoming events on October 28th and the October 31st Halloween Parade. 

 

Finance Director Deol gave an update new billing system. 

 

PRESENTATION/APPOINTMENTS 

 

(Presentations, Awards, Proclamations, Appointments). 

 

2 Presentation of Proclamations - (Hernandez: ahernandez@suisun.com): 

a. Proclamation Proclaiming September 15 - October 15, 2023, as "Hispanic Heritage 

Month" 

Mayor Hernandez read the proclamation which was presented by Council Member 

Osum to Leah Castillo (Solano Hispanic Chamber of Commerce).  Ms. Castillo and 

Leo thanked the Council. 

 

b. Proclamation Proclaiming the Month of October as, "National Chess Month" 

Mayor Hernandez read the proclamation which was presented by Council Member 

Dawson to David Knott. 

The following club members spoke: A’lena Sessoms (President of Suisun Youth 

Commission), Gaby Gonzelez, Gustano Carios, Ariel He-Wang, and Valentina 

Gonzalez.  Council Members congratulated all the students. 
 

3 Mayoral Appointment to the Beautification Community Advisory Committee- (Hernandez: 

ahernandez@suisun.com). 

Mayor Hernandez appointed Annabelle Rivera. 

 

Motion by Mayor Hernandez to appoint Annabelle Rivera and seconded by Council 

Member Pal.  Motion passed by the following vote: 

 

AYES:  Dawson, Hernandez, Osum, Pal, Washington 

NOES:  None 

ABSENT:  None 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

(Request by citizens to discuss any matter under our jurisdiction other than an item posted on this agenda per California 

Government Code §54954.3. Comments are limited to no more than 3 minutes unless allowable by the Mayor/Chair. Speaker 

cards are available on the table near the entry of the meeting room and should be given to the City Clerk. By law, no 

prolonged discussion or action may be taken on any item raised during the public comment period, although informational 

answers to questions may be given and matters may be referred for placement on a future agenda.) 

 

The following made comments on items not on the agenda: 

Lorenza Gonzalez; Richard Herrod, Steve Olry, George Guynn, James Berg, Larry Blumfield. 

On-line: Michelle Chavez, Barbara Kraig. 
  

82

mailto:aroth@suisun.com
mailto:ahernandez@suisun.com
mailto:ahernandez@suisun.com


 

COUNCIL COMMENTS 

 

4 Council/Board Member Updates. 

 

Council Members reported on meetings and events attended. 
 

CONSENT CALENDAR 

 

Consent calendar items requiring little or no discussion may be acted upon with one motion. 

 

City Council 

 

5 Council Adoption of Ordinance 806: An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Suisun 

City Repealing and Replacing Chapter 8.12 (Public Nuisances) To Title 8 (Health and Safety) 

of the Suisun City Municipal Code - (City Attorney). 
 

Joint City Council / Suisun City Council Acting as Successor Agency 

 

6 Council/Agency Approval of September 2023 Payroll Warrants in the Amount of $677,774.03 

and Council/Agency Approval of the September 2023 Accounts Payable Warrants in the 

Amount of $5,929,978.37 - (Finance). 

 

Council Member Pal had a conflict with Item #5 stepped away from dais at 8:08p and returned 

at 8:21pm. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

James Berg commented on Item #5. 

George Guynn and James Berg commented on Item #6. 

 

Motion by Council Member Dawson to approve the Consent Calendar and seconded by 

Mayor Hernandez.  Motion passed by the following vote: 

 

AYES:  Dawson, Hernandez, Osum, Washington 

NOES:  NONE 

ABSENT:  Pal (conflict) 
 

GENERAL BUSINESS 

 

8 HEARING: Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-141: Placing Liens for Unpaid Waste 

Collection Service Charges on Certain Lands Situated in the City of Suisun City, County of 

Solano, State of California - (Deol: ldeol@suisun.com). 

 

Finance Director Deol presented the report. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

Melissa and Martel Lofton 

  

83

mailto:ldeol@suisun.com


 

Motion by Council Member Dawson to approve Resolution and seconded by Vice Mayor 

Washington.  Motion passed by the following vote: 

 

AYES:  Dawson, Hernandez, Osum, Washington 

NOES:  None 

ABSENT:  Pal (conflict) 

 

PUBLIC HEARING 

 

7 Conduct a Public Hearing and hold a Special Election for the proposed Annexation No. 17 

(Tractor Supply Co.) to Community Facilities District No. 2 (Municipal Services) (“CFD 

No.2), adopt the Resolutions and introduce the Ordinance listed below: (Vue: 

nvue@suisun.com). 
 

a. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-139: Submitting Annexation of Territory 

and Levy of Special Taxes to Qualified Electors (Tractor Supply Co.); and 

b. Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-140: Declaring Results of Special Annexation 

Election, Determining Validity of Prior Proceedings, and Directing Recording of 

Amended Notice of Special Tax Lien (Tractor Supply Co.); and 

c. Council Consideration and Introduction of Ordinance No. 807:  An Ordinance of the 

City Council of the City of Suisun City Levying Special Tax Within City of Suisun City 

Communities Facilities District No. 2 (Municipal Services), Including Certain 

Annexation Territory (Tractor Supply Co.). 

 

Management Analyst Amanda Dum presented the report. 

Mayor Hernandez opened the Public Hearing. 

Comment by George Guynn. 

There being no further comments Mayor Hernandez closed the Public Hearing. 

Clerk Skinner opened and read the Ballot vote. 

Motion by Council Member Dawson to approve Item 7 and seconded by Council 

Member Pal.  Motion passed by the following vote: 

AYES:  Dawson, Hernandez, Osum, Pal, Washington 

NOES:  None 

ABSENT:  None 

 

REPORTS: (Informational items only) 

9 Mayoral Update - (Hernandez: ahernandez@suisun.com).  

10  Non-Discussion Items. 
 

ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business the meeting was adjourned at 8:28pm. 

 

___________________________ 

Anita Skinner, City Clerk 

  

84

mailto:nvue@suisun.com
mailto:Mayoral%20Update%20-%20(Hernandez:%20ahernandez@suisun.com).


AGENDA ITEM NO. 11
                  AGENDA TRANSMITTAL

 
MEETING DATE: November 7, 2023
 
CITY AGENDA ITEM: Council Introduction and Waive First Reading of Ordinance No. ___: An
Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Suisun City Adding Chapter 12.34 (Sidewalk
Maintenance), to Title 12 (Streets, Sidewalks, and Public Places) of the Suisun City Municipal Code –
(Vue: nvue@suisun.com) - (Continued to November 21, 2023). 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: None at this time. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN: Provide Good Governance.
 
BACKGROUND: A Public Hearing Notice was published in the Daily Republic Newspaper, posted on
the City's website, and posted at designated locations in the city. 
 
STAFF REPORT: This item is not ready for presentation and is continued to November 21, 2023.
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Recommendation to continue to November 21, 2023.
 
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED: NONE
 

PREPARED BY: Amanda Dum, Management Analyst II
REVIEWED BY: Aaron Roth, Acting City Manager
APPROVED BY: Aaron Roth, Acting City Manager 
 
ATTACHMENTS:

NONE

85



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

86



AGENDA ITEM NO. 12
                  AGENDA TRANSMITTAL

 
MEETING DATE: November 7, 2023
 
CITY AGENDA ITEM: Waterfront District Specific Plan Amendments: Workshop to Discuss
Comprehensive Amendments.
 
FISCAL IMPACT: The City was awarded $155,000 in SB 2 Planning Grants Program funds from the
State of California Department of Housing and Community Development. The SB 2 planning grant
funds have been used by staff and the City’s consultant to carry out project activities. The grant permits
five percent of the funds to be used for administration. There is no direct cost to the city.
 
STRATEGIC PLAN: Provide Good Governance and Develop Sustainable Economy.
 
BACKGROUND: In 2017, Governor Brown signed Senate Bill 2 (SB 2), titled the “Building Homes
and Jobs Act.” Adopted in conjunction with a swath of other housing legislation, this law specifically
establishes a permanent, on-going source of funding dedicated to promoting and facilitating affordable
housing development. A component of SB 2 is the Public Grants Program (PGP) which is a one-time
component of SB 2 that, among other provisions, provides financial and technical assistance to local
governments to update planning documents in order to:
 

Accelerate housing production.
Streamline the approval of housing development affordable to owner and renter households at all
income levels.
Facilitate housing affordability, particularly for all income groups.
Promote development consistent with the State Planning Priorities; and
Ensure geographic equity in the distribution and expenditure of allocated funds.

 
The Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) released a Notice of Funding
Availability (NOFA) for about $123 million statewide under the PGP on March 28, 2019. On
September 3, 2019, the City Council held a discussion and direction item to consider the possible use of
grant funds. The outcome of the meeting was for staff to apply for the grant and include planning
activities that were in line with the grant's intent. During the City Council's October 22, 2019, meeting,
staff presented a list of activities, and the council adopted a resolution that authorized the City Manager
to apply for the grant to capture some of the list of activities:
 

Analyze the buildout capacity of the Specific Plan districts (potential program by subarea,
vacant/opportunity sites, infill building prototypes, public investment projects).
Identify short-term infill project opportunity sites, analyze feasibility gaps, and identify public
investment strategies.
Assist with roll-out/definition of marketing packages/development RFP’s, project applications.
Conduct a housing yield and feasibility study. 
Develop conceptual site plans that show viable projects that would promote the City’s goals and
objectives for design and community character.
Assist the City with a focused Specific Plan amendment to further increase allowable density in
the area around the depot and to increase the capacity for housing.

87



Update the Specific Plan CEQA analysis to ensure environmental coverage for compact housing
development in the target area.
Develop up to three prototypes for projects that could be built on identified opportunity sites.  

In the summer of 2019, the city received an award letter from the State of California which prompted
the selection of AECOM an infrastructure and planning consultant firm to assist the city in achieving
the City Council's objectives in spring 2020. AECOM has completed the City’s General Plan,
Waterfront District Specific Plan and Title 18 “Zoning” updates in recent years.
 
STAFF REPORT: The city was awarded $155,000 to complete a comprehensive update to the
Waterfront District Specific Plan for the completion of housing-related projects to accelerate future
housing production. The grant award occurred at the height of the pandemic and this world event altered
productivity on a global scale which greatly affected the timing and prioritization of this grant while
public agencies dealt with the consequences of the pandemic. In its effort to adapt to these events, HCD
extended the timing and completion of the grant, but maintained the grants' purpose. Since coming out
of the pandemic, the City and AECOM have been working on the following comprehensive studies and
a set of specific plan amendments to achieve and meet the outcomes outlined in the grant:
 
Comprehensive Studies
 
Housing Feasibility and Yield Analysis and Recommendations
As part of this grant, AECOM collaborated with the City to examine housing feasibility and estimate
the number of compact housing units that could be developed based on demand for housing and the
location, infrastructure capacity, and other characteristics of specific infill housing opportunity areas.
The 2021 Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations identified additional housing
development opportunities, including multifamily housing development in Downtown Suisun City. This
report noted that 50-60 units per acre is likely the minimum range that could support relatively more
expensive types of construction and presented a conceptual plan for multifamily development that could
occur in the northwestern portion of the Specific Plan Area, if properties could be assembled.
 
Waterfront District and Zoning Code Amendments to Increase Housing Capacity
Based on the goals of the grant, AECOM assisted the City with a focused Waterfront District Specific
Plan update to further increase allowable density in the area around the Suisun-Fairfield train depot and
increase overall housing capacity, including revisions to development standards and allowable uses,
while also updating relevant context discussion to reflect current conditions. 
 
Environmental Streamlining
AECOM prepared an updated CEQA analysis under Section 15183, which allows for a streamlined
environmental review process, demonstrating that revisions to the Waterfront District Specific Plan are
consistent with and covered by the 2015 General Plan EIR.
 
Fee Study for Parking In-Lieu Fees in the Priority Development Area
AECOM assisted the city in preparing a parking in-lieu fee study that provides options for new
development outside of on-site parking, particularly for residential development, including affordable
housing development. The study determined that the amount of new development envisioned in the
Waterfront District Specific Plan suggests a long-term need for structured parking options. Several
parking in-lieu fee options are presented for consideration by the city, including charging more than,
less than, or the equivalent cost of parking construction.  
 

88



Planning Commission and Community Engagement 
In July 2021, AECOM presented an overview of the SB 2 planning grant projects, key findings from the
housing feasibility study, and next steps to the Planning Commission. In April 2022, the City held an in-
person public workshop and circulated a digital survey to gather public input for the planning and
design of the 30-acre vacant property in the Downtown area. Subsequently, staff engaged the Planning
Commission on October 11th, 2023, in a workshop and discussion format to review the proposed
specific plan amendments and take in any comments and recommendations. At this meeting, the City's
consultant provided a presentation and overview of the proposed changes to the specific plan and those
changes have been integrated into the draft specific plan accompanying this staff report.
 
General Plan Amendments
The overall specific plan has undergone several changes to align with the grant's objective and regional
policies guided by MTC/ABAG, the City's Housing Element, and prior City Council direction. The
attached, red-lined version-specific plan document includes additional changes, and an overview of
these changes will be presented by the staff/consultant. Below are some key changes to the specific plan
that include a reference in brackets detailing the rationale behind the change:
 

Changed Commercial-Office-Residential (C/O/R) to Downtown Mixed Use (DMU) and
converting the area north of SR 12 to Downtown Mixed Use (City 30-acre property).
Revisions to Downtown Mixed Use permitted uses to allow single-family and multi-family
residential dwellings, including ADUs (Housing Element Requirement).
Permit multifamily dwellings in Residential Medium Density zone (rather than administrative
review (Housing Element requirement)
Vehicular Circulation Diagram - removed proposed extensions in the northwest and southeast that
would have extended Civic Center Boulevard (Prior City Council discussion - See attached
Resolution 2018-101).
The specific plan removed Public Facilities designations and replaced them with a new Civic
designation. The Civic area within the plan expanded to include the City Plaza, which would be a
permitted use in the new designation (Previous City Council Discussion).

 
The workshop and presentation will concentrate on the amendments to the specific plan, a flexible
exercise, allowing the City Council to weigh in and provide valuable input and direction. Once the
workshop is completed, staff will compile the referenced studies and proposed specific plan
amendments and return to the Planning Commission seeking a recommendation to the City Council.
Land use amendments require approval by the Airport Land Use Commission (ALUC), as such, prior to
scheduling with the City Council for approval, the proposed amendments require review and approval
from the ALUC.
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the City Council provide input and direction
to assist with any changes to the proposed specific plan amendments and fulfill the purpose of the grant.
 
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED:

1. Draft Waterfront District Specific Plan Chapters 1-7 - Redline Version
2. Draft Waterfront District Specific Plan Chapters 1-7 - Clean Version
3. Resolution 2018-101 - Vehicular Circulation Diagram Change
4. Housing Feasibility and Yield Analysis Recommendations
5. Fee Study for Parking In-Lieu Fees in the Priority Development Area
6. Waterfront District Specific Plan PowerPoint Presentation

 

89



PREPARED BY: Jim Bermudez, Development Services Director
REVIEWED BY: Aaron Roth, Acting City Manager  
APPROVED BY: Aaron Roth, Acting City Manager 
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Draft Waterfront Specific Plan Chapters 1-7 - Redline Version.pdf
2. Draft Waterfront Specific Plan Chapters 1-7 - Clean Version.pdf
3. Resolution 2018-101 - Vehicular Circulation Diagram Change.pdf
4. Fee Study for Parking In-Lieu Fees.pdf
5. Housing Feasibility and Yield Analysis Recommendations.pdf
6. PowerPoint Presentation.pdf

90

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2267354/1.__Draft_Waterfront_Specific_Plan_Chapters_1-7_-_Redline_Version.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2267355/2.__Draft_Waterfront_Specific_Plan_Chapters_1-7_-_Clean_Version.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2267356/3.__Resolution_2018-101_-_Vehicular_Circulation_Diagram_Change.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2267357/4.__Fee_Study_for_Parking_In-Lieu_Fees.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2267358/5.__Housing_Feasibility_and_Yield_Analysis_Recommendations.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2267359/6.__PowerPoint_Presentation.pdf


Waterfront District Specific Plan  
 

November JanuarySeptemberOctober 2023 2016 2022  Page 1-1 

CHAPTER 1 | INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Background/Content 

The first Waterfront District Specific Plan (WDSP),  previously called the 
Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan, was  adopted in 1983 and last 
comprehensively amended in 1999. (it was previously called the “Downtown 
Waterfront Specific Plan”). Creation The creation of a specific plan for theis 
WDSP Area (Planning Specific Plan Area) was proposed as an implementation 
action in the 1979 Suisun City General Plan, which called for special treatment 
of the historic downtown and waterfront through the preparation and 
adoption of a Specific Plan for Old Town and the waterfront. Since that time, 
many portions actions identified in the of the Specific Plan have been 
implemented. 

In 2015, the City of Suisun City (City) adopted a comprehensively 
revisedcomprehensive revision to the General Plan. The 2035 General Plan 
provides an updated set of policy guidelines for the overall amount, character, 
and location of urban development, as well as preservation and natural 
resource conservation, economic development, transportation, safety, public 
facilities and services, and housing.  

In 2008, the Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) approved the 
City’s PlanningSpecific Plan Area as a planned priority development area 
(PDA) under the PDA grant program administered by the Metropolitan 
Transportation Commission (MTC), ABAG, and other regional partners 
(regional agencies). PDAs are opportunity areas in the Bay Area, locally 
adopted by cities or counties to facilitate growth and infill development near 
fixed transportation facilities. PDAs are designed to provide housing, 
community amenities, and services for residents residents with housing, 
community amenities, and services in a pedestrian-friendly environment.  

In 2014, through federal funding from the regional agencies, the City received 
grant funding from the Solano Transportation Authority to prepare this an 
update to the WDSP. This update addresses addressed the Planning Specific 
Plan Area, which expands expanded on the previous WDSP Specific Plan 
boundaries to include the properties north of State Highway 12 (SR 12) – at 
the northwest corner of Marina Boulevard and SR 12 Highway 12 and the 
properties between Main Street and SR 12Highway 12, including the 

91



Chapter 1 | Introduction 

Page 1-2 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

“Denverton Curve” property in the northwest of the Planning Specific Plan 
Area (Figure 1-1). The expanded WDSP PlanningSpecific Plan Area boundary 
allows the City to better leverage the assets of the Suisun-Fairfield train depot 
to encourage infill development and establish a gateway entrance into the 
Planning Specific Plan Area on both sides of SR 12Highway 12.  

In addition to expanding the boundaries of the Suisun City Downtown 
Waterfront PDA, itthe previous Specific Plan updatesd the 1999 Amended 
Downtown Specific Plan to address several matters that includedThis update 
also addressed current market conditions, the current regulatory 
environment, and recent City policy updates, and. This version of the Specific 
Plan that initiated in 2014 was adopted in November of 2016.  

In 2020, the City received another grant – this time from the State of 
California, through a program administered by the California Department of 
Housing and Community Development. The purpose of the State’s “SB 2” 
planning grant program is to streamline housing approvals and accelerate 
housing production. The City isused using the SB 2 grant funds to prepare this 
update This Specific Plan update This document constitutes bothincludes 
revisions to the 2016 WDSP policies and concepts development standards to  
of the earlier November of 2016 Specific Plan. It seeks to better facilitate 
compact housing development, particularly in areas with high-quality transit 
and within walking distance of employment, services, and entertainment. 1983 
and 1999 specific plans that preceded it. In addition to expanding the 
boundaries of the Suisun City Downtown Waterfront PDA, it updates the 
1999 Amended Downtown Specific Plan to address current market 
conditions, the current regulatory environment, and recent City policy 
updates. 

1.2 Location 

The Suisun City of Suisun City (the City) is located in central Solano County, 
midway between the cities of Sacramento and San Francisco (Figure 1-1). The 
City City is bounded by the cCcCity of Fairfield to the north and west, Travis 
Air Force Base to the east, and Suisun Marsh to the south. The Suisun City is 
adjacent to and bisected by State SR 12Highway 12, a vital trucking route, and 
is approximately two miles east of Interstate 80. Suisun Slough, a major tidal 
waterway, connects Suisun City to Suisun Bay and provides access to water 
sports, recreation, boating, fishing, and bird watching. The adjoining Suisun 
Marsh is the largest brackish estuary west of the Mississippi River and borders 
the south and east sides of the Planning Specific Plan Area. The Planning 
Specific Plan Area straddles both sides of Highway 12SR 12 and is located 
southeast of the Union Pacific Railway tracks and west of the Suisun Channel 
and Marina Boulevard (Figure 1-2).  

 

92



1.2 Location 
 

November SeptemberOctober 20232016  Page 1-3 

Figure 1-1: Vicinity Regional Context Map 

 

93



Chapter 1 | Introduction 

Page 1-4 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

Figure 1-2: Specific Plan Area  

 
Source: Metropolitan Transportation Commission, AECOM, 2023October 2015

94



1.3 Specific Plan Vision 
 

November September October 20232016  Page 1-5 

1.3 Specific Plan Vision 

Theis updated Specific Plan implements the General Plan’s direction to: 

 Strategically develop vacant, underutilized, and infill land throughout 
the City and especially in the downtown. 

 Strategically develop the Priority Development Area to provide 
convenient, attractive housing, shopping, services, and employment in 
the downtown neighborhood. 

 Develop the downtown as the social and cultural heart of the 
community. 

 Promote a vibrant downtown that provides both daytime and 
nighttime activities to attract visitors. 

 Foster transit-oriented development around the train station, 
including higher density housing and mixed-use development. 

 Provide convenient linkages from the train station and other regional 
connectors to bring patrons to the downtown. 

 Provide transportation alternatives to the automobile, especially 
capitalizing on the location of the train station. 

 Ensure safe and efficient walking, biking, driving, and parking in the 
downtown.  

The Waterfront District is comprised of three principal parts or character 
areas (Figure 1-3Figure 1-3Figure 1-3), intended to function as their names 
imply, including the: 

 “Shopping, Entertainment, and Culture, and Transit-Supportive 
Housing” area, comprising the commercial, mixed-use, and civic 
portions of the Downtown Waterfront District on both sides of 
Highway 12SR 12 and the Suisun Channel; 

 “Historic Old Town” area, adjacent to the railroad tracks and 
comprising the older historic residential, commercial businesses, and 
main street retail core of the Downtown Waterfront District; and  

 “Neighborhoods,” residential neighborhood areas with access and 
frontage to the waterfront on the eastern and southern portions of 
the District. 

These character areas and the vision statements that follow in this section 
establish the overarching vision and plan concepts for the Downtown 
Waterfront District. The planned improvements, development standards, and 
design guidelines standards in this Specific Plan are intended to enhance the 
function of these character areas as the Planning Specific Plan Area develops. 

95



Chapter 1 | Introduction 

Page 1-6 Downtown Waterfront District Specific Plan  

Figure 1-3: Waterfront District Character Areas  

 
Source: Suisun City, AECOM, , March 20162023

96



1.3 Specific Plan Vision 
 

November SeptemberOctober 20232016 Page 1-7 

The WDSP is to be guided by the vision statements identified below in italicized 
text and followed by a description of the characteristics and key concepts for 
implementation of the WDSP. The vision and plan concepts are based in part 
on earlier iterations of the Specific Plan, but with updates to reflect new input 
from the community and City leaders, the current regulatory environment, and 
existing market conditions and market trends. 

1. Suisun City’s Historic Waterfront District is a unique waterfront 
community with a marina; an “Old Town,” composed of a 
traditional Downtown commercial main street and historic 
residential neighborhoods; a marina supporting boating and 
waterfront recreational activities; a civic center area; and uniquely 
designed residential neighborhoods, including Whispering Bay and 
Victorian Harbor east of the marina, and Delta Cove and “Historic 
Old Town” west of the marina. 

The WDSP Area draws on the area’s unique mix of characteristics–a 
recreational waterfront, a historic main street, well-preserved 
residential historic architecture, established neighborhoods, direct 
highway access, regional commuter rail service, a rich natural 
environment, and a location that is in attractive for development that 
complements the unique character of the areathe path of regional 
growth. 

2. Suisun City’s Historic Waterfront District is a pleasant place to live 
and, at the same time, a local and regional destination for dining, 
shopping, entertainment, hospitality, tourism, and recreation. 
Changes in the region around Suisun City have created the 
opportunity for Downtown to evolve and develop intois a place 
that attracts new residents, jobs, businesses, diners, shoppers, and 
visitors.  

Significantly increased residential and economic development and 
employment growth along the Interstate 80 and State Highway 12 
corridors in the region has have created a new market support for 
transit-supportive housing, dining, entertainment, specialty retail, and 
marine-related services. Employment growth in Fairfield, Vacaville, and 
Vallejo, along with high housing prices in Bay Area employment 
centers, have increased demand for housing in Solano County.  

Suisun City, which was once far awaydifficult to access from 
employment opportunitiescenters, is now within anin the acceptable 
commute distance, including commuting by rail, to the Bay Area and 
Sacramento. Intercity rail service along the Capitol Corridor enhances 
that position and will continue to increase demand for housing near the 
Suisun City-Fairfield  train depot.  

The City’s location on the San Francisco Bay Area Water Trail makes it 
a unique destination for visitors exploring the waterways of the San 
Francisco Bay by boat or sailcraft.  

A unique waterfront community with a 
marina.; 

A local and regional destination for 
shopping, entertainment, hospitality, 
tourism, and recreation.; 

Suisun City’sThe Historic Downtown 
Waterfront District is... 

97



Chapter 1 | Introduction 

Page 1-8 Downtown Waterfront District Specific Plan 

3. The entire City should market the Waterfront District needs to 
market itself as a destination on the San Francisco Bay Area 
Water Trail and continue to focus on maximizing waterfront 
access on the Suisun Channel–its major and central feature., 
Priority should also be given to and on improving visibility and 
public access to the train depot, another key asset for bringing 
guests in town to enjoy the amenities of Suisun City’s Waterfront 
District.  

The waterfront is an extraordinary amenity offering both an urban 
waterfront and an unusual in-town wetlands habitat. It The waterfront 
creates daily activity along its edge; enriches the experience of the area 
with its seasonal and tidal changes, wildlife, open space, and vistas; and, 
serves as a theme for community activities and events. There are few 
towns in California with such an extensive and multifaceted waterfront. 
The landscape of the Waterfront District landscape needs to celebrate 
and accentuate its relationship to the water’s edge by emphasizing 
public access and all views along both sides of the Channel and 
Whispering Bay. 

4. The waterfront should maintain its extraordinary mix of natural 
wetlands and urban edge.  

The Suisun Channel is the gateway to the large open waterways and 
wetlands of the California Delta and San Francisco Bay and a is a unique 
stop on the Bay Area Water Trail. The channel is unique in its mix of 
hard and soft edges, allowing for a unique rare blend of commercial and 
marine-related activities along one side of the Channel, and expansive 
wildlife habitats along the other side. Pedestrians walking along side the 
channel Channel are able to experience a variety of different 
environments within close proximity of each other. These relationships 
need to be emphasized and enhanced. Important to capitalizing on this 
strength is ensuring aAll areas of the waterfront need are provided 
easy inviting and attractive pedestrian access.  

5. The historic Suisun City train depot on the north end of Main 
Street should serve as a transit gateway into the Waterfront 
District.  

The historic train depot serves as a multimodal transportation hub for 
intercity rail service and local and regional bus service. The station is at 
the northern terminus of Main Street, within the Waterfront District 
and is in close proximity tonear the Central County Bikeway (regional 
Class I bike trail), connecting the downtowns of Suisun City and 
Fairfield. While there are directional signs to the train depot, the 
station facility is otherwise easy to miss and as it is located, within a 
modest structure tucked behind on-street parking, a landscaped plaza 
with tall trees, and Highway 12SR 12. Iconic signage, art, and 
streetscape/landscape enhancements should be added to emphasize the 

On theA Suisun Channel, a gateway to 
the open waterways and wetlands of the 
California Delta and San Francisco Bay 
and a unique stop on the Bay Area 
Water Trail.  

Suisun City’s Historic Downtown 
Waterfront District is... 

A transit gateway on the Amtrak rail 
corridor, providing intercity rail service 
to the cities of Fairfield and Suisun City.  

An amenity offering an urban waterfront 
on one side and in-town wetland habitat 
on the other. 

98



1.3 Specific Plan Vision 
 

November SeptemberOctober 20232016 Page 1-9 

importance of this key destination and historic facility within the 
community.  
 

6. The circulation system should be enhanced to support safer and 
more convenient access between homes and destinations in 
Suisun City and between the Waterfront District and Downtown 
Fairfield–emphasizing pedestrians, cyclists, transit users, and 
motorists.  

The existing street system has three dead-ends – Main Street, Civic 
Center Boulevard, and Marina Boulevard. Civic Center Boulevard and 
Marina Boulevard can be linked at their south ends to create a 
continuous circulation loop. Lotz Way will serve as a major west-east 
arterial that links Main Street, Civic Center Boulevard, and Marina 
Boulevard. Main Street can be linked to Civic Center Boulevard via 
Driftwood Drive, along a multi-use path connection and plaza. 

New and improved roadway, bicycle, and pedestrian connections 
between Downtown Fairfield and the Downtown Waterfront District, 
in addition to new transit-oriented housing development Downtown, 
will help to expand the market for existing and future Suisun City 
businesses, supporting further commercial development in the 
Waterfront District. 

7. The Waterfront District needs a cohesive open space system that 
enhances the pedestrian experience and supports community 
access.  

Extended out from the waterfront should be a system of paths, tree-
lined sidewalks, and promenades that clearly and visibly link to the 
visitor amenities (dining, lodging, and entertainment) in the Waterfront 
District and to the neighborhood parks and open spaces throughout 
the Planning Specific Plan Area. Streets should be designed to provide 
direct vistas and bike and pedestrian access to the Suisun Channel, 
Whispering Bay, and neighborhood parks, wherever possible. 

8. Gateways to the Waterfront District, including from Highway 
12SR 12, Railroad Avenue, from the marina, and the train depot 
should be enhanced to ensure a positive visual first visual 
impression.  

The grade separation of Highway 12SR 12 through the Planning Specific 
Plan Area, existing building development, and underutilized land 
adjacent to the highway serve as barriers to visual access of the 
Waterfront District and its beautiful marina, historic Main Street, and 
train depot. Iconic signage, landscaped gateways, vertical monuments, 
wall art, and visually compatible infill development along both sides of 
the highway and rail tracks should mark the entrances to the 
Waterfront District.  

Suisun City’s Historic Downtown 
Waterfront District has... 

Safe and convenient circulation and 
access by foot, bike, or transit; and 
connections to Downtown Fairfield.  

A landscaped gateway, vertical 
monuments, and new development 
marking the entrance into Downtown 
from Highway SR 12.  

A cohesive open space system of parks 
and open space, linked by paths, 
sidewalks, and promenades that extend 
out from the waterfront. 

99



Chapter 1 | Introduction 

Page 1-10 Downtown Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Similarly, vertical monuments, public art, and landscaping should be 
used to activate the entrances along the marina and boat launch areas. 
The property at the northwest corner of SR 12 Highway 12 and Marina 
Boulevard and the property at the southwest corner of Railroad 
Avenue and Marina Boulevard should incorporate the water tank north 
of the highway, vertical landscape elements, and vertical architectural 
design details to demark the northern gateway entry to the Specific 
Plan Planning Area at Marina Boulevard and Main Street, traveling 
westbound on Highway SR 12, and Railroad Avenue traveling 
southbound on Marina Boulevard. These features should be designed 
to market and draw visitors into the Waterfront District.  

9. Development adjacent to the historic residential area should be 
compatible in scale and architectural themes. 

The historic commercial and residential structures along Main Street 
and the Old Town residential area help to establish the unique 
character of the Waterfront District. To preserve this legacy, 
architectural compatibility of new development, gateways, and green 
space are key themes addressed in the Design Guidelines Standards of 
this Specific Plan.  

10. Where feasible and consistent with building codes, existing 
buildings should be re-purposed with more economically viable 
uses that contribute to the vibrancy of the Waterfront District. 

Many older structures in the Waterfront District have architectural 
elements that contribute to the historic character of the street or 
neighborhood. Those elements and structures should be preserved, to 
the extent feasible, and are encouraged to be repurposed or renovated 
to contribute to the unique identity of the Waterfront District and Old 
Town.  

Older commercial and residential 
structures along Main Street and 
adjacent neighborhoods that give the 
place its historic character. 

Suisun City’s Historic Downtown 
Waterfront District has... 

100



1.51.41.4 Specific Plan Goals 
 

November SeptemberOctober 20232016 Page 1-11 

1.4 Specific Plan Goals 

The following goals were initiated in the 1983 Specific Plan, included in the 
1991,  and 1999, and 2016 Plan Aamendments, and are being updated revised 
in this Specific Planupdate to the WDSP.  

1. Strengthen the economic viability of the historic Old Town, 
waterfront, adjacent areas, and the city as a whole. 

This is the primary goal of the Specific Plan. A variety of 
implementation techniques will be required to achieve this goal. 
Economic viability is achieved through the collective efforts of private 
sector investment, public planning, management, and ultimately by 
consumer demand. The waterfront is a unique resource and attraction 
in central Solano County and, along with the regional commuter 
service at the train depot, represents one of the best economic 
development assets in the City. The community must capitalize upon 
this critical opportunity by ensuring that development in the 
Waterfront District accommodates the highest possible level of 
residential, visitor, and commercial activity. 

2. Facilitate housing development Downtown. 

The City has a tremendous opportunity to expand housing 
opportunities for existing and future residents Downtown, while also 
creating many other co-benefits. Compact housingHousing can be 
more affordable by design, allowing households that might have been 
previously priced out to relocate to Suisun City. Transit-supportive 
housing and compact Hhousing that is close to jobs, services, parks, 
and other destinations can allow more residents to meet their daily 
needs  without the need for a car, freeing up disposable income that 
can make housing more affordable or that can be spent at local 
businesses.  

Establishing transit-supportive housing options in Suisun City, but in the 
Specific Plan Area in particular, would expand the range of housing 
options, making the City more competitive for attracting employers, 
many of whom are interested in a diverse and affordable local housing 
stock. Placing more housing Downtown means more customers for 
existing and future businesses. Finally, fFacilitating housing development 
in areas near transit and destinations will reduce the need for vehicular 
trips and associated transportation noise, air pollutant emissions, and 
greenhouse gas emissions, and improves public health by allowing more 
residents to build physical activity into their daily routines.  

2.3. Preserve and enhance the area’s historic character of the area. 

Preserving and enhancing the historic character of the Waterfront 
District is one of the central themes of the development policies of this 

101



Chapter 1 | Introduction 

Page 1-12 Downtown Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Specific Plan. Achieving this goal requires that the water-related early 
California heritage of Downtown and the residential areas west of Main 
Street be used to attract investments and consumers to the area. 

Visitors are naturally attracted to aAreas of historic significance have a 
natural attraction to people. Reviving the original design and/or 
character of older buildings and historic sites is an essential supplement 
to the waterfront for attracting consumers from the surrounding area. 
New development or renovations in Old Town should anticipate and 
support incremental changes in Downtown, while not losing sight of 
the features that contribute to its historic character and identity, as 
addressed in more detail in Chapter 6, “Design GuidelinesStandards” of 
this Specific Plan.  

3.4. Facilitate appropriate water-oriented and economic uses of the 
Suisun Channel and adjacent land areas. 

In addition to its historic character, Suisun City's other major natural 
asset is the Channel and the access it provides to San Francisco Bay 
and Delta waterways, especially as a designated destination on the San 
Francisco Bay Area Water Trail. Suisun City was founded because 
these waterways provided a means of transportation from agricultural 
production to consumer markets in San Francisco. The waterways 
continue as a significant recreational and commercial resource. In order 
toTo facilitate the use of this resourcethe Channel, marina and 
shoreline improvements, as well as and convenient public access, must 
be provided and maintained. Permanent dredge disposal sites must be 
maintained, andmaintained and managed to ensure the continued 
viability of the waterfront. 

4.5. Protect and enhance natural open space and recreational 
amenities of the Suisun Channel and adjoining areas. 

The Suisun Channel and adjoining marsh areas are environmentally 
sensitive. Development adjacent to these areas must recognize this 
sensitivity and be designed and located in a way that does not degrade 
this valuable resource, especially considering climate change. Preserving 
the environmental integrity of the Channel and marshes will not only 
enhance wildlife habitat, buthabitat and will also contribute to the area’s 
attractiveness of the area for both human habitation and economic 
useliving and working in. These unique resources must be preserved in 
consideration of the reality of a changed climate.  

5.6. Foster participation between the public and private sector in 
carrying out a program of revitalization for the Planning Specific 
Plan Area. 

Revitalization and economic development will not occur by the efforts 
of either the public or private sectors acting alone. The private sector 
relies on the coordination and assistance of government to ensure that 

102



1.51.41.4 Specific Plan Goals 
 

November SeptemberOctober 20232016 Page 1-13 

investment in individual projects makes economic sense in areas where 
development costs are too great to bear without such assistance. 
Otherwise, reinvestment will never take place. The public sector relies 
on private investment to provide the economic activity necessary to 
carry out its needed overall plan of improvements. Public and private 
entities can collaborate on a revitalized, vibrant, and, healthy 
environment for the Specific Plan Area.

103



Chapter 1 | Introduction 

Page 1-14 Downtown Waterfront District Specific Plan 

1.5 . Specific Plan Organization 

This WDSP is organized into seven chapters and two appendices, as 
summarized below. 

 Chapter 1, “Introduction” 

 Chapter 2, “Existing Uses + Policies” 

 Chapter 3, “Land Use Regulations” 

 Chapter 4, “Traffic + Circulation” 

 Chapter 5, “Open Space + Public FacilitiesCivic and ServicesCivic and 
Services ” 

 Chapter 6, “Development Standards + Design GuidelinesStandards” 

 Chapter 7,  “Specific Plan Administration” 

 Appendix A, “Architectural Review, Demolition + Renewal 
Procedures in the Historic Residential and Historic Limited 
Commercial Zones Architectural Review, Demolition + Renewal 
Procedures” 

 Appendix B, “Previous Downtown Suisun City Development Plan 
Figures” 

 Appendix CB, “Waterfront District Specific Plan Financing Plan” 

 Appendix D, “Comments on the Draft Specific Plan” 

In addition to the above described materials, the City also had prepared a 
Priority Development Area (PDA) profile and market analysis, a parking 
study, and affordable housing evaluation. These documents informed the 
WDSP and are available for review under separate cover through the 
Development Services Department.   

104



1.5 Specific Plan Organization 
 

November SeptemberOctober 20232016 Page 1-15 

 

 

105



 
Waterfront District Specific Plan  
 

SeptembeOctober 2023November 2016 Page -2-1 

CHAPTER 2| EXISTING USES + 
REGULATING PLANS 

2.1 Existing Uses 

The City of Suisun City is bisected by State Highway 12 (SR 12). North of 
SR 12 are It consists primarily of residential areas and neighborhood-
oriented serving uses. The services north of the highway, and the more 
historic “Old Town,” and mixed-use waterfront, and  mixed-use areas and 
marsh landmarshland in the southern and western portions of the 
Citytoare the south and west of the highway. The Waterfront District 
Specific Plan (WDSP) Area (Planning Specific Plan Area) is centered on the 
City’s Historic Downtown Waterfront and Old Town areas, located at the 
head of the Suisun Channel (Figure 2-1). The Planning Specific Plan Area is a 
mixed-use community, comprised of a mix of retail and services along Main 
Street; , the City’s civic center; , marina and water-oriented recreation 
along the Suisun Channel; , industrial uses and the Suisun-Fairfield Train 
Depot along the Union Pacific railroad tracks; , a historic residential core 
west of Main Street, and newer traditionally designed residential 
neighborhoods along the waterfront and east of the channel. The Suisun 
Slough and marsh area borders the Specific Plan Area Planning Area to the 
south and provides access to the natural and scenic resources and 
recreational activities along the waterways of the Delta and San Francisco 
Bay. The Specific Plan Area Planning Area also includes a neighborhood 
shopping center, a mobile home park, and the vacant, commercially zoned  
properties north of Highway SR 12.  

SR 12 providess a highway providing access into the Specific Plan Area 
Planning Area from an off-ramp at Civic Center Boulevard from eastbound 
SR 12; , an off-ramp at Main Street from westbound SR 12; , and an at-
grade intersection at Marina Boulevard. The main access point into the 
Specific Plan Area Planning Area from the southwest is from Cordelia 
Road, which becomes Cordelia Street as it enters the cCity. The Suisun-
Fairfield Train Depot, recreational waterfront, and regional bike trails 
provide access to the Waterfront District from the City city of Fairfield, 
the eastern and northern parts of Suisun City, and the broader region.  

106



Chapter 2 | Existing Uses + Regulating Plans 

Page 2-2 Downtown Suisun Waterfront Specific Plan 

2.1.1 Planning Districts 

Eight planning districts are identified for the Specific Plan Area Planning 
Area (Figure 2-1). Figure 2-2 shows a general depiction of existing uses in 
the Specific Plan AreaPlanning Area. 

107



 
2.1 Existing Uses 

September October 2023 Page 2-3 

Figure 2-1: Planning Districts 

 
Source: AECOM 2023

108



Chapter 2 | Existing Uses + Regulating Plans 

Downtown Suisun Waterfront Specific Plan 

Figure 2-2: Existing Land Uses  

 
Source: AECOM 202315

109



 
2.1 Existing Uses 

November July SeptemberOctober 20232016 Page 2-5 

District 1, Western Marina Boulevard and Highway SR 12 

District 1 encompasses several large, vacantvacant, or underutilized 
parcels along both sides of SR 12, zoned for commercial development. 
North of SR 12 is a vacant 30-acre property, bound by the railroad tracks 
on the west and Marina Boulevard on the east. Uses south of SR 12 and, 
north of Lotz Way include a small shopping center and a vacant 
commercial parcel between the shopping center and Marina Boulevard. 
Future development of District 1 should anticipate working cooperatively 
and collaboratively with the County of Solano and the City of Fairfield to 
explore opportunities to enhance regional flood controls and storm 
waterstormwater improvements. 

District 2, Suisun-Fairfield Train Depot 

District 2, the “Suisun-Fairfield Train Depot” district, is anchored by the 
historic Southern Pacific Company railway depot, located at the 
northernmost point of Main Street, where the SR 12 overpass crosses 
the Southern Pacific Rrailway. Across the street and east of Main Street is 
a Caltrans ownedCaltrans-owned, park-and-ride facility for the depot on 
Lotz Way. District 2 also includes an undeveloped parcel north of SR 12,  
along Main Street (commonly referred to as “Denverton Curve”); and the 
industrial properties along Benton Court, west of Main Street that are 
currently in low-scale light industrial use, as shown in Figure 2-2.. 

 
Districts 1 and 2, Existing Site Context 

Vacant 30-acre 
commercial property 

SR-12 

Fairfield-Suisun 
Train Depot 

Denverton 
Curve 

Park-and- 
ride facility 

Benton Court 

110



Chapter 2 | Existing Uses + Regulating Plans 

Page 2-6 Downtown Suisun Waterfront District Specific Plan 

District 3, Downtown Commercial Core 

District 3, the “Downtown Commercial Core”  consists of the properties 
immediately surrounding the Suisun Channel, including the marina area; , 
Main Street and Harbor Plaza to the west; , One Harbor Center to the 
north; , and the Civic Center area to the east. Main Street, from SR 12 
south to Morgan Street, serves as the spine and focal point for the 
Downtown Commercial Core. Paralleling the Suisun Channel, Main Street 
provides a reflection back to the historic past when Suisun City was a 
major shipping port. Along this street are one- and two-story commercial 
buildings, many of which have both historic and architectural value.  

At the north end of the Suisun Channel is the site of the former Sheldon 
Oil facilities, which has been redeveloped with an informal open space 
green and plaza areas, referred to as Sheldon Plaza. Between Main and 
Kellogg Streets and the Suisun Channel, is a mix of commercial and light 
industrial uses, some related to the marina uses along the waterfront.  

 
District 3 Existing Site Context 

111



 
2.1 Existing Uses 

November July SeptemberOctober 20232016 Page 2-7 

District 4, Historic Suisun City 

District 4, “Historic Suisun City,” is west of the Main Street commercial 
area and, consists of the Old Town historic residential neighborhoods and 
a vacant property previously occupied by the old Crystal Elementary 
School.  

 
District 4 Existing Site Context 

 
District 5, Harbor Village/Victorian Harbor Neighborhood 

District 5, the “Harbor Village/Victorian Harbor Neighborhood”  is 
situated between Lotz Way, the Suisun Slough, Marina Boulevard, and 
Civic Center Boulevard. This neighborhood consists of single-family 
residences and multi-family apartment buildings, anchored by the Crystal 
Middle School. East of Marina Boulevard, north of Driftwood Drive is a 
vacant property adjoining Suisun Slough.  

 
District 5 Existing Site Context

Old Crystal School Site 

112



Chapter 2 | Existing Uses + Regulating Plans 

Page 2-8 Downtown Suisun Waterfront District Specific Plan 

District 6, Cordelia Gateway Neighborhood 

District 6, the “Cordelia Gateway Neighborhood,” is south of the Main 
Street commercial area and, consists of multi-family apartment buildings; , 
a vacant parcel along the railroad tracks; , and large single-family lots 
bordering the marsh land south of the district.  

District 7, South Waterfront District 

District 7 , the “South Waterfront District,”is at the southern edge of the 
Suisun Channel. , aAt the corner of Walnut Street and Cordelia 
Street,Kellogg Street is the location of the municipal boat launching facility 
and parking area.  

  
Districts 6 and 7, Existing Site Context

Cordelia Gateway 
Neighborhood 

Southern 
Waterfront 

Cordelia Walnut 
StreetGateway 

C
ordelia K

ellogg 

113



 
2.1 Existing Uses 

November July SeptemberOctober 20232016 Page 2-9 

District 8, Civic Center / Whispering Bay Waterfront 

District 8, the “Civic Center / Whispering Bay Waterfront,”  includes the 
civic center area, anchored by City Hall, and the Whispering Bay 
waterfront, which wraps the southeastern edge of the Planning Specific 
Plan Area. This district is bordered by Marina Boulevard / Marina Circle 
and Civic Center Boulevard on to the north. West of Civic Center 
Boulevard are the City’s administrative offices, the Solano Yacht club, and 
open space and wetland areas.  

This district also includes the former Whispering Bay marina, which was 
developed in the 1960s as a private marina, with docking facilities. Over 
the years, the docks and slips have deteriorated and have beenwere 
removed. Siltation, and lack of maintenance, and dredging haves limited 
the site to its current use as a surface parking and storage facility. made 
the facility nonfunctional; thus, The limited utility of the site currently, 
along with its location within a mile of transit, makemakesing the area 
along Whispering Bay a key redevelopment and infill opportunity site. 

Several undeveloped properties are located on the southern end of the 
Suisun Channel, near the terminus of Harbor Park Drive and Whispering 
Bay Lane. Development of these vacant properties and redevelopment of 
the former marina brings has the potential to provide a circulation 
connection that joins Marina Boulevard to Civic Center Boulevard.  

Across Suisun Slough from the Whispering Bay Neighborhood is Pierce 
Island, an undeveloped area currently designated as a dredge material 
disposal site and permanent open space. The island was formerly used for 
a series of oxidation ponds for sewage treatment. 

 
District 8 Existing Site Context 

Whispering Bay 

City Hall / Civic 
Center area 

114



Chapter 2 | Existing Uses + Regulating Plans 

Page 2-10 Downtown Suisun Waterfront District Specific Plan 

2.2 Regulating Plans 

2.2.1 Suisun City General Plan and Zoning Code 

Development in Suisun City must comply with the Suisun City General 
Plan and Zoning Code. The General Plan specifies establishes goals and 
policies that are designed to guide development and conservation in 
throughout the City’s Planning Area. The  Specific Plan is required by 
State law to be consistent with the General Plan. The land use designation 
in the General Plan for the Area is “Downtown Waterfront Specific 
Plan.” (Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan was the former name of the 
Specific Plan). The WDSP allows development consistent with the land 
use plan provided in Chapter 3. 

The General Plan contains policies and goals relevant to the WDSP Area. 
Several elements of the General Plan have policies that form a framework 
for the Planning Specific Plan Area.  

General Plan guiding principles that have the greatest general bearing on 
development in the Specific Plan Planning Area and with which the WDSP 
must be consistent include the following: 

Community Character 

1. Suisun City will strive to enhance the City’s authentic, local 
identity as a vibrant waterfront community.  

 Focus higher-density development and mixed-use projects in 
areas adjacent to the train/intermodal depot. 

Destination Tourism and Entertainment 

2. Suisun City will encourage the development of uses and 
protection of resources that attract visitors, enhancing the 
community as a tourism destination.  

 Promote a vibrant downtown that provides both daytime and 
nighttime activities to attract visitors. 

 Provide a variety of high-quality passive and active recreation 
and leisure activities. 

 Promote arts and culture in the community, including theaters, 
galleries, museums, music venues, and other activities. 

  

115



 
2.2 Regulating Plans  

November July SeptemberOctober 20232016 Page 2-11 

Downtown 

3. Suisun City will continue to develop the Downtown as a 
vibrant, pedestrian-scaled commercial and entertainment 
center that reflects our community’s unique waterfront 
character. 

 Develop the Downtown as the social and cultural heart of the 
community. 

 Strategically develop the Priority Development Area to provide 
convenient, attractive housing, shopping, services, and 
employment in the downtown neighborhood. 

 Provide convenient linkages from the train depot and other 
regional connectors to bring patrons to the Downtown. 

 Ensure safe and efficient walking, biking, driving, and parking in 
the Downtown. 

 Foster transit-oriented development around the 
train/intermodal depot.  

Neighborhood Vitality 

4. Suisun City will ensure that neighborhoods maintain their 
character and vitality. 

 Maintain complete, well-designed, and walkable neighborhoods, 
with places to gather, nearby services, and multimodal access 
to jobs, recreation, and other community and regional services. 

 Create policies and programs to maintain the character and 
vitality of neighborhoods. 

Quality of Community Life 

5. Suisun City will foster an inclusive, multigenerational 
community that is economically and ethnically diverse. 

 Encourage our community to live, work, and play locally, while 
supporting social and cultural activities, facilitiesfacilities, and 
programs. 

 Provide a full -spectrum of activities and services to meet the 
needs of the entire community, including youth and seniors. 

Sustainability 

6. Suisun City will practice economically, fiscally, and 
environmentally responsible municipal decision-making to 
avoid shifting today’s cost to future generations. 

116



Chapter 2 | Existing Uses + Regulating Plans 

Page 2-12 Downtown Suisun Waterfront District Specific Plan 

 Use sustainable development and land use practices that 
provide for today’s residents and businesses while preserving 
choices for the community in the future. 

 Encourage a healthy living environment. 

 Preserve and enhance natural resources and minimize negative 
environmental impacts. 

Transportation 

7. Suisun City will provide choices for attractive, convenient 
transportation. 

 Design for active pedestrian and bicycle-friendly paths and 
streets, as well as public spaces. 

 Provide transportation alternatives to the automobile, 
especially capitalizing on the location of the train depot. 

2.2.2 San Francisco Bay Plan 

The San Francisco Bay Conservation and Development Commission 
(BCDC) is a state agency created to protect the bay as a natural 
resource, to guide development, and enhance public access.  

BCDC has adopted the San Francisco Bay Plan, which includes land use 
policies that apply to portions of the Planning Specific Plan Area and areas 
adjacent to the Planning Specific Plan Area. The Bay Plan, which was 
initially adopted by the BCDC in 1968, signed into law by the California 
Legislature in1969, and last updated in 2012, and amended in October 
2019, encompasses the San Francisco, San Pablo, and Suisun Bays and the 
portions of the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta as far east as Collinsville. 

The objectives of the San Francisco Bay Plan’s objectives are to protect the 
bay as a great natural resource for the benefit of present and future 
generations and to develop the bay and its shoreline to their highest 
potential with the minimum of Bay filling. According to the Bay Plan, filling 
may only be permitted for water-related purposes that provide 
substantial public benefits, ports, water-related industrial uses, airports, 
freeways, bridges, recreational opportunities, wildlife refuges, and public 
shoreline access.  

The Bay Plan also recognizes the value of fish and wildlife resources. 
Policies have been established to protect and maintain remaining marshes 
and mudflats, the remaining water volume and surface area of the Bay 
Region, and adequate fresh waterfreshwater inflow into the bay. The 
BCDC has regulatory authority over all uses and development within 100 
feet landward of, and parallel to the shoreline of the San Francisco Bay.  

  

117



 
2.2 Regulating Plans  

November July SeptemberOctober 20232016 Page 2-13 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 

118



Waterfront District Specific Plan   

November 2016SeptembeOctober 2023  Page 3-1 

 

CHAPTER 3 | LAND USE REGULATIONS 
This chapter identifies the planning district land use and site concepts and 
permitted and conditionally permitted uses within each of the residential, 
commercial, mixed-use, and public facilitiescivic/open space land use 
zones in the Waterfront District Specific Plan (WDSP) Area (Specific Plan 
Planning Area).  

Uses that are not listed, butlisted but are consistent with the character,  
and density, and intensity of the land use zone, may be permitted through 
the Administrative Review process. This Chapter should be referenced in 
conjunction with Chapter 6, which describes the development standards 
and design guidelines standards governing development in the Specific 
Plan Planning Area, and Chapter 7, which describes the methods for the 
administering the Specific Plan, including the process for administrative 
review, conditional use, and temporary use permits. 

3.1 Proposed  

3.23.1 Land Use Zones 

Figure 3-1, “Land Use Map,” identifies the proposed land use zones 
governing development within the Specific Plan Planning Area. These land 
use zones govern the use of property and shall replace and supersede all 
previous zoning designations for the Specific Plan Planning Area. Refer to 
Section 3.3 for a description of the proposed changes to existing uses 
within the Plan Area. 

The City’s Development Services Department, Planning Division is 
responsible for General Plan administration and interpretation of all such 
policies and regulations of the City’s General Plan and other adopted 
planning documents, including this Specific Plan and the City’s Zoning Code. 
Refer toSee Section 7.4 for further clarificationdetails onf Specific Plan 
provisionsadministration in the Specific Plan.  

3.2.13.1.1 Residential Zones 

Four residential land use zones are established: 

119



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-2  Waterfront District Specific Plan 

 RLD – Residential Low Density 

 RMD – Residential Medium Density 

 RHD – Residential High Density 

 HR – Historic Residential 

120



SeptemberOctober 2023September 2016  Page 3-3 

Figure 3-1: Land Use Map 

 
Source: AECOM 202315 

121



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-4 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

The Specific Specific Plan’s RLD, RMD, and RHD zones implement the 
General Plan's policies governing low-, medium-, and high-density 
residential development, with densities that are consistent with existing 
development and the Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan land use 
designation (the previous name of the Specific Plan).  

The HR zone is intended to implements the General Plan’s policies for the 
preservation of the historic character of the Old Town’s residential 
neighborhood historic character.  

Existing development that was legal when established, butestablished but 
may does not conform to some of the standards in Table 3-1 -through 
Table 3-4 that follow or other regulations of this Specific Plan regulations 
shall continue to be permitted to exist in their current state, but shall be 
subject to the standards for nonconforming uses, addressed in Section 7.5 
of this Specific Plan. Refer to Section 7.6.2 outlines  for the process for the 
use permits process, including conditions of approval and findings required 
to grant use permits, that are applicable to nonconforming uses. 

A. Residential Low Density (RLD) Zone 

This zone provides for single-family and other lower-density residential 
development at types be tween eight (8) andup to twelve (12) dwelling 
units per net acre.

Table 3-1: Residential Low Density Zone Allowed Uses  

Permitted Uses Administrative Review and Conditionally 
Permitted Uses 

 Single-family dwelling 
 Duplex, triplex 
 Townhomes 
 Secondary Accessory dwelling units or 

guest houses 
 Small family day care homes  

(care for 6 or fewer persons) 
 Small residential care homes  

(care for 6 or fewer persons) 
 Park, playground 

Administrative Review: 
 Home occupations/Live-work (subject to standards in 

WDSP Section 3.12.4 of this Specific Plan) 
 Large family day care homes  

(care for 7 or more persons)  
 Large residential care homes  

(care for 7 or more persons) 
Conditionally Permitted: 
 Public/quasi-public use (e.g., community center, school, 

fire station, library, church) 
 Mobile home park 

 Any other uses that are similar in nature, function, and operations to the permitted, administrative 
review clearance, and conditionally permitted uses listed above shall be subject to the same level of 
review and approval.  

 Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Planning AreaSpecific Plan Area, 
unless otherwise noted in Section 3.1.4. 

Notes: 

122



3.13.1 Proposed Land Use ZonesLand Use Zones 

November September October 2023 

 Special use regulations in the City’s 
Zoning Code shall apply to the Planning 
Area, unless otherwise noted in Section 
3.1.4. 

 

  

123



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-6  Waterfront District Specific Plan 

B. Residential Medium Density (RMD) Zone 

This zone provides for a wide variety of residential development of 
between 12.1-24.94 dwelling units per net acre, including detached and 
attached single-family and multi-family dwellings.  

This zone is also intended to allow and encourage some commercial uses 
along the waterfront, particularly on residential lots with waterfront 
access. Limited commercial uses on these lots allow for design or 
conversion of ground floor space for this purpose. A Conditional Use 
Permit, as addressed in Chapter 7, is required to ensure compatibility of 
commercial development with the surrounding residential neighborhoods. 

The allowed uses in the RMD Zone are intended to be consistent with 
the Promenade at Delta Cove project. In the case of any conflict between 
allowable uses in the RMD Zone and the Promenade at Delta Cove 
project, as addressed in Resolution 2003-57, the Promenade at Delta 
Cove Design Guidelines shall prevail. 

Table 3-2: Residential Medium Density Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses Administrative Review and Conditionally 
Permitted Uses 

 Single-family dwelling 
 Duplex, triplex 
 Multi-family dwellings (i.e., apartments, 

condominiums) 
 Secondary Accessory dwelling units or guest 

houses 
 Home occupations/Live-work (subject to 

standards in Section 3.12.4 of this Specific 
Plan) 

 Small family day care homes (caring for 6 or 
fewer persons) 

 Small state licensed residential care homes  
(caring for 6 or fewer persons) 

 Park, playground 

Administrative Review: 
 Bed and breakfast inn 
 Large family day care homes  

(caring for 7 or more persons) 
 Large state licensed residential care homes (caring for 

7 or more persons) 
 Public/quasi-public use (e.g., community center, 

school, fire station, library, church) 
Conditionally Permitted: 
 Commercial uses (e.g., café, coffee shop, restaurant), 

limited to 40% of the net building area of 
development on the ground floor 

 Mobile home park 
  Multi-family dwellings (i.e., apartments, 

condominiums) 

 Any other uses that are similar in nature, function, and operations to the permitted, administrative 
review clearance, and conditionally permitted uses listed above shall be subject to the same level of 
review and approval. 

 Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Planning AreaSpecific Plan Area, 
unless otherwise noted in Section 3.1.4. 

Notes: 

 Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning 
Code shall apply to the Planning Area, 
unless otherwise noted in Section 3.1.4. 

124



3.1 Land Use Zones 
3.1 Proposed Land Use Zones 

November September October 2023 Page 3-7 

 
  

125



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-8 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

C. Residential High Density (RHD) Zone 

This zone provides for a wide variety of multi-family residential 
development types between 254.1-54 dwelling units per net acre. This 
zone is also intended to support high-density infill development in 
appropriate locations throughout the Planning AreaSpecific Plan Area, 
particularly near the Suisun-Fairfield Train Depot.  

This zone also allows and encourages some commercial uses to allow for 
design or conversion of ground floor space for this purpose. A 
Conditional Use Permit, as addressed in Chapter 7, is required to ensure 
compatibility of commercial development with surrounding areas. 

Table 3-3: Residential High Density Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses Administrative Review and Conditionally 
Permitted Uses 

 Single-family attached dwellings 
 Duplex, triplex 
 Multi-family dwellings  

(i.e., apartments, condominiums) 
 Live-work units 
 Rooming and boarding houses 
 SecondaryAccessory dwelling units or guest 

houses 
 Small family day care homes  

(caring for 6 or fewer persons) 
 Small state licensed residential care homes  

(caring for 6 or fewer persons) 
 Park, playground 

Administrative Review: 
 Bed and breakfast inn 
 Home occupations/Live-work (subject to standards 

in Section 3.12.4 of this Specific Plan) 
 Large family day care homes  

(caring for 7 or more persons) 
 Large state licensed residential care homes (caring 

for 7 or more persons) 
 Public/quasi-public use (e.g., community center, 

school, fire station, library, church) 
Conditionally Permitted: 
 Limited commercial uses (e.g., café, coffee shop, 

restaurant), limited to 40% of the net building area of 
development on the ground floor 

 Mobile home park 

 Any other uses that are similar in nature, function, and operations to the permitted, administrative 
review clearance, and conditionally permitted uses listed above shall be subject to the same level of 
review and approval. 

 Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Planning AreaSpecific Plan Area, 
unless otherwise noted in Section 3.1.4. 

Notes: 
  Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning 

Code shall apply to the Planning Area, unless 
otherwise noted in Section 3.1.4. 

 

 
  

126



3.1 Land Use Zones 
3.1 Proposed Land Use Zones 

SeptembeOctober 2023November 2016  Page 3-9 

D. Historic Residential (HR) Zone 

This zone, along with Main Street and the waterfront, comprise the first 
area of settlement, which contributed significantly to the culture and 
development of the City. The HR zone contains a number ofseveral 
historic structures, which are a highly valued part of the City's heritage. 
The Solano County Landmarks Commission has, through the publication: 
“Our Lasting Heritage,” documented the historical and architectural value 
of a number of properties in the HR area. Some of these are good 
examples of earlier architectural styles and exemplify elements of 
outstanding attention to design, detail, materials, and/or craftsmanship.  

The Cultural Resources chapter within Volume II, Technical Background 
Reports of the General Plan Update (adopted in May 2015) lists known 
cultural resources and contributing resources to the Suisun City Historic 
District, an area bounded by Sacramento Street to the north, West 
Street to the west, Cordelia Street to the South, and Kellogg and Main 
Streets to the east. This district is compriseds of 95 contributing buildings, 
including residences, commercial, and social/religious buildings that have 
historically been associated with the Downtown Core of the City and 
retain their integrity.  

The specific purpose and intent of the HR zone, as summarized by the 
following objectives, is to ensure that this area continues as a viable 
residential neighborhood and ensure the City’s cultural heritage, as 
reflected in its historic structures, sites, and features, is not destroyed. 

 Preserve and protect historic structures. 

 Preserve and maintain the Historic Residential area embodied in 
the HR zone as a cohesive neighborhood unit. 

 Enhance property values. 

 Ensure that the community's cultural heritage, as reflected in the 
built environment, is not lost. 

 Encourage redevelopment of vacant and incompatible structures 
to develop in accordance with the historic character of the zone. 

 Provide for rehabilitation, additions, and modifications to existing 
structures in a manner that is sensitive to the historic qualities of 
these structures. 

The HR zone applies to the existing Old Town residential neighborhood 
and is intended to accommodate a mix of single-family homes, duplexes, 
multi-family dwellings, and compatible non-residential uses that maintain 
the historic character of the area. This zone permits residential 
development of between six (6) to eighteen (18) dwelling units per net 
acre.  

No mobile home, as defined by the City Zoning Code, or camping unit, 
designed to be carried or towed by a motor vehicle, tent, mobile living 
unit, boat, trailer, or freight van shall be stored in any front or side yard 

127



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-10  Waterfront District Specific Plan   

adjacent to a public street within the HR zone longer than seven (7) 
consecutive days without obtaining a Temporary Use Permit, as 
addressed in Chapter 7. Storage beyond the time allotted for a temporary 
use is prohibited. Manufactured homes must comply with the standards 
for manufactured homes in Chapter 18.50 54 of the City Zoning Code 
and with the design guidelines standards applicable to the HR zone, 
addressed in Chapter 6 of this Specific Plan.  

Refer to Chapter 6 for development standards and Appendix A for 
special architectural review, demolition, and renewal procedures that 
apply to the HR zone.

Table 3-4: Historic Residential Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses Administrative Review and Conditionally 
Permitted Uses 

 Single-family dwellings 
 Duplex, triplex 
 Secondary Accessory dwelling units or guest 

houses 
 Small family day care homes  

(caring for 6 or fewer persons) 
 Small state licensed residential care homes  

(caring for 6 or fewer persons) 
 Park, playground 

Administrative Review: 
 Bed and breakfast inn 
 Home occupations/Live-work (subject to standards 

in Section 3.12.4 of this Specific Plan) 
 Large family day care homes  

(caring for 7 or more persons) 
 Large state licensed residential care homes  

(caring for 7 or more persons) 
 Public/quasi-public use (e.g., community center, 

school, fire station, library, church) 
 Lodges, fraternal organizations 
Conditionally Permitted: 
 Limited commercial uses (e.g., café, coffee shop, 

restaurant), limited to 40% of the net building area of 
development on the ground floor 

 Mobile home park 
 Multi-family dwellings  

(i.e., apartments, condominiums) 

 Any other neighborhood-oriented uses that are similar in nature, function, and operations to the 
permitted, administrative review clearance, and conditionally permitted uses listed above shall be subject 
to the same level of review and approval. 

 Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Planning AreaSpecific Plan Area, 
unless otherwise noted in Section 3.1.4. 

Notes: 
  Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning 

Code shall apply to the Planning Area, unless 
otherwise noted in Section 3.1.4. 

128



3.1 Land Use Zones 
3.1 Proposed Land Use Zones 

September 2023November 2016  Page 3-11 

3.2.23.1.2 Commercial Zones 

Six commercial land use zones are established: 

 MSMU – Main Street Mixed Use 

 C/O/RDMU – Commercial/Office/ResidentialDowntown Mixed 
Use 

 HLC – Historic Limited Commercial 

 DMU – Downtown Mixed Use 

 DC – Downtown Commercial 

 WC – Waterfront Commercial 

A. Main Street Mixed Use (MSMU) Zone 

This zone is primarily devoted to preserving and enhancing the mix of 
retail, entertainment, and destination uses in the Downtown Core.  This 
Specific Plan is intended to encourage the historic mix of uses, which 
typically consisted of a retail or personal service business in the ground 
floor storefront facing Main Street, with small commercial, professional 
offices or residential uses on the upper floor(s) and behind the Main 
Street frontage use.  

Main Street retailers have traditionally sold a combination of convenience 
items and services for everyday needs (e.g., butcher, baker, shoe shop) 
and specialty items, such as clothing, jewelry, gifts and antiques. 
Restaurants, cafes, and similar eating and entertainment establishments 
were also commonplace. Large bulk retail businesses, such as furniture 
sales, automotive, or wholesale uses were generally found only on the 
fringes of the Downtown, if at all.  

Permitted and conditionally permitted uses within this zone are identified 
in Table 3-5. 

Businesses and buildings on Main Street are encouraged to face or orient 
toward Main Street. Buildings on adjacent streets within the Downtown 
Core should orient to Harbor Plaza and/or the marina. 

  

129



gulations 

Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Table 3-5: Main Street Mixed Use Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses 1 Administrative Review and Conditionally 
Permitted Uses 

 Art, modeling, music, and/or dance studio 
 Artist studios; art supply stores  
 Bed and breakfast innLodging services 
 Business services 
 Commercial services 
 Communication services 
 Community social services 
 Eating and drinking places 
 Educational services 
 Finance, insurance, and real estate offices  
  General merchandise and hardware store 
 Movie theater  
  Optical shop or optometrist 
 Personal services 
 Professional or medical offices5 
 Specialty retail shops3317 

Administrative Review: 
 Food and grocery stores 
 Medical health care facility 
 Public/quasi-public use (e.g., community center, 

school, fire station, library, church) 
Conditionally Permitted: 
 Commercial amusement or entertainment 
 Drive-through facilities (only north of Driftwood 

Drive) 
 Entertainment (i.e., nightclub and bar/lounge) 
 Furniture stores 
 Reupholstery and furniture repair; antique 

refinishing 
 Residential dwellings226 
 Convenience market (with or without alcohol) 
 Shops selling age-restricted goods or providing 

age-restricted services 

 Any other retail, service, or public/quasi-public uses that are similar in nature, function, and operations 
to the permitted, administrative review clearance, and conditionally permitted uses listed above shall be 
subject to the same level of review and approval. 

Notes: 

1. Permits the same type of residential dwellings as the RHD zone. 

1. Specialty retail shops are defined as small retail stores with distinctive, one-of-a-kind merchandise, often 
supplied locally, not including sale of age-restricted goods or providing age-restricted services.retail 
shops are fer to small retail stores that offer distinctive merchandise, typically sourced locally or 
regionally, and intended to cater more towards destination-type shopping and foot trafficto visitors, 
rather than primarily serving the local population. Specialty retail shops do not include the sale of age-
restricted goods or the provision of age-restricted services. 

2. Permits the same type of residential dwellings as the RHD zone. 

Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Planning AreaSpecific Plan Area, unless 
otherwise noted in Section 3.1.4. 

 
  

130



3.1 Land Use Zones 
3.1 Proposed Land Use Zones 

SeptemberOctober 2023November 2016  Page 3-13 

B. Commercial/Office/Residential (C/O/R) Zone 

C. The C/O/R zone is envisioned to be developed with a 
mix of uses, including business/professional offices, 
retail commercial, dining, and entertainment uses. 
Offices and a hotel have already been established in 
this zone. Residential uses are also permitted to be 
developed as a “stand alone” development or as an 
integrated part of a commercial/office development 
(e.g., on upper floors over ground floor commercial 
uses). Because of the unique character of the site and 
its strategic location, any proposed uses and 
development for all or any portion of the site must be 
approved through the Planned Unit Development 
process, as described in Chapter 7 of this Specific 
Plan.  

D. Generally, permitted and conditional uses allowed in 
this zone are the same as those specified in the MSMU 
zone, described above, and in addition, stand-alone 
residential projects may comply with the allowed uses 
specified for the RMD zone. Specific uses, location, 
layout and character of development shall be 
established by approval of a Planned Unit Development 
permit by the Planning Commission and City Council. 
Notwithstanding the flexibility provided by the PUD 
process, development standards should generally 
conform to those provided by the MSMU zone.  

E.B. Historic Limited Commercial (HC) Zone 

This zone applies to the area south of Harbor Plaza facing Main Street and 
east to Kellogg Street. This area is currently predominantly residential but 
is expected to gradually convert to commercial and/or office uses, which 
are compatible with residential uses.  Because most of the structures are 
historic and still occupied by residential uses, any commercial conversions 
of these structures should preserve the significant historical characteristics 
of the buildings and avoid adverse impacts to the nearby residences. 
Therefore, office and commercial uses should be low intensity in nature 
and occur as conversions, rather than replacement of structures. 

Generally, residential and public uses are permitted and commercial/office 
uses are listed as Conditional conditional uUses. Commercial uses for 
which a valid City business license has been issued, which are existing at 
the time of adoption of this document are considered to be conforming 
uses and do not require a Conditional Use Permit to continue. Allowed 
uses permitted within the HC zone are indicated in Table 3-6. 

 

 

131



e Regulations 

Waterfront District Specific Plan   

Table 3-6: Historic LIMITED Commercial Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses Administrative Review and Conditionally Permitted 
Uses 

 Single-family dwellings 
 Duplex, triplex 
 Multiple-family dwellings  

(i.e., apartments, condominiums)1 
 Nursing home, rest home, convalescent 

home 
 Secondary Accessory dwelling units or 

guest houses 
 Small family day care homes  

(caring for 6 or fewer persons) 
 Small state licensed residential care 

homes  
(caring for 6 or fewer persons) 

 Park, playground 
 Specialty retail shops2 

Administrative Review: 
 Bed and breakfast inn 
 Home occupations/Live-work (subject to standards in Section 

3.12.4 of this Specific Plan) 
 Large family day care homes  

(caring for 7 or more persons) 
 Large state licensed residential care homes  

(caring for 7 or more persons) 
 Neighborhood service use 
 Optical shop or optometrist 
 Personal and business services 
 Professional or medical offices 
Conditionally Permitted: 
 Public/quasi-public use (e.g., community center, school, fire 

station, library, church) 
 Reupholstery, furniture repair; antique refinishing 
 Convenience market 
 Shops selling age-restricted goods or providing age-restricted 

services 
 Any other neighborhood-oriented commercial retail, service, or public/quasi-public uses that is are similar 

in nature, function, and operations to the permitted, administrative review clearance, and conditionally 
permitted uses listed above shall be subject to the same level of review and approval. 

Notes: 

1. Permits the same type of residential dwellings as the HR zone. 

2. Specialty retail shops are defined as small retail stores with distinctive, one-of-a-kind merchandise, often 
supplied locally, not including sale of age-restricted goods or providing age-restricted services. 

Refer also to the performance standards in Chapter 7 for use permit approval requirements in the HC zone. 

Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Planning AreaSpecific Plan Area, unless 
otherwise noted in Section 3.1.4. 

F. Refer also to the performance standards in Chapter 7 
for use permit approval requirements in the HLC zone. 

G.C. Downtown Mixed Use (DMU) Zone 

This DMU zone is proposed as a new commercial mixed-use zone, 
intended to replace the General Commercial and Commercial Service 
zone designations that are proposed to be phased out in both the 
General Plan Update, adopted in 2015 and the Zoning Code Update, 
planned for adoption in 2016. This zone allows a mix of retail, commercial 
service, civic, office, and other complementary non-residential uses, as 
well as higher-density residential development. Allowed uses permitted 
within the DMU zone are indicated in Table 3-7. 

132



3.1 Land Use Zones 
3.1 Proposed Land Use Zones 

SeptemberOctober 2023November 2016  Page 3-15 

Table 3-7: Downtown Mixed Use Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses Administrative Review and 
Conditionally Permitted Uses 

 Antique shop 
 Art, modeling, music, and/or dance studio  
 Artist studios; art supply stores 
 Bed and breakfast innLodging services 
 Business services  
 Clothing and costume stores 
 Commercial services 
 Communication services 
 Community social services 
 Eating and drinking places1 
 Educational services 
  Finance, insurance, and real estaices  
 Food and grocery stores 
 General merchandise and hardware store 
 Medical health care facilityMedical and veterinary services 
 Theater (i.e., motion picture or live)   
 Optical shop or optometrist 
 Personal services 
 Professional or medical offices  
 Specialty retail shops112 
 Single-family dwellings 
 Duplex, triplex 
 Multiple-family dwellings (i.e., apartments, condominiums) 
 Accessory dwelling units or guest housesResidential 

dwellings2 

Administrative Review: 
 Public/quasi-public use (e.g., community 

center, school, fire station, library, 
church) 

 Structured parking 
Conditionally Permitted: 
 Commercial amusement or 

entertainment 
 Commercial retail or services greater 

than 40,000 square feet 
 Drive-through facilities  

(only north of Driftwood Drive) 
 Entertainment (i.e., nightclub and 

bar/lounge) 
 Furniture stores 
 Hospital 
 Reupholstery and furniture repair; 

antique refinishing 
 Convenience market 
 Shops selling age-restricted goods or 

providing age-restricted services 

 Any other retail, service, public/quasi-public, or residential uses that are similar in nature, function, and 
operations to the permitted, administrative review clearance, and conditionally permitted uses listed 
above shall be subject to the same level of review and approval. 

Notes:  

 Includes distillery, brewery, and wineryuses. 

1. Specialty retail shops are defined as small retail stores with distinctive merchandise, often supplied 
locally or with a local theme, not including sale of age-restricted goods or providing age-restricted 
services. 

1.  

Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Planning AreaSpecific Plan Area, unless 
otherwise noted in Section 3.1.4.Permits the same type of residential dwellings permitted in the RHD zone. 

133



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-16 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

H.D. Downtown Commercial (DC) Zone 

This DC zone is proposed as a new commercial zone to replace the 
General Commercial and Commercial Service zone designations that are 
proposed to be phased out in the 2035 General Plan and future Zoning 
Code update. This zone is intended to accommodate primarily retail and 
commercial services, but also allows complementary office, civic, and 
recreational uses. Allowed uses permitted within the DC zone are shown 
in Table 3-8.  

Table 3-8: Downtown Commercial Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses Administrative Review and Conditionally 
Permitted Uses 

 Art, modeling, music, and/or dance studio 
 Auto parts, sales, without repair  
 Business services  
 Commercial services 
 Communication services 
 Community social services 
 Drive-through facilities 
 Dry cleaning, laundry 
 Eating and drinking places 
 Educational services 
 Entertainment (i.e., nightclub and bar/lounge) 
 Food and grocery stores 
 Finance, insurance, and real estate offices  
 General retail and merchandise stores 
 Medical health care facility 
 Optical shop or optometrist 
 Lodge, fraternal organization or club 
 Parks and open space 
 Personal services 
 Professional or medical offices  
 Theater (i.e., motion picture or live) 
 Specialty retails shops1 

Administrative Review: 
 Bed and breakfast inn 
  Commercial amusement or entertainment 
 Hospital 
 Public/quasi-public use (e.g., community center, 

school, fire station, library, church) 
Conditionally Permitted: 
 Automotive service and repair 
 Manufacturing uses greater than 5,000 square 

feet 
 Research and development and laboratory 

facilities 
 Wholesale or warehouse facilities, as an 

incidental use 
 Corporation yard, as an incidental use 
 Convenience market 
 Shops selling age-restricted goods or providing 

age-restricted services. 

 Any other retail, service, public/quasi-public, or residential uses that are similar in nature, function, and 
operations to the permitted, administrative review clearance, and conditionally permitted uses listed 
above shall be subject to the same level of review and approval. 

Notes:  

1. Specialty retail shops are defined as small retail stores with distinctive merchandise, often supplied 
locally or with a local theme, not including sale of age-restricted goods or providing age-restricted 
services. 

134



3.1 Land Use Zones 
3.1 Proposed Land Use Zones 

SeptemberOctober 2023November 2016  Page 3-17 

1.2. Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Planning AreaSpecific Plan Area, 
unless otherwise noted in Section 3.1.4.Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to 
the Planning Area, unless otherwise noted in Section 3.1.4. 

135



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 
 

Page 3-18 Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan   

I.E. Waterfront Commercial (WC) Zone 

This WC zone is located behind or to the east of Harbor Plaza, adjacent 
to the waterfront and marina. This zone also exists south of the RM zone 
and north of the City boat launch.  Because of its proximity to both the 
marina and Main Street, this area is expected to accommodate elements 
of both Main Street retail and related uses, as well as uses which are 
needed to serve the marina and boat owners or are required by their 
nature to be located adjacent to the Waterfront. 

 

Table 3-9: Waterfront Commercial Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses Conditionally Permitted Uses 

 Uses as permitted within the Main Street Mixed 
Use zone (outlined in Table 3-5, above) 

 Boat equipment sales, supplies, and marine 
products and accessories  

 Boat and marine sales and services, where 
service is accessory to the sales operation 

 Marina, public access, and related public facilities 
 Sales of recreational vehicles only 
 Sales of products for boating and water 

recreation activities 
 Water-oriented commercial, entertainment, and 

similar uses that are connected to the water or 
related to water-related activities 

Conditionally Permitted: 
 Boat repair and service, not accessory to a sales 

operation  
 Boat storage 
 Manufacture/assembly of boating products  
 Gas sales for boat use only 
 Convenience market 
 Shops selling age-restricted goods or providing 

age-restricted services 

 Any other retail, service, public/quasi-public uses similar in nature, function, and operations to the 
permitted and conditionally permitted uses listed above shall be subject to the same level of review and 
approval. 

Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Planning AreaSpecific Plan Area, unless 
otherwise noted in Section 3.1.4. 

 

136



3.1 Land Use Zones 
3.1 Proposed Land Use Zones 

SeptemberOctober 2023November 2016  Page 3-19 

3.2.33.1.3 Public FacilitiesCivic/Open Space Zones  

Public facilitiesCivic and open space land use zones to be established 
include: 

 PFC – CivicPublic Facilities 

 OS – Open Space 

The allowed uses within each of these zones follow in Table 3-10 and 
Table 3-11. Chapter 5 provides a more detailed description of the parks 
and open space concepts and facilities envisioned within the Planning 
AreaSpecific Plan Area. 

A. Public Facilities Civic (PFC) Zone 

The Land Use Map designates locations of existing and planned public 
civic facilities. Existing facilities include the public marina, schools, 
neighborhood parks, common parking areas, and the Civic Center. The 
PF C zone is intended to accommodate a variety of facilities, including but 
not limited to: parks, schools, civic facilities, parking, and trails provided 
for the recreation or service of the community.

Table 3-10: PUBLIC FACILITIES Civic Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses 1 Administrative Review and Conditionally 
Permitted Uses 

 Parks and publicly accessible open spacecommon 
greens 

 Public plaza area 
 Recreational facilities 
 Public and private marinas, including guest docks, 

boat launches, and related facilities 
 Uses occurring on a floating vessel moored in the 

water within or adjacent to the marina (e.g., 
conference facilities, restaurant, nightclub or 
cabaret, and other entertainment uses) 

 Social or recreational center, club, or lodge 
 Parking and transportation facilities 

Administrative Review: 
 Any other uses which are similar in nature, 

function, or operation to permitted uses listed. 
Conditionally Permitted: 
 Any other uses in which the Planning Division, 

Planning Commission, or City Council on 
appeal finds to be consistent with the intent of 
the zone, subject to certain conditions or 
restrictions. 

 Any other public/quasi-public or recreational uses, similar in nature, function, and operations to the 
permitted uses listed above shall be subject to the same level of review and approval. 

Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the PlanningSpecific Plan Area, unless 
otherwise noted in Section 3.1.4 

  

137



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 
 

Page 3-20  Waterfront District Specific Plan 

B. Open Space (OS) Zone 

The Land Use Map also designates the location for open space within the 
Planning AreaSpecific Plan Area. This district is intended to accommodate 
a variety of passive recreational and open space facilities, including 
wetland and natural areas to remain open/undeveloped, drainage areas, 
and waterfront trails/promenades. 

 

Table 3-11: Open Space Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses 1 Administrative Review and Conditionally 
Permitted Uses 

 Open/undeveloped natural areas and 
wetlands 

 Resource protection and restoration 
 Resource related recreation 
 Minerals or natural minerals removal 

Administrative Review: 
  Agricultural uses 
 Parks 
 Nursery, plants 
 Campground 
 Any other uses which are similar in nature, 

function, or operation to permitted uses listed. 
Conditionally Permitted: 
 Any other uses in which the Planning Division, 

Planning Commission, or City Council on appeal 
finds to be consistent with the intent of the zone, 
subject to certain conditions or restrictions. 

 Any other public/quasi-public or recreational uses, similar in nature, function, and operations to the 
permitted uses listed above shall be subject to the same level of review and approval. 

Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the PlanningSpecific Plan Area, unless 
otherwise noted in Section 3.1.4. 

 
  

138



3.1 Land Use Zones 
3.2 District and Opportunity Area Concepts 

September October 2023November 2016  Page 3-21 

3.2.43.1.4 Special Use Regulations 

Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the 
Planning AreaSpecific Plan Area, unless otherwise noted.  

 Live-work development shall be permitted in accordance with the 
regulations in Zoning Code Chapter 18.52 of the City Zoning 
Code.  

 Home occupations shall comply with the standards in Zoning 
Code Chapter 18.50 of the City Zoning Code, except the 
following activities may be exempt from these requirements, 
provided all other criteria for home occupations are met. . 

̶ Newspaper clipping service;  

̶ In-home sales, provided no stock in trade is kept at the 
licensed address; 

̶ Mail order services where no stock in trade is kept on the 
premises; 

̶ Music lessons, tutoring, and similar activities, when only one 
student is present at any one time; 

̶ The workplace of an artist; 

̶ Janitorial services; and 

̶ Laundry and tailoring services. 

3.3 District and Opportunity Area Concepts  

 

The Planning Area has been organized into eight distinct planning districts, 
as identified in Chapter 2, that serve as a framework for the proposed 
land use updates in this Plan. The land use and site development vision for 
each of these planning districts and the key opportunity areas within these 
districts are shown in Figure 3-2 and summarized in Table 3-11 that 
follows.  

  

 

 
Live-work example in the Delta Landing 
neighborhood  

139



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-22                                                                                                           Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan  

Figure 3-2 District and Opportunity Area Land Use Concept 

 

Source: AECOM 2015  

140



3.2 District and Opportunity Area Concepts 
 

September October 2023November 2016  

TABLE 3.11: Specific Plan District Features and Opportunity Areas 

Specific Plan District Features Opportunity Area Land Use Concept 

District 1: Western Marina Boulevard and Highway 12 

  Consists of:  
̶ Opportunity Area E, a 30-acre commercial 

property north of Highway 12 and west of 
Marina Boulevard; and  

̶ Opportunity Area F, currently occupied by an 
aging shopping center and several vacant 
parcels. 

  Proposed extension and realignment of Railroad 
Avenue to align with the on-ramp to Highway 12 
and new roadway network designed to connect 
with surrounding area roadways, including a 
potential connection across the railroads tracks 
to the City of Fairfield.  

  New bicycle trail network to connect with the 
Central County Bikeway, traveling along the 
north side of Highway 12 (see Figure 3-1). 

  New landscaped entry gateway features along 
Highway 12, advertising Downtown.  

  Opportunity Area E is designated for Downtown 
Commercial uses and envisioned as a walkable, 
mixed-use, commercial and entertainment 
district. 

  Opportunity Area F is designated for Downtown 
Commercial and High Density Residential uses, 
to permit a variety of neighborhood retail and 
service uses and high density multi-family housing 
development. 

District 2: Suisun-Fairfield Train Station 

  Consists of:  
̶ Opportunity Area B, an industrial area adjacent 

to the railroad tracks; and  
̶ Opportunity Area C, which includes the 

historic train depot and park-and-ride surface 
parking lot south of Highway12 and the 
Denverton Curve property, north of Highway 
12. 

  Building reuse and industrial-themed design 
opportunities within Opportunity Area B.  

  Proposed Highway 12 interchange improvements 
at the Webster and Jackson Street exit that 
includes a new roadway connection south of 
Highway 12 crossing the railroad tracks into the 
plan area and connecting with a new segment of 
Railroad Avenue that will parallel the railroad 
tracks. 

  Opportunity Area B is designated for Downtown 
Mixed Use development, allowing for a variety of 
commercial or service uses on the ground floor 
and housing or offices above. 

  Opportunity Area C is designated for 
Downtown Mixed Use development, intended to 
support stand-alone, high-density residential uses 
that provide housing close to the train depot or 
high-density housing in a mixed-use development. 
The area is also intended to replace the park and 
ride lot with a parking structure and mixed-use 
development that may include a visitor 
information center, specialty retail shops, 
neighborhood services, and residential common 
space on the ground floor; while high-density 
housing is provided above. 

141



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-24                                                                                                           Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan  

TABLE 3.11: Specific Plan District Features and Opportunity Areas 

Specific Plan District Features Opportunity Area Land Use Concept 

District 3: Downtown Core 

  Consists of:  
̶ Opportunity Area D, the properties along 

both sides of Main Street; and  
̶ Opportunity Area J, which includes the vacant 

properties to the east of the Suisun Channel 
and south of One Harbor Drive. 

  Preservation and enhancement of the traditional 
Downtown and waterfront character 

  Uses oriented to the waterfront, with pathways 
extending to and connecting to the adjacent 
waterfront trails/promenade 

  Opportunity Area D is designated as Main Street 
Mixed Use, west of Main Street and includes 
Public Facilities, Downtown Mixed Use, and 
C/O/R uses east of Main Street.  

  Main Street is envisioned for new infill 
development, façade improvements, and 
rehabilitation of historic structures, consistent 
with the traditional forms and character already 
present in the district; as well as, streetscape 
enhancements, including new planting areas, 
sidewalks, and pedestrian amenities along the 
west side of  Main Street. 

  Opportunity Area J is designated for C/O/R uses, 
such as a small hotel and additional new 
residential development, compatible in scale to 
residential uses east of Civic Center Boulevard 
and designed to orient to and take advantage of 
waterfront views.  

District 4: Historic Suisun City 

  Consists of the largely developed historic 
residential portion of Suisun City and the site of 
the former Crystal Middle School. 

  New development to preserve the historic 
resources, mix of architectural styles, residential 
scale, and distinct character of the Old Town 
neighborhood. 

  Opportunity Area A is designated for medium 
density housing that would be compatible with 
the scale and character of the surrounding 
historic residential neighborhood area. 

District 5: Harbor Village / Victorian Harbor Neighborhood 

  Consists of the more recently established 
residential area, east of Civic Center Boulevard 
and a vacant opportunity site (Opportunity Area 
G) on the southeast corner of Lotz Way and 
Marina Boulevard. 

  New development to be compatible with the 
traditional neighborhood forms and residential 
character established in the area and to connect 
with adjacent recreational trails. 

  Opportunity Area G is designated for medium 
density housing, with opportunities for units to 
face onto Marina Boulevard and the waterfront, 
open space, and recreational trail connections 
available along the Suisun Slough. 

142



3.2 District and Opportunity Area Concepts 
 

September October 2023November 2016  

TABLE 3.11: Specific Plan District Features and Opportunity Areas 

Specific Plan District Features Opportunity Area Land Use Concept 

District 6: Cordelia Gateway 

  Consists of the residential neighborhood area 
south of Cordelia Street and Opportunity Area 
A.  

  Cordelia Street is a secondary gateway into 
Downtown Suisun City.  

  Opportunity Area A is designated for medium 
density housing that would be compatible with 
the scale and character of the surrounding 
neighborhood area. 

District 7: Southern Waterfront 

  Consists of the waterfront area, located at the 
existing City boat launch facility.  

  Development concepts for this area were 
explored in the Southern Waterfront Design Report. 

  Envisioned to continue to serve as a boat launch 
facility, enhanced with the addition of marine-
related uses, boating activities, and recreational 
and entertainment uses that take advantage of 
the area’s access to the water.  

District 8: Civic Center / Whispering Bay Waterfront 

  Consists of the waterfront parcels on the 
southeast end of the Suisun Slough, which 
includes the Suisun City Civic Center, yacht club, 
preserved wetland and open space areas, and 
vacant parcels within Opportunity Area H.  

  New linear open space and trails proposed along 
the Whispering Bay waterfront and along the 
western edge of the drainage channel, south of 
Whispering Bay Lane (to connect with and 
extend from the promenade/waterfront trails 
that currently terminate at the Civic Center and 
to other City designated bikeways). 

  Opportunity Area H is designated for medium 
density residential development and open space 
that provides the opportunity for a waterfront 
residential community, with unique views and 
recreational access to the waterfront.  

143



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-26                                                                                                           Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan  

 

This page intentionally left blank.

144



3.2 District and Opportunity Area Concepts 
 

September October 2023November 2016  Page 3-27 

Proposed Land Use Changes  

This Plan is intended to guide land use change; revisions to circulation, 
parks, open space, and public facilities; and include additional property 

compared to the 1999 Specific Plan. Previous plans for the Planning Area 
are provided in Appendix B, “Early Specific Plan Figures.”  

145



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-3-28                                                                                                           Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan  

For most of the Planning Area, the City does not anticipate substantial 
land use change. During the process of providing this update, the City 

facilitated a focused discussion on land use and design within key 
“opportunity areas” that have the potential to accommodate new 

development (see Figure 3-3). Proposed land use and site development 
changes for each of the opportunity areas are summarized below. 

Reconfiguration of the Marina Areas. The original 1983 Specific Plan 
called for approximately 400 boat slips in four marina areas: including on 
the west side of the channel, the northeastern corner at the head of the 
channel, the northeast side of Pierce Island, and at the eastern portion of 

the Whispering Bay area. The 1999 Specific Plan envisioned 
reconfiguration of the marina areas,  with boat slips proposed adjacent to 

the Whispering Bay site (Site A on Figure B-2) and along the west and 
north sides of the main channel, where the land would be excavated and 
the channel dredged). The proposed marina on Pierce Island was never 
constructed and the marina along Whispering Bay has been removed. 

Currently, boat slips exist along the southwestern portion of the Suisun 
Channel. 

146



3.2 District and Opportunity Area Concepts 
 

September October 2023November 2016  Page 3-29 

Additional Sites Incorporated Into the Specific Plan Area. Two 
opportunity areas to be added to the Specific Plan are shown within 

Areas C and Areas E on Figure 3-2. Both properties – the “Denverton 
Curve” property and “30-acre” property – are located north of Highway 
12 and are currently zoned General Commercial. The Denverton Curve 
property in Area C can accommodate housing opportunities, supporting 
ridership along the Capitol Corridor. Area E is envisioned to develop as a 
mixed-use area with easy access to and from Downtown Suisun City, as 

well as the city of Fairfield.  

Whispering Bay. The 1983 Specific Plan designated Area H for medium-
density housing and marina and marina services (Site A, Figure B-2). The 
1999 Specific Plan Amendment proposed low-density residential uses, 

envisioned to be programmed with 48 single-family units to be placed on 
6,400 square foot lots, with a waterfront street, marina slips, and parking. 
This Specific Plan Update envisions Area H for medium-density residential 

development, with homes fronting Whispering Bay, a new street 
connecting Marina Bay and Civic Center Boulevards and extension of the 

marina promenade/trail along the Whispering Bay waterfront. 

147



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-30                                                                                                                       Waterfront District Specific Plan   

Figure 3-3: Illustrative Site Concept Plan 

 

148



3.3 Proposed Land Use Changes  

September October 2023November 2016  Page 3-31 

Expansion of the Boat Launch Facilities and Marine Related 
Services. Area I (Site H on Figure B-2) was designated in the 1983 
Specific Plan for marina industry, mari0na slips, and a park. The 1999 

Specific Plan designates this area for 70 condominiums and public access 
to the waterfront, along with marina slips. The 1999 Specific Plan calls for 

this site to be used to expand the City's existing boat ramp.  

149



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-32  Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Existing land uses consist of both marine and non-marine related service 
and industrial operations with outdoor storage. The southern portions of 
the site include the marine sales/services building and two concrete boat 
launch ramps. This Specific Plan Update designates the northern portions 
of this site for Waterfront Commercial – allowing a wide range of water-

related and water-oriented uses. The southern portion of the site, 
containing the boat ramps, is proposed to be designated Public Facilities – 
anticipating continued public water access and boating-related facilities.   

Additional Housing. A variety of additional housing densities and types is 
supported throughout the Planning Area, including low-density, single-

family residential homes in Area G; medium-density residential 
opportunities in Areas A and H and portions of Area J; and higher-density 

residential in Areas C and F. Additionally, upper story residential 
development is encouraged within the mixed-use, multi-story buildings 

along Main Street (Area D) and in Areas B and C, adjacent to the 
Downtown Commercial Core.  

150



3.3 Proposed Land Use Changes  

September October 2023November 2016  Page 3-33 

Refinements to the Placement of Proposed Land Uses at the 
Sheldon Oil Site. Area J (referenced as Site F in the1999 Specific Plan) 

was the location of an oil distribution and storage business known as the 
Sheldon Oil Company. The 1983 Specific Plan designated this area as 

Medium Density Residential, marina, water related commercial, specialty 
retail/office, and public access to the water. The 1999 Plan proposes 

approximately the same type of retail, commercial and residential uses, 
with additional marina slips (both public and private).  

Since the development of earlier plans, there has been substantial 
excavation and removal of the existing oil storage tanks, the previously 
existing one-story office building, and truck service facilities. The site is 
currently occupied by the 4-story hotel and a three-story Class A office 

building north of Driftwood Drive. A waterfront promenade and 
common green space is located between Driftwood Drive and the 

northern end of the Suisun Channel. The eastern portions of the site 
remain undeveloped and are proposed to be designated C/O/R, with the 

potential to be developed with commercial, office, retail, a hotel, and 
housing uses.  

151



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-34  Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Intermodal Transportation Center. The area just south of where the 
railroad passes under Highway 12 (Site E in Appendix B-2) is the site of 
the historic train depot and several commercial buildings that date from 

the 1960s.  The historic depot has been renovated as an intercity rail 
station for the Capitol Corridor intercity rail line.  The site has been 
renovated to include an intermodal transportation center and related 

ticketing and waiting area, in both new and existing buildings. 
Transportation modes served by the station include intercity bus, local 

transit, and van/car pools.  Existing land use designations and the 
proposed land use designation of the site as mixed-use accommodates 

both the public intermodal facility and related commercial uses. 

Pierce Island. The northern portion of Pierce Island (Area J in Appendix 
B-2) was designated by the 1983 Specific Plan for the disposal of dredge 

material with eventual development as resort hotels, recreational 
facilities, marina and related commercial uses.  A road to link the island 
with the mainland was proposed.  The 1999 Specific Plan designates the 
island as a dredge material disposal site and open space. An area of 35 

acres has been permitted by both federal and State authorities to serve as 
a disposal site for dredge material. 35 acres of the island has been turned 

into tidal wetlands and will remain as permanent Open Space. The 
remaining four acres consist of levees and an equipment staging area on 

the north end of the island. No additional changes from the 1999 Specific 
Plan are proposed for this site.  

152



3.3 Proposed Land Use Changes  

September October 2023November 2016  Page 3-35 

Expansion of the Old Town--Historic Residential and Commercial 
Area. As shown on Figure B-2, the 1983 Specific Plan Land Use 

Designations concentrated on the areas fronting on Main and Kellogg 
Streets. In Appendix B-2, commercial/retail spaces in these areas were 

proposed to be rehabilitated in keeping with the historic character of the 
area; however, the entire area of the existing Old Town residential and 
commercial district (Area K) was added to the Planning Area. A new 

bypass road from north of Driftwood Drive to Cordelia Street, parallel to 
the railroad tracks was proposed to improve circulation within the area. 

This Specific Plan Update proposes to focus on several major opportunity 
areas for change within the Old Town area, including Area A, the former 
Crystal Elementary School site; Area B mixed-use redevelopment of the 

industrial properties around Benton Court; and Area D, infill and 
redevelopment opportunities along Main Street. Other parts of the Old 

Town area have been developed or are more established and provide less 
opportunity for change.  

153



Waterfront District Specific Plan  
 

October 2023November January 2016 2022  Page 4-1 

CHAPTER 4 | TRAFFIC + CIRCULATION 

4.1 Vehicular Access 

4.1.1 Regional Vehicular Access 

Regional access to the Waterfront District Specific Plan (WDSP) Area 
(Planning Specific Plan Area) is shown in Figure 4-1l. Although access from 
the east and west appears adequate, access to the Waterfront District 
from the north is hindered by the highway. In order tTo access the 
Specific Plan Planning Area, most drivers must get on State RouteHighway 
12 (Highway SR 12) and use the Civic Center Boulevard exit if they are 
traveling eastbound or the Main Street exit if they are traveling 
westbound. As an alternative route, drivers can use the at-grade 
intersections at Pennsylvania Avenue to the west, entering Suisun City via 
Cordelia Street or at Marina Boulevard to the east.  

 State RouteSR 12 is a four-lane, east-west oriented highway 
east of Marina Boulevardin the vicinity ofnearthat provides access 
for Suisun City . It runs east-west in the vicinity of Suisun City 
and connects to Interstate 80 about two miles to the west. Near 
Suisun City, it has two at-grade intersections, with Marina 
Boulevard and with Pennsylvania Avenue.  

 Cordelia Street is a two-lane rural arterial roadway that runs 
east-west from Interstate 80 to the west and to Main Street to 
the east. It is generally relatively narrow, with gravel shoulders. 
As it approaches Suisun City’s Old Town area, it is designated as 
Cordelia Street and is wider, with on-street parking lanes and 
sidewalks. Cordelia Street is designated by the Circulation 
Element of the General Plan as a four-lane arterial between 
Pennsylvania Avenue and Main Street.  

4.1.2 Local Vehicular Access 

Within and adjacent to the Specific Plan Planning Area, existing and 
planned new vehicular access roadways are shown in Figure 4-1, by their 
proposed classification as either an expressway, arterial, collector, or 
local street. Primary roadway street segments in the Specific Plan Planning 
Area are briefly summarized in the bullets that follow. 

154



Chapter 4 | Traffic + Circulation 

Page 4-2 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

Figure 4-14-1: Vehicular Circulation Network 

 
Source: Metropolitan Transportation Commission, AECOM, 201235

155



4.1 Vehicular Access 

November January 2016 2022 October 2023 Page 4-3 

 Main Street is a two-lane arterial that runs north-south through 
the historic commercial area. Commercial land uses and on-
street parking line each side of the street. The northern terminus 
of Main Street links with the SR 12 westbound on- and off-ramps. 
To the south, it connects with Cordelia Street. 

 Civic Center Boulevard is a two-lane divided collector street 
with a landscaped median that generally runs north-south from its 
interchange with SR 12 to a cul-de-sac just south of City Hall. 
Civic Center Boulevard is envisioned to be extended to the 
southeast within the context of new development and connected 
with Marina Boulevard. 

 Driftwood Drive is a two-lane local collector roadway that 
currently serves as a main east-west streetis oriented east to 
west, connecting . It extends between Marina Boulevard and 
Civic Center Boulevard and betweenwith Main Street and Benton 
Court.  

 Lotz Way is a two-lane, east-west arterial roadway that extends 
from Main Street to Marina Boulevard. West of Civic Center 
Boulevard, Lotz Way serves as an arterial link between Main 
Street and the SR 12 eastbound on and off-ramps. East of Civic 
Center Boulevard, Lotz Way operates as an arterial street to its 
present terminus at Marina Boulevard.  

 Marina Boulevard is an arterial/collector roadway that runs 
from Railroad Avenue north of SR 12 to the marina 
neighborhoods adjacent to Suisun Slough. Marina Boulevard has 
an at-grade, signalized intersection with SR 12. It is four lanes 
wide north of SR 12 and two lanes wide, with bike lanes, south of 
SR 12. On its southern end, Marina Boulevard is envisioned to 
connect with Civic Center Boulevard in the context of new 
development.  

 Railroad Avenue is an arterial roadway that runs from Sunset 
Avenue and terminates just west of Marina Boulevard. It is a four-
lane roadway with a median and bike lanes, east of Birchwood 
Court. West of this, Railroad Avenue is a wide, two-lane 
roadway, with bike lanes and on-street parking. West of the 
current terminus of Railroad Avenue, the roadway street is 
planned to continue to the west as a future four-lane arterial 
roadway to connect with the extension of Main 
Street/Denverton Road.  

4.1.3 Planned Vehicular Circulation Improvements 

A new freeway off-ramp connection and new roadwaysAs the Specific 
Plan Area continues to develop, new multi-modal facilities will  are 
proposed to complete and enhance the vehicular circulation network in 
the WDSP Planning Area, as identified below. The timing and 
construction of these projects will be dependent on available grant 

156



Chapter 4 | Traffic + Circulation 

Page 4-4 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

funding, Capital Improvement Program budgeting, and /or private 
development applications.  

Proposed cCirculation system improvements are indicated by dashed 
lines in Figure 4-1. Street sections for typical roadways streets in the 
Specific Plan Area are provided in Figures 4-2  through 4-8.  

 The California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) plans a 
new freeway off-ramp connection into the Old Town area from 
SR-12, at the Webster Street exit. The freeway off-ramp, south 
of Highway 12, would be extended into the Planning Area to 
connect with a new collector roadway.  

 A new collector is proposed to run parallel and to and the east of 
the railroad line, between Spring Street and Cordelia Street 
(called “Old Town Bypass” in the 1999 Specific Plan).  

 Streetscape improvements along Main Street, particularly to 
update the west side of Main Street (Figure 4-2).  

 New roadways streets to serve the 30-acre commercial 
property, north of SR-12 to include: 

- Extension of Railroad Avenue, west of Marina Boulevard to 
the extension of Main Street/Denverton Road as a four-lane 
divided roadway street with bike lanes (Figure 4-3). 

- Extension of Buena Vista Avenue as an east-west commercial 
main street, with aAn at-grade crossing of the railroad tracks, 
to connect with Clay Street in Fairfield (Figure 4-4). 

 Improvements or enhancements to existing Downtown arterial 
and collector streets to support safe multimodal travel and access 
(Figures 4-5 4 and through 4-66).  

 A collector roadway to join and connect the southern termini of 
Civic Center and Marina Boulevards (Figure 4-7). 

 New local neighborhood roadways and alleys to connect and 
serve new residential and mixed-uses development within 
opportunity sites in the Specific Plan Planning Area (Figure 4-8 7 
and 4-89). 

4.1.4 Roadway Design Standards 

The City's Standard Specifications document provides construction 
specifications for public streets. Planned arterial, collector, and local 
streets, including Main Street, shall be governed by the Specific Plan 
standards and typical sections that follow in this chapter. Where a conflict 
arises, the Specific Plan standards will control. Exceptions to these 
standards may be granted by the Development Services Director, where 
a different solution may be needed due to property constraints or to 
enhance pedestrian, bicycle, or transit safety and connectionsconvenience.  

157



4.1 Vehicular Access 

November January 2016 2022 October 2023 Page 4-5 

Entry treatments walls, landscaping, and related streetscape or frontage 
improvements are further addressed in the development and design 
standards and design guidelines in Chapter 6. 

  

158



Chapter 4 | Traffic + Circulation 

Page 4-6 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

  

159



4.1 Vehicular Access 

November January 2016 2022 October 2023 Page 4-7 

Figure 4-24-2: Typical Main Street Section and Plan Detail  

 

 

160



Chapter 4 | Traffic + Circulation 

Page 4-8 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

  

161



4.1 Vehicular Access  

November January 2016 2022 September 2023 

Figure 4-34-3: Arterial Street on 30-acre Property (Railroad Avenue) 

 
 
Railroad Avenue at full buildout will include four lanes (two in each 
direction), two bicycle lanes of at least five feet in width in each direction 
and may include other streetscape elementss, as well. Please see designs 
on file with the City Public Works Department. The proposed right-of-
way is 96 feet.  

 

162



Chapter 4 | Traffic + Circulation 

Page 4-10 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

Figure 4-44-4: Typical Collector Street on 30-acre Property (Buena Vista 
Avenue) 

 
 
Figure 4-54-5: Typical Downtown Neighborhood Arterial Street 

 
 
 

163



4.1 Vehicular Access  

November January 2016 2022 October 2023 Page 4-11 

Figure 4-64-6: Typical Downtown Neighborhood Collector 
Street (Parking on One or Both Sides) 

 
Figure 4-7: Typical Local Street (Parking on One or Both 
Sides)        Figure 4-8: Typical Alley 

 

 

  

164



Chapter 4 | Traffic + Circulation 

Page 4-12 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

Figure 4-7: Civic Center / Marina Boulevard along Whispering Bay 

 

 
 

Figure 4-7: Typical Local Street (Parking on One or Both Sides)Figure 4-8: Typical Alley 

 

 Figure 4-8: Typical Alley 

 
Source: AECOM 2015

165



4.1 Vehicular Access  

November January 2016 2022 October 2023 Page 4-13 

General Circulation Standards 

1. All public streets shall connect into the larger circulation 
pattern. Block lengths of shall be 300 feet or less. are 
encouraged. The use of cul-de-sacs shall be minimized.not be 
permitted. 

2. Gateway islands or pedestrian refuges provided at the entrance 
of a neighborhood, neck downs at intersections, and other 
traffic control devices should shall be utilized to slow traffic 
through residential neighborhoods and facilitate safe pedestrian 
crossings. Gateway islands are encouragedshall be used for 
neighborhood or commercial streets that intersect with Civic 
Center and Marina Boulevards. 

A. Commercial Streets and Main Street 

1. Sidewalks along commercial streets shouldhallto support 
outdoor activities, such as seating and dining. Sidewalks adjacent 
to seating and dining areas must leave five (5) feet or more of 
vacant sidewalk space between the edge and the curb to 
provide adequate pedestrian circulation.  

2. Sidewalks adjacent to storefronts along Main Street and around 
Harbor Plaza should shall be a minimum of ten (10) feet wide in 
order to allow adequate space for trees, light fixtures, 
pedestrian movements, window shopping, and cafe seating. 

3. Sidewalks that are not along Main Street or around the Harbor 
Plaza shall be a minimum width of five (5) feet and a minimum 
width of eight ten (8)10) feet when landscape planters or tree 
wells are incorporated and attached to the sidewalk. Sidewalk 
widths of 10 feet or greater is recommended to allow adequate 
room for trees, lights, and two people to walk side-by-side. 

4. Consistent street trees and light fixtures should shall be utilized 
on Main Street, Lotz Way, and all side streets intersecting Main 
Street and around Harbor Plaza and the Suisun-Fairfield train 
depot. Trees should shall be planted at intervals of forty (40) 
feet or less; , and selected for characteristics that include 
proven durability in street environments; branching at heights 
greater than fifteen (15) feet; have light, feathery leafing; and 
allow for ease of maintenance. Storefronts must maintain 
transparent windows that allow visibility into the storeVisibility 
to storefronts from the street is imperative. Light fixtures 
should shall include attachments for banners and planters. 
Fixtures should shall be high-pressure sodium vapor for the best 
rendition of natural colors. 

5. Sidewalk cafes , where applied along Main Street, shall be 
permitted to extend into the parking zone with an conditional 
useadministrative review permit (Figure 4-2).  

166



Chapter 4 | Traffic + Circulation   

Page 4-14 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

6. Driftwood Drive between Main Street and Civic Center 
Boulevard should shall be redesigned as a limited access street, 
allowing for closure with bollards at times of peak pedestrian 
utilization. Textured paving materials (such as brick or pavers) 
which slow vehicular traffic are required. 

B. Residential Streets 

1. All WDSP arterial and collector rights-of-way shall be a 
maximum of sixty-five (65) feet. Right-of-way widths of fifty (50) 
feet or less are allowed if off-street parking lots or alleys 
provide alternative parking options and vehicular access to lots. 

2. Streets with rear-loaded lots should have a roadway street 
width adequate to allow for parking bays, alternating on one 
side of the street and increased landscaping in wider planting 
areas. 

3. For developments  within areas the opportunity areas, identified 
in Figure 3-24-9Figure 4-9, streets shall have a minimum planting 
width of five (5) feet, a minimum parking bay width of seven (7) 
feet, and minimum sidewalk width of five (5) feet. There should 
shall be continuity of landscaping within planting areas, with 
trees regularly spaced. Street lighting should not exceed twenty 
(20) feet in height to maintain a pedestrian scale. 

4. Streets should shalldshall be oriented towards the waterfront 
whenever possible, in order to provide both public access and 
views from the street to the water.

 
C. Motor Courts/Alleys 

1. Motor courts or alleys, which provide rear-loaded access to lots, are encouraged required for 
new developments in order to reduce the amount of curb cuts devoted to driveways and garage 
frontage along a neighborhood street. 

2. Motor court or alley rights-of-way shall be a minimum width of twenty (20) feet, in order to 
accommodate vehicles. Landscape areas along each side of the right-of-way must be a minimum of 
three (3) feet. 

4.1.5 Parking 

An existing 265-space Caltrans park-and-ride lot is located adjacent to the train depot, with access from 
Lotz Way. Several public parking lots exist, including lots alongside the Main Street promenade, adjacent to 
the waterfront, between Driftwood Drive and Solano Street. This lot was primarily designed to serve the 
marina; however, the spaces can also serve smaller, infill retail uses on the west side of Main Street. A 
common parking area currently exists adjacent to Harbor Plaza. Smaller parking areas also exist adjacent 
to the waterfront, south of Harbor Plaza.  

167



4.1 Vehicular Access  

November January 2016 2022 October 2023 

Figure 4-9:Figure 4-9:  Targeted Development Areas 

168



Chapter 4 | Traffic + Circulation   

Page 4-16 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

 

C. Motor Courts/Alleys 

1. Motor courts or alleys, which provide rear-loaded access to 
lots, are required for new developments in order to reduce the 
amount of curb cuts devoted to driveways and garage frontage 
along a neighborhood street. 

2. Motor court or alley rights-of-way shall be a minimum width of 
twenty (20) feet, in order to accommodate vehicles. Landscape 
areas along each side of the right-of-way must be a minimum of 
three (3) feet. 

4.1.5 Parking 

An existing 265-space Caltrans park-and-ride lot is located adjacent to 
the train depot, with access from Lotz Way. Several public parking lots 
exist, including lots alongside the Main Street promenade, adjacent to the 
waterfront, between Driftwood Drive and Solano Street. A common 
parking area currently exists adjacent to Harbor Plaza. Smaller parking 
areas also exist adjacent to the waterfront, south of Harbor Plaza.  

New development in the Specific Plan Planning Area shall be required to 
provide parking in accordance with the parking standards provided in 
Section 6. 5.4. Parking concepts for the Planning Area proposeThe City 
encourages  new shared parking areas, associated with the development 
of the opportunity areas, as suggested in the Opportunity Area Plan 
concepts shown in Figure 3-3 to serve new development, particularly infill 
development on relatively smaller parcels. OnUse of on-street parking is 
also encouraged, where feasibleshould be maximized.  

Commercial and mixed-use development in the Specific Plan Planning 
Area, south of Highway SR 12, would provide 

parking on-site through a combination of surface parking lots and parking 
garages and garages below podium level decks. Parking for new residential 
development is proposed to be accommodated through a combination of 
surface, garage, and tuck under parking configuration. Parking to serve 
commercial development on the 30-acre property, north of Highway 12, 
is proposed to consist of a combination of on-street parking, shared 
surface parking lots, and parking garages.

169



4.2 Public Transportation  

November January 2016 2022 October 2023 Page 4-17 

4.2 Public Transportation 

4.2.1 Rail Transportation 

The main line of the Union Pacific Railroad runs along the western border 
of Suisun City, carrying both commuter rail and freight rail traffic. There 
are approximately 40 to 50 trains per day on this rail line through the 
City.1  

Regional commuter Ttrains stop at the depot between Main Street and 
the tracks. Rehabilitated in 1992, to also include a new landscape 
courtyard in front of the station, the depot structure is currently used as 
the Capitol Corridor waiting area. Ticketing and baggage services are not 
provided at the station. East of Main Street and north of Lotz Way is a 
265-space “Park-n-Ride” lot owned by CALTANSCaltrans. This lot is 
used by both rail passengers and visitors to Specific Plan AreaDowntown 
Waterfront District. 

The existing train depot is a multimodal facility, with parking and drop-off 
areas to accommodate vanpools, taxi services, fixed-route bus service 
(both as a stop and a transfer point between bus routes), intercity and 
commuter bus service, and intercity rail service. 

4.2.2 Water Transportation 

Suisun Channel provides water access to the Old Town area and 
surrounding neighborhoods. There are approximately 155 existing boat 
slips adjacent to the Channel. There are approximately 100 parking 
spaces for vehicles with trailers at the boat ramp in the South Waterfront 
district, with an additional adjacent lot, which primarily serves the 
Peytonia Slough Ecological Reserve. 

Existing boat use in the Channel is described as moderate, with peak 
periods occurring during the summer months and on weekends. Various 
existing marinas on the east side of Main Street, one public boat launch 
facility and public guest docks provide access to the Channel. Channel 
navigation is regulated by the City's Police Department, which maintains a 
part-time harbor patrol, consisting of one officer on an as-needed basis. 

 
1 According to the City of Fairfield’s Fairfield Train Station Specific Plan 

Environmental Impact Report and Suisun City’s General Plan Noise and Vibration 
Background Report. Train traffic varies according to shipping demand for shipping.  

170



Chapter 4 | Traffic + Circulation 

Page 4-18 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

4.3 Bike and Pedestrian Circulation 

4.3.1 Bike and Pedestrian Facilities 

With the relatively compact development pattern with buildings primarily 
built close the front property line, the grid and modified grid 
transportation network, the lack of overly wide streets, and other 
features, the Specific Plan Area is a relatively bicycle- and pedestrian-
friendly area. 

Existing bike routes within the Specific Plan Planning Area consist of:  

 Class I bike trails, including the bike/pedestrian promenade 
circling the Suisun Channel,; the Central County Bikeway Trail 
along the drainage canal north of Highway 12,; and a 
bike/pedestrian trail along the east side of Marina Boulevard, 
north of Driftwood Drive and south of Highway SR 12 on the 
Grizzly Island Trail that connects from the Specific Plan Area to 
Grizzly Island Road. 

 Class II on-street bike lanes on Driftwood Drive, between 
Whispering Bay Lane and Marina Boulevard.  

In addition to these existing, designated facilities, local streets in the 
Specific Plan Planning Area are also generally low-traffic, low-vehicle-
speed, safe areas for biking.  

Most streets in the Specific Plan Planning Area have sidewalks. Pedestrians 
can access the waterfront from the west side of Civic Center Boulevard, 
along the channel. A linear pedestrian walkway/bicycle path circles around 
the Channel, between City Hall and the cul-de-sac at the end of Walnut 
Street, north of the City boat launch facility. 

4.3.2 Planned Bike and Pedestrian Circulation 
Improvements 

Pedestrian/bicycle circulation is to be provided by a combination of a 
waterfront/public access path system,; neighborhood streets/sidewalks,; 
and striped bicycle paths on arterials and collectors.  

The General Plan Circulation Element designates bike routes in the 
Specific Plan Planning Area as collectors and arterials streetsthat require . 
Arterials and collectors should be striped striping and signage and signed 
for Class II bike paths or Class I bike routes, consistent with the 
Circulation Element of the General Plan, Figure 4-9Figure 4-10Figure 4-
10, and the WDSP standards in this Specific Plan. The bike/pedestrian 
circulation system, shown in Figure 4-10Figure 4-10, indicates the general 
location of these facilities.  

171



4.3 Bike and Pedestrian Circulation 
 

November January 2016 2022 October 2023 

Figure 4-10: Bicycle and Pedestrian Circulation Network 

 
Source: Metropolitan Transportation Commission, AECOM, 2023 

172



Chapter 4 | Traffic + Circulation 

Page 4-20 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

New on-street bike facility and off-street bike and pedestrian facility 
improvements or enhancements are proposed, includinginclude:  

 Providing Bbike lanes on Lotz Way, Driftwood Drive, Marina 
Boulevard, Civic Center Boulevard, Sacramento Street, Cordelia 
Street, and Railroad Avenue. 

 Supporting future development of the large commercially zoned 
property at the northwest corner of Highway SR 12 and Marina 
Boulevard with on-street and off-street bicycle facilities that 
ensure internal safe and convenient bicycle movements and 
connect externally to surrounding regional trails, to Main Street 
in the Downtown Waterfront District, and to Downtown 
Fairfield.  

 Providing continuous north-south on-street bike lanes along 
Railroad Avenue, parallel to the train tracks, Whispering Bay 
Lane, and an off-street path connecting Civic Center Boulevard/ 
with Marina Boulevard.  

 Providing or improving on-street bike facilities along the key 
connecting east-west roadways to waterfront and regional trails, 
and neighborhoods in the Specific Plan Planning Area, including 
Lotz Way, Driftwood Drive, Sacramento Street, Francisco Drive, 
and Cordelia Street. 

 Expanding on the Class I bicycle/pedestrian path/promenade 
system following the Suisun Channel and linked to key street 
access points. The first leg of this system from Walnut Street, 
around to the Civic Center to the current terminus of Civic 
Center Boulevard, is now in place. Additional proposed 
improvements include:   

- Extension of this Class I bicyclethe trail at its current eastern 
terminus through the waterfront open space along 
Whispering Bay (Figure 4-7) and following the drainage canal, 
south of Whispering Bay Lane.  

- Extension of the pedestrian promenade that currently 
terminates on the west side of the channel south to the boat 
launch facility in the Southern Waterfront area, to connect 
with State Park trails south of the Specific Plan Planning Area.  

 Identifying opportunities to provide shaded areas with drinking 
fountains, benches, and other amenities to further encourage the 
use of the City’s off-street bicycle and pedestrian facilities. 

 Collaborate with local and State agencies, such as the City of 
Fairfield and other agenciesCaltrans, to improve the safety of the 
existing pedestrian environment, including  on theintersection 
median enhancements and other improvements to pedestrian 
facilities.  existing pedestrian overcrossing through enhancements 
to lighting and other improvements. 

173



4.3 Bike and Pedestrian Circulation 
 

November January 2016 2022 October 2023 Page 4-21 

When complete, the path system will follow the entire frontage of the 
waterfront frontage from the boat launch ramp on Kellogg Street to the 
Marina neighborhood, adjacent to Whispering Bay. These improvements, 
along with connections they provide to other pedestrian/bicycle facilities, 
will facilitatemeet the Suisun City General Plan Guiding Principles, 
including: 

 Ensure safe and efficient walking, biking, driving, and parking in the 
Downtown. 

 Design for active pedestrian and bicycle-friendly paths and 
streets, as well as public spaces. 

 Encourage a healthy living environment. 

In addition, with future development of opportunity areas, all new local 
streets will enhance the local pedestrian system, improve Downtown 
connectivity, and foster an environment that encompasses safe bicycle 
and pedestrian travel. Crossing improvements or enhancements to 
support safe bike and pedestrian crossings are also encouraged at key 
intersections within planned new development areas. 

174



Chapter 4 | Traffic + Circulation 

Page 4-22 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

Figure 4-910: Bicycle and Pedestrian Circulation Network 

 

Source: Metropolitan Transportation Commission, AECOM, 202315 

175



Waterfront District Specific Plan  

November 2016SeptemberOctober 2023 Page 5-1 

CHAPTER 5| OPEN SPACE + PUBLIC 
FACILITIESCIVICCIVIC AND 
SERVICESSERVICES 

5.1 Open Space and Public 
FacilitiesCivicPublic Facilities+ Civic and 
Services  

The provision and preservation of open space, waterfront access, and 
other publiccivic facilities  isare critical to create creating the character of 
development envisioned by this Specific Plan. The Both existing and 
planned features within the Waterfront District Specific Plan Area 
(Specific Plan Planning Area) , both existing and planned features, are 
depicted by in Figure 5-1Figure 5-1, “Recreation and Open Space 
Diagram.”  

Park, open space, and public civic facilities in the Specific Plan Planning 
Area include: 

 Suisun Channel. The entire length of the Suisun Channel, north 
of Suisun Bay, provides access for recreational boats between the 
Waterfront District and other locations, including the Sacramento-
San Joaquin Delta and San Francisco Bay. A public promenade and 
multi-use path system circles the channel. The channel requires 
periodic dredging, which is done periodically by . Currently, ththe 
Army Corps of Engineers, as the channel is under federal control 
dredges this federal channel. The City or private entities are 
responsible for dredging the remainder of the navigational channel.  

 Natural Open Space Areas. Natural open space includes 
wetland areas adjacent to City Hall and Whispering Bay,; the 
Pierce Island wetland mitigation site,; and the existing open space 
along the drainage channel south of Whispering Bay Lane. The 
channel/slough winds through the Suisun Marsh. The channel and 
marsh offer fishing and birdwatching opportunities and recreational 
boating, cruising, water skiing, jet skiing, kayaking, and other water-
related activities. Approximately 50 percent of Pierce Island is to 
be retained as a permanent tidal wetland. The remainder of the 

176



Chapter 5 | Open Space + Public FacilitiesCivic and Services 

Page 5-2 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

island is managed as a permanent dredge material disposal site. 
Levee and dike improvements are planned in to stabilize the island.  

 Public and Private Marinas. The Suisun City Marina provides 
155 rental berths, a 300-foot long300-foot-long visitor dock, and 
a boat launch ramp that capitalizes and builds upon the key 
natural feature/amenity in the Planning Area, the waterfront. 

177



5.1 Open Space Open Space and Civic 
 

November January 20162022September 2023 

Figure 5-1: Recreation and Open Space Diagram 

 

178



Chapter 5 | Open Space + Public FacilitiesCivic and Services 

Page 5-4 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

 
 Southern Waterfront Area Boat Launch 

Expansion/Events. The existing boat launch facility is proposed 
to be expanded and enhanced. Plans prepared for the Southern 
Waterfront Area in 2007 envision enhancing the marina facilities, 
improving landscaping, retaining the parking capacity, creating 
clear pedestrian and vehicular circulation, extending the 
waterfront promenade, and accommodating new mixed-use 
development. The waterfront promenade trail is proposed to be 
extended from the Delta Cove neighborhood to the state-owned 
nature trail to the south. This site could accommodate new 
marina slips and a new two-story, retail/office mixed-use building 
on the waterfront, as well as and smaller buildings for water 
recreation and storage. This site could also accommodate a 
public viewing area/pier, plazas  areas and greens for waterfront 
events, a reconstructed dock for crew and kayak use, and a 
relocated fuel dock. 

 Transportation Center. The historic train depot functions as 
an intermodal transportation facility, housing a waiting area and 
ticketing for the Capitol Corridor line;, intercity and local bus 
service,; and bicycle parking facilities. Parking for commuters is 
accommodated in the Caltrans park-and-ride lot across Main 
Street from the train depot.  

 Main Street. The City proposes to improve Main Street with 
new landscaping, paving treatments in strategic locations, and 
appropriate street fixtures (e.g., lighting, benches, trash 
receptacles, etc.), in coordination with more recent streetscape 
improvements on the east side of the street. Streetscape features 
along Harbor Plaza, Main Street, and the Transportation Center 
will have elements of a consistent design theme (e.g., street lights 
and street furniture). The design and construction of frontage 
improvements or installation of streetscape furniture on private 
properties will be coordinated to enhance the design theme. 

 Civic Center. The Civic Center area on the east side of the 
channel includes City Hall, the Suisun City Housing Authority, the 
Police Department, the Solano Yacht Club, and marina slips. 
Waterfront open space and trail facilities in this area are 
proposed to be extended south along the Whispering Bay 
waterfront. 

 Waterfront Parks/Plazas. In addition to the waterfront 
recreational facilities planned in the Southern Waterfront area, 
several small existing waterfront parks are located along the 
Waterfront promenade.  

̶ Harbor Plaza, on Main and Solano Streets, adjacent to the 
waterfront promenade, is an existing one-acre park with a 
raised outdoor stage, gazebo, and sectioned turf areas. 
Special events are focused on Harbor Plaza.  

179



5.1 Open Space Open Space and Civic 
 

November January 20162022October 2023 Page 5-5 

̶ Sheldon Plaza is an existing one-acre park with open turf area 
and waterfront views, at the northern head of the Suisun 
Channel and adjacent to the waterfront promenade and hotel 
and office uses, is an existing one-acre park with open turf area 
and waterfront views. 

 North of City Hall is Mike Day Park, is a n existing three-acre 
park, comprised ofwith a playground, picnic areas, and open 
turf play areas. South of the park and behind City Hall are 
open turf areas, referred to as “City Hall Point.”  

̶  

 Neighborhood Parks. Several neighborhood parks exist within 
the Planning Specific Plan Area. 

̶ Todd Park, located across the street and to the east of City 
Hall, serves as a shared greenspace for the surrounding 
“Harbor Park” residential development.  

̶ An oval, two-acre park, surrounded by local streets, is 
integrated into the “Victorian Harbor” residential 
development just northwest of Crystal Middle School.  

 Parks/Plazas for New Development. New small play areas, 
parks, and plazas should be provided to support future residential 
growth in the Planning Area, as suggested by the park and open 
space concept in Figure 5-1. These facilities should be designed to 
support new infill residential and mixed-use developments and 
contribute and add to the network of open space and 
recreational facilities in the community. To comply with General 
Plan policy, parks and plazas shall be provided at a ratio of at least 
3 acres per 1,000 residents. New development shall be required 
to dedicate and/or contribute on a fair-share basis to improving 
publicly accessible parkland according to City park standards. 

 Parking Facilities. Public parking facilities are located in the 
Caltrans park-and-ride lot north of Lotz Way, on the east side of 
Main Street, adjacent to the expanded marina basin, in and 
around the Harbor Plaza, on Main Street, on streets in the 
Downtown Core district and adjacent to the portion of the 
marina slips south of Harbor Plaza, as described in Chapter 4. 
Refer to Chapter 4 for additional information on existing and 
proposed new parking facilities and Chapter 6 for parking 
standards.  

180



Chapter 5 | Open Space + Public FacilitiesCivic and Services 

Page 5-6 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

5.2 UTILITY SERVICESUtility Services 

5.2.1 Water 

The City provides domestic water for all properties located within its 
boundaries. Domestic water is provided through the Suisun-Solano 
Water Authority (SSWA). Suisun City and Solano Irrigation District (SID) 
formed a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement in 1976 to provide a long 
termlong-term water supply for the City. In 1990, the partnership became 
a full Joint Powers Authority named the SSWA, resulting in the 
reconstruction and modernization of the old Suisun Water System. 

The City handles the local billing and requests for water and sewer 
service and; the SID delivers the water to the meter of each property. 
The SSWA Board, which consists of the City Council and the SID Board, 
provides policy direction for SSWA (Suisun City). 

Water Sources 

Implementation of the 2035 General Plan designates land uses that, if 
developed to full build-out, would increase water demand. Based on the 
projected population of 32,400 at build-out of the 2035 General Plan 
build-out(32,400) and demand factors presented in the Urban Water 
Management Plan (UWMP), the total projected water demand at build-
out of the 2035 General Plan would be approximately 4,251 acre-feet per 
year (afy). 

This analysis examines the estimated increase in water demand in relation 
to the existing conditions to estimate the availability and adequacy of 
water supply. Water supplies for the City are provided by the SSWA. 
The SSWA receives water supplies from the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation’s 
Solano Project and the California Department of Water Resource’s State 
Water Project (SWP), both of which are wholesaled by the Solano 
County Water Agency and Solano Irrigation District.  

Existing and projected water demands in the SSWA service area will be 
met by the water supplies described above and contract entitlements for 
each agency are summarized in Table 5-1Table 5-1. In 2010, the SSWA 
service area had a total of 4,144 afy of potable water supplies. This total is 
anticipated to increase to 6,000 afy by 2035. 

SSWA currently does not use any groundwater in its system. SSWA 
delivered groundwater produced by a well owned by City of Suisun City 
until 2001. The need for the well was eliminated by the installation of the 
Benton Court and Suisun Valley Pumping Plants in 2000–2001. There are 
no plans to resume service from this well or the Suisun Valley in general 
due to high mineral content in the groundwater, sufficient alternative 
surface water supplies, and the need to replace miles of pipeline at 
considerable cost in order to convey water from the Suisun Valley back 
to the main SSWA service area. 

181



5.2 5.2Utility Services Utility Services  

November January 20162022October 2023 Page 5-7 

The Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District (FSSD) oversees wastewater 
collection and treatment and water recycling services in the City of 
Fairfield, Suisun City, and Travis Air Force Base. Currently, there is no 
reclaimed water use nor are there plans to provide reclaimed water 
within the SSWA service area because there is no conveyance 
infrastructure in place to deliver recycled water from the FSSD Fairfield-
Suisun Subregional Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) to the SSWA 
service area. SSWA’‘s capital improvement plans will in the future review 
the potential for future recycling and options for financing. Cooperation 
with the City of Fairfield and the FSSD would be required to implement 
any future actions, and neither of these agencies has planned water 
recycling projects. 

Table 5-1: SSWA Existing and Projected Water Supplies (afy) 

Water Supply Source 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 

Solano Project 1,600  1,600  1,600  1,600   1,600  1,600  

State Water Project -  1,300  1,300  1,300  1,300  1,300  

Contract for State 
Water Project supplies  2,514  1,577  1,939  2,735  2,737  3,100  

Total Supply  6,124  6,492  6,859  7,660  7,667  8,035  

Source: 2035 General Plan Environmental Impact Report (2015) 
 

Facilities 

Currently tThere are four (4) storage tanks in the water system, 
including: 

  which are the following: Cement Hill Tank (2 million 
gallons)., The Cement Hill Tank is supplied by the Cement Hill 
Water Treatment Plants No. 1 and 2, which delivers water to 
Suisun City, the unincorporated area of Tolenas and the Suisun 
Valley. The Gregory Hill Tank receives its water from the Suisun 
City Distribution system, which is pumped from the Benton 
Court Pumping Plant located in Old Town Suisun City with a 
pumping capacity of 1,000 gpm. 

 Gregory Hill Tank (2 million gallons), ). The Gregory Hill 
Tank supplies water to the Suisun Valley through the Suisun 
Valley Pumping Plant at a rate of 400 gpm and/or gravity feeds 
back into the Suisun City distribution system. 

 Sports Complex Tank (1.5 million gallons), ). The Sports 
Complex Tank is a supplemental ground level storage tank with a 
pump to boost into the distribution system at 2,000 gpm. and  

 Suisun City Corporation Yard Tank (1 million gallons). 
The Suisun City Corporation Yard tank is also a supplemental 
ground level storage tank with a pump to boost into the 

182



Chapter 5 | Open Space + Public FacilitiesCivic and Services 

Page 5-8 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

distribution system at 1,200 gpm. These facilities would provide a 
peaking storage of 20% percent and an emergency storage of 
approximately one full anticipated maximum day demand, and will 
also provide fire storage of 420,000 gallons. The table below lists 
the facilities in the SSWA water system. 

The Cement Hill Tank is supplied by the Cement Hill Water 
Treatment Plants No. 1 and 2, which delivers water to Suisun City, 
the unincorporated area of Tolenas and the Suisun Valley. The 
Gregory Hill Tank receives its water from the Suisun City 
Distribution system which is pumped from the Benton Court 
Pumping Plant located in Old Town Suisun City with a pumping 
capacity of 1,000 gpm. The Gregory Hill Tank supplies water to the 
Suisun Valley through the Suisun Valley Pumping Plant at a rate of 
400 gpm and/or gravity feeds back into the Suisun City distribution 
system. The Sports Complex Tank is a supplemental ground level 
storage tank with a pump to boost into the distribution system at 
2,000 gpm. The Suisun City Corporation Yard tank is also a 
supplemental ground level storage tank with a pump to boost into 
the distribution system at 1,200 gpm. These facilities would provide 
a peaking storage of 20% and an emergency storage of 
approximately one full anticipated maximum day demand, and will 
also provide fire storage of 420,000 gallons. The table below lists 
the facilities in the SSWA water system. 

183



5.2 Utility Services 
5.2 Utility Services  

November January 20162022October 2023 Page 5-9 

Table 5-2: Water Supply Facilities 

Cement Hill Water Treatment Plant  

Plant No. 1 (constructed in 1978-79) Conventional plant, 4.6 MGD design capacity 

Plant No. 2 (constructed in 1992-93) Conventional plant, 5.4 MGD design capacity 

Gregory Hill Water Treatment Plant  
(constructed in 1962-63) 

Diatomaceous earth plant, 0.56 MGD design 
capacity removed from service  

    

Cement Hill Tank 2,000,000 gallons, welded steel 

Gregory Hill Tank  2,000,000 gallons, welded steel 

Sports Complex Tank 1,500,000 gallons, welded steel 

Suisun City Corp Yard Tank 1,000,000 gallons, welded steel 

    

Benton Court Pumping Plant  1,000 gpm 

Sports Complex Pumping Plant  2,000 gpm 

Suisun City Corp Yard Pumping Plant  1,200 gpm 

Suisun Valley Pumping Plant 400 gpm 

    

Pipelines 96 miles  

Mainline Valves 1,700 

Metered Services 8,100 

 
As a result of a condition assessment conducted by the SSWA in 2012, it 
has been determined that an additional Cement Hill Tank, Cement Hill 
Tank 2 is needed to meet demands. 

Service Demand 

In December 2012, the SSWA completed its Water System Review, a 
report which projected updated information on the anticipated growth 
and development within its service area, as well as a revised estimate for 
water demand. Based on a review of historic water use records over the 
last 15 years, the Annual Average Day (AAD) demand of each year was 
used to calculate respective factors for the Maximum Month and 
Maximum Day demands for each year. Table 5-3Table 5-3 identifies the 
estimated peak build-out demand, which was calculated using the highest 
demand factors occurring over the last 15 years (SSWA 2012: 4). 

184



Chapter 5 | Open Space + Public FacilitiesCivic and Services 

Page 5-10 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

Table 5-3: Water Usage Demand Factors 

Source: SSWA Water System Review (December 12, 2012). 
 
 
The ultimate maximum day demand is estimated at 6,470 gpm (9.3 MGD) 
for the service area. This represents a significant decrease from the 
previous figure of 11.08 MGD that was estimated in the 2007 Water 
Supply Options report (SSWA 2012: 6).  

The SSWA water demand is anticipated to be less than available water 
supplies through 2035 in normal water years. As shown in Table 5-1Table 
5-1, water supply is projected to be sufficient in normal water years over 
the UWMP’s 20-year planning period (i.e.,from 2015 to 2035). Although 
Table 5-4Table 5-4 shows that water supply in single and multiple-dry 
water years is insufficient to meet demand within the SSWA service area 
over the 20-year planning period, a joint powers agreement between SID 
and Suisun City ensures that water will be provided from the SID water 
supplies and therefore there will be sufficient water supplies to meet 
demands (SSWA 2011:66). A footnote in the UWMP indicates that:  

“The apparent negative supply totals are a result of the 
methodology used for calculating supply reliability. In fact, per the 
joint powers agreement between SID and City of Suisun City the 
commitment has been made that water will be provided for the 
service area from the SID supply and therefore there will not in 
fact be a water shortage” (SSWA 2011:67).  

Section 3.0 of the 1990 SSWA Implementation and Lease Agreement 
states that the “City and District may agree to add additional lands to the 
Joint Service Area covered by this Agreement. Such action shall be 
accomplished only by amendment to this Agreement or by a separate 
written agreement...” According to SID, this process would require future 
negotiations to an amendment of the JPA.  

Water demand is anticipated to be less than available water supplies 
through 2035 in normal water years. A joint powers agreement between 
SID and Suisun City ensures that water will be provided from the SID 
water supplies and therefore there will be sufficient water supplies to 
meet demands.  

  

Annual Average Day (AAD) (gpm)  

Maximum Month (gpm) 1.58 x AAD 

Maximum Day (gpm) 1.92 x AAD 

Maximum Hour (gpm) 3.4 x AAD (Estimated ratio) 

185



5.2 Utility Services 
5.2 Utility Services  

November January 20162022October 2023 Page 5-11 

Table 5-4: SSWA Comparison of Water Supply and Demand, 
202015–2035 

Total Water Supplies 
and Demand  

Projected Demands (afy) 

2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 

Normal Year 

Total Supply 4,477 4,839 5,275 5,637 6,000 

Total Demand 4,462 4,198 4,235 4,232 4,251 

Differences  
(Supply minus Demand) 

15 641 1,040 1,405 1,749 

 Single-Dry Year 

Total Supply 4,432 4,791 5,222 5,581 5,940 

Total Demand 4,462 4,462 4,462 4,462 4,462 

Differences  
(Supply minus Demand) 

(30) 593 987 1,349 1,689 

 Multiple-Dry Year 

Total Supply 4,253 4,597 5,011 5,355 5,700 

Total Demand 4,462 4,462 4,462 4,462 4,462 

Differences  
(Supply minus Demand) 

(209) 399 776 1,123 1,499 

 Multiple-Dry Year 2 

Total Supply 4,164 4,500 4,906 5,242 5,580 

Total Demand 4,462 4,198 4,235 4,232 4,251 

Differences  
(Supply minus Demand)  (298) 302 671 1,010 1,329 

 Multiple-Dry Year 3 

Total Supply 3,492 3,774 4,115 4,397 4,680 

Total Demand 4,462 4,198 4,235 4,232 4,251 

Differences  
(Supply minus Demand)  (970)  (424)  (120) 165 429 

Source: 2035 General Plan Environmental Impact Report (2015). 
 
Conservation & Legislation 

The 2035 General Plan includes measures to ensure that sufficient water 
sources are made available to serve new development. The City will 
condition approval of new developments on the availability of sufficient 
water supply, storage, and fire flow (water pressure), per City standards 
and require demonstration of adequate long-term water supply for large 
development projects as defined in Water Code 10912(a).  

186



Chapter 5 | Open Space + Public FacilitiesCivic and Services 

Page 5-12 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

The City will also require the use of water conservation technologies, 
such as low-flow toilets, efficient clothes washers, and efficient water-
using industrial equipment in new construction, in accordance with code 
requirements; encourage use of recycled water for outdoor irrigation, fire 
hydrants, and commercial and industrial processes; and require new 
development to incorporate climate-appropriate landscaping to reduce 
water demand. In addition, the City will comprehensively assess water 
supply and demand and identify a range of local conservation measures to 
be implemented through the UWMP.  

In addition, the 2035 General Plan includes policies committing the City 
to ongoing water supply planning with Solano County Water Agency, 
Solano Irrigation District, and other local jurisdictions and initiating a 
study with the SSWA and the Solano County Water Agency to 
determine the feasibility of extending a connection from the SSWA water 
treatment facility to Suisun City so that the City may directly utilize its 
Solano Project water entitlement. The City will also support FSSD efforts 
to explore the feasibility of using treated wastewater for irrigation in 
parks, landscaped areas, and other appropriate locations.  

5.2.2 Wastewater 

The City of Suisun City and the Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District (FSSD) 
jointly operate and maintain the wastewater collection system that serves 
the City. FSSD owns and operates the trunk sewer system, which 
includes all 12-inch and larger sewers and the major pump stations and 
force mains that convey wastewater to the District’s wastewater 
treatment plant. FSSD also owns, operatesoperates, and maintains all of 
the pump stations in the City’s wastewater collection system. The City, 
along with the City of Fairfield and Travis Air Force Base, is a “satellite 
collection system” to FSSD and owns and operates only those 10-inch 
and smaller gravity sewers within its service area. The City’s portion of 
the system consists of approximately 74 miles of gravity sewer. The City 
does not own or operate any sanitary sewer pump stations or force 
mains. 

Wastewater flows travel by gravity and are pumped by smaller stations to 
four major pump stations which pump wastewater to the treatment plant. 
The wastewater treatment process includes screening, primary 
treatment, intermediate treatment by oxidation towers and intermediate 
clarifiers, secondary treatment with aeration basins, and secondary 
clarifiers and tertiary treatment via filtration and disinfection. Waste solids 
are thickened and treated in anaerobic digesters. Then, solids are further 
concentrated before being disposed at the Potrero Hills Landfill. Flow is 
continuously measured at the pump stations. On occasion, flow 
monitoring may be deployed into the district’s gravity lines to evaluate 
system capacity and surcharging during storms. Suisun City is served by 
the Suisun Pump station and three smaller stations: Lawler I Pump 
Station, Lawler II Pump Station, and Crystal Street Pump Station.  

187



5.2 Utility Services 
5.2 Utility Services  

November January 20162022October 2023 Page 5-13 

Table 5-5: Wastewater Pump Station Flows 

Pump Station 

Flows 

Pump 
Station 
Rated 

Capacity 
(MGD/gpm) 

Maximum 
Rated 
Flow 

(gpm) 

Typical 
Dry 

(gpm) 

Typical 
Wet 

(gpm) 

Crystal Street 0.5/347 350 6 1015 

Lawler Ranch 2 1.1/764 800 113 213 

Lawler Ranch 1 0.35/250 250 26 40 

Suisun 38.3 MGD  8.1 MGD 27 MGD 

Source: Provided by Kevin Cullen, Fairfield- Suisun Sewer District (October 
2015). 
 
Within the last decade, numerous improvements have been made to the 
treatment facilities to increase peak capacity and improve upon the 
treatment process. A treatment plant project to replace chlorine 
disinfection with ultra-violet disinfection was completed in 2011. The 
Central-Suisun Forcemain Equalization Project, completed in 2013, 
increased the reliable peak capacity of the Suisun Pump Station from 31.7 
to 38.3 mgd, allowing for more water to be processed. The Suisun 
Forcemain improvement project has enabled the pump station to meet 
current and near-term capacity needs until growth and revenue 
projections become more certain. New projects identified in the master 
plan will still be needed to meet long-term capacity requirements.  

To date, system evaluation and capacity assurance of the City’s collection 
system has consisted of observation of sewer system performance during 
dry and wet weather and enforcement of the City’s design standards for 
new sewers. Capacity assessment has been handled historically by the 
Fairfield Suisun Sewer District for the geographic area including Fairfield, 
Suisun City, and portions of Solano County served by the District. In 
2013, the District completed a Sewer System Master Plan (an update of 
its previous Master Plan completed in 2007). The Master Plan identified all 
parcels within the service area of Suisun City, land use type for each 
parcel, and the status of developed versus undeveloped. Wastewater 
flows generated by each parcel were calculated and imported into a 
hydraulic model of the sewer system.  

The Master Plan utilized a hydraulic model to assess the current and 
future flows and capacity needs of all gravity sewers, 12-inches in 
diameter and larger; these larger trunk sewers have a greater potential 
for capacity deficiency due to extended tributary areas. The future 
evaluation and capacity assurance of City sewers will include continued 
observation of system performance during wet weather; expansion of the 
hydraulic model as needed, and enforcement of design standards to 
ensure that new sewers are sized with adequate capacity to serve new 

188



Chapter 5 | Open Space + Public FacilitiesCivic and Services 

Page 5-14 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

development. In the future, the City plans to prepare a Master Plan for its 
sanitary sewer system, which will be coordinated with the District’s 
Master Plan and hydraulic model, in order to develop a capital 
improvement program to address any identified capacity issues. 

The FSSD recently completed a treatment plant expansion that increased 
the average dry weather capacity from 17.5 mgd to 23.7 mgd and reliable 
peak-flow capacity from 34.8 mgd to 52.3 mgd. Currently there are no 
scheduled projects in Suisun City for collection system improvements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 5-2: Average Annual Dry Weather Influent Flow Projection to 2055 

 
Source: City of Suisun City 2016 

189



5.2 Utility Services 
5.2 Utility Services  

November January 20162022October 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.2.3 Stormwater 

The City of Suisun City Public Works and Building Department maintains 
an inventory of facilities and coordinates necessary improvements to 
ensure capacity required to serve new development. The City’s 
Stormwater Management and Discharge Control ordinance was enacted, 
with the intent to regulate non-stormwater discharges to the public 
storm drain system, protect the public storm drain system from spills 
dumping or disposal of materials other than stormwater, and reduce 
pollutants in stormwater discharges, to the maximum extent possible.  

The City’s storm drainage system, which includes creek flows along 
McCoy Creek, Laurel Creek, and Union Avenue Creek, would likely be 
contained within the existing creek bank during a 100-year storm, except 
for localized flooding and standing water that may occur during brief, 
intense storms when runoff exceeds storm drain system capacity.  

As a participant in the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP), Suisun 
City is required to adhere to floodplain management policies that include 
sound land use practices. The Federal Emergency Management Agency 
(FEMA) administers the NFIP through the Federal Insurance 
Administration. FEMA produces flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRMS) 
which identify flood hazard areas and restrict development in these areas 
for the communities participating in the NFIP. 

FSSD and City Activities 

The City’s Municipal Review Permit (MRP) was adopted by the Water 
Board on November 18, 2015. The MRP delineates requirements to 
ensure that storm water quality is protected. The breakdown of shared 
activities between the City and District are delineated through a Drainage 
Maintenance Agreement and are specified as follows. 

 District Activities. District activities include maintenance of 
storm water pump stations, industrial and commercial site 
controls, public information and participation, water quality 
monitoring, mercury controls, PCBs control, copper controls, 
PBDE, and legacy pesticides control. The Sewer District has 
assumed responsibility for operation and maintenance of pump 

190



Chapter 5 | Open Space + Public FacilitiesCivic and Services 

Page 5-16 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

stations located in Suisun City as defined under the “Regional 
Facilities” in the Drainage Maintenance Agreement. 

 City Activities. Municipal maintenance, new development 
compliance, illicit discharge detection and elimination, 
construction site controls, pesticide toxicity control, trash 
control, exempt and conditionally exempt discharges. As detailed 
in the Drainage Maintenance Agreement, the City is also 
responsible for the maintenance of “Local Facilities,” which 
includes storm drain pipelines, box culverts, concrete lined 
channels, improved earth channels, natural creeks, detention 
basins, street sweeping, data management, and fencing. The City 
also maintains a number of open channel storm drains of varying 
sizes. The larger channels are blanketed with natural vegetation 
and require periodic cleaning. There are approximately 14,500 
feet of large open channels and 20,000 feet of smaller ditches. 

Upgrades to storm drainage pipes over the past 10- years include 
improvements required and funded by new developments. All new 
commercial and residential subdivisions are required to conform to the 
City storm drainage standards, protect water quality, and meet Regional 
Water Quality Control Board requirements. Among these requirements, 
in 2009, the San Francisco Bay Region Water Quality Control Board 
adopted the Municipal Regional Stormwater NPDES permit (NPDES 
permit)1 for the San Francisco Bay Region. The intent of the permit is to 
mitigate the potentially detrimental effects of urban runoff through site 
design and source controls early in the development review process and 
provide guidance in the selection of appropriate best management 
practices (BMPs). 

Suisun City is the lead agency responsible for review of projects for 
stormwater conformance with applicable, laws, policies, and guidelines, 
including implementing the C.3 provision of the NPDES permit, which 
requires the City implement measures to reduce stormwater pollution 
and increased stormwater runoff, volume, and duration from new 
development or redevelopment projects.  

Under the C.3 provision, new development or redevelopment in the City 
that creates and/or replaces 10,000 square feet or more of impervious 
surface (collectively over the entire project site), including commercial, 
industrial, residential housing subdivisions, mixed-use and public projects; 
and redevelopment projects resulting in the alteration of more than 50 
percent of the impervious surface of a previously existing development, 
shall be required to implement LID source control, site design, and 
stormwater treatment measures, designed to treat 100%  percent of run-

 
1  The California Regional Water Quality Control Board San Francisco Regional 

Municipal Regional Stormwater NPDES Permit (Permit Number CAS612008), Final 
Order Number R2-2009-0074 is available online at: 
http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/sanfranciscobay/water_issues/programs/stormwater
/mrp.shtml. 

191



5.2 Utility Services 
5.2 Utility Services  

November January 20162022October 2023 Page 5-17 

off for a project’s drainage area on-site or at a joint stormwater 
treatment facility.  

The C.3 provision of the NPDES permit also allows projects alternatives 
to complying with the above standards under provision C.3.e through: (1) 
on-site treatment or treatment of a portion of the run-off for the 
project’s drainage areas with LID treatment measures at a joint 
stormwater treatment facility and treatment of the remaining run-off with 
LID treatment measures at an off-site project in the same watershed or 
(2) treatment on-site or treating a portion of the run-off for the project’s 
drainage areas with LID treatment measures at a joint stormwater 
treatment facility and paying an equivalent in-lieu fee to treat the 
remaining runoff through LID treatment measures at a regional project or 
a regional or municipal stormwater treatment facility that discharges into 
the same watershed as the project. The regional project must achieve a 
net environment benefit and must be constructed by the end of 
construction of a regulated project. If more time is needed, regional 
projects must be completed within three years after the end of 
construction of the regulated project and may be extended to a 
maximum of five years with prior Executive Officer approval.  

The C.3 provision of the NPDES Permit also identifies incentive LID 
treatment reduction credits that apply to certain types of smart growth, 
high-density, and transit-oriented development projects or “special 
projects” (as defined in Section C.3.eii of the NPDES permit) that, at the 
scale of the watershed, can reduce existing impervious surfaces or create 
less accessory impervious areas and auto-related pollutant impacts.  

For any Special Project, the allowable incentive LID Treatment Reduction 
Credit is the maximum percentage of the amount of runoff identified for 
the Special Project’s drainage area, that may be treated with tree box high 
flowrate biofilters and/or vault-based high flowrate media filters. Projects 
within the WDSP area could potentially fall into one or more of these 
three categories of special projects that may qualify for LID treatment 
reduction credits:  

 Category A projects may qualify for a 100 percent LID 
Treatment Reduction Credit – these projects are designed to be 
pedestrian friendly; special projects creatinge or replacing replace 
less than ½ acre of impervious surface area; and located in a 
downtown core area, neighborhood center, or other pedestrian-
oriented district or historic preservation area; propose no or 
only incidental surface parking area; and propose at least 85 
percent lot coverageor downtown core zoning district, 
pedestrian-oriented commercial district, or historic preservation 
site and/or district.;  

 Category B projects may qualify for a LID Treatment Reduction 
Credit between 50 and 100 percent depending on their proposed 
lot coverage – these projects are designed to be pedestrian 
friendly; create or replace between ½ acre and two acres of 

192



Chapter 5 | Open Space + Public FacilitiesCivic and Services 

Page 5-18 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

impervious surface area; located in a downtown area, 
neighborhood center, or other pedestrian-oriented district or 
historic preservation area; propose no or only incidental surface 
parking area; and propose at least 85 percent lot coveragespecial 
projects that create or replace between ½ and 2 acres of 
impervious surface area and achieve minimum project densities of 
50 dwell units per acre or minimum commercial or mixed-use 
intensities of 2:1; and/or.  

 Category C projects may qualify for a LID Treatment Reduction 
Credit between 10 and 50 percent depending on their location 
and design – these projects are transit-oriented, non-auto related 
uses; designed to be pedestrian friendly; that would special 
projects that are transit-orientedcreate or replace between ½ 
acre and two acres of impervious surface area; propose no or 
only incidental surface parking area; and propose at least 85 
percent lot coverage. development projects, located within a 
one-quarter to one-half mile of an existing or planned transit hub, 
such as the Amtrak train depot or located within a designated 
Priority Development Area and providing minimum residential 
densities of 25 dwelling units per acre or at least an Floor Area 
Ratio (FAR) of 2:1. Projects within the WDSP area are within a 
city designated Priority Development Area and automatically 
qualify for a 25% location credit. Up to a 50% location credit is 
applicable to projects located within one-quarter mile of the 
Amtrak train depot. 

Special projects may qualify for up to 100% LID treatment reduction 
credit, based on the requirements and criteria for special projects 
specified in Section C.3.e.ii of the NPDES permit.  

In addition to the C3 permit provision, all construction projects in Suisun 
City are regulated by the NPDES General Permit for Stormwater 
Discharges Associated with Construction Activity, which requires the 
preparation of a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan and filing of a 
Notice of Intent with the State Water Resources Control Board for all 
project that disturb an area of one acre or greater.  

Storm Drainage Pumps 

The City has four stations that drain the areas within and discharge at 
locations described below: 

 Downtown/Main Street. This station is located underneath 
the area where Sacramento Street enters the public parking lot, 
adjacent to the marina. This drains the area from Solano Street, 
north to Hwy SR 12. School Street, west from Sacramento to the 
south, drains to another watershed. The Main Street pump 
station protects the northern section of the old downtown area 
and was just replaced this year as part of the downtown plaza. It 
now has a capacity of 8,500 GPM using two parallel submersible 

193



5.2 Utility Services 
5.2 Utility Services  

November January 20162022October 2023 Page 5-19 

pumps. The station is controlled by a PLC using a bubbler system 
for level control. The calculated runoff is 4,100 GPM. 

 The Wildlife/Kellogg Street Pump Station. This station is 
located at the south end of Kellogg Street. It drains from Solano 
Street south, including the area above that drains down School 
Street. It pumps the water collected from the southern part of 
the old downtown area into the Suisun Slough. There is one main 
outlet into the Wildlife Channel, which is the School Street storm 
drain. The pump station and discharge line were replaced in 1997 
with a submersible pump station, built next to the old station, and 
a new larger discharge line. The old pump, check valve, and MCC 
were removed and the old wet well and discharge line were left 
intact for possible future adaptation with a portable diesel pump 
for emergency use. The station includes a medium size detention 
basin allowing for some storage during short, high rainfall events. 
The new station has a capacity of 4,600 GPM with one pump, 
8,000 GPM with two pumps, and 9,900 GPM with three pumps. 
Currently two pumps are installed with all piping and the MCC 
ready to accept a third pump. The calculated runoff is 7,800 
GPM. 

 The Whispering Bay/Mulberry Street Pump Station. This 
is located at the south end of the Whispering Bay Drainage 
Channel. It drains the area from Lotz Way and Main Street to 
Marina Boulevard, including all the residential streets within the 
area. There are multiple discharge outlets into the Whispering 
Bay Channel. The pump station has two independent propeller 
pumps with ultrasonic level controls.  New discharge pipes and 
bar screens were installed in 1988. The estimated runoff is 15,700 
GPM for a 6-hour event. He station was rebuilt in 2000 with 
capacity to exceed these flows. The station has a large detention 
basin allowing the required capacity to be lowered, if desired.  

 Heritage Park Subdivision/Chipman Lane Pump Station. 
There is a pump station along Highway SR 12, about midway on 
Chipman Lane. This drains a large portion of the Heritage Park 
Subdivision. The Chipman Lane pump station collects storm 
water in the north-south area between Chipman Lane and the 
railroad tracks and pumps it under Highway SR 12 into a channel. 
The station has three independent propeller pumps controlled by 
float switches, with a total capacity of 30,300 GPM. The 
estimated runoff is 8,300 GPM.  

5.2.4 Solid Waste 

The City of Suisun City contracts with Republic Services Solano Garbage 
to provide weekly collection of solid waste, yard waste, and recyclable 
material to the residents and businesses of Suisun City. As part of the 
statewide waste management and reduction policy, the California 
Integrated Waste Management Board (CIWMB) allocated the City of 
Suisun City with a disposal target of 4.9 pounds per person per day. In 

194



Chapter 5 | Open Space + Public FacilitiesCivic and Services 

Page 5-20 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

2014, the City of Suisun City’s disposal rate was 2.6 pounds per person 
per day, considerably below the CIWMB target. 

Suisun City has one recycling drop-off center located within the city 
boundaries. Recyclable material that is collected by Republic Services is 
sent to The Recyclery at Newby Island facility, located in Milpitas. 

Solid waste collected from Suisun City is deposited at the Potrero Hills 
Landfill. In 2014, the landfill received 588,917 tons of solid waste, of which 
2.3 percent was from Suisun City residents and businesses. The total 
capacity of the landfill is 55.865 million cubic yards. The landfill currently 
has a remaining capacity of approximately 33.815 million cubic yards. It is 
projected that the landfill will reach capacity in December 2045. 

5.2.5 Gas and Electric 

The Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E)  provides electricity and 
natural gas to the City. Public electrical energy for Solano County is 
generated outside the County and supplied via transmission lines. Major 
transmission line corridors traverse Solano County, serving the greater 
Bay Area. PG&E provides natural gas service to the area through both 
underground and aboveground transmission and distribution facilities. 
New distribution facilities are typically constructed within easements on 
private property.  

However, in some instances, new facilities are constructed within existing 
streets to increase capacity. Locations of distribution facilities generally 
depend on how and when an area develops. Specific Plan Area projects 
applicants and the City are required to involve PG&E in the development 
process to ensure that electricity and natural gas provision needs are 
incorporated into the development process. 

5.2.6 Telecommunications 

AT&T (formerly SBC), provides local telephone communication service 
for all of Solano County, including Suisun City and the Specific Plan Area. 
Major telephone transmission lines traverse the region. These lines 
normally follow rights-of-way that parallel roadways and rail lines. AT&T 
also provides internet service in the area. Cable television service is 
provided through Comcast, Inc. 

195



5.3 5.3Community Services Community Services  

November January 20162022September 2023 Page 5-21 

 

5.3 Community Services 

5.3.1 Public Safety 

Police protection is provided by the City of Suisun City Police 
Department, which is located in the Planning Specific Plan Area adjacent 
to City Hall. The Suisun City Ppolice Ddepartment currently has no plans 
to upgrade or reconstruct the police station or the Burdick Center 
substation outside the Planning Specific Plan Area. However, there may 
be opportunities during implementation of the Specific Plan to use 
technology within the WDSP Area to enhance security through, for 
example, through Bluetooth access for security communication or 
through the installation of emergency call boxes.  

Fire protection is provided by the City of Suisun City Fire Department, 
which provides fire protection services in the incorporated area of the 
City. The department Department has one fire station at 621 Pintail 
Drive and . The Suisun City Fire Department has considered alternative 
location/s to better serve residents and address citywide goals to respond 
to 90 percent of all calls within five minutes.  

The Fire Department also has a memorandum of understanding as a 
member of the County Hazardous Materials Response team and 
participates with the State Office of Emergency Services for mutual aid 
response agreements.  

5.3.2 Educational Facilities 

The Fairfield-Suisun Unified School District (school district) provides 
service to elementary, middle school, and high school students. The 
Specific Plan DWSP Area is served by Crescent Elementary School, a K–5 
school east of the Specific Plan DWSP Area and south of Highway SR 12. 
Crystal Middle School serves students from grades 6-8 and is located 
within the Specific Plan Planning Area, at the southeast corner of 
Driftwood Drive and Whispering Bay Lane. The Planning Specific Plan 
Area is within the school boundaries of Armijo High School. The school 
district is not experiencing capacity issues, with the potential exception of 
Armijo High School, which is at capacity.  

Solano County College is a community college in Fairfield that offers a 
variety of degree programs and serves the Suisun City area. 

5.3.3 Library Facilities 

There is one library serving Suisun City, the Suisun City Library, a branch 
of the Solano County Library system. This facility, which opened in 2008, 
is 10,000 square feet and is built adjacent to the Suisun Elementary school 
and doubles as a public and school library. The library includes a study 
room, community meeting room, and computer center. It hosts library 
programs during the day and community meetings at night.  

196



Waterfront District Specific Plan    

September 2023November January 2016 2022  Page 6-1 

CHAPTER 6| DEVELOPMENT + DESIGN 
STANDARDS + DESIGN 
GUIDELINES  

6.1 Introduction 

This chapter establishes the development and design standards  and design 
guidelines governing proposed development within the Waterfront 
District Specific Plan (WDSP) Area (Planning Specific Plan Area). When 
reviewing project plans, the reviewing body (Development Services 
Director, Planning Commission, or  or City Council, or Development 
Services Director, as the case may be) shall refer to the WDSP 
development and design standards. and design guidelines. Where the 
WDSP is silent on an issue, the City will consult the General Plan and 
Zoning Code. If there is a conflict between the General Plan and the 
Zoning Code, the General Plan prevails.  

A. Standards 

Standards are identified by terms such as “shall,” “must,” “required,” or 
“prohibited.” Standards are specific and measurable regulations that are 
applied in the review of projects.  Compliance with standards is 
required through the entitlement review process. 

F. Guidelines 

Guidelines are design principles that are generally expected to be 
followed unless the applicant can demonstrate that a deviation would 
still accomplish the intent of the guidelines to the same degree or 
better.  

Refer to Chapter 7 of the Specific Plan for the administration of the 
Specific Plan, including the process for Site Plan and Architectural 
Review, Major and Minor Specific Plan Amendments, Variances, and 
Exceptions and the regulation of nonconforming uses and structures.  

6.1.26.1.1 Community Design Approach 

The development and design standards and design guidelines in this 
chapter ensure compatibility of new construction, alterations, and other 

 
Old Town Suisun City has a traditional 
Downtown architectural character, with 
small blocks and lots and a gridded 
street pattern.  

 
Building heights above the first two 
stories are encouraged toshall be 
stepped back, if needed, to respect the 
heights of existing adjacent residential 

 
Secondary Accessory dwelling unit 
attached to the garage of a single-family 
home.  

 
Garages are encouragedshall be at the rear 
of the lot and accessed by an alley or 

 
197



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards + Design Guidelines  

Page 6-2                                                      Waterfront District Specific Plan 

exterior improvements with the desired architectural character of the 
WDSP Area.  

Development standards provide clear direction on the scale and 
location of new buildings constructed within the Specific Plan Area. 
Design guidelines standards emphasize the creation of a sense of 
identity and orientation for pedestrians, residents, and visitors. This is 
accomplished by a variety of means, including through the scale, 
orientation, and design of the built environment; orientation and design 
of public spaces and landscaping; a grid street pattern; a visible hierarchy 
of streets; development of a comprehensive open space system; and 
other techniques.  

Design guidelines standards for residential development apply to each of 
the residential Land Use Zones: Residential Low Density (RLD); 
Residential Medium Density (RMD); Residential High Density (RHD); 
and Historic Residential (HR). Please refer to Chapter 3 for a more 
detailed discussion of the Land Use Zones.  

Design guidelines standards for commercial and mixed-use (residential 
and non-residential) development apply both based on the Land Use 
Zone of the proposed project. and also the Planning District within 
which the subject project site is located. Please see Chapter 2 for a 
discussion of the Planning Districts (and Figure 2-1).  

Most of the Plan Area is built-outbuilt out. However, there are key 
opportunity sites, the development of which will be important to 
achieving the Specific Plan’s intent with respect to design. Figure 6-1, 
“Illustrative Site Concept Plan” shows how opportunity sites within the 
Specific Plan could be developed, consistent with the intent of this Plan. 
Figure 6-1 provides illustrative concepts, but neither represents specific 
requirements or a formal endorsement by the City of the illustrative 
concepts.

198



6.1 Introduction    

November September 2023January 2016 2022  

Figure 6-1: Illustrative Site Concept Plan  

 

199



Chapter 6 | Development + Deign Standards + Design Guidelines  

Page 6-4  Waterfront District Specific Plan 

6.2 Residential Development + Design Standards + 
Design Guidelines 

6.2.1 Intent 

Residential development and design standards and design guidelines 
focus on developing a traditional downtown setting that fosters 
community activities, social interaction, and a strong cohesive image for 
the Downtown Waterfront District. Design guidelines are intended 
tostandards will support fostermaintain the a pedestrian-oriented design 
environment, where the fundamental intent is to reduce the impact of 
the automobile vehicles by encouraging requiring narrower streets, 
smaller lots accessed by alleys and with opportunities for on-street 
parking and less off-street parking than allowed under conventional 
zoning standards. Old Town Suisun City is an inspiration for new 
residential development in the WDSP, with its smaller blocks and lots, 
grid pattern of streets, diverse architectural styles, and variety of 
housing types and sizes. 

6.2.2 Residential Development Standards  

Development standards for residential uses within the Specific Plan 
Planning Area are summarized in Table 6-1Table 6.1. Existing uses and 
structures in established residential neighborhoods that are not in 
compliance with some of the development and design standards and 
design guidelines in this chapter shall be allowed to continue, but subject 
to the standards for nonconforming uses and structures described in 
Chapter 7.5. 

 New residential lots shall be have the minimum lot sizes and 
setbacks indicated in Table 6-1Table 6.1, except that porches, 
stoops, bay windows,  balconies, and eaves and overhangs may 
encroach into setback areas, as indicated in the table below.  

Table 6-1: Encroachments iInto Setbacks  
 
(i.e., porches, stoops, bay windows, balconies, and overhangs) 

1. Front Setback 6’ max, where applicable  
2. Side Setback 3’ max  
3. Rear Setback  3’ max, where applicable  

 
 Building heights above the first two stories are encouraged 

toshall be step back, if needed, to respect the heights of existing 
adjacent residential development, particularly along Lotz Way. 

 The height of a new development shall be limited to the building 
height maximum identified in each zoning district. Building 
height shall be grade to the peak of the roof.s, as measured 
from grade to the peak of the roof.  

 Guesthouses and secondary accessory dwelling units shall be 
subject to the land use and development standards in Table 

200



6.2 6.2Residential Development + Design Standards Residential Development Standards + Design 
Guidelines 

November January 2016 2022October 2023  Page 6-5 

6-2Table 6-1 and regulations in Chapter 18.44.15030.170 of the 
City’s Zoning Code. 

A. Residential Garages 

1. Garages should shall be tucked back into the house with limited 
exposure on the street or placed at the rear of the lot when 
motor courts or alleys are provided. 

2. Garage doors should shall be recessed for greater articulation 
and trash and storage areas incorporated within the garage or 
parking areas, where appropriate. 

3. Alley-loaded garages shall be set back a minimum of three (3) 
feet from each side of the alleyway and provide wall hung light 
fixtures facing onto the alley. 

B. Fences 

1. Backyard fences are encouragedshall be along motor courts and 
alleys. The height of side and rear yard fences shall not exceed 
six (6) feet. Side yard fences should shall be terminated three 
feet behind the front façade. Side yard fence setbacks on corner 
lots shall be a minimum of five (5) feet from the back of the 
sidewalk.  

2. The setback area in front of fences shall be landscaped.  

3. Front yard fences, where provided,  are encouraged toshall be a 
maximum height of three (3) feet and may consist of wood or 
steel posts with wood pickets, rails, or decorative wrought iron 
that allows for eyes on the street. Front yard fences shall not 
exceed six (6) feet in height and where provided, above three 
(3) feet, fences shall be designed to be visually open and placed 
at the back of the sidewalk or set back and landscaped.  

 

 
Front yard fences are encouraged toshall 
be set back, landscaped, and designed to 
be visually open above the first three3 feet.  

201



Chapter 6 | Development + Deign Standards + Design Guidelines  

Page 6-6  Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Table 6-2: Residential Development 
Table 6.1: Residential Development 

Land Use District 
Residential Low 

Density  
(RLD) 

Residential 
Medium Density 

(RMD) 

Residential High 
Density  
(RHD) 

Historic 
Residential  

(HR) 
A. LOT / SITE DESIGN     

4. Lot Coverage1 70% max  80% max 80% max 70% max 

5. Density2  
4-10 du/gross ac  
(5-12 du/net ac) 

10.1-20 du/gross ac 
(1012.1-24.9 du/net 
ac) 

20.1-45 du/gross ac 
(254.1-54 du/net ac) 

5-15 du/gross ac  
(6-18 du/net ac) 

6. Floor Area Ratio  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  
7. Lot Area 3,000 sf min 1,500 sf min N/A 2,500 sf min 
8. Lot Width 40’ min 25’ min none 40’ min 
9. Lot Depth 65’ min 55’ min none 60’ min 
B. BUILDING PLACEMENT AND HEIGHT   
    Primary Building Setback3     
1. Front Setback  7.5’ min-20’ max4 5’ min-15’ max4 0’ min-15’ max4 10’ min-15’ max4 
2. Side Setback (street) 7.5’ min-20’ max  5’ min-15’ max  70% min5  5’ min-15’ max 

3. Side Setback (interior) 
5’ min (1-2 stories) 
15’ min (3 stories) 

5’ min (1-2 stories) 
for 1 side, 3.5’ min 
for other side  in 
addition to any 
encroachment;  
15’ min (3 stories) 

0’ min-15’ max 
5’ min (1-2 
stories)      15’ 
min (3 stories) 

4. Rear Setback5  5’ min  5’ min 
5’ min (1-2 stories)   
stories)     15’ min 
(3+ stories) 

5’ min  

5. Height Limit 35’ max 35’ max 55’ max 35’ max 
    Secondary Accessory Dwelling Setback    
1. Front Setback  15’ min or equal to primary building setback  

2. Side Setback (street) 

10’ 4’ min 
10’ min 
10’ min 
10’ min 

3. Side Setback (interior) 

40’ min 
0’ min 
0’ min 
0’ min 

4. Rear Setback  

45’ min 
5’ min 
5’ min 
5’ min 

5. Height Limit6 

20’ max 
20’ max 
20’ max 
20’ max 

C. ENCROACHMENTS INTO SETBACKS   

202



6.2 Residential Development + Design Standards 
6.2 Residential Development Standards + Design Guidelines 

November January 2016 2022September 2023  Page 6-7 

1. Front Setback 6’ max, where applicable 

2. Side Setback 3’ max 

3. Rear Setback 3’ max, where applicable 
Notes: 
du/ac = dwelling units per gross acre,; min = minimum,; max = maximum,; sf = gross square feet 
1   Lot coverage includes primary buildings, accessory buildings, covered parking, and covered patios. 
2  Density bonuses or increases may be allowedcan be allowed for the provision of affordable housing and project amenities, such 

as day care facilities and additional open space, as addressed in the Suisun City Zoning Code, Chapter 18.47 for residential 
density bonuses. 

3   Yards and setback areas shall be landscaped in accordance with water-efficient landscaping standards, addressed in Title 20 of the 
Suisun City Zoning Code and in the State Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (MWELO), as applicable. 

4   Front setbacks shall be consistent with the setbacks of adjacent buildings on the street. Garage shall be no closer than 18 feet 
from the back of the sidewalk. 

5   Rear garage setback shall be a minimum of 3 feet from the rear property line. 
6   A secondaryaccessory dwelling shall not exceed 20 feet in height, except when attached to the primary unit, the maximum 

height shall be that established for the primary dwelling. 

 

 

6.2.3 Residential Site and Design Standards and 
Design Guidelines 

A. Neighborhoods  

1. The architectural character of new residential neighborhood 
areas or development should shall reflect procure historic 
elements of historicwithin the residential styles in a modern 
context. Each neighborhood should shall include a variety of 
styles. 

2. New buildings should shall be designed to respect the privacy of 
adjacent buildings by restricting views directly into adjoining 
buildings and private yards.  

3. New development should shall maintain compatibility in building 
layout, height, scale, and massing with existing residential 
development.  

B. Parks and Open Space 

1. A variety of parks and open space are shall be located 
encouraged within the Specific Plan Planning Area, designed and 
located to help promote public health. Refer to Chapter 5 for 
park, open space, and public facility concepts. 

2. Parks or play areas shouldshall be dispersed and located to be 
easily accessible to each neighborhood area.  

2.3. New multi-family residential development shall be designed with 
common open space and recreational features unless there is 
existing parkland within one-quarter mile walking distance.  

203



Chapter 6 | Development + Deign Standards + Design Guidelines  

Page 6-8  Waterfront District Specific Plan 

4. Pocket parks (of one-half acre or less) are encouraged asshall be 
landscape amenities and as a means to give a distinct identity to 
residential areas.  

5. New small play areas, parks, and plazas shall be provided to 
support future residential growth in the Specific Plan Planning 
Area, as suggested by the park and open space concept in Figure 
5-1. These facilities shall be designed to support new infill 
residential and mixed-use developments and contribute and add 
to the network of open space and recreational facilities in the 
community.  

C. To comply with General Plan policy, parks and plazas 
shall be provided at a ratio of at least 3 acres per 1,000 
residents. New development shall be required to dedicate 
and/or contribute on a fair-share basis to improving 
publicly accessible parkland according to City park 
standards 

 

D.C. Landscaping 

1. A a combination of trees, shrubs, and ground cover is required 
to Deciduous plant materials are encouraged to allow maximum 
winter sun and summer shade. Plantings may be deciduous.  

2. Sustainable landscaping, with cClimate-appropriate landscaping 
plantings with efficient water use is encouraged.required. 

3. The use of impervious paving surfaces (concrete, asphalt) 
shouldshall be minimized, to the extent feasiblelimited to 
sidewalks, walkways, patios, drivewaysdriveways, and parking 
spaces that meet the parking requirement. Use of Ppermeable 
surfaces and paving materials is encouraged.shall be utilized for 
not less than 20 percent of the applicable paving surfaces.  

4. Outdoor lighting on private lots shouldshall be designed and 
directed away from common boundaries and neighboring uses.  
so that it does not intrude on neighboring uses or shine directly 
into the street.   

5. Shade trees and landscape trees shouldshall be of appropriate 
species, including those that provide shade, stormwater 
management, aesthetic benefits, and screening to soften the 
impacts of large expanses of pavement and vehicle movement, 
based upon planting area and proximity to homes and sidewalks.  
Large shade trees need adequate room to grow as they mature 
and shall be spaced such that, at maturity, the drip lines do not 
overlap. 

based upon planting area and proximity to homes and sidewalks.  
Large shade trees need adequate room to grow as they mature. 

   
New residential areas or development 
should reflect elements of historic 
residential styles in a modern context.  

 
Parks or play areas should be dispersed 
within and easily accessed on footthe 
planning area.  

 
Deciduous plantings are encouraged to 
provide maximum winter sun and summer 
shade.  

Impervious paving surfaces in landscaping 
should be minimized to the extent feasible.   

204



6.2 Residential Development + Design Standards 
6.2 Residential Development Standards + Design Guidelines 

November January 2016 2022October 2023  Page 6-9 

5.6. Yard areas facing the street shouldshall be designed using 
landscape elements of 40 percent hardscape and 60 percent 
softscape. 

6.7. Landscape design must consider water conservation strategies, 
consistent with the State of California State Model Water 
Efficient Landscape OrdinanceMWELO. 

6.2.4 Residential Building Design 
GuidelinesStandards 

A. Architectural Details 

A “cookie-cutter” appearance shall be avoided by incorporating 
significant changes in massing and rooflines between elevations of the 
same floor plan. 

1. Architectural elements, such as front and side porches, bay 
windows, rooflines, front door entrances, massing, and facade 
detailing are important distinguishing residential design elements 
and shouldshall be incorporated in new development. These 
features and exterior colors shouldshall be varied between units 
and from house to house along a street.  

2. Flat roofs shouldshall be avoided on single-family homes and 
garages. 

3. Compatibility of color with the soft browns, blues, and greens 
that dominate the waterfront shouldshall be emphasized. 

4. Buildings shouldshall be sited so that the first floor rests directly 
on grade. A minimum lift of ten 10 inches off the pad is 
encouraged in order to provide the home with a more 
substantial presence on the street. 

Residential Garages 
Garages should be tucked back into the house with limited exposure on 
the street or placed at the rear of the lot when motor courts or alleys are 
provided. Garage doors should be recessed for greater articulation and 
trash and storage areas incorporated within the garage or parking areas, 
where appropriate. Alley-loaded garages shall be set back a minimum of 
three (3) feet from each side of the alleyway and provide wall hung light 
fixtures facing onto the alley. Fences Backyard fences are encouraged 
along motor courts and alleys. The height of side and rear yard fences 
shall not exceed six (6) feet. Side yard fences should be terminated three 
feet behind the front façade. Side yard fence setbacks on corner lots shall 
be a minimum of five (5) feet from the back of the sidewalk.  
The setback area in front of fences shall be landscaped.  
Fence setbacks along major streets (Lotz Way, Civic Center Boulevard, 
and Marina Boulevard) shall be at least fifteen (15) feet from the back of 
the sidewalk. 
Front yard fences, where provided, are encouraged to be a maximum 
height of three (3) feet and may consist of wood or steel posts with wood 
pickets, rails, or decorative wrought iron that allows for eyes on the 

 
Architectural elements, façade details, and 
exterior colors should be varied between 
units and house to house.  

 
Basic building colors should use neutral 
colors, compatible with the waterfront.  

 
Garages are encouraged at the rear of the 
lot and accessed by an alley or motorcourt. 

 
Front yard fences are encouraged to be set 
back, landscaped, and designed to be 
visually open above the first 3 feet.  

205



Chapter 6 | Development + Deign Standards + Design Guidelines  

Page 6-10  Waterfront District Specific Plan 

street. Front yard fences shall not exceed six (6) feet in height and where 
provided, above three (3) feet, fences shall be designed to be visually 
open and placed at the back of the sidewalk or set back and landscaped. 

206



6.3 Commercial Development + Design Standards6.2 Residential Development Standards + Design 
Guidelines 

November January 2016 2022October 2023  Page 6-11 

6.3 Commercial Development + Design Standards 
+ Design Guidelines 

The following development standards and guidelines apply to the 
commercial and mixed usemixed-use zones within the Specific Plan 
Planning Area. The guidelines and standards set forth basic design 
principles, including building height, form and composition, storefront 
design, landscaping, and signage.  

 
 
 
As noted previously, design guidelines standards for commercial and 
mixed-use (residential and non-residential) development apply both 
based on the Land Use Zone of the proposed project and also the 
Planning District within which the subject project site is located.  
 
6.3.1 Intent 

The City’s intent is to preserve the historic architectural character and 
small-town flavor of the Specific Plan Area, while encouraging new 
development and greater vibrancy, consistent with the goals, objectives, 
and standards of this Plan.  

6.3.2 Commercial and Mixed UseMixed-Use 
Development Standards  

Development standards for commercial and mixed usemixed-use zones 
are summarized in Table 6-3Table 6.2. 

 

 

 
Downtown Suisun City has a historic architectural character and small town charm that 
should be preserved and enhanced. 

Table 6.2: Commercial and Mixed Use Development Standards1 

Land Use District 
Downtown 

Commercial 
(DC) 

Downtown 
Mixed Use 

(DMU) 

Main Street 
Mixed Use 
(MSMU) 

Historic 
Limited 

Commercial  
(HLC) 

Waterfront 
Commercial 

(WC) 

LOT / SITE DESIGN         

1. Lot Coverage2 80% max 80% max 100% max 70% max 50% max 

2. Density 3 N/A N/A N/A N/A  N/A 

3. Floor Area Ratio  0.25-2.0 0.30-3.0 0.30-2.0 0.25-1.0 0.25-1.0 

4. Lot Area 4,000 sf min 3,000 sf min 2,500 sf min 2,500 sf min 2,500 sf min 

207



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards + Design Guidelines  

Page 6-12                                                    Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Table 6-3: Commercial and Mixed UseMixed-Use Development Standards1 

Land Use District 
Downtown 

Commercial 
(DC) 

Downtown 
Mixed Use 

(DMU) 

Main Street 
Mixed Use 
(MSMU) 

Historic 
Commercial  
(Commercial 

(HC) 

Waterfront 
Commercial 

(WC) 

LOT / SITE DESIGN         

1. Lot Coverage2 80% max 80% max 100% max 70% max 50% max 

2. Density3 N/A N/A N/A N/A  N/A 

3. Floor Area Ratio  0.25-2.0 0.30-3.0 0.3075-2.0 0.25-1.0 0.25-1.0 

4. Lot Area 4,000 sf min 3,000 sf min 2,500 sf min 2,500 sf min 2,500 sf min 

5. Lot Width 50’ min 50’ min 40’30 min 40’30 min 40’ min 

6. Lot Depth 70’ min 60’ min 60’ min 60’ min 60’ min 

BUILDING PLACEMENT AND HEIGHT 

Primary Building Setback4         

1. Front Setback  
0’ min-20’ 
max 0’ min-15’ max 0’ min-15’ max4 5’ min-15’ max5 

5’ min-15’ 
max 

2. Side Setback 
(street) 

0’ min-15’ 
max 0’ min-15’ max 0’ min-15’ max 5’ min-15’ max 

10’ min-20’ 
max 

3. Side Setback 
(interior) 

0’ min (non)    
non)     15’ 
min (res) 

0’ min (non)    
non)   15’ min 
(res) 

0’ min (non)    
non)   15’ min 
(res) 

5’ min (1-2 
stories); 15’ min 
(3+ stories) 

0’ min (non)   
non)    15’ 
min (res) 

4. Rear Setback6  15’ min  15’ min  
0’ min (non)   
non)    15’ min 
(res) 

5’ min 
0’ min (non)     
15’ min (res) 

5. Height Limit 60’ max 60’ max7 
16’ min; 50’ 
max7 35’ max 35’ max 

Notes: 
du/ac = dwelling units per acre, min = minimum, max = maximum, sf = square feet, non = nonresidential, res = 
residential 
1 Residential development within a commercial or mixed usemixed-use zone shall be subject to the development 

standards for the Residential High Density Zone (RHD), identified in Table 6-1.  
2 Lot coverage includes primary buildings, accessory buildings, covered parking, and covered patios. 
3 Density bonuses or increases may be allowed for the provision of affordable housing and project amenities, such as 

day care facilities and additional open space, as addressed in the Suisun City Zoning Code, Chapter 18.47 for 
residential density bonuses. 

4 Yards and setback areas shall be landscaped in accordance with water-efficient landscaping standards, addressed in 
Title 20 of the Suisun City Zoning Code and the State Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance. 

5 Front setbacks shall be consistentwithin five feet of  with the setbacks of adjacent buildings on the street. 
6 Rear garage setback for a detached garage shall be a minimum of 3 feet from the rear property line. Rear setbacks 

for an attached garage shall be the same as that required for the primary structure.  
7 Building heights in the Downtown Core Planning District shall not exceed a maximum height of 50 feet. Building 

heights shall be stepped to respect the heights of existing adjacent residential development.  

 
 

208



6.3 Commercial Development + Design Standards + Design Guidelines 

November January 2016 2022October 2023  Page 6-13 

6.3.3 Main Street Mixed Use and Downtown Mixed 
Use Zones in the Downtown Core 

The following design standards and guidelines and development 
standards apply to the Main Street Mixed Use and Downtown Mixed 
Use Zones, particularly within the Downtown Core Planning District. 
This District consists primarily of commercial buildings typically built up 
to the sidewalk edge, rectilinear in form, with large storefronts on the 
ground floor facade. Where residential structures exist on the west side 
of Main Street, the residential standards and guidelines in Section 6.1 
shall govern. Refer to Chapter 4 for street and streetscape design 
guidelines standards for Main Street and other Downtown commercial 
and residential areas. 

A. Building Height, Placement, and Setbacks 

1. The height of new street-facing facades shallhould be greater 
than sixteen (16) feet but no more than fifty (50) feet, as 
measured from the sidewalk to the top of the cornice.  

2. Along Main Street, building facades shall be a minimum of 16 
feet in height and appear as a two (2) story building, if not two 
(2) stories or greater in height.   

3. Where building heights differ between adjacent properties, the 
adjacent heights of major facade elements, such as storefronts, 
ground floors, upper floors, sill lines and strong horizontal 
features, such as belt courses and cornices shall be related. 

4. Buildings and facades shall be constructed to the back of the 
sidewalk of the adjacent street(s). Only entries and flanking 
display windows may be recessed from the property line. 
Doorways shouldshall be designed to focus on the street to 
create more activity along the sidewalk. 

4.5. Businesses and buildings on Main Street shall face orand orient 
toward Main Street. Buildings on adjacent streets within the 
Downtown Core shall orient towards Harbor Plaza and/or the 
marina. 

B. Building Form and Style 

1. Like the historic buildings on Main Street, building forms shall be 
primarily rectilinear and parallel to existing nearby streets or 
buildings. Oblique, polygonal, and circular-shaped buildings are 
prohibited. 

2. Architectural Unique character-defining architectural features of 
buildings that are eligible historical resources shall be maintained 
and respectedor replaced in-kind in any renovation or 
remodeling work. 

3. The scale of new construction shouldshall be harmonious with 
that of adjacent buildings. The scale of various design and 

 
Downtown commercial structures are typically 
rectilinear and built to the edge of the sidewalk. 

Where building heights differ between 
adjacent properties, the height of adjacent 
major façade elements shall be related. 

 
The scale of new infill construction shall be 
harmonious with that of adjacent buildings of 
historic interest. 

209



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards + Design Guidelines  

Page 6-14                                                      Waterfront District Specific Plan 

construction elements shouldshall be consistent with adjacent 
buildings of historic interest. 

4.3. When a new building is proposed to replace a historic 
structure, key architectural elements of the original building 
shouldshall be used in the construction of the new building. 

5.4. The architectural character of new construction and 
rehabilitation shall reflect the traditional building forms of 
historic Suisun City by containing design elements that procure 
historic elements within the commercial styles in a modern 
context. produce a similar visual image. Highly contemporary 
and articulated building forms are not permitted. “Wild West” 
themes typified by false front architecture, embellished with 
gingerbread-style detail, board- and- batten siding, and bright 
colors are not an appropriate or acceptable building motif. 

C. Exterior Walls 

1. Exterior walls shouldshall usually be designed with brick, wood, 
painted or architectural metal (such as cast iron and pressed 
metal with anodized finish or painted). 

2. Except in limited amounts and in locations other than along 
Main Street, exterior wall materials not normally permitted 
include concrete, concrete block, stone veneer, stucco, granite, 
modern metal applications, large expanses of glass, tile, or 
plastic. 

3. New storefronts along Main Street shouldshall approximate the 
rectangular shape, proportions, and architectural character of 
adjacent historic buildings of historic character. Storefronts with 
recessed entries are encouraged and shouldshall be divided into 
three bands with a base, middle, and top, including a transom 

 
StrorefrontsStorefronts along Main Street shallould be designed as three bands that 
include a base, middle, and top.  

 
Exterior walls shallould be designed with 
brick, wood, and painted or anodized finish 
metal. 

 
New strorefrontsstorefronts along Main 
Street shallould approximate the rectangular 
form, proportions, and character of adjacent 
buildings of historic interest.  

 
Canvas awnings attached above street level 
storefronts and windows shall be useds are 
encouraged.  

210



6.3 Commercial Development + Design Standards + Design Guidelines 

November January 2016 2022October 2023  Page 6-15 

band, a band of display windows, and a small spandrel or 
paneled band under the display windows. One-story buildings 
shouldshall have a solid wall space above the storefront and a 
cornice, with or without a parapet. Two- story buildings 
shouldshall usually have a horizontal band and a second floor 
with windows and cornice. All of the above bands shouldshall 
align with those of adjacent buildings to the extent possible. 

4. If provided, awnings shouldshall be regularly cleaned and maintained. 
Awnings shall go through design review. Metal and glass awnings are 
discouragednot permitted. Mansard, fFree form, and geometric form 
awnings or other sidewalk covers are discouraged. Care shouldshall 
be taken in choosing the size, type, location, configuration, and 
color of awnings to ensure compatibility with the building’s 
architecture and the character of adjacent structures. Awnings or 
canopies that obscure transom windows or that are used primarily 
for signage rather than cover are not permitted. 

5. Wooden balconies, canopies, and porches are traditional to some 
types of buildings and are encouragedProtrusions such as balconies, 
canopies, and porches, although encouraged, are subject to design 
review, where appropriate. The creation of such elements 
shouldshall be carefully considered to ensure compatibility with the 
style of historic structures along Main Street. Protrusions such as 
balconies, canopies, and porches mustay undergo architectural 
design review, as appropriate, to ensure compatibility with the style 
of historic structures along Main Street. Other important 
architectural features shouldshall not be obscured or destroyed in 
the building of these features. 

6. Retail continuity along Main Street’s west side is essential. 
Storefronts shouldshall be varied in design and architectural 
character, but continuous where possible along each block. 
Storefronts shouldshall wrap around corners to create a sense of 
transparency and activity at intersections. 

7. Buildings at key intersections (such as Main Street and Driftwood 
Drive) shouldshall be designed to “mark the corner” with such 
architectural features as a tower or a cupola. Such features may be 
erected to a greater height than fifty (50) feet, provided the design 
is in keeping with the overall architectural character of the structure 
and surroundings. 

8. The backs and sides of buildings that are visible from public streets 
shouldshall incorporate window and door openings, where possible. 
For new construction, backs and sides shouldshall be as carefully 
designed as front facades. On existing buildings, original openings 
shouldshall be restored or compatible new ones provided where 
feasible. Interesting details, awnings, painting, and landscaping should 
also be used to add visual interest to these areas. 

  

 
Traditional design features, such as wooden 
balconies, canopies, and porches are 
encouraged.shall be used.  

 
Buildings at key intersections, such as Main 
Street and Driftwood Drive shallhould be 
designed to mark the corner.  

211



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards + Design Guidelines  

Page 6-16                                                      Waterfront District Specific Plan 

 

 
  

 

       
Windows shallould be organized vertically, in multiple bays, although several vertical elements may be combined to form a 
horizontal opening.  

212



6.3 Commercial Development + Design Standards + Design Guidelines 

November January 2016 2022October 2023  Page 6-17 

  

213



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards + Design Guidelines  

Page 6-18                                                      Waterfront District Specific Plan 

D. Windows and Doors 

1. Except on narrow building fronts, windows shouldshall be organized 
in multiple bays, in coordination with ground-level storefronts. The 
directional expression of windows and doors shouldshall be vertical, 
although several vertical elements may be combined to form a 
horizontal opening. 

2. Fenestration shouldshall be heavy wood rectilinear assemblies. 
Metal window assemblies or metal window frames are discouraged. 
Fenestration shouldshall be well proportioned and compatible with 
the dimensions of a given wall. 

3. Glass in windows, doors, and transoms shouldshall primarily be kept 
clear. Plastic materials shouldshall not be used in place of glass. 

4. Upper floor facades shouldshall be composed as solid surfaces 
with punched openings for individual windows or discrete sets 
of windows. The openings may be highlighted with special 
treatment at the head, sill, and/or sides, such as special brick 
coursing, arched heads, or other accents. 

5. Large areas of blank wall with few openings or enriching details 
shouldshall be avoided on street facades. New and substantially 
rehabilitated buildings shouldshall have wall to window area 
ratios and proportions that are similar to the traditional 
Downtown buildings. For minor rehabilitated buildings, existing 
window openings, which have been boarded up, stuccoed, or 
painted over shouldshall be restored and reglazed. 

6. Original or existing storefront areas and window openings 
shouldshall not be filled in or covered up from either the 
interior or exterior of the building. Where buildings with retail 
storefront display areas have been converted to non-retail uses, 
such as offices, the storefront glazing shouldshall not be covered 
over or permanently obscured. Removable interior window 
coverings may be used to provide some degree of privacy, but 
visual contact with the street shouldshall be maintained to the 
maximum extent feasible. 

7. At least 50 percent of the ground floor shall include windows, 
door, glazing that is transparent and allows views of the interior 

6.8. At least one main entrance shall be directly from the street. 

E. Roofs 

1. Building roofs shouldshall reflect the historic styles in the 
Downtown Core and shouldshall be either gable, gambrel, hip, 
or shed. False fronts or parapet walls shouldshall conceal 
pitched or flat roofs from view along Main Street. Mansard, free 
form, and geometric roof shapes are discouraged. Flashings 
shouldshall be unobtrusive. 

Upper floor facades shallould be composed 
of solid surfaces with punched openings for 
individual or sets of windows.  

 
Exterior colors shallould complement the 
color of neighboring buildings or storefronts 
and the overall Downtown landscape 

 
False fronts or parapet walls shallould 
conceal pitched or flat roofs. 

214



6.3 Commercial Development + Design Standards + Design Guidelines 

November January 2016 2022October 2023  Page 6-19 

2. Pitched roofs shouldshall usually be include  dark asphalt 
shingles. Roofing materials not normally allowed include 
weathered wood shingles, concrete, plastic tile, or fabric. 

2.3. Rooftops with mechanical equipment shouldshall be concealed.  

F. Color 

1. Choice for building exteriors may express individual taste, but 
shouldshall always contribute to the historical character of the 
area. Exterior colors shouldshall harmonize with other colors 
on the same building and on the streetscape.  

2. Exterior colors shouldshall complement the colors of 
neighboring buildings or storefronts and shouldshall be selected 
to be mutually supportive and beneficialadd to the overall 
character of the streetscape. 

3. Where brick has been painted, repainting is appropriate. Where 
brick was unpainted and remains unpainted, use of paint on the 
exterior is prohibited. 

4. Colors for building walls and storefronts shouldshall be uniform 
for a shop, which occupy multiple storefront buildings. 

5. The use of different colors to mark individual shops within a 
building can be visually disruptive and obscure the overall 
composition of the facade. Where existing buildings have been 
painted in this manner, they shouldshall be repainted 
complementing colors when rehabilitation or change in tenancy 
occurs. 

6. A range of compleimentary colors may be selected for signs and 
awnings of individual shops within the same building. The sign 
and awning color of individual businesses shouldshall be 
coordinated wherever possible. Patterned or multi-colored 
awnings shouldshall be used with care and in consideration of 
the color(s) of adjacent awnings. 

6.3.4 Historic Limited Commercial Zone 

The Historic Limited Commercial Land Use Zone occurs in both the 
Downtown Core Planning District and Historic Suisun Planning District.  

The buildings that front on Main Street between Morgan Street and 
Cordelia Street and the areas within the HLC zone are predominantly 
residential in design and character. These structures are expected to 
convert to retail or limited commercial uses over time. The following 
sections address these “transitional” buildings and provide standards and 
guidelines for their renovation for commercial use. These 
guidelinesStandards also apply to the design of new commercial 
structures so that residential elements are incorporated and are 
compatible with the existing structures in which they adjoin. 

 
Complementary colors shallould be selected 
for signs and awnings of individual shops 
within the same building. 

 
Additions to existing structures shall be a 
height and scale that does not overwhelm 
the original building. 

215



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards + Design Guidelines  

Page 6-20                                                      Waterfront District Specific Plan 

 

 

A. Building Height, Placement, and Setbacks 

1. The maximum height of any new building or addition to an 
existing building shall be thirty-five (35) feet. The maximum 
height limitation matches that specified for the adjacent 
residential district. ThisIt will allow for an appropriate transition 
in scale between commercial and residential zones. 

2. Additions to existing structures shall be not exceed the height 
of the original building by more than 80 percent and shall not 
exceed the square footage of the original building by more than 
50 percentof a height and scale which does not overwhelm that 
of the original building. 

3. Building setbacks shouldshall be provided from all property 
lines. The front yard and side setback from the street 
shouldshall approximate that of adjacent residential buildings on 
the block. Rear and side setbacks shouldshall be similar to those 
provided for existing residential buildings, with greater setbacks 
provided for new structures or additions of significantly greater 
height or scale. 

Building setbacks from the street will help to maintain a 
consistent street wall and signal the transition from the 
commercial area to the adjacent residential area. Side and rear 
setbacks can provide buffer zones to protect the privacy of 
adjacent residential areas. 

4. Setback areas shall be adequately landscaped to provide a 
residential character to the street and to form green buffers 
between buildings. The presence of trees and planting around 
buildings is typical of residential areas and will provide an 
appropriate transition between them and the commercial area. 

B. Building Form and Composition 

1. Unique architectural features and the overall residential quality 
and appearance of a structure shouldshall be maintained and 
respected. Major form-giving elements to be retained include 
pitched rooflines, projecting or recessed entry porches, 
dormers, and bay windows. Important features and details may 
include multi-paned windows set in wood frames, overhanging 
eaves, decorative brackets and balustradesbalustrades, and 
substantially designed porch bases and steps. 

The conversion of a residential structure to commercial use 
shouldshall not destroy the residential character of the building. 
Where modifications are necessary to improve access, they 
shouldshall be done in a manner that is least disruptive of the 
original building fabric. Closing or filling porches or window 

 
Unique architectural features and the 
residential quality and appearance of 
structures should be maintained. 

 
Conversion of a residential structure to a 
commercial use should not destroy the 
character of the building. 

 
New larger buildings should use smaller-scaled 
elements that approximate the scale or form 
of adjacent residential development.  

 
Setback areas shall be adequately 
landscaped to provide a residential 
character and green buffer to the street. 

216



6.3 Commercial Development + Design Standards + Design Guidelines 

November January 2016 2022October 2023  Page 6-21 

openings destroys the building's character and is 
inappropriateprohibited. 

2. New construction and additions to existing buildings shouldshall 
utilize the major residential form-giving elements described 
above. 

3. Roof forms shouldshall be expressed rather than concealed 
behind parapets or false fronts. Appropriate forms are those 
typically used for residential development in and adjacent to the 
area. These include hip, gablegable, and shed forms with 
projecting eaves. Roof forms for building additions shouldshall 
be consistent with those of the original structures. 

4. Building massing shouldshall relate to the scale of surrounding 
residential structures. Where a new building will be significantly 
larger than surrounding structures, it shouldshall be composed 
of smaller elements that approximate the scale or form of the 
existing, adjacent  residential structures. 

In order to avoid changes in scale that would overwhelm 
adjoining residential structures, new buildings shouldshall use 
smaller-scaled elements as building blocks. Devices, such as 
partial or full setback upper floors, building projections or 
recesses, and changing or articulated roof forms help to reduce 
the apparent mass of a building. 

C. Material Finishes and Colors 

1. Exterior wall materials shouldshall be limited to those 
commonly used for residential buildings, including wood siding, 
and brick. 

2. Additions to existing buildings shouldshall be finished in the 
same material as the original structure. Complementary 
materials, such as wood shakes with wood siding or brick with 
stucco may be used for architectural accents or special details. 

3. Existing window openings and multi-paned windows shouldshall 
be retained. Large expenses expanses of glass shouldshall be 
avoided in building additions and new construction in favor of 
individual window openings with multi-paned windows or 
multiple window units. 

4. Window frames shall be of painted wood, metal, dark anodized 
aluminum, or in the case of a renovation, a material and finish 
which matches the existing original window frames. 

5. Metal window grilles or other exterior devices, which imply 
security problems, are discouraged. 

Visible security devices detract from the area's image. Security 
problems shouldshall be addressed in less visible ways, such as 
internal alarm systems, which will not detract from the visual 
image of the area. 

 
Exterior wall materials shallould use 
traditional residential building materials, 
such as wood siding, stone, and brick. 

 
Use of fabric awnings is encouragedshall 
be used, where appropriate to the 
building design  

217



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards + Design Guidelines  

Page 6-22                                                      Waterfront District Specific Plan 

6. Appropriate paint colors for building wall surfaces include white 
or light, neutral pastels similar to those called for in other 
commercial zones, medium toned natural finishes for brick. 
Where wood siding or shakes are used, darker stains or painted 
finishes may also be appropriate. Trim elements and details may 
be painted to match the building wall or in a contrasting color. 

7. The use of fabricFabric awnings is encouragedshall be used 
where appropriate to the design of the building.If used,  
Aawnings shouldshall be placed to avoid obscuring architectural 
features or overwhelming the scale of the building. Awnings may 
be placed over windows or entries but must be attached 
directly to the building and be self-supporting. Extended 
sidewalk canopies are inappropriate.prohibited. 

6.3.5 Commercial/Office/Residential and Waterfront 
Commercial Land Zones 

The Commercial/Office/Residential and Waterfront Commercial Land 
Use Zones occur within both the Downtown Core and the Southern 
Waterfront Planning Districts. These areas adjacent to the waterfront are 
related to the historic Downtown, yet have very different characteristics. 
Proposed uses within these parcels are intended to build upon and 
enhance the character and function begun on these sites. The following 
design guidelines address the unique character of these two distinct 
opportunity areas. 
C/O/R Zone Design Guidelines 
All commercial buildings should have facades built to the back of the 
sidewalk, in order to maintain an active and interesting edge for window 
shoppers, strollers, and passersby. 
Residential setbacks, where applicable, should be consistent with 
residential development in the Victorian Harbor neighborhood. 
In keeping with the historic character, the linear frontage of new 
buildings along Main Street south of Driftwood Drive should not exceed 
fifty (50) feet. Commercial or mixed-use development north of 
Driftwood Drive may be larger. The design of the building should still 
emphasize the vertical appearance of smaller increments of building 
frontage that preserves the pedestrian quality present along Main Street. 
New development and buildings should be designed to maximize 
waterfront views and access from common area spaces, as well as front 
onto the major surrounding streets, including Main Street, Lotz Way, and 
Civic Center Boulevard.  
A. Flexibility in the application of these design guidelines 

can be attained through the PUD process.Waterfront 
Commercial Zone Design GuidelinesStandards 

New development in this area shall be guided by the design guidelines 
standards in Section 6.3.4, addressing the Historic Limited Commercial 
zone, and the following additional guidelinesstandards.  

The area located north of the City boat ramp is intended primarily to 
accommodate the service retail needs of boaters and marine-related 

 
 

 
New waterfront development shallould be 
consistent with the scale and character of 
existing waterfront commercial development. 

 
Existing office and hotel uses in the 
Commercial/Office/Residential zone north of 
the former Sheldon Oil site. 

218



6.3 Commercial Development + Design Standards + Design Guidelines 

November January 2016 2022October 2023  Page 6-23 

industries. Design of these buildings shall be reflective of traditional 
maritime architecture; that is, buildings with high ceilings, and large floor 
areas, but which reflect the character of the Waterfront and do not 
obscure it from view. This area is the subject of a recent planning study, 
“the South Waterfront Design Report,.” The South Waterfront Design 
Reportwhich shouldshall be referenced for the area development of the 
area, . referenced in Figure 6-1 as Opportunity Area I.  

The following design guidelines standards shouldshall be observed within 
the Waterfront Commercial zone.  

1. Roofs shouldshall be pitched, without parapet facades. Flat roofs 
are inappropriate.prohibited. 

2. Extensive areas of glazing or storefronts shall be utilized where 
the building faces a public street, common area, or the 
waterfront. 

3. Maximum building height is thirty-five (35) feet. 

6.3.6 Downtown Mixed Use Zone in the Suisun-
Fairfield Train Depot Planning Districtwithin ½ 
mile of the Suisun-Fairfield Train Depot 

B. Building Height, Placement, and Setbacks 

1. The height of new buildings shouldshall be multi-story, but no 
more than fifty (50) feet, as measured from the sidewalk to the 
top of the roof line. 

2. Where building heights differ with adjacent properties in the 
Downtown Commercial Core, building heights shall be stepped 
to respect the scale of existing, adjacent development.   

3.2. Where building heights differ between adjacent properties, the 
adjacent heights of major facade elements, such as storefronts, 
ground floors, upper floors, sill lines, and horizontal features, 
such as belt courses and cornices shall be related. 

4.3. Building facades and openings shouldshall be designed to front 
onto Main Street or Downtown side streets rather than facing 
the railroad tracks. 

5.4. Setback areas shall be adequately landscaped to provide an 
appropriate transition between the commercial development on 
Main Street, the residential development south of the district, 
and streets and parking areas. 

6.5. Public open space shouldshall be internally located and buffered 
from rail or freight traffic. 

C. Building Form and Style 

1. Building massing shouldshall relate to the scale of surrounding 
Downtown structures. Where a new building will be larger than 
surrounding structures, it shouldshall be broken down into 

 
Setback areas shall be adequately 
landscaped to provide a residential 
character and green buffer to the street. 

 
Building massing shallould be broken to 
smaller massing, approximating the scale 
or form of existing adjacent structures. 

219



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards + Design Guidelines  

Page 6-24                                                      Waterfront District Specific Plan 

smaller elements and massing which approximate the scale or 
form of the existing adjacent structures. 

Design strategies, such as partial or full setback upper floors, 
building projections or recesses, and changing or articulated 
roof forms help to reduce the apparent mass of a building.  

2. New construction and renovation of existing buildings shall 
respect the waterfront design themes and historic character in 
the Planning Specific Plan Area and shouldshall maintain the 
distinct character of the Downtown Waterfront District.  

3. More contemporary building designs and reuse of industrial 
structures are encouragedshall be utilized in this district, while 
respecting the traditional design elements of Main Street and 
the adjacent residential neighborhoods in Old Town. 

D. Exterior Walls 

1. Exterior walls shouldshall usually be designed with brick, wood, 
painted or architectural metal (such as cast iron and pressed 
metal with anodized finish or painted), consistent with materials 
encouraged for commercial development along Main Street. 

2. Balconies, canopies, and porches are encouraged and 
shouldshall be designed to be compatible with the appearance of 
adjacent structures.  

3. The back and side of buildings, visible from public streets, 
shouldshall incorporate window and door openings, where 
possible. In new construction, backs and sides shouldshall be 
carefully designed as front facades. On existing buildings or 
building renovations, original openings shouldshall be restored 
or compatible new ones provided, where feasible. Interesting 
details, awnings, painting, and landscaping shouldshall be used to 
add visual interest to these areas. 

E. Windows and Doors 

1. Except on narrow building fronts, windows shouldshall be 
organized in multiple bays.  

2. Glass in windows, doors, and transoms shouldshall primarily be 
kept clear. Plastic materials shouldshall not be used in place of 
glass. 

3. For rehabilitated buildings, existing window openings, which 
have been boarded up, stuccoed, or painted over shouldshall be 
restored and reglazed. 

4. Removable interior window coverings may be used to provide 
some degree of privacy, but visual contact with the street 
shouldshall be maintained . 

4. to the maximum extent feasible. 

 
 

 
Contemporary design and reuse of 
industrial structures shall be used are 
encouraged.  

 
Exterior walls shallhould be designed with 
brick, wood, and painted or architectural 

l   

 
Windows shallould be organized into 
multiple bays. 

220



6.3 Commercial Development + Design Standards + Design Guidelines 

November January 2016 2022October 2023  Page 6-25 

F. Color and Material Finishes 

1. Choice for building exteriors may express individual taste, but 
shouldshall contribute to the character of the Waterfront 
District.  

2. Exterior colors shouldshall harmonize with landscape themes in 
the district and Downtown waterfront themes. 

3. The use of different colors to mark individual shops or 
residential units within a mixed-use building shouldshall be 
avoided. However, accent colors applied to highlight 
architectural features and trim elements and details painted in a 
contrasting color, compatible with the building wall are 
encouraged.  

4. Window frames shall be of painted wood, metal, dark anodized 
aluminum. 

5. A range of complementary colors may be selected for signs and 
awnings of individual shops within the same building. The sign 
and awning color of individual businesses shouldshall be 
coordinated, wherever possible. 

A. Downtown Commercial and Downtown Mixed Use 
within the Western Marina and Highway 12 Planning 
District 

B.A. Public Space and Pedestrian Amenities 

1. Public spaces, such as plazas, courtyards, and outdoor dining 
spaces shouldshall be designed to enhance the vitality of the 
district and support commercial patronage. 

2. Public spaces, plazas, and courtyards shouldshall be designed as 
outdoor living rooms, enhanced with seating and other 
pedestrian furniture, street lights, shade, and landscaping. 

3. Street furnishings and landscaping, including planters or tree 
grates and potted plants, shouldshall be provided along 
walkways, to support a pleasant urban retail experience. 

4. Public art shouldshall be considered for focal points or gateway 
entrances into the commercial district. 

5. Textured or colored pavement shouldshall be used to clearly 
define pedestrian access ways or intersection crossings, 
articulate different sidewalks activity zones, and highlight special 
areas within the district.  

C.B. Building Height, Placement, and Setbacks 

1. The height of new buildings are encouraged to be multi-story to 
establish a pedestrian-friendly character, consistent with the 
Downtown Waterfront District, but shouldshall be no more 
than sixty (60)  feet, as measured from the sidewalk to the top 
of the building roof line. 

 
Street furnishings and landscaping can help 
support a pleasant, urban retail experience. 

 
Public spaces shallould be provided to 
enhance commercial vitality and activity in 

 
Commercial building facades shallould front 
onto the sidewalk to maintain an active 
edge for shoppers and pedestrians. 

 
Exterior colors shallhould be chosen to 
complement the architectural and landscape 
themes in the district. 

 
Buildings are encouraged toshall be 
clustered to support a pedestrian-friendly 
shopping experience. 

221



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards + Design Guidelines  

Page 6-26                                                      Waterfront District Specific Plan 

2. Commercial buildings shouldshall have facades built to the edge 
of the sidewalk in order to maintain an active and interesting 
edge for window shoppers, strollers, and passersby. 

3. To nurture a pedestrian-focused community, buildings 
shouldshall be designed to front onto the commercial main 
street or internal common space. Setbacks shouldshall be 
landscaped and buildings shouldshall be oriented to activate 
common spaces and public rights-of-way, with courtyards, 
plazas, seating, and other public amenities. 

D.C. Building Form and Style 

1. Building forms shall be primarily rectilinear and parallel to 
existing nearby streets or buildings.  

2. Commercial buildings are encouraged toshall be be clustered to 
support a pedestrian-friendly shopping environment. 

3. Buildings at key intersections shouldshall be designed to "mark 
the corner" with architectural features, such as towers.  

E.D. Exterior Walls 

1. Large areas of blank wall with few openings or enriching details 
shouldshall be avoided on street facades. The backs and sides of 
buildings, which are visible from public streets, shouldshall 
incorporate window and door openings, where possible. 
Building backs and sides shouldshall be as carefully designed as 
front facades. Interesting details, awnings, painting, and 
landscaping shouldshall be used to add visual interest to these 
areas. 

2. Exterior walls are encouraged toshall be be designed with 
traditional building materials, such as brick, wood, painted or 
architectural metal (such as cast iron and pressed metal, with 
anodized finish or painted). 

3. Doors, windows, cornice lines, floor lines, signage, and 
overhangs shouldshall be incorporated into the building design 
to support interesting building façades. 

4. Individual tenants in a multi-tenant structure shouldshall be 
easily distinguished, using architectural features, including: 

1. columns, piers, or pilasters placed between building bays; 

2. building setback variations for recessed entrances, niches 
for landscaping, outdoor seating or dining, or other 
pedestrian amenities; 

3. arcades and roof overhangs; and 

4. changes in building or roof heights between adjacent 
tenants. 

 
Color and different architectural treatments 
shallould be used to distinguish individual 
tenants in multitenant buildings. 

 
Architectural details, such as doors, windows, 
building lines, signage, and overhangs should 
shall be used to articulate the building 
f d  

 
Commercial storefronts and ground floor 
common areas shallould provide a 
transparent façade along the street. 

222



6.3 Commercial Development + Design Standards + Design Guidelines 

November January 2016 2022October 2023  Page 6-27 

5. Canvas awningsAwnings, attached above street-level storefronts 
and over individual windows, are encouragedrequired may be 
used. Canvas awnings may be used. If provided, awnings 
shouldshall be regularly cleaned and maintained. Care 
shouldshall be taken in choosing the size, type, location, 
configuration, and color of awnings to ensure compatibility with 
the building's architecture and the character of the district. 

F.E. Windows and Doors 

1. Commercial storefronts and ground floor common areas 
shouldshall provide a transparent façade along the street, 
consisting of storefronts, entries, and windows. 

2. Storefronts shouldshall be varied in design and character, but 
continuous where possible along each block. Storefronts 
shouldshall wrap around corners to create a sense of 
transparency and activity at intersections. 

3. Doorways shouldshall be designed to focus on the street to 
create more activity along the sidewalk. 

G.F. Color and Material Finishes 

1. Choice for building exteriors may express individual taste, but 
shouldshall contribute to the waterfront themes of the 
Downtown Waterfront District. Exterior colors shouldshall 
complement the colors of neighboring buildings or storefronts 
and shouldshall be selected to be mutually supportive and 
beneficial to the overall character of the streetscape. 

2. Colors for building walls and storefronts shouldshall be uniform 
for a shop, which occupy multiple storefront buildings. 

3. The sign and awning color of individual businesses shouldshall be 
coordinated, wherever possible.  

 
Color shallould be selected to coordinate 
with the streetscape and landscape themes 
of the district. 

223



ment + Design Standards + Design Guidelines  

Page 6-28                                                      Waterfront District Specific Plan 

6.3.7 Public FacilityCivic and Open Space StandardsPublic Facilities 

Table 6-4: Table 6.3: Public FacilityCivic and Open Space Development Standards 

Land Use District  Public FacilitiesCivic (PFC)  Park or Open Space (P/OS) 

A. LOT / SITE DESIGN    

1. Lot Coverage1 80% of the lot  20% of the lot 

2. Density  N/A  N/A 

3. Floor Area Ratio  N/A  N/A 

4. Lot Area N/A  N/A 

5. Lot Width N/A  N/A 

6. Lot Depth N/A  N/A 

B. BUILDING PLACEMENT AND HEIGHT   

    Primary Building Setback3    

1. Front Setback  0’ min  20’ min 
2. Side Setback (street) 0’ min  20’ min 
3. Side Setback (interior) 0’ min  10’ min 
4. Rear Setback4  0’ min  15’ min 
5. Height Limit5 50’ max  35’ max 

Notes: 
du/ac = dwelling units per acre; min = minimum, ; max = maximum; sf = square feet;                        nonresid. = 
nonresidential; resid. = residential 
1  Lot coverage includes primary buildings, accessory buildings, covered parking, and covered patios. 
2 Setback areas shall be landscaped as addressed by the Suisun City Zoning Code. 
3  Front setback shall be consistent within five feet of with setbacks of adjacent buildings on the street. Garage 

shall be no closer than 15 feet from the front property line. 
4  Rear garage setback shall be a minimum of 3 feet from the rear property line. 
5  Building heights shall be stepped to respect the heights of existing adjacent development. 

 

 

224



Error! Reference source not found. Error! Reference source not found. Public FacilitiesCivic and Open Space 
+ Design Standards + Design Guidelines   

November January 2016 2022 OctoberSeptember 2023 Page 6-29 

6.4 General Development Standards  

6.4.1 General Requirements 

A. Buildings 

1. Where originally constructed building facades remain, their 
appearance shouldshall  shall not be altered. Such facades 
shallould be repaired and preserved. Where facades have been 
altered, as much original material and details shall be retained in 
the rehabilitation as possible. 

2. Existing windows and door openings that have been boarded up 
or painted over shall be restored and reglazed. Replacement 
windows and doors shall meet all ofall the requirements of 
Section 6.3.3.D. Awnings, where provided, shall be regularly 
cleaned and maintained. 

B. Landscaping 

Landscaped front yards, especially lawns, are an importantLandscaping is 
an transitional feature between the public and private realms, and , 
which shouldshall be maintained and improved.  

1. Landscaping around the perimeter of buildings and parking areas 
provides a visual extension of the front landscaping and a green 
buffer between building and land uses. Landscaping shall be 
provided in front yard setback areas and in setback areas 
around the perimeter of buildings and parking areas, where 
provided. 

2. Landscaping shall be provided within parking areas where 
needed to break up large expanses of parking and/or to provide 
additional shade, as required by the City’s Zoning Code. 

C. Mechanical Equipment and Service Areas 

All mechanical equipment, whether on rooftops or at ground level and 
service areas shall be adequately screened from view?  

1. Mechanical equipment, conduit, utility equipment, HVAC units 
and trash disposal areas, visible from a public right-of-way or 
common area, shall be screened from view.  

2. Where conduit or equipment cannot be screened without 
disrupting or covering other important features of the building, 
these shall be painted to match the adjacent surface to reduce 
their visibility as much as possible. 

3. Trash areas, storage, and service areas shall be screened from 
public view with a wall or fence and landscaping. Trash 
enclosure shall be designed and located, so as not to be visible 
from adjacent streets or properties. 

225



Chapter 6 | Development + Design  Standards + Design Guidelines  

Page 6-30   Waterfront District Specific Plan 

D. Use of Public Right-of-Way 

Merchandise, whether for sale or rent, shall not be placed on display 
upon the public right-of-way except by special permit and approval of 
the City Council.. 

6.4.2 Sign Standards 

The following standards address the number, location, size, and types of 
allowable signs applicable to all uses throughout the Specific Plan Area., 
except within the C/O/R zone. Within the C/O/R zone, the PUD 
process may establish a specific signage program unique to the area. 
Additional signage standards, included in Chapter 18.54 44 of the Suisun 
City Zoning Code also apply, except where in conflict with the more 
restrictive standards of this Specific Plan. Where this section is silent, 
the standards of the Zoning Code shall apply. 

A. Type and Placement 

1. Signsning shouldshall shall be designed to directly relate to the 
exterior design of the building. Signsing shouldshall not cover 
important features or cross transitions between features. 
Signsing shouldshall be at the first floor level, shouldshall not 
project above the cornice or facia line, and shouldshall be 
primarily oriented to the pedestrian. However, painted lettering 
on second story windows, to identify separate uses located 
there, is appropriate. 

2. Signs shouldshall shall generally be flush with the facade and not 
protrude more than eight (8) inches from the wall. Projecting 
signs may be considered when the sign does not conflict with 
the building's exterior design. 

3. Under canopy signs and signsing painted on canvas awnings are 
permitted. Symbolic three-dimensional signs, such as barber 
poles, are encouragedcan be utilized. Moving and rotating signs 
are permitted. 

4. Freestanding signs are not allowed, except to identify a specific 
development, district, or multiple-business complex. One 
permanent directory or freestanding master identification sign, 
not to exceed twenty-five (25) square feet per sign face, is 
allowed at each main entrance to a public street. 

5. A projecting sign or shingle sign may be permitted to be placed 
on a building frontage only if all of the following Standards 
standards are met: 

a. The sign is historically accurate or appropriate for the 
building. 

b. The sign does not impair the visibility of adjacent signs. 

226



Error! Reference source not found. Error! Reference source not found. Public FacilitiesCivic and Open Space 
+ Design Standards + Design Guidelines   

November January 2016 2022 OctoberSeptember 2023 Page 6-31 

c. The size, location, and materials of the sign are compatible 
with the building and conform to the requirements of this 
section. 

6. The height of the sign does not extend above the cornice line of 
a one story building or the sill of a second floor window. 

7. A permanent sign is limited to the name and graphic logo of the 
business, the type of service rendered, the principal brand 
names or classification of merchandise for sale, and street 
address. Brand names may occupy not more than twenty-five 
percent (25%) of the allowable sign area, except for storefront 
window signs. 

8. Neon signs are permitted only when all of the following 
sStandards are met. 

a. The sign does not impair the visibility of adjacent signs. 

b. The sign, location, and materials of the sign are compatible 
with the building and conform to the other requirements of 
this Chapter. 

c. The sign is more appropriate than an otherwise illuminated 
sign.Where an otherwise illuminated sign is not possible.  

B. Sign Area 

1. A maximum area of one (1) square foot of signageing may be 
permitted for each linear foot of a business on a primary 
frontage (facing a public street, public parking lot, or public 
space) not to exceed forty (40) square feet on any one frontage.  

1.2. A maximum of one-half (1/2) square foot of signageing may be 
permitted for each linear foot of a business on a secondary 
frontage (facing an alley, private driveway, an adjacent building, 
private parking or service area) not to exceed twenty (20) 
square feet on any one frontage. 

3. Further, pProjecting signs shall not exceed twenty (20) square 
feet per sign face and shall not project more than four (4) feet 
from the wall.  

4. The maximum areas of signing noted above shall apply to all 
wall, window, and projecting signs and signs painted on awnings.  

2. Further, projecting signs shall not exceed twenty (20) square 
feet per sign face and shall not project more than four (4) feet 
from the wall.  

3.5. Each business with first floor frontage or direct sidewalk access 
may have a pedestrian-oriented sign attached below a canopy 
not exceeding three (3) square feet per sign face and with a 
minimum clearance of eight (8) feet above the sidewalk. Such a 
sign will not count as part of the maximum business sign 
allowance. 

227



Chapter 6 | Development + Design  Standards + Design Guidelines  

Page 6-32   Waterfront District Specific Plan 

4.6. Multiple business directories may be permitted when not 
exceeding two (2) square feet per tenant and twenty (20) 
square feet total per sign face. Such a sign will not count as part 
of the maximum business sign allowance. 

C. Materials 

1. Signs shouldshall shall be painted and/or carved wood, wrought 
iron, cut out, non-reflective metal lettering such as brass, or 
glass (including stained glass). Signs painted directly on plain 
surfaces, windows and canvas awnings are generally appropriate. 
Metal "can" signs are not permitted. Decorative neon 
identification signs may be used as an accent or design feature, 
but shall not dominate the general appearance of the facade. 

D. Graphics 

1. Graphics shallould be simple and bold. Lettering styles should 
shall be in keeping with the area's historic character. 

E. Illumination 

1. Illumination should shall generally be indirect such as that 
provided by "goose necked" light fixtures. In some instances, 
signs may be floodlighted or may utilize exposed incandescent 
light bulbs. 

2. No interior - illuminated signs are permitted. Fluorescent, 
flashing, and intermittent, and interior-illuminated signs are 
illumination is not permittedprohibited. 

F. Temporary Signs 

1. Temporary signs pertaining to special store events or sales 
lasting no more than thirty (30) days may be painted or affixed 
to display windows provided that their total area shall not 
exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the window area. 

2. Banners or other promotional signs may be displayed for up to 
thirty (30) days; provided that the total area of all temporary 
signage displayed (including window signage) shall not exceed 
the allowed area of the permanent signage. 

3. All such temporary signage shall be displayed for no more than 
thirty (30) days. The same or similar signage shall not be 
replaced within thirty (30) days after removal. 

G. Illegal Construction 

If the Administrator finds that any sign has been constructed or erected 
in violation of the provisions in effect at the time of such construction, 
he/shethey shall give written notice of such conditions to the to the 
owner of the property owner upon which the sign is located to remove 
or alter the sign so as to comply with this Chapter.  Thirty (30) days 
after such notice, such signs may be removed or altered to comply with 

228



Error! Reference source not found. Error! Reference source not found. Public FacilitiesCivic and Open Space 
+ Design Standards + Design Guidelines   

November January 2016 2022 OctoberSeptember 2023 Page 6-33 

legal standards by the Administrator at the expense of the permittee or 
the owner of the property owner upon which the sign is located. 

6.4.3 Parking Standards 

Parking regulations are established to ensure adequate parking facilities 
are provided in order toto meet the parking demand anticipated for 
development. 

A. Minimum Parking Requirements 

The minimum number of off-street parking space shall be provided for 
each land use, as summarized in Table 6-4Table 6-4. For uses not listed 
in the table, refer to the City Zoning Code Chapter 18.42, Parking and 
Loading Areas. The parking standards in Table 6-4Table 6-4 apply to any 
new building or use, except as follows:  

1. For existing structures, only those off-street parking spaces 
required at the time of construction, addition, or substantial 
modification of the structure, or are present on the site at the 
time of adoption of this Specific Plan, are required to be 
maintained as off-street parking spaces. Any additional floor 
area to an existing structure or construction of new structures 
made subsequent to the effective date of this Plan shall require 
the provision of off-street parking as provided in Table 6-5Table 
6.4. 

Table 6-5: Table 6.4: Off-Street Parking Requirements 

Land Use* Minimum Number of Parking Spaces Required* 
RESIDENTIAL LAND USES   
Single-Family Residential 1 covered space and 1 uncovered space per unit 
Multi-Ffamily Residential**1 

   Studio 1 space per unit 
   One-Bedroom 1 space per unit 
   Two+ Bedrooms 1.5 space per unit (1 space should be covered) 

   Guest spaces 
1 space per 5 units, except that on-street parking may be substituted 
for visitor parking where sufficient on-street parking space is provided 
on the street adjacent to the development. 

NON-RESIDENTIAL LAND USES 
Hotel/Motel 1 space per room 

Commercial or Public Use 

Refer to parking requirement in the City Zoning Code, except that the 
minimum off-street parking spaces shall not be greater than 1 space per 
300 gross square feet. Proposed buildings of less than 5,000 square feet 
with adjacent on-street parking shall not be required to provide any 
off-street parking..  

Notes: 
* At the discretion of the City, parking within the one-quarter mile radius of the Suisun City train 

229



Chapter 6 | Development + Design  Standards + Design Guidelines  

Page 6-34   Waterfront District Specific Plan 

 At the discretion of the City, pParking within the one-quarter 
mile radius of the Suisun City train depot may will be waived.

  

 
B. Parking in Commercial and Mixed Use Zones 

Generally, parking required for existing and proposed new uses within 
most of the commercial and mixed use zones will be met by a 
combination of public and private on- and off-street public parking 
facilities, associated with specific uses and properties. Public parking is 
provided on Main Street, in and around the marina and Harbor Plaza. 
Because of the variety of uses envisioned in the Planning Specific Plan 
Area, peak demand periods will vary, allowing opportunities for shared 
facilities by more than one use or property. 

1. Required parking for all existing uses in existence at the date of 
adoption of this Specific Plan can beare satisfied by existing 
private on- site facilities and public parking on Main Street and 
Harbor Plaza. 

2. New uses established after the adoption of this Specific Plan 
shall be required to meet parking standards with either on-site 
parking, on-street parking, or a combination of on-site and on-
street parking, consistent with the requirement of this Specific 
Plan. Off-site parking may be usedby first providing as much of 
the requirement on-site as possible, while still keeping with the 
desired character of development. Off-site parking spaces may 
also address this requirement, where it is demonstrated that 
such spaces are available during the peak demand periods for 
the particular use in question (see requirements for shared 
parking below). 

C. Fees In-Lieu of Required Parking 

Where a use cannot satisfy its parking requirement through either on-
site or available shared parking,, when available, the remaining 
requirement may be satisfied by payment of a fee in lieu of actual 
development of the required parking. Said fee is to be set by resolution 
of the City Council and shall be equal to the estimated cost of land 
acquisition and development of one off-street surface parking space. 
This fee will be charged for each of the required parking spaces, which 
cannot otherwise be provided for the proposed use. 

depot may be waived. 
**1. For developments containing five or more units, up to thirty-five percent (35%) of the required uncovered 

spaces may be compact car spaces. 
*** On-street parking spaces adjacent to the property street frontage may be used to satisfy required off-street 

parking requirements.  

230



Error! Reference source not found. Error! Reference source not found. Public FacilitiesCivic and Open Space 
+ Design Standards + Design Guidelines   

November January 2016 2022 OctoberSeptember 2023 Page 6-35 

D. Reduced Parking Requirement 

An exception reducing the required parking spaces to less than the 
above standards may be approved by the Administrator or the Planning 
Commission, as the case may be, provided provided the following 
findings are made: 

1. The actual parking demand for the use in question will be less 
than the above standards. 

2. The proposed use will not generate additional long termlong-
term parking -demand without expansion of the building area 
occupied.. 

3. If a new building or structure, the probable long-term 
occupancy , based on its design will not generate additional 
parking demand. 

The applicant will be responsible for the collection and submittal of 
survey or other data sufficient for the above findings to be made. Refer 
to Section 7.6.5 of the Specific Plan for the procedures for exceptions.   

E. Shared Parking Requirements 

Parking spaces may be shared by more than one use when operations 
are not normally conducted during the same hours or when hours of 
peak use vary. Requests for the use of shared parking may be 
considered within the project review process as a strategy to meet 
required off-street parking requirements and must meet the following 
conditions: 

1. The applicant must satisfactorily demonstrate that substantial 
conflict shall not exist in the principal hours or periods of peak 
demand for the uses for which shared spaces are proposed. 

2. Parking spaces designated for shared use shall not be located 
fuarther than eight hundred (800) feet from any structure or 
use served, unless otherwise approved. 

3. A written Agreement shall be drawn to the satisfaction of the 
City attorney and executed by all parties concerned ensuring 
the continued availability of the number of stalls designated for 
shared use. 

4. The number of existing parking stalls which may be credited 
against the requirements for proposed structures or uses shall 
not exceed the number of stalls reasonably anticipated to be 
available during differing hours of peak demand. 

5. In determining the availability of parking spaces for shared use; 
peak and off-peak demand shall be calculated using the 
standards and methods described in the City’s Zoning Code, 
Section 18.52.04042.090 or other approach approved by the 
City. 

231



Chapter 6 | Development + Design  Standards + Design Guidelines  

Page 6-36   Waterfront District Specific Plan 

6. Total required on-site parking spaces for mixed-use 
developments shall be determined by computing the parking 
requirements for each of the above time periods. The largest 
total demand for the four periods shall be the required number 
of spaces to be provided. 

F. Parking in Residential Front Yards 

No portion of any front yard other than a paved driveway shall be 
utilized for parking or storing of any motor vehicle, recreational vehicle, 
boat, trailer, or camper. 

G. Parking Design 

Dimensions, geometrics, and landscaping of parking areas shall be as 
specified by the City’s Zoning Code, unless otherwise specified in this 
section. 

1. Where on-site parking is utilizedutilized, it shall be provided in a 
location, which is least visually disruptive. The preferred 
location of parking lots is at the rear of the property or 
screened from view by the building. An alternative location 
would be at the side of the building. Parking shall not be sited in 
the setback area between the street and the building line, where 
such setback exists. Parking located in front of buildings, 
adjacent to the public right-of-way, shouldshall be screened with 
vegetation and/or fencing. Access drives shouldshall be located 
besides the building or at the rear of the building on corner lots. 

2. Parking lots shouldshall be adequately landscaped within and at 
the perimeter, adjacent to abutting streets and buildings. Parking 
areas, which abut residential uses or zones, shouldshall be 
screened with a dense hedge and/or a fence. Lighting shouldshall 
be directed away from residences. 

 

232



Waterfront District Specific Plan  
 

November 2016OctoberSeptember 2023 Page 7-1 

CHAPTER 7 | SPECIFIC PLAN 
ADMINISTRATION 

7.1 Administration 

7.1.1 Administrator – Designation 

The Administrator of the Specific Plan shall be the Development 
Services Director or other their qualified delegate member of the 
Planning Division staff designated byof the Development Services 
Director and who shall normally be available to the general public 
during regular office hours. 

7.1.2 Administration 

The Planning Division shall administer this Specific Plan in accordance 
with the provisions of this Plan and the instructions of the Planning 
Commission. Refer to the Suisun City Zoning Code (Zoning Code), 
Section 18.76 84 for the process for appeals.  

7.1.3 Administration - Consistency with Applicable 
General Plan Policies and Programs 

Prior to issuance of a building permit, applicants must demonstrate 
consistency with Applicable applicable General Plan Policies and 
Programs listed in Section 4 of the City’s Specific Plan Consistency 
Analysis (under the California Environmental Quality Act or “CEQA”), 
as relevant and appropriate to the activity requiring the permit. The 
City’s Specific Plan Consistency Analysis is on file with the Development 
Services Department and is under separate cover. Notwithstanding 
other provisions of this Specific Plan and the Specific Plan Consistency 
Analysis, all development and associated public improvements and 
environmental mitigations shall be consistent with the current adopted 
version of the Travis Air Force Base Land Use Compatibility Plan 
Update, which, as of the writing of this document is the one adopted on 
October 8, 2015 (Resolution 15-17). 

233



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-2 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

7.2 Specific Plan Adoption 

A Specific Plan is similar to a Zoning Code in that it implements the 
General Plan through land use designation on a map, listing or 
referencing permitted specific uses, standards for development, and 
appropriate special conditions. Title 7, Division 1, Chapter 3, Article 8, 
Sections 65450-65457 of the California Government Code provides the 
requirements for the contents and adoption process of a Specific Plan. 

7.2.1 Specific Plan Amendment 

Amendments to the Specific Plan may be initiated by a resident or 
property owner, as well as by the City, in accordance with the 
procedures outlined for initial adoption. In addition to these 
requirements, major amendments shall require a public hearing and 
notification, similar in nature to the process for amendments, addressed 
in the City Zoning Code, Chapter 18.7482, “Amendments.” 

7.2.2 Application 

Application for a Specific Plan Amendment shall be filed with the 
Planning Division upon such forms and accompanied by such data as 
may be prescribed by the Planning Division, so as to ensure the fullest 
practicable presentation of the facts for the permanent record. A fee set 
by resolution of the City Council shall accompany each application. A 
Specific Plan Amendment may be initiated by the City.  

7.2.3 Scope of Amendment 

The Administrator will be responsible for determining “major” 
amendments as opposed to “minor” amendments to the Plan and its 
Standards. “Major” amendments shall be processed as outlined above 
through the Planning Commission and City Council. Among the items 
which would be considered major are: 

 Introduction of a new type of land use not discussed in the Specific 
Plan or City Zoning Code that would affect one or more property 
owners. 

 Major changes to the layout of land uses (affecting one acre of land 
or more) or other changes, which may significantly affect a planning 
concept spelled out in this Specific Plan. 

 Major changes to the proposed street system that would 
significantly alter land use or circulation concepts described in this 
Specific Plan. 

 Changes or additions to design standards, which could significantly 
change the stated intent of this Specific Plan. 

 Any change to the Specific Plan which could create new 
environmental impacts or substantially increase environmental 

234



7.2 Specific Plan Adoption 

November January 20162022October 2023 Page 7-3 

impacts beyond that reported in the Specific Plan Consistency 
Analysis. 

Minor amendments shall be decided by the Administrator, subject to 
appeal to the Planning Commission. Minor amendments include: 

 A proposed land use not identified in the Specific Plan or City 
Zoning Code that is substantially similar to a permitted use with 
respect to characteristics, intensity, and compatibility, according to 
the requirements of section 7.4.3 of this chapter. Minor changes to 
the land use diagram and/or alignment of streets that maintain the 
general pattern of permitted land uses and circulation and that are 
consistent with the vision, goals, and policies of the Specific Plan.   

 A change to the development and design standards or design 
guidelines that does not significantly change the physical 
characteristics or purpose and intent of the Specific Plan and is 
determined by the Administrator as minor or requests for an 
adjustment that is10 percent or less of quantifiable or measureable 
measurable standards contained in the WDSP.  

 Changes not expected to substantially increase any environmental 
impact beyond the levels identified in the Specific Plan Consistency 
Analysis. 

 Minor text revisions required to clarify the intent of the Specific 
Plan, remove ambiguities, or maintain consistency with other 
adopted City planning and policy documents. 

 Other modifications of a similar nature to those listed above, which 
are deemed minor by the Administrator and in keeping with the 
purpose and intent of the Specific Plan.     

7.2.4 Findings 

In considering any amendment to the Specific Plan the appropriate 
decision-making body shall make the following findings: 

 The proposed amendment would benefit the Specific Plan Area. 

 The proposed amendment would conform to the General Plan or 
would be considered in conjunction with an amendment of the 
General Plan. 

 The proposed amendment would not adversely affect adjacent 
properties.  

 If use specific, the subject property could be properly served by 
public facilities and services. 

7.2.5 Amendment Procedures 

The process for Major Amendments to the WDSP shall be the same as 
the process to amend the Zoning Code as described in Chapter 18.74 

235



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-4 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

82 of the Zoning Code. Minor Amendments to the WDSP, unlike Major 
Amendments, may be approved by the Administrator in accordance 
with the following procedures and does do not require public hearings.  

1. Application Requirement 

Applications shall be made in writing on a form prescribed by 
the Development Services Department for the purposes of site 
plan and architectural review and shall be accompanied by site 
plans, elevations, and/or relevant data required to grant the 
application.  

2. Application Processing 

The Administrator or his/hertheir designee shall review all 
applicable information and within thirty (30) days of receiving all 
relevant information, make a determination as to the 
appropriate level of review, based on applicable regulations and 
the characteristics of the project.  

For Minor Specific Plan Amendments, the Administrator shall 
make one of the following determinations: 

a. Approve the application upon determination that the 
project substantially complies with all applicable standards 
of the Specific Plan and relevant City standards and meets 
the criteria for Minor Amendments in Section 7.3.2.  

b. Require or recommend the project be reviewed as a Major 
Amendment, including going through the appropriate public 
hearing process. However prior to making this 
determination, when possible, the Administrator shall 
provide the applicant an opportunity to modify or correct 
the application to bring the project into conformance with 
the Specific Plan, relevant City standards, and the criteria 
for Minor Amendments, addressed in Section 7.3.2. 

c. Request further information, as may be needed to make a 
determinationdecide to approve the application.  

In granting a Minor Amendment, the Administrator may impose 
conditions to safeguard the public health and safety and ensure 
that development is consistent with the objectives and intent of 
the Specific Plan. 

236



7.3 Conflicts and InterpretationConflicts and Interpretation 

November January 20162022October 2023 Page 7-5 

7.3 Conflicts and Interpretation 

The provisions of this Specific Plan are not intended to interfere with or 
void any easements, covenants, or other existing agreements, which are 
more restrictive than the provisions of this Specific Plan. 

7.3.1 Conflict with Other Regulations 

Whenever the provisions of this Specific Plan impose more restrictive 
regulations upon buildings or structures or use of lands; or require 
larger open spaces, yards, or setbacks; or otherwise establish more 
restrictive regulations than are imposed or required by any other law, 
title, ordinance, code, or regulation, the provisions of this Plan shall 
govern. Where this Plan is silent, other applicable development 
standards or regulations shall govern. 

7.3.2 Clarification of Ambiguity 

If ambiguity arises concerning the appropriate classification of a 
particular use within the meaning and intent of this Specific Plan, or if 
ambiguity exists with respect to matters of height, yard requirements, 
area requirements, or District boundaries as set forth herein, it shall be 
the duty of the Administrator, subject to appeal to the Planning 
Commission, to ascertain all pertinent facts and interpret the 
applicability of the provisions of this Plan. 

7.3.3 Use Determination 

Upon request regarding whether a use is allowed within a particular 
zone of the WDSP, the Administrator, subject to appeal to the Planning 
Commission, shall provide a written determination as to whether the 
use in question is substantially similar in characteristics, intensity, and 
compatibility to a use or uses permitted within the zoning district for 
the property. 

7.3.4 General Interpretation 

A. The word “shall” is mandatory and not discretionary. The words 
“should” and “may” are permissive and discretionary. 

B. In case of any difference of meaning or implication between the text 
of any provision and any caption or illustration, the text shall 
control. 

C. The word “used” shall include arranged, designed, constructed, 
altered, converted, rented, leased, occupied, or intended to be 
utilized.

237



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-6 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

7.4 Nonconforming Uses and Structures 

7.4.1 Purpose 

This section is intended to limit the number and extent of 
nonconforming uses by regulating their enlargement, their 
reestablishment after abandonment, and the alteration or restoration 
after destruction of the structures they occupy. This section is also 
intended to limit the number and extent of nonconforming structures 
by prohibiting their being moved, altered, or enlarged in a manner that 
would increase the discrepancy between existing conditions and the 
standards prescribed in this Plan.  

7.4.2 Regulation 

Nonconforming uses shall be regulated consistent with Chapter 18.60 
68 of the Zoning Code and the standards addressed in this section.  

7.4.3 Continuation and Maintenance 

A. A use lawfully occupying a structure or a site that does not conform 
with the use regulations or the development standards for the zone 
in which the use is located shall be deemed to be a nonconforming 
use and may be continued, except as otherwise limited by Chapter 
18.60 68 of the Zoning Code and this section. 

B. A structure, lawfully occupying a site, that does not conform with 
the standards for front yard, side yards, rear yard, height, coverage, 
distances between structures, parking facilities, and other applicable 
development standards for the zone in which the structure is 
located, shall be deemed to be a nonconforming structure and may 
be used and maintained, except as otherwise limited by Chapter 
18.68 of the Zoning Code and this section. 

C. Buildings under construction shall not be required to modify the 
plans, construction, or designated use of any building upon which 
construction was lawfully begun prior to the effective date of this 
ordinance, as addressed in Section 18.60.070 of the Zoning Code. 

7.4.4 Alteration and Additions to Nonconforming 
Uses and Structures 

No nonconforming structure shall be altered or reconstructed so as to 
increase the discrepancy between existing conditions and the standards 
for front yard, side yards, rear yard, height of structures, distances 
between structures, parking facilities, and other applicable development 
standards as prescribed for the zone in which the structure is located, 
as addressed in Section 18.680.010 of the Zoning Code. 

238



7.3 Conflicts and InterpretationConflicts and Interpretation 

November January 20162022October 2023 Page 7-7 

7.4.5 Discontinuation of Nonconforming Use 

Whenever a nonconforming use has been discontinued for a continuous 
period of 180 days or more, all applicable regulations of the WDSP and 
the Zoning Code apply. 

7.4.6 Restoration of a Damaged Structure 

A. Whenever a structure which does not comply with the standards 
for front yard, side yards, rear yard, height of structures, distances 
between structures, parking facilities, and other applicable standards 
as prescribed in the regulations for the zone in which the structure 
is located, or the use of which does not conform with the 
regulations for the zone in which it is located, is destroyed by fire 
or other calamityanother calamity, or by act of God, to the extent 
of fifty percent (50%) or less, the structure may be restored and the 
nonconforming use may be resumed, provided that the restoration 
is started within one year and diligently pursued to completion. 
When the destruction exceeds fifty percent (50%) or the structure 
is voluntarily razed or is required by law to be razed, the structure 
shall not be restored except in full conformity with the regulations 
for the zone in which it is located and the nonconforming use shall 
not be resumed. 

B. The extent of damage or partial destruction shall be based upon the 
ratio of the estimated cost of restoring the structure to its 
condition prior to such damage or partial destruction to the 
estimated cost of duplicating the entire structure as it existed prior 
to the damage. Estimates for this purpose shall be made by or shall 
be reviewed and approved by the Chief Building Official and shall be 
based on the minimum cost of construction in compliance with the 
Building Code. 

B.C. All applicable provisions of State law relating to rebuilding 
nonconforming residences, including multifamily dwellings damaged or 
destroyed by fire, shall supersede local requirements, including the 
City shall not enact or enforce any ordinance, regulation, or 
resolution that would prohibit the reconstruction, restoration, or 
rebuilding of a multifamily dwelling that is involuntarily damaged or 
destroyed by fire, other catastrophic event, or another calamity. 

C.  

239



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-8 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

D. Permits 

7.4.7 Site Plan and Architectural Review 

A. Purpose 

Site Plan and Architectural Review is required to ensure that the 
function, character, and appearance of the physical environment are 
consistent with the goals, objectives, policies, and standards of this 
Specific Plan. More specific purposes and intent of the Site Plan and 
Architectural Review process are discussed in Chapter 6. 

B. Applicability 

Site Plan and Architectural Review approval shall be required prior 
to issuance of a building permit, certificate of occupancy, business 
license, grading permit, or utility service connection for the 
following: 

1. In all cCommercial and mixed useMixed-Use Zones 
(DC, HLC, WC, DMU, MSMU) and the HR, Historic 
Residential Zone (HR). For projects or purposes that include 
demolition, new construction, or construction changes 
substantially affecting the exterior appearance of the building as 
viewed from a public right-of-way or circulation to the site, 
signs, and changes or intensification in use, occupancy, or 
tenancy of an existing building or portion of a building. 
Demolition requests shall follow the procedures in Appendix A 
of this Specific Plan. 

2. In all oOther zones. For all projects, except individual single-
family residences not a part of a proposed subdivision or 
development project , that involves involve new construction or 
exterior alterations, additions, and signs. 

3. Exceptions: 

a. Multi-family housing projects that qualify for streamlined 
approval under State law (excluding projects within historic 
or landmark districts), including development projects with 
up to two primary units, qualifying lot splits, or at least two-
thirds of the square footage of the development shall be 
designated for residential use. 

a. Affordable housing project that qualify under State density 
bonus laws, if such standards would have the effect of 
physically precluding the construction of that project at the 
densities or with the concessions or incentives allowed by 
State density bonus laws, unless failure to apply the standard 
would result in one or more specific adverse impacts on 

240



7.4 Nonconforming Uses and StructuresNonconforming Uses and Structures 

November January 20162022October 2023 Page 7-9 

public health or safety or the physical environment, and there 
is no other feasible method to mitigate the adverse impact(s). 

b. Infill developments as follows: 

i. Horizontal or vertical additions equivalent to 50 
percent or less for buildings with less than 1,000 
square feet of existing gross floor area; 

ii. Horizontal or vertical additions equivalent to less 
than 25 percent for buildings with 1,000 to 
10,000 square feet of existing gross floor area; 

iii. Horizontal or vertical additions equivalent to less 
than 15 percent for buildings with more than 
10,000 square feet of existing gross floor area. 

C. Procedure 

Site Plan and Architectural Review shall consist of the procedures 
described in Chapter 18.68 76 of the Zoning Code. 

1. Renewal. The Administrator may renew Site Plan and 
Architectural Review approval for a period of one year upon 
determining that the original findings made remain valid. 
Request for renewal shall be made in writing at least thirty (30) 
days prior to expiration. 

2. Changed Plans. The Administrator or the Administrator’s 
designee, or the Planning Commission, as the case may be, may 
approve changes to approved plans or Conditions of Approval 
upon determining that the changes in conditions are minor and 
are consistent with the intent of the original approval. Revisions 
involving substantial changes in project design or Conditions 
conditions of Approval approval shall be treated as new 
applications.  

3. Alternative Development and Design Standards or 
Guidelines. Alternative approaches to the development and 
design standards and design guidelines (Chapter 6) shall be 
identified by the applicant and shall be reviewed during the site 
plan and architectural review process. Approval of deviations to 
development and design standards or design guidelines may be 
permitted, if the applicant can demonstrate that the deviation(s) 
would still accomplish the intent of the Specific Plan standards 
and guidelines to the same degree or better. The applicant must 
request a Minor Specific Plan Amendment, accompanied by 
adequate justification for the proposed changes in accordance 
with the procedures for Minor Specific Plan Amendments 
described in Section 7.3.4. 

241



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-10 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

D. Appeals 

1. Rights of Appeal and Review. Site Plan and Architectural 
Review decisions of the Administrator may be appealed by any 
interested party to the Planning Commission. Planning 
Commission decisions may be appealed to the City Council, in 
accordance with the standards for appeals, addressed in 
Chapter 18.76 84 of the Zoning Code. 

7.4.8 Planned Unit Development (PUD) Permit 

A. Purpose 

1. To provide for development of larger parcels greater than two 
acres in land area, designated for a mix of residential and/or 
commercial uses. The specific location, layout, design, and 
phasing of these zones may be determined through this process. 

2. To allow a flexible approach to the application of development 
standards, where a higher quality of design, amenity, and 
community environment would result. The PUD Permit 
procedure is not intended as a means to circumvent the 
application of normal and appropriate development standards. 

3. To encourage variety and avoid monotony in large 
developments by allowing greater freedom in selecting the 
means to provide access, light, open space, and amenity. 

B. Application and Procedure for Approvals and Amendments 

Application for and the process for approving and amending PUD 
Permits shall be as described in Chapter 18.63 72 of the Zoning 
Code. 

7.4.9 Administrative Review and Conditional Use 
Permits 

A. Purpose 

1. Administrative Review. Administrative review is required to 
verify that an intended use or structure complies with the 
allowed list of activities, all applicable development standards, 
and does not negatively impact adjoining properties and/or the 
surrounding area. Thus, aAdministrative review applications may 
be reviewed and approved by the Administrator or theirhis/her 
designee, without requiring a public hearing or noticing within 
the area for which the use will be located.  

2. Conditional Use Permits. Conditional uUse pPermits are 
required for uses typically having unusual site development 
features or operating characteristics requiring special 

242



7.4 Nonconforming Uses and StructuresNonconforming Uses and Structures 

November January 20162022October 2023 Page 7-11 

consideration so that they may be designed, located, and 
operated compatibly with uses on adjoining properties and in 
the surrounding area. Such uses may be consistent with the 
purpose of a particular land use zone but the characteristics 
stated above might preclude their compatibility in every location 
within a zone. Use Permits provide the flexibility to allow such 
uses where appropriate, while disallowing those uses where 
conflict with surrounding uses or the purposes of the zone 
would occur. 

3. Exceptions: 

a. Multi-family housing projects that qualify for streamlined 
approval under State law, including development projects 
with up to two primary units, qualifying lot splits, or at least 
two-thirds of the square footage of the development shall be 
designated for residential use. 

b. Affordable housing project that qualify under State density 
bonus laws, if such standards would have the effect of 
physically precluding the construction of that project at the 
densities or with the concessions or incentives allowed by 
State density bonus laws, unless failure to apply the standard 
would result in one or more specific adverse impacts on 
public health or safety or the physical environment, and there 
is no other feasible method to mitigate the adverse impact(s). 

B.  

C.B. Applicability 

When required by the zoning district in which the use or structure is 
located, administrative review clearance or a conditional use permit, as 
the case may be, is required prior to the commencement of 
construction or use.  

D.C. Regulation 

Upon request regarding whether a use is allowed within a particular 
WDSP zone of the WDSP, the Administrator, subject to appeal to the 
Planning Commission, shall provide a written determination as to 
whether the use in question is substantially similar in characteristics, 
density, intensity, and compatibility to a use or uses permitted within 
the zoning district for the property and whether the; that the use for 
the property is a permitted use, use requiringes administrative review, a 
conditionally permitted use, or disallowed within that the zone. 

Application for and the process for administrative review and 
conditional use permits shall be as follows.  

Commented [BE1]: Revisions to address Senate Bill 9 

Commented [BE2]: Revisions to address State Density Bonus 
Law 

243



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-12 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

1. Administrative Review 

Application for administrative review shall be made in writing on 
a form prescribed by the Development Services Department 
and shall be accompanied by plans and elevations, site plans, 
and/or relevant data required to grant the application. The 
Administrator or his/hertheir designee shall review all applicable 
information and within thirty (30) days of receiving all relevant 
information, make a determinationdecide whether the proposed 
structure or use meets all applicable standards of the Specific 
Plan and other relevant City standards.  

The Administrator shall make one of the following 
determinations: 

a. Approve the application upon determination that the 
project complies with all applicable standards of the Specific 
Plan and relevant City standards. Public hearings are not 
required for administrative review applications, unless the 
decision of the Administrator or his/hertheir designee is 
appealed.   

b. Deny the application if it is determined that the project will 
not comply with all applicable standards of the Specific Plan 
and relevant city standards. However, prior to denying the 
application, the Administrator shall provide the applicant an 
opportunity to modify or correct the application to bring 
the project into conformance with applicable City 
standards. 

c. Request further information, as may be needed to make the 
determination to approve or deny the application.  

2. Conditional Uuse Permits 

Application for and the process for conditional use permits shall 
refer to the standards in Chapter 18.66 73 of the Zoning Code 
and standards in this section. In approving a Conditional Use 
Permit, the Planning Commission may impose reasonable 
conditions necessary to satisfy the findings, identified in 
subsection D, below. 

E.D. Findings Required to Grant 

1. Administrative Review 

Administrative review applications shall be subject to the 
following findings: 

244



7.4 Nonconforming Uses and StructuresNonconforming Uses and Structures 

November January 20162022October 2023 Page 7-13 

a. That the proposed location of the use is consistent with the 
goals, objectives, and policies of this Plan, the General Plan, 
and the purposes of the zone in which the site is located. 

b. That the proposed use is similar in character, intensity, and 
compatible with other uses permitted within the zoning 
district for the property. 

2. Conditional Use Permits 

Conditional use permits shall be subject to the findings in 
Section 18.6673.060 080 of the Zoning Code and the standards 
that follow: 

a. That the proposed location of the use is consistent with the 
goals, objectives, and policies of this Plan and the purposes 
of the zone in which the site is located. 

b. That the proposed location of the conditional use and the 
proposed conditions under which it would be operated or 
maintained will be consistent with the General Plan. 

That the proposed use will not be detrimental to the public 
health, safety, or welfare of persons residing or working in or 
adjacent to the neighborhood of such use, nor detrimental to 
properties or improvements in the vicinity or to the general 
welfare of the City.. 

7.4.10 Temporary Use Permit 

A Temporary Use Permit, authorizing certain temporary use 
classifications, shall be subject to the provisions in Section 18.6673.075 
120 of the Zoning Code. 

7.4.11 Variances and Exceptions 

A. Purpose 

1. Variances 

Variances are intended to resolve practical difficulties or 
unnecessary physical hardships that may result from the size, shape, 
or dimensions of a site or the location of existing structures 
thereon; from geographic, topographic, or other physical conditions 
on the site or the immediate vicinity or from street locations or 
traffic conditions in the immediate vicinity of the site. Cost or 
inconvenience to the applicant of strict compliance with a regulation 
shall not, in and of itself, constitute sufficient reason for granting a 
variance. 

245



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-14 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Variances may be granted with respect to fences, walls, landscaping, 
screening, site area, site dimensions, yards, height of structures, 
courts, distances between structures, open space, signs, off-street 
parking, and off-street loading standards. 

2. Exceptions 

Due to the unique conditions of design and construction in the HR 
and HLC district, where structures were sometimes built close to 
lot lines, densities are mixed, and parcel configurations have 
changed over the years, it is sometimes in the public interest to 
provide for a higher quality of design and/or enhance the historic 
character of the neighborhood by making an exception to normal 
setback, parking, landscaping, fencing, and screening requirements, 
where such an exception does not interfere with the public health 
or safety. Exceptions may be made within the HR and HLC districts 
for the same purposes as a variance, but where the strict findings of 
a variance cannot be made. 

Exceptions may also be permitted for parking requirements.  

B. Application and Authority to Grant 

Application for and the process for variances and exceptions, shall 
refer to Chapter 18.72 80 of the Zoning Code and the standards in 
this section. 

The Administrator shall have the authority to grant Variances and 
Exceptions, subject to appeal to the Planning Commission by any 
person or persons affected by the variance or exception, except 
that Planning Commission approval is required for all major 
construction, enlargement, additions, improvements, alterations, 
and removal in the HR or HLC districts that exceed 500 square 
feet. Refer to Appendix A of the Specific Plan for demolition and 
review procedures in the HR and HLC zones. In no case, shall a 
Variance or Exception be granted, which allows a use of land or 
buildings not permitted in the district in which the subject property 
is located.  

C. Public Noticing and Hearings 

The process for public noticing and hearings for Variances and 
Exceptions shall be as addressed in Section 18.72 80 of the Zoning 
Code. Additionally, notices shall be provided to all property owners 
within 6300 feet of the property, which is the subject of the 
application.  

246



7.4 Nonconforming Uses and StructuresNonconforming Uses and Structures 

November January 20162022October 2023 Page 7-15 

D. Findings Required to Grant 

1. Variances 

2. Variances shall be subject to the findings in Section 18.7280.020 
of the City Zoning Code. and the findings that follow: 

 

That strict or literal interpretation and enforcement of the specified 
regulation would result in practical difficulty or unnecessary physical 
hardship inconsistent with the Goals, Objectives, and Policies of this 
Plan. 

That there are exceptional or extraordinary circumstances or 
conditions applicable to the property involved or to the intended 
use of the property that do not apply generally to other properties 
in the same zone. 

That strict or literal interpretation and enforcement of the specified 
regulation would deprive the applicant of privileges enjoyed by the 
owners of other properties in the same zone. 

That the granting of the Variance or Exception will not be 
detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare, or materially 
injurious to properties or improvements in the vicinity. 

3.2. Exceptions 

a. Exceptions to development standards in the HR and HLC 
zone shall be subject to the criteria provided in Appendix A 
of the Specific Plan. 

b. Exceptions to parking standards may be permitted, as 
specified in Section 6.5.4 of the Specific Plan. 

E. Conditions of Approval 

In approving a Variance or Exception, the Administrator or Planning 
Commission, as the case may be, may impose reasonable conditions 
necessary to:  

1. Achieve the general purpose of the Specific Plan or the specific 
purposes of the zoning district in which the site is located.  

2. Protect the public health, safety, and general welfare.  

3. Ensure operation and maintenance of the use in a manner 
compatible with existing and potential uses on adjoining 
properties in the surrounding area. 

247



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-16 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

7.5 Approval to Extend with the Land 

7.5.1 Approvals 

Except where otherwise specified by the approving authority, approvals 
of all discretionary permits governed by this Plan shall extend with land.  

7.5.2 Lapse of Approvals 

Approvals for Site Plan/Architectural Review, Conditional Use Permit, 
Variances, and minor deviations shall lapse and become void twelve (12) 
months from the approval date, unless a different expiration date is 
specifically established as a Condition of Approval. Such approvals shall 
not lapse if any of the following actions occur prior to twelve (12) 
months from project approval or as extended, subject to Section 7.7.3: 

A. A building permit is issued in accordance with the approved 
entitlement and construction is commenced and diligently pursued 
toward completion; or, 

B. The use addressed under the approved Use Permit has commenced; 
or, 

C. A certificate of occupancy for the use or improvement addressed 
under the entitlement is issued. 

7.5.3 Extensions 

An extension may be issued for project approvals described in the 
previous sections. The Administrator may only extend approvals 
originally granted by the Administrator. The Planning Commission may 
only extend approvals originally granted by the Planning Commission.  

An extension may be granted for twelve (12) months and shall not 
exceed a total of two (2) years from the original date of approval. All 
requests for extensions should be filed with the Planning Division sixty 
(60) days prior to the expiration date.  

The Administrator or Planning Commission may extend the approval of 
a project if they find that there have been no significant changes in the 
goals, objectives, policies and regulations of this Specific Plan, or 
character of the area within which the project is located, that would 
cause the approved project to become inconsistent or nonconforming.  

Also, tThe granting of an extension should not be detrimental to the 
public health, safety or welfare, or materially injurious to properties or 
improvements in the vicinity. 

248



7.9 Severability 

November January 20162022October 2023 Page 7-17 

7.6 Hearings 

Public hearings shall be held for the purpose of considering public 
testimony regarding the granting of various permits and actions as 
specified by this Chapter and as required by State law. The Planning 
Commission and/or City Council may, from time to time, determine 
that a public hearing is necessary or desirable even when not specifically 
required and may set the time and place for such hearing to occur. 

7.6.1 Notice of Hearing 

7.6.2 The Planning Division shall cause notice of the 
time and place of the public hearing on the project 
to be given at least ten (10) days in advance of the 
public hearing or as required by the current Zoning 
Ordinance requirement. , as follows: 

 

7.6.3 Notice of public hearing shall be mailed to the 
applicant and owner(s) of the property in 
question, or their authorized representative. 

7.6.4 Notice of public hearing shall be mailed to all 
property owners within 300 feet of the subject 
property. 

7.6.5 Notice of public hearing shall be published in 
at least one newspaper of general circulation. 

7.6.6 Notice of public hearing shall be posted in at 
least three (3) public places designated by the 
City Council for such notification. 

7.6.77.6.2 Other Notice Requirements 

Notices required by this section shall be in addition to any other or 
different notice required by other provisions of this Code or by State 
law, provided, however, that nothing therein shall require separate 
notices to be given if the same notice will satisfy the requirements of 
this Section and any other application section of this Code or State law. 

7.6.87.6.3 Continuance of Hearings 

Any public hearing may be continued from time to time by the body or 
official conducting the hearing, subject to limitations provided by law, 
and in such case no further notice need be given. 

249



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-18 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

7.7 Enforcement 

Enforcement of this Plan shall be subject to the enforcement standards 
for the Zoning Code, addressed in Chapter 18.7886, “Administration 
and Enforcement” of the Zoning Code. 

7.8 Appeals 

Appeals shall be subject to the standards in the City Zoning Code, 
Chapter 18.76, “Appeals.” 

7.9 Severability 

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this Plan is for 
any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional, such decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Plan. The Council 
hereby declares that it would have passed this Plan and each section, 
subsection, sentence, clauses, or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact 
that any one or more section, subsection, sentence, clauses, or phrases 
has been declared invalid or unconstitutional, and if for any reason this 
Plan should be declared invalid or unconstitutional, then the remaining 
provisions shall be in full force and effect. 

  

250



7.9 Severability 

November January 20162022October 2023 Page 7-19 

 

 

 

251



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-20 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

 

 

 

252



7.9 Severability 

November January 20162022October 2023 Page 7-21 

 

 

 

253



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-22 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

254



Waterfront District Specific Plan 

October 2023 Page 1-1 

CHAPTER 1 | INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Background/Content 

The Waterfront District Specific Plan (WDSP), previously called the 
Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan, was adopted in 1983 and 
comprehensively amended in 1999. The creation of a specific plan for the 
WDSP Area (Specific Plan Area) was proposed as an implementation action in 
the 1979 Suisun City General Plan, which called for special treatment of the 
historic downtown and waterfront through the preparation and adoption of a 
Specific Plan for Old Town and the waterfront. Since that time, many actions 
identified in the Specific Plan have been implemented. 

In 2015, the City of Suisun City (City) adopted a comprehensive revision to 
the General Plan. The 2035 General Plan provides an updated set of policy 
guidelines for the overall amount, character, and location of urban 
development, as well as preservation and natural resource conservation, 
economic development, transportation, safety, public facilities and services, 
and housing.  

In 2008, the Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) approved the 
Specific Plan Area as a planned priority development area (PDA) under the 
PDA grant program administered by the Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission (MTC), ABAG, and other regional agencies. PDAs are 
opportunity areas in the Bay Area, locally adopted by cities or counties to 
facilitate growth and infill development near fixed transportation facilities. 
PDAs are designed to provide residents with housing, community amenities, 
and services in a pedestrian-friendly environment.  

In 2014, the City received grant funding from the Solano Transportation 
Authority to prepare an update to the WDSP. This update addressed the 
Specific Plan Area, which expanded on the previous WDSP boundaries to 
include the properties north of State Highway 12 (SR 12) – at the northwest 
corner of Marina Boulevard and SR 12 and the properties between Main 
Street and SR 12, including the “Denverton Curve” property in the northwest 
of the Specific Plan Area (Figure 1-1). The expanded Specific Plan Area 
boundary allows the City to better leverage the assets of the Suisun-Fairfield 
train depot to encourage infill development and establish a gateway entrance 
into the Specific Plan Area on both sides of SR 12. This update also addressed 

255



Chapter 1 | Introduction 

Page 1-2 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

current market conditions, the current regulatory environment, and recent 
City policy updates, and was adopted in November of 2016.  

In 2020, the City received another grant – this time from the State of 
California, through a program administered by the California Department of 
Housing and Community Development. The purpose of the State’s “SB 2” 
planning grant program is to streamline housing approvals and accelerate 
housing production. The City used the SB 2 grant funds to prepare this 
update to the 2016 WDSP policies and development standards to better 
facilitate housing development, particularly in areas with high-quality transit 
and within walking distance of employment, services, and entertainment.  

1.2 Location 

Suisun City is in central Solano County, midway between the cities of 
Sacramento and San Francisco (Figure 1-1). The City is bounded by the city of 
Fairfield to the north and west, Travis Air Force Base to the east, and Suisun 
Marsh to the south. Suisun City is adjacent to and bisected by State SR 12, a 
vital trucking route, and is approximately two miles east of Interstate 80. 
Suisun Slough, a major tidal waterway, connects Suisun City to Suisun Bay and 
provides access to water sports, recreation, boating, fishing, and bird 
watching. The adjoining Suisun Marsh is the largest brackish estuary west of 
the Mississippi River and borders the south and east sides of the Specific Plan 
Area. The Specific Plan Area straddles both sides of SR 12 and is located 
southeast of the Union Pacific Railway tracks and west of the Suisun Channel 
and Marina Boulevard (Figure 1-2).  

256



1.2 Location 

October 2023 Page 1-3 

Figure 1-1: Regional Context Map 

257



Chapter 1 | Introduction 

Page 1-4 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Figure 1-2: Specific Plan Area 

Source: Metropolitan Transportation Commission, AECOM, 2023

258



1.3 Specific Plan Vision 

October 2023 Page 1-5 

1.3 Specific Plan Vision 

The Specific Plan implements the General Plan’s direction to: 

▪ Strategically develop vacant, underutilized, and infill land throughout

the City and especially in the downtown.

▪ Strategically develop the Priority Development Area to provide

convenient, attractive housing, shopping, services, and employment in

the downtown neighborhood.

▪ Develop the downtown as the social and cultural heart of the

community.

▪ Promote a vibrant downtown that provides both daytime and

nighttime activities to attract visitors.

▪ Foster transit-oriented development around the train station,

including higher density housing and mixed-use development.

▪ Provide convenient linkages from the train station and other regional

connectors to bring patrons to the downtown.

▪ Provide transportation alternatives to the automobile, especially

capitalizing on the location of the train station.

▪ Ensure safe and efficient walking, biking, driving, and parking in the

downtown.

The Waterfront District is comprised of three principal character areas 

(Figure 1-3), intended to function as their names imply, including the: 

▪ “Shopping, Entertainment, Culture, and Transit-Supportive Housing”

area, comprising the commercial, mixed-use, and civic portions of the

Downtown Waterfront District on both sides of SR 12 and the

Suisun Channel;

▪ “Historic Old Town” area, adjacent to the railroad tracks and

comprising the older historic residential, commercial businesses, and

main street retail core of the Downtown Waterfront District; and

▪ “Neighborhoods,” residential neighborhood areas with access and

frontage to the waterfront on the eastern and southern portions of

the District.

These character areas and the vision statements that follow in this section 

establish the overarching vision and plan concepts for the Downtown 

Waterfront District. The planned improvements, development standards, and 

design standards in this Specific Plan are intended to enhance the function of 

these character areas as the Specific Plan Area develops. 

259



Chapter 1 | Introduction 

Page 1-6 Downtown Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Figure 1-3: Waterfront District Character Areas 

Source: Suisun City, AECOM,  2023

260



1.3 Specific Plan Vision 

October 2023 Page 1-7 

The WDSP is to be guided by the vision statements identified below in italicized 

text and followed by a description of the characteristics and key concepts for 

implementation of the WDSP. The vision and plan concepts are based in part 

on earlier iterations of the Specific Plan, but with updates to reflect input from 

the community and City leaders, the regulatory environment, existing market 

conditions and market trends. 

1. Suisun City’s Historic Waterfront District is a unique waterfront

community with a marina; an “Old Town,” composed of a

traditional Downtown commercial main street and historic

residential neighborhoods; a marina supporting boating and

waterfront recreational activities; a civic center area; and uniquely

designed residential neighborhoods, including Whispering Bay and

Victorian Harbor east of the marina, and Delta Cove and “Historic

Old Town” west of the marina.

The WDSP Area draws on the area’s unique mix of characteristics–a 

recreational waterfront, a historic main street, well-preserved 

residential historic architecture, established neighborhoods, direct 

highway access, regional commuter rail service, a rich natural 

environment, and a location that is attractive for development that 

complements the unique character of the area. 

2. Suisun City’s Historic Waterfront District is a pleasant place to live

and, at the same time, a local and regional destination for dining,

shopping, entertainment, hospitality, tourism, and recreation.

Downtown is a place that attracts new residents, jobs, businesses,

diners, shoppers, and visitors.

Significantly increased residential and economic development in the 

region has created market support for transit-supportive housing, 

dining, entertainment, specialty retail, and marine-related services. 

Employment growth in Fairfield, Vacaville, and Vallejo, along with high 

housing prices in Bay Area employment centers, have increased 

demand for housing in Solano County.  

Suisun City, which was once difficult to access from employment 

centers, is now within an acceptable commute distance, including 

commuting by rail, to the Bay Area and Sacramento. Intercity rail 

service along the Capitol Corridor enhances that position and will 

continue to increase demand for housing near the Suisun City train 

depot.  

The City’s location on the San Francisco Bay Area Water Trail makes it 

a unique destination for visitors exploring the waterways of the San 

Francisco Bay by boat or sailcraft. 

A unique waterfront community with a 

marina. 

A local and regional destination for 

shopping, entertainment, hospitality, 

tourism, and recreation. 

Suisun City’s Historic Downtown 

Waterfront District is... 

261



Chapter 1 | Introduction 

Page 1-8 Downtown Waterfront District Specific Plan 

3. The City should market the Waterfront District as a destination

on the San Francisco Bay Area Water Trail and continue to focus

on maximizing waterfront access on the Suisun Channel–its major

and central feature. Priority should also be given to improving

visibility and public access to the train depot, another key asset

for bringing guests in town to enjoy the amenities of Suisun City’s

Waterfront District.

The waterfront is an extraordinary amenity offering both an urban 

waterfront and an unusual in-town wetlands habitat. The waterfront 

creates daily activity along its edge; enriches the experience of the area 

with its seasonal and tidal changes, wildlife, open space, and vistas; and 

serves as a theme for community activities and events. There are few 

towns in California with such an extensive and multifaceted waterfront. 

The Waterfront District landscape needs to celebrate and accentuate 

its relationship to the water’s edge by emphasizing public access and 

views along both sides of the Channel and Whispering Bay. 

4. The waterfront should maintain its extraordinary mix of natural

wetlands and urban edge.

The Suisun Channel is the gateway to the large open waterways and 

wetlands of the California Delta and San Francisco Bay and is a unique 

stop on the Bay Area Water Trail. The channel is unique in its mix of 

hard and soft edges, allowing for a rare blend of commercial and 

marine-related activities along one side of the Channel, and expansive 

wildlife habitats along the other side. Pedestrians walking along the 

Channel are able to experience a variety of different environments 

within close proximity of each other. These relationships need to be 

emphasized and enhanced. Important to capitalizing on this strength is 

ensuring all areas of the waterfront are provided inviting and attractive 

pedestrian access.  

5. The historic Suisun City train depot on the north end of Main

Street should serve as a transit gateway into the Waterfront

District.

The historic train depot serves as a multimodal transportation hub for 

intercity rail service and local and regional bus service. The station is at 

the northern terminus of Main Street, within the Waterfront District 

and is near the Central County Bikeway (regional Class I bike trail), 

connecting the downtowns of Suisun City and Fairfield. While there are 

directional signs to the train depot, the station facility is otherwise easy 

to miss as it is located in a modest structure tucked behind on-street 

parking, a landscaped plaza with tall trees, and SR 12. Iconic signage, art, 

and streetscape/landscape enhancements should be added to 

emphasize the importance of this key destination and historic facility 

within the community.  

A gateway to the open waterways and 

wetlands of the California Delta and San 

Francisco Bay and a unique stop on the 

Bay Area Water Trail.  

Suisun City’s Historic Downtown 

Waterfront District is... 

A transit gateway on the Amtrak rail 

corridor, providing intercity rail service 

to the cities of Fairfield and Suisun City. 

An amenity offering an urban waterfront 

on one side and in-town wetland habitat 

on the other. 

262



1.3 Specific Plan Vision 

October 2023 Page 1-9 

6. The circulation system should be enhanced to support safer and

more convenient access between homes and destinations in

Suisun City and between the Waterfront District and Downtown

Fairfield–emphasizing pedestrians, cyclists, transit users, and

motorists.

The existing street system has three dead-ends – Main Street, Civic 

Center Boulevard, and Marina Boulevard. Lotz Way will serve as a 

major west-east arterial that links Main Street, Civic Center Boulevard, 

and Marina Boulevard. Main Street can be linked to Civic Center 

Boulevard via Driftwood Drive, along a multi-use path connection and 

plaza. 

New and improved roadway, bicycle, and pedestrian connections 

between Downtown Fairfield and the Downtown Waterfront District, 

in addition to new transit-oriented housing development Downtown, 

will help to expand the market for existing and future Suisun City 

businesses, supporting further commercial development in the 

Waterfront District. 

7. The Waterfront District needs a cohesive open space system that

enhances the pedestrian experience and supports community

access.

Extended out from the waterfront should be a system of paths, tree-

lined sidewalks, and promenades that clearly and visibly link to the 

visitor amenities (dining, lodging, and entertainment) in the Waterfront 

District and to the neighborhood parks and open spaces throughout 

the Specific Plan Area. Streets should be designed to provide direct 

vistas and bike and pedestrian access to the Suisun Channel, 

Whispering Bay, and neighborhood parks, wherever possible. 

8. Gateways to the Waterfront District, including from SR 12,

Railroad Avenue, the marina, and the train depot should be

enhanced to ensure a positive first visual impression.

The grade separation of SR 12 through the Specific Plan Area, existing 

building development, and underutilized land adjacent to the highway 

serve as barriers to visual access of the Waterfront District and its 

beautiful marina, historic Main Street, and train depot. Iconic signage, 

landscaped gateways, vertical monuments, wall art, and visually 

compatible infill development along both sides of the highway and rail 

tracks should mark the entrances to the Waterfront District.  

Similarly, vertical monuments, public art, and landscaping should be 

used to activate the entrances along the marina and boat launch areas. 

The property at the northwest corner of SR 12 and Marina Boulevard 

and the property at the southwest corner of Railroad Avenue and 

Marina Boulevard should incorporate vertical landscape elements and 

vertical architectural design details to demark entry to the Specific Plan 

Suisun City’s Historic Downtown 

Waterfront District has... 

Safe and convenient circulation and 

access by foot, bike, or transit; and 

connections to Downtown Fairfield.  

A landscaped gateway, vertical 

monuments, and new development 

marking the entrance into Downtown 

from SR 12.  

A cohesive open space system of parks 

and open space, linked by paths, 

sidewalks, and promenades that extend 

out from the waterfront. 

263



Chapter 1 | Introduction 

Page 1-10 Downtown Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Area at Marina Boulevard and Main Street, traveling westbound on SR 

12, and Railroad Avenue traveling southbound on Marina Boulevard. 

These features should be designed to market and draw visitors into the 

Waterfront District.  

9. Development adjacent to the historic residential area should be

compatible in scale and architectural themes.

The historic commercial and residential structures along Main Street 

and the Old Town residential area help to establish the unique 

character of the Waterfront District. To preserve this legacy, 

architectural compatibility of new development, gateways, and green 

space are key themes addressed in the Design Standards of this Specific 

Plan.  

10. Where feasible and consistent with building codes, existing

buildings should be re-purposed with more economically viable

uses that contribute to the vibrancy of the Waterfront District.

Many older structures in the Waterfront District have architectural 

elements that contribute to the historic character of the street or 

neighborhood. Those elements and structures should be preserved, to 

the extent feasible, and be repurposed or renovated to contribute to 

the unique identity of the Waterfront District and Old Town.  

Older commercial and residential 

structures along Main Street and 

adjacent neighborhoods that give the 

place its historic character. 

Suisun City’s Historic Downtown 

Waterfront District has... 

264



1.5 Specific Plan Goals 

October 2023 Page 1-11 

1.4 Specific Plan Goals 

The following goals were initiated in the 1983 Specific Plan, included in the 
1991, 1999, and 2016 amendments, and are being revised in this update to the 
WDSP.  

1. Strengthen the economic viability of the historic Old Town,
waterfront, adjacent areas, and the city as a whole.

This is the primary goal of the Specific Plan. A variety of
implementation techniques will be required to achieve this goal.
Economic viability is achieved through the collective efforts of private
sector investment, public planning, and ultimately by consumer demand.
The waterfront is a unique resource and attraction in central Solano
County and, along with the regional commuter service at the train
depot, represents one of the best economic development assets in the
City. The community must capitalize upon this critical opportunity by
ensuring that development in the Waterfront District accommodates
the highest possible level of residential, visitor, and commercial activity.

2. Facilitate housing development Downtown.

The City has a tremendous opportunity to expand housing
opportunities for existing and future residents Downtown, while also
creating many other co-benefits. Housing can be more affordable by
design, allowing households that might have been previously priced out
to relocate to Suisun City. Housing that is close to jobs, services, parks,
and other destinations can allow more residents to meet their daily
needs without the need for a car, freeing up disposable income that can
make housing more affordable or that can be spent at local businesses.

Establishing transit-supportive housing options in Suisun City, but in the
Specific Plan Area in particular, would expand the range of housing
options, making the City more competitive for attracting employers,
many of whom are interested in a diverse and affordable local housing
stock. Placing more housing Downtown means more customers for
existing and future businesses. Facilitating housing development in areas
near transit and destinations will reduce the need for vehicular trips
and associated transportation noise, air pollutant emissions, and
greenhouse gas emissions, and improves public health by allowing more
residents to build physical activity into their daily routines.

3. Preserve and enhance the area’s historic character.

Preserving and enhancing the historic character of the Waterfront
District is one of the central themes of the development policies of this
Specific Plan. Achieving this goal requires that the water-related early
California heritage of Downtown and the residential areas west of Main
Street be used to attract investments and consumers to the area.

265



Chapter 1 | Introduction 

Page 1-12 Downtown Waterfront District Specific Plan 

California heritage of Downtown and the residential areas west of Main 

Street be used to attract investments and consumers to the area. 

Visitors are naturally attracted to areas of historic significance. Reviving 

the original design and character of older buildings and historic sites is 

an essential supplement to the waterfront for attracting consumers 

from the surrounding area. New development or renovations in Old 

Town should anticipate and support incremental changes in 

Downtown, while not losing sight of the features that contribute to its 

historic character and identity, as addressed in more detail in Chapter 

6, “Design Standards” of this Specific Plan.  

4. Facilitate appropriate water-oriented and economic uses of the

Suisun Channel and adjacent land areas.

In addition to its historic character, Suisun City's other major natural 

asset is the Channel and the access it provides to San Francisco Bay 

and Delta waterways, especially as a designated destination on the San 

Francisco Bay Area Water Trail. Suisun City was founded because 

these waterways provided a means of transportation from agricultural 

production to consumer markets in San Francisco. The waterways 

continue as a significant recreational and commercial resource. To 

facilitate use of the Channel, marina and shoreline improvements and 

convenient public access must be provided and maintained. Permanent 

dredge disposal sites must be maintained and managed to ensure the 

continued viability of the waterfront. 

5. Protect and enhance natural open space and recreational

amenities of the Suisun Channel and adjoining areas.

The Suisun Channel and adjoining marsh areas are environmentally 

sensitive. Development adjacent to these areas must recognize this 

sensitivity and be designed and located in a way that does not degrade 

this valuable resource, especially considering climate change. Preserving 

the environmental integrity of the Channel and marshes will enhance 

wildlife habitat and contribute to the area’s attractiveness for both 

living and working in.  

6. Foster participation between the public and private sector in

carrying out a program of revitalization for the Specific Plan

Area.

Revitalization and economic development will not occur by the efforts 

of either the public or private sectors acting alone. The private sector 

relies on the coordination and assistance of government to ensure that 

investment in individual projects makes economic sense in areas where 

development costs are too great to bear without such assistance. The 

public sector relies on private investment to provide the economic 

activity necessary to carry out needed improvements. Public and 

266



1.4 Specific Plan Goals 

October 2023 Page 1-13 

private entities can collaborate on a revitalized, vibrant, and healthy 

environment for the Specific Plan Area.

267



Chapter 1 | Introduction 

Page 1-14 Downtown Waterfront District Specific Plan 

1.5 Specific Plan Organization 

This WDSP is organized into seven chapters and two appendices, as 

summarized below. 

▪ Chapter 1, Introduction

▪ Chapter 2, Existing Uses + Policies

▪ Chapter 3, Land Use Regulations

▪ Chapter 4, Traffic + Circulation

▪ Chapter 5, Open Space + Civic and Services

▪ Chapter 6, Development Standards + Design Standards

▪ Chapter 7, Specific Plan Administration

▪ Appendix A, Historic Residential and Historic Commercial Zones

Architectural Review, Demolition + Renewal Procedures

▪ Appendix B, Waterfront District Specific Plan Financing Plan

268



Waterfront District Specific Plan 

October 2023 Page 2-1 

CHAPTER 2| EXISTING USES + 

REGULATING PLANS 

2.1 Existing Uses 

The City of Suisun City is bisected by State Highway 12 (SR 12). North of 

SR 12 are residential areas and neighborhood-serving uses. The historic 

“Old Town,” mixed-use waterfront, and marshland are south and west of 

the highway. The Waterfront District Specific Plan (WDSP) Area (Specific 

Plan Area) is centered on the City’s Historic Downtown Waterfront and 

Old Town areas, located at the head of the Suisun Channel (Figure 2-1). 

The Specific Plan Area is a mix of retail and services along Main Street, the 

City’s civic center, marina and water-oriented recreation along the Suisun 

Channel, industrial uses and the Suisun-Fairfield Train Depot along the 

Union Pacific railroad tracks, a historic residential core west of Main Street, 

and newer traditionally designed residential neighborhoods along the 

waterfront and east of the channel. The Suisun Slough and marsh area 

borders the Specific Plan Area to the south and provides access to the 

natural and scenic resources and recreational activities along the waterways 

of the Delta and San Francisco Bay. The Specific Plan Area also includes a 

neighborhood shopping center, a mobile home park, and vacant properties 

north of SR 12.  

SR 12 provides access into the Specific Plan Area from an off-ramp at Civic 

Center Boulevard from eastbound SR 12, an off-ramp at Main Street from 

westbound SR 12, and an at-grade intersection at Marina Boulevard. The 

main access point into the Specific Plan Area from the southwest is from 

Cordelia Road, which becomes Cordelia Street as it enters the city. The 

Suisun-Fairfield Train Depot, recreational waterfront, and regional bike 

trails provide access to the Waterfront District from the city of Fairfield, 

the eastern and northern parts of Suisun City, and the broader region.  

2.1.1 Planning Districts 

Eight planning districts are identified for the Specific Plan Area (Figure 

2-1). Figure 2-2 shows a general depiction of existing uses in the Specific 

Plan Area. 

269



Chapter 2 | Existing Uses + Regulating Plans 

Page 2-2 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Figure 2-1: Planning Districts 

 
Source: AECOM 2023

270



2.1 Existing Uses 

October 2023 Page 2-3 

Figure 2-2: Existing Land Uses 

Source: AECOM 2023

271



Chapter 2 | Existing Uses + Regulating Plans 

Page 2-4 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

District 1, Western Marina Boulevard and SR 12 

District 1 encompasses several large, vacant, or underutilized parcels 

along both sides of SR 12 zoned for development. North of SR 12 is a 

vacant 30-acre property bound by the railroad tracks on the west and 

Marina Boulevard on the east. Uses south of SR 12 and north of Lotz 

Way include a small shopping center and a vacant commercial parcel 

between the shopping center and Marina Boulevard. Future development 

of District 1 should anticipate working cooperatively and collaboratively 

with the County of Solano and the City of Fairfield to explore 

opportunities to enhance regional flood controls and stormwater 

improvements. 

District 2, Suisun-Fairfield Train Depot 

District 2 is anchored by the historic Southern Pacific Company railway 

depot located at the northernmost point of Main Street where the SR 12 

overpass crosses the railway. Across the street and east of Main Street is 

a Caltrans-owned, park-and-ride facility for the depot on Lotz Way. 

District 2 also includes an undeveloped parcel north of SR 12 along Main 

Street commonly referred to as “Denverton Curve” and properties along 

Benton Court west of Main Street that are currently in low-scale light 

industrial use. 

Districts 1 and 2 Existing Site Context 

Vacant 30-acre 

property 

SR-12 

Fairfield-Suisun 

Train Depot 

Denverton 

Curve 
Park-and- 

ride facility 

Benton Court 

272



2.1 Existing Uses 

October 2023 Page 2-5 

District 3, Downtown Commercial Core  

District 3 consists of the properties immediately surrounding the Suisun 

Channel, including the marina area, Main Street and Harbor Plaza to the 

west, One Harbor Center to the north, and the Civic Center area to the 

east. Main Street, from SR 12 south to Morgan Street, serves as the spine 

and focal point for the Downtown Commercial Core. Paralleling the 

Suisun Channel, Main Street provides a reflection back to the historic past 

when Suisun City was a major shipping port. Along this street are one- 

and two-story commercial buildings, many of which have both historic 

and architectural value.  

At the north end of the Suisun Channel is the site of the former Sheldon 

Oil facilities, which has been redeveloped with an informal open space 

green and plaza areas, referred to as Sheldon Plaza. Between Main and 

Kellogg Streets and the Suisun Channel is a mix of commercial and light 

industrial uses, some related to the marina uses along the waterfront.  

 
District 3 Existing Site Context 

273



Chapter 2 | Existing Uses + Regulating Plans 

Page 2-6 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

District 4, Historic Suisun City 

District 4 is west of the Main Street commercial area and consists of the 

Old Town historic residential neighborhoods and a vacant property 

previously occupied by the Crystal Elementary School.  

District 4 Existing Site Context 

District 5, Harbor Village/Victorian Harbor Neighborhood 

District 5 is situated between Lotz Way, the Suisun Slough, Marina 

Boulevard, and Civic Center Boulevard. This neighborhood consists of 

single-family residences and multi-family apartment buildings, anchored by 

the Crystal Middle School. East of Marina Boulevard, north of Driftwood 

Drive is a vacant property adjoining Suisun Slough.  

District 5 Existing Site Context

Old Crystal School Site 

274



2.1 Existing Uses 

October 2023 Page 2-7 

District 6, Cordelia Gateway Neighborhood  

District 6 is south of the Main Street commercial area and consists of 

multi-family apartment buildings, a vacant parcel along the railroad tracks, 

and large single-family lots bordering the marsh land south of the district.  

District 7, South Waterfront District 

District 7 is at the southern edge of the Suisun Channel. At the corner of 

Walnut Street and Kellogg Street is the location of the municipal boat 

launching facility and parking area.  

Districts 6 and 7 Existing Site Context

Cordelia Gateway 

Neighborhood 

South 

Waterfront 

Walnut Street 
K

e
llo

g
g
 S

tre
e
t 

275



Chapter 2 | Existing Uses + Regulating Plans 

Page 2-8 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

District 8, Civic Center / Whispering Bay Waterfront  

District 8 includes the civic center area, anchored by City Hall, and the 

Whispering Bay waterfront, which wraps the southeastern edge of the 

Specific Plan Area. This district is bordered by Marina Boulevard / Marina 

Circle and Civic Center Boulevard to the north. West of Civic Center 

Boulevard are the City’s administrative offices, the Solano Yacht club, and 

open space and wetland areas.  

This district also includes the former Whispering Bay marina, which was 

developed in the 1960s as a private marina, with docking facilities. Over 

the years, the docks and slips deteriorated and were removed. Siltation, 

lack of maintenance, and dredging have limited the site to its current use 

as a surface parking and storage facility. The limited utility of the site 

currently, along with its location within a mile of transit, makes the area 

along Whispering Bay a key redevelopment and infill opportunity site. 

Several undeveloped properties are located on the southern end of the 

Suisun Channel, near the terminus of Harbor Park Drive and Whispering 

Bay Lane. Development of these vacant properties and redevelopment of 

the former marina has the potential to provide a circulation connection 

that joins Marina Boulevard to Civic Center Boulevard.  

Across Suisun Slough from the Whispering Bay Neighborhood is Pierce 

Island, an undeveloped area currently designated as a dredge material 

disposal site and permanent open space. The island was formerly used for 

a series of oxidation ponds for sewage treatment. 

District 8 Existing Site Context 

Whispering Bay 

City Hall / Civic 

Center area 

276



2.2 Regulating Plans 

October 2023 Page 2-9 

2.2 Regulating Plans 

2.2.1 Suisun City General Plan and Zoning Code 

Development in Suisun City must comply with the Suisun City General 

Plan and Zoning Code. The General Plan establishes goals and policies 

that are designed to guide development and conservation throughout the 

City’s Planning Area. The  is required by State law to be consistent with 

the General Plan. The land use designation in the General Plan for the 

Area is “Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan.” The WDSP allows 

development consistent with the land use plan provided in Chapter 3. 

The General Plan contains policies and goals relevant to the WDSP Area. 

Several elements of the General Plan have policies that form a framework 

for the Specific Plan Area.  

General Plan guiding principles that have the greatest general bearing on 

development in the Specific Plan Area and with which the WDSP must be 

consistent include the following: 

Community Character 

1. Suisun City will strive to enhance the City’s authentic, local

identity as a vibrant waterfront community.

▪ Focus higher-density development and mixed-use projects in

areas adjacent to the train/intermodal depot.

Destination Tourism and Entertainment 

2. Suisun City will encourage the development of uses and

protection of resources that attract visitors, enhancing the

community as a tourism destination.

▪ Promote a vibrant downtown that provides both daytime and

nighttime activities to attract visitors.

▪ Provide a variety of high-quality passive and active recreation

and leisure activities.

▪ Promote arts and culture in the community, including theaters,

galleries, museums, music venues, and other activities.

277



Chapter 2 | Existing Uses + Regulating Plans 

Page 2-10 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Downtown 

3. Suisun City will continue to develop the Downtown as a

vibrant, pedestrian-scaled commercial and entertainment

center that reflects our community’s unique waterfront

character.

▪ Develop the Downtown as the social and cultural heart of the

community.

▪ Strategically develop the Priority Development Area to provide

convenient, attractive housing, shopping, services, and

employment in the downtown neighborhood.

▪ Provide convenient linkages from the train depot and other

regional connectors to bring patrons to the Downtown.

▪ Ensure safe and efficient walking, biking, driving, and parking in

the Downtown.

▪ Foster transit-oriented development around the

train/intermodal depot.

Neighborhood Vitality 

4. Suisun City will ensure that neighborhoods maintain their

character and vitality.

▪ Maintain complete, well-designed, and walkable neighborhoods,

with places to gather, nearby services, and multimodal access

to jobs, recreation, and other community and regional services.

▪ Create policies and programs to maintain the character and

vitality of neighborhoods.

Quality of Community Life 

5. Suisun City will foster an inclusive, multigenerational

community that is economically and ethnically diverse.

▪ Encourage our community to live, work, and play locally, while

supporting social and cultural activities, facilities, and programs.

▪ Provide a full spectrum of activities and services to meet the

needs of the entire community, including youth and seniors.

Sustainability 

6. Suisun City will practice economically, fiscally, and

environmentally responsible municipal decision-making to

avoid shifting today’s cost to future generations.

▪ Use sustainable development and land use practices that

provide for today’s residents and businesses while preserving

choices for the community in the future.

278



2.2 Regulating Plans 

October 2023 Page 2-11 

▪ Encourage a healthy living environment.

▪ Preserve and enhance natural resources and minimize negative

environmental impacts.

Transportation 

7. Suisun City will provide choices for attractive, convenient

transportation.

▪ Design for active pedestrian and bicycle-friendly paths and

streets, as well as public spaces.

▪ Provide transportation alternatives to the automobile,

especially capitalizing on the location of the train depot.

2.2.2 San Francisco Bay Plan 

The San Francisco Bay Conservation and Development Commission 

(BCDC) is a state agency created to protect the bay as a natural 

resource, to guide development, and enhance public access.  

BCDC has adopted the San Francisco Bay Plan, which includes land use 

policies that apply to portions of the Specific Plan Area and areas adjacent 

to the Specific Plan Area. The Bay Plan, which was initially adopted by the 

BCDC in 1968, signed into law by the California Legislature in 1969, last 

updated in 2012, and amended in October 2019, encompasses the San 

Francisco, San Pablo, and Suisun Bays and the portions of the 

Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta as far east as Collinsville. 

The San Francisco Bay Plan’s objectives are to protect the bay as a great 

natural resource for the benefit of present and future generations and to 

develop the bay and its shoreline to their highest potential with the 

minimum of Bay filling. According to the Bay Plan, filling may only be 

permitted for water-related purposes that provide substantial public 

benefits, ports, water-related industrial uses, airports, freeways, bridges, 

recreational opportunities, wildlife refuges, and public shoreline access.  

The Bay Plan also recognizes the value of fish and wildlife resources. 

Policies have been established to protect and maintain remaining marshes 

and mudflats, the remaining water volume and surface area of the Bay 

Region, and adequate freshwater inflow into the bay. The BCDC has 

regulatory authority over all uses and development within 100 feet 

landward of, and parallel to the shoreline of the San Francisco Bay.  

279



Chapter 2 | Existing Uses + Regulating Plans 

Page 2-12 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

This page intentionally left blank. 

280



Waterfront District Specific Plan 

October 2023 Page 3-1 

CHAPTER 3 | LAND USE REGULATIONS 

This chapter identifies permitted and conditionally permitted uses within 

each of the residential, commercial, mixed-use, and civic/open space land 

use zones in the Waterfront District Specific Plan (WDSP) Area (Specific 

Plan Area).  

This Chapter should be referenced in conjunction with Chapter 6, which 

describes the development standards and design standards governing 

development in the Specific Plan Area, and Chapter 7, which describes 

the methods for administering the Specific Plan, including the process for 

administrative review, conditional use, and temporary use permits. 

3.1 Land Use Zones 

Figure 3-1, Land Use Map, identifies the land use zones governing 

development within the Specific Plan Area. These land use zones govern 

the use of property and shall replace and supersede all previous zoning 

designations for the Specific Plan Area.  

The City’s Development Services Department, Planning Division is 

responsible for General Plan administration and interpretation and other 

adopted planning documents, including this Specific Plan and the Zoning 

Code. See Section 7.4 for further details on Specific Plan administration. 

3.1.1 Residential Zones 

Four residential land use zones are established: 

▪ RLD – Residential Low Density

▪ RMD – Residential Medium Density

▪ RHD – Residential High Density

▪ HR – Historic Residential

281



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-2  Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Figure 3-1: Land Use Map

Source: AECOM 2023

282



3.1 Land Use Zones 

October 2023 Page 3-3 

The Specific Plan’s RLD, RMD, and RHD zones implement the General 

Plan's policies governing low-, medium-, and high-density residential 

development, with densities that are consistent with existing development 

and the Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan land use designation (the 

previous name of the Specific Plan).  

The HR zone implements the General Plan’s policies for the preservation 

of Old Town’s residential neighborhood historic character.  

Existing development that was legal when established but does not conform 

to some of the standards in Table 3-1 through Table 3-4 or other Specific 

Plan regulations shall continue to be permitted to exist in their current 

state but shall be subject to the standards for nonconforming uses, 

addressed in Section 7.5 of this Specific Plan. Section 7.6.2 outlines the use 

permit process, including conditions of approval and findings required to 

grant use permits, that are applicable to nonconforming uses. 

A. Residential Low Density (RLD) Zone

This zone provides for lower-density residential development at up to 

twelve (12) dwelling units per net acre.

Table 3-1: Residential Low Density Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses Administrative Review and Conditionally 

Permitted Uses 

▪ Single-family dwelling

▪ Duplex, triplex

▪ Townhomes

▪ Accessory dwelling units or guest houses

▪ Small family day care homes

(care for 6 or fewer persons)

▪ Small residential care homes

(care for 6 or fewer persons)

▪ Park, playground

Administrative Review: 

▪ Home occupations/Live-work (subject to standards 

in WDSP Section 3.1.4)

▪ Large family day care homes

(care for 7 or more persons)

▪ Large residential care homes

(care for 7 or more persons)

Conditionally Permitted: 

▪ Public/quasi-public use (e.g., community center, school,

fire station, library, church)

▪ Mobile home park

▪ Any other uses that are similar in nature, function, and operations to the permitted, administrative

review clearance, and conditionally permitted uses listed above shall be subject to the same level of

review and approval.

▪ Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Specific Plan Area, unless otherwise

noted in Section 3.1.4.

283



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-4  Waterfront District Specific Plan 

B. Residential Medium Density (RMD) Zone

This zone provides for a wide variety of residential development of 

between 12.1-24.9 dwelling units per net acre, including detached and 

attached single-family and multi-family dwellings.  

This zone is also intended to allow and encourage some commercial uses 

along the waterfront, particularly on residential lots with waterfront 

access. Limited commercial uses on these lots allow for design or 

conversion of ground floor space for this purpose. A Conditional Use 

Permit, as addressed in Chapter 7, is required to ensure compatibility of 

commercial development with the surrounding residential neighborhoods. 

The allowed uses in the RMD Zone are intended to be consistent with 

the Promenade at Delta Cove project. In the case of any conflict between 

allowable uses in the RMD Zone and the Promenade at Delta Cove 

project, as addressed in Resolution 2003-57, the Promenade at Delta 

Cove Design Guidelines shall prevail. 

Table 3-2: Residential Medium Density Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses Administrative Review and Conditionally 

Permitted Uses 

▪ Single-family dwelling

▪ Duplex, triplex

▪ Multi-family dwellings (i.e., apartments, 
condominiums)

▪ Accessory dwelling units or guest houses

▪ Home occupations/Live-work (subject to 
standards in Section 3.1.4 of this Specific 
Plan)

▪ Small family day care homes (caring for 6 

orfewer persons) 

▪ Small state licensed residential care homes

(caring for 6 or fewer persons)

▪ Park, playground

Administrative Review: 

▪ Bed and breakfast inn

▪ Large family day care homes

(caring for 7 or more persons)

▪ Large state licensed residential care homes (caring for

7 or more persons)

▪ Public/quasi-public use (e.g., community center,

school, fire station, library, church)

Conditionally Permitted: 

▪ Commercial uses (e.g., café, coffee shop, restaurant),

limited to 40% of the net building area of

development on the ground floor

▪ Mobile home park

▪ Any other uses that are similar in nature, function, and operations to the permitted, administrative

review clearance, and conditionally permitted uses listed above shall be subject to the same level of

review and approval.

▪ Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Specific Plan Area, unless otherwise

noted in Section 3.1.4.

284



3.1 Land Use Zones 

October 2023 Page 3-5 

C. Residential High Density (RHD) Zone

This zone provides for a wide variety of multi-family residential 

development types between 25-54 dwelling units per net acre. This zone 

is also intended to support high-density infill development in appropriate 

locations throughout the Specific Plan Area, particularly near the Suisun-

Fairfield Train Depot.  

This zone also allows and encourages some commercial uses to allow for 

design or conversion of ground floor space for this purpose. A 

Conditional Use Permit, as addressed in Chapter 7, is required to ensure 

compatibility of commercial development with surrounding areas. 

Table 3-3: Residential High Density Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses Administrative Review and Conditionally 

Permitted Uses 

▪ Single-family attached dwellings

▪ Duplex, triplex

▪ Multi-family dwellings

(i.e., apartments, condominiums)

▪ Live-work units

▪ Rooming and boarding houses

▪ Accessory dwelling units or guest houses

▪ Small family day care homes

(caring for 6 or fewer persons)

▪ Small state licensed residential care homes

(caring for 6 or fewer persons)

▪ Park, playground

Administrative Review: 

▪ Bed and breakfast inn

▪ Home occupations/Live-work (subject to 

standards in Section 3.1.4 of this Specific Plan)

▪ Large family day care homes

(caring for 7 or more persons)

▪ Large state licensed residential care homes (caring

for 7 or more persons)

▪ Public/quasi-public use (e.g., community center,

school, fire station, library, church)

Conditionally Permitted: 

▪ Limited commercial uses (e.g., café, coffee shop,

restaurant), limited to 40% of the net building area of

development on the ground floor

▪ Mobile home park

▪ Any other uses that are similar in nature, function, and operations to the permitted, administrative

review clearance, and conditionally permitted uses listed above shall be subject to the same level of

review and approval.

▪ Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Specific Plan Area, unless otherwise

noted in Section 3.1.4.

285



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-6 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

D. Historic Residential (HR) Zone

This zone, along with Main Street and the waterfront, comprise the first 

area of settlement, which contributed significantly to the culture and 

development of the City. The HR zone contains several historic 

structures, which are a highly valued part of the City's heritage. The 

Solano County Landmarks Commission has, through the publication: 

“Our Lasting Heritage,” documented the historical and architectural value 

of a number of properties in the HR area. Some of these are good 

examples of earlier architectural styles and exemplify elements of 

outstanding attention to design, detail, materials, and craftsmanship.  

The Cultural Resources chapter within Volume II, Technical Background 

Reports of the General Plan (adopted in May 2015) lists known cultural 

resources and contributing resources to the Suisun City Historic District, 

an area bounded by Sacramento Street to the north, West Street to the 

west, Cordelia Street to the South, and Kellogg and Main Streets to the 

east. This district comprises of 95 contributing buildings, including 

residences, commercial, and social/religious buildings that have historically 

been associated with the Downtown Core of the City and retain their 

integrity.  

The specific purpose and intent of the HR zone, as summarized by the 

following objectives, is to ensure that this area continues as a viable 

residential neighborhood and ensure the City’s cultural heritage, as 

reflected in its historic structures, sites, and features, is not destroyed. 

▪ Preserve and protect historic structures.

▪ Preserve and maintain the Historic Residential area embodied in

the HR zone as a cohesive neighborhood unit.

▪ Enhance property values.

▪ Ensure that the community's cultural heritage, as reflected in the

built environment, is not lost.

▪ Encourage redevelopment of vacant and incompatible structures

to develop in accordance with the historic character of the zone.

▪ Provide for rehabilitation, additions, and modifications to existing

structures in a manner that is sensitive to the historic qualities of

these structures.

The HR zone applies to the existing Old Town residential neighborhood 

and is intended to accommodate a mix of single-family homes, duplexes, 

multi-family dwellings, and compatible non-residential uses that maintain 

the historic character of the area. This zone permits residential 

development of between six (6) to eighteen (18) dwelling units per net 

acre.  

No mobile home, as defined by the City Zoning Code, or camping unit, 

designed to be carried or towed by a motor vehicle, tent, mobile living 

unit, boat, trailer, or freight van shall be stored in any front or side yard 

286



3.1 Land Use Zones 

October 2023 Page 3-7 

adjacent to a public street within the HR zone longer than seven (7) 

consecutive days without obtaining a Temporary Use Permit, as 

addressed in Chapter 7. Storage beyond the time allotted for a temporary 

use is prohibited. Manufactured homes must comply with the standards 

for manufactured homes in Chapter 18.54 of the City Zoning Code and 

with the design standards applicable to the HR zone, addressed in 

Chapter 6 of this Specific Plan.  

Refer to Chapter 6 for development standards and Appendix A for 

special architectural review, demolition, and renewal procedures that 

apply to the HR zone.

Table 3-4: Historic Residential Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses Administrative Review and Conditionally 

Permitted Uses 

▪ Single-family dwellings

▪ Duplex, triplex

▪ Accessory dwelling units or guest houses

▪ Small family day care homes

(caring for 6 or fewer persons)

▪ Small state licensed residential care homes

(caring for 6 or fewer persons)

▪ Park, playground

Administrative Review: 

▪ Bed and breakfast inn

▪ Home occupations/Live-work (subject to 

standards in Section 3.1.4 of this Specific Plan)

▪ Large family day care homes

(caring for 7 or more persons)

▪ Large state licensed residential care homes

(caring for 7 or more persons)

▪ Public/quasi-public use (e.g., community center, 
school, fire station, library, church)

▪ Lodges, fraternal organizations

Conditionally Permitted: 

▪ Limited commercial uses (e.g., café, coffee shop,

restaurant), limited to 40% of the net building area of

development on the ground floor

▪ Mobile home park

▪ Multi-family dwellings

(i.e., apartments, condominiums)

▪ Any other neighborhood-oriented uses that are similar in nature, function, and operations to the

permitted, administrative review clearance, and conditionally permitted uses listed above shall be subject

to the same level of review and approval.

▪ Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Specific Plan Area, unless otherwise

noted in Section 3.1.4.

287



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-8 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

3.1.2 Commercial Zones 

Six commercial land use zones are established: 

▪ MSMU – Main Street Mixed Use

▪ DMU – Downtown Mixed Use

▪ HC – Historic Commercial

▪ DMU – Downtown Mixed Use

▪ DC – Downtown Commercial

▪ WC – Waterfront Commercial

A. Main Street Mixed Use (MSMU) Zone

This zone is primarily devoted to preserving and enhancing the mix of 

retail, entertainment, and destination uses in the Downtown Core. This 

Specific Plan is intended to encourage the historic mix of uses, which 

typically consisted of a retail or personal service business in the ground 

floor storefront facing Main Street, with small commercial, professional 

offices or residential uses on the upper floor(s) and behind the Main 

Street frontage use.  

Main Street retailers have traditionally sold a combination of convenience 

items and services for everyday needs (e.g., butcher, baker, shoe shop) 

and specialty items, such as clothing, jewelry, gifts and antiques. 

Restaurants, cafes, and similar eating and entertainment establishments 

were also commonplace. Large bulk retail businesses, such as furniture 

sales, automotive, or wholesale uses were generally found only on the 

fringes of the Downtown, if at all.  

Permitted and conditionally permitted uses within this zone are identified 

in Table 3-5. 

288



3.1 Land Use Zones 

October 2023 Page 3-9 

Table 3-5: Main Street Mixed Use Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses 1 Administrative Review and Conditionally 

Permitted Uses 

▪ Art, modeling, music, and/or dance studio

▪ Artist studios; art supply stores

▪ Lodging services

▪ Business services

▪ Commercial services

▪ Communication services

▪ Community social services

▪ Eating and drinking places

▪ Educational services

▪ General merchandise and hardware store

▪ Movie theater

▪ Personal services

▪ Professional or medical offices

▪ Specialty retail shops1

Administrative Review: 

▪ Food and grocery stores

▪ Medical health care facility

▪ Public/quasi-public use (e.g., community center,

school, fire station, library, church)

Conditionally Permitted: 

▪ Commercial amusement or entertainment

▪ Drive-through facilities (only north of Driftwood

Drive)

▪ Entertainment (i.e., nightclub and bar/lounge)

▪ Furniture stores

▪ Reupholstery and furniture repair; antique

refinishing

▪ Residential dwellings2

▪ Convenience market (with or without alcohol)

▪ Shops selling age-restricted goods or providing

age-restricted services

▪ Any other retail, service, or public/quasi-public uses that are similar in nature, function, and operations

to the permitted, administrative review clearance, and conditionally permitted uses listed above shall be

subject to the same level of review and approval.

Notes: 

1. Specialty retail shops are small retail stores that offer distinctive merchandise, typically sourced locally

or regionally, and intended to cater to visitors, rather than primarily serving the local population.

Specialty retail shops do not include the sale of age-restricted goods or the provision of age-restricted

services.

2. Permits the same type of residential dwellings as the RHD zone.

Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Specific Plan Area, unless otherwise 

noted in Section 3.1.4. 

289



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-10 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

B. Historic Commercial (HC) Zone

This zone applies to the area south of Harbor Plaza facing Main Street and 

east to Kellogg Street. This area is currently predominantly residential but 

is expected to gradually convert to commercial and/or office uses, which 

are compatible with residential uses. Because most of the structures are 

historic and still occupied by residential uses, any commercial conversions 

of these structures should preserve the significant historical characteristics 

of the buildings and avoid adverse impacts to the nearby residences. 

Therefore, office and commercial uses should be low intensity in nature 

and occur as conversions, rather than replacement of structures. 

Generally, residential and public uses are permitted and commercial/office 

uses are listed as conditional uses. Commercial uses for which a valid City 

business license has been issued, which are existing at the time of adoption 

of this document are considered to be conforming uses and do not require 

a Conditional Use Permit to continue. Allowed uses permitted within the 

HC zone are indicated in Table 3-6.

Table 3-6: Historic Commercial Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses Administrative Review and Conditionally Permitted Uses 

▪ Single-family dwellings

▪ Duplex, triplex

▪ Multiple-family dwellings

(i.e., apartments,

condominiums)1

▪ Nursing home, rest home,

convalescent home

▪ Accessory dwelling units or

guest houses

▪ Small family day care homes

(caring for 6 or fewer persons)

▪ Small state licensed residential

care homes

(caring for 6 or fewer persons)

▪ Park, playground

▪ Specialty retail shops2

Administrative Review: 

▪ Bed and breakfast inn

▪ Home occupations/Live-work (subject to standards in Section 3.2.4 of

this Specific Plan)

▪ Large family day care homes

(caring for 7 or more persons)

▪ Large state licensed residential care homes

(caring for 7 or more persons)

▪ Neighborhood service use

▪ Optical shop or optometrist

▪ Personal and business services

▪ Professional or medical offices

Conditionally Permitted:

▪ Public/quasi-public use (e.g., community center, school, fire station,

library, church)

▪ Reupholstery, furniture repair; antique refinishing

▪ Convenience market

▪ Shops selling age-restricted goods or providing age-restricted services

▪ Any other neighborhood-oriented commercial retail, service, or public/quasi-public uses that are similar in

nature, function, and operations to the permitted, administrative review clearance, and conditionally

permitted uses listed above shall be subject to the same level of review and approval.
Notes: 

1. Permits the same type of residential dwellings as the HR zone.

2. Specialty retail shops are defined as small retail stores with distinctive, one-of-a-kind merchandise, often

supplied locally, not including sale of age-restricted goods or providing age-restricted services.

Refer also to the performance standards in Chapter 7 for use permit approval requirements in the HC zone. 

Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Specific Plan Area, unless otherwise 

noted in Section 3.1.4. 

290

emily.biro
Stamp



3.1 Land Use Zones 

October 2023 Page 3-11 

C. Downtown Mixed Use (DMU) Zone

This zone allows a mix of retail, commercial service, civic, office, and 

other complementary non-residential uses, as well as higher-density 

residential development. Allowed uses permitted within the DMU zone 

are indicated in Table 3-7.

Table 3-7: Downtown Mixed Use Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses Administrative Review and 

Conditionally Permitted Uses 

▪ Antique shop

▪ Art, modeling, music, and/or dance studio

▪ Artist studios; art supply stores

▪ Lodging services

▪ Business services

▪ Clothing and costume stores

▪ Commercial services

▪ Communication services

▪ Community social services

▪ Eating and drinking places

▪ Educational services

▪ Food and grocery stores

▪ General merchandise and hardware store

▪ Medical and veterinary services

▪ Theater (i.e., motion picture or live)

▪ Optical shop or optometrist

▪ Personal services

▪ Professional or medical offices

▪ Specialty retail shops1

▪ Single-family dwellings

▪ Duplex, triplex

▪ Multiple-family dwellings (i.e., apartments, condominiums)

▪ Accessory dwelling units or guest houses

Administrative Review: 

▪ Public/quasi-public use (e.g., community

center, school, fire station, library,

church)

▪ Structured parking

Conditionally Permitted: 

▪ Commercial amusement or

entertainment

▪ Commercial retail or services greater

than 40,000 square feet

▪ Drive-through facilities

(only north of Driftwood Drive)

▪ Entertainment (i.e., nightclub and

bar/lounge)

▪ Furniture stores

▪ Hospital

▪ Reupholstery and furniture repair;

antique refinishing

▪ Convenience market

▪ Shops selling age-restricted goods or

providing age-restricted services

▪ Any other retail, service, public/quasi-public, or residential uses that are similar in nature, function, and

operations to the permitted, administrative review clearance, and conditionally permitted uses listed

above shall be subject to the same level of review and approval.

Notes: 

1. Specialty retail shops are defined as small retail stores with distinctive merchandise, often supplied

locally or with a local theme, not including sale of age-restricted goods or providing age-restricted

services.

Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Specific Plan Area, unless otherwise 

noted in Section 3.1.4. 

291



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-12 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

D. Downtown Commercial (DC) Zone

This zone is intended to accommodate primarily retail and commercial 

services, but also allows complementary office, civic, and recreational 

uses. Allowed uses permitted within the DC zone are shown in Table 3-8. 

Table 3-8: Downtown Commercial Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses Administrative Review and Conditionally 

Permitted Uses 

▪ Art, modeling, music, and/or dance studio

▪ Auto parts, sales, without repair

▪ Business services

▪ Commercial services

▪ Communication services

▪ Community social services

▪ Drive-through facilities

▪ Dry cleaning, laundry

▪ Eating and drinking places

▪ Educational services

▪ Entertainment (i.e., nightclub and bar/lounge)

▪ Food and grocery stores

▪ Finance, insurance, and real estate offices

▪ General retail and merchandise stores

▪ Medical health care facility

▪ Optical shop or optometrist

▪ Lodge, fraternal organization or club

▪ Parks and open space

▪ Personal services

▪ Professional or medical offices

▪ Theater (i.e., motion picture or live)

▪ Specialty retails shops1

Administrative Review: 

▪ Bed and breakfast inn

▪  Commercial amusement or entertainment

▪ Hospital

▪ Public/quasi-public use (e.g., community center,

school, fire station, library, church)

Conditionally Permitted: 

▪ Automotive service and repair

▪ Manufacturing uses greater than 5,000 square

feet

▪ Research and development and laboratory

facilities

▪ Wholesale or warehouse facilities, as an

incidental use

▪ Corporation yard, as an incidental use

▪ Convenience market

▪ Shops selling age-restricted goods or providing

age-restricted services.

▪ Any other retail, service, public/quasi-public, or residential uses that are similar in nature, function, and

operations to the permitted, administrative review clearance, and conditionally permitted uses listed

above shall be subject to the same level of review and approval.

Notes: 

1. Specialty retail shops are defined as small retail stores with distinctive merchandise, often supplied

locally or with a local theme, not including sale of age-restricted goods or providing age-restricted

services.

2. Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Specific Plan Area, unless otherwise

noted in Section 3.1.4.

292



3.1 Land Use Zones 

October 2023 Page 3-13 

E. Waterfront Commercial (WC) Zone

This WC zone is located behind or to the east of Harbor Plaza, adjacent 

to the waterfront and marina. This zone also exists south of the RM zone 

and north of the City boat launch.  Because of its proximity to both the 

marina and Main Street, this area is expected to accommodate elements 

of both Main Street retail and related uses, as well as uses which are 

needed to serve the marina and boat owners or are required by their 

nature to be located adjacent to the Waterfront. 

Table 3-9: Waterfront Commercial Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses Conditionally Permitted Uses 

▪ Uses as permitted within the Main Street Mixed

Use zone (outlined in Table 3-5, above)

▪ Boat equipment sales, supplies, and marine

products and accessories

▪ Boat and marine sales and services, where

service is accessory to the sales operation

▪ Marina, public access, and related public facilities

▪ Sales of recreational vehicles only

▪ Sales of products for boating and water

recreation activities

▪ Water-oriented commercial, entertainment, and

similar uses that are connected to the water or

related to water-related activities

Conditionally Permitted: 

▪ Boat repair and service, not accessory to a sales

operation

▪ Boat storage

▪ Manufacture/assembly of boating products

▪ Gas sales for boat use only

▪ Convenience market

▪ Shops selling age-restricted goods or providing

age-restricted services

▪ Any other retail, service, public/quasi-public uses similar in nature, function, and operations to the

permitted and conditionally permitted uses listed above shall be subject to the same level of review and

approval.

Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Specific Plan Area, unless otherwise 

noted in Section 3.1.4. 

293



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-14 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

3.1.3 Civic/Open Space Zones  

Civic and open space land use zones to be established include: 

▪ C – Civic

▪ OS – Open Space

The allowed uses within each of these zones follow in Table 3-10 and 

Table 3-11. Chapter 5 provides a more detailed description of the parks 

and open space concepts and facilities envisioned within the Specific Plan 

Area. 

A. Civic (C) Zone

The Land Use Map designates locations of existing and planned civic 

facilities. Existing facilities include the public marina, schools, 

neighborhood parks, common parking areas, and the Civic Center. The C 

zone is intended to accommodate a variety of facilities, including but not 

limited to parks, schools, civic facilities, parking, and trails provided for 

the recreation or service of the community.

Table 3-10: Civic Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses 1 Administrative Review and Conditionally 

Permitted Uses 

▪ Parks and publicly accessible open space

▪ Public plaza area

▪ Recreational facilities

▪ Public and private marinas, including guest docks,

boat launches, and related facilities 

▪ Uses occurring on a floating vessel moored in the

water within or adjacent to the marina (e.g.,

conference facilities, restaurant, nightclub or

cabaret, and other entertainment uses)

▪ Social or recreational center, club, or lodge

▪ Parking and transportation facilities

Administrative Review: 

▪ Any other uses which are similar in nature,

function, or operation to permitted uses listed.

Conditionally Permitted: 

▪ Any other uses in which the Planning Division,

Planning Commission, or City Council on

appeal finds to be consistent with the intent of

the zone, subject to certain conditions or

restrictions.

▪ Any other public/quasi-public or recreational uses, similar in nature, function, and operations to the

permitted uses listed above shall be subject to the same level of review and approval.

Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Specific Plan Area, unless otherwise 

noted in Section 3.1.4 

294



3.1 Land Use Zones 

October 2023 Page 3-15 

B. Open Space (OS) Zone

The Land Use Map also designates the location for open space within the 

Specific Plan Area. This district is intended to accommodate a variety of 

passive recreational and open space facilities, including wetland and 

natural areas to remain open/undeveloped, drainage areas, and waterfront 

trails/promenades. 

Table 3-11: Open Space Zone Allowed Uses 

Permitted Uses 1 Administrative Review and Conditionally 

Permitted Uses 

▪ Open/undeveloped natural areas and

wetlands

▪ Resource protection and restoration

▪ Resource related recreation

▪ Minerals or natural minerals removal

Administrative Review: 

▪  Agricultural uses

▪ Parks

▪ Nursery, plants

▪ Campground

▪ Any other uses which are similar in nature,

function, or operation to permitted uses listed.

Conditionally Permitted: 

▪ Any other uses in which the Planning Division,

Planning Commission, or City Council on appeal

finds to be consistent with the intent of the zone,

subject to certain conditions or restrictions.

▪ Any other public/quasi-public or recreational uses, similar in nature, function, and operations to the

permitted uses listed above shall be subject to the same level of review and approval.

Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the Specific Plan Area, unless otherwise 

noted in Section 3.1.4. 

295



Chapter 3 | Land Use Regulations 

Page 3-16 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

3.1.4 Special Use Regulations 

Special use regulations in the City’s Zoning Code shall apply to the 

Specific Plan Area, unless otherwise noted.  

▪ Live-work development shall be permitted in accordance with the

regulations in Zoning Code Chapter 18.52.

▪ Home occupations shall comply with the standards in Zoning

Code Chapter 18.50.

Live-work example in the Delta Landing 

neighborhood  

296



Waterfront District Specific Plan 

October 2023 Page 4-1 

CHAPTER 4 | TRAFFIC + CIRCULATION 

4.1 Vehicular Access 

4.1.1 Regional Vehicular Access 

Regional access to the Waterfront District Specific Plan (WDSP) Area 

(Specific Plan Area) is shown in Figure 4-1. Although access from the east 

and west appears adequate, access to the Waterfront District from the 

north is hindered by the highway. To access the Specific Plan Area, most 

drivers must get on Highway 12 (SR 12) and use the Civic Center 

Boulevard exit if they are traveling eastbound or the Main Street exit if 

they are traveling westbound. As an alternative route, drivers can use the 

at-grade intersections at Pennsylvania Avenue to the west, entering 

Suisun City via Cordelia Street or at Marina Boulevard to the east.  

▪ SR 12 is a four-lane, east-west oriented highway that provides

access for Suisun City to Interstate 80 about two miles to the

west. Near Suisun City, it has two at-grade intersections with

Marina Boulevard and Pennsylvania Avenue.

▪ Cordelia Street is a two-lane rural arterial roadway that runs

east-west from Interstate 80 to the west and to Main Street to

the east. It is relatively narrow, with gravel shoulders. As it

approaches Suisun City’s Old Town area, it is designated as

Cordelia Street and is wider, with on-street parking and

sidewalks.

4.1.2 Local Vehicular Access 

Within and adjacent to the Specific Plan Area, existing and planned 

vehicular access roadways are shown in Figure 4-1, by their proposed 

classification as either an expressway, arterial, collector, or local street. 

Primary street segments in the Specific Plan Area are briefly summarized 

in the bullets that follow.

297



Chapter 4 | Traffic + Circulation 

Page 4-2 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

Figure 4-1: Vehicular Circulation Network 

Source: Metropolitan Transportation Commission, AECOM 2023

298



4.1 Vehicular Access 

October 2023 Page 4-3 

▪ Main Street is a two-lane arterial that runs north-south through

the historic commercial area. Commercial land uses and on-

street parking line each side of the street. The northern terminus

of Main Street links with the SR 12 westbound on- and off-ramps.

To the south, it connects with Cordelia Street.

▪ Civic Center Boulevard is a two-lane divided collector street

with a landscaped median that generally runs north-south from its

interchange with SR 12 to a cul-de-sac just south of City Hall.

▪ Driftwood Drive is a two-lane local collector that is oriented

east to west, connecting Marina Boulevard and Civic Center

Boulevard with Main Street and Benton Court.

▪ Lotz Way is a two-lane, east-west arterial that extends from

Main Street to Marina Boulevard. West of Civic Center

Boulevard, Lotz Way serves as an arterial link between Main

Street and the SR 12 eastbound on and off-ramps. East of Civic

Center Boulevard, Lotz Way operates as an arterial street to its

present terminus at Marina Boulevard.

▪ Marina Boulevard is an arterial/collector that runs from

Railroad Avenue north of SR 12 to the marina neighborhoods

adjacent to Suisun Slough. Marina Boulevard has an at-grade,

signalized intersection with SR 12. It is four lanes wide north of

SR 12 and two lanes wide, with bike lanes, south of SR 12.

▪ Railroad Avenue is an arterial that runs from Sunset Avenue

and terminates just west of Marina Boulevard. It is a four-lane

roadway with a median and bike lanes east of Birchwood Court.

West of this, Railroad Avenue is a wide, two-lane roadway, with

bike lanes and on-street parking. West of the current terminus of

Railroad Avenue, the street is planned to continue to the west as

a future four-lane arterial to connect with the extension of Main

Street/Denverton Road.

4.1.3 Planned Vehicular Circulation Improvements 

As the Specific Plan Area continues to develop, new multi-modal facilities 

will enhance the circulation network. The timing and construction of 

these projects will be dependent on available grant funding, Capital 

Improvement Program budgeting, and private development applications.  

Circulation system improvements are indicated by dashed lines in Figure 

4-1. Street sections for typical streets in the Specific Plan Area are 

provided in Figures 4-2  through 4-8.  

▪ A new collector is proposed parallel to and east of the railroad

line, between Spring Street and Cordelia Street (called “Old

Town Bypass” in the 1999 Specific Plan).

▪ Streetscape improvements along Main Street, particularly to

update the west side of Main Street (Figure 4-2).

299



Chapter 4 | Traffic + Circulation 

Page 4-4 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

▪ New streets to serve the 30-acre commercial property, north of

SR-12 to include:

- Extension of Railroad Avenue, west of Marina Boulevard to

the extension of Main Street/Denverton Road as a four-lane

divided street with bike lanes (Figure 4-3).

- An at-grade crossing of the railroad tracks, to connect with

Clay Street in Fairfield.

▪ Improvements or enhancements to existing Downtown arterial

and collector streets to support safe multimodal travel and access

(Figures 4-4 through 4-6).

▪ New local neighborhood roadways and alleys to connect and

serve new residential and mixed-uses development within

opportunity sites in the Specific Plan Area (Figure 4-7 and 4-8).

4.1.4 Roadway Design Standards 

The City's Standard Specifications document provides construction 

specifications for public streets. Planned arterial, collector, and local 

streets, including Main Street, shall be governed by the Specific Plan 

standards and typical sections that follow in this chapter. Where a conflict 

arises, the Specific Plan standards will control. Exceptions to these 

standards may be granted by the Development Services Director, where 

a different solution may be needed due to property constraints or to 

enhance pedestrian, bicycle, or transit safety and convenience.  

Entry treatments walls, landscaping, and related streetscape or frontage 

improvements are further addressed in the development and design 

standards in Chapter 6. 

300



4.1 Vehicular Access 

October 2023 Page 4-5 

Figure 4-2: Typical Main Street Section and Plan Detail 

301



Chapter 4 | Traffic + Circulation 

Page 4-6 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Figure 4-3: Arterial Street on 30-acre Property (Railroad Avenue) 

Railroad Avenue at full buildout will include four lanes (two in each 

direction), two bicycle lanes of at least five feet in width in each direction 

and may include other streetscape elements. Please see designs on file 

with the City Public Works Department. The proposed right-of-way is 96 

feet.  

Figure 4-4: Typical Collector 

302



4.1 Vehicular Access 

October 2023 Page 4-7 

Figure 4-5: Typical Downtown Neighborhood Arterial 

Figure 4-6: Typical Downtown Neighborhood Collector 

(Parking on One or Both Sides) 

303



Chapter 4 | Traffic + Circulation 

Page 4-8 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Figure 4-7: Typical Local Street (Parking on One or Both Sides)       Figure 4-8: Typical Alley 

General Circulation Standards 

1. All public streets shall connect into the larger circulation

pattern. Block lengths shall be 300 feet or less. The use of cul-

de-sacs shall not be permitted.

2. Gateway islands or pedestrian refuges provided at the entrance

of a neighborhood, neck downs at intersections, and other

traffic control devices shall be utilized to slow traffic through

residential neighborhoods and facilitate safe pedestrian

crossings. Gateway islands shall be used for neighborhood or

commercial streets that intersect with Civic Center and Marina

Boulevards.

A. Commercial Streets and Main Street

1. Sidewalks along commercial streets shall support outdoor

activities, such as seating and dining. Sidewalks adjacent to

seating and dining areas must leave five (5) feet or more of

vacant sidewalk space between the edge and the curb to

provide adequate pedestrian circulation.

2. Sidewalks adjacent to storefronts along Main Street and around

Harbor Plaza shall be a minimum of ten (10) feet wide in order

to allow adequate space for trees, light fixtures, pedestrian

movements, window shopping, and cafe seating.

3. Sidewalks that are not along Main Street or around the Harbor

Plaza shall be a minimum width of five (5) feet and a minimum

304



4.1 Vehicular Access  

October 2023 Page 4-9 

width of ten (10) feet when landscape planters or tree wells are 

incorporated and attached to the sidewalk. 

4. Consistent street trees and light fixtures shall be utilized on

Main Street, Lotz Way, and all side streets intersecting Main

Street and around Harbor Plaza and the Suisun-Fairfield train

depot. Trees shall be planted at intervals of forty (40) feet or

less; selected for characteristics that include proven durability in

street environments; branch at heights greater than fifteen (15)

feet; have light, feathery leafing; and allow for ease of

maintenance. Storefronts must maintain transparent windows

that allow visibility into the store. Light fixtures shall include

attachments for banners and planters. Fixtures shall be high-

pressure sodium vapor for the best rendition of natural colors.

5. Sidewalk cafes along Main Street shall be permitted to extend

into the parking zone with an administrative review permit

(Figure 4-2).

6. Driftwood Drive between Main Street and Civic Center

Boulevard shall be redesigned as a limited access street, allowing

for closure with bollards at times of peak pedestrian utilization.

Textured paving materials (such as brick or pavers) which slow

vehicular traffic are required.

B. Residential Streets

1. All WDSP arterial and collector rights-of-way shall be a

maximum of sixty-five (65) feet. Right-of-way widths of fifty (50)

feet or less are allowed if off-street parking lots or alleys

provide alternative parking options and vehicular access to lots.

2. Streets with rear-loaded lots should have a street width

adequate to allow for parking bays, alternating on one side of

the street and increased landscaping in wider planting areas.

3. For developments within areas identified in Figure 4-9, streets

shall have a minimum planting width of five (5) feet, a minimum

parking bay width of seven (7) feet, and minimum sidewalk

width of five (5) feet. There shall be continuity of landscaping

within planting areas, with trees regularly spaced. Street lighting

should not exceed twenty (20) feet in height to maintain a

pedestrian scale.

4. Streets shall be oriented towards the waterfront, in order to

provide both public access and views from the street to the

water.

305



Chapter 4 | Traffic + Circulation 

Page 4-10 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Figure 4-9:  Targeted Development Areas 

306



4.1 Vehicular Access 

October 2023 Page 4-11 

C. Motor Courts/Alleys

1. Motor courts or alleys, which provide rear-loaded access to

lots, are required for new developments in order to reduce the

amount of curb cuts devoted to driveways and garage frontage

along a neighborhood street.

2. Motor court or alley rights-of-way shall be a minimum width of

twenty (20) feet, in order to accommodate vehicles. Landscape

areas along each side of the right-of-way must be a minimum of

three (3) feet.

4.1.5 Parking 

An existing 265-space Caltrans park-and-ride lot is located adjacent to 

the train depot, with access from Lotz Way. Several public parking lots 

exist, including lots alongside the Main Street promenade, adjacent to the 

waterfront, between Driftwood Drive and Solano Street. A common 

parking area currently exists adjacent to Harbor Plaza. Smaller parking 

areas also exist adjacent to the waterfront, south of Harbor Plaza.  

New development in the Specific Plan Area shall be required to provide 

parking in accordance with the parking standards provided in Section 6. 

5.4. The City encourages new shared parking areas to serve new 

development, particularly infill development on relatively smaller parcels. 

Use of on-street parking should be maximized.  

Commercial and mixed-use development in the Specific Plan Area, south 

of SR 12, would provide parking on-site through a combination of surface 

parking lots and parking garages and garages below podium level decks. 

Parking for new residential development is to be accommodated through 

a combination of surface, garage, and tuck under parking configuration. 

Parking to serve development on the 30-acre property, north of Highway 

12, is to consist of a combination of on-street parking, shared surface 

parking lots, and parking garages.

307



Chapter 4 | Traffic + Circulation 

Page 4-12 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

4.2 Public Transportation 

4.2.1 Rail Transportation 

The main line of the Union Pacific Railroad runs along the western border 

of Suisun City, carrying both commuter and freight rail traffic.  

Regional commuter trains stop at the depot between Main Street and the 

tracks. East of Main Street and north of Lotz Way is a 265-space “Park-n-

Ride” lot owned by Caltrans. This lot is used by both rail passengers and 

visitors to Specific Plan Area. 

The existing train depot is a multimodal facility, with parking and drop-off 

areas to accommodate vanpools, taxi services, fixed-route bus service 

(both as a stop and a transfer point between bus routes), intercity and 

commuter bus service, and intercity rail service. 

4.2.2 Water Transportation 

Suisun Channel provides water access to the Old Town area and 

surrounding neighborhoods. There are approximately 155 existing boat 

slips adjacent to the Channel. There are approximately 100 parking 

spaces for vehicles with trailers at the boat ramp in the South Waterfront 

district, with an additional adjacent lot, which primarily serves the 

Peytonia Slough Ecological Reserve. 

Existing boat use in the Channel is described as moderate, with peak 

periods occurring during the summer months and on weekends. Various 

existing marinas on the east side of Main Street, one public boat launch 

facility and public guest docks provide access to the Channel. Channel 

navigation is regulated by the City's Police Department, which maintains a 

part-time harbor patrol, consisting of one officer on an as-needed basis. 

308



4.3 Bike and Pedestrian Circulation 

October 2023 Page 4-13 

4.3 Bike and Pedestrian Circulation 

4.3.1 Bike and Pedestrian Facilities 

With the relatively compact development pattern with buildings primarily 

built close the front property line, the grid and modified grid 

transportation network, the lack of overly wide streets, and other 

features, the Specific Plan Area is a relatively bicycle- and pedestrian-

friendly area. 

Existing bike routes within the Specific Plan Area consist of: 

▪ Class I bike trails including the bike/pedestrian promenade circling

the Suisun Channel, the Central County Bikeway Trail along the

drainage canal north of Highway 12, and a bike/pedestrian trail

along the east side of Marina Boulevard, north of Driftwood

Drive and south of SR 12 on the Grizzly Island Trail that connects

from the Specific Plan Area to Grizzly Island Road.

▪ Class II on-street bike lanes on Driftwood Drive, between

Whispering Bay Lane and Marina Boulevard.

In addition to these existing, designated facilities, local streets in the 

Specific Plan Area are also generally low-traffic, low-vehicle-speed, safe 

areas for biking.  

Most streets in the Specific Plan Area have sidewalks. Pedestrians can 

access the waterfront from the west side of Civic Center Boulevard along 

the channel. A linear pedestrian walkway/bicycle path circles around the 

Channel between City Hall and the cul-de-sac at the end of Walnut 

Street, north of the City boat launch facility. 

4.3.2 Planned Bike and Pedestrian Circulation 

Improvements 

Pedestrian/bicycle circulation is to be provided by a combination of a 

waterfront/public access path system, neighborhood streets/sidewalks, 

and striped bicycle paths on arterials and collectors.  

The General Plan Circulation Element designates bike routes in the 

Specific Plan Area as collectors and arterials that require striping and 

signage for Class II bike paths or Class I bike routes, consistent with 

Error! Reference source not found. and the WDSP standards. The 

bike/pedestrian circulation system, shown in Error! Reference source 

not found., indicates the general location of these facilities.  

309



Chapter 4 | Traffic + Circulation 

Page 4-14 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Figure 4-10: Bicycle and Pedestrian Circulation Network 

Source: Metropolitan Transportation Commission, AECOM, 2023 

310



4.3 Bike and Pedestrian Circulation 

October 2023 Page 4-15 

New on-street bike facility and off-street bike and pedestrian facility 

improvements or enhancements, include:  

▪ Providing bike lanes on Lotz Way, Driftwood Drive, Marina

Boulevard, Civic Center Boulevard, Sacramento Street, Cordelia

Street, and Railroad Avenue.

▪ Supporting future development of the property at the northwest

corner of SR 12 and Marina Boulevard with on- and off-street

bicycle facilities that ensure internal safe and convenient bicycle

movements and connect externally to surrounding regional trails,

Main Street, and Downtown Fairfield.

▪ Providing continuous north-south on-street bike lanes along

Railroad Avenue, parallel to the train tracks, Whispering Bay

Lane, and an off-street path connecting Civic Center Boulevard

with Marina Boulevard.

▪ Providing or improving on-street bike facilities along the key

connecting east-west roadways to waterfront and regional trails,

and neighborhoods in the Specific Plan Area, including Lotz Way,

Driftwood Drive, Sacramento Street, Francisco Drive, and

Cordelia Street.

▪ Expanding on the Class I bicycle/pedestrian path/promenade

system following the Suisun Channel and linked to key street

access points. The first leg of this system from Walnut Street,

around the Civic Center to the current terminus of Civic Center

Boulevard, is now in place. Additional improvements include:

- Extension of the trail at its eastern terminus through the

waterfront open space along Whispering Bay and following

the drainage canal, south of Whispering Bay Lane.

- Extension of the pedestrian promenade that terminates on

the west side of the channel south to the boat launch facility

in the Southern Waterfront area, to connect with State Park

trails south of the Specific Plan Area.

▪ Identifying opportunities to provide shaded areas with drinking

fountains, benches, and other amenities to further encourage the

use of the City’s off-street bicycle and pedestrian facilities.

▪ Collaborate with local and State agencies, such as the City of

Fairfield and Caltrans, to improve the safety of the existing

pedestrian environment, including intersection median

enhancements and other improvements to pedestrian facilities.

When complete, the path system will follow the entire waterfront 

frontage from the boat launch ramp on Kellogg Street to the Marina 

neighborhood, adjacent to Whispering Bay. These improvements, along 

with connections they provide to other pedestrian/bicycle facilities, meet 

the Suisun City General Plan Guiding Principles, including: 

311



Chapter 4 | Traffic + Circulation 

Page 4-16 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

▪ Ensure safe and efficient walking, biking, driving, and parking in the

Downtown.

▪ Design for active pedestrian and bicycle-friendly paths and

streets, as well as public spaces.

▪ Encourage a healthy living environment.

In addition, with future development, all new local streets will enhance 

the local pedestrian system, improve Downtown connectivity, and foster 

an environment that encompasses safe bicycle and pedestrian travel. 

Crossing improvements or enhancements to support safe bike and 

pedestrian crossings are also encouraged at key intersections within new 

development areas. 

312



Waterfront District Specific Plan  

October 2023 Page 5-1 

CHAPTER 5| OPEN SPACE + CIVIC AND 

SERVICES 

5.1 Open Space + Civic and Services 

The provision and preservation of open space, waterfront access, and 

other civic facilities are critical to creating the character of development 

envisioned by this Specific Plan. Both existing and planned features within 

the Waterfront District Specific Plan Area (Specific Plan Area) are 

depicted in Figure 5-1, “Recreation and Open Space Diagram.”  

Park, open space, and civic facilities in the Specific Plan Area include: 

▪ Suisun Channel. The entire length of the Suisun Channel, north 

of Suisun Bay, provides access for recreational boats between the 

Waterfront District and other locations, including the Sacramento-

San Joaquin Delta and San Francisco Bay. A public promenade and 

multi-use path system circles the channel. The channel requires 

periodic dredging, which is done periodically by the Army Corps of 

Engineers, as the channel is under federal control. The City or 

private entities are responsible for dredging the remainder of the 

navigational channel.  

▪ Natural Open Space Areas. Natural open space includes 

wetland areas adjacent to City Hall and Whispering Bay, the Pierce 

Island wetland mitigation site, and the open space along the 

drainage channel south of Whispering Bay Lane. The 

channel/slough winds through the Suisun Marsh. The channel and 

marsh offer fishing and birdwatching opportunities and recreational 

boating, cruising, water skiing, jet skiing, kayaking, and other water-

related activities. Approximately 50 percent of Pierce Island is to 

be retained as a permanent tidal wetland. The remainder of the 

island is managed as a permanent dredge material disposal site. 

Levee and dike improvements are planned to stabilize the island.  

▪ Public and Private Marinas. The Suisun City Marina provides 

155 rental berths, a 300-foot-long visitor dock, and a boat launch 

ramp that capitalizes on the waterfront. 

313



Chapter 5 | Open Space + Civic and Services 

Page 5-2 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

Figure 5-1: Recreation and Open Space Diagram 

 

314



5.1 Open Space  

 

October 2023 Page 5-3 

▪ Southern Waterfront Area Boat Launch 

Expansion/Events. The existing boat launch facility is proposed 

to be expanded and enhanced. Plans prepared for the Southern 

Waterfront Area envision enhancing the marina facilities, 

improving landscaping, retaining the parking capacity, creating 

clear pedestrian and vehicular circulation, extending the 

waterfront promenade, and accommodating new mixed-use 

development. The waterfront promenade trail is proposed to be 

extended from the Delta Cove neighborhood to the state-owned 

nature trail to the south. This site could accommodate new 

marina slips and a new two-story, retail/office mixed-use building 

on the waterfront and smaller buildings for water recreation and 

storage. This site could also accommodate a public viewing 

area/pier, plazas and greens for waterfront events, a 

reconstructed dock for crew and kayak use, and a relocated fuel 

dock. 

▪ Transportation Center. The historic train depot functions as 

an intermodal transportation facility housing a waiting area and 

ticketing for the Capitol Corridor line, intercity and local bus 

service, and bicycle parking facilities. Parking for commuters is 

accommodated in the Caltrans park-and-ride lot across Main 

Street from the train depot.  

▪ Main Street. The City proposes to improve Main Street with 

new landscaping, paving treatments in strategic locations, and 

appropriate street fixtures (e.g., lighting, benches, trash 

receptacles, etc.), in coordination with more recent streetscape 

improvements on the east side of the street. Streetscape features 

along Harbor Plaza, Main Street, and the Transportation Center 

will have a consistent design theme.  

▪ Civic Center. The Civic Center area on the east side of the 

channel includes City Hall, the Suisun City Housing Authority, the 

Police Department, the Solano Yacht Club, and marina slips. 

Waterfront open space and trail facilities in this area are 

proposed to be extended south along the Whispering Bay 

waterfront. 

▪ Waterfront Parks/Plazas. In addition to the waterfront 

recreational facilities planned in the Southern Waterfront area, 

several small existing waterfront parks are located along the 

Waterfront promenade.  

̶ Harbor Plaza, on Main and Solano Streets, adjacent to the 

waterfront promenade, is an existing one-acre park with a 

raised outdoor stage, gazebo, and sectioned turf areas. 

Special events are focused on Harbor Plaza.  

̶ Sheldon Plaza is an existing one-acre park with open turf area 

and waterfront views at the northern head of the Suisun 

315



Chapter 5 | Open Space + Civic and Services 

Page 5-4 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

Channel and adjacent to the waterfront promenade and hotel 

and office uses. 

̶ North of City Hall is Mike Day Park, is a three-acre park with 

a playground, picnic areas, and open turf play areas. South of 

the park and behind City Hall are open turf areas, referred to 

as “City Hall Point.”  

▪ Neighborhood Parks. Several neighborhood parks exist within 

the Specific Plan Area. 

̶ Todd Park, located across the street and to the east of City 

Hall, serves as a shared greenspace for the surrounding 

“Harbor Park” residential development.  

̶ An oval, two-acre park, surrounded by local streets, is 

integrated into the “Victorian Harbor” residential 

development just northwest of Crystal Middle School.  

▪ Parking Facilities. Public parking facilities are located in the 

Caltrans park-and-ride lot north of Lotz Way, on the east side of 

Main Street, adjacent to the expanded marina basin, in and 

around the Harbor Plaza, on Main Street, on streets in the 

Downtown Core district and adjacent to the portion of the 

marina slips south of Harbor Plaza, as described in Chapter 4. 

Refer to Chapter 4 for additional information on existing and 

proposed new parking facilities and Chapter 6 for parking 

standards.  

316



5.2 Utility Services 

October 2023 Page 5-5 

5.2 Utility Services 

5.2.1 Water 

The City provides domestic water for all properties located within its 

boundaries. Domestic water is provided through the Suisun‐Solano 

Water Authority (SSWA). Suisun City and Solano Irrigation District (SID) 

formed a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement in 1976 to provide a long-

term water supply for the City. In 1990, the partnership became a full 

Joint Powers Authority named the SSWA, resulting in the reconstruction 

and modernization of the old Suisun Water System. 

The City handles the local billing and requests for water and sewer 

service and the SID delivers water to the meter of each property. The 

SSWA Board, which consists of the City Council and the SID Board, 

provides policy direction for SSWA (Suisun City). 

Water Sources 

Implementation of the 2035 General Plan designates land uses that, if 

developed to full build-out, would increase water demand. Based on the 

projected population of 32,400 at 2035 General Plan build-out and 

demand factors presented in the Urban Water Management Plan 

(UWMP), the total projected water demand at build-out of the 2035 

General Plan would be approximately 4,251 acre-feet per year (afy). 

This analysis examines the estimated increase in water demand in relation 

to the existing conditions to estimate the availability and adequacy of 

water supply. Water supplies for the City are provided by the SSWA. 

The SSWA receives water supplies from the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation’s 

Solano Project and the California Department of Water Resource’s State 

Water Project (SWP), both of which are wholesaled by the Solano 

County Water Agency and Solano Irrigation District.  

Existing and projected water demands in the SSWA service area will be 

met by the water supplies described above and contract entitlements for 

each agency are summarized in Table 5-1. In 2010, the SSWA service area 

had a total of 4,144 afy of potable water supplies. This total is anticipated 

to increase to 6,000 afy by 2035. 

SSWA currently does not use any groundwater in its system. SSWA 

delivered groundwater produced by a well owned by City of Suisun City 

until 2001. The need for the well was eliminated by the installation of the 

Benton Court and Suisun Valley Pumping Plants in 2000–2001. There are 

no plans to resume service from this well or the Suisun Valley in general 

due to high mineral content in the groundwater, sufficient alternative 

surface water supplies, and the need to replace miles of pipeline at 

considerable cost in order to convey water from the Suisun Valley back 

to the main SSWA service area. 

The Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District (FSSD) oversees wastewater 

collection and treatment and water recycling services in the City of 

317



Chapter 5 | Open Space + Civic and Services 

Page 5-6 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

Fairfield, Suisun City, and Travis Air Force Base. Currently, there is no 

reclaimed water use nor are there plans to provide reclaimed water 

within the SSWA service area because there is no conveyance 

infrastructure in place to deliver recycled water from the FSSD Fairfield-

Suisun Subregional Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) to the SSWA 

service area. SSWA’s capital improvement plans will in the future review 

the potential for future recycling and options for financing. Cooperation 

with the City of Fairfield and the FSSD would be required to implement 

any future actions, and neither of these agencies has planned water 

recycling projects. 

Table 5-1: SSWA Existing and Projected Water Supplies (afy) 

Water Supply Source 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 

Solano Project 1,600  1,600  1,600  1,600   1,600  1,600  

State Water Project -  1,300  1,300  1,300  1,300  1,300  

Contract for State 

Water Project supplies  
2,514  1,577  1,939  2,735  2,737  3,100  

Total Supply  6,124  6,492  6,859  7,660  7,667  8,035  

Source: 2035 General Plan Environmental Impact Report (2015) 

 

Facilities 

There are four storage tanks in the water system, including: 

▪ Cement Hill Tank (2 million gallons). The Cement Hill Tank 

is supplied by the Cement Hill Water Treatment Plants No. 1 and 

2, which delivers water to Suisun City, the unincorporated area 

of Tolenas and the Suisun Valley. The Gregory Hill Tank receives 

its water from the Suisun City Distribution system, which is 

pumped from the Benton Court Pumping Plant located in Old 

Town Suisun City with a pumping capacity of 1,000 gpm. 

▪ Gregory Hill Tank (2 million gallons). The Gregory Hill Tank 

supplies water to the Suisun Valley through the Suisun Valley 

Pumping Plant at a rate of 400 gpm and/or gravity feeds back into 

the Suisun City distribution system. 

▪ Sports Complex Tank (1.5 million gallons). The Sports 

Complex Tank is a supplemental ground level storage tank with a 

pump to boost into the distribution system at 2,000 gpm.  

▪ Suisun City Corporation Yard Tank (1 million gallons). 

The Suisun City Corporation Yard tank is also a supplemental 

ground level storage tank with a pump to boost into the 

distribution system at 1,200 gpm. These facilities would provide a 

peaking storage of 20 percent and an emergency storage of 

approximately one full anticipated maximum day demand, and will 

also provide fire storage of 420,000 gallons. The table below lists 

the facilities in the SSWA water system. 

318



5.2 Utility Services 

 

October 2023 Page 5-7 

Table 5-2: Water Supply Facilities 

Cement Hill Water Treatment Plant  

Plant No. 1 (constructed in 1978-79) Conventional plant, 4.6 MGD design capacity 

Plant No. 2 (constructed in 1992-93) Conventional plant, 5.4 MGD design capacity 

Gregory Hill Water Treatment Plant  

(constructed in 1962-63) 

Diatomaceous earth plant, 0.56 MGD design 

capacity removed from service  

    

Cement Hill Tank 2,000,000 gallons, welded steel 

Gregory Hill Tank  2,000,000 gallons, welded steel 

Sports Complex Tank 1,500,000 gallons, welded steel 

Suisun City Corp Yard Tank 1,000,000 gallons, welded steel 

    

Benton Court Pumping Plant  1,000 gpm 

Sports Complex Pumping Plant  2,000 gpm 

Suisun City Corp Yard Pumping Plant  1,200 gpm 

Suisun Valley Pumping Plant 400 gpm 

    

Pipelines 96 miles  

Mainline Valves 1,700 

Metered Services 8,100 

 

As a result of a condition assessment conducted by the SSWA in 2012, it 

has been determined that an additional Cement Hill Tank, Cement Hill 

Tank 2 is needed to meet demands. 

Service Demand 

In December 2012, the SSWA completed its Water System Review, a 

report which projected updated information on the anticipated growth 

and development within its service area, as well as a revised estimate for 

water demand. Based on a review of historic water use records over the 

last 15 years, the Annual Average Day (AAD) demand of each year was 

used to calculate respective factors for the Maximum Month and 

Maximum Day demands for each year. Table 5-3 identifies the estimated 

peak build-out demand, which was calculated using the highest demand 

factors occurring over the last 15 years (SSWA 2012: 4). 

319



Chapter 5 | Open Space + Civic and Services 

Page 5-8 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

Table 5-3: Water Usage Demand Factors 

Source: SSWA Water System Review (December 12, 2012). 

 

 

The ultimate maximum day demand is estimated at 6,470 gpm (9.3 MGD) 

for the service area. This represents a significant decrease from the 

previous figure of 11.08 MGD that was estimated in the 2007 Water 

Supply Options report (SSWA 2012: 6).  

The SSWA water demand is anticipated to be less than available water 

supplies through 2035 in normal water years. As shown in Table 5-1, 

water supply is projected to be sufficient in normal water years over the 

UWMP’s 20-year planning period from 2015 to 2035. Although Table 5-4 

shows that water supply in single and multiple-dry water years is 

insufficient to meet demand within the SSWA service area over the 20-

year planning period, a joint powers agreement between SID and Suisun 

City ensures that water will be provided from the SID water supplies and 

therefore there will be sufficient water supplies to meet demands (SSWA 

2011:66). A footnote in the UWMP indicates that:  

“The apparent negative supply totals are a result of the 

methodology used for calculating supply reliability. In fact, per the 

joint powers agreement between SID and City of Suisun City the 

commitment has been made that water will be provided for the 

service area from the SID supply and therefore there will not in 

fact be a water shortage” (SSWA 2011:67).  

Section 3.0 of the 1990 SSWA Implementation and Lease Agreement 

states that the “City and District may agree to add additional lands to the 

Joint Service Area covered by this Agreement. Such action shall be 

accomplished only by amendment to this Agreement or by a separate 

written agreement...” According to SID, this process would require future 

negotiations to an amendment of the JPA.  

Water demand is anticipated to be less than available water supplies 

through 2035 in normal water years. A joint powers agreement between 

SID and Suisun City ensures that water will be provided from the SID 

water supplies and therefore there will be sufficient water supplies to 

meet demands.  

  

Annual Average Day (AAD) (gpm)  

Maximum Month (gpm) 1.58 x AAD 

Maximum Day (gpm) 1.92 x AAD 

Maximum Hour (gpm) 3.4 x AAD (Estimated ratio) 

320



5.2 Utility Services 

 

October 2023 Page 5-9 

Table 5-4: SSWA Comparison of Water Supply and Demand, 

2020–2035 

Total Water Supplies 

and Demand  

Projected Demands (afy) 

2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 

Normal Year 

Total Supply 4,477  4,839  5,275  5,637  6,000  

Total Demand 4,462  4,198  4,235  4,232  4,251  

Differences  

(Supply minus Demand) 
15  641  1,040  1,405  1,749  

 
Single-Dry Year 

Total Supply 4,432  4,791  5,222  5,581  5,940  

Total Demand 4,462  4,462  4,462  4,462  4,462  

Differences  

(Supply minus Demand) 
(30) 593  987  1,349  1,689  

 
Multiple-Dry Year 

Total Supply 4,253  4,597  5,011  5,355  5,700  

Total Demand 4,462  4,462  4,462  4,462  4,462  

Differences  

(Supply minus Demand) 
(209) 399  776  1,123  1,499  

 
Multiple-Dry Year 2 

Total Supply 4,164  4,500  4,906  5,242  5,580  

Total Demand 4,462  4,198  4,235  4,232  4,251  

Differences  

(Supply minus Demand) 
 (298) 302  671  1,010  1,329  

 
Multiple-Dry Year 3 

Total Supply 3,492  3,774  4,115  4,397  4,680  

Total Demand 4,462  4,198  4,235  4,232  4,251  

Differences  

(Supply minus Demand) 
 (970)  (424)  (120) 165  429  

Source: 2035 General Plan Environmental Impact Report (2015). 
 

Conservation & Legislation 

The 2035 General Plan includes measures to ensure that sufficient water 

sources are made available to serve new development. The City will 

condition approval of new developments on the availability of sufficient 

water supply, storage, and fire flow (water pressure), per City standards 

and require demonstration of adequate long-term water supply for large 

development projects as defined in Water Code 10912(a).  

321



Chapter 5 | Open Space + Civic and Services 

Page 5-10 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

The City will also require the use of water conservation technologies, 

such as low-flow toilets, efficient clothes washers, and efficient water-

using industrial equipment in new construction, in accordance with code 

requirements; encourage use of recycled water for outdoor irrigation, fire 

hydrants, and commercial and industrial processes; and require new 

development to incorporate climate-appropriate landscaping to reduce 

water demand. In addition, the City will comprehensively assess water 

supply and demand and identify a range of local conservation measures to 

be implemented through the UWMP.  

In addition, the 2035 General Plan includes policies committing the City 

to ongoing water supply planning with Solano County Water Agency, 

Solano Irrigation District, and other local jurisdictions and initiating a 

study with the SSWA and the Solano County Water Agency to 

determine the feasibility of extending a connection from the SSWA water 

treatment facility to Suisun City so that the City may directly utilize its 

Solano Project water entitlement. The City will also support FSSD efforts 

to explore the feasibility of using treated wastewater for irrigation in 

parks, landscaped areas, and other appropriate locations.  

5.2.2 Wastewater 

The City of Suisun City and the Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District (FSSD) 

jointly operate and maintain the wastewater collection system that serves 

the City. FSSD owns and operates the trunk sewer system, which 

includes all 12-inch and larger sewers and the major pump stations and 

force mains that convey wastewater to the District’s wastewater 

treatment plant. FSSD also owns, operates, and maintains all of the pump 

stations in the City’s wastewater collection system. The City, along with 

the City of Fairfield and Travis Air Force Base, is a “satellite collection 

system” to FSSD and owns and operates only those 10-inch and smaller 

gravity sewers within its service area. The City’s portion of the system 

consists of approximately 74 miles of gravity sewer. The City does not 

own or operate any sanitary sewer pump stations or force mains. 

Wastewater flows travel by gravity and are pumped by smaller stations to 

four major pump stations which pump wastewater to the treatment plant. 

The wastewater treatment process includes screening, primary 

treatment, intermediate treatment by oxidation towers and intermediate 

clarifiers, secondary treatment with aeration basins, and secondary 

clarifiers and tertiary treatment via filtration and disinfection. Waste solids 

are thickened and treated in anaerobic digesters. Then, solids are further 

concentrated before being disposed at the Potrero Hills Landfill. Flow is 

continuously measured at the pump stations. On occasion, flow 

monitoring may be deployed into the district’s gravity lines to evaluate 

system capacity and surcharging during storms. Suisun City is served by 

the Suisun Pump station and three smaller stations: Lawler I Pump 

Station, Lawler II Pump Station, and Crystal Street Pump Station.  

322



5.2 Utility Services 

 

October 2023 Page 5-11 

Table 5-5: Wastewater Pump Station Flows 

Pump Station 

Flows 

Pump 

Station 

Rated 

Capacity 

(MGD/gpm) 

Maximum 

Rated 

Flow 

(gpm) 

Typical 

Dry 

(gpm) 

Typical 

Wet 

(gpm) 

Crystal Street 0.5/347 350 6 1015 

Lawler Ranch 2 1.1/764 800 113 213 

Lawler Ranch 1 0.35/250 250 26 40 

Suisun 38.3 MGD  8.1 MGD 27 MGD 

Source: Provided by Kevin Cullen, Fairfield- Suisun Sewer District (October 

2015). 

 

Within the last decade, numerous improvements have been made to the 

treatment facilities to increase peak capacity and improve upon the 

treatment process. A treatment plant project to replace chlorine 

disinfection with ultra‐violet disinfection was completed in 2011. The 

Central‐Suisun Forcemain Equalization Project, completed in 2013, 

increased the reliable peak capacity of the Suisun Pump Station from 31.7 

to 38.3 mgd, allowing for more water to be processed. The Suisun 

Forcemain improvement project has enabled the pump station to meet 

current and near‐term capacity needs until growth and revenue 

projections become more certain. New projects identified in the master 

plan will still be needed to meet long‐term capacity requirements.  

To date, system evaluation and capacity assurance of the City’s collection 

system has consisted of observation of sewer system performance during 

dry and wet weather and enforcement of the City’s design standards for 

new sewers. Capacity assessment has been handled historically by the 

Fairfield Suisun Sewer District for the geographic area including Fairfield, 

Suisun City, and portions of Solano County served by the District. In 

2013, the District completed a Sewer System Master Plan (an update of 

its previous Master Plan completed in 2007). The Master Plan identified all 

parcels within the service area of Suisun City, land use type for each 

parcel, and the status of developed versus undeveloped. Wastewater 

flows generated by each parcel were calculated and imported into a 

hydraulic model of the sewer system.  

The Master Plan utilized a hydraulic model to assess the current and 

future flows and capacity needs of all gravity sewers, 12-inches in 

diameter and larger; these larger trunk sewers have a greater potential 

for capacity deficiency due to extended tributary areas. The future 

evaluation and capacity assurance of City sewers will include continued 

observation of system performance during wet weather; expansion of the 

hydraulic model as needed, and enforcement of design standards to 

ensure that new sewers are sized with adequate capacity to serve new 

323



Chapter 5 | Open Space + Civic and Services 

Page 5-12 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

development. In the future, the City plans to prepare a Master Plan for its 

sanitary sewer system, which will be coordinated with the District’s 

Master Plan and hydraulic model, in order to develop a capital 

improvement program to address any identified capacity issues. 

The FSSD recently completed a treatment plant expansion that increased 

the average dry weather capacity from 17.5 mgd to 23.7 mgd and reliable 

peak‐flow capacity from 34.8 mgd to 52.3 mgd. Currently there are no 

scheduled projects in Suisun City for collection system improvements. 

 

5.2.3 Stormwater 

The City of Suisun City Public Works Department maintains an inventory 

of facilities and coordinates necessary improvements to ensure capacity 

required to serve new development. The City’s Stormwater Management 

and Discharge Control ordinance was enacted with the intent to regulate 

non-stormwater discharges to the public storm drain system, protect the 

public storm drain system from spills dumping or disposal of materials 

other than stormwater, and reduce pollutants in stormwater discharges, 

to the maximum extent possible.  

Figure 5-2: Average Annual Dry Weather Influent Flow Projection to 2055 

 
Source: City of Suisun City 2016 

324



5.2 Utility Services 

 

October 2023 Page 5-13 

The City’s storm drainage system, which includes creek flows along 

McCoy Creek, Laurel Creek, and Union Avenue Creek, would likely be 

contained within the existing creek bank during a 100‐year storm, except 

for localized flooding and standing water that may occur during brief, 

intense storms when runoff exceeds storm drain system capacity.  

As a participant in the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP), Suisun 

City is required to adhere to floodplain management policies that include 

sound land use practices. The Federal Emergency Management Agency 

(FEMA) administers the NFIP through the Federal Insurance 

Administration. FEMA produces flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRMS) 

which identify flood hazard areas and restrict development in these areas 

for the communities participating in the NFIP. 

FSSD and City Activities 

The City’s Municipal Review Permit (MRP) was adopted by the Water 

Board on November 18, 2015. The MRP delineates requirements to 

ensure that storm water quality is protected. The breakdown of shared 

activities between the City and District are delineated through a Drainage 

Maintenance Agreement and are specified as follows. 

▪ District Activities. District activities include maintenance of 

storm water pump stations, industrial and commercial site 

controls, public information and participation, water quality 

monitoring, mercury controls, PCBs control, copper controls, 

PBDE, and legacy pesticides control. The Sewer District has 

assumed responsibility for operation and maintenance of pump 

stations located in Suisun City as defined under the “Regional 

Facilities” in the Drainage Maintenance Agreement. 

▪ City Activities. Municipal maintenance, new development 

compliance, illicit discharge detection and elimination, 

construction site controls, pesticide toxicity control, trash 

control, exempt and conditionally exempt discharges. As detailed 

in the Drainage Maintenance Agreement, the City is also 

responsible for the maintenance of “Local Facilities,” which 

includes storm drain pipelines, box culverts, concrete lined 

channels, improved earth channels, natural creeks, detention 

basins, street sweeping, data management, and fencing. The City 

also maintains a number of open channel storm drains of varying 

sizes. The larger channels are blanketed with natural vegetation 

and require periodic cleaning. There are approximately 14,500 

feet of large open channels and 20,000 feet of smaller ditches. 

Upgrades to storm drainage pipes over the past 10 years include 

improvements required and funded by new developments. All new 

commercial and residential subdivisions are required to conform to the 

City storm drainage standards, protect water quality, and meet Regional 

Water Quality Control Board requirements. Among these requirements, 

in 2009, the San Francisco Bay Region Water Quality Control Board 

adopted the Municipal Regional Stormwater NPDES permit (NPDES 

325



Chapter 5 | Open Space + Civic and Services 

Page 5-14 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

permit)1 for the San Francisco Bay Region. The intent of the permit is to 

mitigate the potentially detrimental effects of urban runoff through site 

design and source controls early in the development review process and 

provide guidance in the selection of appropriate best management 

practices (BMPs). 

Suisun City is the lead agency responsible for review of projects for 

stormwater conformance with applicable, laws, policies, and guidelines, 

including implementing the C.3 provision of the NPDES permit, which 

requires the City implement measures to reduce stormwater pollution 

and increased stormwater runoff, volume, and duration from new 

development or redevelopment projects.  

Under the C.3 provision, new development or redevelopment in the City 

that creates and/or replaces 10,000 square feet or more of impervious 

surface (collectively over the entire project site), including commercial, 

industrial, residential housing subdivisions, mixed-use and public projects; 

and redevelopment projects resulting in the alteration of more than 50 

percent of the impervious surface of a previously existing development, 

shall be required to implement LID source control, site design, and 

stormwater treatment measures, designed to treat 100 percent of run-off 

for a project’s drainage area on-site or at a joint stormwater treatment 

facility.  

The C.3 provision of the NPDES permit also allows projects alternatives 

to complying with the above standards under provision C.3.e through: (1) 

on-site treatment or treatment of a portion of the run-off for the 

project’s drainage areas with LID treatment measures at a joint 

stormwater treatment facility and treatment of the remaining run-off with 

LID treatment measures at an off-site project in the same watershed or 

(2) treatment on-site or treating a portion of the run-off for the project’s

drainage areas with LID treatment measures at a joint stormwater

treatment facility and paying an equivalent in-lieu fee to treat the

remaining runoff through LID treatment measures at a regional project or

a regional or municipal stormwater treatment facility that discharges into

the same watershed as the project. The regional project must achieve a

net environment benefit and must be constructed by the end of

construction of a regulated project. If more time is needed, regional

projects must be completed within three years after the end of

construction of the regulated project and may be extended to a

maximum of five years with prior Executive Officer approval.

The C.3 provision of the NPDES Permit also identifies incentive LID 

treatment reduction credits that apply to certain types of smart growth, 

high-density, and transit-oriented development projects or “special 

1 The California Regional Water Quality Control Board San Francisco Regional 

Municipal Regional Stormwater NPDES Permit (Permit Number CAS612008), Final 

Order Number R2-2009-0074 is available online at: 

http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/sanfranciscobay/water_issues/programs/stormwater

/mrp.shtml. 

326

http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/sanfranciscobay/water_issues/programs/stormwater/mrp.shtml
http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/sanfranciscobay/water_issues/programs/stormwater/mrp.shtml


5.2 Utility Services 

 

October 2023 Page 5-15 

projects” (as defined in Section C.3.eii of the NPDES permit) that, at the 

scale of the watershed, can reduce existing impervious surfaces or create 

less accessory impervious areas and auto-related pollutant impacts.  

For any Special Project, the allowable incentive LID Treatment Reduction 

Credit is the maximum percentage of the amount of runoff identified for 

the Special Project’s drainage area, that may be treated with tree box high 

flowrate biofilters and/or vault-based high flowrate media filters. Projects 

within the WDSP area could potentially fall into one or more of these 

three categories of special projects that may qualify for LID treatment 

reduction credits:  

▪ Category A projects may qualify for a 100 percent LID 

Treatment Reduction Credit – these projects are designed to be 

pedestrian friendly; create or replace less than ½ acre of 

impervious surface area; located in a downtown area, 

neighborhood center, or other pedestrian-oriented district or 

historic preservation area; propose no or only incidental surface 

parking area; and propose at least 85 percent lot coverage.  

▪ Category B projects may qualify for a LID Treatment Reduction 

Credit between 50 and 100 percent depending on their proposed 

lot coverage – these projects are designed to be pedestrian 

friendly; create or replace between ½ acre and two acres of 

impervious surface area; located in a downtown area, 

neighborhood center, or other pedestrian-oriented district or 

historic preservation area; propose no or only incidental surface 

parking area; and propose at least 85 percent lot coverage.  

▪ Category C projects may qualify for a LID Treatment Reduction 

Credit between 10 and 50 percent depending on their location 

and design – these projects are transit-oriented, non-auto related 

uses; designed to be pedestrian friendly; that would create or 

replace between ½ acre and two acres of impervious surface 

area; propose no or only incidental surface parking area; and 

propose at least 85 percent lot coverage. 

In addition to the C3 permit provision, all construction projects in Suisun 

City are regulated by the NPDES General Permit for Stormwater 

Discharges Associated with Construction Activity, which requires the 

preparation of a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan and filing of a 

Notice of Intent with the State Water Resources Control Board for all 

project that disturb an area of one acre or greater.  

Storm Drainage Pumps 

The City has four stations that drain the areas within and discharge at 

locations described below: 

▪ Downtown/Main Street. This station is located underneath 

the area where Sacramento Street enters the public parking lot, 

adjacent to the marina. This drains the area from Solano Street, 

327



Chapter 5 | Open Space + Civic and Services 

Page 5-16 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

north to SR 12. School Street, west from Sacramento to the 

south, drains to another watershed. The Main Street pump 

station protects the northern section of the old downtown area 

and was just replaced this year as part of the downtown plaza. It 

now has a capacity of 8,500 GPM using two parallel submersible 

pumps. The station is controlled by a PLC using a bubbler system 

for level control. The calculated runoff is 4,100 GPM. 

▪ Wildlife/Kellogg Street Pump Station. This station is 

located at the south end of Kellogg Street. It drains from Solano 

Street south, including the area above that drains down School 

Street. It pumps the water collected from the southern part of 

the old downtown area into the Suisun Slough. There is one main 

outlet into the Wildlife Channel, which is the School Street storm 

drain. The pump station and discharge line were replaced in 1997 

with a submersible pump station, built next to the old station, and 

a new larger discharge line. The old pump, check valve, and MCC 

were removed and the old wet well and discharge line were left 

intact for possible future adaptation with a portable diesel pump 

for emergency use. The station includes a medium size detention 

basin allowing for some storage during short, high rainfall events. 

The new station has a capacity of 4,600 GPM with one pump, 

8,000 GPM with two pumps, and 9,900 GPM with three pumps. 

Currently two pumps are installed with all piping and the MCC 

ready to accept a third pump. The calculated runoff is 7,800 

GPM. 

▪ Whispering Bay/Mulberry Street Pump Station. This is 

located at the south end of the Whispering Bay Drainage 

Channel. It drains the area from Lotz Way and Main Street to 

Marina Boulevard, including all the residential streets within the 

area. There are multiple discharge outlets into the Whispering 

Bay Channel. The pump station has two independent propeller 

pumps with ultrasonic level controls.  New discharge pipes and 

bar screens were installed in 1988. The estimated runoff is 15,700 

GPM for a 6-hour event. He station was rebuilt in 2000 with 

capacity to exceed these flows. The station has a large detention 

basin allowing the required capacity to be lowered, if desired.  

▪ Heritage Park Subdivision/Chipman Lane Pump Station. 

There is a pump station along SR 12, about midway on Chipman 

Lane. This drains a large portion of the Heritage Park Subdivision. 

The Chipman Lane pump station collects storm water in the 

north-south area between Chipman Lane and the railroad tracks 

and pumps it under SR 12 into a channel. The station has three 

independent propeller pumps controlled by float switches, with a 

total capacity of 30,300 GPM. The estimated runoff is 8,300 GPM.  

5.2.4 Solid Waste 

The City contracts with Republic Services Solano Garbage to provide 

weekly collection of solid waste, yard waste, and recyclable material to 

328



5.2 Utility Services 

 

October 2023 Page 5-17 

the residents and businesses of Suisun City. As part of the statewide 

waste management and reduction policy, the California Integrated Waste 

Management Board (CIWMB) allocated the City of Suisun City with a 

disposal target of 4.9 pounds per person per day. In 2014, the City of 

Suisun City’s disposal rate was 2.6 pounds per person per day, 

considerably below the CIWMB target. 

Suisun City has one recycling drop-off center located within the city 

boundaries. Recyclable material that is collected by Republic Services is 

sent to The Recyclery at Newby Island facility, located in Milpitas. 

Solid waste collected from Suisun City is deposited at the Potrero Hills 

Landfill. In 2014, the landfill received 588,917 tons of solid waste, of which 

2.3 percent was from Suisun City residents and businesses. The total 

capacity of the landfill is 55.865 million cubic yards. The landfill currently 

has a remaining capacity of approximately 33.815 million cubic yards. It is 

projected that the landfill will reach capacity in December 2045. 

5.2.5 Gas and Electric 

The Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) provides electricity and 

natural gas to the City. Public electrical energy for Solano County is 

generated outside the County and supplied via transmission lines. Major 

transmission line corridors traverse Solano County, serving the greater 

Bay Area. PG&E provides natural gas service to the area through both 

underground and aboveground transmission and distribution facilities. 

New distribution facilities are typically constructed within easements on 

private property.  

However, in some instances, new facilities are constructed within existing 

streets to increase capacity. Locations of distribution facilities generally 

depend on how and when an area develops. Specific Plan Area projects 

applicants and the City are required to involve PG&E in the development 

process to ensure that electricity and natural gas provision needs are 

incorporated into the development process. 

5.2.6 Telecommunications 

AT&T (formerly SBC), provides local telephone communication service 

for all of Solano County, including Suisun City and the Specific Plan Area. 

Major telephone transmission lines traverse the region. These lines 

normally follow rights-of-way that parallel roadways and rail lines. AT&T 

also provides internet service in the area. Cable television service is 

provided through Comcast, Inc.

329



Chapter 5 | Open Space + Civic and Services 

Page 5-18 Waterfront District Specific Plan  

5.3 Community Services 

5.3.1 Public Safety 

Police protection is provided by the City of Suisun City Police 

Department, which is located in the Specific Plan Area adjacent to City 

Hall. The Suisun City Police Department currently has no plans to 

upgrade or reconstruct the police station or the Burdick Center 

substation outside the Specific Plan Area. However, there may be 

opportunities during implementation of the Specific Plan to use 

technology within the WDSP Area to enhance security, for example, 

through Bluetooth access for security communication or through the 

installation of emergency call boxes.  

Fire protection is provided by the City of Suisun City Fire Department, 

which provides fire protection services in the incorporated area of the 

City. The Department has one fire station at 621 Pintail Drive and has 

considered alternative locations to better serve residents and address 

citywide goals to respond to 90 percent of all calls within five minutes. 

The Department has a memorandum of understanding as a member of 

the County Hazardous Materials Response team and participates with the 

State Office of Emergency Services for mutual aid response agreements.  

5.3.2 Educational Facilities 

The Fairfield-Suisun Unified School District (school district) provides 

service to elementary, middle, and high school students. The Specific Plan 

Area is served by Crescent Elementary School, a K–5 school east of the 

Specific Plan Area and south of SR 12. Crystal Middle School serves 

students from grades 6-8 and is located within the Specific Plan Area, at 

the southeast corner of Driftwood Drive and Whispering Bay Lane. The 

Specific Plan Area is within the school boundaries of Armijo High School.  

Solano County College is a community college in Fairfield that offers a 

variety of degree programs and serves the Suisun City area. 

5.3.3 Library Facilities 

There is one library serving Suisun City, the Suisun City Library, a branch 

of the Solano County Library system. This facility, which opened in 2008, 

is 10,000 square feet and is built adjacent to the Suisun Elementary school 

and doubles as a public and school library. The library includes a study 

room, community meeting room, and computer center. It hosts library 

programs during the day and community meetings at night.  

330



Waterfront District Specific Plan  

October 2023 Page 6-1 

CHAPTER 6| DEVELOPMENT + DESIGN 

STANDARDS 

6.1 Introduction 

This chapter establishes the development and design standards governing 

proposed development within the Waterfront District Specific Plan 

(WDSP) Area (Specific Plan Area). When reviewing project plans, the 

reviewing body (Development Services Director, Planning Commission, or 

City Council, as the case may be) shall refer to the WDSP development 

and design standards. Where the WDSP is silent on an issue, the City will 

consult the General Plan and Zoning Code. If there is a conflict between 

the General Plan and the Zoning Code, the General Plan prevails.  

A. Standards 

Standards are identified by terms such as “shall,” “must,” “required,” or 

“prohibited.” Standards are specific and measurable regulations that are 

applied in the review of projects. Compliance with standards is required 

through the entitlement review process. 

6.1.1 Community Design Approach 

Development standards provide clear direction on the scale and 

location of new buildings constructed within the Specific Plan Area. 

Design standards emphasize the creation of a sense of identity and 

orientation for pedestrians, residents, and visitors. This is accomplished 

by a variety of means, including through the scale, orientation, and 

design of the built environment; orientation and design of public spaces 

and landscaping; a grid street pattern; a visible hierarchy of streets; a 

comprehensive open space system; and other techniques.  

Design standards for residential development apply to each of the 

residential Land Use Zones: Residential Low Density (RLD); Residential 

Medium Density (RMD); Residential High Density (RHD); and Historic 

Residential (HR). Please refer to Chapter 3 for a more detailed 

discussion of the Land Use Zones.  

Design standards for commercial and mixed-use (residential and non-

residential) development apply both based on the Land Use Zone of the 

proposed project. 

331



Chapter 6 | Development + Deign Standards 

Page 6-2 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

6.2 Residential Development + Design Standards 

6.2.1 Intent 

Residential development and design standards focus on developing a 

traditional downtown setting that fosters community activities, social 

interaction, and a strong cohesive image for the Downtown Waterfront 

District. Design standards will maintain the pedestrian-oriented 

environment, where the fundamental intent is to reduce the impact of 

the vehicles by requiring narrower streets, smaller lots accessed by 

alleys and with opportunities for on-street parking and less off-street 

parking than allowed under conventional zoning standards. Old Town 

Suisun City is an inspiration for new residential development in the 

WDSP, with its smaller blocks and lots, grid pattern of streets, diverse 

architectural styles, and variety of housing types and sizes. 

6.2.2 Residential Development Standards 

Development standards for residential uses within the Specific Plan Area 

are summarized in Table 6-1. Existing uses and structures in established 

residential neighborhoods that are not in compliance with some of the 

development and design standards in this chapter shall be allowed to 

continue, but subject to the standards for nonconforming uses and 

structures described in Chapter 7.5. 

▪ New residential lots shall have the minimum lot sizes and

setbacks indicated in Table 6-1, except that porches, stoops, bay

windows, balconies, and eaves and overhangs may encroach into

setback areas, as indicated in the table below.

Table 6-1: Encroachments into Setbacks  

(i.e., porches, stoops, bay windows, balconies, and overhangs) 

1. Front Setback 6’ max, where applicable 

2. Side Setback 3’ max 

3. Rear Setback 3’ max, where applicable 

▪ Building heights above the first two stories shall be step back, if

needed, to respect the heights of existing adjacent residential

development, particularly along Lotz Way.

▪ The height of a new development shall be limited to the building

height maximum identified in each zoning district. Building

height shall be grade to the peak of the roof.

▪ Guesthouses and accessory dwelling units shall be subject to the

land use and development standards in Table 6-2 and regulations

in Chapter 18.30.170 of the City’s Zoning Code.

A. Residential Garages

1. Garages shall be tucked back into the house with limited

exposure on the street or placed at the rear of the lot when

motor courts or alleys are provided.

Old Town Suisun City has a traditional 

Downtown architectural character, with 

small blocks and lots and a gridded 

street pattern.  

Building heights above the first two 

stories shall be stepped back, if needed, 

to respect the heights of existing 

adjacent residential development.  

Accessory dwelling unit attached to the 

garage of a single-family home.  

Garages shall be at the rear of the lot and 

accessed by an alley or motorcourt. 

332



6.2 Residential Development + Design Standards 

October 2023 Page 6-3 

2. Garage doors shall be recessed for greater articulation and 

trash and storage areas incorporated within the garage or 

parking areas, where appropriate. 

3. Alley-loaded garages shall be set back a minimum of three (3) 

feet from each side of the alleyway and provide wall hung light 

fixtures facing onto the alley. 

B. Fences 

1. Backyard fences shall be along motor courts and alleys. The 

height of side and rear yard fences shall not exceed six (6) feet. 

Side yard fences shall be terminated three feet behind the front 

façade. Side yard fence setbacks on corner lots shall be a 

minimum of five (5) feet from the back of the sidewalk.  

2. The setback area in front of fences shall be landscaped.  

3. Front yard fences  are shall be a maximum height of three (3) 

feet and may consist of wood or steel posts with wood pickets, 

rails, or decorative wrought iron that allows for eyes on the 

street. Front yard fences shall not exceed six (6) feet in height 

and where provided, above three (3) feet, fences shall be 

designed to be visually open and placed at the back of the 

sidewalk or set back and landscaped.  

 

 

Front yard fences shall be set back, 

landscaped, and designed to be visually 

open above the first three feet.  

333



Chapter 6 | Development + Deign Standards 

Page 6-4 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Table 6-2: Residential Development 

Land Use District 

Residential Low 

Density  

(RLD) 

Residential 

Medium Density 

(RMD) 

Residential High 

Density  

(RHD) 

Historic 

Residential 

(HR) 

A. LOT / SITE DESIGN

4. Lot Coverage1 70% max 80% max 80% max 70% max 

5. Density2 4-10 du/gross ac

(5-12 du/net ac)

10.1-20 du/gross ac 

(10-24.9 du/net ac) 

20.1-45 du/gross ac 

(25-54 du/net ac) 

5-15 du/gross ac

(6-18 du/net ac)

6. Floor Area Ratio N/A N/A N/A N/A 

7. Lot Area 3,000 sf min 1,500 sf min N/A 2,500 sf min 

8. Lot Width 40’ min 25’ min none 40’ min 

9. Lot Depth 65’ min 55’ min none 60’ min 

B. BUILDING PLACEMENT AND HEIGHT

Primary Building Setback3 

1. Front Setback 7.5’ min-20’ max4 5’ min-15’ max4 0’ min-15’ max4 10’ min-15’ max4 

2. Side Setback (street) 7.5’ min-20’ max 5’ min-15’ max 70% min5 5’ min-15’ max 

3. Side Setback (interior)
5’ min (1-2 stories) 

15’ min (3 stories) 

5’ min (1-2 stories) 

for 1 side, 3.5’ min 

for other side in 

addition to any 

encroachment;  

15’ min (3 stories) 

0’ min-15’ max 

5’ min (1-2 

stories)      15’ 

min (3 stories) 

4. Rear Setback5 5’ min 5’ min 
5’ min (1-2 stories) 

15’ min (3+ stories) 
5’ min 

5. Height Limit 35’ max 35’ max 55’ max 35’ max 

Accessory Dwelling Setback 

1. Front Setback 15’ min or equal to primary building setback 

2. Side Setback (street) 4’ min 

3. Side Setback (interior) 4’ min 

4. Rear Setback 4’ min 

5. Height Limit6 20’ max 

C. ENCROACHMENTS INTO SETBACKS

1. Front Setback 6’ max, where applicable 

2. Side Setback 3’ max 

3. Rear Setback 3’ max, where applicable 

Notes: 

du/ac = dwelling units per acre, min = minimum, max = maximum, sf = gross square feet 

1   Lot coverage includes primary buildings, accessory buildings, covered parking, and covered patios. 

2  Density bonuses or increases can be allowed for the provision of affordable housing and project amenities, such as day care 

facilities and additional open space, as addressed in the Suisun City Zoning Code, Chapter 18.47 for residential density bonuses. 

3   Yards and setback areas shall be landscaped in accordance with water-efficient landscaping standards, addressed in Title 20 of the 

Suisun City Zoning Code and in the State Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (MWELO), as applicable. 

4   Front setbacks shall be consistent with the setbacks of adjacent buildings on the street. Garage shall be no closer than 18 feet 

from the back of the sidewalk. 

5   Rear garage setback shall be a minimum of 3 feet from the rear property line. 

6   A accessory dwelling shall not exceed 20 feet in height, except when attached to the primary unit, the maximum height shall be 

that established for the primary dwelling. 

334



6.2 Residential Development + Design Standards 

 

October 2023  Page 6-5 

6.2.3 Residential Site and Design Standards  

A. Neighborhoods  

1. The architectural character of new residential neighborhood 

areas or development shall procure historic elements within the 

residential styles in a modern context. Each neighborhood shall 

include a variety of styles. 

2. New buildings shall be designed to respect the privacy of 

adjacent buildings by restricting views directly into adjoining 

buildings and private yards.  

3. New development shall maintain compatibility in building layout, 

height, scale, and massing with existing residential development.  

B. Parks and Open Space 

1. A variety of parks and open space shall be located within the 

Specific Plan Area, designed and located to help promote public 

health. Refer to Chapter 5 for park, open space, and public 

facility concepts. 

2. Parks or play areas shall be dispersed and located to be easily 

accessible to each neighborhood area.  

3. New multi-family residential development shall be designed with 

common open space and recreational features unless there is 

existing parkland within one-quarter mile walking distance.  

4. Pocket parks (of one-half acre or less) shall be landscape 

amenities and as a means to give a distinct identity to residential 

areas.  

5. New small play areas, parks, and plazas shall be provided to 

support future residential growth in the Specific Plan Area, as 

suggested by the park and open space concept in Figure 5-1. 

These facilities shall be designed to support new infill residential 

and mixed-use developments and contribute and add to the 

network of open space and recreational facilities in the 

community.  

To comply with General Plan policy, parks and plazas shall be provided at 

a ratio of at least 3 acres per 1,000 residents. New development shall be 

required to dedicate and/or contribute on a fair-share basis to improving 

publicly accessible parkland according to City park standards 

C. Landscaping 

1. A  combination of trees, shrubs, and ground cover is required to 

allow maximum winter sun and summer shade. Plantings may be 

deciduous.  

2. Sustainable landscaping, with climate-appropriate plantings with 

efficient water use is required. 

   

New residential areas or development 

should reflect elements of historic 

residential styles in a modern context.  

 

Parks or play areas should be dispersed 

and easily accessed on foot.  

 

Deciduous plantings are encouraged to 

provide maximum winter sun and summer 

shade.  

Impervious paving surfaces in landscaping 

should be minimized to the extent feasible.   

335



Chapter 6 | Development + Deign Standards 

Page 6-6 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

3. The use of impervious paving surfaces (concrete, asphalt) shall

be limited to sidewalks, walkways, patios, driveways, and parking

spaces that meet the parking requirement. Permeable surfaces

and paving materials shall be utilized for not less than 20

percent of the applicable paving surfaces.

4. Outdoor lighting on private lots shall be designed and directed

away from common boundaries and neighboring uses.

5. Shade trees and landscape trees shall be of appropriate species,

including those that provide shade, stormwater management,

aesthetic benefits, and screening to soften the impacts of large

expanses of pavement and vehicle movement, based upon

planting area and proximity to homes and sidewalks. Large

shade trees need adequate room to grow as they mature and

shall be spaced such that, at maturity, the drip lines do not

overlap.

6. Yard areas facing the street shall be designed using landscape

elements of 40 percent hardscape and 60 percent softscape.

7. Landscape design must consider water conservation strategies,

consistent with the State of California State Model Water

Efficient Landscape Ordinance.

6.2.4 Residential Building Design Standards 

A. Architectural Details

A “cookie-cutter” appearance shall be avoided by incorporating 

significant changes in massing and rooflines between elevations of the 

same floor plan. 

1. Architectural elements, such as front and side porches, bay

windows, rooflines, front door entrances, massing, and facade

detailing are important distinguishing residential design elements

and shall be incorporated in new development. These features

and exterior colors shall be varied between units and from

house to house along a street.

2. Flat roofs shall be avoided on single-family homes and garages.

3. Compatibility of color with the soft browns, blues, and greens

that dominate the waterfront shall be emphasized.

4. Buildings shall be sited so that the first floor rests directly on

grade. A minimum lift of 10 inches off the pad is encouraged in

order to provide the home with a more substantial presence on

the street.

Architectural elements, façade details, and 

exterior colors should be varied between 

units and house to house.  

Basic building colors should use neutral 

colors, compatible with the waterfront.  

336



6.3 Commercial Development + Design Standards 

October 2023  Page 6-7 

6.3 Commercial Development + Design Standards  

The following development standards apply to the commercial and 

mixed-use zones within the Specific Plan Area. The standards set forth 

basic design principles, including building height, form and composition, 

storefront design, landscaping, and signage.  

 
 

As noted previously, design standards for commercial and mixed-use 

(residential and non-residential) development apply based on the Land Use 

Zone of the proposed project.  

6.3.1 Intent 

The City’s intent is to preserve the historic architectural character of 

the Specific Plan Area, while encouraging new development and greater 

vibrancy, consistent with the goals, objectives, and standards of this 

Plan.  

6.3.2 Commercial and Mixed-Use Development 

Standards  

Development standards for commercial and mixed-use zones are 

summarized in Table 6-3. 

 

 

Downtown Suisun City has a historic architectural character that should be preserved and 

enhanced. 

337



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards  

Page 6-8 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

Table 6-3: Commercial and Mixed-Use Development Standards1 

Land Use District 

Downtown 

Commercial 

(DC) 

Downtown 

Mixed Use 

(DMU) 

Main Street 

Mixed Use 

(MSMU) 

Historic 

Commercial 

(HC) 

Waterfront 

Commercial 

(WC) 

LOT / SITE DESIGN      

1. Lot Coverage2 80% max 80% max 100% max 70% max 50% max 

2. Density3 N/A N/A N/A N/A  N/A 

3. Floor Area Ratio  0.25-2.0 0.30-3.0 0.75-2.0 0.25-1.0 0.25-1.0 

4. Lot Area 4,000 sf min 3,000 sf min 2,500 sf min 2,500 sf min 2,500 sf min 

5. Lot Width 50’ min 50’ min 30 min 30 min 40’ min 

6. Lot Depth 70’ min 60’ min 60’ min 60’ min 60’ min 

BUILDING PLACEMENT AND HEIGHT 

Primary Building Setback4      

1. Front Setback  
0’ min-20’ 

max 
0’ min-15’ max 0’ min-15’ max4 5’ min-15’ max5 

5’ min-15’ 

max 

2. Side Setback 

(street) 

0’ min-15’ 

max 
0’ min-15’ max 0’ min-15’ max 5’ min-15’ max 

10’ min-20’ 

max 

3. Side Setback 

(interior) 

0’ min (non)     

15’ min (res) 

0’ min (non)   

15’ min (res) 

0’ min (non)   

15’ min (res) 

5’ min (1-2 

stories); 15’ min 

(3+ stories) 

0’ min (non)    

15’ min (res) 

4. Rear Setback6  15’ min  15’ min  
0’ min (non)    

15’ min (res) 
5’ min 

0’ min (non)     

15’ min (res) 

5. Height Limit 60’ max 60’ max7 
16’ min; 50’ 

max7 
35’ max 35’ max 

Notes: 

du/ac = dwelling units per acre, min = minimum, max = maximum, sf = square feet, non = nonresidential, res = 

residential 
1 Residential development within a commercial or mixed-use zone shall be subject to the development standards for 

the Residential High Density Zone (RHD), identified in Table 6-1.  

2 Lot coverage includes primary buildings, accessory buildings, covered parking, and covered patios. 
3 Density bonuses or increases may be allowed for the provision of affordable housing and project amenities, such as 

day care facilities and additional open space, as addressed in the Suisun City Zoning Code, Chapter 18.47 for 

residential density bonuses. 
4 Yards and setback areas shall be landscaped in accordance with water-efficient landscaping standards, addressed in 

Title 20 of the Suisun City Zoning Code and the State Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance. 
5 Front setbacks shall be within five feet of the setbacks of adjacent buildings on the street. 
6 Rear garage setback for a detached garage shall be a minimum of 3 feet from the rear property line. Rear setbacks 

for an attached garage shall be the same as that required for the primary structure.  
7 Building heights shall be stepped to respect the heights of existing adjacent residential development.  

 

 

338



6.3 Commercial Development + Design Standards  

October 2023  Page 6-9 

6.3.3 Main Street Mixed Use and Downtown Mixed 

Use Zones in the Downtown Core 

The following design standards apply to the Main Street Mixed Use and 

Downtown Mixed Use Zones. This District consists primarily of 

commercial buildings typically built up to the sidewalk edge, rectilinear 

in form, with large storefronts on the ground floor facade. Where 

residential structures exist on the west side of Main Street, the 

residential standards in Section 6.1 shall govern. Refer to Chapter 4 for 

street and streetscape design standards for Main Street and other 

Downtown commercial and residential areas. 

A. Building Height, Placement, and Setbacks 

1. The height of new street-facing facades shall be greater than 

sixteen (16) feet but no more than fifty (50) feet, as measured 

from the sidewalk to the top of the cornice.  

2. Along Main Street, building facades shall be a minimum of 16 

feet in height and appear as a two (2) story building, if not two 

(2) stories or greater in height.   

3. Where building heights differ between adjacent properties, the 

adjacent heights of major facade elements, such as storefronts, 

ground floors, upper floors, sill lines and strong horizontal 

features, such as belt courses and cornices shall be related. 

4. Buildings and facades shall be constructed to the back of the 

sidewalk of the adjacent street(s). Only entries and flanking 

display windows may be recessed from the property line. 

Doorways shall be designed to focus on the street to create 

more activity along the sidewalk. 

5. Businesses and buildings on Main Street shall face and orient 

toward Main Street. 

B. Building Form and Style 

1. Like the historic buildings on Main Street, building forms shall be 

primarily rectilinear and parallel to existing nearby streets or 

buildings. Oblique, polygonal, and circular-shaped buildings are 

prohibited. 

2. Architectural character-defining features of buildings that are 

eligible historical resources shall be maintained or replaced in-

kind in any renovation or remodeling work. 

3. When a new building is proposed to replace a historic 

structure, key architectural elements of the original building 

shall be used in the construction of the new building. 

4. The architectural character of new construction and 

rehabilitation shall reflect the traditional building forms of 

historic Suisun City by containing design elements that procure 

historic elements within the commercial styles in a modern 

 

Downtown commercial structures are typically 

rectilinear and built to the edge of the sidewalk. 

 

Where building heights differ between 

adjacent properties, the height of adjacent 

major façade elements shall be related. 

 

The scale of new infill construction shall be 

harmonious with that of adjacent buildings of 

historic interest. 

339



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards  

Page 6-10 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

context. Highly contemporary and articulated building forms are 

not permitted. “Wild West” themes typified by false front 

architecture, embellished with gingerbread-style detail, board- 

and- batten siding, and bright colors are not an appropriate or 

acceptable building motif. 

C. Exterior Walls 

1. Exterior walls shall be designed with brick, wood, painted or 

architectural metal (such as cast iron and pressed metal with 

anodized finish or painted). 

2. Except in limited amounts and in locations other than along 

Main Street, exterior wall materials not permitted include 

concrete, concrete block, stone veneer, stucco, granite, modern 

metal applications, large expanses of glass, tile, or plastic. 

3. New storefronts along Main Street shall approximate the 

rectangular shape, proportions, and architectural character of 

adjacent historic buildings. Storefronts with recessed entries 

shall be divided into three bands with a base, middle, and top, 

including a transom band, a band of display windows, and a small 

spandrel or paneled band under the display windows. One-story 

buildings shall have a solid wall space above the storefront and a 

cornice, with or without a parapet. Two-story buildings shall 

usually have a horizontal band and a second floor with windows 

and cornice. All of the above bands shall align with those of 

adjacent buildings to the extent possible. 

4. If provided, awnings shall be regularly cleaned and maintained. 

Awnings shall go through design review. Metal and glass awnings are 

not permitted. Free form and geometric form awnings or other 

sidewalk covers are discouraged. Care shall be taken in choosing 

 

Storefronts along Main Street shall be designed as three bands that include a base, 

middle, and top.  

 

Exterior walls shall be designed with brick, 

wood, and painted or anodized finish metal. 

 

New storefronts along Main Street shall 

approximate the rectangular form, 

proportions, and character of adjacent 

buildings of historic interest.  

 

Canvas awnings attached above street level 

storefronts and windows shall be used.  

340



6.3 Commercial Development + Design Standards  

October 2023  Page 6-11 

the size, type, location, configuration, and color of awnings to 

ensure compatibility with the building’s architecture and the 

character of adjacent structures. Awnings or canopies that obscure 

transom windows or that are used primarily for signage rather than 

cover are not permitted. 

5. Protrusions such as balconies, canopies, and porches must undergo 

architectural design review, to ensure compatibility with the style of 

historic structures along Main Street. Other important architectural 

features shall not be obscured or destroyed in the building of these 

features. 

6. Retail continuity along Main Street’s west side is essential. 

Storefronts shall be varied in design and architectural character, but 

continuous where possible along each block. Storefronts shall wrap 

around corners to create a sense of transparency and activity at 

intersections. 

7. Buildings at key intersections (such as Main Street and Driftwood 

Drive) shall be designed to “mark the corner” with such 

architectural features as a tower or a cupola. Such features may be 

erected to a greater height than fifty (50) feet, provided the design 

is in keeping with the overall architectural character of the structure 

and surroundings. 

8. The backs and sides of buildings that are visible from public streets 

shall incorporate window and door openings, where possible. For 

new construction, backs and sides shall be as carefully designed as 

front facades. On existing buildings, original openings shall be 

restored or compatible new ones provided where feasible.  

  

 

       

Windows shall be organized vertically, in multiple bays, although several vertical elements may be combined to form a horizontal 

opening.  

 

Traditional design features, such as wooden 

balconies, canopies, and porches shall be 

used.  

 

Buildings at key intersections, such as Main 

Street and Driftwood Drive shall be designed 

to mark the corner.  

341



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards 

Page 6-12 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

D. Windows and Doors

1. Except on narrow building fronts, windows shall be organized in

multiple bays, in coordination with ground-level storefronts. The

directional expression of windows and doors shall be vertical,

although several vertical elements may be combined to form a

horizontal opening.

2. Fenestration shall be heavy wood rectilinear assemblies. Metal

window assemblies or metal window frames are discouraged.

Fenestration shall be well proportioned and compatible with the

dimensions of a given wall.

3. Glass in windows, doors, and transoms shall primarily be kept clear.

Plastic materials shall not be used in place of glass.

4. Upper floor facades shall be composed as solid surfaces with

punched openings for individual windows or discrete sets of

windows. The openings may be highlighted with special

treatment at the head, sill, and/or sides, such as special brick

coursing, arched heads, or other accents.

5. Large areas of blank wall with few openings or enriching details

shall be avoided on street facades. New and substantially

rehabilitated buildings shall have wall to window area ratios and

proportions that are similar to the traditional Downtown

buildings. For minor rehabilitated buildings, existing window

openings, which have been boarded up, stuccoed, or painted

over shall be restored and reglazed.

6. Original or existing storefront areas and window openings shall

not be filled in or covered up from either the interior or

exterior of the building. Where buildings with retail storefront

display areas have been converted to non-retail uses, such as

offices, the storefront glazing shall not be covered over or

permanently obscured. Removable interior window coverings

may be used to provide some degree of privacy, but visual

contact with the street shall be maintained to the maximum

extent feasible.

7. At least 50 percent of the ground floor shall include windows,

door, glazing that is transparent and allows views of the interior

8. At least one main entrance shall be directly from the street.

E. Roofs

1. Building roofs shall reflect the historic styles in the Downtown

Core and shall be either gable, gambrel, hip, or shed. False

fronts or parapet walls shall conceal pitched or flat roofs from

view along Main Street. Mansard, free form, and geometric roof

shapes are discouraged. Flashings shall be unobtrusive.

Upper floor facades shall be composed of 

solid surfaces with punched openings for 

individual or sets of windows.  

Exterior colors shall complement the color of 

neighboring buildings or storefronts and the 

overall Downtown landscape character. 

False fronts or parapet walls shall conceal 

pitched or flat roofs. 

342



6.3 Commercial Development + Design Standards  

October 2023  Page 6-13 

2. Pitched roofs shall include dark asphalt shingles. Roofing 

materials not normally allowed include weathered wood 

shingles, concrete, plastic tile, or fabric. 

3. Rooftops with mechanical equipment shall be concealed.  

F. Color 

1. Choice for building exteriors may express individual taste, but 

shall always contribute to the historical character of the area. 

Exterior colors shall harmonize with other colors on the same 

building and on the streetscape.  

2. Exterior colors shall complement the colors of neighboring 

buildings or storefronts and shall add to the overall character of 

the streetscape. 

3. Where brick has been painted, repainting is appropriate. Where 

brick remains unpainted, use of paint on the exterior is 

prohibited. 

4. Colors for building walls and storefronts shall be uniform for a 

shop, which occupy multiple storefront buildings. 

5. The use of different colors to mark individual shops within a 

building can be visually disruptive and obscure the overall 

composition of the facade. Where existing buildings have been 

painted in this manner, they shall be repainted complementing 

colors when rehabilitation or change in tenancy occurs. 

6. A range of complementary colors may be selected for signs and 

awnings of individual shops within the same building. The sign 

and awning color of individual businesses shall be coordinated 

wherever possible. Patterned or multi-colored awnings shall be 

used with care and in consideration of the color(s) of adjacent 

awnings. 

6.3.4 Historic Commercial Zone 

The buildings that front on Main Street between Morgan Street and 

Cordelia Street and the areas within the HC zone are predominantly 

residential. These structures are expected to convert to retail or limited 

commercial uses over time. The following sections address these 

“transitional” buildings and provide standards for their renovation for 

commercial use. Standards also apply to the design of new commercial 

structures so that residential elements are incorporated and are 

compatible with the existing structures in which they adjoin. 

 

 

 

Complementary colors shall be selected for 

signs and awnings of individual shops within 

the same building. 

 

Additions to existing structures shall be a 

height and scale that does not overwhelm 

the original building. 

343



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards  

Page 6-14 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

A. Building Height, Placement, and Setbacks 

1. The maximum height of any new building or addition to an 

existing building shall be thirty-five (35) feet.  

2. Additions to existing structures shall not exceed the height of 

the original building by more than 80 percent and shall not 

exceed the square footage of the original building by more than 

50 percent. 

3. Building setbacks shall be provided from all property lines. The 

front yard and side setback from the street shall approximate 

that of adjacent residential buildings on the block. Rear and side 

setbacks shall be similar to those provided for existing 

residential buildings, with greater setbacks provided for new 

structures or additions of significantly greater height or scale. 

Building setbacks from the street will help to maintain a 

consistent street wall and signal the transition from the 

commercial area to the adjacent residential area. Side and rear 

setbacks can provide buffer zones to protect the privacy of 

adjacent residential areas. 

4. Setback areas shall be adequately landscaped to provide a 

residential character to the street and to form green buffers 

between buildings. The presence of trees and planting around 

buildings is typical of residential areas and will provide an 

appropriate transition between them and the commercial area. 

B. Building Form and Composition 

1. Unique architectural features and the overall residential quality 

and appearance of a structure shall be maintained and 

respected. Major form-giving elements to be retained include 

pitched rooflines, projecting or recessed entry porches, 

dormers, and bay windows. Important features and details may 

include multi-paned windows set in wood frames, overhanging 

eaves, decorative brackets and balustrades, and substantially 

designed porch bases and steps. 

The conversion of a residential structure to commercial use 

shall not destroy the residential character of the building. 

Where modifications are necessary to improve access, they 

shall be done in a manner that is least disruptive of the original 

building fabric. Closing or filling porches or window openings 

destroys the building's character and is prohibited. 

2. New construction and additions to existing buildings shall utilize 

the major residential form-giving elements described above. 

3. Roof forms shall be expressed rather than concealed behind 

parapets or false fronts. Appropriate forms are those typically 

used for residential development in and adjacent to the area. 

These include hip, gable, and shed forms with projecting eaves. 

 

Unique architectural features and the 

residential quality and appearance of 

structures should be maintained. 

 

Conversion of a residential structure to a 

commercial use should not destroy the 

character of the building. 

 

New larger buildings should use smaller-scaled 

elements that approximate the scale or form 

of adjacent residential development.  

 

Setback areas shall be adequately 

landscaped to provide a residential 

character and green buffer to the street. 

344



6.3 Commercial Development + Design Standards  

October 2023  Page 6-15 

Roof forms for building additions shall be consistent with those 

of the original structures. 

4. Building massing shall relate to the scale of surrounding 

residential structures. Where a new building will be significantly 

larger than surrounding structures, it shall be composed of 

smaller elements that approximate the scale or form of the 

existing, adjacent residential structures. 

In order to avoid changes in scale that would overwhelm 

adjoining residential structures, new buildings shall use smaller-

scaled elements as building blocks. Devices, such as partial or 

full setback upper floors, building projections or recesses, and 

changing or articulated roof forms help to reduce the apparent 

mass of a building. 

C. Material Finishes and Colors 

1. Exterior wall materials shall be limited to those commonly used 

for residential buildings, including wood siding and brick. 

2. Additions to existing buildings shall be finished in the same 

material as the original structure. Complementary materials, 

such as wood shakes with wood siding or brick with stucco may 

be used for architectural accents or special details. 

3. Existing window openings and multi-paned windows shall be 

retained. Large expanses of glass shall be avoided in building 

additions and new construction in favor of individual window 

openings with multi-paned windows or multiple window units. 

4. Window frames shall be of painted wood, metal, dark anodized 

aluminum, or in the case of a renovation, a material and finish 

which matches the existing original window frames. 

5. Metal window grilles or other exterior devices which imply 

security problems are discouraged. 

Visible security devices detract from the area's image. Security 

problems shall be addressed in less visible ways, such as internal 

alarm systems, which will not detract from the visual image of 

the area. 

6. Appropriate paint colors for building wall surfaces include white 

or light, neutral pastels similar to those called for in other 

commercial zones, medium toned natural finishes for brick. 

Where wood siding or shakes are used, darker stains or painted 

finishes may also be appropriate. Trim elements and details may 

be painted to match the building wall or in a contrasting color. 

7. If used, awnings shall be placed to avoid obscuring architectural 

features or overwhelming the scale of the building. Awnings may 

be placed over windows or entries but must be attached 

directly to the building and be self-supporting. Extended 

sidewalk canopies are prohibited. 

 

Exterior wall materials shall use 

traditional residential building materials, 

such as wood siding, stone, and brick. 

 

Use of fabric shall be used, where 

appropriate to the building design. 

345



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards  

Page 6-16 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

6.3.5 Waterfront Commercial Land Zones 

A. Waterfront Commercial Zone Design Standards 

New development in this area shall be guided by the design standards in 

Section 6.3.4, addressing the Historic Commercial zone, and the 

following additional standards.  

The area located north of the City boat ramp is intended primarily to 

accommodate the service retail needs of boaters and marine-related 

industries. Design of these buildings shall be reflective of traditional 

maritime architecture; that is, buildings with high ceilings, and large floor 

areas, but which reflect the character of the Waterfront and do not 

obscure it from view.  

The following design standards shall be observed within the Waterfront 

Commercial zone.  

1. Roofs shall be pitched, without parapet facades. Flat roofs are 

prohibited. 

2. Extensive areas of glazing or storefronts shall be utilized where 

the building faces a public street, common area, or the 

waterfront. 

6.3.6 Downtown Mixed Use Zone within ½ mile of the 

Suisun-Fairfield Train Depot 

B. Building Height, Placement, and Setbacks 

1. The height of new buildings shall be multi-story, but no more 

than fifty (50) feet, as measured from the sidewalk to the top of 

the roof line. 

2. Where building heights differ between adjacent properties, the 

adjacent heights of major facade elements, such as storefronts, 

ground floors, upper floors, sill lines, and horizontal features, 

such as belt courses and cornices shall be related. 

3. Building facades and openings shall be designed to front onto 

Main Street or Downtown side streets rather than facing the 

railroad tracks. 

4. Setback areas shall be adequately landscaped to provide an 

appropriate transition between the commercial development on 

Main Street, the residential development south of the district, 

and streets and parking areas. 

5. Public open space shall be internally located and buffered from 

rail or freight traffic. 

C. Building Form and Style 

1. Building massing shall relate to the scale of surrounding 

Downtown structures. Where a new building will be larger than 

surrounding structures, it shall be broken down into smaller 

 
 

 
New waterfront development shall be 

consistent with the scale and character of 

existing waterfront commercial development. 

 

Setback areas shall be adequately 

landscaped to provide a residential 

character and green buffer to the street. 

 

Building massing shall be broken to smaller 

massing, approximating the scale or form 

of existing adjacent structures. 

346



6.3 Commercial Development + Design Standards  

October 2023  Page 6-17 

elements and massing which approximate the scale or form of 

the existing adjacent structures. 

Design strategies, such as partial or full setback upper floors, 

building projections or recesses, and changing or articulated 

roof forms help to reduce the apparent mass of a building.  

2. New construction and renovation of existing buildings shall 

respect the waterfront design themes and historic character in 

the Specific Plan Area and shall maintain the distinct character 

of the Downtown Waterfront District.  

3. More contemporary building designs and reuse of industrial 

structures shall be utilized in this district, while respecting the 

traditional design elements of Main Street and the adjacent 

residential neighborhoods in Old Town. 

D. Exterior Walls 

1. Exterior walls shall usually be designed with brick, wood, 

painted or architectural metal (such as cast iron and pressed 

metal with anodized finish or painted), consistent with materials 

encouraged for commercial development along Main Street. 

2. Balconies, canopies, and porches are encouraged and shall be 

designed to be compatible with the appearance of adjacent 

structures.  

3. The back and side of buildings, visible from public streets, shall 

incorporate window and door opening In new construction, 

backs and sides shall be carefully designed as front facades. On 

existing buildings or building renovations, original openings shall 

be restored or compatible new ones provided, where feasible. 

Interesting details, awnings, painting, and landscaping shall be 

used to add visual interest to these areas. 

E. Windows and Doors 

1. Except on narrow building fronts, windows shall be organized in 

multiple bays.  

2. Glass in windows, doors, and transoms shall primarily be kept 

clear. Plastic materials shall not be used in place of glass. 

3. For rehabilitated buildings, existing window openings, which 

have been boarded up, stuccoed, or painted over shall be 

restored and reglazed. 

4. Removable interior window coverings may be used to provide 

some degree of privacy, but visual contact with the street shall 

be maintained. 

F. Color and Material Finishes 

1. Choice for building exteriors may express individual taste, but 

shall contribute to the character of the Waterfront District.  

 
 

 

Contemporary design and reuse of 

industrial structures shall be used.  

 

Exterior walls shall be designed with brick, 

wood, and painted or architectural metal.  

 

Windows shall be organized into multiple 

bays. 

347



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards  

Page 6-18 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

2. Exterior colors shall harmonize with landscape themes in the 

district and Downtown waterfront themes. 

3. The use of different colors to mark individual shops or 

residential units within a mixed-use building shall be avoided. 

However, accent colors applied to highlight architectural 

features and trim elements and details painted in a contrasting 

color, compatible with the building wall are encouraged.  

4. Window frames shall be of painted wood, metal, dark anodized 

aluminum. 

5. A range of complementary colors may be selected for signs and 

awnings of individual shops within the same building. The sign 

and awning color of individual businesses shall be coordinated, 

wherever possible. 

A. Downtown Commercial and Downtown Mixed Use within 

the Western Marina Public Space and Pedestrian 

Amenities 

1. Public spaces, such as plazas, courtyards, and outdoor dining 

spaces shall be designed to enhance the vitality of the district 

and support commercial patronage. 

2. Public spaces, plazas, and courtyards shall be designed as 

outdoor living rooms, enhanced with seating and other 

pedestrian furniture, street lights, shade, and landscaping. 

3. Street furnishings and landscaping, including planters or tree 

grates and potted plants, shall be provided along walkways, to 

support a pleasant urban retail experience. 

4. Public art shall be considered for focal points or gateway 

entrances into the commercial district. 

5. Textured or colored pavement shall be used to clearly define 

pedestrian access ways or intersection crossings, articulate 

different sidewalks activity zones, and highlight special areas 

within the district.  

B. Building Height, Placement, and Setbacks 

1. The height of new buildings are encouraged to be multi-story to 

establish a pedestrian-friendly character, consistent with the 

Downtown Waterfront District, but shall be no more than sixty 

(60) feet, as measured from the sidewalk to the top of the 

building roof line. 

2. Commercial buildings shall have facades built to the edge of the 

sidewalk in order to maintain an active and interesting edge for 

window shoppers, strollers, and passersby. 

3. To nurture a pedestrian-focused community, buildings shall be 

designed to front onto the commercial main street or internal 

common space. Setbacks shall be landscaped and buildings shall 

 

Street furnishings and landscaping can help 

support a pleasant, urban retail experience. 

 

Public spaces shall be provided to enhance 

commercial vitality and activity in the district. 

 

Commercial building facades shall front onto 

the sidewalk to maintain an active edge for 

shoppers and pedestrians. 

 

Exterior colors shall be chosen to 

complement the architectural and landscape 

themes in the district. 

 

Buildings shall be clustered to support a 

pedestrian-friendly shopping experience. 

348



6.3 Commercial Development + Design Standards  

October 2023  Page 6-19 

be oriented to activate common spaces and public rights-of-way, 

with courtyards, plazas, seating, and other public amenities. 

C. Building Form and Style 

1. Building forms shall be primarily rectilinear and parallel to 

existing nearby streets or buildings.  

2. Commercial buildings shall be clustered to support a pedestrian-

friendly shopping environment. 

3. Buildings at key intersections shall be designed to "mark the 

corner" with architectural features, such as towers.  

D. Exterior Walls 

1. Large areas of blank wall with few openings or enriching details 

shall be avoided on street facades. The backs and sides of 

buildings, which are visible from public streets, shall incorporate 

window and door openings, where possible. Building backs and 

sides shall be as carefully designed as front facades. Interesting 

details, awnings, painting, and landscaping shall be used to add 

visual interest to these areas. 

2. Exterior walls shall be designed with traditional building 

materials, such as brick, wood, painted or architectural metal 

(such as cast iron and pressed metal, with anodized finish or 

painted). 

3. Doors, windows, cornice lines, floor lines, signage, and 

overhangs shall be incorporated into the building design to 

support interesting building façades. 

4. Individual tenants in a multi-tenant structure shall be easily 

distinguished, using architectural features, including: 

1. columns, piers, or pilasters placed between building bays; 

2. building setback variations for recessed entrances, niches 

for landscaping, outdoor seating or dining, or other 

pedestrian amenities; 

3. arcades and roof overhangs; and 

4. changes in building or roof heights between adjacent 

tenants. 

5. Awnings, attached above street-level storefronts and over 

individual windows may be used. Canvas awnings may be used. If 

provided, awnings shall be regularly cleaned and maintained. 

Care shall be taken in choosing the size, type, location, 

configuration, and color of awnings to ensure compatibility with 

the building's architecture. 

 

Color and different architectural treatments 

shall be used to distinguish individual 

tenants in multitenant buildings. 

 

Architectural details, such as doors, windows, 

building lines, signage, and overhangs shall 

be used to articulate the building façade. 

 

Commercial storefronts and ground floor 

common areas shall provide a transparent 

façade along the street. 

349



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards  

Page 6-20 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

E. Windows and Doors 

1. Commercial storefronts and ground floor common areas shall 

provide a transparent façade along the street, consisting of 

storefronts, entries, and windows. 

2. Storefronts shall be varied in design and character, but 

continuous where possible along each block. Storefronts shall 

wrap around corners to create a sense of transparency and 

activity at intersections. 

3. Doorways shall be designed to focus on the street to create 

more activity along the sidewalk. 

F. Color and Material Finishes 

1. Choice for building exteriors may express individual taste, but 

shall contribute to the waterfront themes of the Downtown 

Waterfront District. Exterior colors shall complement the 

colors of neighboring buildings or storefronts and shall be 

selected to be mutually supportive and beneficial to the overall 

character of the streetscape. 

2. Colors for building walls and storefronts shall be uniform for a 

shop, which occupy multiple storefront buildings. 

3. The sign and awning color of individual businesses shall be 

coordinated, wherever possible.  

 

Color shall be selected to coordinate with 

the streetscape and landscape themes of 

the district. 

350



6.3 Commercial Development + Design Standards  

October 2023  Page 6-21 

6.3.7 Civic and Open Space Standards 

Table 6-4: Civic and Open Space Development Standards 

Land Use District Civic (C) Park or Open Space (P/OS) 

A. LOT / SITE DESIGN   

1. Lot Coverage1 80% of the lot 20% of the lot 

2. Density  N/A N/A 

3. Floor Area Ratio  N/A N/A 

4. Lot Area N/A N/A 

5. Lot Width N/A N/A 

6. Lot Depth N/A N/A 

B. BUILDING PLACEMENT AND HEIGHT  

    Primary Building Setback3   

1. Front Setback  0’ min 20’ min 

2. Side Setback (street) 0’ min 20’ min 

3. Side Setback (interior) 0’ min 10’ min 

4. Rear Setback4  0’ min 15’ min 

5. Height Limit5 50’ max 35’ max 

Notes: 

min = minimum, max = maximum 

1  Lot coverage includes primary buildings, accessory buildings, covered parking, and covered patios. 
2 Setback areas shall be landscaped as addressed by the Suisun City Zoning Code. 
3  Front setback shall be within five feet of setbacks of adjacent buildings on the street. Garage shall be no closer 

than 15 feet from the front property line. 

 

 

351



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards  

Page 6-22 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

6.4 General Development Standards  

6.4.1 General Requirements 

A. Buildings 

1. Where originally constructed building facades remain, their 

appearance shall not be altered. Such facades shall be repaired 

and preserved. Where facades have been altered, as much 

original material and details shall be retained in the rehabilitation 

as possible. 

2. Existing windows and door openings that have been boarded up 

or painted over shall be restored and reglazed. Replacement 

windows and doors shall meet all the requirements of Section 

6.3.3.D. Awnings, where provided, shall be regularly cleaned and 

maintained. 

B. Landscaping 

Landscaping is an transitional feature between the public and private 

realms, and shall be maintained and improved.  

1. Landscaping around the perimeter of buildings and parking areas 

provides a visual extension of the front landscaping and a green 

buffer between building and land uses. Landscaping shall be 

provided in front setback areas and in setback areas around the 

perimeter of buildings and parking areas, where provided. 

2. Landscaping shall be provided within parking areas where 

needed to break up large expanses of parking and/or to provide 

additional shade, as required by the City’s Zoning Code. 

C. Mechanical Equipment and Service Areas 

All mechanical equipment, whether on rooftops or at ground level and 

service areas shall be adequately screened from view?  

1. Mechanical equipment, conduit, utility equipment, HVAC units 

and trash disposal areas, visible from a public right-of-way or 

common area, shall be screened from view.  

2. Where conduit or equipment cannot be screened without 

disrupting or covering other important features of the building, 

these shall be painted to match the adjacent surface to reduce 

their visibility as much as possible. 

3. Trash areas, storage, and service areas shall be screened from 

public view with a wall or fence and landscaping. Trash 

enclosure shall be designed and located, so as not to be visible 

from adjacent streets or properties. 

352



6.4 General Development Standards 

October 2023 Page 6-23 

D. Use of Public Right-of-Way 

Merchandise, whether for sale or rent, shall not be placed on display 

upon the public right-of-way except by special permit. 

6.4.2 Sign Standards 

The following standards address the number, location, size, and types of 

allowable signs applicable to all uses throughout the Specific Plan Area. 

Additional signage standards, included in Chapter 18.44 of the Suisun 

City Zoning Code also apply, except where in conflict with the more 

restrictive standards of this Specific Plan. Where this section is silent, 

the standards of the Zoning Code shall apply. 

A. Type and Placement 

1. Signs shall be designed to directly relate to the exterior design 

of the building. Signs shall not cover important features or cross 

transitions between features. Signs shall be at the first floor 

level, shall not project above the cornice or facia line, and shall 

be primarily oriented to the pedestrian. However, painted 

lettering on second story windows, to identify separate uses 

located there, is appropriate. 

2. Signs shall be flush with the facade and not protrude more than 

eight (8) inches from the wall. Projecting signs may be 

considered when the sign does not conflict with the building's 

exterior design. 

3. Under canopy signs and signs painted on canvas awnings are 

permitted. Symbolic three-dimensional signs, such as barber 

poles, can be utilized. Moving and rotating signs are permitted. 

4. Freestanding signs are not allowed, except to identify a specific 

development, district, or multiple-business complex. One 

permanent directory or freestanding master identification sign, 

not to exceed twenty-five (25) square feet per sign face, is 

allowed at each main entrance to a public street. 

5. A projecting sign or shingle sign may be permitted to be placed 

on a building frontage only if all of the following standards are 

met: 

a. The sign is historically accurate or appropriate for the 

building. 

b. The sign does not impair the visibility of adjacent signs. 

c. The size, location, and materials of the sign are compatible 

with the building and conform to the requirements of this 

section. 

6. The height of the sign does not extend above the cornice line of 

a one story building or the sill of a second floor window. 

7. A permanent sign is limited to the name and graphic logo of the 

business, the type of service rendered, the principal brand 

353



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards  

Page 6-24 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

names or classification of merchandise for sale, and street 

address. Brand names may occupy not more than twenty-five 

percent (25%) of the allowable sign area, except for storefront 

window signs. 

8. Neon signs are permitted only when all of the following 

standards are met. 

a. The sign does not impair the visibility of adjacent signs. 

b. The sign, location, and materials of the sign are compatible 

with the building and conform to the other requirements of 

this Chapter. 

c. Where an otherwise illuminated sign is not possible.  

B. Sign Area 

1. A maximum area of one (1) square foot of signage may be 

permitted for each linear foot of a business on a primary 

frontage (facing a public street, public parking lot, or public 

space) not to exceed forty (40) square feet on any one frontage.  

2. A maximum of one-half (1/2) square foot of signage may be 

permitted for each linear foot of a business on a secondary 

frontage (facing an alley, private driveway, an adjacent building, 

private parking or service area) not to exceed twenty (20) 

square feet on any one frontage. 

3. Projecting signs shall not exceed twenty (20) square feet per 

sign face and shall not project more than four (4) feet from the 

wall.  

4. The maximum areas noted above shall apply to all wall, window, 

and projecting signs and signs painted on awnings.  

5. Each business with first floor frontage or direct sidewalk access 

may have a pedestrian-oriented sign attached below a canopy 

not exceeding three (3) square feet per sign face and with a 

minimum clearance of eight (8) feet above the sidewalk. Such a 

sign will not count as part of the maximum business sign 

allowance. 

6. Multiple business directories may be permitted when not 

exceeding two (2) square feet per tenant and twenty (20) 

square feet total per sign face. Such a sign will not count as part 

of the maximum business sign allowance. 

C. Materials 

1. Signs shall be painted and/or carved wood, wrought iron, cut 

out, non-reflective metal lettering such as brass, or glass 

(including stained glass). Signs painted directly on plain surfaces, 

windows and canvas awnings are generally appropriate. Metal 

"can" signs are not permitted. Decorative neon identification 

signs may be used as an accent or design feature, but shall not 

dominate the general appearance of the facade. 

354



6.4 General Development Standards 

October 2023 Page 6-25 

D. Graphics 

1. Graphics shall be simple and bold. Lettering styles shall be in 

keeping with the area's historic character. 

E. Illumination 

1. Illumination shall be indirect such as that provided by "goose 

necked" light fixtures.  

2. Fluorescent, flashing, intermittent, and interior-illuminated signs 

are prohibited. 

F. Temporary Signs 

1. Temporary signs pertaining to special store events or sales 

lasting no more than thirty (30) days may be painted or affixed 

to display windows provided that their total area shall not 

exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the window area. 

2. Banners or other promotional signs may be displayed for up to 

thirty (30) days provided that the total area of all temporary 

signage displayed (including window signage) shall not exceed 

the allowed area of the permanent signage. 

3. All such temporary signage shall be displayed for no more than 

thirty (30) days. The same or similar signage shall not be 

replaced within thirty (30) days after removal. 

G. Illegal Construction 

If the Administrator finds that any sign has been constructed or erected 

in violation of the provisions in effect at the time of such construction, 

they shall give written notice of such conditions to the property owner 

upon which the sign is located to remove or alter the sign so as to 

comply with this Chapter. Thirty (30) days after such notice, such signs 

may be removed or altered to comply with legal standards by the 

Administrator at the expense of the permittee or the property owner 

upon which the sign is located. 

6.4.3 Parking Standards 

Parking regulations are established to ensure adequate parking facilities 

are provided to meet the parking demand anticipated for development. 

A. Minimum Parking Requirements 

The minimum number of off-street parking space shall be provided for 

each land use, as summarized in Table 6-4. For uses not listed in the 

table, refer to Zoning Code Chapter 18.42, Parking and Loading Areas. 

The parking standards in Table 6-4 apply to any new building or use, 

except as follows:  

1. For existing structures, only those off-street parking spaces 

required at the time of construction, addition, or substantial 

355



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards  

Page 6-26 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

modification of the structure, or are present on the site at the 

time of adoption of this Specific Plan, are required to be 

maintained as off-street parking spaces. Any additional floor 

area to an existing structure or construction of new structures 

made subsequent to the effective date of this Plan shall require 

the provision of off-street parking as provided in Table 6-5. 

▪ Parking within the one-quarter mile radius of the Suisun City 

train depot will be waived.

 

B. Parking in Commercial and Mixed Use Zones 

Generally, parking required for existing and proposed new uses within 

most of the commercial and mixed use zones will be met by a 

combination of public and private on- and off-street public parking 

facilities, associated with specific uses and properties. Public parking is 

provided on Main Street, in and around the marina and Harbor Plaza. 

Because of the variety of uses envisioned in the Specific Plan Area, peak 

demand periods will vary, allowing opportunities for shared facilities by 

more than one use or property. 

1. Required parking for all existing uses at the date of adoption of 

this Specific Plan are satisfied by existing private on-site facilities 

and public parking on Main Street and Harbor Plaza. 

Table 6-5: Off-Street Parking Requirements 

Land Use Minimum Number of Parking Spaces Required 

RESIDENTIAL LAND USES   

Single-Family Residential 1 covered space and 1 uncovered space per unit 

Multi-Family Residential1 

Studio 1 space per unit 

One-Bedroom 1 space per unit 

Two+ Bedrooms 1.5 space per unit 

Guest spaces 

1 space per 5 units, except that on-street parking may be substituted 

for visitor parking where sufficient on-street parking space is provided 

on the street adjacent to the development 

NON-RESIDENTIAL LAND USES 

Hotel/Motel 1 space per room 

Commercial or Public Use 

Refer to parking requirement in the City Zoning Code, except that the 

minimum off-street parking spaces shall not be greater than 1 space per 

300 gross square feet. Proposed buildings of less than 5,000 square feet 

with adjacent on-street parking shall not be required to provide any 

off-street parking.  

Notes: 
1. For developments containing five or more units, up to thirty-five percent (35%) of the required uncovered 

spaces may be compact car spaces. 

*** On-street parking spaces adjacent to the property street frontage may be used to satisfy required off-street 

parking requirements.  

356



6.4 General Development Standards 

October 2023 Page 6-27 

2. New uses established after the adoption of this Specific Plan 

shall be required to meet parking standards with either on-site 

parking, on-street parking, or a combination of on-site and on-

street parking, consistent with the requirement of this Specific 

Plan. Off-site parking may be used, where it is demonstrated 

that such spaces are available during the peak demand periods 

for the particular use in question (see requirements for shared 

parking below). 

C. Fees In-Lieu of Required Parking 

Where a use cannot satisfy its parking requirement through on-site or 

shared parking, the remaining requirement may be satisfied by payment 

of a fee in lieu of actual development of the required parking. Said fee is 

to be set by resolution of the City Council and shall be equal to the 

estimated cost of land acquisition and development of one off-street 

surface parking space. This fee will be charged for each of the required 

parking spaces which cannot otherwise be provided for the proposed 

use. 

D. Reduced Parking Requirement 

An exception reducing the required parking spaces to less than the 

above standards may be approved by the Administrator provided the 

following findings are made: 

1. The actual parking demand for the use in question will be less 

than the above standards. 

2. The proposed use will not generate additional long-term 

parking demand. 

3. If a new building or structure, the probable long-term 

occupancy will not generate additional parking demand. 

The applicant will be responsible for the collection and submittal of 

survey or other data sufficient for the above findings to be made. Refer 

to Section 7.6.5 of the Specific Plan for the procedures for exceptions.   

E. Shared Parking Requirements 

Parking spaces may be shared by more than one use when operations 

are not normally conducted during the same hours or when hours of 

peak use vary. Requests for the use of shared parking may be 

considered within the project review process as a strategy to meet 

required off-street parking requirements and must meet the following 

conditions: 

1. The applicant must satisfactorily demonstrate that substantial 

conflict shall not exist in the principal hours or periods of peak 

demand for the uses for which shared spaces are proposed. 

357



Chapter 6 | Development + Design Standards  

Page 6-28 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

2. Parking spaces designated for shared use shall not be located 

farther than eight hundred (800) feet from any structure or use 

served, unless otherwise approved. 

3. A written Agreement shall be drawn to the satisfaction of the 

City attorney and executed by all parties concerned ensuring 

the continued availability of the number of stalls designated for 

shared use. 

4. The number of existing parking stalls which may be credited 

against the requirements for proposed structures or uses shall 

not exceed the number of stalls reasonably anticipated to be 

available during differing hours of peak demand. 

5. In determining the availability of parking spaces for shared use; 

peak and off-peak demand shall be calculated using the 

standards and methods described in the City’s Zoning Code, 

Section 18.42.090 or other approach approved by the City. 

6. Total required on-site parking spaces for mixed-use 

developments shall be determined by computing the parking 

requirements for each of the above time periods. The largest 

total demand for the four periods shall be the required number 

of spaces to be provided. 

F. Parking in Residential Front Yards 

No portion of any front yard other than a paved driveway shall be 

utilized for parking or storing of any motor vehicle, recreational vehicle, 

boat, trailer, or camper. 

G. Parking Design 

Dimensions, geometrics, and landscaping of parking areas shall be as 

specified by the City’s Zoning Code, unless otherwise specified in this 

section. 

1. Where on-site parking is utilized, it shall be provided in a 

location which is least visually disruptive. The preferred location 

of parking lots is at the rear of the property or screened from 

view by the building. An alternative location would be at the 

side of the building. Parking shall not be sited in the setback area 

between the street and the building line, where such setback 

exists. Parking located in front of buildings, adjacent to the 

public right-of-way, shall be screened with vegetation and/or 

fencing. Access drives shall be located besides the building or at 

the rear of the building on corner lots. 

2. Parking lots shall be adequately landscaped within and at the 

perimeter, adjacent to abutting streets and buildings. Parking 

areas, which abut residential uses or zones, shall be screened 

with a dense hedge and/or a fence. Lighting shall be directed 

away from residences. 

358



Waterfront District Specific Plan  

 

October 2023 Page 7-1 

CHAPTER 7| SPECIFIC PLAN 

ADMINISTRATION 

7.1 Administration 

7.1.1 Administrator – Designation 

The Administrator of the Specific Plan shall be the Development 

Services Director or their delegate. 

7.1.2 Administration 

The Planning Division shall administer this Specific Plan in accordance 

with the provisions of this Plan and the instructions of the Planning 

Commission. Refer to the Suisun City Zoning Code (Zoning Code), 

Section 18.84 for the process for appeals.  

7.1.3 Administration - Consistency with Applicable 

General Plan Policies and Programs 

Prior to issuance of a building permit, applicants must demonstrate 

consistency with applicable General Plan Policies and Programs listed in 

Section 4 of the City’s Specific Plan Consistency Analysis (under the 

California Environmental Quality Act or “CEQA”), as relevant and 

appropriate to the activity requiring the permit. The City’s Specific Plan 

Consistency Analysis is on file with the Development Services 

Department under separate cover. Notwithstanding other provisions of 

this Specific Plan and the Specific Plan Consistency Analysis, all 

development and associated public improvements and environmental 

mitigations shall be consistent with the current adopted version of the 

Travis Air Force Base Land Use Compatibility Plan Update. 

7.2 Specific Plan Adoption 

A Specific Plan is similar to a Zoning Code in that it implements the 

General Plan through land use designation on a map, listing or 

referencing permitted specific uses, standards for development, and 

appropriate special conditions. Title 7, Division 1, Chapter 3, Article 8, 

Sections 65450-65457 of the California Government Code provides the 

requirements for the contents and adoption process of a Specific Plan. 

359



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-2 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

7.2.1 Specific Plan Amendment 

Amendments to the Specific Plan may be initiated by a resident or 

property owner, as well as by the City, in accordance with the 

procedures outlined for initial adoption. In addition to these 

requirements, major amendments shall require a public hearing and 

notification, similar in nature to the process for amendments, addressed 

in the City Zoning Code, Chapter 18.82, “Amendments.” 

7.2.2 Application 

Application for a Specific Plan Amendment shall be filed with the 

Planning Division upon such forms and accompanied by such data as 

may be prescribed by the Planning Division, so as to ensure the fullest 

practicable presentation of the facts for the permanent record. A fee set 

by resolution of the City Council shall accompany each application. A 

Specific Plan Amendment may be initiated by the City.  

7.2.3 Scope of Amendment 

The Administrator will be responsible for determining “major” 

amendments as opposed to “minor” amendments to the Plan and its 

Standards. “Major” amendments shall be processed as outlined above 

through the Planning Commission and City Council. Among the items 

which would be considered major are: 

▪ Introduction of a new type of land use not discussed in the Specific 

Plan or City Zoning Code that would affect one or more property 

owners. 

▪ Major changes to the layout of land uses (affecting one acre of land 

or more) or other changes, which may significantly affect a planning 

concept spelled out in this Specific Plan. 

▪ Major changes to the proposed street system that would 

significantly alter land use or circulation concepts described in this 

Specific Plan. 

▪ Changes or additions to design standards, which could significantly 

change the stated intent of this Specific Plan. 

▪ Any change to the Specific Plan which could create new 

environmental impacts or substantially increase environmental 

impacts beyond that reported in the Specific Plan Consistency 

Analysis. 

Minor amendments shall be decided by the Administrator, subject to 

appeal to the Planning Commission. Minor amendments include: 

▪ A proposed land use not identified in the Specific Plan or City 

Zoning Code that is substantially similar to a permitted use with 

respect to characteristics, intensity, and compatibility, according to 

the requirements of section 7.4.3 of this chapter. Minor changes to 

360



7.2 Specific Plan Adoption 

October 2023 Page 7-3 

the land use diagram and/or alignment of streets that maintain the 

general pattern of permitted land uses and circulation and that are 

consistent with the vision, goals, and policies of the Specific Plan.   

▪ A change to the development and design standards that does not 

significantly change the physical characteristics or purpose and 

intent of the Specific Plan and is determined by the Administrator as 

minor or requests for an adjustment that is 10 percent or less of 

quantifiable or measurable standards contained in the WDSP.  

▪ Changes not expected to substantially increase any environmental 

impact beyond the levels identified in the Specific Plan Consistency 

Analysis. 

▪ Minor text revisions required to clarify the intent of the Specific 

Plan, remove ambiguities, or maintain consistency with other 

adopted City planning and policy documents. 

▪ Other modifications of a similar nature to those listed above, which 

are deemed minor by the Administrator and in keeping with the 

purpose and intent of the Specific Plan.     

7.2.4 Findings 

In considering any amendment to the Specific Plan the appropriate 

decision-making body shall make the following findings: 

▪ The proposed amendment would benefit the Specific Plan Area. 

▪ The proposed amendment would conform to the General Plan or 

would be considered in conjunction with an amendment of the 

General Plan. 

▪ The proposed amendment would not adversely affect adjacent 

properties.  

▪ If use specific, the subject property could be properly served by 

public facilities and services. 

7.2.5 Amendment Procedures 

The process for Major Amendments to the WDSP shall be the same as 

the process to amend the Zoning Code as described in Chapter 18.82 

of the Zoning Code. Minor Amendments to the WDSP, unlike Major 

Amendments, may be approved by the Administrator in accordance 

with the following procedures and do not require public hearings.  

1. Application Requirement 

Applications shall be made in writing on a form prescribed by 

the Development Services Department for the purposes of site 

plan and architectural review and shall be accompanied by site 

plans, elevations, and/or relevant data required to grant the 

application.  

361



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-4 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

2. Application Processing 

The Administrator or their designee shall review all applicable 

information and within thirty (30) days of receiving all relevant 

information, make a determination as to the appropriate level of 

review, based on applicable regulations and the characteristics 

of the project.  

For Minor Specific Plan Amendments, the Administrator shall 

make one of the following determinations: 

a. Approve the application upon determination that the 

project substantially complies with all applicable standards 

of the Specific Plan and relevant City standards and meets 

the criteria for Minor Amendments in Section 7.3.2.  

b. Require or recommend the project be reviewed as a Major 

Amendment, including going through the appropriate public 

hearing process. However prior to making this 

determination, when possible, the Administrator shall 

provide the applicant an opportunity to modify or correct 

the application to bring the project into conformance with 

the Specific Plan, relevant City standards, and the criteria 

for Minor Amendments, addressed in Section 7.3.2. 

c. Request further information, as may be needed to decide to 

approve the application.  

In granting a Minor Amendment, the Administrator may impose 

conditions to safeguard public health and safety and ensure that 

development is consistent with the objectives and intent of the 

Specific Plan. 

362



7.3 Conflicts and Interpretation 

October 2023 Page 7-5 

7.3 Conflicts and Interpretation 

The provisions of this Specific Plan are not intended to interfere with or 

void any easements, covenants, or other existing agreements, which are 

more restrictive than the provisions of this Specific Plan. 

7.3.1 Conflict with Other Regulations 

Whenever the provisions of this Specific Plan impose more restrictive 

regulations upon buildings or structures or use of lands; or require 

larger open spaces, yards, or setbacks; or otherwise establish more 

restrictive regulations than are imposed or required by any other law, 

title, ordinance, code, or regulation, the provisions of this Plan shall 

govern. Where this Plan is silent, other applicable development 

standards or regulations shall govern. 

7.3.2 Clarification of Ambiguity 

If ambiguity arises concerning the appropriate classification of a 

particular use within the meaning and intent of this Specific Plan, or if 

ambiguity exists with respect to matters of height, yard requirements, 

area requirements, or District boundaries as set forth herein, it shall be 

the duty of the Administrator, subject to appeal to the Planning 

Commission, to ascertain all pertinent facts and interpret the 

applicability of the provisions of this Plan. 

7.3.3 Use Determination 

Upon request regarding whether a use is allowed within a particular 

zone of the WDSP, the Administrator, subject to appeal to the Planning 

Commission, shall provide a written determination as to whether the 

use in question is substantially similar in characteristics, intensity, and 

compatibility to a use or uses permitted within the zoning district for 

the property. 

7.3.4 General Interpretation 

A. The word “shall” is mandatory and not discretionary. The words 

“should” and “may” are permissive and discretionary. 

B. In case of any difference of meaning or implication between the text 

of any provision and any caption or illustration, the text shall 

control. 

C. The word “used” shall include arranged, designed, constructed, 

altered, converted, rented, leased, occupied, or intended to be 

utilized.

363



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-6 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

7.4 Nonconforming Uses and Structures 

7.4.1 Purpose 

This section is intended to limit the number and extent of 

nonconforming uses by regulating their enlargement, their 

reestablishment after abandonment, and the alteration or restoration 

after destruction of the structures they occupy. This section is also 

intended to limit the number and extent of nonconforming structures 

by prohibiting their being moved, altered, or enlarged in a manner that 

would increase the discrepancy between existing conditions and the 

standards prescribed in this Plan.  

7.4.2 Regulation 

Nonconforming uses shall be regulated consistent with Chapter 18.68 of 

the Zoning Code and the standards addressed in this section.  

7.4.3 Continuation and Maintenance 

A. A use lawfully occupying a structure or a site that does not conform 

with the use regulations or the development standards for the zone 

in which the use is located shall be deemed to be a nonconforming 

use and may be continued, except as otherwise limited by Chapter 

18.68 of the Zoning Code and this section. 

B. A structure, lawfully occupying a site, that does not conform with 

the standards for front yard, side yards, rear yard, height, coverage, 

distances between structures, parking facilities, and other applicable 

development standards for the zone in which the structure is 

located, shall be deemed to be a nonconforming structure and may 

be used and maintained, except as otherwise limited by Chapter 

18.68 of the Zoning Code and this section. 

C. Buildings under construction shall not be required to modify the 

plans, construction, or designated use of any building upon which 

construction was lawfully begun prior to the effective date of this 

ordinance. 

7.4.4 Alteration and Additions to Nonconforming 

Uses and Structures 

No nonconforming structure shall be altered or reconstructed so as to 

increase the discrepancy between existing conditions and the standards 

for front yard, side yards, rear yard, height of structures, distances 

between structures, parking facilities, and other applicable development 

standards as prescribed for the zone in which the structure is located, 

as addressed in Section 18.68 of the Zoning Code. 

364



7.4 Nonconforming Uses and Structures 

October 2023 Page 7-7 

7.4.5 Discontinuation of Nonconforming Use 

Whenever a nonconforming use has been discontinued for a continuous 

period of 180 days or more, all applicable regulations of the WDSP and 

the Zoning Code apply. 

7.4.6 Restoration of a Damaged Structure 

A. Whenever a structure which does not comply with the standards 

for front yard, side yards, rear yard, height of structures, distances 

between structures, parking facilities, and other applicable standards 

as prescribed in the regulations for the zone in which the structure 

is located, or the use of which does not conform with the 

regulations for the zone in which it is located, is destroyed by fire 

or another calamity, to the extent of fifty percent (50%) or less, the 

structure may be restored and the nonconforming use may be 

resumed, provided that the restoration is started within one year 

and diligently pursued to completion. When the destruction 

exceeds fifty percent (50%) or the structure is voluntarily razed or 

is required by law to be razed, the structure shall not be restored 

except in full conformity with the regulations for the zone in which 

it is located and the nonconforming use shall not be resumed. 

B. The extent of damage or partial destruction shall be based upon the 

ratio of the estimated cost of restoring the structure to its 

condition prior to such damage or partial destruction to the 

estimated cost of duplicating the entire structure as it existed prior 

to the damage. Estimates for this purpose shall be made by or shall 

be reviewed and approved by the Chief Building Official and shall be 

based on the minimum cost of construction in compliance with the 

Building Code. 

C. All applicable provisions of State law relating to rebuilding 

nonconforming residences, including multifamily dwellings damaged or 

destroyed by fire, shall supersede local requirements, including the 

City shall not enact or enforce any ordinance, regulation, or 

resolution that would prohibit the reconstruction, restoration, or 

rebuilding of a multifamily dwelling that is involuntarily damaged or 

destroyed by fire, other catastrophic event, or another calamity. 

D. Permits 

7.4.7 Site Plan and Architectural Review 

A. Purpose 

Site Plan and Architectural Review is required to ensure that the 

function, character, and appearance of the physical environment are 

consistent with the goals, objectives, policies, and standards of this 

Specific Plan.  

365



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-8 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

B. Applicability 

Site Plan and Architectural Review approval shall be required prior 

to issuance of a building permit, certificate of occupancy, business 

license, grading permit, or utility service connection for the 

following: 

1. Commercial and Mixed-Use Zones (DC, HC, WC, 

DMU, MSMU) and Historic Residential Zone (HR). For 

projects or purposes that include demolition, new construction, 

or construction changes substantially affecting the exterior 

appearance of the building as viewed from a public right-of-way 

or circulation to the site, signs, and changes or intensification in 

use, occupancy, or tenancy of an existing building or portion of 

a building. Demolition requests shall follow the procedures in 

Appendix A of this Specific Plan. 

2. Other zones. For all projects, except individual single-family 

residences not a part of a proposed subdivision or development 

project that involve new construction or exterior alterations, 

additions, and signs. 

3. Exceptions: 

a. Multi-family housing projects that qualify for streamlined 

approval under State law (excluding projects within historic 

or landmark districts), including development projects with 

up to two primary units, qualifying lot splits, or at least two-

thirds of the square footage of the development shall be 

designated for residential use. 

b. Affordable housing project that qualify under State density 

bonus laws, if such standards would have the effect of 

physically precluding the construction of that project at the 

densities or with the concessions or incentives allowed by 

State density bonus laws, unless failure to apply the standard 

would result in one or more specific adverse impacts on 

public health or safety or the physical environment, and there 

is no other feasible method to mitigate the adverse 

impact(s).Infill developments as follows: 

i. Horizontal or vertical additions equivalent to 50 percent 

or less for buildings with less than 1,000 square feet of 

existing gross floor area; 

ii. Horizontal or vertical additions equivalent to less than 25 

percent for buildings with 1,000 to 10,000 square feet of 

existing gross floor area; 

366



7.4 Nonconforming Uses and Structures 

October 2023 Page 7-9 

iii. Horizontal or vertical additions equivalent to less than 15 

percent for buildings with more than 10,000 square feet 

of existing gross floor area. 

C. Procedure 

Site Plan and Architectural Review shall consist of the procedures 

described in Chapter 18.76 of the Zoning Code. 

1. Renewal. The Administrator may renew Site Plan and 

Architectural Review approval for a period of one year upon 

determining that the original findings made remain valid. 

Request for renewal shall be made in writing at least thirty (30) 

days prior to expiration. 

2. Changed Plans. The Administrator or the Administrator’s 

designee, or the Planning Commission, as the case may be, may 

approve changes to approved plans or Conditions of Approval 

upon determining that the changes in conditions are minor and 

are consistent with the intent of the original approval. Revisions 

involving substantial changes in project design or conditions of 

approval shall be treated as new applications.  

3. Alternative Development and Design Standards. 

Alternative approaches to the development and design 

standards (Chapter 6) shall be identified by the applicant and 

shall be reviewed during the site plan and architectural review 

process. Approval of deviations to development and design 

standards may be permitted, if the applicant can demonstrate 

that the deviation(s) would still accomplish the intent of the 

Specific Plan standards to the same degree or better. The 

applicant must request a Minor Specific Plan Amendment, 

accompanied by adequate justification for the proposed changes 

in accordance with the procedures for Minor Specific Plan 

Amendments described in Section 7.3.4. 

D. Appeals 

1. Rights of Appeal and Review. Site Plan and Architectural 

Review decisions of the Administrator may be appealed by any 

interested party to the Planning Commission. Planning 

Commission decisions may be appealed to the City Council, in 

accordance with the standards for appeals, addressed in 

Chapter 18.84 of the Zoning Code. 

367



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-10 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

7.4.8 Planned Unit Development (PUD) Permit 

A. Purpose 

1. To provide for development of parcels greater than two acres 

in land area, designated for a mix of residential and/or 

commercial uses. The specific location, layout, design, and 

phasing of these zones may be determined through this process. 

2. To allow a flexible approach to the application of development 

standards, where a higher quality of design, amenity, and 

community environment would result. The PUD Permit 

procedure is not intended as a means to circumvent the 

application of normal and appropriate development standards. 

3. To encourage variety and avoid monotony in large 

developments by allowing greater freedom in selecting the 

means to provide access, light, open space, and amenity. 

B. Application and Procedure for Approvals and Amendments 

Application for and the process for approving and amending PUD 

Permits shall be as described in Chapter 18.72 of the Zoning Code. 

7.4.9 Administrative Review and Conditional Use 

Permits 

A. Purpose 

1. Administrative Review. Administrative review is required to 

verify that an intended use or structure complies with the 

allowed list of activities, all applicable development standards, 

and does not negatively impact adjoining properties and/or the 

surrounding area. Administrative review applications may be 

reviewed and approved by the Administrator or their designee, 

without requiring a public hearing or noticing within the area 

for which the use will be located.  

2. Conditional Use Permits. Conditional use permits are 

required for uses typically having unusual site development 

features or operating characteristics requiring special 

consideration so that they may be designed, located, and 

operated compatibly with uses on adjoining properties and in 

the surrounding area. Such uses may be consistent with the 

purpose of a particular land use zone but the characteristics 

stated above might preclude their compatibility in every location 

within a zone. Use Permits provide the flexibility to allow such 

uses where appropriate, while disallowing those uses where 

conflict with surrounding uses or the purposes of the zone 

would occur. 

368



7.4 Nonconforming Uses and Structures 

October 2023 Page 7-11 

3. Exceptions: 

a. Multi-family housing projects that qualify for streamlined 

approval under State law, including development projects 

with up to two primary units, qualifying lot splits, or at least 

two-thirds of the square footage of the development shall be 

designated for residential use. 

b. Affordable housing project that qualify under State density 

bonus laws, if such standards would have the effect of 

physically precluding the construction of that project at the 

densities or with the concessions or incentives allowed by 

State density bonus laws, unless failure to apply the standard 

would result in one or more specific adverse impacts on 

public health or safety or the physical environment, and there 

is no other feasible method to mitigate the adverse impact(s). 

B. Applicability 

When required by the zoning district in which the use or structure is 

located, administrative review clearance or a conditional use permit, as 

the case may be, is required prior to the commencement of 

construction or use.  

C. Regulation 

Upon request regarding whether a use is allowed within a particular 

WDSP zone, the Administrator, subject to appeal to the Planning 

Commission, shall provide a written determination as to whether the 

use in question is substantially similar in characteristics, density, 

intensity, and compatibility to a use or uses permitted within the zoning 

district for the property and whether the use is permitted, requires 

administrative review, conditionally permitted, or disallowed within the 

zone. 

Application for and the process for administrative review and 

conditional use permits shall be as follows.  

1. Administrative Review 

Application for administrative review shall be made in writing on 

a form prescribed by the Development Services Department 

and shall be accompanied by plans and elevations, site plans, and 

relevant data required to grant the application. The 

Administrator or their designee shall review all applicable 

information and within thirty (30) days of receiving all relevant 

information, decide whether the proposed structure or use 

meets all applicable standards of the Specific Plan and other 

relevant City standards.  

369



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-12 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

The Administrator shall make one of the following 

determinations: 

a. Approve the application upon determination that the 

project complies with all applicable standards of the Specific 

Plan and relevant City standards. Public hearings are not 

required for administrative review applications unless the 

decision of the Administrator or their designee is appealed.   

b. Deny the application if it is determined that the project will 

not comply with all applicable standards of the Specific Plan 

and relevant city standards. However, prior to denying the 

application, the Administrator shall provide the applicant an 

opportunity to modify or correct the application to bring 

the project into conformance with applicable City 

standards. 

c. Request further information, as may be needed to make the 

determination to approve or deny the application.  

2. Conditional Use Permits 

Application for and the process for conditional use permits shall 

refer to the standards in Chapter 18.73 of the Zoning Code and 

standards in this section. In approving a Conditional Use Permit, 

the Planning Commission may impose reasonable conditions 

necessary to satisfy the findings, identified in subsection D, 

below. 

D. Findings Required to Grant 

1. Administrative Review 

Administrative review applications shall be subject to the 

following findings: 

a. That the proposed location of the use is consistent with the 

goals, objectives, and policies of this Plan, the General Plan, 

and the purposes of the zone in which the site is located. 

b. That the proposed use is similar in character, intensity, and 

compatible with other uses permitted within the zoning 

district for the property. 

2. Conditional Use Permits 

Conditional use permits shall be subject to the findings in 

Section 18.73.080 of the Zoning Code. 

370



7.4 Nonconforming Uses and Structures 

October 2023 Page 7-13 

7.4.10 Temporary Use Permit 

A Temporary Use Permit, authorizing certain temporary use 

classifications, shall be subject to the provisions in Section 18.73.120 of 

the Zoning Code. 

7.4.11 Variances and Exceptions 

A. Purpose 

1. Variances 

Variances are intended to resolve practical difficulties or 

unnecessary physical hardships that may result from the size, shape, 

or dimensions of a site or the location of existing structures 

thereon; from geographic, topographic, or other physical conditions 

on the site or the immediate vicinity or from street locations or 

traffic conditions in the immediate vicinity of the site. Cost or 

inconvenience to the applicant of strict compliance with a regulation 

shall not, in and of itself, constitute sufficient reason for granting a 

variance. 

Variances may be granted with respect to fences, walls, landscaping, 

screening, site area, site dimensions, yards, height of structures, 

courts, distances between structures, open space, signs, off-street 

parking, and off-street loading standards. 

2. Exceptions 

Due to the unique conditions of design and construction in the HR 

and HC district, where structures were sometimes built close to lot 

lines, densities are mixed, and parcel configurations have changed 

over the years, it is sometimes in the public interest to provide for a 

higher quality of design and/or enhance the historic character of the 

neighborhood by making an exception to normal setback, parking, 

landscaping, fencing, and screening requirements, where such an 

exception does not interfere with the public health or safety. 

Exceptions may be made within the HR and HC districts for the 

same purposes as a variance, but where the strict findings of a 

variance cannot be made. 

Exceptions may also be permitted for parking requirements.  

B. Application and Authority to Grant 

Application for and the process for variances and exceptions, shall 

refer to Chapter 18.80 of the Zoning Code and the standards in this 

section. 

The Administrator shall have the authority to grant Variances and 

Exceptions, subject to appeal to the Planning Commission by any 

371



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-14 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

person or persons affected by the variance or exception, except 

that Planning Commission approval is required for all major 

construction, enlargement, additions, improvements, alterations, 

and removal in the HR or HC districts that exceed 500 square feet. 

Refer to Appendix A of the Specific Plan for demolition and review 

procedures in the HR and HC zones. In no case, shall a Variance or 

Exception be granted, which allows a use of land or buildings not 

permitted in the district in which the subject property is located.  

C. Public Noticing and Hearings 

The process for public noticing and hearings for Variances and 

Exceptions shall be as addressed in Section 18.80 of the Zoning 

Code. Additionally, notices shall be provided to all property owners 

within 600 feet of the property, which is the subject of the 

application.  

D. Findings Required to Grant 

1. Variances 

Variances shall be subject to the findings in Section 18.80.020 of the 

City Zoning Code. 

2. Exceptions 

a. Exceptions to development standards in the HR and HC 

zone shall be subject to the criteria provided in Appendix A 

of the Specific Plan. 

b. Exceptions to parking standards may be permitted, as 

specified in Section 6.5.4 of the Specific Plan. 

E. Conditions of Approval 

In approving a Variance or Exception, the Administrator or Planning 

Commission, as the case may be, may impose reasonable conditions 

necessary to:  

1. Achieve the general purpose of the Specific Plan or the specific 

purposes of the zoning district in which the site is located.  

2. Protect the public health, safety, and general welfare.  

3. Ensure operation and maintenance of the use in a manner 

compatible with existing and potential uses on adjoining 

properties in the surrounding area. 

372



7.5 Approval to Extend with the Land 

October 2023 Page 7-15 

7.5 Approval to Extend with the Land 

7.5.1 Approvals 

Except where otherwise specified by the approving authority, approvals 

of all discretionary permits governed by this Plan shall extend with land.  

7.5.2 Lapse of Approvals 

Approvals for Site Plan/Architectural Review, Conditional Use Permit, 

Variances, and minor deviations shall lapse and become void twelve (12) 

months from the approval date, unless a different expiration date is 

specifically established as a Condition of Approval. Such approvals shall 

not lapse if any of the following actions occur prior to twelve (12) 

months from project approval or as extended, subject to Section 7.7.3: 

A. A building permit is issued in accordance with the approved 

entitlement and construction is commenced and diligently pursued 

toward completion; or, 

B. The use addressed under the approved Use Permit has commenced; 

or, 

C. A certificate of occupancy for the use or improvement addressed 

under the entitlement is issued. 

7.5.3 Extensions 

An extension may be issued for project approvals described in the 

previous sections. The Administrator may only extend approvals 

originally granted by the Administrator. The Planning Commission may 

only extend approvals originally granted by the Planning Commission.  

An extension may be granted for twelve (12) months and shall not 

exceed a total of two (2) years from the original date of approval. All 

requests for extensions should be filed with the Planning Division sixty 

(60) days prior to the expiration date.  

The Administrator or Planning Commission may extend the approval of 

a project if they find that there have been no significant changes in the 

goals, objectives, policies and regulations of this Specific Plan, or 

character of the area within which the project is located, that would 

cause the approved project to become inconsistent or nonconforming.  

The granting of an extension should not be detrimental to the public 

health, safety or welfare, or materially injurious to properties or 

improvements in the vicinity. 

373



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-16 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

7.6 Hearings 

Public hearings shall be held for the purpose of considering public 

testimony regarding the granting of various permits and actions as 

specified by this Chapter and as required by State law. The Planning 

Commission and/or City Council may, from time to time, determine 

that a public hearing is necessary or desirable even when not specifically 

required and may set the time and place for such hearing to occur. 

7.6.1 Notice of Hearing 

The Planning Division shall cause notice of the time and place of the 

public hearing on the project to be given at least ten (10) days in 

advance of the public hearing or as required by the current Zoning 

Ordinance requirement.  

7.6.2 Other Notice Requirements 

Notices required by this section shall be in addition to any other or 

different notice required by other provisions of this Code or by State 

law, provided, however, that nothing therein shall require separate 

notices to be given if the same notice will satisfy the requirements of 

this Section and any other application section of this Code or State law. 

7.6.3 Continuance of Hearings 

Any public hearing may be continued from time to time by the body or 

official conducting the hearing, subject to limitations provided by law, 

and in such case no further notice need be given. 

7.7 Enforcement 

Enforcement of this Plan shall be subject to the enforcement standards 

for the Zoning Code, addressed in Chapter 18.86, “Administration and 

Enforcement” of the Zoning Code. 

7.8 Appeals 

Appeals shall be subject to the standards in the City Zoning Code, 

Chapter 18.76, “Appeals.” 

7.9 Severability 

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this Plan is for 

any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional, such decision shall not 

affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Plan. The Council 

hereby declares that it would have passed this Plan and each section, 

subsection, sentence, clauses, or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact 

that any one or more section, subsection, sentence, clauses, or phrases 

has been declared invalid or unconstitutional, and if for any reason this 

374



7.9 Severability 

October 2023 Page 7-17 

Plan should be declared invalid or unconstitutional, then the remaining 

provisions shall be in full force and effect. 

  

375



Chapter 7 | Specific Plan Administration 

Page 7-18 Waterfront District Specific Plan 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

376



377



378



379



380



381



 

 

 

 
 
  

 

City of Suisun Parking In-lieu 
Fee 
Analysis for the Waterfront District Specific Plan 
 
 
City of Suisun City 
 
 
  
  
 
 
October 2023 
 

DRAFT  

382



City of Suisun Parking In-lieu Fee DRAFT   
   

 

 
Prepared for:  City of Suisun City  
 

AECOM 
 

 

 

Prepared for: 
City of Suisun City 
Development Services Department  
 

Prepared by: 
AECOM 
2020 L Street, Suite 300 
Sacramento, CA 95811 
T: +1 (213) 593 8100 
F: +1 (213) 593 8178 
aecom.com 
 

  
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

383



City of Suisun Parking In-lieu Fee DRAFT   
   

 

 
Prepared for:  City of Suisun City  
 

AECOM 
 

 

Table of Contents 

1. Executive Summary .....................................................................................4 
2. Introduction ...................................................................................................4 
The Waterfront District Specific Plan ............................................................................................................ 5 
City Parking Goals ........................................................................................................................................ 7 
3. Methodology .................................................................................................7 
4. Analysis ........................................................................................................8 
Parking Demand ........................................................................................................................................... 8 
Costs of Development ................................................................................................................................. 13 
Additional Considerations ........................................................................................................................... 15 
5. Conclusion ................................................................................................. 16 
Appendix A .......................................................................................................... 17 
A.1 Existing In-lieu Fees in Comparable Jurisdictions ......................................................................... 17 
 

Figures 
Figure 1: City of Suisun City Waterfront Specific Plan Land Use Map ......................................................... 6 
Figure 2: Parking Demand by Land Use by Time of Day ............................................................................ 12 
 

Tables 
Table 1: New Land Use Assumptions for Specific Plan Area – Maximum Development Scenario .............. 9 
Table 2: Anticipated Non-Residential Development Converted to Non-Residential Land Use Types ........ 10 
Table 3: Waterfront District Specific Plan Off-Street Parking Requirements .............................................. 11 
Table 4: Parking Demand Rates for Weekday and Weekend by Land Use ............................................... 11 
Table 5: Seasonally and Temporally Adjusted Demand by Land Use......................................................... 12 
Table 6: Net New Parking Demand by Land Use at Specific Plan Buildout ............................................... 13 
Table 7: Comparable Parking Structures .................................................................................................... 13 
Table 8: Pro Forma Parking Structure Construction Costs ......................................................................... 14 
 

384



City of Suisun Parking In-lieu Fee DRAFT   
   

 

 
Prepared for:  City of Suisun City   
 

AECOM 
4 

 

1. Executive Summary 
AECOM carried out a parking in-lieu fee study to estimate the potential costs of providing off-street 
parking for residents and businesses in the City of Suisun City Waterfront District Specific Plan (Specific 
Plan) area through an in-lieu fee instead of providing parking on-site.  

Parking in-lieu fees offer an alternative to meeting parking requirements where providing required on-site 
parking would be expensive, would be challenging based on site or design constraints, or where 
excessive surface parking would impede economic development or walkability objectives. This study 
adapts the parking requirements in the Specific Plan and the City’s parking ordinances to address the 
demand estimate by land use, adjusted by time and season, to meet the need through a shared parking 
strategy.  

Public parking facilities or structures can allow for shared use among various land uses, where fewer 
spaces are needed to meet parking demand. Shared parking strategies have been used by many cities in 
California to advance their environmental and economic goals, and a range of fees have been 
established to reflect these jurisdictions’ policy goals and financial resources. Once a new development 
has been built or planned, collected parking in-lieu fees can help fund the public parking structure needed 
to meet collective demand or contribute towards funding for multimodal alternatives to driving and 
parking, such as pedestrian, bicycle, and transit-related improvements.  

Both a survey of recently built parking facilities in nearby jurisdictions and a pro forma construction cost 
estimate indicate that the price of building a single new parking space in a centralized parking structure is 
approximately $34,000, including all hard and soft costs of development. The City could set fees at a 
level that is equivalent to construction costs, at a level sufficient to also cover land acquisition and 
maintenance, or at a level that is lower than construction costs in order to encourage participation. 

2. Introduction 
The City of Suisun City (City) is planning for increased infill development through the implementation of 
the Waterfront District Specific Plan (Specific Plan). The Specific Plan describes the City’s long-term 
vision to increase housing, retail, and employment opportunities, and maximize access to regional 
commuter rail access. At buildout, the planned housing, retail, and office growth in the Specific Plan Area 
will increase demand for parking options beyond the existing capacity. The Specific Plan proposes 
policies and strategies to encourage a walkable, compact development pattern.  

To complement the Specific Plan’s focus on economic development and fiscal sustainability through 
compact, mixed-use infill development, the City is exploring a shared parking strategy and multimodal 
alternative funding strategy. Specifically, a shared public parking strategy that could be financed through 
the collection of in-lieu parking fees that allow developers to pay into a fund rather than provide required 
parking on-site. This would allow visitors to leave their vehicle at a centralized shared parking facility while 
visiting multiple destinations either by alternative methods such as by foot or bicycle. The multimodal 
alternative funding strategy could include targeting funds for specific pedestrian, bicycle, and transit 
improvements to encourage alternatives to vehicle use. This could include contributing towards 
revitalizing the Suisun City train depot, repairing or improving sidewalks, integrating safe and accessible 
pedestrian connections, incorporating landscaping on existing pathways, adding bicycle or scooter 
parking, expanding existing bicycle routes, etc. Both strategies are consistent with the long-term vision 
and goals of the Specific Plan Area.  

Several cities have adopted ordinances that allow parking in-lieu fees to be utilized for alternatives to 
building parking. The City of Healdsburg established a deposit account to be used for alternative 

385



City of Suisun Parking In-lieu Fee DRAFT   
   

 

 
Prepared for:  City of Suisun City   
 

AECOM 
5 

 

transportation projects, including bicycle and pedestrian improvements, that may reduce demand for 
parking downtown by providing alternatives to driving downtown. The City of Santa Monica collects funds 
in a dedicated Downtown Parking Fund which can be used to finance trip reduction strategies, including, 
but not limited to, improvement to parking utilization rates by means of improved wayfinding, signage, 
information systems, management, and circulation and access. 

This memo assesses key elements of a parking in-lieu fee program as an option for managing and 
growing downtown parking supply by providing insights regarding forecasted parking demand and 
development costs and provide recommendations to support fee estimation. This approach addresses 
parking in-lieu fees specific to the Waterfront District Specific Plan Area (Specific Plan Area).  

The Waterfront District Specific Plan 
The Waterfront District Specific Plan (previously called the "Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan"). as 
adopted by the City in 1983 and comprehensively amended in 1999 and 2016. The 1979 Suisun City 
General Plan called for special treatment of the historic downtown and waterfront through the preparation 
and adoption of a Specific Plan for Old Town and waterfront areas. The 2035 General Plan update also 
provided specific direction for development, transportation, design, recreation, and resource conservation 
within the Specific Plan Area. In 2020, the City received grant funding through the State's SB 2 Planning 
Grant program to update the Specific Plan and conduct other technical and community outreach work 
with the goal of accelerating housing production. 

386



City of Suisun Parking In-lieu Fee DRAFT   
   

 

 
Prepared for:  City of Suisun City   
 

AECOM 
6 

 

Figure 1: City of Suisun City Waterfront Specific Plan Land Use Map 

 

 

 

387



City of Suisun Parking In-lieu Fee DRAFT   
   

 

 
Prepared for:  City of Suisun City   
 

AECOM 
7 

 

The Specific Plan describes the City's long-term vision to strategically develop vacant, underutilized, and 
infill properties in the downtown area; promote a vibrant downtown that provides both daytime and 
nighttime activities to attract visitors; and ensure safe and efficient walking, biking, driving, and parking in 
the downtown. The Specific Plan outlines the requirements for new development within the Specific 
Planning Area to provide parking based on the standards provided in Section 6.4.3 (Parking Standards). 
For commercial and mixed-use development south of SR 12, the Specific Plan proposes on-site parking 
through a combination of surface parking lots, parking garages, and garages below podium-level decks. 
However, to address parking requirements that cannot be met through on-site or shared parking, the 
Specific Plan allows for payment of a fee in-lieu of actual development of the required parking. This fee, to 
be determined by the resolution of the City Council, would be equivalent to the estimated cost of land 
acquisition and development of one off-street surface parking space. The in-lieu fee would be charged for 
each required parking space that cannot be otherwise provided for the proposed use. The evaluation of a 
parking in-lieu fee suitable for the Specific Plan considers options for structured parking and surface lots 
only, as well as necessary access improvements and improvements to encourage alternatives to vehicle 
use. 

City Parking Goals 
The City recognizes the significance of addressing parking challenges associated with new development, 
particularly residential development and affordable housing projects. The City's long-term vision of 
strategically developing vacant, underutilized, and infill land throughout the City, especially in the 
downtown area, aligns with the goal of promoting a vibrant downtown that attracts visitors with daytime 
and nighttime activities. However, this planned growth in housing, retail, and office spaces within the 
Specific Plan Area will increase the demand for parking options beyond the existing capacity. By 
leveraging the 2016 Parking Study findings and recommendations and considering the specific parking 
demands associated with different land uses and time periods, the City can develop a comprehensive 
parking in-lieu fee structure that offers viable alternatives for new development. 

A parking in-lieu fee could serve many potential objectives for the City’s Specific Plan, including: 

• Funding the construction of parking spaces to meet the demand of new development in the Specific 
Plan Area. 

• Funding alternative modes of transportation. 

• Providing flexibility to developers to meet City requirements, building standards, and financial goals. 

• Furthering economic development goals by encouraging visitors to park once in a central location 
and visit several destinations per trip in the Specific Plan Area. 

3. Methodology 
The methodology for this analysis includes a review of existing relevant parking strategies, an 
assessment of parking demand and supply in the Specific Plan Area, a cost estimation for new parking 
facilities, and the calculation of in-lieu fees for the land uses proposed in the Specific Plan Area.   

To estimate the potential in-lieu fee for future development in the Specific Plan Area, AECOM developed a 
pro forma analysis to estimate the hard and soft costs required to build a multi-level parking structure and 
allocate costs per parking space. The parking in-lieu fee estimate builds off the analysis and 
recommendations provided in the Parking Study Memorandum drafted in 2016 by AECOM. The authors 
concluded that the planned housing, retail, and office growth in the Specific Plan Area will increase 
demand for parking options beyond the existing capacity. The parking study presented the results of a 
shared parking analysis that considers opportunities to reduce total parking requirements by leveraging 
the varying time-of-day and seasonal parking demand periods of different land uses. The study projected 
future demand by assessing the seasonal and temporal needs of the various land uses in the Specific 
Plan and calculating the total demand for the Specific Plan Area. 

388



City of Suisun Parking In-lieu Fee DRAFT   
   

 

 
Prepared for:  City of Suisun City   
 

AECOM 
8 

 

The analysis was conducted to determine the proportion of expenses that can be allocated to new 
development to achieve a fair distribution of parking improvement costs based on the parking demand 
each land use generates. This analysis considered existing land uses within the Specific Plan Area, 
resulting in the establishment of an equitable cost allocation model. To evaluate the potential impact of 
removing certain parking spaces during the buildout of the Specific Plan, an assessment of the current 
public parking supply was also conducted. This included a summary of on-site and adjacent on-street 
parking availability in the Specific Plan Area. The total existing parking supply provides a baseline for 
future planning and identifies any potential gaps that need to be addressed. This information is critical for 
evaluating the impact of removing certain public parking spaces during the buildout of the Specific Plan. 
Moreover, the City's assumption regarding the proportion of new development utilizing the parking in-lieu 
option was examined. This analysis informed the development of an allocation model for the new 
development parking in-lieu proportional fee by land use. 

To ensure the long-term viability of the parking in-lieu fee program, appropriate indices for annual fee rate 
escalation were identified. Consideration was given to factors such as inflation and market trends to 
establish an index that reflects the changing economic conditions and supports sustainable funding for 
future parking improvements. 

4. Analysis 
The relationship between land use, parking requirements, and parking in-lieu fees is shaped by local 
regulations and policies. Municipalities establish guidelines that anticipate parking needs by different land 
uses, establish minimum requirements to meet these needs, and outline when and how in-lieu fees can 
replace the physical provision of parkin on-site. The specific criteria for determining the fees, such as the 
size and location of the development, expected parking demand, or the availability of alternative parking 
nearby, can vary across jurisdictions. The collected fees are typically directed towards funding 
transportation infrastructure improvements including parking structures, public transit enhancements, or 
other mobility-related initiatives.  

Parking in-lieu fees are beneficial in areas with higher development densities, where space is limited, and 
land-efficient development is crucial. In such areas, strict parking requirements may not align with the 
goals of promoting compact development or prioritizing pedestrian-friendly environments. The availability 
of alternative transportation options, such as public transit, cycling infrastructure, or ride-sharing services, 
can influence the application of parking in-lieu fees, as well. If a development is located in an area well-
served by transit or with high walkability, developers may be more inclined to opt for reduced parking and 
pay the fees instead, recognizing that residents or visitors can rely on alternative modes of transportation. 
Parking fees can also facilitate parking strategies that include the development of a shared public parking 
structure in a central location that will allow residents, employees, and visitors to park once and visit 
several businesses in a commercial district. The shared parking structure can increase the volume of 
pedestrians and decrease traffic of visitors circulating the district looking for parking.  

Parking Demand 
The City anticipates new residential, commercial, and mixed-use development under the revised Specific 
Plan and much of this new development could potentially benefit from shared parking within the Specific 
Plan Area. Table 1 shows the total new development assumptions under the updated Specific Plan based 
on a maximum development scenario. This maximum development scenario is intended to illustrate the 
high end of possible development and associated parking demand that could exist for the Specific Plan 
Area at buildout.  

 

 

389



City of Suisun Parking In-lieu Fee DRAFT   
   

 

 
Prepared for:  City of Suisun City   
 

AECOM 
9 

 

Table 1: New Land Use Assumptions for Specific Plan Area – Maximum Development Scenario  

Land Use 
New Dwelling 

Units 
(sq ft) 

New 
Population 

(person) 

New Non-
Residential 

(sq ft) 

New 
Employment 

(person) 
Commercial and Higher-Density 
Residential Mixed Use 1,780 3,251 443,286 615 
Commercial Recreation 0 0 12,000 15 
Historic Commercial 0 0 20,264 25 
Main Street Commercial 127 254 354,632 644 
Residential Medium-Density and 
Commercial Recreation 65 176 56,213 69 
Mixed Use 91 183 228,545 415 
Residential High Density 166 332 228,545 0 
Residential Low Density 211 501 -25,294 -25 
Residential Medium Density 107 267 0 0 
Waterfront Commercial 100 199 207,446 376 
Total 2,647 5,163 1,297,092 2,134 
Notes: sq ft = square feet. The land use types presented above in this table describe the mix and amount of anticipated land 
use change under the revised Specific Plan – the names of the land use types are similar to, but district from the Zoning 
District names in the Specific Plan.  
Source: City of Suisun City, AECOM 

 

At build out, under this maximum development scenario, new development within the Specific Plan Area 
could result in up to 2,647 new dwelling units and up to 1.3 million square feet of additional non-
residential space (retail, restaurant, and office) that would accommodate up to 5,200 new residents and 
up to 2,100 new employees within the Specific Plan Area.  

The non-residential land uses were sorted into different non-residential development types (retail, 
restaurant, and office) for the purpose of analysis of maximum parking demand, including estimates of 
seasonal and time of day fluctuations to this demand. Table 2 shows the breakdown of non-residential 
development into retail, restaurant, and office space, estimated at build out under this maximum 
development scenario. Of the up to 1.3 million square feet of new non-residential space that could be 
added within the Specific Plan Area, approximately 635,000 is assumed to be retail space, 260,000 is 
assumed to be restaurant space, and 402,000 is assumed to be office space for the purpose of this 
analysis of maximum parking demand. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

390



City of Suisun Parking In-lieu Fee DRAFT   
   

 

 
Prepared for:  City of Suisun City   
 

AECOM 
10 

 

Table 2: Anticipated Non-Residential Development Converted to Non-Residential Land Use Types 

New Land Use Retail Sq 
Ft 

Restaurant Sq 
Ft 

Office Sq 
Ft 

Commercial and Higher-Density Residential Mixed 
Use 314,733 128,553 0 
Commercial Recreation 6,000 6,000 0 
Historic Commercial 6,890 6,687 6,687 
Main Street Commercial 124,121 53,195 177,316 
Residential Medium-Density and Commercial 
Recreation 56,213 0 0 
Mixed-Use 79,991 34,282 114,273 
Residential High Density 0 0 0 
Residential Low Density -25,294 0 0 
Residential Medium Density 0 0 0 
Waterfront Commercial 72,606 31,117 103,723 
Total 635,260 259,834 401,999 

Note: sq ft = square feet 
Source: City of Suisun City, AECOM 

The Specific Plan establishes minimum parking requirements for various land uses. Existing structures 
are only required to maintain the off-street parking spaces that were originally mandated at the time of 
construction, addition, or substantial modification. Any new floor area added to existing structures or 
construction of new structures after the plan's effective date must comply with the off-street parking 
provisions outlined in the Specific Plan. For multi-family residential, developers are required to provide 1 
space per unit for studio and one-bedroom units, 1.5 spaces for units of two or more bedrooms, and one 
additional guest space for every 5 units. Parking within the one-quarter mile radius of the Suisun City train 
depot will be waived. All commercial land uses are required to provide approximately 1 space for every 
300 gross square feet. 

The minimum number of off-street parking spaces varies for each land use, as summarized in Table 3, 
and for uses not listed, the Specific Plan refers to the City Zoning Code.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

391



City of Suisun Parking In-lieu Fee DRAFT   
   

 

 
Prepared for:  City of Suisun City   
 

AECOM 
11 

 

Table 3: Waterfront District Specific Plan Off-Street Parking Requirements 

Land Use Minimum Number of Parking Spaces Required 
RESIDENTIAL LAND USES 
Single-Family Residential 1 covered space and 1 uncovered space 
Multi-Family Residential   

Studio 1 space per unit 
One-Bedroom 1 space per unit 
Two+ Bedrooms 1.5 space per unit  

Guest Spaces 
1 space per 5 unit, except that on-street parking may be substituted 
for visitor parking where sufficient on-street parking space is 
provided on the street adjacent to the development 

NON-RESIDENTIAL LAND USES 
Hotel/Motel 1 space per room 

Commercial or Public Use 

Refer to parking requirement in the City Zoning Code, except that 
the minimum off-street parking spaces shall not be greater than 1 
space per 300 gross square feet. Proposed buildings of less than 
5,000 square feet with adjacent on-street parking shall not be 
required to provide any off-street parking. 

Notes: 
(1) For developments containing five or more units, up to 35% of the required uncovered spaces may 
be compact car spaces 
(2) On-street parking spaces adjacent to the property street frontage may be used to satisfy required 
off-street parking requirements 

Source: City of Suisun City Waterfront District Specific Plan 2023.  
 

While the Specific Plan details parking requirements for each land use, previous studies have adopted a 
more nuanced approach to estimate the parking need according to the time of day, day of the week, and 
season of the year. These temporal and seasonal demand estimates lay the foundation for shared 
parking strategies that would allow the City to match the demand generated by land uses in the Specific 
Plan Area without building unnecessary parking that would raise the cost of development and hinder other 
policy goals (such as the economic development goals of the Specific Plan and the City’s General Plan). 
The AECOM Parking Study, produced in 2016, builds off previous work of Wilbur Smith Associates to 
produce the base demand estimates in Table 4. 

Table 4: Parking Demand Rates for Weekday and Weekend by Land Use 

Land Use Weekday Demand Weekend Demand Unit 
Retail 1 2.88 4.03 space/1,000 sq ft 
Restaurant 1 6.38 6.38 space/1,000 sq ft 
Office 1 2.97 0.3 space/1,000 sq ft 
Hotel 2 1.25 1.08 space/room 
Theater 1 0.25 0.25 space/seat 
Higher-Density Residential 3 1.16 1.16 space/unit 
1 Wilbur Smith Associates, Suisun City Downtown Parking Study – Final Report 
2 Urban Land Institute, Shared Parking, Second Edition 
3 AECOM 2016 (weighted average of 3 Districts studied in 2016 report) 

 

392



City of Suisun Parking In-lieu Fee DRAFT   
   

 

 
Prepared for:  City of Suisun City   
 

AECOM 
12 

 

AECOM refined these base demand estimates by factoring in the busiest months and times of day for 
each land use under consideration. Land uses also require parking at different times of the day, and it is 
the differences in these peak demand periods that allow parking supply to be shared among various uses 
within a parking district. Figure 2 illustrates the parking demand curves for the four land uses analyzed in 
this study. As shown, residential uses achieve peak demand from nighttime to early morning when 
residents are at home. Then, parking demand for these uses declines as people drive their cars to work, 
school, and other daily tasks. The opposite is shown for the non-residential uses where parking demand 
increases from morning through early evening. Office demand peaks while employees are at work; 
restaurant demand peaks during lunch and dinner mealtimes; retail demand is high from midday to 
evening when stores are open.  

Figure 2: Parking Demand by Land Use by Time of Day 

 

Based on considerations of demand during various seasons, days of the week, and time of day, AECOM 
developed a refined parking demand scenario that lowered the parking demand from the base scenario 
by approximately 20 to 25 percent per land use category. The final estimates of parking demand bay land 
use are shown in Table 5. The impact of the seasonal and temporal demand adjustments lowers the 
parking requirements to 1 space for every 527 sq ft of retail, 164 sq ft of restaurant, and 409 sq ft of office 
space. 

Table 5: Seasonally and Temporally Adjusted Demand by Land Use 

Land Use Parking Space Demand 
Retail 1 Space for every 527 sq ft 

Restaurant 1 Space for every 164 sq ft 

Office 1 Space for every 409 sq ft 

Higher Density Residential  1 Space for every unit 
Note: sq ft = square feet 
Source: City of Suisun City, AECOM 

Based on the parking demand estimated in Table 5, full buildout of the maximum development scenario 
evaluated in this study, new development would generate peak parking demand for approximately 5,511 
new parking spaces within the Specific Plan Area. If growth were consistent from 2023 through 2035, this 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

6:
00

7:
00

8:
00

9:
00

10
:0

0

11
:0

0

12
:0

0

1:
00

2:
00

3:
00

4:
00

5:
00

6:
00

7:
00

8:
00

9:
00

10
:0

0

11
:0

0

12
:0

0

Pa
rk

in
g 

D
em

an
d

Time of Day

Retail

Restaurant

Office

Higher-Density Res. -
Residents

393



City of Suisun Parking In-lieu Fee DRAFT   
   

 

 
Prepared for:  City of Suisun City   
 

AECOM 
13 

 

results in the average annual demand for 424 net new parking spaces. Table 6 shows the allocation of 
demand across the four land uses. 

Table 6: Net New Parking Demand by Land Use at Specific Plan Buildout 

Land Use 

Net New Sq 
Ft (Units) 

Sq Ft (Unit) / 
Space 

Average Annual 
Spaces Total Spaces 

Retail 635,260 527 93 1,206 

Restaurant 259,834 164 122 1,583 

Office 401,999 409 76 984 

Higher Density Residential  2,647 1.5 134 1,738 

Total   424 5,511 

Note: sq ft = square feet 
Source: City of Suisun City, AECOM 

Additional Parking Demand Considering Historic Growth Rates 
As established in the 2035 General Plan, the 2016 Waterfront District Specific Plan, and the 2023 update 
to the Waterfront District Specific Plan, the City is seeking to facilitate and encourage mixed-use 
development, particularly within the Specific Plan Area. While the maximum buildout scenario could 
produce many fiscal, economic, environmental, and social benefits for the City, this scenario would also 
represent a departure from historic growth rates.  

Assuming the Specific Plan Area captures all of citywide growth in retail and residential use, and that the 
Specific Plan builds out consistent with historic growth trends between present and 2035, rather than the 
5,511 parking spaces under the maximum buildout scenario, there could be instead the need for 134 
additional parking spaces for office development, 607 spaces for restaurant/retail development, and 112 
additional spaces for residential development, for a total new parking demand of 853 additional parking 
spaces.  

Cost of Parking Structure 
To estimate the probable costs associated with the construction of a shared parking structure to be built 
(in part or in whole) through the collection of in-lieu fees, AECOM took two approaches. The first compiles 
data from recently constructed public parking structures from neighboring jurisdictions and cities with Bay 
Area Regional Transit (BART) transportation centers. The construction costs are normalized to 2023 
$USD using the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) Consumer Price Index (CPI) for the San Francisco 
Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA). Table 7 shows the size (number of spaces) and cost (2023 $USD per 
parking space) for 16 parking structures built in the region. The average size for parking structures in the 
sample is 805 spaces, ranging from 178 spaces to 1,547. The average cost per space in the sample is 
$34,189, ranging from $26,740 to $53,778. The cost varies based on location and building type, with 
structures built below grade or on complicated terrains costing more to construct than those built above 
grade. 

Table 7: Comparable Parking Structures 

Parking Structure Spaces 
Cost/ Space (2023 
$USD) 

San Leonardo Municipal 380 $28,565 

Federal Facility SF 377 $30,615 

East Bay Community College 900 $33,587 

Jack London AMTRAK 1,086 $41,221 

Fruitvale BRT 506 $32,585 

394



City of Suisun Parking In-lieu Fee DRAFT   
   

 

 
Prepared for:  City of Suisun City   
 

AECOM 
14 

 

Richmond BRT 678 $53,778 

Hayward City Hall 178 $27,017 

Hayward Cinema Place 244 $40,545 

Fairfield Transportation Center 400 $28,340 

Livermore Valley P&R 502 $27,979 

Dublin/Pleasanton BART 1,513 $38,142 

West Dublin/Pleasanton 1,180 $27,948 

Pleasant Hill BART 1,547 $45,508 

Fairfield Center Expansion 1,200 $34,351 

Vallejo Station 1,300 $26,740 

Solano County Center 1,050 $30,098 

Average 815 $34,189 
Source: Walker Parking Consultants, Metropolitan Transportation Commission,  
City of Vallejo, Clark Construction, BLS, AECOM 
 

AECOM also estimated the costs to build a new parking structure in the City through a pro forma analysis 
that models the inputs typically associated with new construction. These inputs include direct costs 
(materials and labor), indirect costs (design, planning, legal), and financing costs. Table 8 shows the key 
inputs and assumptions used in the proforma analysis. Based on a representative sample of parking 
structures built in neighboring jurisdictions, the prototype parking structure contains 5 stories with 1,200 
spaces on 2 acres of land. Cost estimates include space for ingress/egress, circulation, elevators, and 
stairwells. The complete structure would cost approximately $41 million or $34,173 per parking space. 
This estimate is remarkably similar to the average costs associated with the sample structures in Table 7. 

Table 8: Pro Forma Parking Structure Construction Costs 

Project Overview     
Site Area     

In AC 2   
In Sq Ft 87,120   

Building Area     
Spaces 1,200   
Sq Ft/Space 325   
Gross Sq FT 390,000   

Direct Costs    
On-Site Improvements $1.0 per site sf $87,120 
Building Hard Costs $69 per gross sf $26,795,843 
Contractor Fees 18% of all hard costs $4,838,933 
Hard Cost Contingency 5% of all other direct costs $241,947 
Total Direct Costs   $31,963,843 
Indirect Costs     
A&E 5% of all direct costs $1,438,373 
Legal, Insurance, Warranty 3% of all direct costs $958,915 
G&A 1% of all other indirect costs $23,973 
Developer Fee 4.5% of all direct costs $1,438,373 
Soft Cost Contingency 5% of all other indirect costs $192,982 
Total Indirect Costs 10% of all total costs $4,052,616 

395



City of Suisun Parking In-lieu Fee DRAFT   
   

 

 
Prepared for:  City of Suisun City   
 

AECOM 
15 

 

Financing Costs1     
Loan Amount   $21,609,875 
Loan Fees   $432,198 
Construction Period Interest   $831,149 
Total Financing Costs   $1,263,347 
Total Costs     
Total Costs (excl. developer return and land) $37,279,805 
Developer Return on Cost 10% of all total costs $3,727,981 
Total Development Costs   $41,007,786 

Value per gross sq ft   $105  
Value per space   $34,173  

1 Financing Assumptions: 60% LTC, 2% Fee, 5% Interest, 18 months construction) 

Source: RS Means, AECOM 

The estimated cost for a new parking space in a parking structure from both a representative sample and 
proforma analysis are both approximately $34,200. This figure should serve as the baseline costs from 
which the City derives its in-lieu fee in light of additional considerations and policy objectives. 

Additional Considerations 
Jurisdictions can adjust this amount up or down according to a tailored parking strategy designed to meet 
particular goals. Options for a parking in-lieu fee include: 

A. Charge the equivalent to the costs of construction. This strategy requires that 
developments pay pro-rata fees that are directly related to the cost of off-street parking. 
Developments that could more easily provide surface parking on-site (based on preference, 
design, or lower floor area ratio [FAR]) would opt out of the fee program.  

B. Charge to cover construction, land acquisition, and maintenance. This strategy requires 
developers to pay above the equivalent costs of construction to also cover a portion or all of 
the costs of land acquisition and property maintenance. The fee would take into consideration 
the additional costs of collecting fees, administering funds, overseeing construction, and 
carrying out routine maintenance of parking structures.  

C. Charge below the equivalent costs of construction. This strategy sets the fee below the 
equivalent costs of construction in order to encourage widespread participation in the 
program. The lowering of the fee would require the availability of additional sources of 
funding/revenues, such a public subsidy, land donation, partnership with another agency, or 
the ability to charge for parking for a portion of the total spaces or during certain times of the 
day or week. The fee could rise gradually as development reaches buildout or subsidies 
wane. 

The fee should be tied to the appropriate construction cost index (discussed below) to rise or fall over 
time with the costs of construction. 

Beyond the costs of the initial construction, a number of additional considerations could impact the 
assessment of a parking in-lieu fee, including the cost of maintenance, land for development, and cost 
escalations over time. 

Over time, the City will need to cover the costs of maintenance of the shared parking structure. These 
costs vary contingent on the development type, building materials, location, and use. Routine 
maintenance costs and eventual replacement of building materials will be required. Some jurisdictions 
require an annual maintenance credit be paid to cover these costs, while others cover repairs through 

396



City of Suisun Parking In-lieu Fee DRAFT   
   

 

 
Prepared for:  City of Suisun City   
 

AECOM 
16 

 

public funds or district taxes. The City could also consider charging a fee for drivers wishing to use the 
shared parking structure to help offset construction, maintenance, and operational costs.  

The most effective shared parking strategies would develop parking structures in a central location that 
best serves the businesses and residences that opted to pay the fee rather than develop on-site parking. 
The 2016 AECOM Parking Study identifies several potential vacant and underutilized lots in the Specific 
Plan Area that could serve as the location for future shared parking developments. The City must acquire 
the land necessary to build the shared parking structures. If no public land is readily available and the City 
does not plan on funding land acquisition costs through other means, the in-lieu fee could include the 
costs of buying land. AECOM survey recent land sales transactions (2021-2023) both within the City and 
within a 5-mile radius of the center of the Specific Plan Area. The average sales price was approximately 
$16 per square foot of vacant land. If the cost of land were incorporate into the proforma table in Table 8, 
this would indicate an additional $1,161 per parking space. 

Construction costs rose notably in the years impacted by pandemic-related economic downturn, rising by 
approximately 11.5 percent in 2021 and 12.8% in 2022, according to CBRE.1 While construction costs are 
expected to normalize in 2023, yearly escalations must still be accounted for in the design of an impactful 
in-lieu fee.  

While the in-lieu fee could be scaled up over time to account for these escalations, the future costs of 
materials and labor are unknown, and recent historical events show that year over year costs can 
increase dramatically for a number of unpredictable reasons. There are a number of cost indices to which 
the City could peg the in-lieu fee to assure future fees can cover future costs of development. The fee 
should be revisited and updated annually to this end. There are a number of private and public resources 
to estimate construction cost escalations. Paid services such as RS Means and the Engineering News 
Record Construction Cost Index are reliable sources of construction cost data.  

5. Conclusion 
The amount of potential new development envisioned in the Specific Plan suggests the potential need for 
structured parking options and viable alternatives to vehicle transportation in the long-term. However, 
developing structured parking is expensive, and can be especially problematic in a small downtown 
environment like Suisun City where many small users contribute to a cumulatively large parking demand. 
It may be an option for some large future development projects to provide their own structured parking 
options within the planning area. For example, a new hotel, multi-story office, or residential project may be 
able to finance structured parking with designated spaces for project tenants and possible excess supply 
for public parking users. However, for the majority of future projects in the study area, independent 
construction of structured parking will not be an option. The City could establish some type of benefit 
district and collect fees with new development to fund the future construction of centralized structured 
parking. The City could also allow collected in-lieu fees to fund alternatives to the construction of parking, 
such as pedestrian, bicycle, and transit improvements to encourage non-vehicle use in the Specific Plan 
Area.  

The estimated cost for a new parking space in a parking structure from both a representative sample and 
proforma analysis are both approximately $34,200. While some parking strategies encourage lowering 
the in-lieu fee below the projected cost to encourage developers to participate in shared parking 
programs, others inflate the costs to cover administrative and maintenance costs that will be incurred 
through the collection of fees, financing of development, and administering the shared parking structure. 
Parking in the City to date is entirely surface parking, for which costs are well below that of structured 
parking. Nonetheless, the compact, walkable urban core envisioned in the Specific Plan requires higher 
density development without sprawling parking lots. The City should evaluate options, including whether 
to scale the in-lieu fee up or down, consistent with goals of the General Plan and Specific Plan. 

 
1 https://www.cbre.com/insights/books/us-real-estate-market-outlook-2023/construction-costs 

397



City of Suisun Parking In-lieu Fee DRAFT   
   

 

 
Prepared for:  City of Suisun City   
 

AECOM 
17 

 

Appendix A  
A.1  Existing In-lieu Fees in Comparable Jurisdictions 
The following table includes a summary of in-lieu fees from selected cities through California. 

Jurisdiction In-lieu Fee 
Beverly Hills $49,967 

Healdsburg $47,834 

Davis $10,630 

Emeryville $99,655 

Hermosa Beach $39,198 

Huntington Beach $36,341 

Millbrae $18,913 

Mountain View $34,547 

Palo Alto $89,158 

Pismo Beach $47,834 

San Luis Obispo $22,684 

Ventura $32,481 

Walnut Creek $35,261 

 

 
 
 
  

398



City of Suisun Parking In-lieu Fee DRAFT   
   

 

 
Prepared for:  City of Suisun City   
 

AECOM 
18 

 

 
 

  
 
aecom.com   
  

399



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City of Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and 
Recommendations 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared for: Suisun City, California 
  
July 2021 
 
 

 

 

 

 

   

400



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City of Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

 

 

 

Prepared for: 
Suisun City, California 

 
 

Prepared by: 
AECOM 

2020 L Street, Suite 400 
Sacramento, CA 95811 

 
 

401



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 i 

 

Contents 

1. Introduction ...............................................................................................................................................1-1 
1.1 Key Findings ..........................................................................................................................................1-1 
1.2 Background ............................................................................................................................................1-1 
1.3 Purpose .................................................................................................................................................1-2 
1.4 Methodology ..........................................................................................................................................1-2 

2. Existing Conditions ...................................................................................................................................2-1 
2.1 Location and Access ..............................................................................................................................2-1 

 Site Characteristics ..................................................................................................................... 2-1 
 Previous Development Capacity Estimates ................................................................................ 2-2 

3. Socio-Economic Trends ............................................................................................................................3-1 
3.1 Population ..............................................................................................................................................3-1 

 Historical Trends ......................................................................................................................... 3-1 
 Growth Forecasts ........................................................................................................................ 3-1 

3.2 Employment and Income .......................................................................................................................3-2 
 Suisun City Jobs in Place ............................................................................................................ 3-2 
 Jobs to Households Ratio ........................................................................................................... 3-3 
 Regional Employment Concentrations ........................................................................................ 3-4 
 Suisun City Commute Patterns ................................................................................................... 3-6 
 Incomes ...................................................................................................................................... 3-7 

3.3 Socio-Economic Trends Summary .........................................................................................................3-7 
4. Residential Market Opportunity .................................................................................................................4-1 

 Inventory and Historic Trends ..................................................................................................... 4-1 
 Home Ownership ........................................................................................................................ 4-3 
 Single-Family Market Indicators .................................................................................................. 4-4 
 Multifamily Market Indicators ....................................................................................................... 4-6 
 Recent Development Trends and Considerations ....................................................................... 4-8 
 Recommended Higher-Density Residential Prototypes ............................................................ 4-11 

4.2 Residential Opportunities Summary .................................................................................................... 4-12 
4.3 Example Multifamily Development Concept  with Parcel Assembly ..................................................... 4-13 

5. Limitations .................................................................................................................................................5-1 
 

 
  

402



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 ii 

 

Tables  

Table 1. Previous Development Capacity Estimates ............................................................................................ 2-2 
Table 2. Population Trends and Household Growth 2010-2021 ........................................................................... 3-1 
Table 3. Population and Housing Unit Forecast 2020-2050 ................................................................................. 3-2 
Table 4. Suisun City Employment by NAICS Sector (201) ................................................................................... 3-3 
Table 5. Historical Suisun City Employment Inflow/Outflow and Day Population .................................................. 3-6 
Table 6. Where Workers Who Live in Suisun City Work, 2018 ............................................................................. 3-7 
Table 7. Household Incomes (2019) ..................................................................................................................... 3-7 
Table 8. Historical Housing Inventory – Total Housing Units ................................................................................ 4-1 
Table 9. Historical Housing Inventory – Single Family Residential ....................................................................... 4-2 
Table 10. Historical Housing Inventory – Multifamily (5-units or more) ................................................................. 4-2 
Table 11. Historical Composition of Multifamily Housing ...................................................................................... 4-3 
Table 12. Recent Multifamily Projects in Solano County ...................................................................................... 4-8 
Table 13. Income Needed to Support Average Rents in Solano County ............................................................... 4-9 
Table 14. Income Supporting Home Ownership in Suisun City .......................................................................... 4-10 
Table 14. Homeownership Breakeven Horizon .................................................................................................. 4-10 
Table 15. Proposed Solano County RHNA Allocations ....................................................................................... 4-11 

 

Figures  
Figure 1. Solano County and Suisun City ............................................................................................................ 1-3 
Figure 2: Waterfront District Specific Plan Area ................................................................................................... 1-4 
Figure 3. WDSP Planning Districts ....................................................................................................................... 2-3 
Figure 4.  Jobs to Households Ratios .................................................................................................................. 3-5 
Figure 5. Age of Housing Stock ............................................................................................................................ 4-3 
Figure 6. Tenure of Occupied Units ...................................................................................................................... 4-4 
Figure 7. Nominal Median Single-Family Home Value ......................................................................................... 4-5 
Figure 8. Nominal Median Home Value (Condo and Co-Op Only) ....................................................................... 4-5 
Figure 9. Multifamily Residential (MFR) Market-rate Rent Trends (Per Square Foot) .......................................... 4-6 
Figure 10. Multifamily Rent Trends (Per Unit) ...................................................................................................... 4-7 
Figure 11. Multifamily Vacancy Trends ................................................................................................................. 4-7 
Figure 12. Multifamily Market Capitalization Rate ................................................................................................ 4-8 
Figure 13. Recent Multifamily Projects in Solano County ................................................................................... 4-12 
 
 
 
 
 
 

403



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 1 

 

 

404



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 1-1 

 

1. Introduction 
1.1 Key Findings 
There is opportunity for additional housing development, including multifamily housing development in Downtown 
Suisun City. This area has many of the amenities sought by multifamily developers and residents, including parks and 
open space, nearby retail and services, and public transit.  

Plan Bay Area 2050 has identified critical manufacturing and light-industrial clusters as official Priority Production 
Areas that have significant operations or have potential to increase or add to their employment and production output. 
There are three Priority Production Areas within immediate vicinity of Suisun City that could affect residential demand 
in Suisun City and create local career pathways for youth and current residents. 

Significant increases in rents signal strong market support for additional multi-famiily development. Over the last 10 
years, the average rent per square foot for multifamily units increased in Suisun City by 70 percent, compared to 49 
percent for Fairfield and 44 percent for Solano County as a whole. On per-unit basis, multifamily rents increased by 
63 percent since 2011. Capitalization rates have been on a downward trend, as well, further signaling market support 
for multifamily housing in Suisun City.  

The size, shape, location, and ownership characteristics of certain properties, and the allowable densities may 
represent an impediment to housing development in some locations within the Waterfront District Specific Plan Area. 
While there are many properties, including both vacant and underutilized properties, of sufficient size to 
accommodate multifamily developments, in other cases, property assembly and coordination among different 
property owners may be required to support feasible multifamily development. At the end of this report, we present a 
conceptual plan for multifamily development that could occur in the northwestern portion of the Specific Plan Area, if 
properties could be assembled.  

Finally, regarding density, the existing Specific Plan allows densities of up to 45 dwelling units per gross acre or 54 
dwelling units per net acre. This is sufficient for lower-scale multifamily residential development with surface parking, 
but for higher-density multifamily development with underground parking, 50-60 units per acre is likely the minimum 
range that could suppport relatively more expensive types of construction.  

1.2 Background 
The Waterfront District Specific Plan (WDSP) was adopted by Suisun City in 1983 (it was previously called the 
“Downtown Waterfront Specific Plan”). The actual Specific Plan document indicates that the “creation of a specific 
plan for this WDSP Area (Planning Area) was proposed as an implementation action in the 1979 Suisun City General 
Plan, which called for special treatment of the historic downtown and waterfront through preparation and adoption of 
a Specific Plan for Old Town and the waterfront.” The General Plan was comprehensively revised in 2015 and 
establishes an updated set of policies, guidelines, and standards that impact urban development and quality of life. 
Throughout this memo “Planning Area”, “WDSP Area”, “Downtown Suisun City”, and “Downtown” are used 
interchangeably.  

In 2008, the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC), Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG, and 
other regional partners (regional agencies), launched the Priority Development Area (PDA) grant program. PDAs are 
nominated and adopted by cities or counties to facilitate growth and infill development near fixed transportation 
facilities. Suisun City harnessed the Suisun Train Depot as a Downtown asset and nominated the WDSP Planning 
Area as a PDA, officially becoming one in 2008. PDAs are opportunity areas in any of the nine ABAG counties that 
are designed to provide housing, community amenities, and services for residents in a pedestrian-friendly, transit-rich 
environment. 

In 2014, the City received grant funding from the Solano Transportation Authority to prepare an update to the WDSP 
– that update was also an implementation program in the City’s 2035 General Plan. The update addressed the 
Planning Area, which expands on the previous Specific Plan boundaries to include the properties north of Highway 12 

405



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 1-2 

 

– at the northwest corner of Marina Boulevard and Highway 12 and the properties between Main Street and Highway 
12, including the “Denverton Curve” property in the northwest of the Planning Area. The expanded WDSP boundary 
allowed the City to better leverage the assets of the Suisun Train Depot to encourage infill development and establish 
a gateway entrance into the Planning Area on both sides of Highway 12. 

In 2020, the City received grant funding through the State’s SB 2 Planning Grant program to update the WDSP and 
conduct other technical and community outreach work to accelerate the production of housing.  

1.3 Purpose 
The purpose of this study is to evaluate the state of the housing market in and the residential development potential 
of the Planning Area. The key findings from this memo will inform decisionmakers about what level and types of 
development are reasonable to expect in Downtown Suisun City. The 2035 General Plan and WDSP both include a 
Higher-Density Residential (HDR) land use zone designation along with several mixed-use and complementary land 
use designations that allow for residential development at higher densities and in proximity to public transit and high-
quality pedestrian and bicycle facilities.  

Rising housing costs in urban centers and near major employment centers in the Bay Area have made these 
communities increasingly unaffordable. In previous decades, these market conditions pushed housing demand 
inland, where the availability of land was able to accommodate new single-family residential development and low-
density multifamily development. Over the last two decades, there has been growing support for, and interest in 
higher-density residential projects across California as a solution to deal with the state’s housing crisis.  

The momentum for higher-density residential development has extended to communities such as Suisun City, and 
the City has identified areas like Downtown Suisun City as appropriate for accommodating residential development at 
densities that are higher than those of its previous development patterns. At the same time, the Suisun Train Depot is 
recognized as an asset for both Suisun City and the city of Fairfield. The WDSP specifically aims to capture the 
potential of that asset by positioning the train station as the centerpiece of a vibrant mixed-use and intermodal 
neighborhood.  

This study evaluates market fundamentals and other conditions that can have an influence on development, providing 
an understanding of the potential market support for residential development.  

1.4 Methodology 
AECOM prepared an assessment of existing conditions in the WDSP Area, socioeconomic trends and data, and 
market conditions underlying the residential market opportunity in Downtown Suisun City. Facilitating higher-density 
residential development is identified as a part of the WDSP’s Vision, and facilitating residential development in the 
Downtown area will promote the Specific Plan Vision and Goals for a vibrant Downtown; both daytime and nighttime 
activities; convenient and attractive shopping, services, and employment; additional dining, entertainment, hospitality, 
and tourism; a place that attracts businesses, diners, and shoppers; and strengthened economic viability.1  

The assessment draws upon findings and underlying data presented in several prior documents, including the City of 
Suisun City’s 2035 General Plan and the Waterfront District Specific Plan (WDSP). Additional data was obtained from 
sources including the U.S. Census Bureau, the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Longitudinal Employer-Household 
Dynamics (LEHD), CoStar, Zillow, the California Department of Finance, and the Association of Bay Area 
Governments (ABAG). 

The primary geographic unit of focus for potential infill development and reinvestment is the WDSP Area. Although 
the Specific Plan Area is distinct from the rest of Suisun City in both its issues and its assets, many data sources do 
not make available such granular detail of a relatively small geography. When and where data permits, information on 
Suisun City will be compared to other geographies, namely Solano County as a whole, and at times three 
jurisdictions that are important to the micro-regional economy of Suisun City. This includes neighboring city of 
Fairfield, nearby Vacaville, and Vallejo. 

 
1 Please see the Waterfront District Specific Plan, Pages 1-5 through 1-12, for more details. 

406



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 1-3 

 

Figure 1. Solano County and Suisun City 

 
Source: City of Suisun City Waterfront District Specific Plan 

 

407



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 1-4 

 

Figure 2: Waterfront District Specific Plan Area 

 
Source:  City of Suisun City Waterfront District Specific Plan

 

408



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 2-1 

 

2. Existing Conditions 
AECOM analyzed the neighborhood characteristics, access, and residential development capacity under current 
conditions and land use designations. These attributes frame the development context of Downtown Suisun City in 
relation to citywide and regional growth and mobility. Opportunity sites are also identified where higher-density 
residential development is allowed but has not yet occurred.  

2.1 Location and Access 
Suisun City is in central Solano County, midway between the cities of Sacramento and San Francisco (Figure 1). The 
City is bounded by the city of Fairfield to the north and west, Travis Air Force Base to the east, and Suisun Marsh to 
the south. The City is adjacent to and bisected by State Highway 12, a vital trucking route and is approximately two 
miles east of Interstate 80. Suisun Slough, a major tidal waterway, connects Suisun City to Suisun Bay and provides 
access to water sports, recreation, boating, fishing, and bird watching. The adjoining Suisun Marsh is the largest 
brackish estuary west of the Mississippi River and borders the south and east sides of the City’s Planning Area. The 
Planning Area straddles both sides of Highway 12 and is located southeast of the Union Pacific Railway tracks and 
west of the Suisun Channel and Marina Boulevard (Figure 2).  

The WDSP Area is in the southeastern edge of the City’s Planning Area. State Highway 12 cuts through the northern 
portion of the Planning Area, providing direct access to Downtown Suisun City and connecting it with the western 
portions of the city of Fairfield and I-80 to the west.  

The WDSP boasts two additional regional transportation facilities. The Suisun Train Depot serves as the Suisun-
Fairfield stop on the Capitol Corridor regional passenger rail service. The Capitol Corridor has 17 stops on its run 
from the Sacramento region to San Jose and is the fourth busiest route in the Amtrak system in terms of ridership. 
The Train Depot’s location in Downtown Suisun City is a true asset that represents a key potential driver for 
development within the WDSP Area due to its connections to several major cities and their services, employment 
opportunities, talent pools, and institutions across northern California. The other regional connector is the Suisun 
Slough, which offers access to estuaries, wildlife areas, and rivers on the way to the San Pablo and San Francisco 
Bays. 

These regional connections provide high-quality access to employment centers, shopping, and recreational activities. 
The WDSP Area—located at the conflux of these connections—is well positioned to take advantage of their benefits. 
This is potentially a major draw for those seeking housing within commuting distance to employment and urban 
amenities.  

Locally, Main Street, Civic Center Drive, and Marina Boulevard serve as the north-south spines that help to organize 
the WDSP’s circulation and connections to other parts of the city. Cordelia Street provides east-west access to the 
southern portion of the Planning Area and an alternative connection to the city of Fairfield’s western neighborhoods. 

 Site Characteristics 
According to the Waterfront District Specific Plan Vision, “The WDSP Area draws on the area’s unique mix of 
characteristics–a recreational waterfront, a historic main street, well-preserved residential historic architecture, 
established neighborhoods, direct highway access, regional commuter rail service, a rich natural environment, and a 
location that is in the path of regional growth.”  

The Specific Plan Area encompasses eight districts, each with their own character, history, and types and levels of 
development. 

The Downtown Core (District 3) and Historic Suisun (District 4) are comprised of older diverse building stock, an 
intimately-scaled street grid, and small lot sizes that together preserve their historic charm. These two districts are 
peppered with small vacant properties, parking lots, and properties with low utilization that represent promising 

409



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 2-2 

 

opportunity sites for infill development. Much larger potential opportunity sites can be found around the Train Depot 
(District 2) and Western Marina Boulevard and Highway 12 (District 1), where large swaths of unimproved land, 
parking lots, and larger contiguous properties of underutilized land seem ripe for development.  

The WDSP identifies waterfront development opportunities on the Southern Waterfront (District 7) on the site of a 
parking lot and underutilized boating-related uses as well as a development opportunity area to the east of Suisun 
Slough in Civic Center/Whispering Bay Waterfront. Cordelia Gateway (District 6) and the Harbor Village/Victorian 
Harbor Neighborhood (District 5) are mostly composed of single-family residential blocks that were designated in the 
Specific Plan as areas of stability that are unlikely to see high levels of redevelopment. 

 Previous Development Capacity Estimates  
Based on existing land use designations from the Suisun City 2035 General Plan and the Waterfront District Specific 
Plan adopted in 1983 and updated in 2016, AECOM previously estimated the additional residential development 
capacity within the WDSP Planning Area to be approximately 1,215 units, as shown in Table 1. These additional units 
would be spread across the eight districts according to estimated site capacity, previously identified market trends, 
and density guidelines per individual zone and district.  

Figure 3 illustrates the existing Specific Plan’s development capacity estimates, including areas that are likely to have 
sites that can support higher-density residential development. Potential site issues that may prevent, slow, or 
otherwise complicate the development of higher-density residential units on these opportunity sites include:  

• small or irregularly configured lots that may make it difficult to efficiently build the types of residential units 
demanded by the market, while achieving desired higher densities;  

• sites that may require some sort of remediation;  

• site availability, site acquisition, and site assembly that can be expensive, unpredictable, and time-
consuming; and  

• environmental impacts or permitting requirements for development opportunities on the City’s edges and 
waterfronts. 

 

Table 1. Previous Development Capacity Estimates  

LAND SUE CHANGE BY DISTRICT 

District Number and Name 

New Development   

# Units Population Jobs Sq. Ft.  

1 Western Marina and Highway 197  345  938  763,039  

2 Suisun-Fairfield Train Station 286  572  294  217,429  

3 Downtown Core 257  515  1,239  686,312  

4 Historic Suisun 83  209  11  9,360  

5 Harbor Village/Victorian Harbor Neighborhood 50  136  0  0  

6 Cordelia Gateway 82  183  0  0  

7 Southern Waterfront 94  188  366  206,052  

8 Civic Center/Whispering Bay Waterfront  166  451  43  30,918  

  Total Specific Plan Area 1,215  2,599  2,891  1,913,110  

Source: City of Suisun City, AECOM 
  

 

  

410



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 2-3 

 

Figure 3. Waterfront District Specific Plan Planning Districts 

 
Source: AECOM 
 

411



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 3-1 

 

3. Socio-Economic Trends 
AECOM analyzed the demographic and socio-economic trends and forecasts. These estimates and projections are 
key inputs of the current and future demand for residential development and employment. 

3.1 Population 
 Historical Trends 

Suisun City is a small contributor to both the populations of Solano County and the Bay Area Region, as shown in 
Table 2. On a population basis, Suisun’s 28,838 residents (as of 2021) made up 6.7 percent of Solano County.  

Suisun City shows a positive annual percentage population growth rate of 0.25 percent in for the 10-year period 
between 2010-2021, which is less than half the growth rate for Solano County as a whole. For the same time period, 
the cities of Fairfield and Vacaville grew three to four times as much as Suisun City.  

The rate of growth for Suisun City has also slowed over the last ten years, with its five-year growth rate dips just 
below zero and the three-year growth rate measured a loss of 0.22 percent. This deceleration into negative 
population growth in Suisun City is a trend that also appears in data for Vallejo. All jurisdictions in Table 2 experienced 
slowing in population growth rates. However, only Suisun City and Vallejo recorded negative 3-year average annual 
growth rates.  

Table 2. Population Trends and Household Growth 2010-2021 

HISTORICAL POPULATION GROWTH 

 2010 2016 2018 2021 

Overall Growth Annual Percentage Grown Rate 

10 year 
2010-
2021 

5 year 
2016-
2021 

3 year 
2018-
2021 

10 year 
2010-
2021 

5 year 
2016-
2021 

3 year 
2018-
2021 

Suisun 
City 

28,067 28,860 29,033 28,838 771 -22 -195 0.25% (0.02%) (0.22%) 

Fairfield 102,832 110,521 113,423 115,748 12,916 5,227 2,325 1.14% 0.95% 0.68% 

Vacaville 84,406 88,810 90,869 92,647 8,241 3,837 1,778 0.89% 0.86% 0.65% 

Vallejo 114,279 116,536 116,753 116,148 1,869 -388 -605 0.15% (0.07%) (0.17%) 

Solano 
County 

400,892 419,071 425,499 428,962 28,070 9,891 3,463 0.64% 0.47% 0.27% 

Source: California Department of Finance 

 Growth Forecasts 
The Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) forecast indicates that the Suisun City will add 2,675 residents 
over the next 20 years. Table 3 shows that annual growth rate for Suisun City to be 0.63 percent, a slower rate than 
the 0.96 percent for Solano County as a whole.  

The development capacity estimate for the existing WDSP is 1,215 units and 2,599 new residents. While this is not 
expected to happen, theoretically, all of the forecast population for Suisun City identified by ABAG could be 
accommodated within the Specific Plan Area based on the previous Specific Plan’s development capacity estimate.   

412



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 3-2 

 

Table 3. Population and Housing Unit Forecast 2020-2050 

TOTAL POPULATION AND TOTAL HOUSING UNIT PROJECTIONS TO 2040 

 Projection Year Avg. Annual% Growth Rate 

Jurisdiction 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2020-30 2030-40 2020-40 

Suisun City         

Population 28,130 28,995 29,745 30,845 31,670 0.57% 0.65% 0.63% 

Single-Family Units 8,148 8,145 8,145 8,190 8,190 0.00% 0.06% 0.03% 

Multifamily Units 972 990 1,000 1,290 1,685 0.26% 6.85% 3.64% 

Total Units 9,120 9,135 9,145 9,480 9,875 0.03% 0.80% 0.41% 

         

Fairfield         

Population 106,815 111,485 119,980 122,010 126,900 1.23% 0.58% 0.94% 

Single-Family Units 26,900 27,215 28,745 29,510 30,680 0.69% 0.67% 0.70% 

Multifamily Units 7,755 7,985 8,170 8,210 8,500 0.54% 0.40% 0.48% 

Total Units 34,655 35,200 36,915 37,720 39,180 0.65% 0.61% 0.65% 

         

Vacaville         

Population 92,735 96,050 101,160 101,950 105,065 0,91% 0.39% 0.66% 

Single-Family Units 23,840 23,840 23,885 23,920 24,315 0.02% 0.18% 0.10% 

Multifamily Units 6,425 6,450 7,095 7,100 7,625 1.04% 0.75% 0.93% 

Total Units 30,265 30,290 30,980 31,020 31,940 0.24% 0.31% 0.28% 

         

Vallejo         

Population 122,225 125,140 128,625 132,215 139,160 0.52% 0.82% 0.69% 

Single-Family Units 28,870 28,870 29,015 29,930 31,360 0.05% 0.81% 0.43% 

Multifamily Units 13,165 13,410 13,635 13,755 14,335 0.36% 0.51% 0.44% 

Total Units 42,035 42,280 42,650 43,685 45,695 0.15% 0.71% 0.44% 

         

Solano County Total         

Population 428,305 449,890 470,495 486,840 510,660 0.99% 0.85% 0.96% 

Single-Family Units 111,500 114,575 116,335 121,325 126,885 0.43% 0.91% 0.69% 

Multifamily Units 33,450 31,160 35,385 35,905 38,190 0.58% 0.79% 0.71% 

Total Units 144,950 148,735 151,720 157,230 165,075 0.47% 0.88% 0.69% 

Source: ABAG Projections 2040, AECOM 

 

3.2 Employment and Income 
 Suisun City Jobs in Place 

The total number of jobs in place (primary jobs) in Suisun City had been decreasing annually since a few years 
before the Great Recession. The number of jobs continued on this downward trajectory until it bottomed out around 
2013 and has grown slowly since then to 2,903 jobs in 2018, as shown in Table 4.  

413



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 3-3 

 

A small number of industries account for most of the jobs in Suisun City. The top four industries for jobs in Suisun City 
in 2018 were construction, retail, education, and accommodation/food services, which collectively accounted for over 
62 percent of all primary jobs in the city. The employment profile of Suisun City residents is much more diverse than 
the jobs available in the City, indicating a gap between jobs of residents and jobs available locally. Only 3.5 percent of 
residents held primary jobs in Suisun City in 2018, with the vast majority of Suisun City residents commuting to other 
locations in the region for work. The top four industries for primary jobs of Suisun City residents in 2018 were 
healthcare and social assistance, retail, manufacturing, and accommodation/food service, and collectively accounted 
for approximately 45 percent of the residents’ jobs. 

Table 4. Suisun City Employment by NAICS Sector (201) 

SUISUN CITY HISTORICAL PRIMARY EMPLOYMENT (2008-2018) 

 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 

Total Primary Jobs in Suisun City 2,758 2,464 2,256 2,275 2,547 2,903 

       

Share of Total Primary Jobs by NAICS Industry Sector 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 

Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing and Hunting 0.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Mining, Quarrying, and Oil and Gas Extraction 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Utilities 0.0% 0.9% 0.5% 0.1% 0.0% 0.7% 

Construction 13.4% 8.3% 10.9% 10.8% 10.7% 22.2% 

Manufacturing 0.9% 1.7% 2.3% 1.3% 1.2% 1.3% 

Wholesale Trade 0.2% 2.2% 1.8% 0.7% 0.0% 1.3% 

Retail Trade 23.3% 17.1% 18.0% 17.3% 25.4% 16.4% 

Transportation and Warehousing 2.4% 3.4% 1.7% 1.2% 1.9% 2.2% 

Information 0.1% 0.2% 0.5% 0.7% 0.2% 0.1% 

Finance and Insurance 1.0% 4.8% 2.3% 1.8% 1.2% 0.6% 

Real Estate and Rental and Leasing 0.6% 0.9% 0.8% 1.0% 0.6% 1.3% 

Professional, Scientific, and Technical Services 3.6% 4.1% 4.6% 5.1% 3.7% 3.6% 

Management of Companies and Enterprises 0.3% 1.4% 1.1% 0.6% 0.0% 1.5% 

Administration & Support, Waste Management and 
Remediation 

3.9% 5.1% 4.9% 5.7% 4.0% 4.3% 

Educational Services 11.2% 11.6% 10.7% 10.8% 12.4% 11.6% 

Health Care and Social Assistance 12.6% 7.4% 6.6% 12.0% 11.7% 6.7% 

Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation 1.3% 0.2% 1.8% 2.1% 1.6% 0.2% 

Accommodation and Food Services 14.8% 16.5% 15.7% 17.7% 14.5% 12.0% 

Other Services (excluding Public Administration) 3.6% 8.7% 9.5% 2.8% 3.5% 8.4% 

Public Administration 6.5% 5.4% 6.2% 8.3% 7.4% 5.8% 

Total Primary Jobs 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

Source: LEHD 

 

 Jobs to Households Ratio 
The ratio of jobs to households in an area can indicate the degree to which it functions as a commuter community or 
as an employment center. Plan Bay Area 2050 has identified jobs-to-households ratios of incorporated cities 
throughout the nine-county Bay Area region, as illustrated in a map from that planning document provided in Figure 4. 
Suisun City had a ratio of less than 0.5 jobs for every household, which is the lowest of six tiers of jobs-to-housing 

414



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 3-4 

 

ratios identified. This indicates that Suisun City, relative to the Region, exports workers and functions primarily as a 
commuter community. Neighboring Fairfield and nearby Vacaville have higher ratios – between 1.0-1.5 jobs per 
household.  

 Regional Employment Concentrations 
Commuting patterns to and from Suisun City can also be explained by the City’s relationship to other regional job 
concentrations. These regional concentrations are somewhat related to the jobs-to-households ratios. Generally 
speaking, Marin, San Francisco, San Mateo, and Santa Clara Counties have more jobs than households, so it is not 
surprising that the major regional employment concentrations are located in these counties. The higher jobs-to-
households ratios depicted by the deeper colors in Figure 4 help to illustrate where some of these regional job 
clusters are located.  

The Suisun City workforce mainly migrates out of the City for work, with the mega-regional employment 
concentrations in San Francisco and Oakland being among the top job destinations. However, job concentrations 
within Solano County play an important role for Suisun City workers, as well. The cities of Fairfield and Vacaville 
account for more than 25 percent of the jobs held by Suisun City resident-commuters. The Sacramento area 
represents another regional employment concentration to which some Suisun residents commute. Commute patterns 
from Suisun City to these regional employment centers are discussed in further detail in a later section. 

415



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 3-5 

 

Figure 4.  Jobs to Households Ratios 

 
Source: Plan Bay Area 2050, May 26, 2021 DRAFT 
 

416



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 3-6 

 

3.2.3.1 Priority Production Areas 
Plan Bay Area 2050 has identified critical manufacturing and light-industrial clusters as official Priority Production 
Areas (PPA). Similar to Plan Bay Area 2050’s Priority Development Areas, PPAs either already have significant 
operations or have potential to increase or add to their employment and production output. There are Priority 
Production Areas just west of Downtown within the City’s Planning Area, just west of the City’s Planning area in 
Fairfield, and in the eastern portion of the City’s Planning Area. Additionally, a cluster of PPAs in Vacaville as well as 
PPAs in the East Bay will be within easy access of Downtown Suisun.  

Proximity to well-paid manufacturing and light industrial jobs can have an impact on residential demand in Suisun 
City, as well as create local career pathways for youth and current residents.  

3.2.3.2 Employment Inflows and Outflows 
Employment inflows and outflows further illustrate the dynamic of worker commutes to and from Suisun City. As 
shown in Table 5, in 2018, just 3.5 percent of Suisun’s workforce, totaling 447, stayed in Suisun City to work, while 
the remaining 96.5 percent, totaling 12,438, commuted out.  

People who live outside Suisun City and work in Suisun (in-commuters), totaling 2,044, occupied 83 percent of 
Suisun’s jobs. In 2018, this resulted in a net outflow of 9,982 and a day population at 19,051 that falls by 34 percent 
from the residential population of 29,033. This decline further illustrates Suisun City’s commuter suburb orientation.  

Table 5. Historical Suisun City Employment Inflow/Outflow and Day Population 

 2010 2014 2018 

Residential Population 28,532 28,532 29,033 

Suisun City Jobs in Place 2,464 2,275 2,903 

Labor Force 10,905 11,181 12,885 

Labor Force who work outside Suisun City 10,485 10,834 12,438 

Share of Labor Force 96.1% 96.9% 96.5% 

Labor Force who work inside Suisun City 420 347 447 

Share of Labor Force 3.9% 3.1% 3.5% 

Jobs in Place Filled by In-commuters 2,044 1,928 2,456 

Share of Jobs in Place 83% 85% 85% 

Net Inflow/Outflow -8,441 -8,906 -9,982 

Day Population 20,091 19,626 19,051 

Day Population increase/decrease as Share of Res. Pop. -30% -31% -34% 

Source: LEHD, California Department of Finance Population Estimates, US Census Bureau, AECOM 

 Suisun City Commute Patterns  
Job locations of the Suisun City workforce are distributed throughout Solano County and beyond, with significant 
portions of the workforce commuting to major employment centers throughout the Bay Area, as well as the Central 
Valley. The largest portion works in the neighboring city of Fairfield which accounts for nearly 20 percent of the Suisun 
City workers, followed by Vacaville, San Francisco, and Vallejo. Only 3.5 percent of the Suisun City workforce have 
their primary jobs located in Suisun City. The remainder of residents’ jobs are generally distributed in small numbers 
throughout the region, as shown in Table 6.  

Many of the other larger communities (i.e., incorporated cities) in Solano County are located along Interstates 80 and 
680, which provides residents with better access to major employment, services, and shopping centers to the 
southwest towards San Francisco and the East Bay, or northeast towards Sacramento. However, Suisun City, is 
uniquely positioned in its connection to these same regional centers by Amtrak’s Capitol Corridor service, which stops 

417



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 3-7 

 

at the Suisun Train Depot in Downtown Suisun City. Additionally, California Route 12 runs through Suisun City, 
connecting its residents to I-5 far to the east, I-80 to the west, and Napa Valley further west. 

Table 6. Where Workers Who Live in Suisun City Work, 2018 

Geography  Workers % of Total 

Fairfield 2,504 19.4% 

Vacaville 891 6.9% 

San Francisco 740 5.7% 

Vallejo 544 4.2% 

Napa 448 3.5% 

Suisun City 447 3.5% 

Oakland 431 3.3% 

Concord 375 2.9% 

Benicia 334 2.6% 

Sacramento 316 2.5% 

All Other Locations 5,855 45.4% 

Total 12,885 100% 

Source: LEHD, AECOM 

 Incomes 
The median household income for Suisun City was $83,320, which was similar to the median income for Fairfield. 
Solano County as a whole had a lower median income, whereas Vacaville’s was slightly higher than Suisun City’s, as 
shown in Table 7. 

Table 7. Household Incomes (2019) 

Geography 

Household Incomes 

Median Mean 

Suisun City $83,320 $93,529 

Fairfield $84,557 $104,505 

Vacaville $87,823 $103,428 

Vallejo $69,405 $84,480 

Solano County $81,472 $98,406 

Source: US Census Bureau, ACS 

3.3 Socio-Economic Trends Summary 
Population growth and housing production lag far behind the growth of regional, County, and other local jurisdictions. 
Part of that can be explained by the small size of the community and the lack of large vacant properties to 
accommodate housing production. Suisun is a commuter community, with the vast majority of its employed residents 
traveling out of the City for work and one of the lowest job-to-housing ratios of incorporated cities in the ABAG region. 
However, top destinations for workers include Fairfield and Vacaville. Robust jobs and specific industry-sector growth 
in these locations can have a significant impact on the future opportunities for current Suisun residents, as well as the 
demographics of new residents associated with proposed development. For example, Vacaville has shown its 
commitment to advanced manufacturing and biotechnology sectors, expanding its California Biomanufacturing Center 
zone by approximately 300 acres. Proximity to Travis Air Force Base provides plenty of job and business 

418



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 3-8 

 

opportunities in Fairfield, as well as Suisun City. Fairfield also plans to expand logistics facilities, as well as grow its 
specialized manufacturing sector, such as its emerging food and beverage manufacturing cluster. 

 

419



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 4-1 

 

4. Residential Market Opportunity 
AECOM analyzed recent trends in the residential market including age, ownership, and tenure. The characteristics of 
the residential market demonstrate the prevalence of mostly single-family residential development over the past 
decades and offer insight to the potential demand for higher-density residential development, particularly near the 
Train Depot. Recently completed multifamily projects in Solano County representing a range of types, styles, and 
densities of have been identified as potential prototypes that can be used as a reference tool to help the public, 
decisionmakers, and the planning and development communities gain basic understanding of what future higher-
density multifamily residential might look like in Suisun City. This process allows for residential development 
prototypes that the market is currently and will likely continue to deliver in the near future. 

 Inventory and Historic Trends 
As of 2021, Suisun’s housing inventory totaled 9,563 total units, according to the California Department of Finance 
estimates. Historical housing inventory information for Suisun City, Solano County, and select jurisdictions in Solano 
County are compiled in the following series of three tables. Table 8 shows figures for all units, Table 9 includes counts 
for single-family residential units, and Table 10 gathers the same information as the others but for multifamily 
residential units that are part of properties with five or more units.  

In the eleven-year period from 2010 to 2021, Suisun City added 109 total units for an annual growth rate of 0.10 
percent, which was much slower than the 0.52 percent annual growth rate recorded for Solano County as a whole. 
Over that period, neighboring Fairfield and nearby Vacaville grew even faster at 0.81 percent and 0.90 percent per 
year, respectively.  

Table 8. Historical Housing Inventory – Total Housing Units 

HISTORICAL RESIDENTIAL INVENTORY - TOTAL UNITS 

Geography 2010 2016 2018 2021 

# of Units Growth 
Annual Percentage  
Growth Rate 

10 Year 
2010-
2021 

5 Year 
2016-
2021 

3 Year 
2018-
2021 

10 Year 
2010-
2021 

5 Year 
2016-
2021 

3 Year 
2018-
2021 

Suisun City 9,454 9,493 9,549 9,563 109 70 14 0.10% 0.15% 0.05% 

Fairfield 37,184 38,682 39,599 40,477 3,293 1,795 878 0.81% 0.93% 0.74% 

Vacaville 32,814 34,006 34,884 36,053 3,239 2,047 1,169 0.90% 1.20% 1.12% 

Vallejo 44,433 44,656 44,725 44,832 399 176 107 0.08% 0.08% 0.08% 

Solano County 
Total 

152,698 156,375 158,786 161,371 8,673 4,996 2,585 0.52% 0.64% 0.54% 

Source: California Department of Finance 

 

 

  

420



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 4-2 

 

Table 9. Historical Housing Inventory – Single Family Residential  

HISTORICAL RESIDENTIAL INVENTORY - SINGLE FAMILY 

 2010 2016 2018 2021 

# of Units Growth 
Annual Percentage  
Growth Rate 

10 Year 
2010-
2021 

5 Year 
2016-
2021 

3 Year 
2018-
2021 

10 Year 
2010-
2021 

5 Year 
2016-
2021 

3 Year 
2018-
2021 

Suisun City 8,110 8,149 8,205 8,209 99 60 4 0.11% 0.15% 0.02% 

Fairfield 28,084 29,582 30,182 31,060 2,976 1,478 878 0.96% 1.00% 0.97% 

Vacaville 24,542 25,417 26,067 26,911 2,369 1,494 844 0.88% 1.18% 1.08% 

Vallejo 31,181 31,304 31,367 31,470 289 166 103 0.08% 0.11% 0.11% 

Solano County 
Total 

115,651 118,785 120,580 122,770 7,119 3,985 2,190 0.56% 0.67% 0.61% 

Source: California Department of Finance 

 

Table 10. Historical Housing Inventory – Multifamily (5-units or more) 

HISTORICAL RESIDENTIAL INVENTORY - MULTIFAMILY 

 2010 2016 2018 2021 

# of Units Growth 
Annual Percentage  
Growth Rate 

10 Year 
2010-
2021 

5 Year 
2016-
2021 

3 Year 
2018-
2021 

10 Year 
2010-
2021 

5 Year 
2016-
2021 

3 Year 
2018-
2021 

Suisun City 778 778 778 788 10 10 10 0.12% 0.26% 0.43% 

Fairfield 6,086 6,086 6,403 6,403 317 317 0 0.47% 1.04% 0.00% 

Vacaville 4,879 5,196 5,424 5,747 868 551 323 1.62% 2.12% 1.99% 

Vallejo 7,045 7,141 7,141 7,141 96 0 0 0.12% 0.00% 0.00% 

Solano County 
Total 

21,252 21,737 22,336 22,669 1,417 932 333 0.61% 0.86% 0.50% 

Source: California Department of Finance 

 

In addition to the recently completed projects, the City has several approved multifamily and compact single-family 
residential projects that have not yet been constructed, and several other potential applications for multifamily 
development where the City has held pre-application meetings and expects an application.  

Suisun City’s mix of housing is predominantly single-family residential units, which made up 83 percent of the City’s 
total housing units. Table 11 shows that Suisun City’s housing stock is even more heavily weighted towards single-
family residential products than nearby cities, as well as the County as a whole.  

While multifamily development in the Downtown area might be expected to primarily attract individuals and smaller 
households, the City also recognizes in the Housing Element the need to provide for larger households by, for 
example, encouraging multifamily rental developments to include three- and four-bedroom dwelling units.2 However, 
most large housholds in the City were homeowners rather than renters, but this may partly be because there were no 
multifamily units with four or more bedrooms as of the writing of the City’s Housing Element.  

  

 
2 Please see the City’s Housing Element, including Program 3.A.5 and a discussion of large household needs starting on page 54, 
for more detail: https://www.suisun.com/departments/development-services/planning/general-plan/housing-element/.  

421

https://www.suisun.com/departments/development-services/planning/general-plan/housing-element/


Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 4-3 

 

Table 11. Historical Composition of Multifamily Housing 

HISTORICAL HOUSING INVENTORY COMPOSITION 

 

2010 2015 2020 

% SFR 1 % MFR 2 % SFR 1 % MFR 2 % SFR 1 % MFR 2 

Suisun City 86% 14% 83% 17% 83% 17% 

Fairfield 76% 24% 70% 30% 70% 30% 

Vacaville 75% 25% 72% 28% 72% 28% 

Vallejo 70% 30% 67% 33% 67% 33% 

Solano County 76% 24% 72% 28% 72% 28% 

Source: California Department of Finance, AECOM 
1 Single-Family Residential includes both attached and detached garage homes. 
2 Multifamily residential includes all other housing tot included in single-family. 

 

Suisun City’s existing housing stock was primarily built in the 1970s, 1908s and 1990s. More than half of the City’s 
current residential inventory was built in just two decades, 1970s and 1980s. As seen in Figure 5, Suisun City’s 
housing stock is generally older than that of the city of Fairfield and the whole of Solano County. Both Fairfield and 
Solano County show a more even distribution across the last 70 years. Both have higher proportions of their housing 
stock that date back to the initial post-WWII residential development boom during the 1950s and 1960s. Interestingly 
enough, both Solano County and Fairfield also have higher percentages of their housing stock built after 2010 than 
Suisun City’s. This indicates that these two places were more effective at attracting or accommodating new housing 
development after 2010 and the relative lack of developable land for residential development. As with most 
communities, the Great Recession had a dramatic downward effect on new housing.  

Figure 5. Age of Housing Stock 

 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau 

 Home Ownership 
Owner-occupied units make up a larger share of all residential units in Suisun City than the comparison communities 
in Figure 6. Solano County and the city of Vacaville held the same percentage of owner-occupied units, with 62 
percent in Suisun City compared to 51 percent in the region.  

422



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 4-4 

 

Figure 6. Tenure of Occupied Units 

 
*To be classified as owner-occupied the owner must be living in the unit. Renter-occupied units consist of both single-family and 
multifamily units. 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau 

 Single-Family Market Indicators 
Suisun City’s housing stock primarily features single-family, owner-occupied homes. As shown in Figure 7, these 
home values have shown positive growth since the Great Recession. These rates of growth are similar to those for 
the neighboring City of Fairfield and Solano County. Based on recent sales transactions recorded by Zillow Research, 
median home values in Suisun City are $486,000, which is roughly 12 percent and 14 percent lower than estimated 
median home prices for Solano County as a whole and the City of Fairfield, respectively.  
 

423



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 4-5 

 

Figure 7. Nominal Median Single-Family Home Value 

 
Source: Zillow Research, AECOM 
 
Zillow Research also collects market data from residential sales transactions for condominium and coop-ownership 
models. Although Suisun City’s median single-family price estimate trailed behind Solano County and Fairfield, the 
estimated median home value for condos and coops in Suisun City are significantly higher than the median values for 
Fairfield and Solano County. The values for these homes also appreciated since the Great Recession at similar rates. 
 
Figure 8. Nominal Median Home Value (Condo and Co-Op Only) 

 
Source: Zillow Research, AECOM 
 

424



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 4-6 

 

 Multifamily Market Indicators 
According to the California Department of Finance, in 2021 Suisun City had 1,170 multifamily residential units, which 
is 3.4 percent of the total multifamily supply of Solano County. Approximately one third of the Suisun multifamily 
inventory range in size from 2-4 units. The remainder of the multifamily stock are categorized as projects containing 
having 5 or more units. Inventory has practically remained static since 2010, with only 10 multifamily units added in 
Suisun City between 2010 and 2021.  

According to Costar, multifamily rents on a square foot basis in the region have grown steadily and quickly over the 
last 10 years, as shown in Figure 9. Based on year to date data for 2021, Suisun City rents average $1.89 per square 
foot, a 70-percent increase over average rents compared to 10 years ago. Fairfield and Solano County experienced 
high rent growth over the same period, but at much lower rates of 48.6 percent and 44.1 percent, respectively. 
Fairfield average rents are 2.6 percent higher than Suisun City’s, whereas the average for all of Solano County is 
close to 7 percent higher than Suisun City’s. Although the greater Bay Area has become notorious for skyrocketing 
housing costs, the small multifamily inventory and limited lease signings may be skewing the data for Suisun City. 

Figure 10 shows that a similar pattern holds for multifamily rents on a per-unit basis, with Suisun City monthly rents 
averaging $1,574, an increase of nearly 63 percent since 2011. Rent growth on a per unit basis for multifamily units in 
Fairfield and Solano County were similar to how rents have grown in these comparison communities on a per-square 
footage basis during this time period. 

Figure 9. Multifamily Residential (MFR) Market-rate Rent Trends (Per Square Foot) 

 
Source: CoStar, AECOM 
 

$1.00

$1.25

$1.50

$1.75

$2.00

$2.25

$2.50

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
YTD

2021
EST

Suisun City Fairfield Solano County

425



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 4-7 

 

Figure 10. Multifamily Rent Trends (Per Unit)  

 
Source: CoStar, AECOM 
 
Multifamily vacancy rates have generally trended downward after the Great Recession, as seen in Figure 11. 
California’s housing shortage has had a major role in pushing vacancy rates even below that which a healthy market 
could typically bear. As a result of the global pandemic, multifamily rental properties experienced rises in vacancy 
rates during and after the pandemic and economic closures. While high overall demand for housing, along with 
projected housing production numbers that unfortunately fall short of total housing needs, will keep vacancy rates at 
manageable (albeit abnormal for California markets) rates, the longevity of COVID-19’s impact on vacancy rates for 
multifamily products is uncertain.  

Market capitalization rates (cap rates) are in indication of the relative risk associated with income-generating 
properties. A higher cap rate indicates a riskier investment and results in a lower valuation for a property, whereas a 
lower cap rate is recognized as being a more stable investment.The market cap rates for the last 10 years for Suisun 
City, Fairfield, and Solano County are shown in Figure 12. All three cap rates follow a general downward trend, which 
is called cap rate compression. Cap rate compression is a signal of an improving market, which appears to be the 
case for the Solano County region as all three cap rates shown are below 5 percent for year-to-date 2021.  

Figure 11. Multifamily Vacancy Trends 

 
Source: CoStar, AECOM 

$800

$1,000

$1,200

$1,400

$1,600

$1,800

$2,000

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
YTD

2021
EST

Suisun City Fairfield Solano County

0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%

4.00%

5.00%

6.00%

7.00%

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
YTD

2021
EST

Suisun City Fairfield Solano County

426



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 4-8 

 

Figure 12. Multifamily Market Capitalization Rate 

 
Source: CoStar 

 Recent Development Trends and Considerations  
Compared to other communities in the region, Suisun City has had relatively little development activity over the last 
20 years. However, there are several trends that point to increasing market support for multifamily residential 
development. 

4.1.5.1 Recent Multifamily Development 
Recent multifamily development projects across Solano County are further indications of what can be achieved in 
Suisun City. These are projects built in the last 5 years and have 5 or more units, with densities that span 11 to 50 
dwelling units per acre. These projects represent market-proven feasible development types likely to resemble near-
term future development. Recently completed and proposed multifamily projects in Solano County are summarized in 
Table 12.  

Table 12. Recent Multifamily Projects in Solano County 

RECENT OR PIPELINE MULTIFAMILY RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENTS IN SOLANO COUNTY 

Project and Address City 
Year 
Built Affordability 

# 
Units 

Land 
(ac.) DU/AC 

Verdant at Green Valley, 3900 Business Center 
Drive 

Fairfield 2017 Market-rate 286 12.23 23 

Vines On 80, 3950 Business Center Drive Fairfield 2017 Affordable 
Units 

63 5.67 11 

Sunrise Residences, 2750 North Texas Street Fairfield 2017 - 78 3.76 21 

Fair Haven Commons, 1700 Santa Monica Street Fairfield 2020 Rent-restricted 76 3.51 22 

Villas at North Village, 300 Crescent Drive Vacaville 2016 - 228 9.99 23 

Rocky Hill Veterans Housing, 582 Rocky Hill Road Vacaville 2019 Rent-restricted 39 1.42 27 

Strada 1200, 1200 Allison Drive Vacaville 2020 - 245 12.64 19 

Pony Express Senior Apartments, 220 Aegean Way Vacaville 2022 Rent-restricted 59 1.82 32 

1700 Fairgrounds Drive Vallejo 2022 - 47 0.94 50 

1225 McCoy Creek Way Suisun 
City 

2018 - 10 0.3 33 

Source: CoStar 

4.00%

4.50%

5.00%

5.50%

6.00%

6.50%

7.00%

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
YTD

2021
EST

Suisun City Fairfield Solano County

427



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 4-9 

 

4.1.5.2 Construction Costs and Feasibility 
Over the last decade, it has been difficult for market-rate, multifamily projects on the fringes of the Bay Area and in 
some areas of the Central Valley to reach financial feasibility thresholds without public subsidy. A large part of this 
reason is because the cost of materials and labor are similar in these areas as they are in more expensive 
submarkets in the Bay Area and have increased recently. At the same time, projects in places such as Suisun City 
are not able to achieve the premium rents found in the more expensive submarkets. This has created a development 
environment where the cost of construction is relatively similar across the vast region, yet large rent disparities across 
the submarkets makes financial feasibility more difficult in less expensive submarkets. This environment may have 
made full market-rate, multifamily development difficult at desired higher densities in Downtown Suisun City.  

4.1.5.3 Comparing Renting vs. Home Ownership 
Another important consideration are the housing options available to certain household incomes. It is helpful to 
understand the cost of homeownership relative to the pricing of rental units. In general, the rental market is capped at 
asking rents that are less than the cost of owning a home. The closer asking rents are to mortgage payments, the 
more attractive owning a home looks to potential buyers. Table 13 shows the average asking rents for recent 
multifamily projects in Vacaville and Fairfield. The average of all five properties amounts to $2.51/per square foot, 
which is $2,201 per month for an 878-square foot unit. An annual income of approximately $88,000 is needed to 
afford this rent.  

Table 13. Income Needed to Support Average Rents in Solano County 

Project and Address City Year Built  
Avg. Asking Rent/Sq. 
Ft 

Avg. Unit 
Size 

Verdant at Green Valley, 3900 Business Center 
Drive 

Fairfield 2017 $2.24 958 

Vines On 80, 3950 Business Center Drive Fairfield 2017 $2.25 998 

Sunrise Residences, 2750 N Texas Street Fairfield 2017 $2.82 582 

Villas at North Village, 300 Crescent Drive  Vacaville 2016 $2.18 1034 

Strada 1200, 1200 Allison Drive Vacaville 2020 $3.04 819 

  Average $2.51 878 

  Asking Rent/Unit $2,201  

  Income Needed to Afford 
Rent1 

$88,031  

Source: CoStar, AECOM 
(1) Assumes 30% of gross annual income allocated for housing. 

 

The median home price in Suisun City is $486,000. Purchasing a home of this price with a 5-percent down payment 
and a 3 percent mortgage interest rate results in a monthly mortgage payment of $1,947. Property taxes and 
homeowner’s insurance bring the total monthly housing cost to $2,475. An income of $98,990 is needed to be able to 
afford a home at this, as demonstrated in Table 14. The estimated monthly cost of owning a home in Suisun is $358 
more per month than the $2,201 average rent for new development in Solano County. This estimated monthly cost of 
homeownership is only 16.2 percent more than the average rent price. However, purchasing a home at the median 
home value of $486,000 with a traditional 20-percent down payment results in a total housing cost (mortage, taxes, 
insurance) of about $2,250, which is only slightly more than the current $2,201 average rent for new development.   

According to Zillow’s Rent vs. Buy Calculator, the cost of buying an average priced home in Suisun City will become 
cheaper than renting after 2 years and 7 months. This represents the breakeven horizon—the point at which the cost 
of buying equals the cost of renting. Table 15 shows that Suisun City’s breakeven horizon to be slightly lower than its 
Solano County neighbors, suggesting a lower barrier to entry for homeownership in Suisun City. The difference in 
breakeven horizons is more stark in more expensive housing markets outside of Solano County, such as Berkeley 
and Oakland. Rental units will be more attractive housing options in markets with higher breakeven horizons, as a 
longer-term investment is required to realize the cost-savings and value gains of home ownership. 

428



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 4-10 

 

Multifamily rental developers will be sensitive to pricing units so they are competitive with nearby homebuying 
options. This may influence the types of multifamily housing developers consider since achievable rents must be able 
to support total development costs. Achieving higher residential densities (50 units per acre and higher) are likely to 
require building taller or providing structured or underground parking, solutions which drive total development costs 
up considerably more than the cost of constructing garden-style or similar moderately higher-density types of 
multifamily units, and which may not in the short term be supported by achieveable market rents. 

Table 14. Income Supporting Home Ownership in Suisun City 

Median Home Price in Suisun City1  $486,000 

Down Payment 5% $24,300 

Mortgage Needed  $461,700 

Interest Rate 3.00%  

Estimated Monthly Mortgage Payment  $1,947 

Property Tax2 1.10% $5,346 

Homeowners Insurance3  $987 

Annual Housing Cost  $29,697 

Monthly Housing Cost  $2,475 

Income Needed to Support Housing Cost  $98,990 

Source: Zillow, AECOM 
1 Zillow Home Value Index 
2 Based on Sale Price 
3 California Department of Insurance, https://interactive.web.insurance.ca.gov/apex_extprd/f?p=111:20.  

 

Table 15. Homeownership Breakeven Horizon 

  

Jurisdiction Breakeven Horizon Total Months 

Suisun City 2 years, 7 months 31 

Fairfield 2 years, 9 months 33 

Vacaville 2 years, 10 months 34 

Solano County 2 years, 9 months 33 

Berkeley 6 years, 4 months 76 

Oakland 3 years, 7 months 43 

Martinez 2 years, 11 months 35 

Pittsburg 3 years, 4 months 40 

Source: Zillow Rent vs. Buy Calculator; AECOM.   

429

https://interactive.web.insurance.ca.gov/apex_extprd/f?p=111:20


Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 4-11 

 

4.1.5.4 Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA) 
In compliance with State Housing Law, Solano County has proposed its allocations for the 6th Cycle of the Regional 
Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA) which covers the next 8-year planning period from 2023-2031. Table 15 
summarizes these allocations by jurisdiction and by income tier. Suisun City’s housing need is 629 total units, with 
359 units (57 percent) designated for households with very low, low, or moderate incomes. The Specific Plan Area is 
a suitable place to accommodate these future housing needs, given its availability and diversity of sites and the 
zoning allowed under WDSP. Development that triggers density bonus incentives might make higher-density 
residential development more feasible if projects were allowed at densities higher than the current maximums of 45 
dwelling units per gross acre and 54 units per net acre. 

 
Table 16. Proposed Solano County RHNA Allocations 

SOLANO COUNTY SUBREGION PROPOSED RHNA ALLOCATION BY INCOME TIER 

 
Very Low 
(<50% of AMI) 

Low 
(50-80% of AMI) 

Moderate 
(80-120% of AMI) 

Above Moderate 
(>120%0% of AMI) 

Total Housing 
Units 

Jurisdiction 
Housing 
Units % Housing 

Units % Housing 
Units % Housing 

Units % Total 
% of 
County 

Benicia 200 28.1% 121 17.0% 117 16.5% 273 38.4% 711 6.5% 

Dixon 116 27.0% 64 14.9% 65 15.2% 184 42.9% 429 3.9% 

Fairfield 774 25.9% 453 15.1% 525 17.6% 1,239 41.4% 2,991 27.2% 

Rio Vista 90 24.4% 46 12.5% 56 15.2% 177 48.0% 369 3.4% 

Suisun City 162 25.8% 97 15.4% 100 15.9% 270 42.9% 629 5.7% 

Vacaville 685 26.1% 410 15.6% 413 15.7% 1,118 42.6% 2,626 23.9% 

Vallejo 695 23.8% 371 12.7% 501 17.2% 1,354 46.4% 2,921 26.6% 

Unincorporated Solano 81 25.8% 49 15.6% 55 17.5% 129 41.1% 314 2.9% 

Solano County 
Requirement 

2,803 25.9% 1,612 14.9% 1,832 16.5% 4,745 42.6% 10,992 100.0% 

Source: Solano County SubRegion 6th Cycle RHNA Proposed Methodology 

 Recommended Higher-Density Residential Prototypes 
The density of multifamily development affects the feasibility of multifamily develeoment projects. While this is a 
dynamic environment where the most favored densities and housing types for the development industry can change 
based on prevailing rents, labor costs, land costs, and chagnes to the building code, there can be a coalescing 
around certain housing types and density based on relative returns. For example, projects at a density of 40 dwelling 
units/acre are difficult to find because achieving such a density would likely not yield enough of a financial return to 
justify more expensive construction methods for such a project over the less expensive construction that are 
generally required for projects at 30 dwelling units/acre.  

Figure 11 explains recommended density prototypes based on the developments found in the multifamily market 
research process. These prototypes are not recommendations for actual projects but rather serve as a tool for 
visualizing, understanding, and discussing density. These prototypes can serve as a basis for more in-depth financial 
feasibility and physical yield analyses of these multifamily development prototypes, as well as others. 

430



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 4-12 

 

Figure 13. Recent Multifamily Projects in Solano County 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

4.2 Residential Opportunities Summary 
Suisun City’s residential housing stock, although older with little new activity, has seen significant rent growth for 
multifamily products as well as steady increases in single family-home values. The current housing stock is heavily 
weighted towards single-family development. Access to well-paid jobs in the Bay Area’s regional employment centers, 
as well as local manufacturing and light industrial jobs within and around Solano County present career opportunities 
for current younger households and residents, but can also allow the City to better position itself as a home offering 
more affordable access to housing, as well as connections with open space and recreational opportunties.  

Based on recently completed and proposed multifamily projects found throughout Solano County, AECOM identified 
four higher-density residential prototypes to help understand and visualize density and serve as the basis for more in-
depth financial feasibility and physical yield analyses of these multifamily development prototypes as well as others. 

Prototype 1.  
20-25 DU/AC 
A “flexible townhome style” product that can be owner or 
renter-occupied; provides new home ownership 
opportunities at higher densities than single-family homes. 
 

Prototype 2.  
25-30 DU/AC 
A mixed-use project that provides residential units at high 
densities as well as commercial space and/or community 
space.   

Prototype 3.  
30-35 DU/AC 
This represents the highest density likely to be pursued 
before having to use more expensive construction types and 
design solutions (e.g. underground parking) to achieve on-
site density. 

Prototype 4.  
50-60 DU/AC 
This represents the lowest density that is feasible while 
using more expensive construction types or design 
solutions, such as building higher or creating underground 
parking. 

431



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 4-13 

 

4.3 Example Multifamily Development Concept  with 
Parcel Assembly  

The City identified an area with the potential for land use 
transition during buildout of the Specific Plan Area west of 
Main Street and south of the Suisun Train Depot.  

This almost eight-acre potential development site is currently 
in 15 separate parcels, some vacant, and some with low-
scale buildings. The Specific Plan Land Use Zone for this 
area is Downtown Mixed Use, which allows a mix of retail, 
commercial service, civic, office, and other complementary 
non-residential uses, as well as higher-density residential 
development. This Land Use Zone would allow residential 
development of up to 45 dwelling units per gross acre or 54 
dwelling units per net acre and non-residential development 
with a floor area ratio up to 3.0.  

The example concept shown below in Figures 14 through 17 
could occur with all or only some portion of the properties – 
in general, in order to efficiently manage new multifamily 
construction, a current rule of thumb is a minimum of 120 to 
150 units in a single development. These development 
concepts depict 387 to 417 total dwelling units in four-story 
buildings with an average dwelling unit size of 1,000 square 
feet. The gross density of these examples would be between 
49 and 53 units per acre, which would exceed that currently 
allowed by the Specific Plan in this Land Use Zone.  

The images incorporated here illustrate different design 
approaches with four stories and similar densities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

432



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 4-14 

 

Figure 14. Example Multifamily Development Concept 1 

 

433



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 4-15 

 

Figure 15. Example Multifamily Development Concept 1 (with Exisitng Property Lines)  

 

434



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 4-16 

 

Figure 16. Example Multifamily Development Concept 2 

 

435



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 4-17 

 

Figure 17. Example Multifamily Development Concept 2 (with Exisitng Property Lines)

436



Downtown Suisun City  
Housing Yield and Feasibility Analysis and Recommendations 

Prepared for: City of Suisun City, California  

 

 
July 2021 5-1 

 

5. Limitations 
AECOM devoted effort consistent with (i) the level of diligence ordinarily exercised by competent professionals 
practicing in the area under the same or similar circumstances, and (ii) the time and budget available for its work to 
ensure that the data contained in this report is accurate as of the date of its preparation. This study is based on 
estimates, assumptions, and other information developed by AECOM from its independent research effort, general 
knowledge of the industry, and information provided by and consultations with the Client and the Client’s 
representatives. No responsibility is assumed for inaccuracies in reporting by the Client, the Client’s agents and 
representatives, or any third-party data source used in preparing or presenting this study. AECOM assumes no duty 
to update the information contained herein unless it is separately retained to do so pursuant to a written agreement 
signed by AECOM and the Client. 

AECOM’s findings represent its professional judgment. Neither AECOM nor its parent corporation, nor their 
respective affiliates, makes any warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to any information or methods disclosed 
in this document. Any recipient of this document other than the Client, by their acceptance or use of this document, 
releases AECOM, its parent corporation, and their affiliates from any liability for direct, indirect, consequential, or 
special loss or damage, whether arising in contract, warranty (express or implied), tort, or otherwise, and irrespective 
of fault, negligence, and strict liability. 

This report may not to be used in conjunction with any public or private offering of securities, debt, equity, or other 
similar purpose where it may be relied upon to any degree by any person other than the Client. This study may not be 
used for purposes other than those for which it was prepared or for which prior written consent has been obtained 
from AECOM. 

Possession of this study does not carry with it the right of publication or the right to use the name of “AECOM” in any 
manner without the prior written consent of AECOM. No party may abstract, excerpt, or summarize this report without 
the prior written consent of AECOM. AECOM has served solely in the capacity of consultant and has not rendered 
any expert opinions in connection with the subject matter hereof. Any changes made to the study, or any use of the 
study not specifically identified in the agreement between the Client and AECOM or otherwise expressly approved in 
writing by AECOM, shall be at the sole risk of the party making such changes or adopting such use. 

This document was prepared solely for the use by the Client. No party may rely on this report except the Client or a 
party so authorized by AECOM in writing (including, without limitation, in the form of a reliance letter). Any party who 
is entitled to rely on this document may do so only on the document in its entirety and not on any excerpt or summary. 
Entitlement to rely upon this document is conditioned upon the entitled party accepting full responsibility and not 
holding AECOM liable in any way for any impacts on the forecasts or the earnings from the project resulting from 
changes in “external” factors such as changes in government policy, pricing of commodities and materials, price 
levels generally, competitive alternatives to the project, the behavior of consumers or competitors, and changes in the 
owners’ policies affecting the operation of their projects. 

This document may include “forward-looking statements.” These statements relate to AECOM’s expectations, beliefs, 
intentions, or strategies regarding the future. These statements may be identified by the use of words like “anticipate,” 
“believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “project,” “will,” “should,” “seek,” and similar expressions. The 
forward-looking statements reflect AECOM’s views and assumptions with respect to future events as of the date of 
this study and are subject to future economic conditions and other risks and uncertainties. Actual and future results 
and trends could differ materially from those set forth in such statements due to various factors, including, without 
limitation, those discussed in this study. These factors are beyond AECOM’s ability to control or predict. Accordingly, 
AECOM makes no warranty or representation that any of the projected values or results contained in this study will 
actually be achieved.  

This study is qualified in its entirety by, and should be considered in light of, these limitations, conditions, and 
considerations. 

437



Waterfront 
District Specific 
Plan Updates

Revisiting the 

Waterfront 
District Specific 
Plan

The city received a grant from 
California's SB 2 planning grant 
program, administered by the 

California Department of Housing 
and Community Development 

(HCD)

The City's Specific Plan update 
revises the policies and 

development standards of the 
November 2016 Specific Plan

The grant provides funding to 
encourage housing development, 

particularly around the train 
station and within walking 

distance of employment, services, 
and entertainment

1

2

438



Planning 
Commission

Highlight parts of the Specific Plan 
driven by State law (two minor 

sections on lot splits and 
objective standards)

Need for strong design guidance; 
prohibit large, blank walls; ground 
development of 30-acre property 

in market realities

Planning Commission: high 
demand for housing and also 

jobs, increased housing densities 
will help, great need for infill 

housing, including to promote 
employment development 

Proposed Changes

3

4

439



Chapter 1
Introduction

Key Changes

 Revisions to explain the nature of this Specific Plan 

update. 

 Addition of new goal to facilitate housing 

development in Downtown to .

Chapter 1
Introduction

Facilitate housing development Downtown.

 Expand housing opportunities for existing and future residents 

 Infill housing that is close to jobs, services, parks, and other 
destinations can allow more residents to meet their daily needs 
without the need for a car, freeing up disposable income that can be 
spent at local businesses

 Expand the range of housing options, making the City more 
competitive for attracting employers, many of whom are interested in 
a diverse and affordable local housing stock

 More housing Downtown means more customers for businesses

 Allow more residents to build physical activity into daily routines

5

6

440



Chapter 2 
Existing Uses + 
Regulating 
Plans

Revisions

 Updates to context discussion to reflect current Planning 

Districts and existing land uses (new hotel for example) 

Chapter 3
Land Use 
Regulations 

 Changed Commercial-Office-Residential (C/O/R) to Downtown 
Mixed Use (DMU) and converting the area north of SR 12 to 
DMU

 Removed Public Facilities zone + replaced with a new Civic 
zone + expanded to include the City Plaza (a permitted use in 
the new zone).

 Updated references to City Zoning Code

 Revisions to DMU permitted uses to allow single-family and 
multi-family residential dwellings, including ADUs

 Permit MF dwellings in RMD zone (rather than administrative 
review) 

 Removed Section 3.2 District and Opportunity Area Concepts 
and Figure 3.2 District and Opportunity Area Land Use 
Concept

 Removed Section 3.3 Proposed Land Use Changes and Figure 
3-3 Illustrative Site Concept Plan.

Revised Land Use Zones

Key Changes

7

8

441



Chapter 3
Land Use 
Regulations 

Revised Land Use ZonesExisting Land Use Zones

Chapter 4
Traffic + 
Circulation

Key Changes

 Vehicular Circulation Diagram -

removed proposed extensions in the 

northwest and southeast

 Updates to context discussion to 

reflect current transportation 

network and circulation

 Replacement of subjective language 

with objective language to enhance 

certainty with clear requirements

Revised Vehicular Circulation Diagram

9

10

442



Chapter 4
Traffic + 
Circulation

Revised Vehicular Circulation Diagram with 
Parcel LinesExisting Vehicular Circulation Diagram

Chapter 5
Open Space + 
Civic Services

Key Changes 

 Updates to context discussion to reflect current open space 
facilities and civic services

 Revisions to planned park and open space network, such as 
new open space/pedestrian/bike trail feature (and not a 
planned roadway) between Civic Center Boulevard and Marina 
Boulevard 

 Revisions to the stormwater discussion to reflect updates to 
allowable incentive low impact development (LID) Treatment 
Reduction Credit
 Select new development or redevelopment projects are 

required to incorporate LID measures to treat runoff

 Specific Plan includes updates to different categories to 
clarify applicable projects and applied credit reduction

11

12

443



Chapter 6
Development 
and Design 
Standards

Key Changes 

 Replacement of subjective language with objective 
language to enhance certainty
 Consistent with Senate Bill 330, where housing 

development projects must be reviewed against objective 
design standards. 

 Removal of Illustrative Site Concept Plan

 Removal of Commercial-Office-Residential (C/O/R) 
discussion

 Very slight increase in allowable density – RMD max is 
now 24.9 instead of 24; RHD minimum is 25 now instead 
of 24.1

Chapter 6
Development 
and Design 
Standards

Historic 
Residential

Residential 
High Density

Residential 
Medium 
Density

Residential 
Low Density

Standard

70%80%80%70%Lot coverage

5‐15 
6‐18

20.1‐45
25‐54

10.1‐20 
10‐24.9

4‐10 
5‐12

Density (gross)
(net) (units/ac)

2,500 square 
feet

N/A1,500 square 
feet

3,000 square 
feet

Lot area

35’55’35’35’Height Limit

Waterfront 
Commercial

Historic 
Commercial

Main Street 
Mixed Use

Downtown 
Mixed Use

Downtown 
Commercial

Standard

50%70%100%80%80%Lot coverage

0.25‐1.00.25‐1.00.75‐2.00.30‐3.00.25‐2.0Floor area 
ratio

35’35’16’ min, 50’ 
max

60’60’Height limit

13

14

444



Chapter 7
Specific Plan 
Administration

Key Changes 

 Updates to procedures based on recent State legislation including 
Senate Bill 9, Senate Bill 330, and Density Bonus Law 

 Ensuring it is clear that applicable projects, like qualifying lot splits, 
two-unit developments, affordable housing developments, or 
projects where at least two-thirds of the square footage of the 
development is designated for residential use, are not bound by 
subjective review.

 Revisions to Site Plan and Architectural Review process and 
Administrative Review and Conditional Use Permits discussion

 Clarifying text to allow select projects such as affordable housing, 
multi-family housing, mixed-use, and smaller projects to bypass 
conditional use permit review process.

 Updates to discussion referencing existing City Zoning Code for 
consistency.

California 
Environmental 
Quality Act

Updated

 Section 15183 (allowing for a streamlined 
environmental review process) demonstrates 
this Specific Plan update is consistent with and 
covered by the General Plan EIR. 

15

16

445



Waterfront 
District Specific 
Plan Updates

17

446



AGENDA ITEM NO. 13
                  AGENDA TRANSMITTAL

 
MEETING DATE: November 7, 2023
 
CITY AGENDA ITEM: Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-___: Approving the Tractor
Supply Public Art Installation to Meet the Requirements of the 1.5 Percent Art Fee.
 
FISCAL IMPACT: There is no fiscal impact to the general fund. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN: Provide Good Governance. 
 
BACKGROUND: At the March 19, 2019, City Council meeting, the City Council held a public hearing
on an amendment to section 2.16 of the Suisun City Code to update the Parks and Recreation
Commission to add three more members and change the title of the commission to the Recreation,
Parks, Marina, and Arts Commission. This item was approved at the April 2, 2019, meeting of the City
Council. This change was adopted due to the desire by the City Council and the community to have an
emphasis placed on the arts in Suisun City. The City Council adopted the Suisun City’s first Public Art
Policy on October 19, 2019, creating a path forward for Public Art. During the September 7, 2021, City
Council Meeting, the final approval of the Percent for Arts Ordinance was adopted. This created a 1.5%
developer impact fee for development projects within Suisun City.
 
STAFF REPORT: Tractor Supply is currently under construction on the north side of Highway 12.
The total value of the construction project is reported as $6,221,235. With the adopted percentage rate
of 1.5, they are required to provide $93,319 in public art value to the community or pay that amount in
lieu fee. They have selected to provide an art piece to be placed on the Tractor Supply property. Tractor
Supply will be responsible for maintaining the art structure. The stated value of the proposed art
structure is $98,532 which exceeds the developer’s responsibility.
 
The art is comprised of steel and will be anchored directly into the concrete. Please see attachment 1 for
images the proposed art and the elevation in relation to Highway 12 and the Tractor Supply
development.
 
This item was reviewed during the September 6, 2023, Recreation, Parks, Marina, and Arts Commission
meeting and unanimously recommended.
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the City Council Adopt Resolution No. 2023-
___: Approving the Tractor Supply Public Art Installation to Meet the Requirements of the 1.5 Percent
Art Fee.   
 
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED:

1. Resolution No. 2023-___: Approving the Tractor Supply Public Art Installation to Meet the
Requirements of the 1.5 Percent Art Fee

2. Proposed Tractor Supply Art Installation
3. Tractor Supply Art Site Plan
4. Tractor Supply Elevations

447



5. Power Point Presentation
 

PREPARED BY: Kris Lofthus, Deputy City Manager
REVIEWED BY: Kris Lofthus, Deputy City Manager
APPROVED BY: Aaron Roth, Acting City Manager
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Resolution Approving the Tractor Supply Public Art Installation.pdf
2. Proposed Tractor Supply Art Installation.pdf
3. Tractor Supply Art Site Plan.pdf
4. Tractor Supply Elevations.pdf
5. PowerPoint Presentation.pdf
1 Blank Page - THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.pdf

448

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2266691/1.__Resolution_Approving_the_Tractor_Supply_Public_Art_Installation.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2266692/2.__Proposed_Tractor_Supply_Art_Installation.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2266693/3.__Tractor_Supply_Art_Site_Plan.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2266694/4.__Tractor_Supply_Elevations.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2266696/5.__PowerPoint_Presentation.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2267373/1_Blank_Page_-_THIS_PAGE_INTENTIONALLY_LEFT_BLANK.pdf


 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-___ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY 
APPROVING THE TRACTOR SUPPLY PUBLIC ART INSTALLATION TO 

MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE 1.5 PERCENT ART FEE 
 

WHEREAS, in October 2019, the City Council established the first Public Art Policy; 
and 

WHEREAS, on September 7, 2021, the City Council adopted the Percent for the Arts 
program which created a funding mechanism bot public art by placing a developer impact fee of 
1.5% on all commercial development projects in excess of $250,000; and  

WHEREAS, the new Tractor Supply project requires the Public Art Fee with a total 
stated construction cost of $6,221,235; and  

WHEREAS, the estimated value of the Tractor Supply at installation is $98,532 which 
exceeds the required Public Art Fee of $15,000; and 

WHEREAS, the art installation will be located on the Tractor Supply property and they 
will maintain ownership and maintenance; and 

WHEREAS, the Recreation, Parks, Marina, and Arts Commission unanimously 
supported this art installation during their September 6, 2023, meeting. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of Suisun 
City does hereby approve the Tractor Supply Art installation, meeting the requirements of the 1.5 
percent Art Fee.   

PASSED AND ADOPTED at the Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of 
Suisun City duly held on November 7, 2023, by the following vote: 
 
AYES: Councilmembers:    
NOES: Councilmembers:    
ABSENT: Councilmembers:    
ABSTAIN: Councilmembers:    

 WITNESS my hand and the seal of said City this 7th day of November 2023. 
 
 
   
 Anita Skinner 
 City Clerk 

 
 

  
 

449



Attachment 2 
 

 
 
 
 

Tractor Supply Art Installation Graphic Design 

450



Attachment 2 
 

 
 
 
 

 

451



--~~------T-------~ Ill ~ ----
0 1 

~ 

=·~~· •~+ ~· :=::5!!:::::::: -t . ® ~ 

J---
ART MONUME/NT ~ 
LOCATION 

+++++++++++++++ // r'- -; 
+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + .,,, ---L...,_./' / 

--- -- . _· _._ ... _ :.__: ""' ... ... . - - . / • ~ 

-----o ~·--·--·~rz ·-(_-/--. 
- • - - • - ---- • - -- '<t:::E - ~-- ·w 
ss -ss -ss -ss -ss -ss ss - • - - • - - . - ::: ~ 

- -ss-ss- ----. ss-ss-ss- !,.Ct- - • - - • -ss -ss -ss -ss w 
S87" 54' OO"E ~ ss - f ssf-ss - -S I 

358.38' io O D IJ g 

--------
II 

--------

--

-

+ + + 

+ ■· + + + + 

-·-

........... 
x-x-x~-~--·_· • -~=-~=-~=· ·=· • • • • • • ••......................... 

X X-X-x X ................................... 0 If 
- -x-x-x-x-x-x-x-x~-~=-~=· ••••••••••••••••••.............................. 

x-x-x-x-x ••••••••••••·· -x-x-x ••••••••••• -x-x-x-x-x 

HIGHWAY 12 
20 0 20 

ART MONUMENT LOCATION SCALE: 1" =20' 

I-z w 
:2 
D. 
0 
..J w 
> w~ 
C"-

C w u, 
0 
D. 
0 
a: 
D. 

I 

I~ 
0 
z 
=> 
Cl) 

5 
Cl) 

c-i .,.... 
>-

;l ~ 
Ii!~ r 

I
::> 
0 

iE 
3: 

i 
>z 
<C 

~ 

Cl 
w 
z 
C, 

~ 
Cl 
w 
a:: 

~ 
ci 
w 
(.) 
::> 
Cl 
0 
a:: 
a.. 
w 
a:: 

8 
1[ 
0 
(.) 

w 
CD 

lo 
z 

~ 
:::;; 
I
(.) 
w 
~ 
0 
a:: 
a.. 

1-,E"""NG"""'INE ..... ER .... S S- T A-MP--lfn 

~ 

DATE: C, 

~sc"""ALE,....: _____ 10=-3().=20-1~ 

1"=20' -;1 
DRAWN 

~Jo=a: __ ...,:J::..iL ~ 

FILE: 22014 (23025) TRACTOR SUPPLY SUISUN CllY\civil\22-517 Tractor Civil Base.dwg SCALE: 1" = 20, SHEET 1 

23025 ~ ..____ __________________ -=------______________ ____1~e1w~ OF 2 SHEETS F 

Attachment 3

452

klofthus
Highlight

klofthus
Highlight



453



APPROVAL OF 
TRACTOR SUPPLY ART 

INSTALLATION

• PUBLIC ART PLAYS AN IMPORTANT ROLE IN
INCREASING AWARENESS AND ENJOYMENT OF
ART BY THE COMMUNITY.

• PUBLIC ART IS MORE ACCESSIBLE AND
VISIBLE

• IT INTEGRATES ART INTO THE URBAN FABRIC
OF THE CITY.

• PUBLIC ART TRANSFORMS SPACES AND
MAKES A VALUABLE CONTRIBUTION TO OUR
APPRECIATION OF THE CITY AND THE
QUALITY OF PUBLIC PLACES.

1

2

454



OCTOBER 19, 2019 – PUBLIC ART POLICY APPROVED

SEPTEMBER 7, 2021 – PERCENT FOR THE ARTS 
APPROVED CREATING A 1.5% DEVELOPMENT 
IMPACT FEE

SEPTEMBER 6, 2023 – RPMA COMMISSION 
UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMEND THIS ART 
INSTALLATION

3

4

455



5

6

456



QUESTIONS?

7

8

457



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

458



AGENDA ITEM NO. 14
                  AGENDA TRANSMITTAL

 
MEETING DATE: November 7, 2023
 
CITY AGENDA ITEM: Discussion and Direction on Youth Advisory or Youth Commission.
 
FISCAL IMPACT: No fiscal impact to the city. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN: Provide Good Governance. 
 
BACKGROUND: There is currently an organization that does not fall under the jurisdiction of the City
of Suisun City. The Suisun City Youth Commission is grassroots 501(c)3 determination-exempt public
benefit organization created on May 4, 2007, for the benefit of Suisun City Youth and Youth who
attend Suisun City Schools and friends. Today, the Suisun City Youth Commission has grown its
collaboration within a consortium of youth-oriented public benefit organizations. Together with the
consortium, the Suisun City Youth Commission directly contributes to our community's healthy and
sustainable development. The Suisun City Youth Commission fosters peer-to-peer self-development and
positive peer and adult relationships through the many opportunities we gain working within a
consortium of youth public benefit organizations. Among these organizations are Scouts, Civil Air
Patrol, 4-H, Red Cross Clubs, Solano Land Trust, and many more. The Suisun City Youth Commission
owns the domain rites to Suisuncityyouthcommission.org.
 
STAFF REPORT: There are numerous models to provide youth/teens with civic leadership
opportunities and below are some models for the council to discuss or develop their own model if they
wish to pursue this endeavor: 
 

1. The new Suisun City Police Activities League in conjunction with the California Police Activities
League provide a leadership development program that provides an opportunity for PAL
members to teach, inspire, and motivate California’s future community leaders. The program
brings together PAL youth and officers where officers play a vital role in encouraging youth to
become positive role models, enabling them to realize their full potential to lead and influence
positive change. Along with the Youth Summit program through National PAL, members have
the opportunity to be involved with gaining valuable leadership skills.

2. Create a Youth/Teen Advisory that would make recommendations to the Recreation, Parks,
Marina, and Arts Commission or to the City Council.

3. Create 2-3 youth/teen seats on the Recreation, Parks, Marina, and Arts Commission as voting
members.

4. Youth/Teen Roundtable allow for community youth and teens to participate in the future of
development for their age groups.  Topics discussed can vary from recreation programming, park
development, or what businesses they would like to see here in Suisun City.

5. Other ideas formulated by members of the City Council or public.
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Discuss the proposed options and give direction to staff on options
determined by Council. 
 

459



DOCUMENTS ATTACHED: NONE. 
 

PREPARED BY: Kris Lofthus, Deputy City Manager
REVIEWED BY: Kris Lofthus, Deputy City Manager
APPROVED BY: Aaron Roth, Acting City Manager
 
ATTACHMENTS:

NONE

460



AGENDA ITEM NO. 15
                  AGENDA TRANSMITTAL

 
MEETING DATE: November 7, 2023
 
CITY AGENDA ITEM: Discussion of Legal and Practical Constraints on Addressing Homelessness,
and Possible Direction for Further Analysis.
 
FISCAL IMPACT: Addressing homelessness is potentially prohibitively expensive and is not likely to
be successfully solved at the city level. Enforcement and cleanup may have significant fiscal impacts. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN: Provide Good Governance. 
 
BACKGROUND: At a previous meeting, the City Council requested an informational presentation on
the constraints on addressing homelessness faced by the City, including legal constraints, staffing, and
operational needs.

At the broadest level, addressing homelessness means addressing at least three separate but related
issues: (1) addressing the impacts of homelessness on unhoused individuals, (2) addressing the causes
of homelessness to prevent people from becoming unhoused, and (3) addressing the impacts of
homelessness on a community in which unhoused people live. Each of these issues is complicated and
none afford easy solutions. However, one way to move toward solutions is to clarify the constraints that
are currently placed on the City in order to ensure that any proposed solutions will be both legal and
practically feasible. That is the goal of this staff report.

The reality is that homelessness is a complex and entrenched problem statewide, and local solutions are
unlikely to make a real dent in the issue. Homelessness has been made worse by the Great Recession,
the COVID pandemic, and the rising cost of housing. The impacts on local communities are also
difficult to address because, in addition to these challenges, public agencies are under a number of legal
constraints that protect the rights of unhoused individuals – finding the balance between mitigating
impacts of encampments and ensuring that the unhoused population is protected is a challenge we have
not been able to meet yet.
 
STAFF REPORT:  
A. Mitigating the Causes and Impacts of Homelessness
There are very few, if any, legal constraints on ways in which cities can provide supportive services to
address the impacts of homelessness on unhoused individuals or address the causes of being unhoused.
Cities may pass laws to provide for the welfare of the public and use public money and resources to
support programs that benefit the public. 

This would include funding and supporting programs aimed at helping unhoused people to find and
obtain temporary shelter and/or affordable/transitional housing, jobs and job training, food, supporting
services, transportation, mental health and/or substance abuse services, etc. 

Most of these programs, services, and funding are traditionally the responsibility of the County and
State rather than cities, and also are provided by nonprofit and faith-based organizations. The more
serious constraints on providing supportive services are usually practical or financial, not legal.

461



 

There are, however, serious legal constraints on actions that cities can take to address the impacts of
homelessness on the community in which unhoused people live.

B. Cities May Not Punish Homelessness or the Unavoidable Consequences of Being Homeless
Being unhoused is not a crime and cities cannot punish people merely for being so, including the
incidents of being unhoused, such as living/sleeping on public property, storing possessions on public
property, etc.1

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, whose rulings have the force of law in California, held in Martin v.
Boise that cities “may not criminalize conduct that is an unavoidable consequence of being homeless—
namely sitting, lying, or sleeping on the streets or other property open to the public when no sleeping
space is practically available in any shelter.”2 

 
A more recent case, Johnson v. City of Grants Pass, amplified the Martin ruling by holding that cities
cannot, consistent with the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment, enforce
anti-camping ordinances against homeless persons for the mere act of sleeping outside with
“rudimentary protection” from the elements, or for sleeping in their car at night, when there is no other
place in the city for them to go.3 Notably, the Johnson case clarified that sleeping includes using items
that are necessary to facilitate sleeping outdoors and to stay warm and dry, including blankets and
sleeping bags. The implications and scope of Martin and Johnson read together suggest that there may
be a federal right to live on public property. However, a number of issues remain to be resolved. Some
of the open questions are as follows:

Do Martin and Johnson apply to actions other than sleeping or camping? Likely, yes. The Johnson court
has found that a city cannot punish people for sleeping in their car at night when there is nowhere else
in the city from them to go.4 Furthermore, at least one court has opined that cities cannot punish
unhoused people for relieving themselves in public when there is no alternative to doing so.5 

_____________________
1 Jones v. City of Los Angeles,  444 F.3d 1118, 1132 (9th Cir. 2006), vacated, 505 F.3d 1006 (9th Cir. 2007) (“The
City could not expressly criminalize the status of homelessness by making it a crime to be homeless without
violating the Eighth Amendment”).
2 Martin v. Boise, 920 F.3d 584 (9th Cir. 2019).
3 Johnson v. City of Grants Pass, 72  F.4th 868, 891 (9th Cir. 2023).
4 Johnson v. City of Grants Pass,  72 F.4th at 896 (“We affirm the district court’s ruling that the City of Grants Pass
cannot, consistent with the Eighth Amendment, enforce its anti-camping ordinances against homeless persons for
the mere act of sleeping outside with rudimentary protection from the elements, or for sleeping in their car at night,
when there is no other place in the City for them to go.”).
5 Mahoney v. City of Sacramento, No. 220CV00258KJMCKD, 2020 WL 616302 (E.D. Cal. Feb. 10, 2020).
 
 
Do Martin and Johnson only apply to criminal enforcement?  Likely, yes, with one caveat. Several
courts have held that Martin only applies when there is a criminal penalty or prosecution.6 This means
that Martin would not apply if the only penalty was an administrative fine. At least one court has held
that the “clean and clear” of a public park (i.e., removal of a homeless encampment) was not subject to
Martin v. Boise because it did not require any arrests.7 However, the Johnson court held that Martin
also applies if there is a sequence of punishments that eventually results in criminal punishment, even if

462



the first punishments are non-criminal.8 Regardless, administrative citations are unlikely to provide any
kind of resolution to the problems faced by the unhoused and the community.

Does this mean an unhoused person can sleep wherever they want whenever they want? No. Martin
holds that “Even where shelter is unavailable, an ordinance prohibiting sitting, lying, or sleeping outside
at particular times or in particular locations might well be constitutionally permissible.”9 The Boise
ordinance that was struck down banned “camping” on all public property at all times. By way of
example, certain public property can be restricted: areas that are environmentally sensitive, property
that is reserved as open space for habitat and wildlife conservation, and public parks.

Several courts have held that the government may evict or punish people sleeping in public in some
locations, provided there are other lawful places within the jurisdiction for involuntarily homeless
individuals to sleep.10 Cities can also limit the times during which people can sleep or camp on public
property. However, at least one court has found that Martin does not allow a city to ban overnight
camping on public property citywide, even though camping would still be allowed during the day,
because most people sleep at night.11 

____________________
6 Hous. is a Hum. Right Orange Cnty. v. Cnty. of Orange, No. SACV19388PAJDEX, 2019 WL 8012374 (C.D.
Cal. Oct. 28, 2019); Quintero v. City of Santa Cruz,  No. 5:19-CV-01898-EJD, 2019 WL 1924990 (N.D. Cal. Apr.
30, 2019); Young v. City of Los Angeles, No. CV2000709JFWRAO, 2020 WL 616363 (C.D. Cal. Feb. 10, 2020);
Yeager v. City of Seattle, No. 2:20-CV-01813-RAJ, 2020 WL 7398748 (W.D. Wash. Dec. 17, 2020); O’Callaghan
v. City of Portland, No. 3:21-CV-812-AC, 2021 WL 2292344 (D. Or. June 4, 2021).
7 Le Van Hung v. Schaaf, No. 19-CV-01436-CRB, 2019 WL 1779584 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 23, 2019).
8 Johnson v. City of Grants Pass,  at 896. (“We are careful to note that, as in Martin, our decision is narrow. As in
Martin, we hold simply that it is “unconstitutional to [punish] simply sleeping somewhere in public if one has
nowhere else to do so.” Martin, 920 F.3d at 590 (Berzon, J., concurring in denial of rehearing en banc). Our
decision reaches beyond Martin slightly. We hold, where Martin did not, that class certification is not categorically
impermissible in cases such as this, that “sleeping” in the context of Martin includes sleeping with rudimentary
forms of protection from the elements, and that Martin applies to civil citations where, as here, the civil and criminal
punishments are closely intertwined. Our decision does not address a regime of purely civil infractions, nor does it
prohibit the City from attempting other solutions to the homelessness issue.”)
9 Martin v. City of Boise, 920 F.3d 584, 617 (9th Cir. 2019).
10 See, e.g., Bilodeau v. City of Medford,  2022 WL 17853323 (D. Or. 2022) (distinguishing City of Medford
anticamping ordinance from Martin because it does not impose a city-wide ban); Sausalito/Marin Cnty. Chapter of
California Homeless Union v. City of Sausalito, No. 21-cv-01143-EMC, 2021 WL 5889370, at *2 (N.D. Cal. Dec.
13, 2021) (“Martin prohibits a ban on all camping, not the proper designation of permissible areas.”); Shipp v.
Schaaf, 379 F.Supp.3d 1033, 1037 (N.D. Cal. 2019) (“However, even assuming … that [eviction from a homeless
encampment by citation or arrest] might occur, remaining at a particular encampment on public property is not
conduct protected by Martin, especially where the closure is temporary in nature.”); Aitken v. City of Aberdeen, 393
F.Supp.3d 1075, 1082 (W.D. Wash. 2019) (“ Martin does not limit the City’s ability to evict homeless individuals
from particular public places.”); Gomes v. Cty. of Kauai , 481 F.Supp.3d 1104, 1109 (D. Haw. 2020) (holding the
County of Kauai could prohibit sleeping in a public park because it had not prohibited sleeping on other public
lands); Miralle v. City of Oakland,  2018 WL 6199929, at *2 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 28, 2018) (holding the City could
clear out a specific homeless encampment because “Martin does not establish a constitutional right to occupy public
property indefinitely at Plaintiffs’ option”); Le Van Hung v. Schaaf , 2019 WL 1779584, at *5 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 23,
2019) (holding Martin does not “create a right for homeless residents to occupy indefinitely any public space of
their choosing”). 
11 Wills v. City of Monterey, 617 F. Supp. 3d 1107, 1120–21 (N.D. Cal. 2022) (“The vast majority of individuals
sleep during the evenings, not during daylight hours. The Court will not countenance that a city may constitutionally
criminalize sleeping outside during the evenings so long as it provides some public space that is available during
daytime hours. Martin cannot and does not stand for such a proposition.”).

463



 
 
1. Cities Must Respect the Property Rights of Unhoused People
Cities must respect the personal property of unhoused people and cannot dispose of it without following
legally required procedures. Specifically, cities generally cannot seize and dispose of a unhoused
person’s personal property without (a) giving prior notice and (b) providing a reasonable opportunity
for the person to be heard and to re-obtain their property.12 This does not apply to abandoned property,
but determining whether something is abandoned is often not clear-cut. When in doubt, consider the
property not abandoned. 

The City does issue a 72-hour notice before clearing homeless encampments, with a view to providing
people with enough time to remove personal property that they wish to keep. For some property left
behind, the City will also have to store the property until it is claimed or the time for claiming it
expires.13 The determination of whether certain personal property is abandoned/trash is on a case-by-
case basis. If the unhoused individual is present at the time of clean-up, City staff can ask if certain
property is being abandoned, and can dispose of it in the affirmative. Cities may reasonably refuse to
store any property due to countervailing governmental interests at stake, including the safety of City
workers during the clear-out and at its storage sites, as well as the health and safety of local
neighbors.14 State law requires that found property be kept for 90 days.15 This applies regardless of the
size of the object and it applies to animals that belong to a homeless person.16 

There is an exception to this general rule when the person’s property is creating an imminent threat to
the health and safety of the public. In this circumstance, the property could be seized or moved without
prior notice.17 The City can also dispose of trash and abandoned property immediately, without notice.
However, the City cannot “treat property as abandoned and trash just because the owner has not
removed it in the time the [City] has allotted.”18 The practicality of this is that even after a noticed
encampment cleanup, the City may be obligated to hold found property for 90 days.
 
_______________
12 Lavan v. City of Los Angeles,  693 F.3d 1022, 1032 (9th Cir. 2012); Kincaid v. City of Fresno,  No. 106CV-1445
OWW SMS, 2006 WL 3542732, at *37 (E.D. Cal. Dec. 8, 2006) (“The City’s seizure of homeless people’s personal
property without probable cause and the immediate and permanent destruction of such property without a method to
reclaim or to assert the owner’s right, title, and interest to recover such personal property violates the Fourth
Amendment to the United States Constitution and Art. I, § 13 of the California Constitution.”). Guidance about an
effective notice, storage, and hearing process is given in Kincaid at *38 (paragraph 22). See also Sullivan v. City of
Berkeley, 383 F. Supp. 3d 976 (N.D. Cal. 2019), in which the court found that Berkeley’s policy regarding practices
of collection, storage, and disposal of unattended property at homeless encampments was reasonable and not
constitutionally deficient.
13 For example, in Janosko v. City of Oakland,  No. 3:23-CV-00035-WHO, 2023 WL 3029256, at *3 (N.D. Cal.
Apr. 19, 2023), the court found that it was reasonable for the city to refuse to store ““tiny homes” and other
makeshift structures due to the unsafe and decaying nature of the materials,” and to refuse to move and store “a 20
to 40 foot long shipping container given the City’s inability to search and sort through the contents to assess
whether any are hazardous or unsafe.” 
14 San Jose Charter of Hells Angels Motorcycle Club v. City of San Jose , 402 F.3d 962, 975 (9th Cir. 2005).
15  Civil Code § 2080.2.
16 Garcia v. City of Los Angeles , 11 F.4th 1113, 1119 (9th Cir. 2021) (striking down provision in Los Angeles
ordinance that provided for destruction without notice or hearing of items that were too large to fit into a 60-gallon
trash can); Recchia v. City of Los Angeles Dep’t of Animal Servs ., 889 F.3d 553 (9th Cir. 2018) (applying Fourth
Amendment analysis where city seized and euthanized birds in possession of homeless person).

464



17 Kash Enterprises, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles , 19 Cal. 3d 294, 308, 562 P.2d 1302, 1311 (1977).
18 Kincaid v. City of Fresno,  No. 106CV-1445 OWW SMS, 2006 WL 3542732, at *37 (E.D. Cal. Dec. 8, 2006),
citing A & W Smelter and Refiners, Inc. v. Clinton,  146 F.3d 1107, 1111 (9th Cir.1998).
 

2. Cities Must Follow State Law Requirements When Closing or Limiting Access to Public
Property.
Private property owners can simply ask a person to leave their property, and if the uninvited individual
does not leave, then they are trespassing and can be arrested, regardless of whether there is any sign or
fence around the property.19 However, since public property is, by its nature, open to the public, cities
must follow special procedures to close or limit access to public property.

In order to exclude people from camping and living on certain property, the city must take action,
through an ordinance or resolution, to close that property to the public at large. Examples include
establishing hours for public parks and buildings or completely closing off certain areas of public
property to the public or closing it during certain hours. A city may not, however, close access to all
public property after a certain hour.

Finally, enforcement can become complicated when other public agencies own or control property
within the City. For example, it is likely that the City lacks authority to clear homeless encampments
within the right-of-way of a state highway,2 0  although the City can partner with Caltrans and the
County sheriff to address this issue. 

3. City Ordinances Must Be Clear and Cannot Be Enforced in a Way That Targets Unhoused
People.
An ordinance must be sufficiently clear in its standards that it does not leave the public uncertain about
what conduct it prohibits.21 It does not have to be perfectly clear, but there must be at least a
“reasonable degree of certainty.”22 In the 2014 case of Desertrain v. City of Los Angeles , the court
struck down an ordinance that prohibited using a vehicle “as living quarters” because it was unclear
what actions would violate the ordinance – sleeping in the vehicle? During the day or only at night?
Eating in the vehicle? Storing personal belongings in the vehicle? Using a vehicle to get out of the
rain?23 However, in 2018, in the case of People v. Diaz , the court found that a similar ordinance in San
Diego was not unconstitutionally vague, even though it did not define what it meant to use a vehicle as
a “living quarters” or “place of habitation.”2 4 One takeaway here is that courts may differ on what
exactly counts as too vague, but it is best to err on the side of clarity. A second takeaway is that it is
often very challenging to define something as seemingly obvious as “living quarters” or “place of
habitation.”

Furthermore, regardless of whether the ordinance leaves room for interpretation, cities cannot enforce
otherwise neutral laws in a way that intentionally singles out homeless people for enforcement.25 
 
_______________
19 See Penal Code § 602(o) (Trespassing includes “[r]efusing or failing to leave land, real property, or structures
belonging to or lawfully occupied by another and not open to the general public…”).
20 Where Do We Go Berkeley v. California Dep’t of Transportation , 32 F.4th 852, 855 (9th Cir. 2022) (“California
law provides Caltrans with “full possession and control” of state highways and property acquired for state highway
purposes.”); see Streets and Highways Code § 90.
21 Desertrain v. City of Los Angeles,  754 F.3d 1147, 1155 (9th Cir. 2014).

465



22 Allen v. City of Sacramento, 234 Cal. App. 4th 41, 54 (2015).
23 Desertrain, at 1155-56.
24 People v. Diaz, 24 Cal. App. 5th Supp. 1, 7 (Cal. App. Dep’t Super. Ct. 2018) (“The reasonable and practical
construction of the ordinance here is clear—it is intended to prevent people from living in their vehicles on city
streets. The language of the ordinance is sufficiently clear to inform persons that they may not use their vehicles as
homes on any street, as well as to inform law enforcement that a person utilizing his or her vehicle for a purpose that
does not turn the vehicle into a place of residence does not violate this ordinance. While there may be circumstances
where the facts are open to conflicting interpretations, that does not render the ordinance unconstitutional—it
simply creates a factual issue for the court.”).
25 Ashbaucher v. City of Arcata  (N.D.Cal., Aug. 19, 2010, No. CV 08-2840 MHP (NJV)) 2010 U.S. Dist. Lexis
126627, pp. *47–48 (complaint alleging selective enforcement of ordinances against the homeless states an equal
protection claim), cited in Allen v. City of Sacramento,  234 Cal. App. 4th 41, 64 (2015). “Selective enforcement of
laws that are neutral on their face is not a denial of equal protection “unless there is shown to be present in it an
element of intentional or purposeful discrimination.” Ashbaucher v. City of Arcata, at *12, citing Snowden v.
Hughes, 321 U.S. 1, 8 (1944). 
 

4. City can exclude people from environmentally sensitive areas.
Another option the City has to prevent access to certain areas of City property is to designate such
property as an environmentally sensitive area, and post no trespassing signs. Before taking such actions,
it is recommended that the City obtain a report from a biologist determining that the area is
environmentally sensitive. Moreover, as the City is the owner of the property, the City’s police
department may enforce this.

For example, if a third party biologist studies the City’s canals and determines that they are
environmentally sensitive, that would provide grounds for the City to post no trespassing signs stating
that the area is environmentally sensitive. The City can use this as a method to prohibit unhoused
persons from camping in the canal areas. It should be noted, however, that not all canals belong to the
City, and the City may not have enforcement authority over canals owned by other governmental
agencies.

Although not entirely on point, the Ninth Circuit decision in Where Do We Go Berkeley et. al v.
California Department of Transportation, No. 21-16790 (9th Cir. 2022) (“CalTrans”) provides insight
into how courts may adjudicate claims brought under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA)
against public entities attempting to clear homeless encampments and suggests that homeless advocates
may have a more difficult time making a case for ADA protection for homeless persons in
environmentally sensitive areas.

In this case, it was alleged that Caltrans violated the ADA through evictions associated with clearing
outdoor encampments situated along a freeway exit ramp. The district court granted an injunction that
required Caltrans to give homeless individuals six months to relocate and find housing before clearing
the encampments, reasoning that the ADA required the program to give “reasonable accommodation” to
disabled homeless persons, who need more time before being evicted.

However, the Ninth Circuit vacated the injunction delaying the eviction of homeless persons following
Caltrans’ attempt to clear its property. In particular, the Ninth Circuit ruled that the district court erred
in its merits analysis in finding that a serious question existed as to whether Caltrans violated the ADA
merely because it found the Plaintiffs’ claim to be plausible. Here, Caltrans categorizes the most
dangerous encampments as level 1 camps that pose a critical safety concern requiring urgent relocation.
As a general rule, Caltrans provides 72 hours’ notice to vacate level 1 encampments, but notice is not

466



required. Therefore, the Ninth Circuit found a six-month delay to be a fundamental alteration of
Caltrans’s programs. In addition, the Ninth Circuit founds that the district court erred when balancing
the equities by inappropriately mitigating the harm to Caltrans on the basis of availability of a separate
Caltrans property for relocation.

It is clear that the opinion was influenced by Caltrans’ need to protect public safety, including that of
the homeless persons. Caltrans’ tiered program focuses on clearing areas where it is most dangerous to
allow homeless encampments to remain, while taking a more hands-off approach to less dangerous
Caltrans properties.

Relying on the reasoning of the Caltrans case, the City can argue that allowing individuals to live in
environmentally sensitive areas, including providing a 6 month lead time for disabled individuals, is
counter to the purpose of the open space and constitutes a fundamental alteration of the City’s open
space and habitat conservation programs.

5. City can adopt an ordinance for the protection of critical infrastructure, wildfire, and flood-
risk areas.
The City can also protect certain areas of City property by adopting an ordinance similar to one recently
adopted by the City of Fairfield.  

On July 18, 2023, the City of Fairfield adopted an urgency ordinance relating to the protection of critical
infrastructure, wildfire, flood risk areas, and youth-serving facilities. In the ordinance, the Fairfield City
Council found that destruction of, damage to, or interference with, critical infrastructure is often caused
by persons whose activities are not permitted or authorized in, on , or near critical infrastructure and
that allow debris or personal items to accumulate in storm channels, dry creeks or other water outlets
causes the potential to block outlets to such channels, dry creeks or other water outlets during periods of
heavy rains that created dangerous flooding conditions that pose a danger to the life and safety of those
who accumulate such debris, and also pose a danger to the health and safety of the property and
community in the surrounding area.

Accordingly, the ordinance prohibits and declares it a public nuisance for any person to camp, occupy
an encampment, or store any personal property at or near any critical infrastructure. Critical
infrastructure, as defined in the ordinance, may include:

1 ) Flood protection facilities, meaning those physical structural works which have been constructed
specifically to modify flooding in order to reduce the extent of the areas within a community subject to
flooding and the extent of the depths of associated flooding, such as levees, pumps, drainage ditches,
access and patrol roads, and related facilities; or

2) Real property or a facility, whether privately or publicly owned, designated by resolution of the City
Council as being so vital and integral to the operation or functioning of the City that its damage,
incapacity, disruption, or destruction would have a debilitating impact on the public health, safety, or
welfare.

3) Government buildings, such as fire stations, police stations, jails, or courthouses; hospitals;
structures, such as antennas, bridges, roads, train tracks, or drainage systems; or systems, such as
computer networks, public utilities, electrical wires, natural gas pipes, telecommunication centers, or
water sources; parks; and youth-serving facilities. 

The City can adopt a similar ordinance to protect its critical infrastructure, including the City-owned

467



canals. Moreover, in such ordinance, the City can set forth procedures for abatement and the removal of
property. For example, the City can set forth procedures for issuing 72-hour notices to vacate illegal
camp sites and for removal of debris. Many other California cities, such as Vallejo, have been utilizing
such notices. The notice indicates that any personal property left at the site after 72-hours will be
impounded by the City and that any personal property not be disposed of will be stored for 90 days. The
72-hour notices in other cities typically provide information regarding available shelter beds, free bus
passes to the listed shelter and vaccine sites, and information regarding the retrieval of items removed
during the planned clean-up.

6. City can implement a safe parking program.
Nearby public agencies, including the City of Fairfield, have started programs where unhoused
individuals living in their vehicles are provided with a safe place to park at night and a place to park
during the day that is not in residential neighborhoods and with opportunities to engage with resources
and services. 

For example, the City of Fairfield has partnered with City Church to provide unhoused individuals
nightly parking, showers, dinner, breakfast, and security from 4:00 p.m. to 8:00 a.m. Cities can partner
with faith-based organizations, provided the services are in no way linked to participation in religious
purposes.26  

Such a program can create opportunities for safe and secure places for automobile and RV dwellers to
park and sleep, reduce the number of people living in their vehicles on City streets, decrease
enforcement actions and resulting legal costs to homeless individuals and the City, and provide
resources to secure permanent housing and economic stability. The scattered safe parking sites pilot
program would allow a variety of community-based organizations, such as non-profits and educational
institutions, to become host sites for vehicle households. These organizations have a compatible parking
demand profile and may be able to fill certain niches of safe parking demand.

Moreover, such a program can permit safe parking sites as an accessory use to an assembly use, quasi-
public facility, or public facility regardless of underlying zoning district. Such uses include community
assembly, cultural facility, government building, public use, public safety facility, quasi-public and
social service center. The ordinance can establish a ministerial permitting process subject to objective
standards. The standards included in such ordinances primarily address fire and life safety
considerations and ensure quality-of-life for vehicle dwellers and minimizing off-site impacts.
 
7. City can help transport unhoused individuals to the future Vallejo Navigation Center which
provides available shelter.
The City of Vallejo is constructing the Vallejo Navigation Center, which will be a “one-stop-shop” that
will provide services and shelter critical to helping address homelessness. The center will offer 125
shelter beds for six months (with potential extensions if a housing plan is made) and provide individual
case management, connecting people to social, and medical services. Participants will also have access
to job training and be assisted in becoming prepared to secure and sustain permanent housing. The
center will serve approximately 200 people annually. The project is projected to be completed in June
2024.

The City can potentially coordinate with the City of Vallejo to transport unhoused individuals to the
Navigation Center to utilize its services. State or federal law do not provide much guidance on how far
is too far to transport unhoused individuals to obtain shelter. This is also relevant with respect to
enforcement of camping ordinances – the issue the court will look at is not just how far the shelter is,

468



but also the ability to reach it. So a shelter that is a couple of miles away may be close enough if
transportation is readily available, but may otherwise be too far.

Additionally, forcibly relocating homeless individuals, even within the same county, can raise legal
issues related to civil rights, due process, and the right to travel. These legal protections must be
considered when formulating and implementing policies or practices related to such relocation to the
Navigation Center.

8. Converting the Plaza to a park that can be closed at night.
City staff is drafting proposed amendments to the Waterfront District Specific Plan and made a
proposed adjustment to include the City Plaza as a Civic designation which could potentially allow for
the area to be a park. These changes are part of the SB 2 LEAP funding; staff already had a workshop
with Planning Commission, and the workshop before Council is included on tonight’s agenda. The
amendments should come before you for adoption in December or January. This issue is discussed in
more detail in the relevant agenda item.
 
_______________
26 Community House, Inc. v. City of Boise  (9th Cir. 2007) 490 F.3d 1041.
 

Summary
In summary, a city may not punish someone merely for being homeless and may not punish the actions
of a homeless person that are the unavoidable consequence of being homeless. Furthermore, cities must
respect the personal property rights of homeless people and can only prohibit homeless people from
entering onto and staying on public property based on regulations that apply to the public at large.
Finally, city regulations aiming to address homelessness must clearly describe any prohibited conduct
and city regulations cannot be selectively enforced in ways that intentionally target homeless people.

C . Staffing and Operational Needs, and Other Constraints on Addressing the Impacts of
Homelessness on Public Property
The City Attorney’s Office requested feedback from City’s departments to obtain an overall
understanding of the challenges faced. Here are some of the issues:
 

Fencing along the City’s canals:
Installing and maintaining fencing may be costly. The cost would be increased by each
required gate, and surveys and legal descriptions need to be completed to ensure the fences
are installed along the City’s property line.
Fencing can limit access points for emergency services like Fire, and thus slow their
response times. Although Fire has the necessary equipment to overcome such barriers, it
can still pose a challenge during critical situations.
Most drainage agencies have provisions for placing barriers within their hydraulic system,
especially during peak water flow. As a result, we may encounter pushback from these
agencies when requiring the installation of a fence.
Maintenance access to address overgrowth and other issues becomes a challenge when
ingress/egress can be taken from one access point. This makes for a long haul if the agency
is removing trash, overgrowth, etc.
Finally, the City has some areas where it maintains a ditch or drainage system, which could
be protected by installing fencing.
Traditional Policing Limits: Standard policing methods of encouragement, education, and

469



enforcement are not effective in addressing homelessness. Ideally, the Police Department
would staff a specially trained officer to bridge the gap between law enforcement and
social services. However staffing and budgetary limitations prevent that role currently.
SCPD is budgeted for 24 officers, and in order to meet operational guidelines, should be
staffed at 28. It is therefore unlikely that an additional officer at this time could be
dedicated to this work.
Solano county has no single point of access for the unhoused. The county and city lack
nighttime resources or options. CARE Court may be helpful in connect those unhoused
populations with mental illness to be connected with healthcare resources. 

 
Potential Physical Interventions:

The City can require property owners to install fences around vacant and undeveloped lots.
The City can fence City park facilities or create and enforce park curfews for public safety.
Fencing is not required for enforcement, but signage will be.
Enforcement might be challenging based on staffing.

 
Long-Term Issues related to Displacing Homeless Individuals:

Enforcement at times results in moving homeless populations without solving underlying
issues. Accordingly, there should be an emphasis on identifying comprehensive solutions
beyond displacement. The City can utilize a holistic approach with integrated efforts:

Strengthening connections between our unhoused community with law enforcement,
mental health, addiction, and housing services.
Focusing on comprehensive long-term solutions to avoid fatigue in moving unhoused
populations from one place to the next. 

 
Illegal Dumping & Homeless Encampment Cleanup Cost Last Calendar Year

 
Staff & Equipment Costs were approximately $60,000.
Staff Recommendation for clean up crew: Add one full-time public works maintenance
staff to solely address up illegal dumping and homeless encampments throughout the city
in ROWs and city properties (~$125,000 annual cost). 

Staff member would receive support from current Public Works maintenance staff as
needed (for larger cleanups that require more than one person) and from Police
Department and Code Enforcement.

 
D. Addressing impacts of homelessness on private property
Addressing the impacts of homeless encampments on private property can be just as challenging. This
report does not fully analyze the issues, but by way of summary:
 

Property owners are responsible for maintaining their properties in compliance with the City’s
property maintenance provisions. Unfenced vacant properties, whether improved or not, are
difficult to maintain.
Private property owners may remove individuals who are living on their property as trespassers,
and depending on circumstances may need to initiate unlawful detainer proceedings. This can be
time consuming.
City may use enforcement tools, these are expensive and time consuming. In some instances, the
City can seek cost recovery after the fact – receivership and public nuisance abatement are two
mechanisms that allow for cost recovery. Here, the private property rights of owners are
implicated, in addition to due process and civil rights of the unhoused.

 

470



STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  It is recommended that the City Council receive the report from City
staff and provide direction to staff if desired. 
 
 
 
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED:

1. PowerPoint Presentation 
 

PREPARED BY: Elena Gerli, City Attorney
REVIEWED BY: Aaron Roth, Acting City Manager
APPROVED BY: Aaron Roth, Acting City Manager
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. PowerPoint Presentation - Legal update homelessness.pdf
1 Blank Page - THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.pdf

471

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2267335/1.__PowerPoint_Presentation_-_Legal_update_homelessness.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2267378/1_Blank_Page_-_THIS_PAGE_INTENTIONALLY_LEFT_BLANK.pdf


Homelessness
and

the Law

November 7, 2023

Elena Gerli, City Attorney

Addressing homelessness

•Report addresses primarily public property

•Complex issue

•Difficult to tackle at the local level
•Resource intensive (= $$)

1

2

472



Supportive services

• The biggest stumbling block are limitations to resources (programs,
housing, outreach, mental health services, job training, etc.)

• Unhoused persons cannot be compelled to accept assistance

Cannot Punish 
Homelessness 

or the 
Incidents of 

Homelessness

• Laws cannot criminalize being unhoused. This
includes incidents of homelessness, such as
tents, sleeping bags, shopping carts

• Camping ordinances cannot be enforced on
public property (especially at night) if no
beds/shelter are available

• Cruel and unusual punishment (Johnson v.
City of Grants Pass)

• Camping ordinances can be enforced on public
property that is closed to the public, permanently
or during specific times

• Laws must be clear, and facially neutral laws
should not be enforced to impact the unhoused

3

4

473



Access to 
Public 

Property

• City cannot restrict access to public property
except:
• Limiting hours to certain public facilities, e.g.,
closing parks at night

• Prohibiting access to environmentally sensitive
areas

• May be able to designate certain areas as
parks and limit access to daytime
hours/special events
• Newport Beach, Irvine, Long Beach, and Berkeley
have designated their civic centers as parks, with
hours of operation and times they are closed to
the public

• Cannot preclude access to all public property
• When close off or limit hours to certain
property, must apply to all

Property 
Rights of the 
Unhoused

• Found personal property must be stored for up to 90 days,
per state and federal law

• Generally cannot seize and dispose of a unhoused person’s
personal property without (a) giving prior notice and (b)
providing a reasonable opportunity for the person to be
heard and to re‐obtain their property

• “The City’s seizure of homeless people’s personal property
without probable cause and the immediate and permanent
destruction of such property without a method to reclaim
or to assert the owner’s right, title, and interest to recover
such personal property violates the Fourth Amendment to
the United States Constitution and Art. I, § 13 of the
California Constitution.” Lavan v. City of Los Angeles

5

6

474



Protection of 
Critical 

Infrastructure

• City can adopt an ordinance for the protection of critical
infrastructure, wildfire, and flood‐risk areas (e.g., Fairfield)
• Flood protection facilities (levees, pumps, drainage ditches etc);

• Any property or facility designated by Council as critical to to the
operation or functioning of the City that its damage, or destruction
would have a debilitating impact on the public health, safety, or
welfare;

• City buildings such as fire stations, police stations, jails, or
courthouses; hospitals; structures, such as antennas, bridges, roads,
train tracks, or drainage systems; or systems, such as computer
networks, public utilities, electrical wires, natural gas pipes,
telecommunication centers, or water sources; parks; and youth‐
serving facilities.

Safe Parking 
Program

Vallejo 
Navigation 

Center

• Safe Parking Program:
• Unhoused individuals living in their vehicles are
provided with a safe place to park at night and a place
to park during the day that is not in residential
neighborhoods and with opportunities to engage with
resources and services

• Partner with other cities and/or service providers?

• Vallejo Navigation Center:
• Can this be considered a shelter for our purposes?

• Distance and availability of transportation may be
determinative

• A shelter that is too far from an unhoused person’s
“home” or too difficult to reach may not be sufficient
to meet constitutional muster

7

8

475



Enforcement 
on Private 
Property

• Property owners are responsible for maintaining their
properties in compliance with the City’s property
maintenance provisions. Unfenced vacant properties,
whether improved or not, are difficult to maintain.

• Private property owners may remove individuals who are
living on their property as trespassers, and depending on
circumstances may need to initiate unlawful detainer
proceedings. This can be time consuming.

• City may use enforcement tools, these are expensive and
time consuming. In some instances, the City can seek cost
recovery after the fact – receivership and public nuisance
abatement are two mechanisms that allow for cost
recovery. Here, the private property rights of owners are
implicated, in addition to due process and civil rights of the
unhoused.

Operational 
issues

• Enforcement challenges:
• Fencing: cost of fencing; cost of surveying property to make sure

fencing is correctly placed; potential emergency crew access
limitations

• Staffing: ideally a PD liaison or someone designated to working with
the unhoused, but not likely based on shortfall and budget
limitations

• Interference with drainage facilities

• Removal of weed and trash more cumbersome

• Multi‐departmental effort: Public Works, PD, Code Enforcement

• For Council consideration:
• Require private property owners to secure vacant lots/abandoned

properties

• Additional PW staff solely to address clean ups (~$125,000/yr). Clean
up costs last FY ~ $60,000.

9

10

476



QUESTIONS?QUESTIONS?

11

477



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

478



AGENDA ITEM NO. 16
                  AGENDA TRANSMITTAL

 
MEETING DATE: November 7, 2023
 
CITY AGENDA ITEM: Council Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-____:  Authorizing the Interim
City Manager Employment Agreement between the City of Suisun City and Acting City Manager Aaron
Roth.
 
FISCAL IMPACT: The Agreement provides the Interim City Manager with an additional two (2)
months of severance pay, totaling $46,000, which becomes payable only in the event the City acts to
severe its employment relationship with Aaron Roth in either his role as Interim City Manager or as
Chief of Police. This additional two months of severance pay will only be due if the City acts to sever
Aaron Roth’s employment before May 7, 2026, unless the Agreement is extended.
 
STRATEGIC PLAN: The City of Suisun City seeks to provide for active, effective, and efficient City
operations, including managing the recruitment and hiring process for a permanent City Manager. The
recruitment and hiring process is expected to take the better part of six months. In the meantime, the
City needs an engaged and effective Interim City Manager. Chief of Police Aaron Roth was appointed
as Acting City Manager by a unanimous Council on September 30, 2023. He has the experience,
temperament, and deep knowledge of City operations, personnel, and history needed to achieve those
goals as Suisun City’s Interim City Manager.
 
BACKGROUND: On September 20, 2023, the City Council appointed Chief of Police Aaron Roth to
the position of Acting City Manager to fill the vacancy created when City Manager Greg Folsom
resigned. To ensure the active, effective, and efficient continuation of City operations, the City Council
is now considering entering into an Interim City Manager Employment Agreement (the “Agreement”)
with Acting City Manager Aaron Roth. 
 
STAFF REPORT: The main deal points of the Agreement are as follows:
 

1. TERM: The initial term of the Agreement is six months, or the date a permanent City Manager is
hired, whichever occurs first. The Interim City Manager further agrees that the term may be
extended by three months, if a permanent City Manager has not been hired within the initial term.

2. RETURN TO CHIEF OF POLICE: The Agreement provides that the Interim City Manager will
return to his position as Chief of Police, when his position as Interim City Manager is completed.
He will return to the compensation and all benefits he enjoyed as Chief of Police before he
stepped in as Acting City Manager, except for the increased severance described in Section 4
below.

3. COMPENSATION: The annual compensation for the Interim City Manager is $275,000, or
$22,916 per month. This is substantially equivalent to the $22,890 per month currently earned by
Mr. Roth as Acting City Manager. The Acting City Manager compensation was determined
pursuant to the Amended and Restated Schedule of Benefits for Unrepresented Employees
adopted by Resolution No. 2022-55 (Article III, Section 01), which indicates that 10% is to be
added to an unrepresented employee’s compensation when they are asked to step into the acting
city manager role.

4. SEVERANCE: The Agreement provides the Interim City Manager with an additional two months

479



of severance pay, bringing the Interim City Manager’s severance pay to six months. The Interim
City Manager Agreement extends the extra two months of severance pay for an additional two
years after the Interim City Manager returns to his role as Chief of Police.

5. BENEFITS: The Interim City Manager shall retain all the same benefits he held as Chief of
Police during his time as Interim City Manager.

6. AT-WILL STATUS: The Interim City Manager is an “at-will” employee, serving at the pleasure
of the City Council, and may be terminated without any right to notice or hearing, subject to the
terms of the Agreement.

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the City Council:

Adopt Resolution No. 2023-___:  Authorizing the Execution of the Interim City Manager Employment
Agreement between the City of Suisun City and Aaron Roth, Acting City Manager.
 
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED:

1. Resolution No. 2023-___:  Authorizing the Execution of the Interim City Manager Employment
Agreement between the City of Suisun City and Aaron Roth, Acting City Manager.

 

PREPARED BY: Floy Andrews, Assistant City Attorney
REVIEWED BY: Elena Gerli, City Attorney
APPROVED BY: Elena Gerli, City Attorney
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Resolution Approving the Interim City Manager Employment Agreement.pdf

480

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2264311/1.__Resolution_Approving_the_Interim_City_Manager_Employment_Agreement.pdf


481



482



483



484



485



486



487



488



489



490



491



492



493



494



495



496



AGENDA ITEM NO. 17
                  AGENDA TRANSMITTAL

 
MEETING DATE: November 7, 2023
 
CITY AGENDA ITEM: Suisun City Municipal Code Update:
 

a. Council Introduction and Waive First Reading of Ordinance No. ___: An Ordinance of the City
Council of the City of Suisun City, California, Repealing Chapter 1.16 (Administrative
Compliance Orders) and Amending Chapter 1.20 (Administrative Citations) to Title 1 (General
Provisions); and Amending Sections 1.08.030, 5.04.460, 5.16.240, 6.07.040(B), 8.040.050(U),
8.10.150(E), 9.16.010(F), 9.21.040, 9.28.080(B), 12.12.090, 121.24.050, 12.32.120, 15.04.090,
and 21.08.020(A) of the Suisun City Municipal Code; and

b. Discussion and possible action on a Resolution of the City Council of the City of Suisun City,
California, Establishing the Administrative Penalty Schedule for Violations of the Suisun City
Municipal Code.

 
FISCAL IMPACT: Unknown at this time; increased costs related to enforcement will depend on
policy direction.
 
STRATEGIC PLAN: Provide Good Governance.
 
BACKGROUND: Early in 2023, the Mayor appointed Councilmember Dawson and then-
Councilmember Hudson to the Illegal Dumping and Trash Ad Hoc Committee. The committee met with
department heads and the City Attorney to address ways in which the City could strengthen its
Municipal Code to minimize the impact of illegal dumping and accumulation of trash throughout the
City.

Recently, the Council considered and adopted updates to Chapters 8.08 (Solid Wastes) and 8.12 (Public
Nuisances). In order to more efficiently enforce the updated ordinances, as well as any other code
provision, the City Attorney’s Office proposes to update the civil fines provisions in the municipal
code, removing references to specific civil fine amounts from the municipal code, and adoption of a
civil fine schedule by city council resolution.
 
STAFF REPORT:  
Proposed Ordinance
 
The proposed ordinance would repeal Chapter 1.16, update Chapter 1.08, revise and clarify the entirety
of Chapter 1.20, and update and remove provisions throughout the code imposing civil fines for
violations, so that such civil fines can be adopted by resolution of the City Council.
 
The ordinance would make the following changes:
 
(i)    Amend Section 1.08.030 such that the fines for infractions will track the fine Government Code
Section 36900. These are not civil fines, but the language cleanup is included as it will be beneficial for
enforcement. The reason for this update to the language is that Section 36900 is amended periodically –

497



to wit, since we adopted the fines in our code, the statute has added infraction fine amounts for building
code violations and for violations of short term rentals ordinances. These added fines are higher, so we
don’t want our code to inadvertently limit the amount of fines that can be charged.

(ii)    Repeal Chapter 1.16 (Administrative Compliance Orders) of the SCMC as it is duplicative of
other provisions in the SCMC and is currently not being utilized.

(iii)    Amend Chapter 1.20 (Administrative Citations) to clarify the process for the issuance of
administrative citations and imposition of civil fines for violations of SCMC provisions. 

    Some examples include added definitions and language clean-ups, a section that expressly authorizes
the City to contract for administrative citation processing, which would include processing appeals and
recovery of fines, and a change from a hearing board to hear appeals to a hearing officer.

(iv)    In order to make civil fines more consistent and easier to determine, the City Attorney also
proposes to amend code sections that include specific fine amounts. (Note that Section 18.86.070 also
should be amended, but will need to be reviewed by Planning Commission before it can be amended.
That process has been started,)
 
         Some examples include added definitions and language clean-ups, a section that expressly
authorizes the City to contract for administrative citation processing, which would include processing
appeals and recovery of fines, and a change from a hearing board to hear appeals to a hearing officer.
 
(iv)    In order to make civil fines more consistent and easier to determine, the City Attorney also
proposes to amend code sections that include specific fine amounts. (Note that Section 18.86.070 also
should be amended, but will need to be reviewed by Planning Commission before it can be amended.
That process has been started,)
 
Proposed Resolution
Additionally, this agenda item proposes a resolution which would establish the administrative penalty
schedule by setting forth the fines for violations of the municipal code.
 
The resolution proposes three tiers of penalty fines for violations of the SCMC. It should be noted that
the Council can provide direction on amounts and how many tiers, the resolution is a template and can
be easily amended.
 
Tier 1 fines would be $100 for the first violation; $200 for the second violation; and $500 for the third
and subsequent violations within a 12-month period. These fines apply to all violations unless indicated
in the resolution. These fine amount are in line with what most cities have adopted, and match the fines
provided in the Government Code for infractions.
 
Tier 2 Fines would be $500 for the first violation; $750 for the second violation; and $1,000 for the third
and subsequent violations within a 12-month period. Tier 2 fines are suggested for violations of Chapter
8.04 (Fireworks), Chapter 8.08 (Solid Wastes), Chapter 8.12 (Public Nuisances), Chapter 13.10
(Stormwater Management and Discharge Control), and Title 15 (Buildings and Construction).
 
Tier 3 Fines would be $1,000 for the first violation; $2,500 for the second violation; and $5,000 for the
third and subsequent violations within a 12-month period. Right now we have no suggestions for
specific codes at this level of fines, and are open to direction from the Council – the Council may decide
to leave this tier blank for now, and only move certain code violations here if additional enforcement

498



power is desired at some point, or decide to remove this tier altogether.
 
The resolution also establishes that any penalty amount imposed pursuant to Chapter 1.20 of the SCMC
and the resolution will be deemed delinquent if is not timely paid. The delinquency penalty will be
equal to 3% of the amount of the penalty remaining unpaid to the City. The delinquent penalty is also a
suggestion and can be removed or changed at council’s direction.
 
The City Attorney requests direction from Council on the fines resolution, and recommends adoption on
the same day as ordinance adoption so that the fines are not adopted before the code changes.
 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: It is recommended that the City Council:
 

a. Introduce and Conduct First Reading of Ordinance No. ___: An Ordinance of the City Council of
the City of Suisun City, California, Repealing Chapter 1.16 (Administrative Compliance Orders)
and Amending Chapter 1.20 (Administrative Citations) to Title 1 (General Provisions); and
Amending Sections 1.08.030, 5.04.460, 5.16.240, 6.07.040(B), 8.040.050(U), 8.10.150(E),
9.16.010(F), 9.21.040, 9.28.080(B), 12.12.090, 121.24.050, 12.32.120, 15.04.090, and
21.08.020(A) of the Suisun City Municipal Code; and

b. Discussion and possible action on a Resolution of the City Council of the City of Suisun City,
California, Establishing the Administrative Penalty Schedule for Violations of the Suisun City
Municipal Code.

 
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED:

1. Ordinance Amendment Civil Fines (Redline Version)
2. Ordinance Amendment Civil Fines (Clean Version)
3. Resolution Establishing the Administrative Penalty Schedule for Violations of the Suisun City

Municipal Code
4. PowerPoint Presentation

 

PREPARED BY: Elena Gerli, City Attorney
REVIEWED BY: Aaron Roth, Acting City Manager
APPROVED BY: Aaron Roth, Acting City Manager
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Ordinance Amendment Civil Fines Changes Redline Version.pdf
2. Ordinance Amendment Civil Fines Changes Clean Version.pdf
3. Resolution Establishing the Administrative Penalty Schedule for Violations of the Suisun City
Municipal Code.pdf
4. PowerPoint Presentation Proposed Updates to Administrative Penalties.pdf
1 Blank Page - THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.pdf

499

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2255611/1.__Ordinance_Amendment_Civil_Fines_Changes.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2255612/2.__Ordinance_Amendment_Civil_Fines_Changes_Clean_Version.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2255613/3.__Resolution_Establishing_the_Administrative_Penalty_Schedule_for_Violations_of_the_Suisun_City_Municipal_Code.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2256557/4.__PowerPoint_Presentation_Proposed_Updates_to_Administrative_Penalties.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2267382/1_Blank_Page_-_THIS_PAGE_INTENTIONALLY_LEFT_BLANK.pdf


 

01107.0028/925657.5  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

ORDINANCE NO.   

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN 

CITY, CALIFORNIA, REPEALING CHAPTER 1.16 

(ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLIANCE ORDERS) AND AMENDING 

CHAPTER 1.20 (ADMINISTRATIVE CITATIONS) TO TITLE 1 

(GENERAL PROVISIONS); AND AMENDING SECTIONS 1.08.030, 

5.16.240, 6.07.040(B), 8.040.050(U), 8.10.150(E), 9.16.010(F), 9.21.040, 

9.28.080(B), 12.12.090, 121.24.050, 12.32.120, 15.04.090, AND 21.08.020(A) 

OF THE SUISUN CITY MUNICIPAL CODE 

WHEREAS, the City of Suisun City is a general law city in the County of Solano, State 

of California. 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Suisun City Municipal Code (SCMC), fines are levied as 

an incident of a voluntary act of an individual or business and not the result of property 

ownership. 

WHEREAS, the City is responsible for enforcement of the SCMC in its entirety. 

WHEREAS, the SCMC includes Chapter 1.16 (Administrative Compliance Orders), 

which is duplicative of other provisions in the SCMC, and which is not being utilized. 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the amount of civil fines imposed for violations 

of municipal code provisions should be removed from the SCMC and adopted by resolution for 

consistency and ease of use. 

WHEREAS, the City Council desires to amend and update the provisions throughout 

the SCMC to provide clarity and consistency. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY 

ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: The above recitals are correct and incorporated herein by reference. 

SECTION 2: Chapter 1.16 (Administrative Compliance Orders) of Title 1 (General 

Provisions) of the Suisun Municipal Code is repealed and deleted in its entirety. 

SECTION 3: Section 1.08.030 (Infraction penalty) of Chapter 1.08 (General Penalty) 

of Title 1 (General Provisions) is amended to read: 

Any person convicted of an infraction for violation of an ordinance of the city is 

punishable by: 

A. A fine not exceeding $100.00 for a first violation; 

500



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 2 of 20 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

B. A fine not exceeding $200.00 for a second violation of the same ordinance 

within one year; 

C. A fine not exceeding $500.00 for each additional violation of the same ordinance 

within one year. a fine as provided for in Section 36900 of the Government Code, including 

any amendments or successor statutes thereto. 

SECTION 4: Chapter 1.20 (Administrative Citations) of Title 1 (General Provisions) 

of the Suisun Municipal Code is repealed and replaced with the following: 

1.20.010 - Applicability. 

A. This chapter provides for administrative citations which are in addition to all 

other legal and equitable remedies and provides an alternative to any criminal prosecutions 

which may be pursued by the city to address any violation of Title 5, 6, 8, 9, 10, 12, 13, 15, 16, 

17, 18, 21 of this code or of any regulations adopted under the authority of this code. 

B. Use of the remedies and procedures of this chapter shall be at the city’s sole 

discretion, of the enforcement officers and enforcement officials authorized to proceed under 

this chapter and shall not limit or preclude the use of criminal or civil injunctive code 

enforcement proceedings in addition or in conjunction with this chapter. 

1.20.020 - Definitions. 

For purposes of this chapter, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings 

respectively ascribed to them in this section: 

“City” means the City of Suisun City. 

“City manager” means the city’s City Manager, and shall include their designee. 

“Enforcement officer” means any city employee or agent of the city with the authority 

to enforce any provision of this code to which this chapter is applicable. 

“Enforcement official” means the principal supervisor of a department or a division of 

a department to which an enforcement officer is empowered to issue administrative citations 

under this chapter. 

“Finance director” means the city’s Director of Finance and shall include their designee. 

“Person” means an individual or entity of any kind. 

1.20.030 - Description of citationAdministrative citations. 

501



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 3 of 20 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

A. Whenever an enforcement officer determines that a violation of any provision 

of this code to which this chapter is applicable has occurred, the enforcement officer shall have 

the authority to issue an administrative citation to any person responsible for the violation. 

B. Prior to the issuance of an administrative citation for a violation which pertains 

to building, plumbing, electrical, or similar structural or zoning matters that does not create an 

immediate danger to health or safety, the enforcement officer shall provide a reasonable period 

of time not less that five business days to correct or otherwise remedy the violation.For 

violations that are not  

CB. Each administrative citation shall contain the following information: 

1. The date of the violation; 

2. The address or a definite description of the location where the violation occurred 

or is occurring; 

3. The code section or sections of this code violated and a description of the acts 

or omissions constituting the violation; 

4. The amount of the penalty for the code violation, which amount shall be set by 

city council resolution; 

5. A description of the penalty payment process, including a description of the time 

within which and the place to which the penalty shall be paid; 

6. An order prohibiting the continuation or repeated occurrence of the code 

violation described in the administrative citation; 

67. A description of the administrative citation review process, including the time 

within which the administrative citation may be contested and the place from which a request 

for hearing form to contest the administrative citation may be obtained; and 

78. The name and signature of the enforcement officer. 

C. Prior to the issuance of an administrative citation for a violation which pertains 

to building, plumbing, electrical, or similar structural or zoning matters that do not create an 

immediate danger to health or safety, the enforcement officer shall provide a reasonable period 

of time not less that five business days to correct or otherwise remedy the violation.D.

 Each day a violation continues is a new violation and may be cited as such. 

1.20.040 - NoticeService. 

502



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 4 of 20 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

A. An administrative citation may be served by personal delivery on any person 

determined to be responsible for the violation, or by certified mail, postage prepaid, return 

receipt requested, addressed to a location reasonably calculated likely to give notice to the 

responsible party of the administrative citation, or posted in a conspicuous location on or in the 

vicinity of the property. 

B. All notices required by this chapter to be served subsequent to service of a 

citation may be served either by personal delivery or by certified mail, postage prepaid, return 

receipt requested, and shall be deemed effective on the date of personal delivery or when the 

certified mail is either delivered or delivery attempted. If the certified mail receipt is returned 

unsigned, then service may instead be effected by regular first class mail, postage prepaid, 

provided that the notice sent by regular mail is not returned by the postal service as 

undeliverable, and shall be deemed effective three calendar days following deposit of the notice 

in the mail. 

C. Where a violation of code provisions concerning the condition of real property 

is involved, an administrative citation orf subsequent written notices authorized by this chapter 

may be served by personal delivery or by certified mail at the property owner address shown 

on the last equalized county assessment roll. Where such  

D. Where a violation of code provisions concerning the condition of real property 

is involved and personal delivery or service by certified mail upon the property owner is 

unsuccessful, service may be effected alternately or additionally by posting a copy of the order 

citation or notice at a conspicuous location on the property which is the subject of the 

ordercitation or notice. Where service of any citation or notice required under this chapter is 

effected in compliance with the requirements of this section and with due process, the asserted 

failure of any person to receive the notice shall not affect the validity of the citation, notice, or 

any proceedings taken under this chapterrelated thereto. 

1.20.050 Amount of administrative penalties. 

The amounts of administrative penalties for code violations imposed pursuant to this 

chapter are set, and may be amended from time to time,  forth in Chapter 1.08, “General 

penalty,” of the Suisun City Code, except where otherwise specifiedby city council resolution. 

Late payment shall be subject to late payment penalties as established by city council resolution. 

1.20.054 Authority to outsource collection and administrative hearing procedures. 

503



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 5 of 20 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

The city may, at its discretion, hire a service provider to process administrative citations 

and appeals in accordance with Section 1.20.050 et seq. Any such vendor shall be deemed the 

city’s designee. 

1.20.060 - Payment of administrative penalties. 

A. The administrative penalty for an administrative citation shall be paid to the city 

through its finance director or designee within thirty 30 calendar days from the date the 

administrative citation is served. If a hearing is requested pursuant to Section 1.20.070, the 

administrative penalty shall be deposited with the finance director or designee or a notice shall 

be filed with the finance director or designee that an advance hardship waiver has been 

requested as required in Section 1.20.080. 

B. Any administrative citation penalty shall be refunded in accordance with Section 

1.20.110(F) if it is determined, after a hearing, that the person charged in the administrative 

citation was not responsible for the violation or that there was no violation by the person 

charged in the administrative citationoccurred. 

C. Payment of an administrative penalty under this chapter shall not bar 

enforcement proceedings for any continuation or repeated occurrence of any code violation that 

is the subject of an administrative citation. 

1.20.070 - Hearing request. 

A. Any recipient of an administrative citation may contest appeal the citation on 

the grounds that he or she had not committed ano violation of the codeoccurred, or that 

contestant they is are not responsible for the violation, by filing a request for hearing form with 

the finance director or designee within thirty calendar30 days from the date of service of the 

administrative citation, together with either an advance deposit of the administrative penalty or 

a request for advance deposit hardship waiver form. 

B. A request for hearing form may be obtained from the finance director or designee. 

BC. The person requesting the hearing shall be notified by first class mail, postage 

prepaid, of the time and place set for the hearings by mailing a notice of hearing at least ten 

calendar10 days prior to the date of the hearing. 

CD. If the enforcement officer submits an additional written report concerning the 

administrative citation to the hearing board officer for consideration at the hearing, a copy of 

504



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 6 of 20 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

this report also shall be mailed to the person requesting the hearing at least five calendar days 

prior to the hearing date. 

1.20.080 - Advance deposit hardship waiver. 

A. Any person who claims to be financially unable to make the advance deposit of 

the fine as required in Section 1.20.070(A) may file a request for an advance deposit hardship 

waiver. 

B. The request shall be filed with the finance director or designee on or before the 

filing of a hearing request, and may only be made by the person who was issued the citation. 

C. Upon receipt and review of satisfactory evidence, the finance director or 

designee may waive the requirement of an advance deposit. ItA hardship waiver request shall 

must be accompanied by a sworn declaration by the requestor, together with any supporting 

evidence demonstrating the person’s requestor’s actual financial inability to deposit the full 

amount of the fine in advance of the hearing. 

D.If the finance director or designee determines not to waive the advance deposit, the 

person shall remit the deposit to the city within ten calendar days of the date of the notice of 

that decision in order to secure the hearing. 

DE. The finance director or designee shall issue a written determination listing the 

reasons for determining to issue or not issue the advance deposit hardship waiver. The written 

determination of the finance director or designee shall be final, subject only to judicial review 

as provided by law. 

1. Upon receipt and review of satisfactory evidence, the finance director shall 

waive the requirement of an advance deposit.  

2. If the finance director determines not to waive the advance deposit, the requestor 

shall remit the deposit to the city within 10 days of the date of the notice of that decision in 

order to secure the hearing. 

EF. The finance director’s written determination of the finance director or designee 

shall be served upon the person who applied for the advance deposit hardship waiver. 

1.20.090 - Hearing boardofficer. 

The city manager shall designate an impartial three person hearing boardhearing officer 

to hear an appeal pursuant to Section 1.20.070. The enforcement officer shall not be a member 

of the hearing board.’ 

505



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 7 of 20 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

1.20.100 - Hearing procedures. 

A. No appeal hearing to contest an administrative citation before a hearing board 

shall be noticed unless the administrative penalty has been deposited in advance in accordance 

with Section 1.20.070(A), or an advance deposit hardship waiver has been issued in accordance 

with Section 1.20.080. 

B. A hearing before the hearing board shall be set for a date that is not less than 

fifteen calendar15 days and not more than sixty calendar60 days from the date of the filing of 

the request for hearing. The party contesting the administrative citation may request one 

continuance for any reason, in writing, no less than twenty-four hours in advance of the 

scheduled hearing, the deferred hearing shall not be deferred more than ninety calendar days 

after the request for hearing was made. A request for continuance made less than twenty-four 

hours before the scheduled hearing may be granted, by the hearing board, based upon urgency 

only.The hearing may be continued for good cause. 

C. At the hearing, the party contesting the administrative citationappellant shall be 

given the opportunity to testify and present evidence and cross-examine witnesses concerning 

the administrative citationviolation. That contestant appellant may appear personally or through 

an attorney. Prehearing discovery is not authorized, but subpoena of witnesses and documents 

shall be permitted as authorized by law. The hearing board may conduct the hearing shall be 

conducted informally, both as to rules of procedure and admission of evidence, in any manner 

which will provide a fair hearing. 

D. The failure of any recipient of an administrative citationan appellant to appear 

at the administrative citation hearing may be deemed an admission of the violation by the 

recipient and an admission that the amount of the administrative penalty is appropriate and may 

constitute a failure to exhaust administrative remedies barring judicial review. 

E. The administrative citation and any additional report submitted by the 

enforcement officer shall constitute presumptive evidence of the respective facts contained in 

those documents. 

F. The hearing board officer may continue the hearing and to request additional 

information from the enforcement officer or the recipient of the administrative citationappellant 

prior to issuing a written decision. 

1.20.110 - Hearing board’s officer’s decision. 

506



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 8 of 20 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

A. After considering all of the testimony and evidence submitted at the hearing, the 

hearing board officer shall, based on a preponderance of the evidence, issue a written decision 

to uphold or cancelsustain or overturn the administrative citation fine and the reason for that 

decision.  The decision of the hearing board shall be issued within thirty 15 calendar days 

following of the completion of the hearing, and shall include findings of fact and conclusions 

of law. The hearing boardofficer shall issue written findings on each violation. The findings 

shall be supported by evidence received at the hearing.The decision of the hearing board shall 

be final upon service on the responsible party, subject only to judicial review as allowed by 

law. 

B. Within ten days following the conclusion of the hearing, the hearing board shall 

make findings and issue a decision regarding:1.The existence of the violation; and2.The extent 

of compliance with the order. 

C. The hearing board shall issue written findings on each violation. The findings shall be 

supported by evidence received at the hearing. 

D. If the hearing board determines from a preponderance of the evidence that the 

contestant committed the violation charged in the administrative citation, the amount assessed 

by the hearing board shall become debt to the city collectable through the process provided 

herein. The amount deposited with the city pursuant to Section 1.20.070 shall be applied to the 

amount assessed by the hearing board. Any excess shall be refunded. 

BE. If the hearing board officer determines that the administrative citation should be 

upheld and the fine has not been deposited pursuant to an advance deposit hardship waiver, the 

hearing officer board shall set forth in the decision a payment schedule for the fine. 

CF. If the hearing board officer determines that the administrative citation fine 

should not be sustainedoverturned, the city shall, within ten 10 calendar days of the 

rulingdecision, refund the amount of the deposited administrative penalty. 

DG. The recipient of the administrative citation shall be served with a copy of the 

hearing board’s written decision within ten 5 calendar days following itsof issuance. 

F. The decision of the hearing officer shall be final upon service on the responsible 

party, subject only to judicial review pursuant to Section 53069.4 of the Government Code. The 

hearing officer’s decision shall provide notice of this right of judicial review and the time 

allowed therefore by law. 

507



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 9 of 20 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

GH. The employment, performance evaluation, compensation and benefits of the 

hearing board officer shall not be directly or indirectly conditioned upon the amount of the 

administrative citation fines and other penalties upheld by the hearing boardofficer. 

1.20.120 -– Collection of aAdministrative penalties. 

A. The hearing board may impose administrative penalties and any other penalties 

adopted by council resolution in effect on the date when the violation occurred. 

B. Administrative fines and other penalties sustained by the hearing board officer 

are a debt owed to the city and in addition to all other means of enforcement, if the violation 

concerns the condition of real property, may be enforced by means of a lien against the real 

property on which the violation occurred in accordance with Section 1.20.170. Failure to pay 

administrative penalties within the time allowed under this chapter shall constitute a violation 

of this code punishable as a misdemeanor, and, upon conviction thereof, shall be punishable as 

provided in Section 1.08.020 of this code. 

1.20.130 - Administrative costs. 

A. The hearing board officer may assess administrative costs against the violator 

person found responsible for the violation when the hearing board determines that a violation 

has occurredthey sustain the administrative fine and that compliance was not achieved by the 

date of commencement of hearing. 

B. Administrative costs may include any and all costs incurred by the city (both 

direct and indirect costs) in investigating and commencing administrative proceedings for the 

violation as well as any and all costs incurred by the city in connection with the hearing before 

the hearing board, including, but not limited to, cost of the enforcement officer incurred in 

preparation for the hearing and participating in the hearing itself and costs of the city to conduct 

the hearing. Failure to pay administrative costs in the amount specified in the administrative 

hearing board’s officer’s decision on or before the date specified in that decision shall constitute 

a violation of this code punishable as a misdemeanor and shall further be subject to collection 

as otherwise provided for administrative penalties hereinmay be collected in the same manner 

as delinquent fines. 

1.20.140 - Failure to pay administrative penalties and costs. 

Failure to pay the assessed administrative penalties and/or administrative costs specified 

in a hearing board’s decision may be enforced as: 

508



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 10 of 20 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

A. A personal obligation of the violatorperson found responsible for the violation; 

and/or 

B. If the violation is in connection with real property, a lien upon the real property 

in accordance with Section 1.20.170, which shall remain in effect until all of the administrative 

penalties, interests, and administrative costs are paid in full.; and/or 

C. A criminal misdemeanor. 

1.20.150 - Judicial review. 

Any person subject to a decision of the hearing board officer may obtain review of the 

decision in the appropriate court pursuant to the provisions of California Government Code 

Section 53069.4. The administrative order shall provide notice of this right of judicial review 

and the time allowed therefore by law. 

1.20.160 - Collection of administrative penalties. 

The city may collect the amount the assessed administrative penalties and administrative 

costs by use of all available legal means, including recording of a lien pursuant to the provisions 

of this chapter. 

1.20.170 - Lien procedure. 

A. Whenever the amount of any administrative penalty and/or administrative cost 

imposed pursuant to this chapter in connection with real property has not been satisfied in full 

within ninety 90 days , unless tolled by a timely request for judicial review pursuant to 

Government Code Section 53069.4 or reversed by court order, this obligation may constitute a 

lien against any real property involved where any violation was determined to concern the 

condition of that real property, or as a special assessment against the property where the code 

violation occurred. 

B. Prior to recording any such lien, tThe finance director or designee shall prepare 

and file with the city clerk a report stating the amounts due and owing. The city clerk shall fix 

a time, date, and place for the city council to hearing such report and any protests or objections 

thereto by the city council. 

CF. The finance director or designee shall cause written notice to be served on each 

property owner whose interest is disclosed by the current county equalized assessment roll not 

less than ten calendar10 days prior to the time set for the hearing. 

509



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 11 of 20 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

D. The lien provided herein shall have no force and effect until recorded with the 

county auditor. Once recorded, the lien shall have the force and effect and priority of a judgment 

lien governed by the provisions of Section 697.340 of the California Code of Civil Procedure 

and may be extended as provided in Sections 683.110 through 683.220 of the California Code 

of Civil Procedure.after the administrative penalty and/or administrative cost imposition 

becomes final, this obligation may constitute a lien against any real property involved where 

any violation was determined to concern the condition of that real property, or special 

assessment against the property where a property-related code violation occurred. 

B. Once recorded, the administrative order shall have the force and effect and 

priority of a judgment lien governed by the provisions of Section 697.340 of the California 

Code of Civil Procedure and may be extended as provided in Sections 683.110 through 683.200 

of the California Code of Civil Procedure. 

EC. Interest shall accrue on the principal amount of the judgment remaining 

unsatisfied pursuant to law. 

D. Prior to recording any such lien, the finance director or designee shall prepare 

and file with the city clerk a report stating the amounts due and owing. 

E. The city clerk shall fix a time, date and place for hearing such report and any 

protests or objections thereto by the city council. 

F. The finance director or designee shall cause written notice to be served on each 

property owner whose interest is disclosed by the current county equalized assessment roll not 

less than ten calendar days prior to the time set for the hearing. 

1.20.180 - Public hearing and protests of proposed liens. 

A. Any person owning a legal or equitable interest in real property proposed to be 

subject to a lien pursuant to Section 1.20.170 may file a written protest with the city clerk and/or 

may protest orally at the city council hearing. 

B. Each written protest or objection must contain a description of the property in 

which the protesting party has a legal or equitable interest and the grounds of such protest or 

objection. The grounds for protest or objection, and any evidence or testimony submitted in 

support or in opposition to the imposition of a lien, shall be confined to whether the amount of 

any administrative penalty and/or administrative cost imposed was satisfied in full within the 

time allowed by law and/or successfully challenged by a timely writ of mandate. 

510



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 12 of 20 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

C. The city council, after the hearing, shall adopt a resolution confirming, 

discharging, or modifying the amount of lien based upon evidence produced at the hearing. 

1.20.190 - Recording of lien. 

Thirty calendar days following the adoption of a resolution by the city council imposing 

a lien, the finance director or designee shall file a certified copy of the cost report with the 

Solano County auditor. The finance director or designee shall request the auditor to enter each 

assessment on the Solano County tax roll and collect the amount of the assessment at the time 

and in the manner of ordinary municipal taxes. The lien may carry such additional 

administrative charges as set forth by resolution of the city council. 

1.20.200 Personal obligation. 

Any costs or penalties subject to collection under this chapter may be recovered as a 

personal obligation against the responsible party and may be referred to a collection agency or 

the City Attorney’s Office for collection. Upon referral of these costs and obligations, the 

collection agency and the City Attorney’s Office may seek collection through any legal means 

provided to them, including judicial action. Nothing in this section shall be affected by or affect 

the city’s use of any other procedure provided in this chapter or by law to collect unpaid costs 

and penalties.  

SECTION 4. Section 5.04.460 (Violations and Penalties) of Article VII (Enforcement) 

of Chapter 5.04 (Business Licenses Generally) of Title 5 (Business Taxes, Licenses and 

Regulations) is amended to read: 

A. Any person, firm, corporation or other entity violating any provisions of this title 

shall be guilty of an infraction punishable pursuant to Chapter 1.08. Any failure to obtain the 

proper permits and licenses for a period of one day after being cited under this chapter, including 

each additional one-day period thereafter, shall be an additional violation subject to the same 

penalties set forth in this sectionEach day of a violation of this chapter shall be deemed a new 

violation. 

B. Any person, firm, corporation or other entity which is guilty of an infraction 

under this chapter shall be punished by: 

1. A fine not exceeding one hundred dollars for the first violation; 

2. A fine not exceeding two hundred dollars for a second conviction of a violation 

of this chapter within one year; and 

511



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 13 of 20 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

3. A fine not exceeding five hundred dollars for a third or subsequent conviction 

within one year. 

C. AIn addition to the punishment set forth in this section, any person guilty of a 

violation of this chapter shall be liable for such costs, expenses and disbursements paid or 

incurred by the city in correction abatement and prosecution of the violation. 

SECTION 5: Section 5.16.240 (Violation—Penalty) of Chapter 5.16 (Pawnbrokers, 

Secondhand Dealers And Junk Dealers) of Title 5 (Business Taxes, Licenses and Regulations) 

is amended to read: 

Whenever in this chapter any act is prohibited or made or declared to be unlawful or an 

offense, or the doing of any act is required, or the failure to do any act if forbidden or declared 

unlawful, the violation of any such provision of this chapter is an infraction punishable by a 

fine not exceeding five hundred dollars. Every day any violation of this chapter continues 

constitutes a separate offense. 

SECTION 6: Section 6.07.040(B) (Enforcement and penalties) of Chapter 6.07 

(Dangerous Animals) of Title 6 (Animals) is amended to read: 

B. Violations and Penalties. Any violation of this chapter involving a dangerous 

animal shall be a misdemeanor punishable by a fine not to exceed one thousand dollarsin 

accordance with Chapter 1.08. 

SECTION 7: Subsection (U) of Section 8.04.050 (Safe and Sane Fireworks) of Chapter 

8.04 (Fireworks) of Title 8 (Health and Safety) is amended to read: 

U. Administrative Fines and Penalties  

1. This chapter authorizes the imposition of administrative fines on any person who 

violates any provision of this chapter in order to encourage and obtain compliance with the 

provisions of this chapter for the benefit and protection of the entire community. 

2. The issuance of citations, imposing administrative fines, right to appeal, and the 

right for an administrative hearing shall be performed in accordance with chapter 1.20. 

3. This chapter governs the imposition, enforcement, collection and administrative 

review of all administrative fines, related to the possession, use, storage, sale and/or display of 

quantities less than 25 pounds of those fireworks classified as “dangerous fireworks” in 

California Health and Safety Code Section 12500, et seq., with the exception of a pyrotechnic 

licensee when operating pursuant to that license; and the use of “safe and sane fireworks” as 

512



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 14 of 20 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

defined in California Health and Safety Code Section 12500 et seq. on or at dates, times and/or 

locations other than those permitted by this chapter. Said administrative fines are imposed under 

authority of Government Code Section 53069.4, Health and Safety Code Section 12557, and 

the police power of the city. 

4.  Administrative Fines. Each person who violates any provision of this code as it 

relates to the possession, use, storage, sale and/or display of “dangerous fireworks” shall be 

subject to the imposition and payment of an administrative fine or fines as provided belowas 

set by city council resolution.: 

 

Number of Offense in 

One-Year Period 

Amount of Administrative 

Penalty 

Late 

Charge 

Total Amount of Penalty 

plus Late Charge 

First $250.00 $50.00 $300.00 

Second $500.00 $100.00 $600.00 

Third $750.00 $200.00 $950.00 

 

5. Payment of the administrative fine shall not excuse or discharge a citee from the 

duty to immediately abate and correct a violation of this chapter, nor from any other 

responsibility or legal consequences for a continuation or a repeated occurrence(s) of a violation 

of this chapter. 

6. Because of the serious threat of fire or injury posed by the use of dangerous 

fireworks” that can result from persistent or repeated failures to comply with the provisions of 

this code and the effect of such conditions or activities on the safety and the use and enjoyment 

of surrounding properties and to the public health, safety and welfare, this chapter imposes strict 

Number of Offense  

in One-Year Period 

Amount of  

Administrative Penalty 

Late Charge Total Amount of 

Penalty  

plus Late Charge 

First $500.00 $150.00 $650.00 

Second $750.00 $250.00 $1,000.00 

Third $1,000.00 $500.00 $1,500.00 

513



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 15 of 20 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

civil liability upon the owners of residential real property for all violations of this code existing 

on their residential real property. 

7. Issuance of Administrative Citation-Contents. Whenever an enforcement officer (EO) 

determines that a violation of the code has occurred, the EO shall issue an administrative 

citation in compliance with the requirements of chapter 1.20. 

SECTION 8: Subsection (E) of Section 8.10.150 (Enforcement) of Chapter 8.10 

(Specific Regulations for Organic Waste Disposal Reduction, Recycling, and Solid Waste 

Collection and Recycling Programs) of Title 8 (Health and Safety) is amended to read:  

E. Penalty Amounts for Types of Violations. The penalty levels for city-issued 

notices of violation are as follows: 

1. For a first violation, the amount of the base penalty shall be $50.00 per violation. 

2. For a second violation, the amount of the base penalty shall be $100.00 per 

violation. 

3. For a third or subsequent violation, the amount of the base penalty shall be 

$250.00 per violationshall be set by city council resolution. 

SECTION 9: Subsection (F) of Section 9.16.010 (Juvenile curfew) of the Chapter 9.16 

(Curfew for Minors) of Title 9 (Public Peace, Morals and Welfare) is amended to read: 

F. Penalties and Fines. 

1. Violation of any portion of this section shall constitute an infraction punishable 

by a fine not to exceed one hundred dollars for the first violation, a fine not to exceed two 

hundred dollars for the second violation within one year and a fine not to exceed five hundred 

dollars for each additional violation within one year. There shall be a separate infraction for 

each day on which a violation occurs. The city shall furnish notice of any citation for an 

infraction under this section to the parent or legal guardian of the minor who committed the 

infraction. The fines imposed under this section shall not be invalidated in the event that the 

minor's parent or legal guardian does not receive or was not sent notice of the citation or the 

fines associated therewith. 

2. In addition to the fines listed in subsection (F)(1) of this section, the city may 

recover administrative and transportation costs from parents or guardians of juvenile offenders 

who violate this section consistent with the provisions of California Welfare and Institutions 

Code Section 625.5 and in the amounts established in the city's master fee schedule. 

514



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 16 of 20 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

3. Enforcement pursuant to this section shall be undertaken by the city of Suisun 

City through its police department and the city attorney. 

SECTION 10: Section 9.21.040 (Administrative Fines) of Chapter 9.21 (Social Hosts) 

of Title 9 (Public Peace, Morals and Welfare) is amended to read:  

In addition to any and all other costs, fees, penalties and expenses which may be 

assessed or imposed as a result of a violation of this chapter, any person who violates any 

provision of this chapter shall be liable and responsible for, and shall pay to the city an 

administrative fine of $1,000.00in an amount set by city council resolution. 

SECTION 11: Subsection (B) of Section 9.28.080 (Abandoned carts) of Chapter 9.28 

(Shopping Carts) of Title 9 (Public Peace, Morals and Welfare) is amended to read: 

B. Administrative Costs and Fines. 

1. Any owner that fails to retrieve any abandoned cart after receiving the notice by 

the city shall pay the administrative fees established in the city’s master fee schedule for 

providing notice to the owner and for retrieving and storing the cart. 

2. Any owner that fails to retrieve an abandoned cart within three days of receiving 

the notice in accordance with this article in excess of three times during a specified six-month 

period shall be subject to the fine established in the city's master fee schedule for each 

occurrencean administrative fine pursuant to Chapter 1.20. An occurrence includes all carts 

owned by the owner that are impounded by the city in a one-day period. This fine shall be in 

addition to any other fees or costs that are due pursuant to the city’s master fee schedule, and 

shall not be exclusive of any other remedies or penalties available to the city. 

SECTION 12: Section 12.12.090 (Prohibitions on smoking at city parks and 

recreational areas) of Chapter 12.12 (Parks and Recreation Facilities) of Title 12 (Streets, 

Sidewalks and Public Places) is amended to read: 

A1. No person shall smoke a cigarette, cigar, pipe, electronic smoking device, or any 

other combustible substance within a city park or recreational area except in a designated area, 

or dispose of a lighted or unlighted cigarette, cigar, pipe, or any other combustible substance or 

tobacco-related waste within a park, marina waters or recreational facility, except in an ashtray 

or other device designated for such disposal. 

B2. Tot lot sandbox areas or playgrounds as defined in California Health and Safety 

Code Section 104495, shall remain governed by said Section 104495 as well as by this section. 

515



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 17 of 20 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

C3. Any person who violates this section is guilty of an infraction and shall be 

punished by a fine of $250.00 for each violation of this section, in accordance with Chapter 

1.08. Punishment under this section shall not preclude punishment pursuant to Health and 

Safety Code Section 104495, as well as Section 13002, Section 374.4 of the Penal Code, or any 

other provision of state law. 

SECTION 13: Section 12.24.050 (Violations) of Chapter 12.24 (Camping on Public 

Property) of Title 12 (Parks and Recreation Facilities) of Title 12 (Streets, Sidewalks and Public 

Places) is amended to read: 

The first violation of this chapter shall be an infraction punishable by a fine not 

exceeding $50.00. The second and each subsequent violation of this chapter within a one-year 

period, may be prosecuted as a misdemeanor, punishable by a fine not exceeding $1,000.00 or 

by imprisonment in the county jail not to exceed six months, or by both such fine and 

imprisonmentin accordance with Chapter 1.08. 

SECTION 14: Section 12.32.120 (Violations) of Chapter 12.32 (Special Events Permit) 

of Title 12 (Streets, Sidewalks and Public Places) is amended to read: 

A. Violations of this chapter shall be charged to the applicant and/or sponsor of the 

event pursuant to Chapters 1.08 (General Penalty) as infractions, and 1.20 (Administrative 

Citations) of this Code, as well as any other remedies available to the city at law or equity. 

Unauthorized use of city water is punishable by a civil fine not exceeding $250.00 per day of 

water use.in an amount set by City Council resolution. 

B. In addition to the penalties provided for in Chapters 1.08 (General Penalty) and 

1.20 (Administrative Citations) of this Code, sponsors, applicants, or participants of an event 

may be cited and/or ejected from the public property for violations of this chapter, or other 

unlawful conduct, after notice and an opportunity to cure the violation. 

SECTION 15: Section 15.04.090 (Violations and penalties) of Chapter 15 (Permits – 

Uniform Code) of Title 15 (Buildings and Construction) is amended to read: 

A. It is unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to erect, construct, enlarge, 

alter, repair, move, improve, remove, convert, demolish, equip, use, occupy or maintain any 

building, structure or building service equipment or cause or permit the same to be done in 

violation of this chapter. 

516



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 18 of 20 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

B. Any person, firm, corporation or other entity which violates any of the 

provisions of this chapter including any of the codes adopted by reference, or who violates or 

fails to comply with any order made thereunder, or who builds in violation of any detailed 

statement of specification of plans submitted and approved thereunder, or any certificate or 

permit issued thereunder, and from which no appeal has been taken, or who fails to comply 

with such an order as affirmed or modified by the city council or by a court of competent 

jurisdiction shall be guilty of an infraction unless otherwise provided in this code. 

C. Any person, firm, corporation or other entity which is guilty of an infraction 

under this chapter shall be punished by: 

1. A fine not exceeding $100.00 for the first violation; 

2. A fine not exceeding $500.00 for a second or subsequent conviction within one-

year.is punishable pursuant to the fine amounts as set forth in Section 36900(c) of the 

Government Code relating to violations of building and safety codes, including any 

amendments or successor statues thereto. 

D. Any failure to correct the condition for which the infraction is imposed within a 

period of seven days after the issuance of a citation, and for each seven-day period thereafter 

may be treated as a separate and additional violation subject to the same penalties set forth 

herein. 

E. In addition to the penalties set forth above, any violation beyond the third 

conviction within a one-year period or any willful violation of this section which creates an 

immediate threat to the health, safety or welfare of the members of the public or the occupants 

of any structure in violation of this section may be charged as a misdemeanor punishable as 

provided in Chapter 1.08. 

FD. In addition to the penalties set forth herein, any person, firm, corporation or other 

entity guilty of a violation of this chapter shall be liable for such costs, expenses and 

disbursements paid or incurred by the city in correction, abatement and prosecution of the 

violation. 

SECTION 16: Subsection (A) of Section 21.08.020 (Penalties) of the Chapter 21.08 

(Rates) of Title 21 (Marinas) is amended to read:  

A. Any person violating any of the provisions of this title shall be guilty of an 

infraction, punishable by fines as authorized by Government Code Section 36900. Said fine is 

517



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 19 of 20 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

not to exceed one hundred dollars for the first conviction; two hundred dollars for a second 

conviction within one year; and five hundred dollars for a third or subsequent conviction within 

one yearin accordance with Chapter 1.08. Upon conviction, each day on which any violation of 

this title is committed or permitted, may beEach day a violation continues is considered a 

separate offense, punishable as specified by this section. 

SECTION 17: SEVERABILITY. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or 

phrase of this ordinance is for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional by a decision of 

any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision will not affect the validity of the remaining 

portions of this ordinance. The City Council hereby declares that it would have passed this 

ordinance and each and every section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase not declared 

invalid or unconstitutional without regard to whether any portion of the ordinance would be 

subsequently declared invalid or unconstitutional. 

SECTION 18: ADOPTION AND EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance shall be in 

full force and effect 30 days after its second reading and adoption. 

SECTION 19: PUBLICATION.  The City Clerk is directed to cause this Ordinance 

to be published within 15 days of its passage in a newspaper of general circulation published 

and circulated within the City of Suisun City. 

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council 

of the City of Suisun City, California, on this ___ day of November 2023.  

 

 

  

Alma Hernandez, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

  

Anita Skinner, City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 

AND LEGAL CONTENT: 

Aleshire & Wynder, LLP 

 

_______________________________ 

518



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 20 of 20 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Elena Q. Gerli, City Attorney 

 

CERTIFICATION 

 I, Anita Skinner, City Clerk of the City of Suisun City and ex-officio Clerk of the City 

Council of said City, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing ordinance was introduced 

at a regular meeting of the said City Council held on November ___, 2023 and passed and 

adopted at a regular meeting of said City Council held on November ___, 2023, by the following 

vote: 

AYES: Councilmembers:    

NOES: Councilmembers:    

ABSENT: Councilmembers:    

ABSTAIN: Councilmembers:    

 

WITNESS my hand and the seal of said City this ___ day of November 2023. 

   

 Anita Skinner 

 City Clerk 

 

519



 

01107.0028/934655.1  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

ORDINANCE NO.   

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN 

CITY, CALIFORNIA, REPEALING CHAPTER 1.16 

(ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLIANCE ORDERS) AND AMENDING 

CHAPTER 1.20 (ADMINISTRATIVE CITATIONS) TO TITLE 1 

(GENERAL PROVISIONS); AND AMENDING SECTIONS 1.08.030, 

5.16.240, 6.07.040(B), 8.040.050(U), 8.10.150(E), 9.16.010(F), 9.21.040, 

9.28.080(B), 12.12.090, 121.24.050, 12.32.120, 15.04.090, AND 21.08.020(A) 

OF THE SUISUN CITY MUNICIPAL CODE 

WHEREAS, the City of Suisun City is a general law city in the County of Solano, State 

of California. 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Suisun City Municipal Code (SCMC), fines are levied as 

an incident of a voluntary act of an individual or business and not the result of property 

ownership. 

WHEREAS, the City is responsible for enforcement of the SCMC in its entirety. 

WHEREAS, the SCMC includes Chapter 1.16 (Administrative Compliance Orders), 

which is duplicative of other provisions in the SCMC, and which is not being utilized. 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the amount of civil fines imposed for violations 

of municipal code provisions should be removed from the SCMC and adopted by resolution for 

consistency and ease of use. 

WHEREAS, the City Council desires to amend and update the provisions throughout 

the SCMC to provide clarity and consistency. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY 

ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: The above recitals are correct and incorporated herein by reference. 

SECTION 2: Chapter 1.16 (Administrative Compliance Orders) of Title 1 (General 

Provisions) of the Suisun Municipal Code is repealed and deleted in its entirety. 

SECTION 3: Section 1.08.030 (Infraction penalty) of Chapter 1.08 (General Penalty) 

of Title 1 (General Provisions) is amended to read: 

Any person convicted of an infraction for violation of an ordinance of the city is 

punishable by a fine as provided for in Section 36900 of the Government Code, including any 

amendments or successor statutes thereto. 

520



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 2 of 16 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SECTION 4: Chapter 1.20 (Administrative Citations) of Title 1 (General Provisions) 

of the Suisun Municipal Code is repealed and replaced with the following: 

1.20.010 - Applicability. 

A. This chapter provides for administrative citations which are in addition to all 

other legal and equitable remedies and provides an alternative to any criminal prosecutions 

which may be pursued by the city to address any violation of this code or of any regulations 

adopted under the authority of this code. 

B. Use of the remedies and procedures of this chapter shall be at the city’s sole 

discretion, and shall not limit or preclude the use of criminal or civil injunctive code 

enforcement proceedings in addition or in conjunction with this chapter. 

1.20.020 - Definitions. 

For purposes of this chapter, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings 

respectively ascribed to them in this section: 

“City” means the City of Suisun City. 

“City manager” means the city’s City Manager, and shall include their designee. 

“Enforcement officer” means any city employee or agent of the city with the authority 

to enforce any provision of this code. 

“Finance director” means the city’s Director of Finance and shall include their designee. 

“Person” means an individual or entity of any kind. 

1.20.030 - Administrative citations. 

A. Whenever an enforcement officer determines that a violation of any provision 

of this code has occurred, the enforcement officer shall have the authority to issue an 

administrative citation to any person responsible for the violation. 

B. Prior to the issuance of an administrative citation for a violation which pertains 

to building, plumbing, electrical, or similar structural or zoning matters that does not create an 

immediate danger to health or safety, the enforcement officer shall provide a reasonable period 

of time not less that five business days to correct or otherwise remedy the violation. 

C. Each administrative citation shall contain the following information: 

1. The date of the violation; 

2. The address or a definite description of the location where the violation occurred 

or is occurring; 

521



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 3 of 16 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

3. The code section violated and a description of the acts or omissions constituting 

the violation; 

4. The amount of the penalty for the code violation, which amount shall be set by 

city council resolution; 

5. A description of the penalty payment process, including a description of the time 

within which and the place to which the penalty shall be paid; 

6. A description of the administrative citation review process, including the time 

within which the administrative citation may be contested and the place from which a request 

for hearing form to contest the administrative citation may be obtained; and 

7. The name and signature of the enforcement officer. 

D. Each day a violation continues is a new violation and may be cited as such. 

1.20.040 - Service. 

A. An administrative citation may be served by personal delivery on any person 

determined to be responsible for the violation, or by certified mail, postage prepaid, return 

receipt requested, addressed to a location reasonably likely to give notice to the responsible 

party of the administrative citation, or posted in a conspicuous location on or in the vicinity of 

the property. 

B. All notices subsequent to service of a citation may be served either by personal 

delivery or by certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, and shall be deemed 

effective on the date of personal delivery or when the certified mail is either delivered or 

delivery attempted. If the certified mail receipt is returned unsigned, then service may instead 

be effected by regular first class mail, postage prepaid, provided that the notice sent by regular 

mail is not returned by the postal service as undeliverable, and shall be deemed effective three 

calendar days following deposit of the notice in the mail. 

C. Where a violation of code provisions concerning the condition of real property 

is involved, an administrative citation or subsequent written notices may be served by personal 

delivery or by certified mail at the property owner address shown on the last equalized county 

assessment roll. Where such delivery or service by certified mail upon the property owner is 

unsuccessful, service may be effected alternately or additionally by posting a copy of the 

citation or notice at a conspicuous location on the property which is the subject of the citation 

or notice. Where service of any citation or notice is effected in compliance with the 

522



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 4 of 16 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

requirements of this section, the asserted failure of any person to receive the notice shall not 

affect the validity of the citation, notice, or any proceedings related thereto. 

1.20.050 Amount of administrative penalties. 

The amounts of administrative penalties for code violations imposed pursuant to this 

chapter are set, and may be amended from time to time,  by city council resolution. Late 

payment shall be subject to late payment penalties as established by city council resolution. 

1.20.054 Authority to outsource collection and administrative hearing procedures. 

The city may, at its discretion, hire a service provider to process administrative citations 

and appeals in accordance with Section 1.20.050 et seq. Any such vendor shall be deemed the 

city’s designee. 

1.20.060 - Payment of administrative penalties. 

A. The administrative penalty shall be paid to the city through its finance director 

within 30 days from the date the administrative citation is served. If a hearing is requested 

pursuant to Section 1.20.070, the administrative penalty shall be deposited with the finance 

director or a notice shall be filed with the finance director that an advance hardship waiver has 

been requested as required in Section 1.20.080. 

B. Any administrative penalty shall be refunded in accordance with Section 

1.20.110(F) if it is determined, after a hearing, that the person charged in the administrative 

citation was not responsible for the violation or that no violation occurred. 

1.20.070 - Hearing request. 

A. Any recipient of an administrative citation may appeal the citation on the 

grounds that no violation occurred, or that they are not responsible for the violation, by filing a 

request for hearing form with the finance director within 30 days from the date of service of the 

administrative citation, together with either an advance deposit of the administrative penalty or 

a request for advance deposit hardship waiver form. 

B. The person requesting the hearing shall be notified by first class mail, postage 

prepaid, of the time and place set for the hearings by mailing a notice of hearing at least 10 days 

prior to the date of the hearing. 

C. If the enforcement officer submits an additional written report concerning the 

administrative citation to the hearing officer for consideration at the hearing, a copy of this 

523



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 5 of 16 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

report also shall be mailed to the person requesting the hearing at least five days prior to the 

hearing date. 

1.20.080 - Advance deposit hardship waiver. 

A. Any person who claims to be financially unable to make the advance deposit of 

the fine as required in Section 1.20.070(A) may file a request for an advance deposit hardship 

waiver. 

B. The request shall be filed with the finance director on or before the filing of a 

hearing request, and may only be made by the person who was issued the citation. 

C. A hardship waiver request must be accompanied by a sworn declaration by the 

requestor, together with any supporting evidence demonstrating the requestor’s actual financial 

inability to deposit the full amount of the fine in advance of the hearing. 

D. The finance director shall issue a written determination listing the reasons for 

determining to issue or not issue the advance deposit hardship waiver. The written 

determination of the finance director shall be final, subject only to judicial review as provided 

by law. 

1. Upon receipt and review of satisfactory evidence, the finance director shall 

waive the requirement of an advance deposit.  

2. If the finance director determines not to waive the advance deposit, the requestor 

shall remit the deposit to the city within 10 days of the date of the notice of that decision in 

order to secure the hearing. 

E. The finance director’s written determination shall be served upon the person 

who applied for the advance deposit hardship waiver. 

1.20.090 - Hearing officer. 

The city manager shall designate an impartial hearing officer to hear an appeal pursuant 

to Section 1.20.070.  

1.20.100 - Hearing procedures. 

A. No appeal hearing shall be noticed unless the administrative penalty has been 

deposited in advance in accordance with Section 1.20.070(A), or an advance deposit hardship 

waiver has been issued in accordance with Section 1.20.080. 

524



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 6 of 16 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

B. A hearing shall be set for a date that is not less than 15 days and not more than 

60 days from the date of the filing of the request for hearing. The hearing may be continued for 

good cause. 

C. At the hearing, the appellant shall be given the opportunity to testify and present 

evidence and cross-examine witnesses concerning the violation. That appellant may appear 

personally or through an attorney. Prehearing discovery is not authorized, but subpoena of 

witnesses and documents shall be permitted as authorized by law. The hearing shall be 

conducted informally, both as to rules of procedure and admission of evidence, in any manner 

which will provide a fair hearing. 

D. The failure of an appellant to appear at the hearing may be deemed an admission 

of the violation by the recipient and an admission that the amount of the administrative penalty 

is appropriate and may constitute a failure to exhaust administrative remedies barring judicial 

review. 

E. The administrative citation and any additional report submitted by the 

enforcement officer shall constitute presumptive evidence of the respective facts contained in 

those documents. 

F. The hearing officer may continue the hearing to request additional information 

from the enforcement officer or the appellant. 

1.20.110 - Hearing officer’s decision. 

A. After considering all of the testimony and evidence submitted at the hearing, the 

hearing officer shall, based on a preponderance of the evidence, issue a written decision to 

sustain or overturn the administrative fine and the reason for that decision. The decision of the 

shall be issued within 15 days of the completion of the hearing, and shall include findings of 

fact and conclusions of law. The hearing officer shall issue written findings on each violation. 

The findings shall be supported by evidence received at the hearing. 

B. If the hearing officer determines that the administrative citation should be upheld 

and the fine has not been deposited pursuant to an advance deposit hardship waiver, the hearing 

officer shall set forth in the decision a payment schedule for the fine. 

C. If the hearing officer determines that the administrative fine should be 

overturned, the city shall, within 10 days of the decision, refund the amount deposited. 

525



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 7 of 16 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

D. The recipient of the administrative citation shall be served with a copy of the 

hearing board’s written decision within 5 days of issuance. 

F. The decision of the hearing officer shall be final upon service on the responsible 

party, subject only to judicial review pursuant to Section 53069.4 of the Government Code. The 

hearing officer’s decision shall provide notice of this right of judicial review and the time 

allowed therefore by law. 

G. The employment, performance evaluation, compensation and benefits of the 

hearing officer shall not be directly or indirectly conditioned upon the amount of the 

administrative citation fines and other penalties upheld by the hearing officer. 

1.20.120 – Collection of administrative penalties. 

A. Administrative fines sustained by the hearing officer are a debt owed to the city 

and in addition to all other means of enforcement, if the violation concerns the condition of real 

property, may be enforced by means of a lien against the real property on which the violation 

occurred in accordance with Section 1.20.170.  

1.20.130 - Administrative costs. 

A. The hearing officer may assess administrative costs against the person found 

responsible for the violation when they sustain the administrative fine. 

B. Administrative costs may include any and all costs incurred by the city in 

connection with the hearing, including, but not limited to, cost of the enforcement officer 

incurred in preparation for the hearing and participating in the hearing itself and costs of the 

city to conduct the hearing. Failure to pay administrative costs in the amount specified in the 

administrative hearing officer’s decision on or before the date specified in that decision may be 

collected in the same manner as delinquent fines. 

1.20.140 - Failure to pay administrative penalties and costs. 

Failure to pay the assessed administrative penalties and/or administrative costs specified 

in a hearing board’s decision may be enforced as: 

A. A personal obligation of the person found responsible for the violation; and/or 

B. If the violation is in connection with real property, a lien upon the real property 

in accordance with Section 1.20.170, which shall remain in effect until all of the administrative 

penalties, interests, and administrative costs are paid in full. 

1.20.150 - Judicial review. 

526



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 8 of 16 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

Any person subject to a decision of the hearing officer may obtain review of the decision 

in the appropriate court pursuant to the provisions of California Government Code Section 

53069.4. 

1.20.160 - Collection of administrative penalties. 

The city may collect the amount the assessed administrative penalties and administrative 

costs by use of all available legal means, including recording of a lien pursuant to the provisions 

of this chapter. 

1.20.170 - Lien procedure. 

A. Whenever the amount of any administrative penalty and/or administrative cost 

imposed in connection with real property has not been satisfied in full within 90 days, unless 

tolled by a timely request for judicial review pursuant to Government Code Section 53069.4 or 

reversed by court order, this obligation may constitute a lien against any real property involved 

where any violation was determined to concern the condition of that real property, or as a special 

assessment against the property where the code violation occurred. 

B. The finance director shall prepare and file with the city clerk a report stating the 

amounts due and owing. The city clerk shall fix a time, date, and place for the city council to 

hear such report and any protests or objections thereto. 

C. The finance director shall cause written notice to be served on each property 

owner whose interest is disclosed by the current county equalized assessment roll not less than 

10 days prior to the time set for the hearing. 

D. The lien provided herein shall have no force and effect until recorded with the 

county auditor. Once recorded, the lien shall have the force and effect and priority of a judgment 

lien governed by the provisions of Section 697.340 of the California Code of Civil Procedure 

and may be extended as provided in Sections 683.110 through 683.220 of the California Code 

of Civil Procedure. 

E. Interest shall accrue on the principal amount of the judgment remaining 

unsatisfied pursuant to law. 

1.20.180 - Public hearing and protests of proposed liens. 

A. Any person owning a legal or equitable interest in real property proposed to be 

subject to a lien pursuant to Section 1.20.170 may file a written protest with the city clerk and/or 

may protest orally at the city council hearing. 

527



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 9 of 16 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

B. Each written protest or objection must contain a description of the property in 

which the protesting party has a legal or equitable interest and the grounds of such protest or 

objection. The grounds for protest or objection, and any evidence or testimony submitted in 

support or in opposition to the imposition of a lien, shall be confined to whether the amount of 

any administrative penalty and/or administrative cost imposed was satisfied in full within the 

time allowed by law and/or successfully challenged by a timely writ of mandate. 

C. The city council, after the hearing, shall adopt a resolution confirming, 

discharging, or modifying the amount of lien based upon evidence produced at the hearing. 

1.20.190 - Recording of lien. 

Thirty days following the adoption of a resolution by the city council imposing a lien, 

the finance director or designee shall file a certified copy of the cost report with the Solano 

County auditor. The finance director or designee shall request the auditor to enter each 

assessment on the Solano County tax roll and collect the amount of the assessment at the time 

and in the manner of ordinary municipal taxes. The lien may carry such additional 

administrative charges as set forth by resolution of the city council. 

1.20.200 Personal obligation. 

Any costs or penalties subject to collection under this chapter may be recovered as a 

personal obligation against the responsible party and may be referred to a collection agency or 

the City Attorney’s Office for collection. Upon referral of these costs and obligations, the 

collection agency and the City Attorney’s Office may seek collection through any legal means 

provided to them, including judicial action. Nothing in this section shall be affected by or affect 

the city’s use of any other procedure provided in this chapter or by law to collect unpaid costs 

and penalties.  

SECTION 4. Section 5.04.460 (Violations and Penalties) of Article VII (Enforcement) 

of Chapter 5.04 (Business Licenses Generally) of Title 5 (Business Taxes, Licenses and 

Regulations) is amended to read: 

A. Any person, firm, corporation or other entity violating any provisions of this title 

shall be guilty of an infraction punishable pursuant to Chapter 1.08. Each day of a violation of 

this chapter shall be deemed a new violation. 

528



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 10 of 16 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

B. Any person guilty of a violation of this chapter shall be liable for such costs, 

expenses and disbursements paid or incurred by the city in correction abatement and 

prosecution of the violation. 

SECTION 5: Section 5.16.240 (Violation—Penalty) of Chapter 5.16 (Pawnbrokers, 

Secondhand Dealers And Junk Dealers) of Title 5 (Business Taxes, Licenses and Regulations) 

is amended to read: 

Whenever in this chapter any act is prohibited or made or declared to be unlawful or an 

offense, or the doing of any act is required, or the failure to do any act if forbidden or declared 

unlawful, the violation of any such provision of this chapter is an infraction. Every day any 

violation of this chapter continues constitutes a separate offense. 

SECTION 6: Section 6.07.040(B) (Enforcement and penalties) of Chapter 6.07 

(Dangerous Animals) of Title 6 (Animals) is amended to read: 

B. Violations and Penalties. Any violation of this chapter involving a dangerous 

animal shall be a misdemeanor punishable in accordance with Chapter 1.08. 

SECTION 7: Subsection (U) of Section 8.04.050 (Safe and Sane Fireworks) of Chapter 

8.04 (Fireworks) of Title 8 (Health and Safety) is amended to read: 

U. Administrative Fines and Penalties  

1. This chapter authorizes the imposition of administrative fines on any person who 

violates any provision of this chapter in order to encourage and obtain compliance with the 

provisions of this chapter for the benefit and protection of the entire community. 

2. The issuance of citations, imposing administrative fines, right to appeal, and the 

right for an administrative hearing shall be performed in accordance with chapter 1.20. 

3. This chapter governs the imposition, enforcement, collection and administrative 

review of all administrative fines, related to the possession, use, storage, sale and/or display of 

quantities less than 25 pounds of those fireworks classified as “dangerous fireworks” in 

California Health and Safety Code Section 12500, et seq., with the exception of a pyrotechnic 

licensee when operating pursuant to that license; and the use of “safe and sane fireworks” as 

defined in California Health and Safety Code Section 12500 et seq. on or at dates, times and/or 

locations other than those permitted by this chapter. Said administrative fines are imposed under 

authority of Government Code Section 53069.4, Health and Safety Code Section 12557, and 

the police power of the city. 

529



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 11 of 16 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

4.  Administrative Fines. Each person who violates any provision of this code as it 

relates to the possession, use, storage, sale and/or display of “dangerous fireworks” shall be 

subject to the imposition and payment of an administrative fine as set by city council resolution. 

5. Payment of the administrative fine shall not excuse or discharge a citee from the 

duty to immediately abate and correct a violation of this chapter, nor from any other 

responsibility or legal consequences for a continuation or a repeated occurrence(s) of a violation 

of this chapter. 

6. Because of the serious threat of fire or injury posed by the use of dangerous 

fireworks” that can result from persistent or repeated failures to comply with the provisions of 

this code and the effect of such conditions or activities on the safety and the use and enjoyment 

of surrounding properties and to the public health, safety and welfare, this chapter imposes strict 

civil liability upon the owners of residential real property for all violations of this code existing 

on their residential real property. 

SECTION 8: Subsection (E) of Section 8.10.150 (Enforcement) of Chapter 8.10 

(Specific Regulations for Organic Waste Disposal Reduction, Recycling, and Solid Waste 

Collection and Recycling Programs) of Title 8 (Health and Safety) is amended to read:  

E. Penalty Amounts for Types of Violations. The penalty levels for city-issued 

notices of violation shall be set by city council resolution. 

SECTION 9: Subsection (F) of Section 9.16.010 (Juvenile curfew) of the Chapter 9.16 

(Curfew for Minors) of Title 9 (Public Peace, Morals and Welfare) is amended to read: 

F. Penalties and Fines. 

1. Violation of any portion of this section shall constitute an infraction. There shall 

be a separate infraction for each day on which a violation occurs. The city shall furnish notice 

of any citation for an infraction under this section to the parent or legal guardian of the minor 

who committed the infraction. The fines imposed under this section shall not be invalidated in 

the event that the minor's parent or legal guardian does not receive or was not sent notice of the 

citation or the fines associated therewith. 

2. In addition to the fines listed in subsection (F)(1) of this section, the city may 

recover administrative and transportation costs from parents or guardians of juvenile offenders 

who violate this section consistent with the provisions of California Welfare and Institutions 

Code Section 625.5 and in the amounts established in the city's master fee schedule. 

530



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 12 of 16 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

3. Enforcement pursuant to this section shall be undertaken by the city of Suisun 

City through its police department and the city attorney. 

SECTION 10: Section 9.21.040 (Administrative Fines) of Chapter 9.21 (Social Hosts) 

of Title 9 (Public Peace, Morals and Welfare) is amended to read:  

In addition to any and all other costs, fees, penalties and expenses which may be 

assessed or imposed as a result of a violation of this chapter, any person who violates any 

provision of this chapter shall be liable and responsible for, and shall pay to the city an 

administrative fine in an amount set by city council resolution. 

SECTION 11: Subsection (B) of Section 9.28.080 (Abandoned carts) of Chapter 9.28 

(Shopping Carts) of Title 9 (Public Peace, Morals and Welfare) is amended to read: 

B. Administrative Costs and Fines. 

1. Any owner that fails to retrieve any abandoned cart after receiving the notice by 

the city shall pay the administrative fees established in the city’s master fee schedule for 

providing notice to the owner and for retrieving and storing the cart. 

2. Any owner that fails to retrieve an abandoned cart within three days of receiving 

the notice in accordance with this article in excess of three times during a specified six-month 

period shall be subject to an administrative fine pursuant to Chapter 1.20. An occurrence 

includes all carts owned by the owner that are impounded by the city in a one-day period. This 

fine shall be in addition to any other fees or costs that are due pursuant to the city’s master fee 

schedule, and shall not be exclusive of any other remedies or penalties available to the city. 

SECTION 12: Section 12.12.090 (Prohibitions on smoking at city parks and 

recreational areas) of Chapter 12.12 (Parks and Recreation Facilities) of Title 12 (Streets, 

Sidewalks and Public Places) is amended to read: 

A. No person shall smoke a cigarette, cigar, pipe, electronic smoking device, or any 

other combustible substance within a city park or recreational area except in a designated area, 

or dispose of a lighted or unlighted cigarette, cigar, pipe, or any other combustible substance or 

tobacco-related waste within a park, marina waters or recreational facility, except in an ashtray 

or other device designated for such disposal. 

B. Tot lot sandbox areas or playgrounds as defined in California Health and Safety 

Code Section 104495, shall remain governed by said Section 104495 as well as by this section. 

531



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 13 of 16 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

C. Any person who violates this section is guilty of an infraction, in accordance 

with Chapter 1.08. Punishment under this section shall not preclude punishment pursuant to 

Health and Safety Code Section 104495, as well as Section 13002, Section 374.4 of the Penal 

Code, or any other provision of state law. 

SECTION 13: Section 12.24.050 (Violations) of Chapter 12.24 (Camping on Public 

Property) of Title 12 (Parks and Recreation Facilities) of Title 12 (Streets, Sidewalks and Public 

Places) is amended to read: 

The first violation of this chapter shall be an infraction punishable by a fine not 

exceeding $50.00. The second and each subsequent violation of this chapter within a one-year 

period, may be prosecuted as a misdemeanor, punishable in accordance with Chapter 1.08. 

SECTION 14: Section 12.32.120 (Violations) of Chapter 12.32 (Special Events Permit) 

of Title 12 (Streets, Sidewalks and Public Places) is amended to read: 

A. Violations of this chapter shall be charged to the applicant and/or sponsor of the 

event pursuant to Chapters 1.08 (General Penalty) as infractions, and 1.20 (Administrative 

Citations) of this Code, as well as any other remedies available to the city at law or equity. 

Unauthorized use of city water is punishable by a civil fine in an amount set by City Council 

resolution. 

B. In addition to the penalties provided for in Chapters 1.08 (General Penalty) and 

1.20 (Administrative Citations) of this Code, sponsors, applicants, or participants of an event 

may be cited and/or ejected from the public property for violations of this chapter, or other 

unlawful conduct, after notice and an opportunity to cure the violation. 

SECTION 15: Section 15.04.090 (Violations and penalties) of Chapter 15 (Permits – 

Uniform Code) of Title 15 (Buildings and Construction) is amended to read: 

A. It is unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to erect, construct, enlarge, 

alter, repair, move, improve, remove, convert, demolish, equip, use, occupy or maintain any 

building, structure or building service equipment or cause or permit the same to be done in 

violation of this chapter. 

B. Any person, firm, corporation or other entity which violates any of the 

provisions of this chapter including any of the codes adopted by reference, or who violates or 

fails to comply with any order made thereunder, or who builds in violation of any detailed 

statement of specification of plans submitted and approved thereunder, or any certificate or 

532



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 14 of 16 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

permit issued thereunder, and from which no appeal has been taken, or who fails to comply 

with such an order as affirmed or modified by the city council or by a court of competent 

jurisdiction shall be guilty of an infraction unless otherwise provided in this code. 

C. Any person, firm, corporation or other entity which is guilty of an infraction 

under this chapter is punishable pursuant to the fine amounts as set forth in Section 36900(c) of 

the Government Code relating to violations of building and safety codes, including any 

amendments or successor statues thereto. 

D. Any failure to correct the condition for which the infraction is imposed within a 

period of seven days after the issuance of a citation, and for each seven-day period thereafter 

may be treated as a separate and additional violation subject to the same penalties set forth 

herein. 

E. In addition to the penalties set forth above, any violation beyond the third 

conviction within a one-year period or any willful violation of this section which creates an 

immediate threat to the health, safety or welfare of the members of the public or the occupants 

of any structure in violation of this section may be charged as a misdemeanor punishable as 

provided in Chapter 1.08. 

F. In addition to the penalties set forth herein, any person, firm, corporation or other 

entity guilty of a violation of this chapter shall be liable for such costs, expenses and 

disbursements paid or incurred by the city in correction, abatement and prosecution of the 

violation. 

SECTION 16: Subsection (A) of Section 21.08.020 (Penalties) of the Chapter 21.08 

(Rates) of Title 21 (Marinas) is amended to read:  

A. Any person violating any of the provisions of this title shall be guilty of an 

infraction, punishable in accordance with Chapter 1.08. Each day a violation continues is 

considered a separate offense. 

SECTION 17: SEVERABILITY. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or 

phrase of this ordinance is for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional by a decision of 

any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision will not affect the validity of the remaining 

portions of this ordinance. The City Council hereby declares that it would have passed this 

ordinance and each and every section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase not declared 

533



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 15 of 16 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

invalid or unconstitutional without regard to whether any portion of the ordinance would be 

subsequently declared invalid or unconstitutional. 

SECTION 18: ADOPTION AND EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance shall be in 

full force and effect 30 days after its second reading and adoption. 

SECTION 19: PUBLICATION.  The City Clerk is directed to cause this Ordinance 

to be published within 15 days of its passage in a newspaper of general circulation published 

and circulated within the City of Suisun City. 

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council 

of the City of Suisun City, California, on this ___ day of November 2023.  

 

 

  

Alma Hernandez, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

  

Anita Skinner, City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 

AND LEGAL CONTENT: 

Aleshire & Wynder, LLP 

 

_______________________________ 

Elena Q. Gerli, City Attorney 

 

CERTIFICATION 

 I, Anita Skinner, City Clerk of the City of Suisun City and ex-officio Clerk of the City 

Council of said City, do hereby certify that the above and foregoing ordinance was introduced 

at a regular meeting of the said City Council held on November ___, 2023 and passed and 

adopted at a regular meeting of said City Council held on November ___, 2023, by the following 

vote: 

AYES: Councilmembers:    

NOES: Councilmembers:    

ABSENT: Councilmembers:    

ABSTAIN: Councilmembers:    

 

534



 

Ordinance No.  ____ 

Adopted November ___, 2023 

Page 16 of 16 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

WITNESS my hand and the seal of said City this ___ day of November 2023. 

   

 Anita Skinner 

 City Clerk 

 

535



 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-__ 
 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN 

CITY, CALIFORNIA, ESTABLISHING THE ADMINISTRATIVE 

PENALTY SCHEDULE FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE SUISUN CITY 

MUNICIPAL CODE 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Suisun City is a general law City located in the County of 

Solano, State of California. 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Suisun City Municipal Code (SCMC), fines are levied as 

an incident of a voluntary act of an individual or business and not the result of property 

ownership. 

 

WHEREAS, the City is responsible for enforcement of the SCMC in its entirety. 

 

WHEREAS, Section 1.20.030(C)(4) of the SCMC provides that the fines imposed 

pursuant to Chapter 1.20 (Administrative Citations) for a particular violation shall be in the 

amount set forth in the administrative penalty schedule established by resolution of the City 

Council. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SUISUN CITY 

DOES HEREBY FIND, DETERMINE, AND RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. The above recitals are found to be true and are incorporated herein by 

reference.  

 

Section 2. The administrative penalty amounts set forth and attached hereto are 

hereby established for violations of the SCMC. 

 

Section 3. Any penalty amount imposed pursuant to Chapter 1.20 of the SCMC 

and this Resolution shall be deemed delinquent if is not timely paid. The delinquency penalty 

is equal to three percent (3%) of the amount of the penalty remaining unpaid to the City. 

 

Section 4.  The administrative penalty schedule below specifies the civil fine amounts 

for violations of the SCMC. 

 

 

  

536



 

Resolution No. 2023- 

Adopted  

Page 2 of 3 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTY 

SCHEDULE 

 

Tier 1 Administrative Penalties. 

 

Except as otherwise provided below, all violations of the SCMC are subject to the following 

administrative penalties: $100 for the first violation; $200 for the second violation within a 12-

month period; and $500 for the third and subsequent violations within a 12-month period. 

 

Tier 2 Administrative Penalties 

 

Violations of the following sections of the SCMC are subject to Tier 2 administrative fines, as 

follows: $500 for the first violation; $750 for the second violation within a 12-month period; 

and $1,000 for the third and subsequent violations within a 12-month period. 

 

Chapter 8.04 (Fireworks) 

Chapter 8.08 (Solid Wastes) 

Chapter 8.12 (Public Nuisances) 

Chapter 13.10 (Stormwater Management and Discharge Control) 

Title 15 (Buildings and Construction) 

 

Tier 3 Administrative Penalties 

 

Violations of the following sections of the SCMC are subject to Tier 3 administrative fines, as 

follows: $1,000 for the first violation; $2,500 for the second violation within a 12-month period; 

and $5,000 for the third and subsequent violations within a 12-month period. 

 

[TBD at Council’s direction] 

 

Section 5. The adoption of this resolution approves and sets forth a procedure for 

establishing fines and penalties for administrative citations and is, therefore, exempt from the 

California Environmental Quality Act (Public Resources Code Sections 21090 et seq.) pursuant 

to Public Resources Code Section 21080(b)(8). 

 

Section 6. The City Clerk shall certify the passage and adoption of this resolution 

and enter it into the book of original resolutions.  

  

537



 

Resolution No. 2023- 

Adopted  

Page 3 of 3 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council 

of the City of Suisun City, California, on this ____ day of ________ 2023. 

 

  

Alma Hernandez, 

Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Anita Skinner,  

City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

State of California     ) 

County of Solano County ) ss 

City of Suisun City  )  

 

I, Anita Skinner, City Clerk of the City of Suisun City, hereby certify that the above 

Resolution No. 2023-__, was duly and regularly passed and adopted by the said City Council 

at a regular meeting thereof held on ___________, 2023 by the following vote: 

 

AYES: Councilmembers:    

NOES: Councilmembers:    

ABSENT: Councilmembers:    

ABSTAIN: Councilmembers:    

WITNESS my hand and the seal of said City this ____ day of __________ 2023. 

  

   

 Anita Skinner 

 City Clerk 

 

538



Proposed Updates to 
Civil Fines
Ordinance and Resolution

November 7, 2023

Elena Gerli, City Attorney

Administrative Citation Ordinance

Proposed Ordinance will make the following changes to the Municipal Code:

• Amend Section 1.08.030 such that the fines for infractions will be as provided for in
Gov’t Code Section 36900.
• These are not civil fines, but the language cleanup is included as it will be beneficial for

enforcement.

• The reason for this update is that Section 36900 is amended periodically – to wit, since we
adopted the fines in our code, the statute has added infraction fine amounts for building code
violations and for violations of short‐term rentals ordinances. These added fines are higher, so
we don’t want our code to inadvertently limit the amount of fines that can be charged.

• Repeal Chapter 1.16 (Administrative Compliance Orders) as it is duplicative of other
provisions in the SCMC and is currently not being utilized.

1

2

539



Administrative Citation Ordinance
(cont’d)

• Amend Chapter 1.20 (Administrative Citations) to Title 1 (General Provisions) to
clarify the process for the issuance of administrative citations and imposition of civil
fines for violations of SCMC provisions.
• Examples include adding definitions and language clean‐ups, a section that expressly authorizes the

City to contract for administrative citation processing, which would include processing appeals and
recovery of fines, and a change from a hearing board to hear appeals to a hearing officer.

• Amend and update provisions throughout the SCMC to make civil fines more
consistent and easier to determine. The City Attorney also proposes to amend code
sections that include specific fine amounts, so that such civil fines can be adopted by
resolution of the City Council.

Resolution 
Establishing 

Administrative 
Penalty 

Schedule

• Proposed resolution would establish the administrative citation penalty fine
schedule by setting forth the fines for violations the municipal code.

• The resolution sets three tiers of penalty fines for violations of the SCMC.

Tier 1 : $100 for the first violation; $200 for the second violation; and $500
for the third and subsequent violations within a 12‐month period.
• These fines apply to all violations unless indicated in the resolution. These

fine amount are in line with what most cities have adopted.

Tier 2 : $500 for the first violation; $750 for the second violation; and
$1,000 for the third and subsequent violations within a 12‐month
period.
• Tier 2 fines are suggested for violations of Chapter 8.04 (Fireworks),

Chapter 8.08 (Solid Wastes), Chapter 8.12 (Public Nuisances), Chapter
13.10 (Stormwater Management and Discharge Control), and Title 15
(Buildings and Construction)

Tier 3: $1,000 for the first violation; $2,500 for the second violation; and
$5,000 for the third and subsequent violations within a 12‐month
period.
• Right now, we have no suggestions for specific codes at this level of fines

and are open to direction from the Council – the Council may decide to
leave this tier blank for now, and only move certain code violations here if
additional enforcement power is desired at some point, or decide to
remove this tier altogether.

• The resolution also establishes that any penalty amount imposed pursuant to
Chapter 1.20 and the resolution will be deemed delinquent if is not timely
paid.
• The delinquency penalty will be equal to 3% of the amount of the penalty remaining

unpaid to the City.

3

4

540



Staff 
Recommendation

• 1) Introduce and Conduct First Reading of Ordinance No.
2023‐___: An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of
Suisun City, California, Repealing Chapter 1.16
(Administrative Compliance Orders) and Amending Chapter
1.20 (Administrative Citations) to Title 1 (General
Provisions); and Amending Sections 1.08.030, 5.04.460,
5.16.240, 6.07.040(B), 8.040.050(U), 8.10.150(E),
9.16.010(F), 9.21.040, 9.28.080(B), 12.12.090, 121.24.050,
12.32.120, 15.04.090, and 21.08.020(A) of the Suisun City
Municipal Code; and

• 2) Adopt a Resolution of the City Council of the City of
Suisun City, California, Establishing the Administrative
Penalty Schedule for Violations of the Suisun City Municipal
Code.

QUESTIONS?QUESTIONS?

5

6

541



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

542



 

SUISUN CITY MAYOR INFORMATIONAL REPORT 
NOVEMBER 7, 2023 
 
REGIONAL BOARDS / COMMISSIONS /COMMITTEES: 
Solano Transportation Authority Board Member (STA) 
Solano County Water Agency Board Member (SCWA) 
Capitol Corridor Joint Powers Authority (CCJPA) 
SolTrans Board of Directors 
 Local Agency Formation Commissioner (Alternate) (LAFCO) 
 CAP2 Solano JPA (Solano Regional Homelessness Board)  

Solano Economic Development Center Board Member 
 Napa-Solano Area Agency on Aging 

Solano County Mayor’s Committee 
City-County Coordinating Committee 
 
Suisun City Committees / Ad-Hoc: 
Suisun-Solano Water Authority Executive Committee 
Suisun-Solano Water Authority Board 
Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District Executive Committee 
Fairfield-Suisun Sewer District Board 
Suisun City Environment and Climate Committee Chair 
Suisun City / Fairfield-Suisun Unified School District Joint Advisory Committee 
30 Acre Parcel Highway 12 and Marina Mixed Use Ad-Hoc Committee 
City Manager Evaluation 2023 Ad-Hoc Committee 
Suisun City Economic Vitality Ad-Hoc Committee 
 
Other: 
 California Local Agency Formation Commission Conference 
 Rail Safety Incentive Program Webinar 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 1 of 2 

 

California Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) Conference (October 18-20, 2023) 

• Attended a three-day conference for California LAFCO alongside other Solano County LAFCO 
commissioners.  

• Received training on the four basis statutory purposes: the discouragement of urban sprawl; the 
preservation of open space and prime agricultural land resources; the efficient provision of 
government services; and the encouragement of orderly growth boundaries based upon local 
conditions and circumstances. In addition, LAFCO’s powers, procedures, and functions are set 
forth in the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 (Government 
Code Section 56000 et seq.). 

• I currently serve as an Alternate, representing Solano County mayors on the Solano County LAFCO 
board.  

 

Napa-Solano Area Agency on Aging Oversight Board Meeting (October 23, 2023) 

• Attended the Napa-Solano Area Agency on Aging Oversight Board meeting.  
• Reports included updates funding for services provided to seniors. 

543



 
 

SUISUN CITY INFORMATIONAL REPORT, Page 2 of 2 

• The discussion included a priority to address staffing needs for the Napa-Solano Area Agency on 
Aging to be able to support the administrative needs of the organization and increase coordination 
and collaboration with service providers. 

• The board received an update regarding the meal contracts with different senior program 
facilities. Suisun City, for example, partners with Meals on Wheels.  

• I serve as an Alternate, representing Solano County mayors on the Napa-Solano Area Agency on 
Aging Oversight Board. 

 

Solano County Water Agency (SCWA) Legislative Committee meeting (October 23, 2023) 

• Attended the SCWA Legislative Committee meeting and reviewed policy updates in the legislature.  
• The committee was updated on issues at the federal level due to not having a Speaker in Congress.  
• The committee received the following updates:  

 
o AB345: Advance payments for habitat restoration passed and has been signed into law.  
o AB748: CA abandoned, and derelict vessel program was vetoed by the governor due to 

funding implication on general budget. 
o AB779: Two amendments were accepted by the author on behalf of the agency and bill has 

been signed into law.  
o AB809: Bill would have formalized salmon monitoring program. The bill didn’t mention 

anything about local agencies. Amendment request for them to consult local agencies was 
accepted and bill was singed into law.  

 

Rail Safety Incentive Program Webinar (October 25, 2023) 

• Attended a Rail Safety Incentive Program webinar hosted by Capitol Corridor.  
• Suisun City was identified as a city that qualifies to be part of an incentive program to review 

safety at rail crossings. 
• A consultation form for the City and Capitol Corridor was provided to review next steps. 

 

CAP Solano JPA Board Meeting (October 26, 2023) 

• Attended the CAP Solano JPA Board meeting (regional homelessness board) 
• The meeting included a presentation from Shelter Solano on the Beck Avenue Navigation Center. 

They shared updates on the new Community Hall grand opening. 
• JPA Staff updates included a 2024 Point in Time Count Update and the release of Homeless 

Housing, Assistance and Prevention Round 5 application now available.  

 

 

544


	City Council Agenda
	Item-689 - Proclamation - Alooma Court 198 Illustrious Commandress Alooma Court Regina A. Thompson 2023.pdf
	Item-689 - Proclamation - Alooma Temple 212 Timothy Finney 2023.pdf
	Item-689 - Proclamation Virgils Derby Day 2023.pdf
	Item-689 - 1 Blank Page - THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.pdf
	Item-700 - SSWA Utilities Billing System PPT.pdf
	Item-700 - 1 Blank Page - THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.pdf
	Item-707 - Cover Page
	Item-707 - 1.  Ordinance No. 807 Levying Special Tax Within the City of Suisun City CFD No. 2.pdf
	Item-707 - 1 Blank Page - THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.pdf
	Item-702 - Cover Page
	Item-702 - 1.  Resolution Authorizing Acting City Manager to Execute a Transportation Funds for Clean Air Funding Agreement.pdf
	Item-702 - 2.  Project Location Map.pdf
	Item-702 - 3.  Funding Agreement between STA and City of Suisun City.pdf
	Item-703 - Cover Page
	Item-703 - 1.  Resolution Authorizing Acting City Manager to Execute a Funding Agreement with STA for EV Infrastructure Project.pdf
	Item-703 - 2.  Funding Agreement between STA and the City of Suisun City for EV Infrastructure.pdf
	Item-703 - 1 Blank Page - THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.pdf
	Item-716 - Cover Page
	Item-716 - 1.  Resolution Authorizing the Application for Grant Funds for the Prop 68 Community and Economic Enhancement Grant Program.pdf
	Item-716 - 1 Blank Page - THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.pdf
	Item-698 - Cover Page
	Item-698 - 1.   Minutes - October 3, 2023 Special Closed Session Meeting.pdf
	Item-698 - 2.   Minutes - October 3,  2023 Regular Council-Successor Agency-Housing Authority Meeting.pdf
	Item-698 - 3.   Minutes - October 17, 2023 Special Closed Session Meeting.pdf
	Item-698 - 4.   Minutes - October 17,  2023 Regular Council-Successor Agency-Housing Authority Meeting.pdf
	Item-705 - Cover Page
	Item-725 - 1 Blank Page - THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.pdf
	Item-706 - Cover Page
	Item-706 - 1.  Draft Waterfront Specific Plan Chapters 1-7 - Redline Version.pdf
	Item-706 - 2.  Draft Waterfront Specific Plan Chapters 1-7 - Clean Version.pdf
	Item-706 - 3.  Resolution 2018-101 - Vehicular Circulation Diagram Change.pdf
	Item-706 - 4.  Fee Study for Parking In-Lieu Fees.pdf
	Item-706 - 5.  Housing Feasibility and Yield Analysis Recommendations.pdf
	Item-706 - 6.  PowerPoint Presentation.pdf
	Item-715 - Cover Page
	Item-715 - 1.  Resolution Approving the Tractor Supply Public Art Installation.pdf
	Item-715 - 2.  Proposed Tractor Supply Art Installation.pdf
	Item-715 - 3.  Tractor Supply Art Site Plan.pdf
	Item-715 - 4.  Tractor Supply Elevations.pdf
	Item-715 - 5.  PowerPoint Presentation.pdf
	Item-715 - 1 Blank Page - THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.pdf
	Item-717 - Cover Page
	Item-704 - Cover Page
	Item-704 - 1.  PowerPoint Presentation - Legal update homelessness.pdf
	Item-704 - 1 Blank Page - THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.pdf
	Item-724 - Cover Page
	Item-724 - 1.  Resolution Approving the Interim City Manager Employment Agreement.pdf
	Item-699 - Cover Page
	Item-699 - 1.  Ordinance Amendment Civil Fines Changes Redline Version.pdf
	Item-699 - 2.  Ordinance Amendment Civil Fines Changes Clean Version.pdf
	Item-699 - 3.  Resolution Establishing the Administrative Penalty Schedule for Violations of the Suisun City Municipal Code.pdf
	Item-699 - 4.  PowerPoint Presentation Proposed Updates to Administrative Penalties.pdf
	Item-699 - 1 Blank Page - THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.pdf
	Item-693 - Nov7-MayorInformationalReport.pdf



